

REPORT

OF

THE FINANCE COMMISSION

1978

CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
1. Introduction	1
2. Reassessment of the Forecasts of State Governments on Revenue Account	7
3. Reassessment of the resource forecast of the Central Government	44
4. Financing of Relief Expenditure	46
5. Estate duty in respect of Property other than agricultural land	55
6. Additional Duties of Excise	58
7. Grant in lieu of Tax on Railway Passenger Fares	67
8. Grant on account of Wealth tax on Agricultural Property	72
9. Centre - State financial relations and our scheme of transfers to the States	75
10. Upgradation of Standards of Administration	92
11. Non-Plan Capital gap of States	106
12. General Observations	118
i3. Summary of Recommendations	121
Notes	
1. Note by Shri H. N. Ray, outlining his views on the returns from State electricity boards etc. to be taken into account for the purposes of the forecasts of the State Governments, and the targets of additional resource mobilisation, and note thereon by Chairman and other Members	129
2. Joint Note by Prof. Raj Krishna and Shri H.N. Ray on compensation to States for the loss of revenue consequent on the progressive introduction of prohibition, and Note thereon by Chairman and other Members	137
3. Note of Dissent by Prof. Raj Krishna entitled "A More Equitable Distribution of Resources", and Note thereon by Chairman and other Members	142
Appendices	1-263
Annexures	1-90

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The Commission was constituted by an Order dated 23rd June 1977 of the Vice-President acting as President. The Order is reproduced below:—

"In pursuance of the provisions of article 280 of the Constitution of India and of the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951 (33 of 1951), the Vice-President acting as President is pleased to constitute a Finance Commission consisting of Shri J. M. Shelat, former Judge of the Supreme Court of India, as the Chairman and the following four other members namely:—

- (1) Dr. Raj Krishna, Member, Planning Commission.
- (2) Dr. C. H. Hanumantha Rao,
 Director, Institute of Economic Growth,
 Delhi.
- (3) Shri H. N. Ray, Finance Secretary, Government of India.
- (4) Shri V. B. Eswaran Member-Secretary.
- 2. The Chairman and other members of the Commission shall hold office from the date on which they respectively assume office upto the 31st day of October, 1978.
- 3. The Chairman and Member-Secretary of the Commission shall render whole-time service to the Commission. Dr. Raj Krishna and Dr. Hanumantha Rao shall render part-time service as members of the Commission. Shri H. N. Ray will render part-time service upto the 30th June, 1977 and whole-time service thereafter.
- 4. The Commission shall make recommendations as to the following matters:-
 - (a) the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds;
 - (b) the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India and the sums to be paid to the States which are in need of assistance by way of grants-in-aid of their revenues under article 275 of the Constitution for purposes other than those specified in the provisos to clause (1) of that article.

- 5. In making its recommendations, the Commission shall have regard, among other considerations, to—
 - (i) the resources of the Central Government and the demands thereon on account of the expenditure on civil administration, defence and border security, debt servicing and other committed expenditure or liabilities;
 - (ii) the existing practice in regard to determination and distribution of Central assistance for financing State Plans;
 - (iii) the revenue resources of those States for the five years ending with the financial year 1983-84 on the basis of the levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of the financial year 1978-79 and the targets set for additional resource mobilisation for the Plan;
 - (iv) the requirements on revenue account of those States to meet the expenditure on administration and other non-Plan commitments or liabilities, keeping however in view national policies and priorities. In assessing such requirements, the Commission shall take into account
 - (a) such provision for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as the Commission deem it proper and with reference to appropriate objective criteria rather than in terms of actual increases that may have been given effect to; and
 - (b) commitments in regard to interest charges on their debt, transfer of funds to local bodies and aided institutions:
 - (v) adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets and maintenance of Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79, the norms, if any, on the basis of which specified amounts are allowed for the maintenance of different categories of capital assets and the manner in which such maintenance expenditure could be monitored being indicated by the Commission:
 - (vi) the requirements of States which are backward in general administration for upgradation of standards in non-developmental sectors and services with a view to bringing them to the levels obtaining in the more advanced States over the period covered by the Report of the Commission; the manner in which such expenditure could be monitored, being also indicated by the Commission;
 - (vii) the scope for better fiscal management and economy in expenditure consistent with efficiency; and
- (viii) the need for ensuring reasonable returns on investments in irrigation and power projects, transport undertakings, industrial and commercial enterprises and the like.
- 6. The Commission may suggest changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution among the States of:—
 - (a) the net proceeds in any financial year of estate duty in respect of property other than agricultural land;

- (b) the net proceeds in any financial year of the additional excise duties leviable under the Additional Duties of Excise (Goods of Special Importance) Act, 1957, in replacement of the sales tax levied formerly by the State Governments on each of the following commodities, namely:—
 - (i) cotton fabrics;
 - (ii) woollen fabrics;
 - (iii) rayon or artificial silk fabrics:
 - (iv) sugar; and
 - (v) tobacco including manufactured tobacco.

Provided that the share accruing to each State shall not be less than the revenue realised from the levy of sales tax for the financial year 1956-57 in that State;

- (c) the grant to be made available to the States in lieu of the tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957; and
- (d) the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealth-tax on agricultural property.
- 7. In making its recommendations on the various matters aforesaid, the Commission shall adopt the population figures of 1971 in all cases where population is regarded as a factor for determination of devolution of taxes and duties and grants-in-aid.
- 8. The Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1983-84. In the light of such an assessment, the Commission may under-take a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central Loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1978-79 and suggest appropriate measures to deal with the non-Plan capital gap, having regard inter alia to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised, and the requirements of the Centre.
- 9. The Commission may review the policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure by the States affected by natural calamities and suggest such modifications as it considers appropriate, in the existing arrangements, having regard, among other considerations, to the need for avoidance of wasteful expenditure.
- 10. The Commission shall make its report by the 31st October, 1978 on each of the matters aforesaid and covering a period of five years commencing from the 1st day of April, 1979. The Commission shall indicate the basis on which it has arrived at its findings and make available the State-wise criteria adopted in making modifications, if any, in the States' forecasts of receipts and expenditure".
- 2. The provisions of the Constitution having a bearing on the constitution and the work of the Finance Commissions have been set out in Annexure I. The Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951, will be found in Annexure II.
- 3. Prof. Raj Krishna and Dr. C. H. Hanumantha Rao served as part-time Members throughout the tenure of the Commission. The Chairman and the other Members served on a whole-time basis.

- 4. The first meeting of the Commission was held in New Delhi on 14th July 1977. The Commission at that meeting adopted rules of procedure similar to those of the earlier Finance Commissions. The Commission also approved of the issue of a Press Note indicating its terms of reference and inviting those interested in its work to furnish written memoranda to the Commission setting out their views and suggestions. A circular letter in similar terms was also addressed to Members of Parliament, Members of State Legislatures, Vice-Chancellors and Heads of Economics Departments of Universities, leading economists and others.
- 5. Even before the constitution of the Commission, the Department of Economic Affairs in the Ministry of Finance had taken some preparatory steps. In July 1976 all State Governments had been requested to compile information on a number of "Subsidiary Points" bearing on the finances and the economy of the States. Our Member-Secretary was appointed as an Officer on Special Duty in the Ministry of Finance some time before the Commission was constituted. He had addressed the State Governments requesting them to compile forecasts of receipts and expenditure on revenue and capital accounts for the five year period to be covered by our Report (1979-80 to 1983-84). He had also requested some of the Ministries of the Central Government to furnish information likely to assist the Commission. Further, communications were addressed to them as decided by the Commission in its initial meetings. The more important of these communications are set out in Annexure III. The Union Ministry of Finance was also requested to furnish the Commission with forecasts of revenue and expenditure of the Central Government for the five year period of our Report.
- 6. In September 1977, the Government of India and the Planning Commission decided to terminate the Fifth Five Year Plan with the close of 1977-78 and to initiate a rolling Plan from 1978-79. Since the impact of this decision vis-a-vis our terms of reference was not then quite clear, we addressed the Ministry of Finance and the Planning Commission for a clarification. We were informed by the Ministry that our terms of reference were not affected in any way.
- 7. At our request, the Comptroller & Auditor General of India was good enough to instruct the Accountants General of the States to assist us by furnishing information which might be needed by us from time to time. We are thankful to them for complying with our requests for information with care and promptitude.
- 8. Amongst the State Governments the Government of Tamil Nadu was the first to furnish to us forecasts on the revenue and capital accounts. The last State Government to send us its forecasts did so in June 1978. Information on the Subsidiary Points was also considerably delayed by a number of State Governments. The forecasts were examined in our Secretariat, in order to identify points which required clarification and further information from the State Governments. These were communicated to the State Governments before the Member Secretary and other officers of the Commission held detailed discussions with the officers of the State Governments. In this respect we followed the useful practice adopted by the Sixth Commission. The clarifications obtained as a result of these discussions helped us greatly in acquainting ourselves in sufficient depth with the policies and special features of the finances of each State before our discussions with the Chief Ministers and their colleagues.
- 9. We were able to begin our round of discussions in the State capitals with the Chief Ministers and their colleagues in January 1978. The last of these meetings was held in July 1978. The dates of our visits to the States are set out in Annexure IV. We are glad to say that during these discussions there was a full and frank exchange of views on matters

pertaining to our terms of reference and the special circumstances of the individual States. Our main objective was to get a clear understanding, from the highest levels in the State Governments, of the States' policies bearing upon their finances, as well as of various aspects of their fiscal management. Following the Commission's discussions with the Chief Ministers and their colleagues, our Member Secretary had wherever necessary further meetings with the senior officers of the State Governments in order to go over matters of detail. At these meetings with the State Governments, the Accountant General concerned was, at our request, also generally present and assisted in the discussions. Several State Governments had indicated that the Commission might also visit some areas in order to have a better appreciation of their special problems and of features which, in their view, made for higher coasts of services. Some of us were able to make such visits, which turned out to be useful sine they gave us a much better feel of the special considerations urged by the State Governments concerned.

- 10. We would like to record here our gratitude for the ungrudging help and cooperation we received from the State Governments and their officers in all aspects of our work. We would also like to thank the State Governments for the courtesies and hospitality extended to us during our visits to the States.
- 11. It was gratifying to find during our visits to the State capitals that the Press took keen interest in the work of the Commission. We deeply appreciate such interest. Considering the confidential nature of the discussions we had with the States, we were naturally not in a position to speak freely to the Press wherever they met us. At some places, leading figures from the Press met us to put before us their appreciation of the problems and needs of the State. These meetings were very useful.
- 12. In response to the Press Note and our letters inviting views and suggestions on our terms of reference, we received a number of memoranda. The Lucknow University organised a seminar especially to discuss some aspects of the Finance Commission's functions, and sent the proceedings to us. A seminar was also held at Hyderabad where a number of leading advocates participated and discussed diverse problems relating to Centre-State financial and other relations. The Commission received copies of the proceedings of the seminar. The National Institute of Public Finance & Policy, New Delhi, organised a seminar, and thereafter forwarded a memorandum to us. We were also able to obtain, through the kindness of Prof. Benjamin Brown of the Harvard Centre of International Affairs, and the Australian National University, as well as through the good offices of some of our Missions abroad, valuable material on federal fiscal relations in other countries. In the course of our visits to the State capitals, as well as at our headquarters in New Delhi, distinguished persons with experience in public affairs, economists, representatives of Chambers of Commerce & Industry, Members of Legislatures and others, who were interested, met us. We took the opportunity of our visit to Bombay to have a very useful discussion with the Governor of the Reserve Bank of India and his colleagues as well as the heads of public sector financing institutions. We would like to express here our appreciation of the trouble and the time taken by them. We have greatly benefited from their statements and from the memoranda we received from them. A list of individuals and organisations, who gave us memoranda, is given in Annexure V, and a list of those who met us in Annexure VI.
- 13. We have also had detailed discussions with the Secretaries in the Union Ministry of Finance and senior officials of the Ministry, including the Chairman of the Central Board of Direct Taxes and the Central Board of Excise & Customs, and separately with the Mome Secretary, the Defence Secretary and the Secretary, Social Welfare. These discussions, concerning the forecast of receipts and expenditure of the Central Government, as with a some other matters pertaining to our terms of reference, were extremely that the

14. We would like to acknowledge and record our deep appreciation of the ungrudging and painstaking work put in by our officers and research staff. Shri R. K. Dar, Joint Secretary, Shri M. R. Sivaraman and Shri S. K. Das Gupta, Directors, not only provided guidance to the research staff but also did considerable original work on their own. Our Senior Research Officers Sarvashri M. L. Anand, R. D. Gupta, R. N. Jain, J. L. Kapoor and G. G. Nair, and Research Officers Sarvashri P. S. Gill, R. K. Juneja, Manohar Lal, G. P. Sahni and K. Venkataraman, who formed the Research Groups, not only did thorough work in collecting and analysing the voluminous data relating to the forecasts of the States, but also did special studies which were essential for our work in regard to maintenance of capital assets, returns on investments in power, irrigation and public undertakings, and the proposals of the States for upgrading the standards of administration. The thoroughness with which they all worked was such that we rarely had occasion to ask the Secretariat for further information or clarification after a paper on a subject had been prepared and brought up before the Commission. Shri P.B. Dhawan, in view of his experience in the work of the Finance Commission, was not only of great help to the Chairman as his Private Secretary, but also handled the forecast of one of the major States. Similarly, Shri K.B.L. Mathur, Private Secretary to Prof. Raj Krishna, gave valuable assistance to the senior officers of the Commission with his specialised knowledge of analytical work in the economic field. We should also acknolwedge here the quiet and smooth efficiency with which our house-keeping staff worked for us, guided by Shri P. L. Sakarwal, Under Secretary, Shri H. R. Meraney, Superintendent and Shri P. N. Sachdev, Accounts Officer. Each of us would also like to add that our personal staff performed their duties to our entire satisfaction.

CHAPTER 2

RE-ASSESSMENT OF THE FORECASTS OF STATE GOVERNMENTS ON REVENUE ACCOUNT

The primary objective of a Finance Commission is to evolve a scheme of transfer of financial resources from the Centre to the States, so designed as to place each State in a position where it can expect to maintain financial equilibrium during the period covered by the report of the Commission. It is essential therefore to estimate the budgetary needs of of each State Government for this period, in a uniform manner, taking due note of any special features that there may be in one State or the other. The basic document for this purpose is the forecast of revenues and expenditure prepared by the State Government itself. As we have mentioned earlier, we had requested the State Governments to furnish these forecasts in a standard form, which followed the classification of receipts and expenditure used for budgeting and accounting of State Government transactions. We have also obtained from the State Government, in the last few months, revised forecasts taking into account their budgets for the current year as well as any developments relevant to the forecasts, which may have taken place after the budgets were presented.

- 2. The forecasts we have obtained relate to non-Plan expenditure. It has now been well established that the financial requirements of the States for their Plans are not considered by the Finance Commission. For practical reasons, if for no other, the requirements for the Plans of the Centre and the States from year to year, which would vary depending on the priorities of development, the progress of individual projects and programmes according to schedule or otherwise, escalations in costs and changes in the content of projects, etc. are most conveniently dealt with from time to time by the Planning Commission and the government concerned. The concern of the Finance Commission is the less discussed, but for that reason not the less vital, area of non-Plan expenditure embracing the basic administrative infrastructure and the adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets already created and the public services built up before the commencement of a new Plan. These aspects broadly determine the levels of non-Plan revenue expenditure. In regard to revenue receipts the Finance Commission goes by the general principle that measures which the States or the Centre may take to raise fresh resources should be left out of account, as the new resources raised in the period covered by the Commission's report are generally taken as being meant for new investment in the Plans, The Commission, however, is very much concerned with the returns which investments already made by the governments should fetch.
- 3. We have re-assessed the forecasts of revenue receipts and expenditure of the States in the light of these broad considerations. For the purpose of the re-assessments, both of revenue receipts and expenditure, like the earlier Commissions, we have adopted the method of applying suitable rates of growth by which individual items of revenue and expenditure may be expected to increase annually. The rates of growth have been applied to the actuals of the year for which firm figures are available in the accounts. In regard to items of receipts we have taken the actuals of 1977-78 as furnished to us by the Accountants General, unless these figures cannot be adopted for one reason or another. The actuals of receipts of 1977-78 are unlikely to undergo any change, unlike the preliminary actuals of the expenditure for the same year which we have for most of the States, also from the Accountants General. The actuals of expenditure for 1977-78 are liable to significant changes on account of adjustments, and we would not have the final picture in time for our Report. In regard to the items of expenditure therefore we have applied the rates of growth adopted by us to the actuals of 1976-77. Here again we have had to go by

other figures, where the 1976-77 actuals are vitiated for any reasons, such as their not reflecting fully the impact of revisions of emoluments effected before 1.1.1977, or being inflated because of inclusion of arrear payments of emoluments, etc. Wherever necessary, we have allowed for factors not reflected in the actuals of receipts in 1977-78 or of expenditure in 1976-77, and which ought to be taken into account for arriving at the 1978-79 base for projections. In the case of items of expenditure, we have excluded from the projections the effect of revisions in emoluments sanctioned after 1.1.1977, which have been dealt with separately later. In this manner both for receipts and expenditure we have arrived at the base year figures of 1978-79 for the purposes of projections. We do not consider it satisfactory to make projections based on the budget estimates of the States for 1978-79, or the revised estimates for 1977-78, for the actuals are likely to differ considerably from these estimates, as is shown by general experience.

- 4. Many States have given us to understand that they have assumed that there would be relative stability in prices or no price changes in the forecast period while preparing their forecasts of revenue receipts and expenditure. A few States have specifically stated that their forecasts of receipts would give them cushions to enable them to absorb the burden of unforeseen demands on their resources. We have also observed that the projections of receipts in many States are unduly conservative, and their projections would obviously give them cushions to meet stresses in their finances which may occur from time to time.
- 5. Some States, however, have built in allowances for price changes of varying orders in the forecast period, while projecting expenditure. Many have also built in higher norms of expenditure for maintenance of capital assets and on improving the standards of administration in certain services and sectors. We have allowed for a few such proposals of the States in determining the rates of growth for expenditure, but most of them have been dealt with separately.
- 6. We do recognise the anxiety of the State Governments, reflected in the assumptions they have made and the methods they have adopted in forecasting their receipts and expenditure, that the equilibrium of their finance in the period covered by our report should not be seriously upset on account of price changes and unavoudable new commitments of expenditure. In the re-assessment of the receipts of the States from taxes, we have taken care to discount the rates at which tax revenues have grown in the early seventies which witnesses severe price inflation. We have also taken note of the fact that there has been a welcome effort at tightening up the tax administration in many States in recent years, and that the higher rates of growth observed in such States as a result of these efforts cannot obviously be sustained in future years. On the other hand, we could not be indifferent to the high levels of arrears of taxes and other revenues noticed in a few States, and have therefore taken credit for recovery out of these arrears to a suitable extent in the forecast period.

7. We have made a detailed analysis of the growth of each item

of tax and non-tax revenue as well as non-plan expenditure of the

States for a long period of years, from 1963-64 to 1975-76 in most
cases. The rates of growth over this long period as well as the co-efficients of elasticity
and buoyancy with respect to incomes at current prices have been estimated. Similarly
we have the partial elasticity co-efficient of tax revenues estimated with respect to real
incomes and prices. These exercises were done for us by the National Institute of Public
Finance and Policy, New Delhi, whose assistance we would like to acknowledge here. While
we have not found the analysis of non-tax revenues and expenditure particularly useful, we
have kept in mind the estimated parameters for certain tax items, together with other factors,

while determining the future growth of tax revenues in each State. We have also naturally taken note of the trends in the growth of these taxes after 1975-76, apart from the changes in the tax laws and rate structures after that year. Besides, specific factors relevant to particular taxes have also been kept in mind, for instance the number of cinema houses in respect of entertainment tax, the laws relating to ceilings on urban and agricultural lands in respect of stamp duties, etc. Nor have we ignored broad considerations like the relative economic position of the States and the patterns of their economies. While we do not believe it is possible in practice to project revenues on the assumption of no price changes whatsoever in the forecast period, we believe that the rates of growth we have adopted would be fair to the States. Taking the overall receipts and expenditure as we have projected, we consider that except in a situation of more than marginal increases in prices, the States should be able to manage their finances fairly smoothly in the period of our report.

- 8. In the light of the considerations set out above, we have adopted the rates of growth of different taxes as shown in Appendix I. 1. We believe that these rates of growth would be realistic for the years covered by our report.
- 9. We have not adopted the method of applying rates of growth in the case of some taxes. For land revenue we have re-assessed the forecasts of the States taking a recovery of 85 per cent on the normal demand and 50 per cent of the outstanding arrears in each year. Receipts from electricity duty have been projected on the basis of the anticipated sale of energy in the new Plan period. In regard to purchase tax on sugercane, we have taken note of the recent steep increase in the production of sugar in the country, and the possibility that increases of the same order would not occur in the next few years. We have, therefore, adopted a rate of growth of 3 per cent for receipts from this tax in the case of Uttar Pradesh and Bihar and 4 per cent for the other States.

State excise
duties and the
impact of
prohibition

10. We have paid special attention to the projection of the revenues from State excise duties, keeping in mind the national policy favouring complete prohibition in 4 years. Almost all the States have indicated to us that they are in agreement with this policy in principle, though the steps different States have taken till now do not go equally far

towards complete prohibition. Some States have indicated in their forecasts the revenue effect of the measures they have already implemented and have in mind for the future. A few States have given us alternative projections of revenue, with and without the introduction of prohibition in stages. We have kept in mind the context of the national policy while deciding the method of projecting the excise revenue from potable liquor. We have estimated the excise receipts for 1978-79, on the basis of the decisions taken and implemented by the State Governments so far, such as a specific reduction in the sale of liquor, declaration of large areas as dry, etc. We have assumed that the revenue thus assessed for 1978-79 would remain static in each year of the forecast period. To this we have added, for each year, the assistance assured to the States in the present Central Government policy on the subject, equal to half the difference between the total receipts of excise revenue for 1977-78 and the re-assessed receipts for 1978-79, wherever the latter is less. In regard to the other items of revenue booked under the same head, we have adopted a rate of growth of receipts at 5 per cent per year. We wish to state specifically that the method we have adopted for projecting the excise revenues should not be construed as a disparagement of the intentions expressed by a number of State Governments to take steps progressively to achieve prohibition in the next 3 or 4 years. We feel, however, that it would be unsafe to project the revenues in any other manner than the one we have adopted. The level of revenue which we have adopted for each State and each year, should be the one with respect to which the Central Government would make grants to the States to compensate any loss of

excise revenue arising from prohibition measures in the years 1979-80 to 1983-84. We have given in Appendix I. 2 the receipts we have estimated under this head, for each State and each year, broken down between excise revenue from potable liquor and from the other receipts under the head.

The Department of Social Welfare of the Central Government have written to the State Governments on 3rd August 1978, and also to us on the 4th August 1978 indicating the policy of the Central Government. We had taken up this subject in the course of our discussions with the Secretary in the Department and with the Union Finance Secretary. The Union Finance Secretary has also written to us clarifying the policy. These communications have been reproduced in Appendix I. 3(i) to (iii). We find that the present policy of the Central Government, offering to compensate the States to the extent of 50 per cent of the loss of excise revenue if they took steps to implement prohibition, stipulates that the entire revenue under the major head 039 - State Excise would be counted for the year 1977-78 as well as for the year for which a State makes a claim for assistance, in order to determine the "established loss" of revenue. We find that in a number of States the revenue from items other than potable liquor is substantial, and as we have observed earlier, is being projected by us to grow annually at 5 per cent. We would also like to mention that in Karnataka there are cesses on the excise revenue, the receipts from which are not booked under the same major head of account as excise, and the loss of which, therefore would not be reflected in the revenue under the excise revenue head. A number of States have also pointed out that with the introduction of prohibition their revenue from sales tax on potable liquor would diminish. We find from the clarifications given to us by the Central Government that its assistance policy would not cover the loss or diminution of these revenues. We had also enquired, in our discussions with the Union Finance Secretary, whether any studies had been done which would support the position taken in the assistance policy of the Centre that the uncompensated part of the excise revenue can be made up by the States by tapping the savings on consumption of liquor through other means. We were informed that while this matter had not been studied in detail, it was the belief of the Central Government that savings on liquor were likely to be spent on other consumption which was already subject to tax or could be taxed by the States. The State Governments with whom we have discussed this point, have mentioned that they expected that the savings on liquor would be largely spent on items like foodgrains, clothing, etc. which were either not subject to tax or were taxed at low rates. In their view, to the extent that the savings were spent on items like entertainment, there could be some increase in the revenue, but overall it appeared they would not be able to make up anywhere near the uncompensated part of the excise revenue loss. We feel that there is considerable validity in this view of the States.

11. We, therefore, hold the view that where the State Government implements further measures towards prohibition in the years from 1979-80 onwards, and thereby suffers a loss in the excise revenue from potable liquor to a figure below that assumed by us for that year, the difference should be made up entirely by a grant by the Central Government, and we recommend accordingly. We also recommend that the Government of India should assess the grant payable, if any, to each State in each year of the period of our report, and make the payment under Article 275. In our view, in making this grant, the Central Government should make no distinction between the States which are left with an overall surplus for the five-year period as a result of our scheme of transfer of resources from the Centre, and those which are not. We make this recommendation, taking into account the fact that the present policy of Central assistance does not distinguish between "surplus" States and the other States. We also believe that if such grants are not made to the "surplus" States, they would suffer a diminution in the resources for their Plan, a result which we do not consider equitable or just. Nor would we wish to lay ourselves open to a possible charge

that our view of this matter indirectly will discourage the "surplus" States from taking up a ti me-bound programme for achieving complete prohibition.

- 12. Prof. Raj Krishna and Shri H. N. Ray, however, do not agree with this approach and have set out their views in a joint Note appended to this Report.
- 13. Gujarat and Tamil Nadu have asked for specific grants equivalent to the loss of excise revenue following the introduction of complete prohibition in those States quite some time back. The losses have been calculated notionally. We are unable to accede to their request to compensate notional losses of revenue.
- 14. We have generally adopted an annual rate of growth of 5 per cent for the projection of revenues of the States from non-tax sources, or have accepted the forecasts of the State Governments themselves where we found these reasonable, except for interest, profits and dividends, revenues from forests, mines and minerals, and receipts from the departmental schemes providing supplies and services.
- 15. In the case of receipts from forests, we have not only taken into account the trends of growth of past receipts but also the areas under forests in each State and the revenue per hectare. We have also taken note of the fact that in some States the State Forest Development Corporations have been entrusted with the forest operations in some areas, while in a few the forest operations are being done departmentally and not through lessees. The forest revenues of Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Jammu & Kashmir, Karnataka, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Orissa, Tripura and Maharashtra have been projected to grow at an annual rate of 8 per cent. We have adopted 7 per cent as the rate of growth of revenue in Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Tamilnadu and West Bengal, and 6 per cent for the other States. In the case of receipts from mines and minerals, we have compared the projections of the States, in respect of royalties on major minerals, with the production estimates for each mineral obtained from the Union Ministries concerned. The revenue from royalties has been projected on the basis of the production anticipated during the forecast period. The other receipts under this Head have been projected taking into account the past trends. Cesses on royalties which are levied in a few States have been projected on the same lines as the royalties.
- 16. We have been concerned at the picture of deficits disclosed in the forecasts of a num ber of States, in respect of departmental milk supply schemes, undertakings of a commercial nature, water supply schemes, ports and transport services. These services have been expanding in the States over the years, and the State Governments have been investing increasingly in them. Generally these services benefit particular sections of the people, and to the extent the services incur deficits borne by the State Governments, they become a burden on the tax-payer in general. While we appreciate that some of the services are very desirable, we see no reason why receipts on account of these services should not at least cover the working expenses even if they do not generate surpluses for new investments which will be necessary as population grows and urbanisation spreads. It also seems to us that if deficits in these supplies and services, which are of the nature of subsidies from the budget, are not taken note of and conscious efforts are not made to reduce them, there is bound to be a degree of laxity in keeping control over costs and in pricing policies, We recognise, at the same time, that the States will need some time to improve the financial working of such ventures. We have accordingly re-assessed the forecasts of receipts and expenditure on such items, so that the deficit would be reduced to nil by 1983-84. In the case of water transport services run by the Assam Government, however, considering the unique place of these services in the economy of Assam, we have assumed that the deficit would be reduced to half by 1983-84.

- 17. We note with concern that in some States there appeared to be no policy in terms of which the departments concerned with the provision of supplies and services of the nature described above were required to control costs and to improve efficiency in such a manner as to reduce the net burden on the budgets. The State Governments which are not already maintaining proforma commercial accounts for such schemes and services, should consider doing so. This should help in bringing about a degree of cost-consciousness in the management of these schemes and services, thereby resulting in economy and greater efficiency.
- 18. We have elsewhere referred to another aspect, namely high levels of arrears of revenues in some States, and indicated that we have assumed that the arrears would be reduced in the forecast period. In our examination of the forecast on the capital account also, which we deal with later, we have assumed recoveries of loans on the basis of a normative approach rather than give credit for the unsatisfactory position in many States. Another important area where good management should produce better results than now, concerns the working of the departmental schemes for irrigation, electricity and transport as well as the corporate bodies set up by the States in these fields, which we shall discuss in some detail later.

Additional resource mobilisation

19. In the projections of the revenue receipts of the States as described above, we have taken the levels of taxation as in the current year, on the basis of the information furnished to us by the States till early in October, 1978. Para 5(iii) of the Presidential Order

requires us to have regard also to the targets for additional resource mobilisation for the Plan. We have been informed by the Planning Commission and the Union Finance Ministry that the aggregate of the targets for additional resource mobilisation in the current year is Rs. 452. 17 crores for all the States, excepting Meghalaya and Sikkim for which no such target was settled. We have also been informed that in some States the target figures include resources to be mobilised through economies in expenditure and better collections of revenue, which it is not possible to quantify. Another relevant point in this connection is that States still have a few months in the current year during which they may take steps to mobilise further resources. We have also noted that when the targets were fixed it was not known that the Central Government would levy an excise duty on electricity, which, according to our estimation, should yield Rs. 125.33 crores in the current year relateable to generation of electricity by the electricity boards and other undertakings of the States. This levy, we have no doubt, would have the effect of inhibiting the State Governments from revising electricity duty upwards and the electricity undertakings from revising their tariffs upwards for raising more resources for themselves. In the light of these factors we have considered it appropriate to reduce the resource mobilisation target of the States by the amount of the Central excise payable on generation of electricity. We have also assumed that the norm of performance against the target so adjusted should be the same as it had been in the States as a whole in the four years 1974-75 to 1977-78, when the all States performance was 94.98 per cent. We have further assumed that the proportion of the tax and non-tax measures, which would be reflected directly in the budget, to the resource mobilisation by the State enterprises would be the same as it was in 1974-78. Or these assumptions we have worked out that the aggregate modified target for the twenty States (for which resource mobilisation targets were set for the current year) should be Rs. 190.36 crores for tax and non-tax revenue measures, and Rs. 120.07 crores for measures in the field of the State enterprises. Taking the additional resources so far raised by the States, we have computed the shortfalls in performance against the modified targets of tax and non-tax resources which we have derived. Five States have done better than the target worked out by us. So as not to penalise the effort, we have given these

States credit for their performance in excess of the target. After allowing for the full year's yield of the measures taken by them, fourteen States have shortfalls as shown below:

	States	(Rs. crores
1.	Andhra Pradesh	19.78
2.	Assam	2, 11
3.	Bihar	10.88
4.	Haryana	5.90
5.	Jammu & Kashmir	1.26
6.	Karnataka	13, 33
7.	Kerala	6, 84
8.	Maharashtra	21, 89
9.	Manipur	0, 26
10.	Nagaland	0, 10
	Rajasthan	9.79
	Tamil Nadu	8. 23
13.	Tripura	0, 21
	Uttar Pradesh	19.67

We have added these amounts back to the revenues of the States in the current year and projected them to grow during the forecast period at the same rate as the aggregate tax and non-tax revenues of each State (excluding interest and dividends) as reassessed by us. The receipts thus projected have been added to the revenue receipts of these States for the forecast period.

Shri H.N.Ray, however, does not agree with this approach and has given his views in a separate Note which has been appended to this report.

Revenue expenditure 20. We now indicate the manner in which we have reassessed the revenue expenditure projections of the States. We have kept in mind the desirability of the State Governments restraining the growth of non-

Plan expenditure generally in the interest of the provision of services to the tax-payer at the least cost to him, and of conserving resources for the development Plans. We have projected most items of expenditure to grow annually at five per cent wherever the States have adopted a higher rate in their forecasts. In the case of the tax collection charges, as well as Treasury and Accounts Administration, however, we have recognised that in many States a somewhat higher rate of growth of expenditure than 5 per cent a year in the forecast period would enable them to improve the efficiency of the departmental organisations and achieve better administration of the taxes and higher collections as well as improved control over Government expenditure. The rates of growth adopted are six per cent and eight per cent in most cases. The expenditure on the Police has been reassessed on the basis of an annual rate of growth of 6.5 per cent, and expenditure on fire services at 6 per cent.

21. Under developmental heads of expenditure we have given special consideration to the requirements of individual States. For education an annual rate of growth of 7 per cent has been adopted for reassessing the expenditure forecast of these States, namely, Bihar, Jammu and Kashmir, Orissa, Tripura and West Bengal, while for the other States, the rate adopted is six per cent. For medical services, we have adopted rates of growth which would enable States to provide adequately for items like X-ray equipment, etc. We have also provided additionally for expenditure on medicines and diet for patients so that States

can spend upto Rs.2568 a year on medicines and Rs.1100 a year on diet per hospital bed. The former is the average expenditure on medicines for all States in 1977-78 as estimated by us, and the latter has been taken by us as a desirable minimum. We have shown in Appendices I.4(i) and (ii) the additional provisions thus included in the forecasts of the States concerned.

- 22. We find a variety of practices in different States in regard to old age pensions and pensions for the destitutes, the infirm, etc., the expenditure on which is booked under the head 288-Social Security and Welfare. In a few States, there is no such social security scheme at all, while in others the rates of monthly pension are too low in our opinion. We feel concerned about this situation, and believe that it would be desirable to have some uniformity as between the States. We have, therefore, allowed in the forecast period adequate provisions in each State to enable payment of Rs.60 per month by way of a social security pension to 0.1 per cent of the population according to the 1971 census. In the case of the States where the expenditure on social security pension is higher than this level, we have allowed it to stand. The amounts thus provided have been taken at a static level in each year of the forecast period. The provisions allowed by us, together with the actual expenditure in 1976-77 are shown in Appendix 1.5. Some States have recently decided on unemployment relief payments. West Bengal, Kerala, Karnataka and Punjab have included pensions on this account in their revised forecasts on revenue account. We are not in a position to judge the merits of these schemes and their priority vis-a-vis other developmental schemes of the States. We believe that such schemes should properly belong to the Plans, and have therefore not allowed any provisions in the forecasts as reassessed by us.
- 23. In regard to the transactions on food and civil supplies we have examined the revenue expenditure head 309 and the capital account head 509, taking into account the different practices followed by the States for the booking of transactions in the accounts. We have assumed that except in Himachal Pradesh and Jammu & Kashmir, there would be no net burden on the budgets in the forecast period on account of these transactions, but have allowed for the regular establishment costs. In regard to food subsidy, Himachal Pradesh has included in its forecast a small amount for subsidising mainly the cost of transport of certain essential commodities to the remote areas in the State. In view of the special circumstances, we have allowed for this expenditure. Jammu & Kashmir has been withdrawing food subsidies in a phased manner since about 2 years. According to the State Government, the total burden on the subsidy on foodgrains had reached Rs. 15.87 crores in 1975-76, whereafter it is being reduced progressively. Simultaneously the State Government has undertaken certain development schemes outside the Plan, utilising the savings on the food subsidies. We understand that the Planning Commission has till now allowed such an arrangement. The State Government has included expenditure to the tune of Rs. 12.66 crores on food subsidies in its forecast for the first 3 years on a diminishing scale, and at the same time has also proposed a food subsidy sub-Plan of Rs. 56 crores in the fiveyear period made up of Rs. 13.15 crores on revenue account and Rs. 42.85 crores on capital account. The State Government has urged that since the Planning Commission has so far allowed a food subsidy sub-Plan outside the Plan, the same practice should be accepted for the period covered by our Report and Rs. 56 crores should be provided for on the non-Plan account for a food subsidy sub-Plan. We have given careful consideration to this matter. We appreciate the efforts of the State Government to reduce the food subsidy expenditure to nil after the first 3 years of the forecast period, and have accordingly allowed this expenditure to the tune of Rs. 12.66 crores in the years 1979-80 to 1981-82. However, in regard to the food subsidy sub-plan, though we may be in sympathy with the approach of the State Government, we feel precluded from providing for expenditure of a clearly developmental nature which ought to be in the Plan. Besides, we are not aware of the contents of the

sub-Plan of Rs. 56 crores. Even if we were, we are not in a position to assess their merits as the Planning Commission would be able to do. We are, therefore, leaving this aspect to be discussed and settled between the State Government and the Planning Commission.

- 24. There are a number of items of expenditure in the States for which the Central Government provides non-Plan grants. Some of these items are functions performed by the States as agents of the Central Government. Many others are in pursuance of schemes of joint efforts between the Central Government and the States to improve particular areas of administration, for instance, grants forming part of Central assistance for modernisation of the police. Some others have ad hoc origins like grants to the States towards the cost of the personnel of the former National Fitness Corps. Among the Central Ministries only the Ministry of Supply and Rehabilitation (Department of Rehabilitation) has written to us that they are meeting the cost of certain institutions (Permanent Liability Homes, etc.) in the States which had been set up as part of the measures for rehabilitation and welfare of refugees and migrants. They have observed that institutions of these types should be the responsibility of the States concerned, but the latter had not so far taken them over on account of financial constraints. The Department have, therefore, suggested that we may take this into account and allow for the full expenditure in the forecast of the States concerned. A copy of their communication is reproduced at Appendix I.6. We have accepted this request and have accordingly allowed fully for the expenditure on the institutions in the forecasts of the States concerned. As regards non-Plan grants to the other Ministries, we have assumed that they will continue as at present and have reassessed the States' forecasts accordingly wherever necessary.
- 25. The forecasts of the States include provisions for assignments of revenues from taxes to local bodies. The taxes so assigned and the amounts involved differ widely as between the States. We have provided for these assignments to continue in the forecast period on the same basis as at present. State Governments also give grants to local bodies. A few have revised the amounts of these grants recently. We have allowed provisions for these grants to continue on the current basis, with an annual increase of 2 per cent in the forecast period.

Committed

26. The maintenance of Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79

becomes a "committed" liability on the non-Plan account from 1979-80 <u>liabilities</u> onwards. We had requested State Governments to furnish us details of Plan expenditure for the year 1978-79 as well as their estimates of the committed liability from 1979-80 onwards. We had asked for scheme-wise details, showing recurring and non-recurring items. Not all State Government have been able to give us the information in detail. We have also noticed that in many States the Plan outlay budgeted by them is different from the Plan outlay for the current year approved by the Planning Commission. Since the Plan outlay approved by the Planning Commission is linked with a certain scheme of financing settled at the time of the approval of the Plans, we have taken the approved Plan outlay as the basis. The committed liability arising on account of expenditure on the capital side, for example, maintenance of buildings, roads and irrigation works, have been examined separately and provided for as indicated later. We have therefore estimated the committed liability arising out of the revenue account component of the approved Plan for 1978-79; where the budgeted outlay is different from the approved Plan outlay we have made our own estimate of the revenue component of the approved outlay. Similarly, in respect of Central sector and Centrally sponsored schemes, we have suitably modified the outlays shown in the State budgets in the light of the outlays in the Central budget. We have also taken into account information

furnished by the Planning Commission, which may be found in Appendix I.7, for the purpose of estimating committed expenditure liabilities in the States. For instance, a number of

states have included in their forecasts provisions for family welfare programmes on the assumption that they would cease to be Centrally sponsored, though the actual position is otherwise. We have corrected the forecasts of the States in such cases.

27. The committed expenditure estimates as percentage of the revenue Plan outlay of 1978-79 vary very widely as between the States. For instance, in the State Plan sector these percentages vary from 25.4 to 85.96. This range of variation is inexplicable since the content of the revenue Plan outlay under the different heads of development does not vary too much as between the States. Keeping these considerations in mind, we have allowed for committed expenditure liabilities in 1979-80 at the levels proposed by the States, subject to a maximum of 50 per cent of the revenue component of the plan outlay for 1978-79. In the case of Sikkim and Haryana, which have made unduly low estimates in our view, we have adopted 30 per cent of the revenue Plan outlay. The estimate for 1979-80 in each case has been projected to grow at an annual rate of 5 per cent for the rest of the period covered by our Report. For the States which are members of the North Eastern Council, we have provided for the committed expenditure liabilities, on account of North Eastern Council Plan schemes in those States, which are likely to be completed in 1978-79. We have obtained the necessary information from the Council's Secretariat.

We would like to suggest here that it would be useful if the State Governments, and perhaps the Planning Commission also undertake studies which would help them, and future Finance Commissions, to estimate "committed" expenditure liabilities much more closely than is now the case.

Debt Services

28. Interest payment liabilities have been largely got verified from the Accountants General, and adopted accordingly. Some States had included in their forecast interest liability on fresh borrowings in the forecast period. We have decided not to take into account the fresh

borrowings and lendings of the States in the forecast period, and therefore the interest liability, as well as interest receipts attributable to the fresh borrowings and lendings assumed by the States have been omitted in our re-assessment. However, we have provided for the interest liability on fresh accretions to provident funds in the forecast period in each State, as estimated by the States. In the case of Assam, we have allowed interest on Central Loan assistance assumed by us in the forecast period towards the outlay on the capital project of the State.

29. We have carefully considered the question whether appropriations for the reduction or avoidance of debt should be allowed for as expenditure on the revenue account. The existing practices amongst the States are not uniform. Most States do not make these appropriations, but some of them have included expenditure on this account in their forecasts. Very few also invest the appropriations to sinking funds, where these are presently made. The Reserve Bank of India, whom we consulted, has indicated that for public borrowings from 1975 they had advised all the States that it was not necessary to create sinking funds. Earlier they had advised the States in 1971 that it was not necessary to provide on revenue account for depreciation funds. This communication to us has been reproduced in Appendix I.8. Considering this advice and the existing practices in most States, as well as the fact that Plan schemes by way of public borrowings are calculated net of repayments, we have decided not to allow for appropriations on the revenue account for sinking funds or depreciation funds.

In Maharashtra, the practice is to make appropriations on the revenue account also to repay loans to the Central Government and other agencies to the extent that recoveries against lendings from such loans fall short of the repayment liability. We have taken repayment liabilities of this nature into account while estimating the non-Plan capital gap, and have not allowed for appropriations for this purpose in its forecast of revenue expenditure.

Transfer 30. Similarly, we have examined each case of transfers from the revenue to Funds account to funds of various categories. The number and purposes of these funds differ from State to State. Some of them have been prescribed in enactments of the States concerned, while other funds are consequence of historical practices followed in different States. Providing for transfers from the revenue account to such funds inflates revenue expenditure in a formal sense, and no substantive principle is involved as far as our purposes are concerned. The only exception we have made is in the case of the transfers proposed by Gujarat to the State Famine Relief Fund, the balance of which are invested. In this State certain taxes have been levied and earmarked for transfer to the Famine Relief Fund so that the invested balances could be encashed and used to meet the relief expenditure when the necessity arises a policy which we would like to commend. Elsewhere, we have taken the view that the margin we have allowed for relief expenditure in any State should be invested in easily encashable securities, and not merged in the general balances. The view we have taken in regard to the Gujarat Famine Relief Fund is consistent with this approach.

Maintenance and upkeep of capital assets

31. Our terms of reference require us to provide for the adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets completed by the end of the current year. We have obtained detailed information on the capital values of buildings, lengths of roads of different categories, investments in irrigation schemes and areas benefited, investments in flood control works and the nature of physical assets created. The proformae in which we had asked the States to furnish the detailed information are reproduced in Annexures III.1 and 7.

32. In regard to the maintenance of buildings, we had requested the State Governments also to indicate the norms followed by them for making provisions in their budgets. The information received from them has been of considerable value. Generally they have indicated that their norms are in terms of percentages of the capital costs of different types of buildings. These percentage norms also vary depending on the age of the buildings. Andhra Pradesh has informed us that they follow norms in terms of plinth areas of the buildings. We have also obtained from the Union Government the norms followed by them for making provisions for maintenance of buildings by the Central Public Works Department. We have been informed that till August 1978 these norms were in terms of percentages of the capital costs. As a result of changing over to norms based on plinth areas, we understand that the increased provision works out to about 8 per cent over those based on the earlier norms. Considering the wide variations in the norms adopted by the different States as well as in the norms they have proposed for the future, and taking into account also the fact that the Central Public Works Department maintains buildings all over the country, we have considered it proper to adopt the norms in force in the Central Public Works Department till recently by way of percentages of capital costs of buildings; these norms are shown in Appendix 1.9. We have calculated the provisions for the maintenance of the buildings in each State, taking the capital values as indicated by the State Government up to the latest year for which they could furnish information, and bringing the position up-to-date as at the end of 1978-79 by reference to the accounts and the budgets. The provision so calculated has been increased by 8 per cent for the purpose of arriving at the re-essessed requirement in 1979-80. We

have noticed a few cases where the actual expenditure by the States in recent years has been higher than calculated by us. In such cases we have made suitable adjustments in the amount assessed by us. The re-assessed requirement for 1979-80 has been projected so as to take care also of the provisions required for the maintenance of new buildings which may be completed in the forecast period. This projection has been done for each State taking into account the rate of additions to building assets in the years 1974-79 and assuming that the proportion of the capital outlays on buildings in the Plan outlay would be about the same in the forecast period as in the years 1974-79. This approximation has had to be adopted since there are no data on the basis of which capital values of new buildings can be estimated otherwise. Appendix I.10 shows the provisions included in 1979-80 and 1979-84 in the forecasts of the States, and those as re-assessed by us.

33. In respect of the maintenance of roads, as mentioned earlier, we obtained detailed information from each State on the lengths of roads of various categories as well as of roads maintained by the State Governments and those maintained by the local Bodies. On our request, many States have also furnished the norms which they have been following for providing in their budgets for maintenance of roads, and the norms which they feel should be adopted for the forecast period. We have also consulted the Director General, Road Development, in the Ministry of Shipping and Transport of the Union Government. He informed us that a conference of Chief Engineers of the country had set up a Committee in 1977 in order to examine the costs of maintenance of roads, and the Committee's report should be helpful to the Commission when it was ready. We understand that this report has not been finalised as yet. Consequently, we have decided to go by the advice of the Director General, Road Development, that the norms suggested by him to the Sixth Commission could be used with an escalation factor of 45 per cent. This escalation factor has been suggested to reflect the increases in the costs of road maintenance in the last few years as worked out in the Ministry. We have also benefited by the reports of the Technical Committees which had been set up in two or three States in the recent past and which had made fairly detailed studies of the subject.

The norms of costs of maintenance, which we have adopted, are related to the zones in which the roads fall, the nature of the surface, as well as traffic intensities. The information furnished by the States in regard to road lengths is not in such detail, unfortunately, as to enable us to apply the norms directly in very many cases. We have, therefore, had to make reasonable assumptions in regard to the zones in which the roads fall and the traffic intensities. In cases where the zonewise information of roads length was not available, we have used the average of the norms of maintenance costs for all the zones, in the States where road lengths are in more than one zone. Where we have no specific information from the States we have adopted the norm relating to a traffic intensity of 150 to 450 commercial vehicles per day in respect of State Highways, and the norm relating to a traffic intensity of 45 to 150 commercial vehicles per day for major district roads and other district roads. Where details of roads by the type of surface have not been furnished by the States, we have derived these in the same proportion as in the surface categories available in the "Basic road statistics" compiled by the Shipping & Transport Ministry. We have added, to the annual maintenance provisions for ordinary repairs and periodical renewals so calculated, 20 per cent for special repairs. Besides, for roads in hilly areas, heavy rainfall areas and desert areas we have added a suitable percentage; the lengths of roads in such areas have been worked out drawing upon the districtwise information available in the Union Ministry of Shipping & Transport. For Himachal Pradesh, we have allowed Rs. 30 lakhs additionally for special repairs to the old Hindustan-Tibet road, taking into account the considerations urged in this behalf by the State Government.

34. We have examined carefully the question of providing in the State forecasts for the maintenance of the village roads and the roads with local bodies. Some State Governments like Karnataka, Punjab, Orissa and Rajasthan have shown substantial lengths of village roads as being maintained by the Government; while in a large number of States this is not the position. In fact, Andhra Pradesh, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Sikkim, Tamil Nadu and Uttar Pradesh did not show any village road as being maintained by the Government. In several States the local bodies are shown as maintaining considerable lengths of other district roads and village roads. In some States major district roads are also with the local bodies, and in Maharashtra 360 kilometres of State Highways are also shown as being with the local bodies for maintenance. In the case of Bihar, the State Government has shown maintenance expenditure on village roads under the major head 314-Community Development, the maintenance being the function of the Rural Engineering Department of the Government. Some States make specific purpose grants for road maintenance to their local bodies, while in many the general purpose grants given to them are presumed to be available, at least in part, for the maintenance of roads. We have also noted that in some States the transfer of large lengths of roads with local bodies is in pursuance of the desirable policy of decentralisation of functions from the State Government level. We also feel that the economic value of the rural roads is high. In view of these considerations we have decided, unlike the Sixth Commission, that we should provide in the forecasts of the States also for the reasonable expenditure required for the maintenance of village roads with the local bodies. We also feel that no differentiation should be made between the roads maintained by the Governments and by the local bodies in the the matter of the norms for providing for the maintenance. On the other hand, in all States, local bodies do have powers to raise revenues on their own, and also receive the proceeds of taxes assigned to them by the States, apart from grants. Accordingly, we have decided that for the roads which are with the local bodies for maintenance, provision should be made to the extent of 100 per cent of the norm for State Highways, 80 per cent of the norm for major district roads and 60 per cent of the norm for other district roads and village roads. The amounts we have allowed in the forecasts on this basis for State and local body roads are shown in Appendix I.11. We would expect that the States concerned would make available to the local bodies at least these amounts provided by us in the period covered by our report.

The maintenance provisions for roads calculated as above have been taken for 1979-80, and projected to grow annually at 5 per cent, including 2 per cent for increases in traffic intensity.

35. Our terms of reference speak of providing adequately for the maintenance of capital assets created till the end of the current year. We are, therefore, apparently not concerned with the maintenance of such assets created in the five years covered by our Report. This would be consistent with the concept used in planning that the maintenance of assets created during the course of a five-year Plan would be a charge on the Plan outlays till the end of the Five-Year Plan, and only thereafter be met from the non-Plan side of the budget. The facts, however, are different, as we have been informed by the State Governments. The practice is that the maintenance of irrigation schemes, roads and buildings is actually met from the non-Plan provisions in the budget as soon as the works are completed. We have been informed that this is the practice in respect of roads and buildings even in the Central Government. We had consulted the Planning Commission in this matter, and have been informed that we may provide for the maintenance

of irrigation systems, which may be completed during the period covered by our Report. But that Commission would take care of the maintenance requirements of roads and buildings which may be completed in the years 1979-80 to 1983-84. Our communication to the Planning Commission and their reply are reproduced in Appendix I.12. We find it difficult to accept the view that irrigation works and the other types of capital assets should be distinguished on the ground, stated by the Planning Commission, that the State Governments would receive substantial additional revenues on account of new irrigation but not from the other types of capital assets, or on the ground that the maintenance requirements of roads and buildings completed in the period covered by our Report would be relatively small. At the operational levels of the Executive Engineers in the field, it will be extremely difficult in practice to book separately the expenditure on the maintenance of roads and buildings created till the end of 1978-79 and on those created thereafter. We have, therefore, taken a practical view, keeping in mind the over-riding importance of the requirement that States must be enabled to maintain capital assets adequately. We have no means, however, of making reasonably close estimates of lengths of roads of different categories, or of capital values of buildings, likely to be completed in each State in the years covered by our Report. We feel that the rates of growth we have adopted, as indicated above, for projecting the maintenance provisions for roads and buildings in each year of the period covered by our Report would be adequate to cover the new assets also.

36. The provisions worked out as above for the maintenance of roads and buildings do not include the costs on account of regular establishment and tools and plant. We have added to those provisions 16 per cent on account of the costs of establishment and 4 per cent on account of tools and plant.

Multi-purpose, major and medium irrigation 37. We have earlier referred to the information obtained by us from the States in regard to the investments in irrigation, the benefits therefrom etc. in a form prescribed by us. We found that in a number of cases the information furnished by the States

in this form, in regard to receipts of working expenses, did not tally with the forecasts of revenue receipts and expenditures. The response to our requests to the States concerned for clarifying and reconciling the discrepancies has, unfortunately, not been adequate. Since it is necessary for us to consider the matter of providing for working expenses in irrigation systems in physical terms, we have gone by the information furnished by the States in the form referred to above.

38. As in the case of the roads and buildings, we had requested the States to let us have the norms of maintenance costs which they follow presently and propose for the future. Many States have furnished this information to us, and a few in considerable detail. We had also requested the Accountants General to furnish to us the details of the working expenses of a number of projects. From the responses from the Accountants General we find that in most cases the State Government Departments concerned do not keep accounts of the expenditure broken down into all its components, and, therefore, the Accountants General also could not give us the complete details of the expenditure. At our request, the Department of Irrigation of the Union Government had undertaken an examination of the actual working expenses in selected projects in a number of States. A copy of the Note received from them may be seen at Appendix I. 13. The components of material, work-charged staff, etc. in the expenditure vary very widely between the States.

The reasons for such variations are not clear. These exercises therefore have not proved to be directly helpful. The Department of Irrigation have also advised us of their views in regard to the appropriate level of expenditure for the proper operation and maintenance of irrigation systems. They have stated:

"In view of above and after considering recommendations made by the various authorities and also keeping in view the present rate of cost of labour, materials and equipment, it is proposed that the following annual rates (including work-charged and regular establishment) per hectare of irrigated area may be recommended by the Seventh Finance Commission in respect of Operation & Maintenance charges to irrigation projects:—

- 1. Gravity canal system Rs. 50 per hectare
 - (a) In case of new Rs. 50 per hectare of potential created and subsequently Rs. 50 per hectare of the irrigated area when the annual gross irrigated area equals to potential created.
 - (b) The grants for maintenance of Canal inspection roads used for public purposes should be borne by the P.W. Departments of the States.
 - (c) Maintenance of Plantations and Gardens should be separately provided for.
- 2. Lift Schemes (Pumped Canals): Rates may vary according to the lifts involved. No blanket rate can be prescribed. The grant should not include depreciation charges. The expenditure on dredging of supply channels in the river bed when the river recedes away from the bank should be taken as a special work under a separate estimate.
- 3. Irrigation from tubewells: Rs. 50 per hectare plus the cost of energy consumed by the system.
- 4. Special Repairs: A provision may be made at the rate of 20 per cent of the total annual grants for normal operation and maintenance."

The Department have also given us to understand that the norms per hectare suggested by them may be taken to include the maintenance of diversion structures but not the expenditure on the operation and maintenance of major dams.

39. We have been informed that the third Conference of the State Ministers of Irrigation held in November 1977 had also considered this subject and recommended that at least Rs.50 per hectare of gross area irrigated or the culturable command area, whichever was more, should be provided annually for proper and efficient maintenance of major and medium irrigation schemes. We have also noted that the International Development Association (of the World Bank Group), which has appraised a number of irrigation projects in the country in recent years has estimated the maintenance costs per hectare at Rs.32 for the Chambal Project in Rajasthan in May 1974, Rs.48 for the Chambal Project in Madhya Pradesh in June 1975, Rs.45 for the Nagarjunasagar project in Andhra Pradesh in April 1976, Rs.50 for the Periar Project in Kerala in May 1977 and Rs.50 for medium irrigation projects in Orissa in July 1977.

- 40. We have taken into account the expenditure in recent years worked out for us from the information given by the States, as well as the suggestions of the Department of Irrigation and the other material referred to above. The working expenses would vary quite often from one project to another. We are in no position to go into the individual projects. Our purpose will be served by the adoption of an over-all norm for working out the maintenance provisions for the irrigation systems in the State as a whole. We believe that as a rule the provisions required on this account would be adequate if calculated at Rs. 50 per hectare of gross irrigated area, with an addition of 20 per cent thereof for special repairs. These provisions would include the cost of work-charged as well as regular establishments and tools and plant. In the case of a few States, viz., Andhra Pradesh, Kerala and Orissa, however, on the basis of the information available with us from them, we have adopted a norm of Rs. 45 per hectare. Himachal Pradesh, Maghalaya, Sikkim and Tripura do not have any irrigation at present from major and medium projects. Schemes now under construction are expected to give benefits in the forecast period. We have presumed that 2/3rd of the potential to be created would be utilised, and we have provided for working expenses at Rs. 45 per hectare of gross irrigated area calculated accordingly. In these cases as well as for Manipur we have not adopted any return by way of interest on the investment; receipts, however, have been taken to match working expenses.
- 41. In a few States, the expenditure booked in the relevant major heads of account in 1976-77 are higher than what they should have been on the bsis of the norms we have adopted. We have, however, no clear explanation for this situation. It appears likely that the utilisation of the potential in the projects in such cases is much lower than the optimum, and this may be an important factor.
- 42. In order to allow in our re-assessment of the forecasts of the States adequate provisions for the maintenance of new irrigation systems or extensions of the present irrigation systems likely to be completed in the years covered by our Report, we have to estimate what the gross irrigated areas are likely to be in each year in each State. The information furnished to us by the States in this regard has been compared with the targets of creation of additional irrigation potential in each State in the new Plan period upto 1982-83. We find that there is too much of variation between these figures and the information given to us by the States. We have, therefore, not been able to accept the estimations of the States. We have assumed that in each State the gross irrigated area will increase in the years of the forcast period at the same rate as the irrigation potential at the end of 1977-78 should increase in order to achieve the target potential in 1982-83. We believe that this would give a reasonably good approximation of the likely new development of irrigation, and we have allowed for maintenance provisions accordingly in the forecasts.
- 43. We have given careful consideration to the question of returns on the investments of the State Governments in irrigation, power, transport, etc. This is a major area of fiscal management where poor performance would lead to sizable subsidy burdens on the budgets and therefore on the general tax payers. A few States have argued before us that irrigation systems, transport services and electricity schemes are "social" services provided by the Government, and returns on the investments made should not be insisted upon. We have no hesitation in rejecting this view, which is little better than a cloak for inefficiency and the lack of will to make these investments pay. We find that the National Development Council and the Planning Commission also expect that State Government investments of this nature should produce returns.

- 44. In respect of multipurpose, major and medium schemes, we have noted the concern of the earlier Finance Commission, and also the Commissions and Committees which have gone into the question, that the deficits suffered by the State budgets have been increasing over the last few Plan periods. The picture presented to us now by the States shows no improvement except in a few of them. The information furnished by the States, in the form we had referred to earlier, shows that for the period 1979-84, nineteen States would be in deficit to the tune of Rs. 2800 crores after providing for working expenses and interest on the investments at the rates prescribed by the State Governments concerned. We cannot but record our views that this is a serious situation. Without providing for the interest, the deficit shown for the same period by the same State is Rs.302 crores. This is the amount by which working expenses exceed receipts. The last Commission had proceeded on the basis that the States would improve their position over the period 1974-79 so as to match receipts and working expenses. It is, in our view, disappointing that this situation has not been achieved. Complacency in this regard would be harmful and unjustified. Such deficits are in fact subsidies by the general tax-payer to those who benefit from irrigation. It is not as if that these budgetary subsidies can be reduced only by raising the irrigation rates, which States find difficulty in doing. Steps like better utilisation of the available potential, efficient and economic maintenance and management of the irrigation systems, raising water rate demands correctly and collecting them fully and in time, will all contribute to the desired result. We may note here that in quite a few States the arrears of water rates are substatial. A few States have in fact assumed that the position of recovery of the current demand and of arrears will not improve in the forecast period. We do not think it proper to make allowances for such factors. Nor do we consider that we should only satisfy ourselves with stipulating that receipts and working expenses should be matched as they should be, and no better performance should be expected. At least a small improvement is definitely called for. We have accordingly assumed that in each State in the period covered by our Report, receipts should not only cover working expenses but also provide for a return by way of interest at 1 per cent on the total capital invested by the States at the end of 1978-79, as estimated by us from the information furnished by them including their budgets. We have assumed that his return of 1 per cent would be achieved beginning with 0.2 per cent in 1979-80, and going up by 0.2 per cent in each year of the period. We have re-assessed the forecasts of the States accordingly.
- 45. We have given in Appendix I. 14(i) the re-assessed receipts and working expenses for 1979-80 and 1979-84 together with the corresponding estimates of each State. We have also added the following Appendices:—
 - I.14 (ii) Position of revenue arrears at the end of 1976-77, 1978-79 and 1983-84.
 - (iii) Water rates per acre in the States.

Minor Irrigation schemes are of many kinds, and much more dispersed than the major and medium schemes are, by their very nature. From 1st April 1978 minor irrigation schemes are defined to include those with culturables command areas upto 2000 hectares irrespective of the capital cost. These schemes include flow irrigation from surface water, with small storages or diversion works and river lifts. In the hilly regions these are generally the means of irrigation. Tanks are important sources of minor irrigation in some States. The potential from surface water irrigation schemes by the end of 1977-78 has been estimated at 7.8 million hectares. The potential from ground water development, created by the end of 1977-76, was very much larger at 21 million hectares. Especially in ground water development there has been very sizable investment by cultivators from their own resources

as well as institutional finance in a very large way. In a few States, Government investments in tubewells for exploitation of ground water resources are substantial. Quite a few States have also set up corporate bodies for minor irrigation investments, especially in tubewells.

- 47. The maintenance of tanks as well as other surface works has not been satisfactory in many parts of the country. It seems desirable that the reasons for this situation are studied and remedial steps instituted. It appears that one of the important contributory factors has been the relative neglect of ex-zamindari works in a few States, while in some others the transfer of responsibility to local levels was perhaps not accompanied by the provision of technical staff of the levels of competence required. Financial allocations have also been often too small. Among the consequences of unsatisfactory maintenance, has been a deterioration in the certainty of water supply for irrigation from these works, and the low level of receipts from water rates. It appears that this may also have led to inadequate financial provisions for the proper maintenance of these works.
- 48. Not all the States have furnished information to us showing the Government investments in minor irrigation, the irrigation potential and its utilisation, the receipts and the working expenses. Some States have not furnished information in regard to schemes with the corporate bodies which they have set up. Appendix I.15 shows the net receipts from minor irrigation in 1978-79 as they appear in the budget estimates of the States.
- 49. The Sixth Commission had stipulated that the States should reduce the losses of minor irrigation works in 1978-79 to 50 per cent of what they were in 1973-74. That Commission had noted that in 1971-72 the States incurred a loss of about Rs.42 crores on minor irrigation and flood control works, maintenance expenditure on which was debited to the same head of Irrigation (non-commercial). The position in 1978-79 is that the losses on minor irrigation are estimated at Rs.65.5 crores in 20 States. Uttar Pradesh shows the highest loss at about Rs. 27 crores. We can readily appreciate that the working expenses would have increased considerably over the levels obtaining 5 years ago, in view of the general increase in prices in the early seventies. We are also aware of the increases in costs of energy as a result of tariff revisions by the Electricity Boards, a factor of considerable relevance in the States in which public investments in tubewells are substantial, as in U.P. At the same time we are also aware of the constraints in the way of revising water rates upwards; this would be all the more difficult in irrigation sources other than tubewells, in view of the uncertainties in the availability of water when needed for irrigation. However, with due attention to maintenance, and determined efforts to maximise utilisation of the potential available, we see no reason why the present burdens on the State budgets by way of losses in these schemes, should not be reduced substantially. For instance, we have been informed that even in tubewell systems in a few States the actual irrigation in perhaps about 60 per cent of the potential, for various reasons like non-completion of the channels, irregular availability of power, etc. Such deficiencies can certainly be set right.
- 50. Taking an overall view, and keeping in mind the desirability of reducing the burdens on the State budgets, we are proceeding on the basis that in each State the level of losses in 1979-80, after taking into account the "committed" expenditure, would be progressively reduced to half by 1983-84. The forecasts of the States have been reassessed accordingly.

Flood control schemes 51. We now turn to the question of providing adequate funds for the maintenance of flood control schemes, in which we include drainage works and anti-sea erosion works. Here again, we have been con-

fronted with the problem of inadequate data. Not all States have responded to our request for information on investments, lengths of embankments, drains, sea walls etc., maintenance expenses, norms for such expenses etc. Among the States which have furnished information, a few have shown investments on what are stated to be present day costs, which they have calculated by inflating the historical costs to allow for current price levels. We have compared the information furnished by the States with that obtained from the Planning Commission, the Union Department of Irrigation, and the Central Water Commission. The Department of Irrigation have indicated that in the last couple of decades, the funds provided for the maintenance of flood control works in most States were inadequate, with the consequence that embankments breached often, leading to substantial damage to life and property, and also to large expenditures on repairs and restoration of the works, rehabilitation of the people affected, etc. A Ministers' Committee which reported in March 1972 had recommended that the annual provision for maintenance of embankments and drainage works should be 4 to 5 per cent of the capital cost worked out to the price levels of 1972, and 5 to 13 per cent in the case of river-training and anti-sea erosion works. That Committee found that in fact about 0. 5 per cent of the capital cost was being then spent on the whole for maintenance of these works. The Sixth Commission provided 4 per cent of the capital invested at the end of 1973-74 for the maintenance expenditure for flood control works. The Central Water Commission have now stated in a communication to us that there are about 10700 k.m. of embankments and 18700 km of drainage channels constructed till March 1978, apart from anti-sea erosion works and river training works. They have indicated the norms of maintenance expenditure for different kinds of works, observing that a uniform percentage of the capital cost would not be appropriate. The Department have suggested that earthen embankments would need between Rs. 7000 and Rs. 10,000 per km. annually at current price levels during the first 3 years and between Rs. 5000 and Rs. 7000 thereafter. On current costs of construction, the Department has worked out that these norms would be 3 per cent of the capital cost initially and 2 per cent thereafter. Armoured embankments are stated to require annually from Rs. 5000 to Rs. 7000 per km. For drains, broadly classified into three categories by capacity, the norms of maintenance suggested by the Department are Rs. 1000 per km (upto 200 cusecs capacity), Rs. 1500 per km (upto 500 cusecs capacity) and Rs. 3000 per km for capacities above 500 cusecs. On the basis of these norms, the Department have roughly estimated that the annual maintenance costs would be Rs. 15 crores for all flood protection works in the country. The actual expenditure, as seen from the accounts, was over Rs. 23 crores in 1976-77, but this figure probably includes special repairs as well as reconstruction after damage by floods, which are not included in the calculation of the annual costs done by the Department.

- 52. Appendix 1.16 shows the information obtained from the Central Water Commission in regard to lengths of embankments, drainage channels etc., as also corresponding figures furnished to us by the State Governments. The wide variations between the two sets of figures in the case of some States are possibly due to differences in the classification of the items taken into account.
- 53. In the light of the above, we have estimated the annual requirement for maintenance of flood control and drainage works, and anti-sea erosion works, taking into account the physical

date from the Central Water Commission and the States, the maintenance norms suggested by the Department of Irrigation, the actual expenditure in each State in 1976-77, and such data as are available in the budget documents and the finance accounts of the States. The provisions we have allowed for 1979-80 are shown in Appendix 1. 17 together with the provisions allowed in the subsequent years of the period covered by our Report. The latter have been worked out assuming an annual growth of expenditure at 6 per cent for 1979-84. The provisions thus allowed should, in our view, meet the requirements of special repairs, as well as the maintenance of new works which may be completed during the years covered by our Report.

54. We have already dealt with the question of returns on State Investments in Governments investments in irrigation. We now turn to their investelectricity ments in electricity. Electricity is a basic input for economic development, and is one of the fast growing sectors of the economy. Its generation and distribution are also highly capital-intensive. The bulk of the investments of the State Governments is by way of loans to the Electricity Boards. In a few States there are also investments in departmental schemes. Karnataka has a wholly owned company for the execution of generation projects and for the operation of the projects, which sells power to the State Electricity Board for distribution. The investment of the State Governments in all these undertakings is estimated to reach the level of Rs. 7370 crores by the end of the current year. The total investments of the State electricity boards in electricity generation and distribution would be higher than the loans drawn by them from the State Governments, since they also generate internal resources which are ploughed back into fresh investments, apart from borrowings from the market and financial institutions, and consumers' deposits. Till the Electricity (Supply) Act was amended recently, the investments of the State Governments in electricity boards could be made only by way of loans. The recent amendment enables a State Government to provide equity capital also, in which case the question of return on the equity capital would arise only after meeting any liability for income tax. No State has so far informed us that it has taken advantage of the recent amendment in the law for providing equity capital to the electricity boards.

55. The financial working of the electricity boards and the returns realised on the investments made by the State Governments have been a matter of concern for a long time. The Venkataraman Committee made a number of recommendations in 1964, and suggested that within 3 to 5 years the Boards should aim at a total return of 11 per cent after meeting fully the operation and maintenance expenses and depreciation. The return of 11 per cent was composed of 6 per cent interest on the capital, ½ per cent for appropriation to reserve, 3 per cent net profit and a notional $1\frac{1}{2}$ per cent on account of electricity duty which was State Government revenue. In other words the return expected was 91 per cent exclusive of electricity duty. A number of power projects have been assisted by the World Bank, which at the time of agreeing to extend assistance, obtained undertakings that the electricity board concerned should achieve a return of 9½ per cent exclusive of electricity duty on what was termed the average capital base. This average capital base was taken as the average of the capital base at the beginning and at the end of a financial year, the capital base itself being defined as the net value of the assets in use, less consumers' contributions, plus 1/6 of the operation and maintenance expenditure (excluding depreciation). The statement below gives an idea of the returns on the average capital base in 15 States for the years 1974-75 to 1976-77, calculated on the World Bank method:-

Sì.	Name of the Board	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77
No.	Trans of the Bould	(Actuals)	(Actuals)	(Actuals)
1	2,	3,	4,	5,
1.	Andhra Pradesh	6. 6	7.7	9. 0
2.	Assam	1. 0	3. 5*	11.7(p)
3.	Bihar	0. 15	7. 0	8. 1
4.	Gujarat	4, 6	7. 9*	9. 7(p)
5.	Haryana	4, 0	7. 2	6. 4
6.	Kerala	5, 7	5. 9	8. 5
7.	Karnataka	6. 8	15. 75*(p)	15. 8 (p)
8.	Madhya Pradesh	11, 7	12. 8	13. 1
9.	Maharashtra	10. 9	10. 0	13. 0
10.	Orissa	3, 3	8. 5	6. 4(p)
11.	Punjab	3. 0	7. 4	8. 2
12.	Rajasthan	4, 96	8.7	9, 2
13.	Tamil Nadu	9. 6	9, 7	9. 5
14.	Uttar Pradesh	1, 3	4.6	5. 8
15.	West Bengal	5, 2	5. 5	9. 5

Source: Department of Power, Government of India.

(p) Provisional

Note: Figures in respect of Andhra Pradesh, Orissa, Maharashtra and West Bengal are for combined operation of the Board and Government Projects.

It will be seen that the performance, judged by the returns calculated above, varied in 1976-77 from 5.8 per cent in UP to 15.8 per cent in Karnataka. The latter State has only hydro-electric power which is often taken as less costly in terms of operation and maintenance expenses than thermal generation. At the same time, it is seen that in Madhya Pradesh and Maharashtra, which have predomine thy thermal generation, the returns were 13.1 per cent and 13.0 per cent, respectively, indicating that the performance of the electricity boards need not be dependent only on the fact of the power generation being thermal or hydro-electric.

56. The capital base adopted in the World Bank formula for calculating returns includes only the value of assets in use, whereas the value of the works in progress and stores forms, in many cases, a sizable proportion of the total investments of the electricity boards. The earnings of the boards also have to be used for servicing loans raised from financial institutions at rates of interest which are higher than the six per cent rate generally adopted. Some State Governments have also prescribed, from time to time, rates of interest more than 6 per cent on their loans to the electricity boards. Therefore in many States the electricity boards have accumulated contingent interest liabilities. The statement below, furnished by the Department of Power and based on summary records of discussions of the Planning Commission with the States, shows the

^{*} Forecast for the Board's Operations only.

estimated accumulated interest liability on State Government loans at the end of 1977-78:-

Sl. No.	Name of the Board	Accumulated Interest liability on State Government loans	Unadjusted Depreciation	Total
			re Rs. in crores)	
1	2	3	4	5
1.	Andhra Pradesh	34.58	· -	34.58
2.	Assam	32.46		32.46
3.	Bihar	133.67	10.35	144.02
4.	Gujarat	28,52	-	28.52
5.	Haryana	62.46	-	62.46
6.	Himachal Pradesh	14.29	3.10	17.39
7.	Karnataka	5.80	-	5.80
8.	Kerala	42.11	-	42.11
9.	Madhya Pradesh	8.53	-	8.53
10.	Maharashtra	11.43	-	-
				(19.46)a
11.	Meghalaya	18.03	1.46	19.49
12.	Orissa	28.16	-	28.16
13.	Punjab	127.91	-	127.91
14.	Rajasthan	60.85	-	60.85
15.	Tamil Nadu	20.45	5.00	25.45
16.	Uttar Pradesh	198.57	1.18	199.75
17.	West Bengal	46.10		46.10
	Total:	873.92	21.09	864.12

Note: (a) Figure in bracket represents surplus for the year.

It will be noticed that a few States, namely, Bihar, Uttar Pradesh, Punjab, Haryana and Rajasthan account for about 2/3rd of the accumulated interest liability.

- 57. It is generally accepted that electricity duty levied by the States limits the scope for revision of tariffs by the electricity boards, as the ultimate burden on the consumers has always to be taken into account in fixing tariffs. The levels of duty vary widely from State to State. A few States do not levy the duty at all. The Department of Power has pointed out that the revenue from duty varied from 0.6 per cent to 5.2 per cent of the investments by the State Governments in different States in 1975-76. This points to the need for taking into account the revenue from electricity duty while computing returns to the State Government from its investments in electricity.
- 58. It would appear, prima facie, that the performance of the boards can be improved by enhancing their earnings through upward revisions in tariffs. Under the Electricity (Supply) Act, till it was recently amended, the boards were required to carry on their operations without incurring losses and towards this end, adjust the tariffs from time to time. The tariffs so fixed from time to time generally have an in-built element of cross-subsidisation of some categories of consumers by others, in order to subserve

⁽¹⁾ General reserves have not been considered for calculation of losses or surplus.

what are regarded as desirable socio-economic policies. For instance, consumption for agricultural purposes is generally subsidised in all States in the tariff structure.

59. It is necessary, however, to realise that financial performance can be improved by better and efficient management, and revisions of tariffs need only be a last resort. For instance, the utilisation of existing generating capacity and of fuel leaves much room for improvements in a number of States. Information received from the Department of Power in regard to capacity utilization of thermal power stations and coal consumption may be seen in Appendix I. 18 and Appendix I. 19. The capacity utilisation percentages of major thermal power stations during 1976-77 varied from 24.11 to well over 80 per cent in the different States, indicating the scope for improvement in the utilisation of a number of power stations. We have also obtained from the Department of Power the coal consumption per unit generated in the thermal power stations, in kilograms per unit in 1977-78. The figures vary from about 0.5 to 1.13 in 35 power stations in the country. The average for the country was 0.6. The coal consumption in a thermal power station depends on the efficiency of the plant and the heat content of the coal used. The efficiency, in terms of the specific heat consumption (i.e. kilo calories input) per unit generated, varies according to the design of the individual generating units. The coal consumption per unit generated also varies because of the calorific value of the coal actually used. All the same it has been possible over the years to achieve a reduction in the specific coal consumption from about 0.9 Kg. per unit to about 0.6 Kg. per unit, in spite of the decline in the average calorific value of the coal used in thermal power stations during the period from 6200 to 5000 kilo calories per kg. The trend of improvement in this regard should be maintained in the future, with the installation of larger and more efficient generating units in all the States.

Appendix I.20 shows the percentage of energy losses in transmission and distribution for most States for the year 1974-75 to 1976-77. It will be seen that during 1976-77 these losses varied from 11.57 per cent in West Bengal, around 15 per cent in Karnataka and Kerala and around 17 per cent in Gujarat, Orissa and Maharashtra to over 22 per cent in Uttar Pradesh, over 24 per cent in Andhra Pradesh and Punjab and almost 26 per cent in Bihar.

Again, in regard to establishment costs, according to an analysis the results of which have been communicated to us by the Department of Power, the cost per unit sold in 1974-75 varied from 2.7 paise to 8.1 paise in different electricity boards. Similarly, the staff employed per thousand consumers also varied from 13.8 to 135 in different boards in 1973-74. A Department of Power Working Group which did these studies, had also evolved certain standards for employment in different spheres of the functions of a board and had recommended these norms to the electricity boards, suggesting that variations to suit local conditions should not exceed 20 per cent of the norms. It is not known how far the boards have acted upon this advice.

We also find, to our regret, that collection of the dues of the boards needs to be tightened up in many States. According to information collected by us, the arrears due for collection increased from Rs. 166 crores at the end of 1973-74 to Rs. 266 crores at the end of 1975-76. The arrears were substantial in many cases as may be seen from the

Table below:

Outstanding arrears to be collected by the Boards from the consumers as on 31,3,1976

(Rs. crores)

	Outstanding	Revenue in 1975-76 from	
Boards	arrears	sale of Energy	
Uttar Pradesh	59.6	156.2	
Maharashtra	27.4	130.1	
Tamil Nadu	24.2	157.5	
Bihar	23.2	68.2	
Andhra Pradesh	22.4	83.1	
Gujarat	20.3	85.1	
Madhya Pradesh	20.1	63.5	
Rajasthan	18.4	46.7	
West Bengal	12.8	54.7	
Kerala	12.0	28.0	

60. We have no doubt that given efficient management the electricity boards can do much better than in the past, and we are hopeful that the returns to the State Governments from their investments in the electricity boards should definitely improve. We have adopted a normative return of 6 per cent on the total investments of the States as they are estimated to be at the end of 1978-79, in the electricity boards as well as in the departmental undertakings, and in the case of Karnataka in the Mysore Power Corporation also. The return of 6 per cent has been assumed from 1979-80 onwards for each year of the forecast period. We have already referred to the inhibiting effect of the electricity duty levied by the States and the Central excise on electricity generation on the scope for electricity boards adjusting their tariffs upwards where such a course is necessary for improving their financial position. We have therefore taken the 6 per cent return as inclusive of the revenue derived by the States from electricity duty in the current year and the amount of Central excise duty payable by the electricity boards as estimated by us for the current year. In these calculations we have taken into account only that part of the electricity duty and the Central excise as relates to the own generation of the electricity board or other undertaking of the State Government. The investments of the States in the electricity boards at the end of the current year have been taken as furnished by the State Governments. For departmental electricity schemes the investments have been worked out from the accounts for 1976-77 and the budget documents. In the case of Jammu & Kashmir, though there is an electricity board, its operations are managed by the State Government which bears the interest obligations of the board's borrowings from the market and the financial institutions. These have been allowed for in the expenditure forecast of the State.

61. The returns worked out as above, after taking credit for the electricity duty and the Central excise, add up to Rs.229.34 crores for all the States for each year from 1979-80 to 1983-84, and Rs.1146.70 crores for the five years covered by our Report. In the case of 3 States, Gujarat, Kerala and Orissa, where the returns so calculated exceed 6 per cent, we have set the excess off against the receipts of these States, so as not to penalise them for their better management compared to the other States. Appendix I.21 shows the State-wise returns we have assumed in the forecast period.

- 62. We do not feel optimistic that the financial working of the electricity schemes would change so much for the better that we can also expect the accumulated past interest liability to the State Governments would be cleared in the forecast period. Therefore, we have not taken any credit in the State Governments forecasts for receipts on this account. However, to the extent that any electricity board is able to clear its cumulative interest liability to the State Government, the resources of the State for the Plan would be augmented.
- 63. We might mention that we have considered whether the investment relating to works in progress at the end of the current year should be taken into account for the purpose of calculating the return, and whether, similarly, the investments on works likely to be completed and commissioned in the forecast period should also be taken into account. We have already referred to the different sources of finance for the electricity boards. Among other difficulties, it will not be possible to estimate how much of the State Government investment out of the total finances available to the electricity board can be taken as relating to works completed or in progress at the end of the current year. The same difficulty arises for the years of the forecast period. In regard to the latter, there is the further difficulty of making an accurate estimation of when works which will be in progress at the end of the current year would be commissioned within the forecast period. For these reasons, we have had to content ourselves with calculating the return in accordance with the norms we have assumed on the total investments of the State Governments at the end of the current year, without distinguishing between completed works and works in progress. Any return to the States from works which may be commissioned within the forecast period would therefore be available to the States as resource for the Plan.
- 64. Shri H.N. Ray does not agree with some of the above recommendations and has appended a separate Note to this report outlining his views.

Road transport
undertakings.

65. Another important sector in which State Governments have
invested large sums of money is road transport. Most of the undertakings are Corporations under the State Road Transport Corporation
Act. There are a few run departmentally by the State Governments, and a few Governmentowned companies. While the State Governments concerned contribute the major part of
the capital of the Road Transport Corporations, the Railways also make a contribution and
participate in the management. Unlike investments in irrigation or in power projects, the
investments in road transport have a short gestation period before they become productive.

66. For our analysis of the financial working of the Road Transport Undertakings of the States, we have utilised the information received from the States on the relevant Subsidiary Points, the annual reports, balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the undertakings, data collected from the Planning Commission, and, to some extent, information contained in the Report of the Association of State Transport Undertakings on the performance of nationalised road transport undertakings. In some cases the information furnished by the States did not quite tally with the annual accounts of the Corporations. We have used the latter to the extent available. In our exercises we have made no distinction between the Undertakings of the States whether they are corporations under the Act mentioned above or companies or departmental undertakings. The total block capital of all the undertakings (excluding the Sikkim Nationalised Transport Undertaking) was Rs. 397 crores at the end of 1973-74 and Rs. 609 crores at the end of 1976-77, as reported by the States. The block capital is the cumulative outlay on permanent assets including vehicles, workshops etc.

While the block capital increased by 53.6 per cent between 1973-74 and 1976-77, gross receipts increased from Rs. 389 crores to Rs. 712 crores in the same period, i.e. by 83.2 per cent. The working expenses excluding depreciation and interest increased by 76.1 per cent from Rs. 352 crores to Rs. 619 crores. The net loss was Rs. 25. 18 crores in 1973-74, Rs. 44. 60 crores in 1974-75, Rs. 33. 85 crores in 1975-76 and Rs. 12. 98 crores in 1976-77. While there has thus been an improvement, taking all the States in the aggregate, the individual States have not all fared in the same way. The position of Bihar, Punjab, West Bengal and Himachal Pradesh worsened; while that of Haryana, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Orissa, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh and Jammu & Kashmir showed significant improvement. The results are inclusive of those of freight services run by some undertakings except for Tripura. In the case of Sikkim, no interest liability has been provided for in the accounts of any of the years, and depreciation provisions has been shown only for 1973-74. Appendices I. 22(i) and I. 22(ii) show the aggregate results of the State Transport Undertakings from 1973-74 to 1976-77 and the net profit or loss Statewise after providing for depreciation, transfers to other funds and interest liability.

67. While earnings of the undertakings have increased on account of expansion of the transport services and revisions of fares, the working expenses increased mainly on account of the larger fleets in operation, increases in prices of fuel, lubricants tyres and tubes and other stores, and revision of wages and dearness allowances of employees. Apart from these general factors which apply to all the undertakings, the financial results are greatly influenced by physical performance, the more important indicators of which are fleet utilisation, vehicle utilisation, occupancy ratio etc. Appendices I. 22(iii) and (iv) show the picture as at the end of 1976-77. For the sake of comparison, we have also shown in the Appendix some figures of the Bombay Electric Supply & Transport Undertakings and the Delhi Transport Corporation. Fleet utilisation is taken as the percentage of the number of vehicles on the road to the total fleet, or the total fleet excluding vehicles held for scrapping or major repairs. Vehicle utilisation is taken as the ratio of the average effective kilometres done per day to the average number of buses on the road per day. Occupancy ratio has been calculated as the percentage of passenger kilometres or seat kilometres sold to the seat kilometres offered. Fleet utilisation will be influenced by factors such as the maintenance and repair facility available, the condition of the roads and the nature of terrain, administrative efficiency and, to some extent, the number of over-aged vehicles in the fleet. Fleet utilisation in 1976-77 as a percentage of the total fleet was 63.2 in Bihar, between 61 and 65 in the West Bengal Undertakings, 80 in Karnataka, Kerala, Orissa and Uttar Pradesh, and 94 in Haryana. In the hill States this percentage was 49 in Manipur and 70 in Meghalaya. Fleet utilisation as a percentage of the effective fleet i.e. the total fleet excluding vehicles held for major repairs etc. varied from 81.9 in Madhya Pradesh to 90 in Andhra Pradesh and PEPSU Road Transport Corporation. In the hill State of Himachal Pradesh it was 80. Haryana and Punjab had no overaged buses, Andhra Pradesh had 19 per cent, Madhya Pradesh 34 per cent and Maharashtra 49 per cent. Orissa had a fleet utilisation of 80 per cent with 18.5 per cent over-aged buses. while Bihar had utilisation of 63.2 per cent with only 10.8 per cent over-aged buses. This shows that any handicap in terms of a significant proportion of over-aged buses in the fleet can often be neutralised by an efficient repair and maintenance organisation and by good management. Vehicle utilisation in 1976-77 ranged from 1,77,000 Km per bus for the Express services of the Pallavan Transport Corporation of Tamil Nadu to 71,035 km in the Punjab departmental undertaking. In the hill States the figure for Manipur was 21,000 km while Jammu & Kashmir and Meghalaya had 50,000 km. In the category of city services, Calcutta Transport Corporation had 58,431 km. while in the Bombay Undertaking it was 80,735 km. in Delhi 81,271 km. and in the Madras City services of the Pallavan Transport Corporation it was 69,033 km. The occupancy ratio was 89 per cent

in the Punjab departmental undertaking, and 63 per cent in Bihar. The occupancy ratio influences the earnings of an undertaking and depends on efficient scheduling of buses, density and flow of traffic, competition from private operators etc.

- 68. The operating ratio i.e. the working expenses as a percentage of the gross receipts give a picture of the working of the undertakings as may be seen from Appendix I. 22(iv) which gives the figures for 1975-76 and 1976-77. In 1976-77 all the four undertakings of West Bengal, as well as those of Meghalaya, Nagaland and Tripura were not able to meet even the working expenses. Appendices I.22(v) to (vii) show the revenue and cost per bus-km and passenger-km in 1976-77, the cost of personnel per bus kilometer, and the bus-km per litre of fuel. The wide variations between the States in these parameters are to a large extent a reflection of different aspects of the efficiency of management and maintenance of the fleets. They also indicate the scope for improvement in the different undertakings in operational matters. It would clearly be incorrect to assume that improvement in the financial performance of most of the undertakings will be possible only through upward revision of fares.
- 69. In the light of the above, we feel that the State Transport Undertakings should provide a return on the capital invested by the State Governments to the extent of 6.5 per cent. A slightly higher return in this sector than from investments in electricity undertakings is in order, since road transport operations are less complex than those of power systems, and the gestation periods are much shorter. Since we are not in a position to make reasonably accurate estimates of further investments which may be made in the years covered by our Report, we have taken only the investment by the end of the current year, as worked cut by us from the accounts and the budgets of the States. We find that, in view of the levels of performance of the undertakings in the different States, as well as the circumstances and operating conditions in the hill States, it would be practical to categorise the undertakings as follows:-
 - 1) 6.5 per cent return in each year from 1979-80 onwards for Andhra Pradesh, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Tamil Nadu (all seven companies together) and Uttar Pradesh;
 - 2) Bihar, Gujarat, Jammu & Kashmir, Karnataka, Kerala, Punjab, Orissa and Assam should earn 2 per cent in 1979-80, 3 per cent in 1980-81, 4 per cent in 1981-82, 5 per cent in 1982-83 and 6.5 per cent in 1983-84;
 - 3) Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim and Tripura should meet their working expenses fully and provide for depreciation in full; and
 - 4) all the four undertakings in West Bengal including the Calcutta Tramways Company, should, in the aggregate, meet the working expenses and depreciation provisions in full by 1980-81, and thereafter earn 1 per cent on the capital in 1981-82, 2 per cent in 1982-83 and 2.5 per cent in 1983-84.

- 70. To the extent that the State Governments earn a return above the norms we have adopted, and a return on fresh investments made from 1979-80 onwards, their resources for the Plan would be augmented.
- 71. As mentioned earlier, we had obtained the annual accounts of the Electricity Boards and the Road Transport Undertakings upto the latest year for which they were available. We have already referred to the discrepancies in some cases between these and the other information furnished to us by the States. We have also found that in quite a few States the figures in the balance sheets do not always tally from one year to another and in a few cases the entries are inexplicable. We have also found that the completion of the annual accounts and the audit thereof take more time in some States than in others. We are drawing attention to these aspects since we believe that correctness and promptitude in accounting and audit are essential pre-requisites for good management, and in any case are inescapable obligations to be discharged in order to safeguard the interests of the State Governments and of the public who are the owners of these undertakings. This observation applies equally to public undertakings of the State Governments engaged in industrial and commercial enterprises. We would like to refer particularly to the somewhat unsatisfactory position disclosed in a Note which we have obtained from the Department of Company Affairs of the Central Government, and in information from the Accountants General, in regard to delays in the timely finalisation of the annual accounts and audit of Government companies. The Note which refers to Government companies of the Central and State Governments is reproduced in Appendix I. 23(i), and the information from the Accountants General is shown in Appendix I. 23(ii).

State Public enterprises and co-operatives

72. We have attempted to study in some detail the financial working of the public enterprises of the State Governments engaged in industrial and commercial activities, as well as those in the co-operative sector. Among the former, we have taken up statutory

corporations and Government companies under the Companies Act, 1956, other than those in the electricity and transport fields. The housing boards, water supply and sewerage boards, slum clearance boards and the like have been excluded, as also joint stock companies, companies in other States or of the Central Government, in which the State Government investment is relatively small. Information was collected from the States relating to the functions and activities of the enterprises, the capital base, the budget support, the interest or dividend accrued or paid, etc. Besides, we obtained from most States the balance sheets of undertakings with a turnover of Rs. 50 lakks or more.

- 73. We had also requested the States to furnish us with projections of investments and the working of their enterprises for the years 1979-80 to 1983-84. Eight States have not furnished such forecasts. From the forecasts which we received from the other States, and the discussions which our Member Secretary has had with the officers of the State Governments, our impression is that in most cases there is little of corporate planning in concrete terms. In view of the uncertainties in making any estimates of fresh investments by these enterprises in the period covered by our Report, we have confined ourselves to an examination of their financial working so far.
- 74. The estimates of investments of the State Governments in their enterprises have been made separately for 3 categories, namely, financial institutions, promotional enterprises and others. The first includes the state financial corporations set up under the State Financial Corporations Act, 1951, as well as enterprises held eligible for refinance facilities by the Industrial Development Bank of India. The promotional category includes enterprises which are engaged mainly in promoting the developmental and other industries of all regions through providing infrastructural facilities, financial and managerial

assistance, technical knowhow, etc., as well as through works of development for backward areas or the weaker sections of the population. This category, therefore, includes small industries development corporations, industrial development corporations, handicrafts or handloom development corporations, export corporations, area development corporations, etc. Appendix I. 24(i) shows the total investments of State Governments in their public undertakings at the beginning of 1976-77. Appendix I. 24(ii) shows for each State, for 1975-76 and 1976-77, the returns on investments in State enterprises by way of share capital and loans, in absolute amounts, and Appendix I. 24(iii) and (iv) in percentage terms. There are wide variations as between the States and from year to year.

- 75. The total investments of the States in the enterprises at the beginning of 1976-77 was Rs. 902 crores, made up of Rs. 596 crores as share capital and Rs. 306 crores as loans, in 432 enterprises, 38 of which were financial enterprises, 121 promotional enterprises and the rest others. At the end of 1978-79 it is estimated that the total investments of the State Governments would be Rs. 1470 crores, of which Rs. 948 crores and Rs. 522 crores would be share capital, and loans, respectively.
- 76. With respect to investments by States in their enterprises, we have found that the ratios of equity to loan investments differ sharply from one State to another. We are unable to make out the reasons why these differences should be so marked. Nor are we in a position to make out, for lack of data, how much of the total capital invested has been applied to completed projects and how much is relatable to projects under implementation. One could think of different norms of returns on the capital for the different categories of enterprises, i.e. the financial group, the promotional group and the rest. We do not, however, have enough data to analyse each of the hundreds of State Government enterprises and their performance for the purpose of evolving a norm of return for each category or for groups in each category.
- 77. Most of the variety of corporate undertakings have been set up in recent years as companies under the Companies Act, 1956. In the course of our discussions with the States we understood that while some States have an agency within the Government to review the affairs of their public enterprises, few are fully established and effective. In many States the arrangements for such a centralised agency seem to be nebulous. We believe that it would be extremely useful for each State to build up an active agency, functioning somewhat on the lines of the Bureau of Public Enterprises of the Central Government.
- 78. We are, however, immediately concerned with the return on the huge investments which have been made by States in these enterprises. By the end of the current year the total investments by way of equity capital and loans are likely to exceed their total investments in road transport undertakings. Investments of this order should fetch a reasonable return to the Governments.
- 79. As regards the return, the receipts by way of interest on loan investments has been assumed by us together with interest on other State Government loans for a variety of purposes. A return on share capital can arise only after other liabilities are met, including provisions for taxation. Taking into account the various factors mentioned above, we consider that the State Governments should earn a return of 5 per cent on the equity capital invested by them as at the end of 1978-79. On practical considerations and in order to give the State Governments adequate time to improve the working of their enterprises, we are assuming that the return of 5 per cent on equity capital as at the end of 1978-79 should be earned by 1983-84, commencing with one per cent in 1979-80 and

increasing by one per cent every year thereafter. The forecasts of the States under the receipt head 050-Dividends and Profits, have been reassessed accordingly.

- 80. In regard to the investments of the State Governments in the co-operatives, we have obtained information from the Reserve Bank for the co-operative year ending June 1975 for various categories of co-operative institutions, and for some categories for the year ending June 1976. However, data from the Bank were not available on interest and dividends received by the State Governments from the different categories of co-operative institutions. We have, however, built up the figures of cumulative investments of the State Governments in share capital and the loans in all co-operative institutions taken together, from the finance accounts as well as the State budgets, together with information on dividends and interest received by the State Governments. In the case of Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim and Tripura, however, information on dividends and interest for these institutions has not become available. Excluding these States, the return on share capital was 1.15 per cent for all States and 5.96 per cent on loans for 1976-77. Appendices I. 24(v) to (vii) show the picture but this may be taken as no more than indicative.
- 81. The share capital investment in the co-operative institutions would be Rs. 892 crores for all States and the outstanding loans Rs. 317 crores, as worked out by us for the end of 1978-79. Here again, we have taken a rate of return of 5 per cent on the share capital invested at the end of 1978-79, to be achieved by the last year of the forecast period, in the same manner as the return on equity capital invested by the States in their public enterprises.
- 82. Appendix I. 24(viii) shows the State-wise share capital invested in public enterprises and in the co-operatives at the end of 1978-79 and the amounts we have assumed as receipts in the forecast period by way of return on the share capital so invested.

Emoluments of
State Government
employees.

83. Sub-clause (iv)(a) of paragraph 5 of the Presidential Order requires us to take into account such provision for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as deemed proper and with reference

to appropriate objective criteria rather than in terms of actual increases that may have been given effect to. In our very first meeting held on 19th July 1977, we proposed to adopt 1st January, 1977 as the "specified" date. In doing so we had in mind two important considerations. The last instalment sanctioned by the Central Government to its employees before 1st January 1977 was given with effect from 1st March 1975. But this was withdrawn from 1st July 1976. This indicated that the movement of the all-India consumer price index for industrial workers was such that there was no occasion for any new dearness allowance instalment after March 1975 for a long time. Even in the cases of States which generally took quite some time before sanctioning new instalments of dearness allowance to their employees after the Central Government had done so, we thought it reasonable and indeed not unfair to the States to presume that by 1st January 1977 they would have sanctioned whatever dearness allowance instalments they considered were merited. Secondly, general elections to the Lok Sabha were announced in January 1977 and this appears to have acted as an impulse to a number of States (though not all) to sanction benefits to their employees somewhat more freely than had been their practice. Indisputably the announcement of the general elections was an extraneous consideration which triggered off a number of concessions in emoluments which it was not possible to take into account in the interest of uniform treatment to all the States.

- 84. By our letter dated the 26th July 1977 we informed the State Governments of our proposal to adopt 1st January, 1977 as the specified date and asked for their forecasts on the revenue account to be based on scales of pay and allowances on the basis of orders issued and implemented by that date. But we also asked for information in respect of revisions in pay, dearness and other allowances sanctioned by them after 1st January, 1977 and the likely expenditure on account of such revisions. Our letter dated the 26th July, 1977 and the proforma by which we sought details are reproduced in Annexure III.4.
- 85. In their memoranda to us, the States were almost unanimous about the desirability of parity in the rates of dearness allowance between the Central Government and the States. They urged that dearness allowance being compensation to the employees for increases in the cost of living such parity was justified, since by far the largest number of employees lived with the same set of customs, eating habits, etc. irrespective of whether they worked for the Central or the State Government. It was also pointed out that recruitment at the lower levels was generally made locally, and most Central Government employees working in a particular State spent most of their working life in the same State. A few States went further and argued for parity in total emoluments as between the Central and State Government employees of certain categories requiring the same qualifications and having similar duties. Some other States protested against the proposal of the Commission to adopt 1st January, 1977 as the specified date with reference to which the provision for emoluments might be calculated. They argued that since the tax levels of 1978-79 were to be taken into account by the Commission in regard to expenditure it would be proper to take into account firm commitments of the States till 1978-79 in regard to pay revisions, grant of dearness allowance, etc. The State Governments also observed that it would be unrealistic to assume that the price levels would not change during the period covered by our report and asked that provisions should be made for future revision of pay scales and dearness allowances. It was suggested that the Commission should recommend that the Centre should assist the States to meet the full cost of future increases in dearness allowance every time that the Central Government sanctioned an increase to its employees. Some of the States stated that the assumption of the Sixth Commission that the cost of future increases of dearness allowance would be taken care of by increases in revenue receipts from sales tax, etc. had proved incorrect. They pointed out that because of the large weight of food articles in the consumer price index, rises in price levels which led to increases in dearness allowance did not lead to a higher proportionate yield from taxes, since food articles were either subject to low rates of tax or were not taxed at all. It was also pointed out that price inflation resulted in higher government expenditure on items like material costs, transportation, etc., and it would be incorrect to assume that price increases which triggered demands for more dearness allowance resulted in enough additional revenue receipts to meet the costs of more instalments of dearness allowance as well as the additional expenditure burdens on their counts.
- 86. Associations of State Government employees, who met us in a number of States, generally pressed similar points.
- 87. The manner in which the problem of providing suitably for the emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees had been dealt with by the earlier Commissions, has been summed up in the Sixth Commission's Report. But it was the Sixth Commission which, for the first time, had an explicit term of reference relating to this problem. That Commission had to take into account provisions for emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and local body employees as on a specified date deemed proper by the Commission in the light of the States' capacity and needs and the other burdens of expenditure. That Commission adopted an approach

in which an objective criterion was formulated and the provisions required for emoluments of the employees in each State were estimated with reference to that criterion. The Commission was guided by the consideration that States which had observed restraint in the matter of revision of pay and allowances and thus conserved their resources for development should not be penalised for their prudence in the past. According to that Commission its approach had certain advantages, viz. -

- "(i) States whose scales of pay were distinctly above the all-States average as on 1.1.1972, would get the benefit of additional provisions needed to compensate their employees for rise in the cost of living since that date up to 1.5.1973.
- (ii) States, which had observed restraint in revisions of pay and allowances and thus conserved their resources for development would not be penalised for their past prudence.
- (iii) Our approach embodies a line of policy in terms of which demands for additional provision for pay or dearness allowance can be dealt with by the Finance Commissions in future. States will be relieved of the compulsion to hustle through pay revisions and present the Finance Commission with <u>fait accompli</u>, if it is brought home to them that their requests for additional allocation of funds for enhancement of pay and allowances would be regulated on a normative basis."
- 88. Accordingly the Sixth Commission allowed increases in the emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and local body employees so that the States where the emoluments were below the all-States average as on 1.1.1972 would be enabled to increase the emoluments so as to reach that average. In addition, that Commission also allowed compensation to the employees for the increase in the consumer price index for industrial workers upto the level of 221(base 1960 = 100) reached in April 1973. The amounts thus allowed by that Commission for all the States came to Rs. 1414. 15 crores. However, we find from the information furnished to us by the States that the total expenditure which they would incur during the period 1974-79 on account of revisions of pay and dearness allowance from April 1974 would come to Rs. 3692 crores, besides Rs. 118. 36 crores on account of other allowances. The estimated cost to the States on account of revisions in pay and dearness allowance from April 1974 to 1st January 1977 aggregates Rs. 2883. 01 crores. It has not been possible to work out how far such a massive expenditure would be covered by increase in revenue receipts attributable to price increases.

In fairness to the States and their employees, it must be said that many of them observed restraint in regard to the frequency of revisions in pay and allowances keeping in view the constraints on their resources and the demands thereon for their Plans. Quite a few States also mopped up part of the increases in emoluments, which they had allowed, by having part of the additional emoluments deposited in the provident funds which are available as resource for the Plans.

89. We have compared the level of the aggregate of pay and dearness allowance as on 1.1.1977 in each State with the all-States' average as also with the corresponding level at the Centre for certain common categories of posts which make up the bulk of State employees. We have also compared the position with that which obtained on 1.1.1972, as shown in the Report of the Sixth Commission. Appendices I.25(i) to (xi) show the picture. Since pay scales are not revised by the different States at the same time or at the same intervals, basic pays as on a particular date are not comparable. The total of pay and

dearness allowance, however, can be properly compared. For the purpose of such comparisons we have taken the emoluments of representative categories of State Government employees, who also are the bulk of the total number of employees i.e. peon, lower division clerk, upper division clerk, constable, head constable, primary school teacher, trained graduate teacher, revenue inspector, naib tehsildar, tehsildar and deputy collector. Appendices L 2(i) and (ii) provide a synoptic picture of the changes in regard to these categories of posts in different States in terms of the index of Central emoluments and the index of all-States average emoluments, and percentage changes with reference to Central emoluments and all-States average emoluments. Appendix L 27 shows the number of employees in the States as furnished by them

90. The emoluments at the minimum of the pay scales for most categories of posts are clearly lower than the Central level in all States excepting a very few. The all-States' average emoluments for most of the eleven categories of posts have been below the Central emoluments as on 1.1.1972 and for all categories on 1.1.1977 over the position on 1.1.1972, the all-States'average emoluments showed a smaller increase except for primary school teachers and tehsildars. The following Table shows the picture (round figures are given):-

	As on 1, 1, 1972			As on 1, 1, 1977				
	Centre Rs.	All- States' Average Rs.	% Differ- ence		All- States' Average Rs.	% Differ- ence	crease i	ige in- n emoluments ver 1.1.72
							Centre	All- States A verage
Peon	163	141	-13.50	295	231	-21.69	80.7	63.8
L.D.C.	241	208	-13.69	390	323	-17.18	61.8	55.3
U.D.C.	261	292	+11.88	478	406	-15.06	83, 1	39.0
Constable	168	166	- 1, 19	315	271	-13.97	87.5	63.3
Head Constable	204	207	+ 1.47	390	317	-18.72	91, 2	53.1
Primary School Teacher	320	197	-38.44	478	313	-34.52	49.4	58.9
Trained Graduate Teacher	406	315	-22.41	603	445	-26, 20	48.5	41.3
Revenue Inspector	241	232	- 3.73	434	348	-19.82	80.3	50 .0
Naib/Deputy Tehsildar	305	3 49	+14.43	582	511	-12.20	90.9	46.4
Tehsildar	536	414	-22.76	754	602	-20.16	40.6	45.4
Deputy Collector	N.A.	539	-	N.A.	743	-		37.9

Broadly speaking emoluments paid as on 1.1.1977 in Haryana, Punjab, Himachal Pradesh, Gujarat Maharashtra, Kerala, Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka and Rajasthan were above the all-States average.

We further find that the difference for several categories of posts between the all-States average emoluments and the Central Government emoluments was larger on 1.1.1977 than it was on 1.1.1972. The following table has been worked out taking the post of peon in most States as broadly representative of the employees on pay slabs upto Rs. 200 per month, lower division clerk for the pay slabs between Rs. 201 and Rs. 400 and trained graduate teacher for the slabs between Rs. 401 and Rs. 700.

Pay slab category		emoluments l employees	% dif- ference	Average em State emplo (All-States	•	% dif- ference
	1.1.72 (R	s.) <u>1.1.77</u>		1.1.72 (R		
Upto						
Rs. 200	163	295	80.7	141	231	63.8
Rs. 201-400	241	390	61.8	208	323	55.3
Rs. 401-700	406	603	48.5	315	445	41.3

The position which emerges is that in spite of the large expenditure incurred by the States since April 1974 on revision of pay and other emoluments, the average all-States emoluments for the representative categories who form the bulk of the employees in the States has worsened compared to that of the employees in the Central Government.

- 91. This Commission cannot suggest as an absolute principle that there should be parity between emoluments paid to the State and Central employees. The obvious reason is that the States as autonomous bodies have to determine matters relating to emoluments of their employees in accordance with the circumstances prevalent in each State e.g. its fiscal position, costs of living and the comparative position of employees in the neighbouring States etc., as also their resource situation and the demands on the resources for the development Plans and the needs of maintaining harmonious relations with the employees. Nevertheless, it would be un fortunate if these considerations have constrained particular States to keep the level of emoluments unduly depressed. Such a situation, we have no doubt, would not only tend to discourage fresh talent being recruited into the services of a particular Government but may also lead to the flight of skilled and qualified man-power either to the private sector or to public sector enterprises. In extreme cases where the emoluments paid are inadequate for maintenance of living standards considered appropriate in that particular social milieu, there might be loss of morale. The effects of inadequate remuneration may be imperceptible in the first instance but are nonetheless insidious and have to be tackled in good time if the efficiency of the administrative machine has to be maintained, if not improved.
- 92. Another major factor worth bearing in mind is that over the years pressures on the States have been mounting from their employees that in the matter of dearness allowance the example of the Centre should be followed. The scope for the States for a completely independent line of action in this area is manifestly limited. In practice, the States have necessarily had to follow the Central Government not only in the number of instalments of dearness allowance from time to time, but also in the matter of adopting the Central pattern of sanctioning dearness allowance i.e. in terms of the entitlements to dearness allowance as percentages of the pay. This appears to be an irreversible trend. The fact is that out of 22 States there are very few States where the Central pattern of dearness allowance has not been adopted. Any approach to this problem requires these realities to be taken into account.

- 93. In the light of the above, we feel, as the Sixth Commission did, that the position of each State should be examined by an objective method but without taking on the functions of a Pay Commission which obviously we cannot do. The all-States' average level of emoluments as on 1st January 1977 is a fair measure of the adequacy or otherwise of the level of emoluments in different States. However, as noted earlier, the all-States' average position with regard to emoluments paid to their employees has itself deteriorated vis-a-vis that of the Central Government employees between 1.1.1972 and 1.1.1977. We believe that this should be a cause for concern as it shows that in many States the level of emoluments is unduly depressed compared not only to the Centre but also to other States. This is not a situation conducive to harmonious relations between the State Governments concerned and their employees, and calls for remedial measures. We have decided, therefore, to adjust the all-States' average level of emoluments in such a manner that the differential between the adjusted average and the Central Government level is the same on 1.1.1977 as it was on 1.1.1972, and to use this adjusted average as a norm for the level of emoluments.
- 94. We have estimated the deficiencies where they exist in individual States compared to the adjusted all-States average. The amounts necessary for bringing the level of emoluments in such States to the adjusted all-States average have been estimated, and we are providing for these amounts in the revenue expenditure forecasts of those States in the period covered by our Report. We are making no change in respect of the States where the level of emoluments was above the adjusted all-States average on 1.1.1977, and are allowing fully for the maintenance of the emoluments as on that date.
- 95. Consistently with our approach as set out above, we have also allowed provisions for each State to cover the cost of the two dearness allowance instalments which the Central Government has sanctioned to its employees after 1. 1. 1977. We have accordingly provided, in the re-assessment of the expenditure forecasts of the States, for the costs of two instalments of dearness allowance, according to the patterns of the States themselves, except in the case of Kerala. The two instalments of dearness allowance allowed by the Centre after 1. 1. 1977 were effective from 1. 9. 1977 and 1. 1. 1978, respectively, of which the former was in effect a restoration of the earlier instalment which had been withdrawn from 1. 7. 1976. Kerala, however, which had been following the Centre in this matter, had not withdrawn at that time any instalment of dearness allowance. Accordingly, for Kerala, only the instalment of dearness allowance sanctioned from 1. 1. 1978 has been taken into account for working out the provision for upgradation of emoluments.
- 96. In the estimates we have made, we have also provided for teachers in aided institutions and employees of local bodies, as the Sixth Commission had done. We believe that a close linkage exists between the emoluments of State Government employees proper and those of local bodies and aided institutions. As a result, any change in the emoluments of the former touch off demands from the latter. Accordingly, in the estimates we have made, we have provided for increases in the emoluments of teachers in aided institutions and of the employees of local bodies over their existing levels to a corresponding extent as in the case of emoluments of the State Government employees proper. To this extent, we are following the precedent of the Sixth Commission.
- 97. The table below sets out the provisions allowed to each State in the period covered by our Report for upgrading the average emoluments as on 1.1. 1977 to the adjusted all-States average level described earlier, and the provisions for dearness allowance given

after 1. 1. 1977. The figures cover State Government employees as well as those of local bodies and teachers in aided institutions:—

					(Rs	s. lakhs)
States			Provision allow		rind 1979-	84
		Amount claimed	Upgradation	Provision	Total	÷
	•	by State Govts.	of emoluments	of D. A.		
			as on 1.1.77	after 1.1.77		· · · · · ·
1. Andhr	ra Pradesh	7026	876	8178	9054	
2. Assar	n	8612	2868	2868	5736	
3. Bihar	•	31507	28262	8635	36897	
4. Gujar	at	11308	-	7106	7106	
5. Harya	ına	1712	1514	2018	3532	
6. Hima	chal Prades	h 880	742	908	1650	
7. Jamm	u & Kashmi	r 998 3	6313	2825	9138	
8. Karna	itaka 🦠	6353	2247	5069	7316	
9. Keral	а	19006	-	3103	3103	
10. Madhy	y a Pradesh	25636	16771	7788	24559	
11. Mahai	rashtra	34583	3399	899 3	12392	
12. Manip	our	9 66	1406	388	1794	
13. Megh	alaya	498	185	33 9	524	
14. Nagal	and	2644	1425	641	2066	
15. Oriss	а	7548	2826	4742	7568	
16. Punja	b	7 89 1	2264	3200	5464	
17. Rajas	than	4714	2811	5269	8080	
18. Sikkir	n	N. A.	318	136	454	
19. Tamil	l Nadu	39967	15502	9696	25198	
20. Tripu	ra	817	1493	582	2075	
21. Uttar	Pradesh	37065	7295	15996	23291	
22. West	Bengal	32230	13393	10386	23779	
All St	ates	290946	111910	108866	220776	

98. Many State Governments appointed Pay Commissions or Committees after we commenced our work. The Tamil Nadu Pay Commission has submitted its report to the State Government, which has also announced its decisions and informed us of the financial implications. The Maharashtra Government had appointed a Pay Commission earlier and took decisions on its report a few months ago. Similarly, the West Bengal Government had an interim report from a Pay Commission appointed in 1977, and has taken certain decisions thereon. The Kerala Pay Commission has also made its report to the State Government. The Punjab Pay Commission has yet to submit its report, but the State Government has estimated additional expenditure of Rs. 50 crores as the likely cost of implementing that Commission's report. It becomes unnecessary to deal with these reports and the decisions taken thereon in view of our approach based on objective considerations as described above, irrespective of when particular States revise pays or allowances. To the extent that the decisions of the individual State Governments involve a higher cost to them in the period covered by our Report than we have allowed for, they would have to find the necessary additional resources on their own.

States' reassessed

forecasts on Revenue account of each State, as reassessed by us, in Appendices

1. 28(i) to (xxii).

The net position on revenue account of each State, as reassessed by us, assumes better fiscal management in most States than has been evident, in matters like efficient collection of government dues and improved performance and higher returns in departmental undertakings as well as public enterprises. No Finance Commission can relax these basic requirements of fiscal efficiency. We have at the same time assumed that expenditure on emoluments of employees would be better regulated with due regard to the availability of resources and the various demands thereon. In States where the levels of emoluments are lower, in the interest of the efficiency of the administrative apparatus, we have allowed suitable provisions to enable the States to improve the level of emoluments of their employees. In another Chapter, we have also dealt with the requirements of the States for improving the standards of administration of the more important non-developmental sectors and services.

CHAPTER 3

RE - ASSESSMENT OF THE RESOURCE FORECAST OF THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT

As mentioned earlier, we obtained from the Central Government their forecast of receipts and expenditure on revenue account as well as of capital receipts and disbursements, together with notes explaining the manner in which they had projected various items. We examined the forecast on the same lines as those of the States. In that examination we were greatly aided by the discussions which we had with the Secretaries in the Union Ministry of Finance and their senior colleagues including the Chairmen of the Central Board of Direct Taxes and the Central Board of Customs & Excise. At these discussions, the Financial Commissioner, Railways, the Secretary, Planning Commission and the Union Home Secretary participated. We also had a detailed discussion with the Union Defence Secretary. These discussions helped us in getting a fuller understanding of the policies and thinking having a bearing on the resource forecast.

- 2. We examined the projections of the tax revenues of the Central Government in the light of considerations similar to those which we kept in mind while we were considering the forecast of tax revenue receipts of the State Governments, that is, the long term and recent revenue growth trends, elasticities of the revenues of different taxes with respect to Net National Product as well as with respect to Net National Product originating in the mon-agricultural sector and the manufacturing sector as appropriate, the changes in the tax structure in recent years, concessions which have been given, and so on. We have, accordingly, taken somewhat higher rates of growth of revenues than assumed by the Central Government, in respect of Union excise duties (7%), customs duties (7%) as well as the corporation tax (9%). We also assumed a rate of growth of revenues from sales tax in the Union territories in line with what we have adopted for the neighbouring States, i.e. higher than that taken by the Central Government for the purpose of their forecast. As reassessed by us, the total revenue receipts of the Central Government in the quinquennium 1979-84 would be Rs. 80, 126 crores, of which income-tax would account for Rs. 7, 192 crores and Union excise duties Rs. 32, 607 crores.
- 3. In regard to the forecast of expenditure, as in the case of the forecast of the States, we eliminated unusual items of current expenditure which were unlikely to recur in the future. We moderated the rates of growth assumed in the forecast of expenditure on the Police and on Audit. In the case of the Police the present policy of the Central Government appears not to favour expansion in the strength of the Central police organisations, and efforts have been initiated to reduce the strength wherever possible. We have therefore allowed a rate of growth of expenditure at 6 per cent on the Police in the forecast period. The expenditure on subsidies on food, fertilizers and exports is very substantial, adding up to Rs.1,026 crores in the Central budget estimates for the current year. We proceeded on the basis that while export subsidies may not be susceptible to reduction in view of the role they play in sustaining the national export effort, there was scope for reducing the burden of subsidy on fertilizers. We have, therefore, projected the expenditure on subsidy of fertilizers in such a manner that it should be progressively reduced to nil by 1983-84. In regard to food subsidies, the expenditure as appearing in the Central budget is for the purpose of meeting the deficit incurred by the Food Corporation of India in its operations covering procurement of foodgrains, their handling and storage, and issues at prices fixed by Government. We recognise that there are a number of special considerations which apply in regard to

procurement prices and issue prices of foodgrains. We are also aware of the importance to the country of having an adequate buffer stock of foodgrains involving substantial costs. At the same time, we believe it is necessary to restrain and reduce gradually the expenditure on food subsidies. Accordingly we have projected this item of expenditure in such a manner that by 1983-84 the amount of subsidy would be reduced by 25 per cent from the level of 1979-80.

- 4. We also looked into the returns to the Central budget from the investments of the Government in its industrial and commercial undertakings drawing upon material from the Bureau of Public Enterprises. As on the 1st April 1977 the total investment (equity and loans) in 145 enterprises was Rs.11,097 crores. Of this total, the paid-up capital was Rs.5,413 crores and the loans and deferred credit Rs.5,684 crores. This excluded investments of Rs.78.18 crores in insurance corporations, Rs.241.29 crores in the National Textile Corporation and Rs.10.79 crores in 3 enterprises registered under Section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956. Undertakings under construction accounted for Rs.532 crores i.e. 4.79 per cent of the total investment. Enterprises producing and selling goods accounted for an investment of Rs.8,624 crores, and service enterprises for Rs.1,940 crores.
- 5. The gross profit earned by running concerns in 1976-77 was Rs. 1, 054 crores, which was 9.7 per cent on the capital employed. Gross profit is the excess of income over expenditure after providing for depreciation and charges pertaining to previous years but before providing for interest on loans, taxes and appropriations to reserves. Capital employed is the gross block less accumulated depreciation thereon plus working capital. Enterprises producing goods earned gross profits at 9 per cent on the capital employed. The service enterprises gave a return of 10.8 per cent on the capital employed.
- 6. Of the total investment of Rs.11, 697 crores mentioned above, that of the Central Government was Rs.9, 569 crores, including Rs.5, 368 crores paid-up capital, and Rs.4, 201 crores by way of loans. The total return to Government on equity and by way of interest on the loans amounted to 4.43 per cent in 1976-77. On equity alone the return as calculated comes to 4.4 per cent. There appears to be an improving trend in the past few years in the performance of the Central public enterprises. It has however to be noted that, as compared to the enterprises of the State Governments, the Centre has few promotional undertakings. The bulk of the investments are in production and service enterprises, which have a large command of the markets, advantages of scale, the scope for attracting management talent, and so on, unlike the enterprises of the States. The Central enterprises also have readier access to finance compared to most of the enterprises of the States.
- 7. Taking these factors into account we have assumed that in the forecast period the return on equity investment by the Central Government in its enterprises should increase from 4.4 per cent in 1976-77 to 7.5 per cent by 1983-84. The receipts on account of interest on loans advanced to the enterprises have been taken as calculated according to the terms applicable to such loans and included in the forecast of revenue receipts. The return on equity has been calculated on the investments likely to be made by the end of 1978-79, as estimated from the Central budget. We have not taken into account, as in the case of States also, investments likely to be made from 1979-80 onwards.
- 8. The re-assessment of the forecast of the Central Government which we have made as above has resulted in an overall improvement of Rs.4,626 crores in the five-year period 1979-84 compared to the resource position indicated in the forecast.

CHAPTER 4

FINANCING OF RELIEF EXPENDITURE

We now turn to the topic of financing of expenditure for relief of distress caused by natural calamities. Paragraph 9 of the Presidential Order requires us to review the existing policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure and also to suggest such modifications therein as we consider appropriate, having regard, inter alia, to the need for avoidance of wasteful expenditure.

- 2. It is a well accepted proposition that the primary responsibility for relief measures for people affected by natural calamities is that of the State Government concerned. However, it often happens that the seriousness of a calamity calls for relief measures and consequent expenditure which may be of an order beyond the means of a State in a particular year. In such a case, the State Government calls upon the Centre for financial assistance. The Central Government has from time to time laid down its policy for such assistance.
- Measures for relief of distress on the occurrence of a natural calamity differ in the case of floods, cyclones, earthquakes, and the like from those in the case of serious droughts. In the former case, immediate succour has to be extended to the people affected on a large scale and within a relatively short time. For instance, considerable numbers of people have to be moved to safe place, temporary accommodation for them has to be found, arrangements for their clothing and feeding have to be made, and as soon as they can go back to their homes, they may have to be assisted with small grants to set up their households again. In the process, the State Government has to incur substantial expenditure on transportation, drinking water arrangements, medicines, etc. At the same time, emergency arrangements have to be made for restoring road communications where they are disrupted and embankments and other protective works have to be strengthened. Arrangements also have to be made to help flooded areas drain quickly, etc. Following such an emergency phase, assistance has to be given to the affected people to rehabilitate themselves by repairing or rebuilding their houses and clearing their lands for a new crop, as also for seed and other inputs. Works have to be taken up by the Government Departments concerned for repairing flood-damaged public works and restoring them to the original condition. These could last for some months and even spill into the next financial year. Ordinarily, the situation does not call for the Government providing relief employment to the affected people as a specific measure. The agricultural operations which are taken up again provide employment, as do the normal Plan schemes and the Government works for repairs and restoration of public assets. In the case of droughts, the problems faced by the State Governments and the people are somewhat different. There is usually adequate warning of distress conditions likely to develop, their extent and intensity. Estimates can, therefore, be made and reviewed from time to time as to the number of people likely to be affected, those likely to need gratuitous relief and the measures necessary for providing them relief by way of drinking water, and so on. The requirements of fodder and other steps for movement of useful cattle can similarly be assessed and planned for. Some time is also available for planning relief works. The standing procedures usually require a shelf of schemes to be kept ready in each district after adequate investigation so that they can be taken up when necessary. The Plan works which are distributed generally all over the State also provide employment and these could be specially accelerated in times of such need.

- 4. It is in the light of the experience of relief operations of the nature described that the financing of relief expenditure has to be considered. All the Finance Commissions from the Second onwards have recognised the necessity of providing an amount referred to as the margin for relief expenditure in the expenditure forecasts of each State. When a calamity occurs necessitating expenditure on relief measures, the States have this margin to draw upon immediately. It is easier for them to do so if the unspent amount out of the margin for any year is not merged in the general resources of the State for normal expenditure but is kept invested in easily encashable form. Though very few States follow this practice, it is well understood that they, as well as the Central Government whose assistance is sought by them, should take into account the unspent amounts available in the margin in any year while computing the Central assistance which may be decided upon
- 5. It has been the practice of the past Commissions to take the average of expenditure booked in the accounts under the head accommodating Relief Expenditure for a few years and adopt the average as the margin for each State. The Second, Fourth and Fifth Commissions took respectively the average of this expenditure for 10 years, 8 years and 9 years, while the Sixth Commission took the average of this expenditure for the period 1956-57 to 1971-72. The actual expenditures which they took into account not only included items of direct relief like gratuitous relief, drinking water arrangements, fodder arrangements, emergent expenditure immediately after a calamity, but also expenditure on relief works. However the margins did not provide for any element of repairs and restoration of public assets which become necessary on a fairly extensive scale following floods, cyclones and the like. This was because the actuals booked under the relief head usually do not include such expenditure. We have considered the matter afresh. Since the expenditure on public works which are damaged by a natural calamity does not create new assets and yet constitutes quite a heavy burden on the finances of the States, we feel that the margin which we propose to allow for each State should include an element on this account. In regard to expenditure on relief employment in drought, however, in the light of the modifications which we propose later in the policy of Central assistance towards relief expenditure, we believe that the relief employment expenditure need not be included in the margin. We have, accordingly, estimated the average annual expenditure for each State for the years from 1969-70 to 1977-78 on direct relief other than relief employment, and on repairs and restoration of public properties damaged by floods, cyclones and earthquakes. We have drawn upon the finance accounts, as well as estimates approved by the Central Government for the purpose of computing Central assistance. We have made an adjustment in the figures for 1977-78 to moderate the effect of the extraordinarily large expenditure necessitated by the unprecedented cyclone in Andhra Pradesh and Tamil Nadu in 1977. Where appropriate, we have also taken into account the commissioning of major projects in recent years which would have the effect of controlling or moderating floods. On the 9-year averages which we have thus derived, we have added an incremental 15 per cent, on the consideration that the averages are somewhat depressed on account of the price levels before they rose steeply in the middle of the period we have taken. The margins thus worked out for each State for each year of the period covered by our Report, and included in the reassessed forecasts of expenditure, are shown below:-

		<u>(Rs. lakhs)</u>
1.	Andhra Pradesh	858
2.	Assam	346
3.	Bihar	1308
4.	Gujarat	956
5.	Haryana	147
6.	Himachal Pradesh	51

		•	(Rs. lakhs)
7.	Jammu & Kashmir		130
8.	Karnataka		200
9.	Kerala		159
10.	Madhya Pradesh		183
11.	Maharashtra		457
12.	Manipur		8
13.	Meghalaya		7
14.	Nagaland		14
15.	Orissa		871
16.	Punjab		268
17.	Rajasthan		774
18.	Sikkim		1
19.	Tamil Nadu		859
20.	Tripura		18
21.	Uttar Pradesh		1080
22.	West Bengal		1360
		Total:	10055

- 6. We believe that these margins would enable the States to bear the burden of relief expenditure better than has parhaps been the case so far, even in calamities of more than moderate severity. We may add that the States should invest the unspent balances out of the margin in any year in easily encashable securities so that these can be drawn upon in a year of need and the purpose of providing the margins is fully served.
- 7. We have already referred to the policy of the Central Government pronounced from time to time for assisting States to meet the burden of relief expenditure on occasions when it is beyond their means to do so. According to the policy decisions following a review in 1953; the Central Government gave 50 per cent of the expenditure of gratuitous relief as a grant and 50 per cent of expenditure on test relief works as a loan besides concessional supplies of foodgrains. In February 1955 the assistance policy was revised. The State Governments could then expect grants to cover half the total expenditure on gratuitous relief upto Rs.2 crores and 3/4ths of the expenditure above that limit. Expenditure on relief works taken up as a preferable alternative to gratuitous relief, and which did not create assets or when the value of assets created was less than the expenditure, was also deemed to be expenditure on gratuitous relief. So too was the expenditure on distress loans given as a substitute for gratuitous relief where subsequent recovery proved impossible. The Centre also agreed to give grants equal to half the expenditure on the repairs of Government roads, bridges, etc. where no new assets were created and half the cost of repairs to administrative and other Government buildings. In the case of roads and buildings of local bodies which did not have sufficient resources, the Centre provided a grant equal to $37\frac{1}{2}$ per cent of the cost of repairs in cases where the States could not assist the local bodies fully. The Centre also provided ways and means loans depending on the financial position of the States. Further, where the States were compelled because of the relief expenditure burdens to divert resources from the implementation of the Plan, the Centre provided development loans. Not only did the Central assistance policy of 1955 thus cover the different components of relief expenditure, but it was also envisaged that the resources for a State's Plan outlay should be kept intact. After the Second Finance Commission recommended, for the first time, a margin for each State towards relief expenditure, the Central Government informed the States that the margin would be set off against the total relief expenditure before Central assistance under

the policy of February 1955 was given. The assistance policy was revised again with effect from 1961-62. This was done to simplify the procedure and also to define clearly the circumstances in which Central assistance would be considered justified. The States were required to inform the Centre when they felt that the expenditure would be in excess of Rs.1 crore. Thereafter the Centre constituted a Team of officers to undertake an on-the-spot assessment of the impact of the calamity and to consider whether any of the relief measures could be dovetailed within the Plan schemes through minor adjustments in the schemes or in the financial provisions for the Plan. The Central assistance was normally limited to half the expenditure on relief items, including works undertaken as a preferable alternative to gratuitous relief, where new assets were either not created or were of a value less than the expenditure. It was also indicated to the States that in calamities of very considerable magnitude, the Centre would consider additional ad hoc grants.

- 8. The Fourth Finance Commission suggested that the scheme of Central assistance and its working might be reviewed following representations made to it by the States. The review by the Central Government led to changes in the Central Assistance policy which were communicated to the States in September 1966. These continued to operate till. March 1974. Under this scheme the States were to inform the Centre when they felt, on the occurrence of a natural calamity, that the relief expenditure would exceed the margin. While doing so, the States were also required to furnish details of the damage or losses caused by the calamity, the relief programme and expenditure contemplated by the State Government and the extent to which Plan schemes could be taken up in the affected areas to provide employment. The Centre then deputed a Team of officers for an on-the-spot assessment of the situation and an estimation of the expenditure. The Team also assessed the extent to which the expenditure could be met from the Annual Plan provisions, the additional expenditure necessary and fixed ceilings on items of relief expenditure within which the actual expenditure would be shared by the Centre. The shareable items included relief works expenditure. The Central assistance, in accordance with the new policy, was limited to 75 per cent of the actual expenditure in excess of the margin, 2/3rds of which were given as grant and 1/3rd by way of loan. The balance of 25 per cent of the expenditure was to be borne by the State. Expenditure on repairs and restoration of public properties damaged in the calamity and on loans to third parties was not eligible for assistance but the States could obtain ways and means advances depending on their financial position.
- 9. In 1972-73 this policy underwent a major modification in practice, when the Central Government ceased fixing ceilings of expenditure on relief works, which was by far the largest component of relief expenditure in a drought. The change contributed largely to the enormous increases in relief expenditure in the closing years of the Fourth Plan. As observed by the Sixth Commission, a considerable proportion of the expenditure was probably wasteful. With better planning and organisation the works executed would perhaps have given enduring benefits. The Sixth Commission also observed that the scale of relief works expenditure and of the Central assistance in effect bypassed and eroded the fair and rational transfer of Central resources to the States evolved by the Finance Commission and the Planning Commission from time to time. The Supplementary Report of the Comptroller & Auditor General of India for 1973-74 noted that in most States lists of relief works which could be taken up on short notice had not been prepared even in districts which were drought-prone or had been repeatedly visited by droughts, floods and cyclones in the past. Some works which were selected were such that they could not possibly be completed within the period of relief operations. Works left incomplete from earlier years were not taken up in preference to new works. Many were started without adequate technical preparation such as investigations and approval of estimates.

- 10. Following the Report of the Sixth Commission, the Central Government gave up its relief assistance policy of 1966 and adopted the procedure recommended by that Commission. Under the new policy, assistance given to a State for relief expenditure is to be adjusted within the ceiling of Central assistance for the State's Plan. The Sixth Commission felt that such a procedure would give the States an incentive for economy in expenditure and for maximising the results from the expenditure actually incurred. The Sixth Commission also envisaged that the schemes for providing relief should be integrated with the overall development Plan of the State. Under the present policy also, when a State reports the occurrence of a calamity and presents its assessment of the impact and the expenditure requirements, a Central Team of officers is deputed to make an on-the-spot assessment. The report of the Team is considered by a high-level Committee headed by a Member of the Planning Commission. The high-level Committee's recommendations as to the amounts and purposes of advance Plan assistance are placed before the Union Finance Minister for approval before the allocations are finalised.
- 11. In their memoranda to us, the State Governments have expressed their views on the present policy of Central assistance to the States towards relief expenditure. Andhra Pradesh has pointed out that if the advance Plan assistance is given without due regard to the total Plan assistance that the State is entitled to and the impact that any advance assistance would have on the annual Plans of later years when it is adjusted, the implementation of the Plans might well be in serious jeopardy. Assam has referred to the peculiar severity of the calamities caused by floods in the rivers in that State and has suggested that the bulk of the relief expenditure should be covered by Central assistance, though the State Government admits that expenditure on relief could, as far as possible, be utilised for creating assets as is the premise in the present scheme of Central assistance. Bihar has referred to the vast areas in the State susceptible to floods and drought, and has pointed out that the non-Plan expenditure incurred for such calamities since 1974-75 has far exceeded the margin allowed by the Sixth Commission. Since the excess of non-Plan expenditure over the margin is not covered by the Central assistance under the present policy, the State has not been able to find enough resources to repair and restore its assets after they suffered severe damage from floods. The State Government has also observed that the dovetailing of relief expenditure with Plan schemes has, in effect, reduced the real content of the State Plan. It has urged that the expenditure in excess of the margin should be fully provided for by the Central Government in the shape of grants. Gujarat also feels that the present scheme of Central assistance is not suitable for meeting the situation arising from wide-spread droughts to which that State is prone, and which affect not only the State budget but also have a major impact on the economy of the State. It feels that the premise of the last Commission that a massive time-bound development programme can substantially reduce and perhaps eliminate the effects of drought was impractical. The State has also pointed out that when the Annual Plan outlays are predominantly for the capital intensive irrigation and power sectors, there is little flexibility for drawing upon the Plan for providing employment for vast numbers in areas of poor or no rainfall which are affected by droughts. The State has suggested that the relief expenditure should be met by way of grants under article 275, regardless of non-Plan revenue surpluses, if any. The relief expenditure needs should be determined on objective criteria like areas and population prone to droughts, floods etc., the percentage of cropped areas provided with assured irrigation facilities, areas under forests, and such other considerations. Fiveyear ceilings of assistance may be fixed by the Central Government after assessment by Central Teams. Haryana has also suggested that the assistance for relief expenditure should be provided as grants by the Centre irrespective of any non-Plan revenue surplus, and has commented that the present policy of advance Plan assistance is not of any real help to the State. Himachal Pradesh has observed that the State Government has little room

to adjust any substantial relief expenditure within the size of its Plans or total budget. Jammu & Kashmir has made the same point and has asked for revival of the Central assistance policy of 1966 even in a limited way. Karnataka considers it illogical to link relief expenditure with assistance for the State Plan. It has pointed out that very large areas in the State are drought-prone, and in practice it is not possible for Plan outlays to absorb the burdens of providing relief employment. Kerala has referred to the cyclonic disasters in the Southern States in 1977 and has pointed out that the scheme of the Central Government sharing relief expenditure through advance Plan assistance is totally inadequate for such calamities. It has suggested a national relief fund to which the States as well as the Centre should contribute equally, and an autonomous national relief body with representation from the States to administer the fund. Madhya Pradesh has observed that the present Central policy is unsatisfactory, and that diverting the outlays in a current annual Plan from areas not affected by drought was not practical. It has also observed that adjustments of the advance Plan assistance in subsequent years would seriously affect the Plan outlays in those years. The State Government has suggested that the Centre should set up a relief assistance fund out of its own resources, and in addition one per cent each from income tax, corporation tax and Union excise duties from the divisible pool may be credited into the fund. It has also suggested that the Central Teams should include representatives of at least two of the States. Maharashtra feels that the present Central assistance policy is unworkable and has suggested the revival of the 1966 scheme with additional safeguards, if necessary. Orissa has made suggestions more or less on the same lines, requesting also that the entire relief expenditure in excess of the available margin should be covered by Central grants in the case of the deficit States. Punjab has pointed out that the present policy of Central assistance, which is intended to curb undue expenditure on relief works, is not apt for natural calamities like cyclones, hail-storms etc. where the bulk of the expenditure is non-Planand on items other than works. In its view, the present policy has resulted in upsetting the State budgets and affecting the Plans adversely. It feels that the 1966 policy was more equitable and realistic, and that the Centre should provide outright grants for relief expenditure, irrespective of non-Plan revenue surpluses, if any. Rajasthan has also stressed the limitations of the present assistance policy of the Centre and has suggested that a national fund may be set up, fed by contributions by the Centre as well as the States. The assistance to be given from the fund, entirely by way of a grant, should be determined after an assessment by a Central Team. If no such fund is set up, the Finance Commission should provide for an amount to each State for transfer to a famine relief fund every year, and relief expenditure in excess of such annual transfers should be covered by the Centre by way of grants subject to ceilings set by Central Teams. Tamil Nadu has found the present scheme of assistance unrealistic and inequitable. It has suggested that the relief expenditure requirements assessed by the Central Teams may be provided by the Centre on the same basis as Plan assistance, but to be adjusted against the Plan assistance, so that the development efforts of the States are not jeopardised only for the reason of the occurrence of a natural calamity. Uttar Pradesh has suggested that the assistance given by the Centre should not be treated as advance Plan assistance to be adjusted against the State's entitlement of assistance for the State Plan, but should be wholly by way of grant except for amounts re-lent by the State. West Bengal has also urged that additional outlays on relief expenditure over the margins should be fully met by the Centre and no part of the assistance should be adjusted against the State's entitlement of Central assistance for its Plan.

12. We have obtained from the States their figures of Plan and non-Plan expenditure incurred by them in each year from 1974-75 on relief measures following droughts, floods and cyclones. Appendix II.1 shows the figures reported by the States, which may be taken as indicative of the orders of magnitude of expenditure on the Plan and non-Plan

- side. We have also obtained from the Union Ministry of Finance the amounts of advance Plan assistance given by the Central Government to each State from 1974-75 to 1977-78 for specified purposes, and the expenditure reported by the States for those items. Appendix II.2 shows the figures. The advance Plan assistance for the four years, amounting to Rs.307 crores, was less than 50 per cent of the total expenditure, of Rs.680 crores intimated to us by the States. These figures certainly support the view of the Union Finance Ministry that the present policy of Central assistance has led to restraint in relief expenditure and also to minimising the burden on the Central budget. On the other hand, it does seem that the non-Plan expenditure on relief account has been substantial in many States, and this could have been met only by economies in maintenance expenditure and in Plan expenditure as well as through budgetary deficits, which we consider undesirable. We note here that on such occasions the State economy often suffers a setback, and the State budget some loss of normal revenue. It is also worth noting that the Central Government, as we were informed by the Union Ministry of Finance in our discussion with them, have in recent years included repairs and restoration expenditure in the items eligible for advance Plan assistance though it does not create any new assets. To our mind this is a recognition of the fact that the present policy does not quite meet the needs of a situation created by serious floods or cyclones. We also note that, of the total expenditure covered by advance Plan assistance, over 90 per cent was on reconstruction and replacement of roads, buildings, flood control and irrigation works and other public assets, in 1975-76; while the same items accounted for over 33 per cent in 1976-77 and about 55 per cent in 1977-78.
- 13. Our scheme of transfer of resources from the Centre to the States is intended to place the latter in such a position that they can maintain financial equilibrium in the years covered by our Report. We have considered the present Central scheme of assistance towards relief expenditure from the point of view of how it is likely to affect the finances of the States when they are visited by serious natural calamities. We have already noted the possible undesirable effects of dislocation in the finances of a State on this account. We have also, on the other hand, kept in mind the necessity of minimising any tendency for wasteful expenditure on the part of the States. From this point of view, we feel that the States should bear a significant share of the total relief expenditure burden. Thirdly, it seems clear to us that the burden of non-Plan expenditure, which does not create any new assets, following serious damage caused to public assets by floods, cyclones and the like, cannot be properly or adequately taken care of in the present scheme of Central assistance. A clear indication of this is the inclusion in recent years, already referred to, of expenditure of non-Plan nature in items taken into account for advance Plan assistance which, by definition, should be available only for expenditure which creates new assets. A fourth aspect we have borne in mind is the fact that the Central Government has not found it possible to adjust advance Plan assistance given after 1976-77 against Plan ceilings of the States concerned. This leads one to the inference that this adjustment is not a matter of mere arithmetic, but there are real limitations in the scope for such adjustment when the amount of the advance assistance is too large, in relation to the minimum Plan outlays for the years following a calamity, and in relation to the total entitlement of a State to Central assistance for its Plan. We feel therefore that it would be appropriate and necessary to introduce modifications in the present arrangements. It would also be useful, while doing so, to distinguish between relief expenditure necessitated by droughts on the one hand, and floods, cyclones, earthquakes and the like on the other.
- 14. In our view the present scheme of Central assistance to States for relief expenditure could be continued but in a somewhat modified form. For expenditure in excess of the margin we have provided, in any year, as estimated by the Central Team.

the State Government should make a contribution from its Plan for providing relief employment mostly to mitigate the effects of drought. We would expect that such relief works would be specially selected in order to improve the capability of the affected area and the people to withstand drought conditions better in future. The extent to which the State Government should contribute from its Plan in this manner should be assessed by the Central Teams and approved by the high-level Committee headed by the Member of the Planning Commission mentioned earlier, but the contribution should not exceed about 5 per cent of the Annual Plan outlay. The Plan outlay thus to be taken as a contribution from the State Government should be treated as an addition to the Plan outlay in that year and covered by advance Plan assistance as in the present scheme. The adjustment of the advance Plan assistance against the ceiling of the Central assistance for the Plan of the State should be effected within five years following the end of the drought. We have suggested that the State Plan contribution should not exceed 5 per cent of the Annual Plan, after taking into account broadly the sizes of the Plan outlays and the amounts of the Central assistance for the Plan in the current year, and keeping in mind the relative inflexibility in the outlays for irrigation and power, industry and mining, road transport, land reforms, investments in agricultural financing institutions, and the like. We would, of course, expect that the Central Teams and the high-level Committee would take into account the provisions not only in the State Plans, but also in the Central or Centrally-sponsored sector, for schemes which have a high employment content. In this connection, we understand that in the new five-year Plan, the outlays for drought-prone area programmes and other area development programmes, as well as for minimum needs like roads, drinking water, etc. are likely to be very substantial and can be drawn upon for relief employment purposes. We hope that the Planning Commission and the State Governments would also give importance in the Plans to the completion of works taken up for providing relief, after the calamity is past. If the expenditure requirement, as assessed by the Central Teams and the high-level Committee cannot be adequately met in a particular case even after the State Plan contribution is taken into account, the extra expenditure should, in our view, be taken as an indication of the especial severity of the calamity which would justify the Central Government assisting the State to the full extent of the extra expenditure. This assistance should be made available half as grant and half as loan. We feel that the loan burden which a State would take on in such circumstances would act as a factor to discourage extravagance.

15. In regard to expenditure on relief and on repairs and restoration of public works following floods, cyclones and other calamities of this nature, we feel that the Central assistance should be made available as a non-Plan grant, not adjustable against the Plan of a State or against the Central assistance for the Plan, to the extent of 75 per cent of the total expenditure in excess of the margin. The remaining 25 per cent should be borne by the State, which would discourage wasteful expenditure.

Where a calamity is of rare severity, it may be necessary for the Central Government to extend assistance to the State concerned even beyond the schemes we have suggested.

16. We would like to reiterate that the Central Teams should do their assessments with great care, particularly in the interest of the States themselves. A relaxed view of the expenditure needs would possibly leave room for expenditure of doubtful value, and needlessly add to the burden of the States who, in the schemes of relief we have suggested above, would have to bear a sizeable part of the expenditure. It is necessary, in our view, that the Central Teams and the high-level Committee should fix the ceilings on all items of expenditure. Incidentally, it would follow from the above that the teams would have to make estimates of both non-Plan and Plan expenditure.

- 17. We have mentioned earlier that we would expect the States to invest unutilised balances out of the margin in any year in easily encashable securities, to be drawn upon as need arises. The Central Teams should take into account the availability of accumulated balances of such funds while they make their assessments.
- 18. We believe that with the modifications in the policy of Central assistance for relief expenditure, which we have suggested above, such of the grievances of the States as have substance would be largely removed.

CHAPTER 5

ESTATE DUTY IN RESPECT OF PROPERTY OTHER THAN AGRICULTURAL LAND

In paragraph 6(a) of the Presidential Order we have been asked to suggest changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution among the States of the net proceeds in any financial year of estate duty on property other than agricultural land. This is one of the taxes and duties which, under Article 269 of the Constitution, are levied and collected by the Government of India. The Article provides that the net proceeds shall be assigned to the States within which the duty is leviable in a year, and distributed among them in accordance with such principles as may be formulated by Parliament by law.

- 2. The duty is levied under the Estate Duty Act, 1953. The Second Finance Commission examined for the first time the principles which should govern the distribution of the net proceeds of the duty among the States. That Commission held that the most appropriate principle of distribution would be the location of the property assessed to duty. That Commission also observed that it would not be possible to apply the principle of location in the case of duty attributable to movable property, in respect of which, therefore, that Commission considered some general principle, such as population, inescapable. The latter Finance Commissions generally endorsed the principles recommended by the Second Finance Commission. Each of the Commissions had also specified the percentage of the net proceeds of the estate duty in a financial year to be retained by the Central Government as being the proceeds attributable to the Union Territories.
 - 3. The existing principles laid down by the Sixth Commission are:
 - (i) Out of the net proceeds of the estate duty during each financial year, a sum equal to 2.5 per cent thereof be retained by the Union as being the proceeds attributable to Union Territories;
 - (ii) The balance of net proceeds be distributed among the States in accordance with the following principles:
 - (a) Such balance be first apportioned between immovable property and other property in the ratio of the gross value of all such properties brought into assessment in that year;
 - (b) The sum thus apportioned to immovable property be distributed among the States in proportion to the gross value of the immovable property located in each State and brought into assessment in that year; and
 - (c) The sum apportioned to property other than immovable property be distributed among the States in proportion to the population of each State.
- 4. In their memoranda to us, most of the States have suggested continuance of the existing principles of distribution. Himachal Pradesh has added that the share attributable to the Union territories should be reduced to 1.5 per cent. Jammu & Kashmir has proposed that the principles of distribution should take into account backwardness and genuine needs of the States. Madhya Pradesh, while suggesting the continuance of the existing principles, has observed that receipts attributable to Union territories need not be a pre-determined

fixed percentage but should be worked out for each year on the same basis as in the case of the States taking all the Union territories as one unit. Maharashtra has suggested the modification in the existing principles that the proceeds apportioned to property other than immovable property should be distributed on the basis of collections in a State, as being the nearest approximation to the proceeds attributable to such property. Tripura and West Bengal have expressed no view, nor has Sikkim, where the duty is not leviable.

- 5. We are in agreement with the views of the earlier Commissions that in the distribution of the proceeds of estate duty, which is one of the taxes and duties leviable under Article 269, each State should get, as near as may be, a share equivalent to what it would have obtained if it had the power to levy and collect the duty. It would also be incorrect, in our view, to determine the shares of the States in proportion to the collections of the duty in each State, since collections may take place in a State on account of duty assessed on properties situated in other States.
- 6. We had a discussion with the Union Ministry of Finance and the Central Board of Direct Taxes to elicit their views in regard to the difficulties, if any, which they had in the compilation of statistics of location of properties brought to assessment. We were informed that the Statewise statistics furnished to us by the Central Board of Direct Taxes in regard to the value of property brought to assessment, the demands raised, etc., did not represent location of the assessed property but only the States in which the assessments had been made. We were also informed that the system of compilation of statistics could be re-organised so as to determine the values of the properties assessed to duty each year by their location in different States, but that this would involve additional costs and some administrative difficulties. While we recognise that the Department may have problems to solve in this regard, we cannot agree that these difficulties should be allowed to frustrate the principle that the States should get in respect of a tax or duty under article 269 what they would have obtained if they had the power to levy and collect it themselves. This can best be ensured if Statewise location of the property subjected to tax or duty is taken into account.
- 7. We have examined also the question whether it would be possible to determine the location of properties other than immovable property subjected to estate duty. We find that the rules framed under the Estate Duty Act lay down the manner in which properties other than immovable property, which are held abroad, should be treated for the purpose of determining location. These are principles which are well established, and can equally be applied for the determination of the location of such properties in India.
- 8. We accordingly recommend that the net proceeds of estate duty in respect of property other than agricultural land brought to assessment in each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84, should be distributed among the States in proportion to the gross value of the immovable property as also property other than immovable property taken together located in each State, excepting in regard to property located abroad. We have noticed, in the statistics furnished by the Central Board of Direct Taxes, that there is a small element of duty collected in respect of property held abroad. We recommend that this element of the net proceeds of the duty in any year should be included in the share of the States where the relevant assessment was done. Sikkim will also be entitled to a share in the net proceeds of this duty, determined in accordance with these recommendations, if and when the duty becomes leviable in that State in the period covered by our report.
- 9. We have every reason to think that the Government of India will issue instructions to the authorities concerned to ensure that statistics are compiled to enable the share of each State being computed in accordance with our recommendations. Obviously, it is not possible for us to estimate what the share of each State would be in each year, for computing its revenue receipts on this account. The amounts involved are not likely to be substantial,

considering that the net proceeds of the duty likely to be available for the five-year period would be of the order of about Rs. 60 crores for the 21 States, as indicated by the Government of India. We have not taken these amounts into account in the receipts of the States in the period covered by our Report. The share which each State may get in each year would therefore be available for its Plan.

- 10. We do not deem it necessary to determine now the portion of the net proceeds of estate duty attributable to the Union territories, for the years covered by our Report. This portion, for each year, should be determined in the same manner and on the same principles as for the determination of the shares of each State, taking the Union Territories as one unit for the purpose.
- 11. Section 52 of the Estate Duty Act gives power to the Central Government to accept from the person accountable for estate duty, in satisfaction of the whole or part of such duty, any property passing on the death of the deceased. We are not aware of any occasion when the whole or part of the estate duty in any particular case has been collected in this manner. But such cases may arise in future. In such cases the amount of the duty involved should be treated as having been collected in cash for the purpose of our recommendation above.
- 12. The net proceeds of the estate duty in any year are required to be certified by the Comptroller & Auditor General of India under article 279 of the Constitution. We understand that the net proceeds of estate duty for the years after 1971-72 have not been so certified. We cannot but note this with concern. It is expected by all concerned that after the recommendations of a Finance Commission are accepted by the Government of India, the work of the departmental and other authorities would proceed in the normal course of business smoothly in accordance with the law and the Constitution so as to give effect completely and without serious delay to the scheme of transfer of resources to the States. We hope that the difficulties of the Comptroller & Auditor General and the Department in the certification of the net proceeds will be overcome and steps will be taken to ensure that such delays do not occur in future. We do not see why the certification process cannot be completed within a few months after the close of a financial year.
- 13. We have also noticed that for the years for which the net proceeds have not been certified by the Comptroller & Auditor General, the Central Government is making provisional payments to the States on account of their shares on the basis of the revised estimates of collections of the respective years, distributed in the population ratio of the States. This is being done under Rule 4 of the Estate Duty (Distribution) Rules 1963, made under Section 4 of the Estate Duty (Distribution) Act, 1962, which invokes the use of the population ratio only for duty attributable to property other than immovable property. We suggest that the provisional distribution of the shares of the States, which would be made on the basis of the revised estimates for a year till the certified net proceeds are known, should be done on the same principles as the final distribution. For this purpose, the previous year's shares of the States could be used provisionally.

CHAPTER 6

ADDITIONAL DUTIES OF EXCISE

Clause (b) of paragraph 6 of the Presidential Order authorises this Commission to suggest changes, if any, in the principles governing the distribution among the States of the net proceeds in any financial year of the additional excise duties leviable under the Additional Duties of Excise (Goods of Special Importance) Act, 1957, on cotton fabrics, woollen fabrics, rayon or artificial silk fabrics, sugar and tobacco including manufactured tobacco. The proviso to clause (b), however, lays down that the share accruing to each State shall not be in any case less than the revenue realised from the levy of sales tax on these articles for the financial year 1956-57 in that State.

- 2. The additional duties of excise are levied by the Central Government in pursuance of a unanimous agreement recorded by the National Development Council in December 1956. That agreement was that sales taxes levied in the States on mill-made textiles, tobacco including manufactured tobacco and sugar should be replaced by a surchage on the Central excise duties on these articles and that the income derived therefrom should be distributed among the States on the basis of consumption. It also provided that the distribution among the States should assure to them the income derived by them at that time from their respective sales taxes. The Council had also agreed that the sharing and distribution among the States should be referred to the Finance Commission, The additional duties of excise have since then been levied and collected by the Centre. The aforesaid arrangement was in the nature of tax rental as noted by the earlier Commissions. Though the States have the constitutional right to levy sales tax on any of these articles, but by virtue of Sections 14 and 15 of the Central Sales Tax Act, which has declared these articles to be goods of special importance in inter-State trade and commerce, the rate of the tax cannot exceed 4 per cent. Further, in the event of a State Government levying a sales tax on any of these items, it forfeits its share of the additional excise duty,
- 3. The earlier Finance Commissions which recommended the principles for distribution of the net proceeds of additional excise duties among the States found that the most appropriate basis of distribution would be that of consumption of the articles in each State, since such a basis ensured to the States shares more or less equivalent to what they would have obtained if they had continued to levy and collect sales taxes. The Commissions had, however, faced the difficulty arising from lack of reliable statistics of consumption of these articles in each State. Each of them had therefore devised formulae which it considered would most closely approximate to the basic principle.
- 4. The amounts which each State had derived from sales taxes on the articles in the year 1956-57 have generally been referred to by the earlier Commissions as the guaranteed amount. Such guaranteed amount was first estimated by the Second Commission. The later Commissions accepted the Second Commission's estimations. Except the Sixth Commission the other Commissions had first set apart and distributed the guaranteed amount from the net proceeds of each year covered by their reports. The balance of the net proceeds was then recommended to be shared among the States in accordance with the formulae which, as mentioned above, each Commission evolved.
- 5. In their memoranda to us, the State Governments have expressed their views not only on the principles for distribution of the net proceeds of the duties but also on the manner in which the scheme of replacement of sales tax by additional duties of excise has been operated by the Central Government. We shall deal with this second aspect later. Only Gujarat,

Maharashtra and U.P. have taken the position that the guaranteed amount should be first set apart. As far as the principles of distribution are concerned, Andhra Pradesh and Assam have suggested no change in the formula of distribution adopted by the Sixth Commission. West Bengal has expressed no view. Bihar has suggested that the entire proceeds should be distributed on the population ratio of the States. Gujarat and U.P. have proposed distribution in the same ratio as that of the guaranteed amount of each State. Haryana has proposed that 10 per cent of the proceeds should be distributed on the population ratio and the balance in the proportion of the sales tax in each State to the total sales tax of all States. Kerala, Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu have proposed the same basis as Haryana, except that they would give no weight to population. Himachal Pradesh, Manipur and Meghalaya have discounted the sales tax collection criterion and have suggested weightages of 70 per cent to population, 20 per cent to backwardness and 10 per cent to production. While Manipur and Meghalaya would apply this formula to the entire net proceeds, Himachal Pradesh has suggested first setting apart 20 per cent of the proceeds for the hill areas which, according to it, consume these articles more than the plains. Nagaland has proposed weightage of 65 per cent to population, 25 per cent to backwardness and 10 per cent to production, while Punjab has suggested, for the same factors, 50 per cent, 40 per cent and 10 per cent respectively. While Punjab and Orissa have both stated that consumption is the best basis of distribution, Orissa has suggested that the entire proceeds should be distributed in the population ratio. Rajasthan follows Orissa but has suggested as an alternative distribution of the net proceeds of the duties from the 3 groups of articles in proportion to the average consumer expenditure on each of them as worked out from the National Sample Survey. Jammu & Kashmir has pointed out that the growth in receipts from the additional excise duties has not kept pace with that in sales tax revenues of the State and has suggested that this imbalance should be corrected and the State adequately compensated in the sharing of the proceeds of the duties. Karnataka has proposed 90 per cent weightage to population and 10 per cent to backwardness measured by the distance of the per capita income from the maximum per capita income of any State. Madhya Pradesh has suggested a slight variation in these percentages, namely, 95 and 5. Tripura has proposed that 50 per cent of the net proceeds should be distributed on the basis of density of population, 25 per cent on backwardness, 15 per cent on the basis of State income and 10 per cent on production.

- 6. We have at the outset considered the question whether the guaranteed amounts should first be set apart and the balance of the net proceeds of additional duties of excise be distributed according to the formula of such distribution agreed upon by us. If that were done, there is no doubt that some States would receive in the period covered by our Report shares slightly larger than the shares they would receive if the guaranteed amounts were not so set apart. While it is true that under the N.D.C. resolution earlier agreed to, a State is entitled to have a share which should not be less than the guaranteed amount, the agreement does not assure to any State any extra benefit what it would receive were the guaranteed amount first set apart. The agreement when properly read cannot necessarily bear such an interpretation. The principle of distribution which we recommend hereinafter would therefore apply to the entire net proceeds, since the share due to each State will be more than the guaranteed amount.
- 7. We agree with the earlier Commissions that the appropriate basis for distribution is that of consumption in each State of the articles subject to the additional excise duties. We have examined whether the household consumer expenditure surveys of the National Sample Survey would provide an adequate and reliable measure of the consumption of these articles in each State. At our request that organisation did a special compilation for us from the consumer expenditure survey of 1972-73 (27th Round). The Survey included a large variety of items of household consumption of sugar, tobacco and textiles. The description of these items is different from that of articles subject to additional duties of excise. In consultation

with the Central Board of Excise and Customs, the items covered by the consumer expenditure survey were classified to conform as closely as possible, first, with categories which are totally exempt from additional excise duties, and secondly with those on which these duties are leviable. The rest did not clearly fall in the exempt or dutiable categories. At out request the N.S.S.O. was good enough to tabulate for these categories total as well as per capita consumer expenditure and also the quantities purchased by households for rural and urban areas separately and in each State. The aggregate results are shown in the table below:

	Total	On category (i), i.e. entirely exempt items.	Distributi Excluding category (i) items.	on of expenditure n On category (ii) items i.e. those entirely subject to addl. Excise duty.	
1	2	3	4	5(a)	5(b)
Sugar	1074.61 (100)	409.21 (38.08)	665.40 (62.92)	628.49 (59.49)	36.91 (3.43)
Tobacco	543.55 (100)	13.51 (2.49)	530.04 (97.51)	94.02 (17.30)	436.02 (80.21)
Textiles	2269.13 (100)	262.04 (11.55)	2007.09 (88.45)	1351.19 (59.55)	655.90 (28.90)

Note 1: Figures in brackets are percentages.

Note 2: The totals in Col.2 relate only to expenditure incurred in purchase, excluding the value of home grown products.

We consulted the Director of the Central Statistical Organisation in regard to the comparability of that organisation's estimates with the estimates compiled for us by the NSSO. The NSSO's aggregates of household consumer expenditure are lower than the CSO's estimates of private final consumption at current prices, by 47.93 per cent in the case of tobacco, 47.74 per cent in the case of sugar and 19.59 per cent in the case of textiles. We have found it difficult to find adequate explanations for these differences. We have also compared the NSSO estimates with data on production of sugar, tobacco and textiles and found discrepancies which are again difficult to comprehand. The total quantity of sugar purchased in 1972-73 (July - June) according to the NSSO estimate is 29 per cent more than the production of sugar in that year (October- September) as officially estimated by the Department of Food of the Central Government. The NSSO compilation for us shows the total consumption of cigarettes at 15810 million in that year as against the production figure of 61093 million as intimated to us by the Central Board of Excise & Customs. In the case of cloth, the Indian Cotton Mills Federation has estimated the production and availability for home consumption, excluding export and other purposes, at 8500 million metres for 1972 and 8001 million metres for 1973, which includes production in the mill sector as well as the decentralised sector, blended and mixed fabrics and man-made fibre fabrics. The NSSO compilation shows only 5174 million metres as total purchases of textiles which represented about 65 per cent of the availability estimated by the I.C.M.F. Even adding purchases of ready made garments, the total value of household purchases comes to 73 per cent of the availability estimated by the I.C.M.F. These differences between production and household consumption are difficult to explain even if allowances were made for inventory levels, trade flows, non-reporting by producers and

non-household consumption. We have noticed further from the NSSO compilation that while the unit prices paid for sugar do not differ very much as between the States, there are wide variations in the unit prices at which tobacco and textiles were purchased in the different States. This again is difficult to comprehend. We may perhaps note here that the NSSO consumer expenditure surveys, as we have been given to understand, do not fully capture the expenditure of the higher income groups and therefore are not likely to reflect adequately the consumption of varieties of tobacco and textiles which contribute in a large measure to the revenues from additional excise duties.

- 8. In view of these difficulties we are unable to rely on the NSSO data for our present purpose of directly estimating the consumption in each State of the articles subject to additional excise duties. We must also observe that the NSSO's surveys in any case cover only household expenditure, whereas both in the case of sugar and textiles non-household consumption is also significant and relevant for us. Besides, it appears to us somewhat doubtful to use NSSO data which relates to the year 1972-73 for distribution of additional excise duties for the period which would commence 7 years later. While sugar consumption possibly may not radically change over a few years, being a common item of need, the same cannot be said in regard to all the varieties of tobacco and textiles. In the case of tobacco, roughly 80 per cent of the additional excise duties is derived from cigarettes, the duties thereon being different for different slabs of value of the article. Similarly, the duties on textiles fall differently on diverse classes of textiles. The information furnished to us by the Central Board of Excise and Customs discloses that the contribution of man-made fabrics, which are relatively high priced among the textiles, to the total proceeds of the duties on textiles has been increasing rapidly in the last few years and is now about two-thirds or more.
- 9. We would like to suggest to the Government of India, in the light of the above, that they should give renewed consideration to the question of collecting suitable statistics for reliable estimates of consumption of these articles in each State for the benefit of the future Finance Commissions.
- 10. Before we proceed to consider the principles of distribution among the States of the net proceeds of the additional duties of excise, we would like to refer to the case of Sikkim. Sikkim became a State only in 1975 and was therefore not one of the participant States when the scheme of replacement of State sales taxes by additional excise duties was agreed upon in 1956. Additional excise duties are also not leviable in Sikkim. It may not be unreasonable to assume that had Sikkim been a part of the Union when the replacement of sales tax on certain commodities by additional excise duties was agreed upon, it too would have been a party to the overall agreement. The essential pre-requisite is that the State Government should keep in abeyance its right to charge a sales tax in order to qualify for a share in the additional excise duties. We have been informed by the State Government that a sales tax is being charged presently on cotton fabrics, woollen fabrics, and rayon or artificial silk fabrics, but no sales tax is levied on sugar and tobacco including manufactured tobacco. Thus, Sikkim should have a share in the net proceeds of the additional excise duty on the last two items and also on textiles in the event of its withdrawing sales tax on that item. The further consideration is that additional excise duties would in any case be chargeable on these items at the production and clearance stage, when brought into Sikkim from the rest of the country. The consumers in Sikkim would have been charged a price which took into account the additional excise duty already levied and would have borne the same burden in this regard as consumers in the rest of the country. It, therefore, seems equitable to us that Sikkim should have a share in the net proceeds of these duties except, of course, in the case of textiles till such date as the State continues to levy a sales tax on textiles.

11. We have obtained, from the Department of Food of the Government of India, statistics of despatches of sugar to each State and the Union Territories during the last few years ending with 1976-77. The Department has also informed us that we could safely take the despatches of sugar to each State in each year as the measure of consumption. We believe that it would be in order if we were to use despatches as a fair approximation of consumption and to take the average of the despatches to each State in the 3 years ending 1976-77. The share of the Union Territories and of each State in the total of the average despatches in these 3 years to all the States should be taken as the share in the proceeds of the duties. Accordingly, we recommend that 3.271 per cent of the net proceeds of the additional duties of excise on sugar in each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84 should be retained by the Central Government as attributable to the Union Territories and the balance should be distributed among the States in the percentages shown below:—

State	Percentage
Andhra Pradesh	5.245
Assam	2.408
Bihar	5.933
Gujarat	8.742
Haryana	2.666
Himachal Pradesh	0.860
Jammu & Kashmir	0.831
Karnataka	4.901
Kerala	3.783
Madhya Pradesh	6.019
Maharashtra	17.082
Manipur	0.143
Meghalaya	0, 029
Nagal and	0, 115
Orissa	2.178
Punjab	6.220
Rajasthan	4.729
Sikkim	0.057
Tamil Nadu	6.449
Tripura	0.172
Uttar Pradesh	13.184
West Bengal	8.254

12. In the case of textiles and tobacco we have been unable to find a similar method as in the case of sugar for estimating consumption in each State. We are unable to agree with the suggestion of some of the States that the sales tax collections in a State would be a reliable guide for the estimation of the consumption of the articles subject to additional excise. Sales taxes fall on all varieties of articles and exemptions for sales tax are given by different States for different articles. Sales tax revenues seem to depend also on the extent to which the economy of a State is diversified. Besides, actual collections are influenced by the structures of the sales tax systems in and the rates adopted by different States as well as by the vigour or otherwise of the administration from time to time. In our view, therefore, the sales tax collections in the different States would be a doubtful measure of the relativities between them in the matter of consumption of textiles and tobacco. We prefer to go by the generally accepted proposition that the higher the income the higher also the consumption of textiles and tobacco, particularly the varieties which contribute the major part of the revenue from additional excise duties. We believe that the relativities in the consumption of these articles as between the States would be reflected adequately in the product of the

population and the per capita State Domestic Product. We have obtained from the Central Statistical Organisation a comparable series of per capita State Domestic Product at State current prices for each State for the years 1970-71 to 1975-76. The CSO's comparable estimates of the per capita State Domestic Product are given in Annexure VII.3. We have multiplied the average per capita State Domestic Product of each State for the 3 years ending 1975-76 by the population of the State according to the 1971 census, and worked out the percentage shares of this product of each State in the corresponding all-States total figure. The proceeds attributable to the Union Territories has been worked out in the same manner. We recommended that 2.192 per cent of the net proceeds of the additional duties of excise on textiles and on tobacco in each year from 1979-80 to 1983-84 should be retained by the Central Government as attributable to the Union Territories and the balance be distributed among the States in the percentages shown below:—

<u>TEXTILES</u> <u>TOBACCO</u>

State	Percentage	State	Percentage
Andhra Pradesh	8.020	Andhra Pradesh	8.018
Assam	2.298	Assam	2.297
Bihar	7.221	Bihar	7.219
Gujarat	6.015	Gujarat	6.013
Haryana	2.790	Haryana	2.789
Himachal Pradesh	0.734	Himachal Pradesh	0.734
Jammu & Kashmir	0.744	Jammu & Kashmir	0.744
Karnataka	6.083	Karnataka	6.081
Kerala	4.020	Keral a	4.019
Madhya Pradesh	6.422	Madhya Pradesh	6.419
Maharashtra	13.510	Maharashtra	13.506
Manipur	0.185	Manipur	0.185
Meghalaya	0.171	Meghalaya	0.171
Nagal and	0.084	Nagal and	0.084
Orissa	3.457	Orissa	3.456
Punjab	4.270	Punjab	4.268
Rajasthan	4.366	Rajasthan	4.365
Sikkim	-	Sikkim	0.034
Tamil Nadu	7.710	Tamil Nadu	7.707
Tripura	0.257	Tripura	0.256
Uttar Pradesh	12.549	Uttar Pradesh	12.544
West Bengal	9.094	West Bengal	9.091

13. No share has been shown for Sikkim in the case of textiles as that State levies a sales tax thereon. Should the State Government at any time in the period covered by our Report give up its tax on textiles, it would be entitled simultaneously to a proportionate share in the net proceeds of the additional duties of excise thereon. The State-wise percentages shares should in that event be as shown below:-

TEXTILES

State	Percentage
Andhra Pradesh	8.018
Assam	2.297
Bihar	7.219

State	Percentage
Gujarat	6.013
Haryana	2.789
Himachal Pradesh	0.734
Jammu & Kashmir	0.744
Karnataka	6.081
Kerala	4.019
Madhya Pradesh	6.419
Maharashtra	13.506
Manipur	0.185
Meghalaya	0.171
Nagaland	0.084
Orissa	3.456
Punjab	4.268
Rajasthan	4.365
Sikkim	0.034
Tamil Nadu	7.707
Tripura	0.256
Uttar Pradesh	12.544
West Bengal	9.091
	. 4

- 14. As would be seen from above, we are specifically recommending the shares of the States separately in the net proceeds for additional excise duties on sugar, textiles and on tobacco, and would also expect that when the Additional Duties of Excise (Goods of Special Importance) Act is amended in order to give effect to our recommendations as may be accepted by the President, the shares of the States would be shown separately for each of these articles. We are doing so in order to avoid any doubt as to the entitlement of a State in its share of the proceeds of the duties on the articles other than any of them on which it may levy a sales tax in the period covered by our Report. In the Act as it stands after it was amended in 1974, the provisions of the Second Schedule would seem to mean that if a State were to levy sales tax on any one of these articles it would forfeit its share in the proceeds' of the duties on the other articles also. It cannot be that such was the intention of those who evolved the scheme of replacement of sales tax by additional excise duties. We are glad to find from our enquiry from the Union Ministry of Finance that it was never the intention of the Central Government to deprive a State of its share in the proceeds of the duties on all the three articles were it to levy sales tax but not on all of them. We are informed that the intention of the Central Government is that in such a case it would use its power to pay the State its appropriate share by a special order. The communication dated September 20, 1978, which we have received from the Union Ministry of Finance, is reproduced in Appendix III.1.
- 15. We now turn to the complaints from most of the States about the manner in which the Central Government has implemented the scheme of replacement of sales taxes by additional duties of excise. Strong complaints had been voiced before the Fifth Commission was constituted. That Commission was asked to review the matter. It recommended that unless the Central Government and the States jointly considered the matter afresh and arrived at a fresh agreement, the scheme need not continue. Accordingly, the Central Government in March 1970 arranged to have the matter discussed in the National Development Council. As a result of the deliberations which followed, an agreement was arrived at between the Central Government and the States in December that year, under which the States consented to the continuance of the scheme and the Government of India agreed to the following first, that specific duties would be converted into ad valorem duties except in regard to unmanufactured tobacco, secondly, that the incidence of additional excise duties

as a percentage of the value of clearance would be raised to 10.8 per cent in a period of 2 or 3 years and, thirdly, that the ratio of 2.1 between the yields of basic and special excise duties on the one hand and the additional excise duties on the other would be achieved and maintained, though no rigidity for this ratio was envisaged. It was also agreed that a standing review committee, on which the Government of India and the State Governments should be represented, would be set up with the Economic Adviser, Planning Commission, as the convenor. The agreed conclusions of December 1970 in the NDC Committee are found in the letter dated February 10, 1971 from the Secretary, Planning Commission to the Union Finance Secretary reproduced in Appendix III.2.

16. The Government of India has replaced specific duties by ad valorem duties progressively, except in the case of unmanufactured tobacco, bidis and man-made fabrics of certain varieties. In regard to the revenue from additional excise duties being brought up to 10.8 per cent of the value of clearances, the Union Finance Minister announced in Parliament in 1972 that this ratio would be achieved by the end of 1973-74 when the Fourth Five-Year Plan was to end. However, we find from the information we have obtained from the Union Ministry of Finance that this ratio has not been achieved. The percentage was 8.66 in 1973-74 and has thereafter come down to the figure of 6.82 estimated for 1977-78. In these two years the corresponding percentages for the basic, special, regulatory and auxiliary duties in force from time to time were 24.35 and 16.13. As regards the ratios between the Union excises and the additional duties, it was 4.14:1 in 1971-72, 2.62:1 in 1976-77 and is estimated to have been 2.37:1 in 1977-78. The following table discloses the picture:

Years	Value of clearances	Basic including special, regulatory		Additional duties of excise		Ratio between Col. (2) and	
	(approx.) (Rs.crores)	auxiliary d (Rs. crores)	uties % to Col. (1)	(Rs. crores)	% to Col. (1)	Col. (4)	
(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
1972-73	1732.83	440.00	25.39	135.62	7.83	3.24:1	
1973-74	2007.38	488.85	24.35	173.75	8.66	2.81:1	
1974-75	2409.49	553.65	22.98	187.89	7.80	2.95:1	
1975-76	3417.77	623.67	18.25	223.43	6.54	2.79:1	
1976-77	4061.65	673.74	16.59	257.13	6.33	2.62:1	
1977-78(RE)	4295.67	693.02	16.13	292.76	6.82	2.37:1	

We have given in Appendices III.3(i) and (ii) the details received from the Ministry of Finance.

17. We cannot but take note of the tardy progress made by the Government of India in implementing the agreement reached between them and the State Governments in 1970. When the Finance Secretary and the Secretary, Economic Affairs, of the Ministry of Finance and the Chairman of the Central Board of Excise and Customs were confronted with this position, it was pointed out by them that fulfilment of both the conditions would have implied a substantial increase in the rates of duty and it may not have been feasible to do so in the then prevailing conditions, particularly during the period of acute inflation. We trust that the Government of India would take urgent steps to implement the agreement fully as it is basic to the scheme for the replacement of sales tax by additional excise duties. In the alternative, if the prevailing state of the economy makes it impracticable to abide by these conditions, then it is only fair that the terms of the agreement should be re-negotiated. Nonfulfilment of the terms of the agreement has led some of the States even to suggest that the total proceeds of Union excise and additional duties should be pooled and notionally divided in keeping with the ratios agreed upon in 1970 for the purpose of determining the shareable proceeds of additional excise duties.

18. Nonetheless we do believe that the discontent evident among the States would not perhaps have grown as it has over the last few years, if the Review Committee mentioned earlier had been regularly convened to provide an opportunity for full and frank discussions between the Central Government and the State Governments. No meeting of the Review Committee has been convened so far, though it was intended that it would meet at least once a year to consider the working of the new arrangement and make such recommendations as may be necessary for its further implementation. We are informed that the Ministry of Finance proposed, for the first time in 1975, that a meeting of the Committee may be convened but the Planning Commission felt otherwise as seen from their communication to us reproduced in Appendix III.4. We urge that regular meetings of the Review Committee should be held.

CHAPTER 7

GRANT IN LIEU OF TAX ON RAILWAY PASSENTER FARES

In terms of paragraph 6(c) of the Presidential Order constituting the Commission we have to suggest changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution among the States of the grant to be made available to them in lieu of the tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957.

- 2. The tax on railway passenger fares is one among the taxes which shall be levied and collected by the Government of India but is assigned to the States under Article 269 of the Constitution. The tax was levied for the first time under the Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957. The Second Finance Commission, which was then at work, was requested to make recommendations as to the principles which should govern the distribution of the net proceeds in any financial year of the tax, among the States. That Commission took the view that the principle for distribution should be such as to secure for each State, as nearly as possible, the share of the net proceeds on account of actual passenger travel on railways within its limits. That share was determined by allocating the passenger earnings among the States on the basis of the route mileage within each State, making due allowance for the wide variations in the density of traffic between the various railway zones and as between the different gauges in each zone. Accordingly, that Commission allocated the non-suburban earnings of each railway by the route mileages located in each State, separately for each gauge and distributed the proceeds of the tax among the States in the same ratio, after setting aside a quarter of one per cent as the share attributable to the Union territories. The Second Commission made its recommendations for a five-year period ending with 1961-62.
- 3. The Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957, was, however, repealed and the tax was merged in the passenger fares with effect from 1st April 1961. This step was taken by the Government of India in pursuance of the recommendations of the Railway Convention Committee, which was persuaded by the Railway Board's contention that the levy of the passenger fare tax had limited the scope for raising passenger fares. The Railway Board had at the same time conceded that the States, which would have taken their receipts from this source in computing their resources for the Third Five Year Plan, should not be put into difficulties. The Board had, therefore, suggested that the States should continue to get from the Railways, through the General Revenues, a fixed amount in the following five years. The Convention Committee accepted this suggestion and recommended that Rs. 12. 50 crores should be paid annually by the Railways for distribution to the States in the five-year period ending 1961-66, in lieu of the tax. The Fourth Finance Commission had placed on record the almost unanimous view of the States that the fixation of the grant at a specific level had deprived them of a potential elastic source of revenue and had urged that the level of the grant should be raised in the proportion in which the railway passenger earnings had increased since the merger of the tax with the fares. Subsequently, it was suggested to the Railway Convention Committee, 1965, by the Railway Board that in view of the growth in passenger traffic from 1960-61 to 1964-65 and the further growth anticipated in the subsequent years, the amount of the annual grant to the States in lieu of the tax might be increased to Rs. 16. 25 crores for the period from 1966-67 to 1970-71. The Railways suggested, as a part of this proposal, that they might pay an additional dividend to the General Revenues at 1% on the capital invested upto 31st March 1964. The additional dividend was estimated at Rs. 18 crores per annum, out of which Rs. 16. 25 crores would be paid to the States as grant in lieu of the tax and the balance would be utilised to assist the States in providing their portion of the

resources required for financing Railway safety works. The Convention Committee accepted these suggestions and in pursuance of its recommendations the annual grant to the States was raised to Rs. 16. 25 crores from 1966-67. The Railway Convention Committees of 1971, 1973 and 1977 left the quantum of the annual grant unchanged. The amount of this grant is, therefore, Rs. 16. 25 crores till the end of the current year. The amount of the grant from 1979-80 onwards is yet to be decided.

- 4. The Third, Fourth and Fifth Commissions, which had been asked to deal with the distribution of this ad hoc grant to the States, considered that the principle of distribution should be such that the States were generally in the same position in this matter as they were before the repeal of the Act. The Sixth Commission also was of the same view and accordingly worked out the percentage shares of the different States on the basis of the statistics of gaugewise route lengths of railways in each State and the actual passenger earnings from non-suburban traffic for each zonal railway for the four years ending 1971-72.
- 5. Almost all the States, while communicating their views to us on the principles for the distribution of the grant, have supported the existing principles. A few of them, however, have suggested that some other considerations should be taken into account for determining the distribution of the grant. Himachal Pradesh has proposed that while half the grant may be distributed on the existing principles, the other half should be distributed in the inverse proportion of the railway track length per hundred square kilometre of area. Jammu and Kashmir has asked for the backwardness of States to be taken into account, and in the alternative, has suggested that the contribution of each State in the total passenger earnings of the Railways should be the criterion and not the railway mileage in each State. Manipur, which has no railway line, has suggested that the entire grant should be distributed on the population ratio without reference to the existence or otherwise of railway lines in a State. Meghalaya has suggested that half the grant should be distributed on the existing principles and the other half on the population ratio. Sikkim has suggested that if the grant is distributed on the basis of what the States would have got, had the tax been continued. the road length from Gangtok in Sikkim to Siliguri in West Bengal should be treated as the railway route length within Sikkim. We may mention that there are out-agencies at Imphal in Manipur, Shillong in Meghalaya and Gangtok in Sikkim for booking railway tickets.
- 6. We are in agreement with the view held by the earlier Commissions that, though the tax on railway passenger fares has been repealed and what the States now receive are not shares in the proceeds of a tax under Article 269 but shares in the grant in lieu of the tax, these shares should be determined in the same manner as if the levy and collection of the tax had continued. The general principle for the distribution of proceeds on taxes and duties under Article 269 as enunciated by the Commissions in the past is that each State should receive from such taxes, as nearly as may be, the amounts which it would have raised if it had the power to levy and collect them. In the light of this principle, we have given consideration to the question as what the principles of distribution should be. If the tax had continued and were to be collected by the States, each State would be competent to collect tax only on railway fares paid within that State, irrespective of the States through which the journeys may be performed. There can be no extra-territorial collection by any State. Railway passenger fares are paid in advance before the commencement of the journey. The tax was collected at source and was a percentage of the fare. It, therefore, appears to us that the most appropriate distribution of the grant in lieu of the tax would be in proportion to the non-suburban passenger earnings from traffic originating in each State. We feel also that the assumption of the earlier Commissions that the railway route lengths falling within each State would be an appropriate basis for working out the shares of the States, suffers from deficiencies. For instance, it is not clear how far the route lengths would reflect differentiations in the capacity for moving passenger traffic over single, double or multiple lines or factors like electric or diesel traction, line capacity improvement works, passenger load factors, etc. It appears to us that the developments

over the last few years in these respects might well have rendered the basis adopted by the earlier Commissions less reliable now than it might have been in the past.

7. We feel fortified in our view that the basis for the distribution of the grant should be in the proportion of non-suburban passenger earnings in each State to the total passenger earnings in all the States by the provisions of the Railway Passenger Fares Ordinance 1971 promulgated by the President in October 1971. This Ordinance was replaced by an Act of Parliament in December 1971. The enactment provided for the levy of a tax on railway passenger fares at a flat rate of 5 per cent of the fare, where the fare was not less than a rupee. The levy was in force from 15th November 1971 to 31st March 1973, whereafter the Act was repealed. The levy was under Article 269 and the net proceeds were assigned to the States by law. The States had agreed that they would re-transfer to the Centre amounts equivalent to their shares since the purpose of the levy (together with a number of others) was to enable the Central Government to defray the expenditure on Bangladesh refugees. This aspect, however, is not relevant for our purposes. For the assignment to the States of the net proceeds of this tax on railway passenger fares, Section 6 of the Ordinance and the Act provided:-

"During each financial year ending on or after the 31st day of March, 1972, there shall be paid to each State (not being a Union territory) such sum of money as bears to the net proceeds of the tax collected under this Ordinance during that year in all the territories of India the same proportion as the aggregate of the fares collected in that State during that year bears to the agreegate of the fares collected in all the territories of India during that year."

8. We have obtained from the Railway Board the statistics of non-suburban passenger earnings of railways for the four years ending 1977-78 (Annexure VII (4) and have worked out the percentage share of different States on the average non-suburban passenger earnings of the railways in each State during these four years. The percentages are set out below:

-J -	-	r years. The percentages are
	States	Percentage Shares
٠	Andhra Pradesh	6. 99
	Assam	2. 46
	Bihar	9. 50
	Gujarat	5, 28
	Haryana	1, 97
	Himachal Pradesh	0, 13
	Jammu & Kashmir	- 0.74
	Karnataka	3. 21
	Kerala	2, 61
	Madhya Pradesh	5.84
	Maharashtra	15. 87
	Manipur	-
	Meghalaya	· -
	Nagaland	0. 26
	Orissa	1, 73
	Punjab	3.81
	Rajasthan	5. 4 8
	Sikkim	<u>•</u>
	Tamil Nadu	6.85
	Tripura	0. 04
•	Uttar Pradesh	18.58
	West Bengal	8.65
	-	100.00

- 9. We recommend that the grant to be made available to the States in lieu of the tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957 be distributed in accordance with these percentages in each year from 1979-80 to 1983-84.
- 10. As stated above, we do not know yet on what basis the Railway Convention Committee would fix the grant payable to the States in lieu of the tax on railway passenger fares from 1979-80 onwards. We are, therefore, unable to work out what the shares of the States would be in accordance with the percentages recommended above. Meanwhile, for the purposes of the assessment of the revenue position of the States, we have calculated their shares on the present level of Rs. 16. 25 crores as the annual grant.
- 11. We next turn to the question of the quantum of the grant. Though our terms of reference do not mention the question of re-imposition of the tax or the re-determination of the quantum of the grant, practically all the States strongly urged that the amount of the grant should be re-determined in the light of what the proceeds would have been had the tax continued in its original form and estimated on the basis of the current earnings from nonsuburban passenger traffic. Uttar Pradesh suggested that the Commission may recommend the re-imposition by the Government of India of the tax on railway passenger fares. Most of the State Governments were highly critical about the replacement of the tax by a fixed grant and argued that the States should not be deprived of their due share in the buoyancy of the receipts accruing from passenger fares. Maharashtra argued that the unsatisfactory financial position of the Railways was extraneous to any decision on the quantum of the grants to be paid to the States in lieu of the tax on Railway fares, it being one of the levies under Article 269 of the Constitution. West Bengal discounted the argument that the Railways have to shoulder certain social obligations which should be taken into account when deciding on the grant to be paid in lieu of the railway passenger tax. The State has suggested that the tax should be revived if the amount of the grant were not enlarged to 15 per cent of the railway passenger earnings.
- 12. Because of the near unanimity amongst the State Governments on this issue, and the strong views expressed by them both in their Memoranda and during their discussions with us, we have thought it appropriate to consider the relevant issues in some detail.
- 13. We have earlier referred to the Fourth Commission's observations on the representations of the States that the amount of the grant should be increased and to the subsequent consideration given to the matter by the Railway Board and the Railway Convention Committee. At that time the Railways had themselves given weight to the growth in passenger traffic from 1960-61 to 1964-65 and the further growth anticipated thereafter while suggesting to the Convention Committee that the amount of the grant might be raised to Rs. 16. 25 crores from 1966-67. It is indisputable that passenger traffic and passenger earnings continued to grow in the later years. If due weight had been given to this consideration as was done at the time the grant was increased to Rs. 16. 25 crores, it would be legitimate to expect that the grant would have been increased further at intervals. However, this has not been the case. The Sixth Commission estimated that if the tax on passenger fares had continued the actual collection from the tax in 1969-70 and 1970-71 would have been about Rs. 24. 46 crores and Rs. 26. 17 crores respectively. That Commission also estimated that in the three years thereafter the tax would have amounted to approximately Rs. 31 crores, Rs. 33 crores and Rs. 36. 5 crores, on the assumption that roughly 10. 7 per cent of non-suburban passenger fares would represent the tax element. From the figures furnished to us by the Railways we have estimated that, if the tax had been continued in its original form, assuming the average rate of 10.7 per cent of non-suburban passenger earnings

as the tax element, the collections would have been Rs. 56. 21 crores in 1976-77, Rs. 61. 17 crores in 1977-78 and Rs. 63. 22 crores in 1978-79 (BE). Non-suburban passenger traffic in terms of passenger kilometres increased from 68617 million in 1961-62 to 126754 million in 1976-77, or by a factor of 1.85. Average earnings per passenger per kilometre are estimated to have gone up from 2.01 p. in 1961-62 to 4.03 p. in 1976-77 for ron-suburban passenger traffic, i.e. by a factor of 2. Non-suburban passenger earnings increased from Rs. 137. 73 crores in 1961-62 to Rs. 525. 30 crores in 1976-77 i.e. by a factor of 3.8. On the other hand, the amount of grant in lieu of the tax, fixed at Rs. 12.50 crores when the tax was abolished in 1961, was raised once to Rs. 16. 25 crores in 1966, and has been stagnant at that figure since then.

- 14. The Finance Commission may not be the competent body to advise whether it would be appropriate to re-impose the railway passenger fare tax as has been urged by at least one State Government. Nevertheless, we do appreciate the force of the argument put forward by almost all State Governments that a fixed grant is not an adequate replacement of a tax on railway fares, since it does not take into account the considerable buoyancy in the earnings of the Indian Railways caused by the rapid increase in passenger traffic. The increase in average earnings per passenger kilometre from 2.01 paise to 4.03 paise mentioned earlier may have come about because of fare increases necessitated by higher working expenses in the form of increased fuel charges, payment of higher emoluments to Railway personnel, increased costs of stores and spares etc. As such, it may be difficult to insist on a corresponding increase in the grant payable to the States. Even so, we cannot ignore the substantial increase that has taken place in the extent of passenger traffic since 1961-62 as reflected by the figures of non-suburban passenger kilometres. We feel that the States are entitled to their due share arising from the growth in nonsuburban passenger traffic by a factor of 1.85 since 1961-62 as it is a major element responsible for the overall increase in passenger earnings from this traffic by a factor as high as 3.8 since 1961-62. The factor of 1.85 would represent a grant of about Rs. 30 crores a year.
- 15. However, we also appreciate that the Indian Railways as the largest departmental undertaking should be enabled to operate at a profit and should be in a sufficiently strong financial position to service the loans granted for their developmental projects, including the construction of new lines, for which State Governments themselves make repeated demands. We also appreciate the social obligations of the Railways e.g. carriage of suburban traffic and of essential commodities, sometimes at a loss. On the other hand, there is also force in the point urged upon us by one of the State Governments that they also have to bear substantial financial burdens on account of the operations of the Railways, for instance, for the dispersal of traffic carried by the Railways at the destinations.
- 16. We would suggest that having regard to the various factors mentioned above, the Government of India should specifically refer the question of increasing the quantum of the grant in lieu of the railway passenger fares tax, to the appropriate Railway Convention Committee. Since this Committee carefully examines the overall financial position of the Railways, the dividend payments that should be made to General Revenues, as also the contributions of the Railways to the Depreciation, Development, Pension and other Funds, we can reasonably expect that the Committee would judiciously consider, in the light of the facts stated above, the question of increasing the grant payable to the States.

CHAPTER 8

ON AGRICULTURAL PROPERTY

In terms of paragraph 6(d) of the Presidential Order we are to suggest changes, if any, in the principles governing the distribution among the States of a grant to be made available to them on account of wealth tax on agricultural property.

- 2. Wealth tax on agricultural property was introduced with effect from assessment year 1970-71 by amending Section 2(e) of the Wealth Tax Act, 1957. The amendment was a part of the measures in the Finance Act of 1969. Prior to this amendment, assets defined for the purposes of the wealth tax did not include agricultural property. The effect of the amendment of the Wealth Tax Act in 1969 was that agricultural property stood included in the properties taxable under the Act. This amendment is not applicable to the State of Jammu & Kashmir.
- 3. Wealth tax is not one of the taxes and duties which, under the provisions of the Constitution, are to be shared with the States either on an obligatory or permissive basis. Nor is it a tax levied or collected by the Centre and assigned to the States. However, when agricultural property was made liable to wealth tax as aforesaid the Central Government decided on its own that the net proceeds of the tax on agricultural land would be passed on to the States as grants-in-aid.
- 4. The Sixth Commission was required to recommend the principles for the distribution among the States of the grant for the five years from 1974-75 to 1978-79. That Commission took the amount of grant as equivalent to the net collections of wealth tax on agricultural property reduced by the net collections attributable to the Union territories. It considered the tax as being comparable in its incidence to estate duty in so far as the latter related to immovable property. It observed that the location of the property brought to assessment would be clearly identifiable in each case and would provide a reliable basis for the distribution of the proceeds among the States. It recommended accordingly that the grant should be distributed among the States in proportion to the value of agricultural property situated in each State and brought to assessment each year. It did not consider population as an appropriate basis for distribution, since it would have no bearing on the extent or value of agricultural property brought within the tax net. Backwardness of a State of its need for development was also considered as not relevant. The Sixth Commission noted further that collection of the tax would not be an appropriate basis as collection in a State may in some cases relate to property located outside the State.
- 5. Before making its recommendation the Sixth Commission had consulted the Central Board of Direct Taxes in regard to statistics then maintained by the Department and the possibility of maintaining statistics for agricultural property in each State brought to assessment. While that Commission was informed that the data were not readily available, it observed that it had no doubt that arrangements could easily be made for compilation of the relevant statistics relating to agricultural property located in each State and brought to assessment in a year.
- 6. The Sixth Commission's recommendations were accepted by the Government of India, to be effective in relation to the net collections in each year from 1974-75 to 1978-79. As we have been informed by the Union Ministry of Finance, the Government of India decided for the years 1970-71 to 1973-74, to adopt the population ratio as the basis for distribution of the grant among the States. For these four years the total amount of the grant payable to the

States was estimated at Rs. 2 crores only. In the implementation of the Sixth Finance Commission's recommendation, the Central Board of Direct Taxes found that the statistics of wealth tax assessments maintained by it would not enable it to ascertain the value of agricultural property located in each State and brought to assessment in a year, without taking upon itself considerable amount of additional work. Besides, with effect from the assessment year 1975-76, the separate exemption available till then in respect of agricultural land was done away with and the exemption for agricultural property was linked with the exemption for other types of assets. One of the results was that the derivation of the element of tax on and the calculation of the value of agricultural property in the total property brought to assessment from 1975-76 became a complicated matter. The Union Ministry of Finance, therefore, decided in 1976 that the distribution of the grants to the States, in relation to the years from 1974-75, should be in proportion to the value of agricultural property brought into assessment in the States where the assessments took place. The recommendation of the Sixth Commission, which was accepted by the Central Government, was that the distribution should be in proportion to the value of the property located in each State and brought to assessment. The Central Government had laid the Report of that Commission before Parliament in December 1973, together with its decisions on the recommendations in the Report. We have been informed that the Ministry of Finance felt that the distribution of the grant in this modified manner could be deemed to be substantial compliance with the recommendations of the Sixth Commission. Whatever the considerations which impelled the Government to take this decision, we are not sure how far it could be deemed to be substantial compliance with the recommendation of the Sixth Commission. This apart, it also seems to us that in the method which the Government of India has adopted, the amount attributable to Union Territories might be larger than in proportion to the value of agricultural property located in the Union Territories and brought to assessment.

- 7. In the case of the Wealth tax on agricultural property, it is not obligatory to obtain a certificate of the net receipts from the Comptroller & Auditor General. The question does arise, however, whether the amount of the grant in each year on account of Wealth tax on agricultural property should not be consistent with the collections shown in the Finance Accounts of the Central Government prepared by the Comptroller & Auditor General and reported to Parliament. We find that the collections of Wealth tax in 1975-76, according to the Finance Accounts, were Rs. 53. 73 crores, of which Rs. 4.59 crores were shown as being on account of agricultural property. According to the information given to us by the Ministry of Finance, however, they have taken Rs. 0. 91 crore as the collection of Wealth tax on agricultural property in that year and the shares of the States have been distributed on that basis. We hope that the Government of India would look into this matter.
- 8. We would suggest that in a matter involving fiscal transfers from the Centre to the States, the Government of India should take measures which would ensure that the due shares of the States in the realised revenue are determined and paid to them without undue delay.
- 9. We have carefully considered whether any change should be made in the principles for the distribution among the States of the grant on account of Wealth tax on agricultural property in the light of the above and after taking into account the difficulties expressed by the Union Ministry of Finance and the Central Board of Direct Taxes in the compilation of statistics. We have taken note of the complexities involved in calculating the element attributable to agricultural property out of the total Wealth tax collections, following the amendment in the law with effect from 1975-76 by which the exemption for agricultural property became linked with the exemption for other assets. We have also noted that, according to the Ministry of Finance, the receipts on account of Wealth tax on agricultural property in the years 1979-80 to 1983-84, projected in line with the departmental figure of Rs. 0.91 crore for 1975-76, would be very small and shares therein would make no material

difference to the States. Though, in the normal course, we would have suggested the continuance of the principle recommended by the Sixth Commission, in the circumstances brought out above, we recommend that the share of each State in the grant in each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84 should be an amount equivalent to the net collection in that State in each year. Sikkim will also become entitled to a share in the grant in accordance with this recommendation, if and when the levy of the Wealth tax is extended to that State in the period covered by our report.

10. Considering the very small amounts involved, and also the fact that it is not possible at present to estimate what the shares of the States would be in each year in the future, we have decided to ignore the shares out of this grant from our computations of the revenue receipts of the States in the period covered by our report.

CPAPTER 9

CENTRE-STATE FINANCIAL RELATIONS AND OUR SCHEME OF TRANSFERS TO THE STATES

The Finance Commission derives its being from Article 280 of the Constitution. This Article, in Part XII of the Constitution is basic to the fabric of Centre-State financial relations. Its position in Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution gives a clear indication of its place and functions in the overall scheme of Centre-State relations, which is particularly spelt out from Articles 268 to 281. The sequence of the matters dealt with by these Articles is significant. Article 268 refers to the duties levied by the Union but collected and appropriated by the States. Article 269 lists the taxes: levied and collected by the Union but are assigned to the States. In the case of the taxes and duties referred to in these Articles the Central Government has no discretion to retain any part of the proceeds. Article 270 refers to income tax levied and collected by the Union and distributed between the Union and the States. That proportion of the proceeds of the income tax which is distributable among the States have been treated as assigned to the States and does not form part of the Consolidated Fund of India. Article 270-also specifies that the distribution of the share of the States inter se will be prescribed by the President by Order after considering the recommendations of the Finance Commission. Article 272 refers to Union duties of excise levied and collected by the Government of India, which may be shared with the States if the Parliament by law so provides. Article 275 speaks of grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States as Parliament may determine to be in need of assistance. The sums of such grants-in-aid shall be charged on the Consolidated Fund of India. The meaning of this sequence is clear, in that, firstly, the need of transfer of resources raised by the Centre to the States is recognised and made part of the Constitution; secondly in the case of the taxes which are to be divided or may be divided between the Centre and the States, it is the Finance Commission which has to make recommendations in regard to the allocation of the respective shares between the Union on the one hand and the States on the other, and also in regard to the principles for deciding the shares of the States inter se. The Commission also has to recommend the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid to the States under Article 275. These two duties are mandatory. The President can also refer other matters to the Commission in the interest of sound finance.

- 2. While the Commission's discretion in the matter of making recommendations on these maters is not limited in the Constitution, it also seems clear that the Commission has little discretion to make transfers beyond the scheme laid out in Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution. We have kept this position in mind throughout our deliberations. On a careful review and after full consideration we are of the view that the framework of Centre-State Financial relations embodied in the Constitution has stood the test of time and has worked fairly and smoothly.
- 3. Our terms of reference are different from those of the earlier Commissions in one important respect. For the first time, the considerations set out in paragraph 5 of the Presidential Order are to be kept in mind while making recommendations in in regard to sharing of taxes and also in the determination of grants-in-aid. For the earlier Commissions, similar "considerations" were applicable only when the Commissions were determining the amounts of grants-in-aid. A few of the States have brought up this point in their memoranda to us, and also in our discussions with them. In their view, the entitlement to shares of taxes should have nothing to do with the considerations

mentioned in paragraph 5 of the Presidential Order. Such a view would be difficult to sustain as we have to estimate the requirements of all the States uniformly within the Constitutional framework of Centre-State financial relations. The Commissions in the past had also in practice made their assessments of the revenue requirements of the States on uniform considerations. The change in our terms of reference compared to those of the earlier Commissions is, in a sense, a purely formal one, recognising the past practice. Further tax shares and grants-in-aid under article 275 have always been inextricably linked in the schemes of transfer of the past Commissions. Actually, grants under article 275 were determined and recommended for the purpose of making up the revenue requirements of the States to the extent that they had not been met by the tax shares.

- 4. Some of the States further contended that it was incorrect for the President i.e., the Government of India, to ask the Commission to keep in mind a set of stated "considerations" as in para 5 of the Presidential Order. The argument was that these were constraints on the Commission, which has to hold the balance between the Centre and the States and therefore the Central Government ought not to indicate what considerations should be kept in mind by the Commission. This view would have some validity if the considerations set out in the Order were in fact constraints, or prescribed procedures which were not already inherent in the established practice. For instance quite clearly any Commission has to keep in mind the essential demands on the Centre's resources. It is also a well-established practice by now that the Finance Commissions refrain from considering the financing of the Central and State Plans. These are the matters referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) of para 5 of the Presidential Order. The rest of the clauses of this paragraph, except clause (vi), refer specifically to a number of items covering both the receipts and the expenditure on revenue account, which any Commission necessarily has to take into account. The Commission's freedom to take into account other factors is not inhibited. The only special feature in paragraph 5 is clause (vi) which asks the Commission to take into account the requirement of backward States for upgrading standards of administration in non-developmental sectors and services. The developmental area is excluded as being in the domain of the Planning Commission. The clause is in consonance with the widely accepted thesis that regional imbalances should be mitigated and redressed to the extent possible. It is, therefore, reasonable to take the view, which in fact we have taken, that the contents of p aragraph 5 of the Presidential Order were not constraints on the Commission in any way.
- 5. We have given attention to the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States under Article 275. A set of principles was adopted by the first Commission. These were broadly endorsed by subsequent Commissions. Some of those principles were more in the nature of guidelines for the internal work in the Commissions in the matter of the re-assessment of the revenue forecasts of the States. Some related to areas which have since then become clearly established as being within the purview of the Planning Commission. The later Finance Commissions also had serious difficulties in the application of some of these principles, for instance, measurement of the effects of economy and efficiency in expenditure, or assessment of the comparative tax efforts of the States. In the present circumstances we believe that the following should be the principles for grants-in-aid under Article 275:-
- (a) Grants-in-aid may, in the first place, be given to States to enable them to cover fiscal gaps, if any are left after devolution of taxes and duties, so as to enable them to maintain the levels of existing services in the manner considered desirable by us and built in their revenue forecasts. In this connection consideration should

be given to the tax effort made by the individual States in relation to targets for the Plan, to economy in expenditure consistent with efficiency and to prudent management of public sector enterprises.

- (b) Grants-in-aid may be made as correctives intended to narrow, as far as possible, disparities in the availability of various administrative and social services between the developed and the less developed States, the object being that every citizen, irrespective of the State boundaries within which he lives, is provided with certain basic national minimum standards of such services. While the long term objective may be to provide to each citizen these services at the levels obtaining in the most advanced States, due regard should be had to the feasibility of upgrading these standards in the shorter term.
- (c) Grants-in-aid may also be given to individual States to enable them to meet special burdens on their finances because of their peculiar circumstances or matters of national concern.
- 6. In the course of our work we have taken into account the tax effort of the States and the returns which prudent management of public enterprises should fetch to the State Governments. We have also projected expenditure requirements on the revenue account in such a manner as to induce States to improve efficiency and to regulate expenditure carefully. While providing for upgradation of emoluments, we have gone by objective tests and discounted larger expenditure which some of the States had proposed. In the matter of narrowing disparities in the standards of services between the less developed and the advanced States, we have decided that the required amounts should be provided by way of specific grants—in-aid. We have taken prohibition as a national policy, and are recommending grants from the Centre to States to cover losses of excise revenue. We have also recommended that the net interest liability devolving on the States in each year for the period covered by our Report on account of their fresh borrowings and lendings should be made good by grants to be calculated and paid by the Central Government.
- 7. At this stage we might deal with the point often made about the erosion in the importance of the Finance Commission, which is a body under the Constitution, in the total picture of Central Government transfers to the States. The criticism generally is that the transfers effected by the Finance Commissions have amounted only to about one-third of the total fiscal transfers from the Centre to the States. Appendix IV. 1(i) to (iv) show respectively the total transfers from the Centre to the States from 1951-52 to 1978-79, the transfers during the same period on the recommendations of the Finance Commissions, the transfers under the Plans by way of assistance for State Plans as well as in pursuance of Central and Centrally sponsored Plan schemes and other Central transfers. The Central Government's investments in its own projects in different States are not included in these figures. The point usually made is that the "other transfers" from the Centre to the States. which are discretionary, are unduly large and in fairness to all the States their magnitude should be reduced. The suggestion is that the Finance Commission should deal with more of the transfers now being effected by the Centre at its discretion. Some of the States have stressed this point as being particularly important in the present situation where the governments at the Centre and in the States are of differing political complexions.
- 8. These transfers include ways and means advances to the States and short-term loans for agricultural inputs which in the period 1974-79 account for Rs. 1288 crores out of the total transfers of Rs. 3761 crores. These temporary advances should properly be excluded for the purpose of counting the Centre's discretionary transfers, as they are normally recovered in the same year or the next. Small savings loans account for Rs. 1401

corores in the same period. There are other items of Central transfers which are also in accordance with uniform policies and procedures applicable to all States. However, there have been significant transfers from the Centre in the years 1969-74 and in 1974-79 which have been made to particular States in order to improve their resource position. In many cases the deterioration in the resource position of these States has probably resulted from their own decisions and actions. The loans in the first period to clear overdrafts, and again in 1978-79 to restore a degree of balance in the accounts of the States with the Reserve Bank, are of this nature. One might hold the view that these transfers to some States, in a sense, discriminate against States which manage their affairs well on their own and reward relatively weaker fiscal management of some other States. These transfers also supplement Finance Commission and Planning Commission transfers, in a manner not envisaged in the Report of the Finance Commission or by the N.D.C. However, one should also note that in part at least the deterioration of the financial position of some of the States which were given such special loans could have been due to unforeseen deviation from the assessment of the requirements of these States by the Finance Commissions.

- 9. Turning now to the transfers under the auspices of the Planning Commission, the Central Assistance for the State Plans is in accordance with a formula settled in the National Development Council in which all the States participate. The Centrally-sponsored Plan schemes are generally in the fields of responsibility assigned to the States or in the Concurrent List. In recent years there has been, as we understand, some blurring of the lines between the Central sector and the Centrally-sponsored Plan schemes. The scope of these schemes is currently being reviewed by the National Development Council.
- 10. Whatever may have been the position in the past in the matter of the size of discretionary Central transfers, the freedom of a Finance Commission to evolve its own scheme of transfer for the period covered by its Report is in no way limited. The only constraints on it are firstly, that it has to operate within the four corners of the constitutional provisions and secondly, that it should leave the area of Plan investments and Central assistance for State Plans to the Planning Commission. The latter is not in any real sense a constraint on the Finance Commission. The Central assistance for State Plans is not decided independently of the situation of the State resulting from the Finance Commission awards, for, to the extent that the States' resources are improved vis-a-vis their requirements for their Plans, the proportion of Central assistance for the Plan in the total transfer can be smaller.
- 11. In any discussion of Centre-State financial relations, it is necessary to bear in mind that there is not only the question of the manner and the amounts of the transfer of financial resources from the Centre to the States, but also what the efforts of the States themselves are to raise resources. Taking the States as a whole, their total tax revenue amounted to Rs. 445 crores in 1960-61, Rs. 1528 crores in 1970-71 and Rs. 2305 crores in 1973-74. The corresponding figures for 1977-78 R. E. and 1978-79 B. E. are Rs. 4316 crores and Rs. 4601 crores. The following table shows the percentage of the States' own tax revenues to the total tax revenue of the Centre and the States together from 1968-69 onwards:

			(Amo	mounts Rs. Crores)			
Years	Total Tax	Centre's tax Revenue States' tax					
	Revenue (Centre & States)	Amount % to total Amount %					
1968-69 1969-70	3735.98 4185.30	2509.84 2823.07	67.18 67.45	1226.14 1362.23	32.82 32.55		

(Amounts Rs. Crores)

		(112204215) 125, 010105)					
Years	Total Tax	Centre's	tax Revenue	. States' ta	tax Revenue		
	Revenue (Centre & States)	Amount	% to total	Amount	% to total		
1970-71	4734.55	3206.80	67.73	1527.85	32.27		
1971-72	5567.72	3872.44	69.55	1695.28	30 . 4 5		
1972-73	6438.18	4509.70	70.05	1928.48	29.95		
1973-74	7378.75	5073.38	68.76	2305.37	31.24		
1974-75	9202.32	6321.75	68.70	2880.57	31.30		
1975-76	11164.51	7608.78	68.15	3555.73	31.85		
1976-77	12313,49	8270.84	67.17	4042.65	32.83		
1977-78 (R.E.)	13221.67	8906.04	67.36	4315.63	32. 64		
1978-79 (B. E.)	14654.09	10052.76	68. 60	4601.33	31.40		

It is interesting that the percentage of the tax revenues of the States to the total of the tax revenues of the Centre and the States has remained around 31 to 33 per cent except in 1972-73. This indicates that in the matter of additional resource mobilisation the States as a whole have not lagged behind the Central Government and the performance of the States has been on the whole creditable.

12. The performance of the individual States in this regard, however, has not been uniform. The table below sets out index numbers for each State, taking the tax revenues in 1976-77:

	Indexed with base
States	1960-61 as 100
1. Andhra Pradesh	853
2. Assam	515
3. Bihar	667
4. Gujarat	1415
5. Haryana	398(1968-69=100)
6. Himachal Pradesh	227(1971-72=100)
7. Jammu and Kashmir	899
8. Karnataka	1103
9. Kerala	925
10. Madhya Pradesh	916
11. Maharashtra	1058
12. Manipur	266(1970-71=100)
13. Meghalaya	2480 (- do -)
14. Nagaland	1421(1965-66=100)
15. Orissa	946
16. Punjab	787
17. Rajasthan	837
18. Tamil Nadu	870
19. Tripura	961
20. Uttar Pradesh	791
21. West Bengal	615

The uneven nature of the resource efforts of the different States can be clearly seen. These figures, however, do not necessarily reflect upon the adequacy or otherwise of the tax effort by the individual States. The differential growth in their tax revenues

would in part be due to varying rates of growth of incomes and prices in different States. Partly, it would arise from varying efforts at mobilising additional resources, tax concessions and withdrawals, and the efficiency in collecting taxes.

- 13. Appendix IV. 2(i) shows the tax revenues of the States from 1960-61 onwards. Appendix IV. 2(ii) shows the changes in the pattern of taxation in the States in terms of the percentage share of major taxes in the total tax revenue.
- 14. In the analysis made above we have not taken into account the revenues of local bodies and their efforts to raise their own resources. Properly speaking, it would be necessary to take into account the efforts of local bodies in each State to raise their own resources, while making comparisons of the tax efforts of the States. We have given in Appendix IV.3 for illustrative purposes, the per capita tax of the State Governments and their urban local bodies taken together for 1975-76, using the figures obtained in the exercise done by the Town and Country Planning Organisation referred to later. It is evident that there are wide divergences between the States in the matter of the resource efforts of the local bodies.
- 15. We had requested the States to furnish information to us on the local bodies' own resources and transfers made to them by the States, as well as their expenditure on selected services. The information we have received is shown in Appendices IV.4(i) and (ii). At our request the Town and Country Planning Organisation of the Ministry of Works and Housing of the Central Government had also collected and analysed the receipts and expenditure of urban local bodies in all the States. The results of this exercise together with a note of the Town and Country Planning Organisation may be seen in Appendices IV.5(i) and (ii). There are discrepancies between the information from the State Governments and that collected by the Town and Country Planning Organisation, which we are unable to reconcile.
- 16. It is a matter of disappointment to us that in many States the arrangements for a continuous study and review of the finances and expenditure of local bodies are apparently inadequate. The Sixth Commission had drawn attention to this matter and had hoped that State Governments would take remedial steps. We would like to repeat this suggestion. We had hoped to be able to make a study of local body revenues and expenditure in depth, but this has not been possible for want of complete and comparable information from all the States. We trust that the State Governments as well as research institutions would pay increasing attention to the subject of local body finances.
- 17. The general concern over the widening disparities in the levels of development among the States is reflected in the criticism of the existing arrangements for ordering of Centre-State financial relations. The Finance Commission and the Planning Commission together determine bulk of the transfers from the Centre to the States, and also have the largest influence on the fiscal capacity of the State to build up and maintain an adequate administrative infrastructure and to invest in development. It could be argued that since the spheres of responsibilities of the two Commissions are different, the Finance Commission could be neutral to the philosophy and requirements of development Plans. It may also be argued that if anyone is to be blamed at the national level for the widening economic disparities between the States, it should be the Planning Commission. Such a view would be untenable as it ignores the intimate relationship between the results of what each Commission does. The developmental process guided and supported by the Planning Commission should result in reduction of economic disparities between the States, and in the poorer States building up their resource potential which the Finance

Commission would take into account at the end of a Plan period. On the other hand, the Finance Commission's transfers should provide the financial wherewithal for the States to maintain and develop an adequate administrative infra-structure, which is responsive to the increasing demands that a developing economy generates. Also, there is no denying that the implementation of development Plans would itself suffer in the absence of such an infrastructure. Further, a Finance Commission's scheme of transfers which leaves a few States with substantial surpluses on revenue account which can be ploughed back into fresh investments, and the rest of the States with a zero surplus, could contribute to widening of the economic disparities.

- 18. Our focus should therefore be specifically on how to place the financially weaker States in a position from where, with the guidance of the Planning Commission, they could get a better start than has been the case in the past, in absolute terms as well as relative to the advanced States. There is no other way of achieving this objective than to ensure that our fiscal transfer scheme leaves as many of the poorer States as possible with surpluses on the revenue account, which could be ploughed back for fresh development. In our view the role of a Finance Commission should not be negative, of filling in the revenue gaps only, but positive in that its scheme of devolution gives a better start for developmental outlay.
- 19. The States have stressed the point that the fiscal transfer should be effected mainly, if not wholly, through devolution of taxes. Even the poorer States have urged, as they had before the earlier Commission, that the transfer should be made by way of tax shares rather than grants-in-aid. This would obviously help them a little more than if the grants constituted the bulk of the transfer to them, since they would then be able to share the benefits of buoyancy in the tax receipts of the Centre and of additional taxes raised by it. We are clearly of the view that the grants-in-aid element in the transfer scheme should as far as possible be a residual item and the attempt should be to make the bulk of the transfers through tax shares.
- 20. We have dealt with the determination of the shares of the States in all items of Central taxes excepting income tax and Union excise duties, and now turn to the principles for the distribution of the shares of the States in the proceeds of these taxes. The sharing of income tax with the States is mandatory under Article 270 of the Constitution. The sharing of Union excise duties with the States is permissible under Article 272. Over the years the revenue from the latter has come to dominate not only the Central revenues but also the statutory transfers to the States. It is, therefore, not possible to conceive of a scheme of fiscal transfer from the Centre to the States which does not provide for sharing of Union Excise Duties.
- 21. Since the Constitution distinguishes between the two taxes, we have to determine separately the shares of the States in income tax and in excise duties and the principles of distribution thereof among the States. Also not many States have proposed or countenanced the theory that there need be no distinction in this matter between income tax and Union excise duties or that identical principles of distribution could be adopted for both.
- 22. Most States have pressed for the size of the divisible pool of income tax being raised from the level of 80 per cent determined by the Sixth Commission. In support, they have referred to the fact that the Central Government has recently raised the Union Surcharge to 15 per cent from the earlier level of 10 per cent simply as a revenue measure rather than for meeting any specific Union purposes. In the view of the States, as also of some others, this step in effect deprives the States of a share in the increased

revenue from income tax and surcharge taken together. It has also been pointed out that the basic tax and the surcharge are substitutable. We feel that though Article 271 does not in express terms lay down that the Union surcharge should be for meeting the burdens of the Centre arising from any emergent requirements, there is an underlying assumption that a surcharge should only be levied for meeting the requirements of some unexpected events and should only be for the period during which it lasts. In this view a surcharge continued indefinitely could well be called an additional income tax, shareable with the rest of the proceeds of income tax. We have, however, refrained from suggesting such a course in view of the express provision in the Constitution. We feel, though, that it would be necessary and proper to give weight to the strong feelings of the States on this subject by increasing the size of the divisible pool. Accordingly we recommend that in the period covered by our report, 85 per cent of the net proceeds of income tax, excepting in so far as those proceeds represent proceeds attributable to Union territories or to taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments, shall be assigned to the States excluding Sikkim, where the tax is not leviable at present. This would mean in effect that out of the total net collections of income-tax excluding the Union surcharge, 20.22 per cent, or about Rs. 1214 crores in the five year period, would remain with the Centre.

- 23. Traditionally, in the distribution of income tax shares among the States inter se, a weight has been given to the contribution to income tax revenues from each State. One of the earlier Commissions had observed, and this is valid even today, that after the amendment of the Income Tax law in 1959 which had the effect of shifting a large part of income tax on companies to the category of corporation tax, what may be termed incomes of local origin in each State contribute significantly towards the income tax revenues from that State. It would also be probably true to say that the income tax on emoluments of State employees would be in the same category. In view of such considerations, we have decided that ten per cent of the divisible pool of income tax should be distributed among States in the same proportion of their contribution to the income tax revenue. A smaller proportion is likely to be unacceptable to the States which contribute significantly to income tax revenue. A larger proportion would set a trend in the wrong direction, considering the fact that the larger collections of the revenue come from the advanced States, and the effect of a larger weightage to contribution would tend against the objective proposed for our fiscal transfer scheme. For the purpose of determining the proportions of the contribution of the States to the income tax revenue, we have decided to adopt, like the last two Commissions, the State-wise proportions of net assessments, taking the years 1972-73 to 1976-77. We have obtained information from the Union Ministry of Finance for this purpose, which is shown in Appendix IV-6.
- 24. For the rest of the divisible pool of income tax, the tradition has been to distribute it in the population ratio of States. This is based on the theory that population is what the first Commission called a broad measure of the needs of the States. In the context of the relations between the Centre and the States, it is difficult in our view, to discount the population factor. When population is used as a factor in the determination of the tax shares, it is a recognition of an element in the relations between the Centre and the States and between the States inter se, which is difficult to replace. Traditionally, this has been accepted as a factor in the determination of the shares of the States in the proceeds of income tax, and to discount the weight given to this factor so far may well be taken as a derogation of the importance of some at least of the States in the Union. Any substitution of the population factor by others, in our present context, would mean the introduction of criteria like levels of development which, in any case, have now come to be accepted as part of schemes for distribution of the proceeds of excise duties. A weight to factors such as levels of development in the case of income tax is unlikely to be acceptable to the developed States. We have accordingly decided that 90 per cent of the net proceeds of income tax shareable with the States should be distributed among them in the population ratio.

- Dr. C.H. Hanumantha Rao also feels that the principles for the distribution of the divisible pool of income tax among the States should be the same as in the case of excise duties. However, in view of the decision of the Commission to give a significant weightage to factors in favour of the less developed States in the distribution of the much enlarged divisible pool of excise duties he concurs with the overall recommendations in this Chapter.
- 25. Though at the moment income tax is not leviable in Sikkim, we have to provide for distribution of a share to Sikkim in case the levy is extended to that State in the period covered by our Report. We have accordingly worked out the shares of the States in the net proceeds of income tax, including Sikkim and excluding it. For this purpose, we are obviously not in a position to make an estimate of its share in the portion of the net proceeds of the tax distributed in proportion to contribution.
- 26. We have determined the proceeds attributable to Union territories on the same principles as we have adopted for the States, as 2.19 per cent.
- 27. We accordingly recommend, in respect of distribution of the net proceeds of income tax in each of the years 1979-80 to 1983-84 that -
 - (a) Out of the net proceeds in each financial year, a sum equal to 2.19 per cent thereof shall be deemed to represent the proceeds attributable to Union territories.
 - (b) The percentage of the net proceeds, except the portion representing the proceeds attributable to Union territories, to be assigned to the States, should be 85, and
 - (c) The distribution among the States <u>inter se</u> of the share assigned to the States in respect of each financial year should be on the basis of the following percentages:-

States_	Percentage with Sikkim	Percentage without Sikkim
1. Andhra Pradesh	8.021	8.023
2. Assam	2.521	2.522
3. Bihar	9.536	9.540
4. Gujarat	5.957	5.959
5. Haryana	1.819	1. 819
6. Himachal Pradesh	0.595	0.595
7. Jammu and Kashmir	0.818	0.818
8. Karnataka	5.44 0	5.44 2
9. Kerala	3.948	3.950
10. Madhya Pradesh	7.354	7.356
11. Maharashtra	10.949	10,953
12. Manipur	0.188	0.188
13. Meghalaya	0.178	0.178
14. Nagaland	0.085	0.085
15. Orissa	3.738	3.739
16. Punjab	2.713	2.714
17. Rajasthan	4.362	4.364
18. Sikkim	0.035	••
19. Tamil Nadu	8.048	8.050
	0.258	0.258
20. Tripura 21. Uttar Pradesh	15.422	15.429
	8.015	8.018
22. West Bengal All States	100.00	100.00

- 28. We have already spelt out our objective of ensuring that the results of our fiscal transfer scheme should place as many of the less affluent States as possible in surplus on the revenue account. We are doing so by a combination of two related aspects of the sharing of proceeds of excise duties with the States, namely, the size of the divisible pool and the principles for its distribution. At this stage we may refer to a demand made by two States, namely, West Bengal and Tripura, that 75 per cent of the Central revenues should be shared with the States. From the memoranda of these States we are not able to make out how this percentage has been arrived at and how it has been estimated by them that the balance of the Central revenues would be adequate for meeting the inescapable expenditure of the Central Government. The West Bengal memorandum does not spell out the views of the State Government on the principles of the distribution of proceeds of income tax and excise among the States. Therefore, it does not appear that the State's demand for 75 per cent of the Central revenue for the States is based on any estimation of the needs of the States vis-a-vis the needs of the Centre. Nor can we appreciate how such a demand is in consonance with the provisions of the Constitution. We are unable to agree with their approach.
- 29. We have a special feature of the Union excise duties to deal with. In its last Budget, the Central Government has levied an excise duty on generation of electricity. The State Governments had been pressing for the withdrawal of the levy or, in the alternative, for the transfer to them of the entire net proceeds. They had not only moved the Central Government on these lines, but many of them had also made similar representations to us in the course of our discussions with them. We have now been informed by the Union Ministry of Finance that the Central Government has decided that the entire non-shareable portion of the net proceeds of the excise duty on generation of electricity would be transferred to the States, with effect from 1st April 1979, subject to the levy continuing to be in force beyond that date. The Union Ministry of Finance has also furnished its estimates of the revenue expected to be collected in each State in each of the years covered by our Report. Their communications may be seen in Appendix IV. 7.
- 30. We are wholly in agreement with the approach of the Central Government that the net proceeds of the revenue from this duty should be given back to the States in which they are realised. We have decided accordingly to recommend that the entire collections of revenue from this duty attributable to each State, net of cost of collection, in each year of the period covered by our Report, should be transferred to that State. We have taken note of the manner of attributing to States the net proceeds in certain cases, as indicated by the Union Ministry of Finance in their communications cited above. In case the Central Government gives up the levy of this excise duty, from that year onwards the States should be in a position to obtain resources, equivalent to their shares of the proceeds of the excise duty, through adjustments in their electricity duties or in the electricity tariffs.
- 31. Considering their size, the Union excise revenues must have a predominant role in the transfer of financial resources to the States. We have also decided, as mentioned earlier, that the bulk of the fiscal transfers to the States should be by way of tax shares, reducing the element of grants-in-aid under Article 275 to a residual position on the one hand and leaving surpluses on revenue account with as large a number of States as possible on the other. In regard to the Centre, we have to ensure that after the fiscal transfers we propose, it is left in a sufficiently comfortable position to meet all the demands on its resources. In this connection we have taken note of the existing methods of financing the Plan, which include not only transfers to the States by way of Central assistance for their Plans, but also the possible requirements for budget support to the Centre's own Plans

and the Plans of the Union Territories. Keeping these considerations in mind we recommend that the divisible pool of Union excise duties should be 40 per cent of the net proceeds of excise duties, as clarified hereafter, collected on all commodities in any year, excluding the net proceeds of the duty on generation of electricity. The net proceeds should include the proceeds from all Union excise duties excluding additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax which we have separately dealt with and cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, but including other excise duties whether they are designated special or regulatory or by any other name. We do not also take into account the proceeds of the Additional Duties of Excise on certain textiles and textile articles levied under Ordinance No. 4 of 1978 promulgated by the President. Section 4(2) of the Ordinance lays down that the proceeds shall not be distributed among the States.

- 32. A large number of States have urged us to recommend that the revenues of the Central Government from the corporation tax should also be shareable with the States in the same manner as income tax. They have pointed out that the amendment in the Income Tax Law carried out by the Central Government in 1959 had the effect of transferring to the category of corporation tax a sizeable part of the revenue which was part of income tax till then. We are not commenting on this issue, as different views may well be held on it. The States have also pointed out that thereafter the revenues from the corporation tax have increased enormously, and much faster than income tax. Further, some States have made out that they have to incur large expenditures in order to provide the infrastructure and other services which sustain the businesses paying corporation tax. The States have also pointed out that if the corporation tax were made shareable with the States, the interest of the Centre need not be adversely affected, for the share of the States in the income tax could be suitably reduced. Their anxiety generally is that they should have the scope for sharing in an item of revenue which is much more buoyant than income tax and is bound to grow in future as it has in the past. Even if we sympathise with the point of view of the States, we are unable to make any specific recommendation on this matter since the Constitution is categorical that the corporation tax revenues are not shareable with the States. We can only suggest, in view of the strong representations made by the States to us as well as to the earlier Commission, that the Central Government may consider holding consultations with the States in order to settle the point finally.
- 33. We now turn to the principles of distribution of the shares of the States in the net proceeds of excise. It is now well established that the distribution of the net proceeds of excise duties among the States is used by the Finance Commissions to make their contribution to the reduction of imbalances among the States. We have already referred to the growing concern in the country over the widening economic disparities between the States. It is true that the reasons are not only to be found in the financial strength of weakness of the States, but also in cultural and institutional factors which could facilitate or retard economic growth. Some of these important factors are susceptible to being changed by Government action if there is a will to do so. Notwithstanding such considerations, there is no doubt that financial strength would be a decisive influence in favour of growth. It is axiomatic that the potential for mobilising financial resources is not the same in States which have different levels of development and domestic product. This also means that the people in the poorer States do not have the same opportunities for advancement and the same access to public services as those in the advanced States. Annexure VII. 3 shows the average per capita SDP at current prices of each State for the 3 years 1960-61 to 1962-63 compared with the 3-year averages for 1973-74 to 1975-76. There has hardly been any change in

the relative ranks of the States in the two periods. In fact, the position of Bihar, Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh has worsened. Appendix IV. 8 shows the variations in the total of Plan and non-Plan expenditure in the different States, taking the average annual expenditure for the years 1961-64 and 1974-77. In the first period the difference between the highest and the lowest per capita expenditure was Rs. 77. 07, while in the later period the difference had widened to Rs. 183. 16.

- 34. The Finance Commissions in the past have distributed some part of the proceeds of excise duties on the basis of relative backwardness of States. Each Commission had evolved its own method of assessing their relative backwardness. Since the proportion of the net proceeds of excise distributed on this principle was not large, the contribution which the past Commissions made towards reduction of inter-State imbalance was modest. We have already indicated that our aim is to do more in this direction. We propose to do so by a combination of different measures. Population, as a determinant of the shares of States in divisible taxes is merely a scale factor. Therefore, appropriate factors other than this factor have to be built into the scheme of distribution of the proceeds of excise to realise the basic objective of our scheme of fiscal transfer.
- 35. As regards the indicators of levels of development of States, we think that, for our purposes, it would be desirable to adopt the overall indicators of backwardness such as per capita income and the proportion of people below the poverty line, instead of partial indicators such as the level of schooling, health services, road mileage, etc. Partial indicators reflect very much the particular pattern of allocation of resources by different States. It is possible that a State which has the necessary resource potential may neglect certain sectors, whereas even a less developed State lacking in resources may show more than average performance in respect of certain services. Besides, construction of an overall index of backwardness or level of development on the basis of individual or partial indicators is beset with the problem of relative weights to be assigned to these indicators. Any set of such weights decided a priori or on the basis of factor analysis is bound to be highly arbitrary.

While it is true that as between States with the same per capita income level, the proportion of people below the povery line may differ depending on the way the resources have been allocated and on policies followed for the reduction of poverty by different States, it should be recognised that the poverty problem of some States is partly the result of special factors on which the governments concerned have little control. We have, therefore, decided to give some weight to this factor with a view to take account of such special factors.

- 36. Another factor which we have taken into account is directly related to the primary concern of a Finance Commission with the fiscal needs of States and their potential to raise their own resources. We have noted earlier that the revenue-raising potential is not the same in all the States.
- 37. In the light of these considerations, we have decided that the shares of the States in the divisible pool of excise should be determined giving equal weight to the population factor, the inverse of the per capita State Domestic Product, the percentage of the poor in each State measures by a method which Prof. Raj Krishna has evolved for us, and a formula of revenue equalisation which we have worked out. Each of these principles should be given equal weight of 25% to determine the shares of the States in the divisible pool. On full consideration we have come to the conclusion that by adopting such multiple criteria for the distribution of the pool of excise revenue among States,

instead of on the basis of any single criterion of backwardness, we would be reducing the chance of the formula becoming either unduly favourable to certain States or working harshly against some others.

- 38. We have used the per capita State Domestic Product in a comparable series at State current prices which has been worked out for us by the Central Statistical Organisation. We have adopted the annual average for the triennial 1973-76. The povery percentage in each State is the proportion of people below an augmented poverty line in the State to the aggregate poor population in all the States. The augmented poverty line is the minimum per capita, consumption expenditure level for 1970-71 on the well-known Dandekar-Rath criterion plus the State budget expenditure per capita in that year on selected public services directed towards the welfare and security of the citizens. A note setting out the methodology and the poverty percentages of each State may be seen at Appendix IV. 9. We are conscious that the estimates of 1970-71 are somewhat outdated but we believe that this should not make any material difference for our purpose in the light of general experience that the incidence and distribution of poverty have not changed significantly in recent years.
- 39. The revenue equalisation principle we have adopted is a recognition of the fact that States which are less favourably placed in regard to their resource potential should be specially helped in order to place them in a position where they can also take steps more readily for the betterment of the people living in those States. We have computed the per capita revenue potential of each State with reference to the average per capita SDP for the triennium 1973-76. The per capita average of each State's own tax and non-tax revenue for 1975-76 and 1976-77, obtained from the Accounts, were regressed on the average per capita income, excluding the five atypical States of Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim and Tripura. We thus derived the estimated values of per capita revenue of each State. The distance of the per capita revenue thus estimated for each State from the maximum estimated per capita revenue among all the States - that of Punjab - has been multiplied by the estimated population of the State as on 1st March 1976 obtained from the Registrar General. For the atypical States their own average per capita revenue for the years 1975-76 and 1976-77 has been adopted. The percentage of the product of the distance of the per capita revenue so estimated from that of Punjab and the population for each State in the total of these products for all the States gives us the share of each State in the 25 per cent component of the divisible pool of excise. In the process described, it will be noted that if a State has been lacking in effort to raise resources compatible with its resource potential, it will not be rewarded. Nor is any State penalised which has raised resources in excess of the estimated revenue consistent with its resource potential.
- 40. We have worked out the relative shares of all the States in terms of percentages in accordance with the principles we have adopted. At present Union duties of excise are not leviable in Sikkim and that State is therefore not entitled to a share in the net proceeds of these duties. We should, however, provide for a share for that State in case the duties become leviable in it within the period covered by our Report. We have accordingly worked out, on the same principles as for the other States, the percentage shares for Sikkim as well as the other States. These should become operative if and when Union duties of excise are levied in Sikkim.
 - 41. We thus recommend that during each of years 1979-80 to 1983-84 -
 - (a) the entire net proceeds of the Union excise duty on generation of electricity

should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to each State in an amount equal to the collection in or attributable to that State; and

(b) out of the balance of the net proceeds of the Union excise duties levied and collected on all other articles excluding cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, forty per cent should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States and distributed among the States on the basis of the following percentages:-

		Percentages			
	State	Excluding	Including		
		Sikkim	Sikkim		
1.	Andhra Pradesh	7. 698	7. 691		
2.	Assam	2, 793	2, 793		
3.	Bihar	13.025	13.021		
4.	Gujarat	4. 103	4. 101		
5.	Haryana	1. 177	1, 177		
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0. 521	0, 521		
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0.839	0.839		
8.	Karnataka	4, 877	4.876		
9.	Kerala	4, 036	4.035		
10.	Madhya Pradesh	8. 727	8.725		
11.	Maharashtra	6, 633	6.632		
12.	Manipur	0. 218	0, 218		
13.	Meghalaya	0. 200	0, 200		
14.	Nagaland	0. 097	0. 097		
15.	Orissa	4.682	4.682		
16.	Punjab	1. 226	1, 226		
17.	Rajasthan	4, 813	4,813		
18.	Sikkim	-	0.028		
19.	Tamil Nadu	7.641	7.637		
20.	Tripura	0, 373	0.373		
21.	Uttar Pradesh	18, 293	18. 290		
22.	West Bengal	8.028	8.025		

42. The net surplus or deficit situation of each State on revenue account as re-assessed by us, and the position emerging as a result of our scheme of fiscal transfers are shown in the following Table:-

	STATES	Non Plan Revenue Surplus (+) Deficit (-) Without Devolution	Revenue Deficit after Devolution of revenues	Revenue Surplus after Devolution of revenues
1.	Andhra Pradesh	(-) 579.79	••	923, 18
2.	Assam	(-) 410.12	• •	86.82
3.	Bihar	(-)1057.53	••	1092.32
4.	Gujarat	(+) 164.12	••	1127.99
5.	Haryana	(+) 370.06	• •	678.63
6.	Himachal Pradesh	(-) 317.33	207.07	•••
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	(-) 358.61	199.56	

	STATES	Non Plan Revenue Surplus (+) Deficit (-) Without Devolution	Revenue Deficit after Devolution of revenues	Revenue Surplus after Devolution of revenues
	Karnataka	(+) 1.15	• •	1006.15
9.	Kerala	(-) 531.11	• •	235.05
10.	Madhya Pradesh	(-) 422.63	••	1111.25
11.	Maharashtra	(+)1290.70	• •	3004.75
12.	Manipur	(-) 184.08	146, 32	• •
13.	Meghalaya	(-) 129.29	92.61	••
14.	Nagaland	(-) 236.26	218.35	••
15.	Orissa	(-) 952.19	136. 92	
16.	Punjab	(+) 389.97	••	809.50
17.	Rajasthan	(-) 663.24	••	220.28
18.	Sikkim	(-) 36,20	35.72	
19.	Tamil Nadu	(-) 849.00	••	627.39
20.	Tripura	(-) 196,23	136.57	
21.	Uttar Pradesh	(-)1258.86	••	1943.86
22.	West Bengal	(-) 857.33		715, 27
	J		• •	110,21
•	TOTAL	<u>-)9039,80</u>	1173.12	13582.37
		(+)2216.00		
٠.	Net	(-) <u>6823.80</u>		

- 1. Net surplus and deficits are shown without taking account of provisions recommended by us separately for upgradation of standards of administration.
- 2. Devolution of taxes and duties refers to Income tax, Union duties of excise, Additional duties of excise and grant in lieu of tax on railway passenger fares.
- 43. Eight States have gaps left on the revenue account. We recommend that grants-inaid of the revenues of each of these States equivalent to the amount of the deficit on the
 revenue account should be charged on the Consolidated Fund of India and paid in each year
 of the period covered by our Report, as shown in the following table:-

						(Rs	. crores)
		Total amount		Grants-i	n-sid to b	e paid in	
_	STATES	to be paid in the five years.	1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84
1.	Himachal Pradesh	207.07	37.60	40.54	41.63	43.00	44.30
2.	Jammu & Kashmir	199.56	41.06	40.82	39.20	39.40	39.08
3.	Manipur	146.32	26.19	28.00	29,27	30.76	32.10
4.	Meghalaya	92.61	16.97	17.67	18.44	19.48	20.05
5.	Nagaland	218.35	38.29	41.34	43.65	46.48	48.59
6.	Orissa	136.92	41.55	37.74	29.03	19.16	9.44
7.	Sikkim	35.72	6.32	6.70	7.11	7.54	8.05
8.	Tripura	136.57	24.36	25.75	27.29	28.85	30.32
	TOTAL	1173.12	232.34	238.56	235.62	234.67	231. 93

- 44. The total transfers to all States, recommended by us as shares of taxes and grants-in-aid including grants for upgradation of standards of administration, are 55 per cent of the total divisible tax receipts of the Central Government in the period covered by our report and 26 per cent of the total revenue receipts of the Central Government.
- 45. Prof. Raj Krishna has different views on some of the recommendations in this Chapter, which he has set out in his Note of Dissent appended to this Report.
- 46. We have recommended earlier that the Central Government should pay grants-in-aid under Article 275 in order to meet the losses in excise revenue which may result from steps taken by the States to introduce prohibition. We have also set out the manner in which such grants should be calculated by the Central Government. Besides, as we have mentioned elsewhere, we have not taken into account, while re-assessing the revenue forecasts of the States, any net interest liability arising out of their fresh borrowings and lendings in the period covered by our Report, since we are not in a position now to make reasonably accurate estimates. It is necessary that any such net interest liability which arises in any of the years covered by our Report, is covered by grants-in-aid under Article 275 equivalent to the amount of net liability in the case of the 8 States mentioned in paragraph 43 above. In the case of the other States, if in the period covered by our Report, the net interest liability on account of fresh borrowings and lendings exceeds the surplus on revenue account which we have estimated, such excess should be covered by grants-in-aid under Article 275. We consider that it would be helpful to the Central Government and to the States to specify the manner in which the net interest liability and the amounts of the grants-in-aid, if any, should be calculated by the Central Government. We accordingly recommend as follows:-
 - (i) For the liability on account of payment of interest, all such borrowings during a year, as are according to the normal rules of classification brought to account under the Major Heads of Account '603' and '604', except the following items, should be taken into account at the rates of interest as are actually applicable to each such borrowing:
 - (a) overdrafts on the Reserve Bank of India;
 - (b) cash credit accommodations from the State Bank of India or other commercial banks for procurement of foodgrains, edible oils, other commodities of civil supplies, etc., in as much as the State Governments should recover the interest payable on such accommodations at the time of disposal of such commodities;
 - (ii) where the whole or a part of such fresh borrowings in a year is repayable within the same year (e.g. loans for agricultural inputs), or in subsequent years within the period 1979-84 (e.g. block loans, as at present, for State Plans), the liability on account of interest in a year on such fresh borrowings should be computed with reference to the amount of the borrowings outstanding from time to time;
 - (iii) gross interest liability of Assam on account of fresh borrowings from the Centre during 1979-84, as computed in accordance with (i) and (ii) above, should be reduced by Rs. 22 lakhs in 1980-81, Rs. 42 lakhs in 1981-82, Rs. 62 lakhs in 1982-83 and Rs. 79 lakhs in 1983-84. These amounts have been included in the assessment of the non-plan revenue expenditure of the State Government in the respective years, as interest liability on loans assumed by the Commission as likely to be received by the State from the Centre at the level of Rs. 4 crores each year towards the construction of the new capital of the State. If the loan in any year is different, a corresponding adjustment should be made;

- (iv) For computing receipts on account of interest on fresh lendings, whether for Plan or non-Plan purposes, by the State Governments, during each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84, a uniform rate of interest at 6 per cent per annum on the outstandings of all such fresh loans, brought to account under all the Major Heads of Account from '677' to '767', should be taken into account, except fresh loans to Government servants (Head 766) other than house building loans;
- (v) like the liability for payment of interest on fresh borrowings, interest receipts on fresh lendings should be computed, in the manner prescribed above, from year to year, on the outstanding amounts of such fresh lendings;
- (vi) the Accountant General of each State should be requested to intimate to the Ministry of Finance, by the middle of January in each year, the figures of actual borrowings, of different categories, of the State Government, brought to account under the Major Heads of Account '603' and '604', during the first 8 months from April to November of that financial year, as also the rate of interest and the terms of borrowings applicable in each case. Likewise, the figures of actual lendings, and the terms thereof, as well as fresh investments, referred to in (v) above, during the first 8 months of the year should be obtained from the Accountants General;
- (vii) on the basis of such actuals for the first 8 months of a year and the estimates, on best judgement, of further borrowings, lendings and investments during the last 4 months of a year, computations of the net interest liability on fresh lendings and borrowings should be made in relation to each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84;
- (viii) the additional grant-in-aid that, on such computation, may become due to a State Government, in respect of each financial year, should be paid by Presidential Order, before the close of that year, subject to final adjustments towards payment of arrears or recovery of excess payments, if any, in the following year in the light of the actual amounts and the terms of fresh borrowings, lendings and investments in that previous year; and
 - (ix) following the computations made as above, the President should be moved to increase, to the extent required, the grants recommended by us under Article 275 of the Constitution to the 8 States mentioned in paragraph 43 above. In the case of the other States, the net interest liability computed should be set off against the surplus as assessed by us, and the net deficit, if any, should be given as grants-in-aid by Presidential Order under Article 275.
- 47. We would suggest that the Central Government should incorporate suitably every year in the Explanatory Memorandum on the Central Budget or in the Supplementary Demands as the case may be, the computations made as above and the grants payable towards the net interest liability. The State Governments concerned should also be kept informed of such computations.

92

CHAPTER 10

UPGRADATION OF STANDARDS OF ADMINISTRATION

In accordance with sub-paragraph (vi) of paragraph 5 of the Presidential Order, the Commission has to have regard, among other considerations to:

- "the requirements of States which are backward in general administration for upgradation of standards in non-developmental sectors and services with a view to bringing them to the levels obtaining in the more advanced States over the period covered by the Report of the Commission; the manner in which such expenditure could be monitored, being also indicated by the Commission."
- 2. The Sixth Finance Commission had allowed provisions to enable States which were backward in standards of general administration to improve the standards. That Commission was required to deal with this matter as one of a ten-year span, of which the first five years were the period covered by its Report. The financial provisions made by it for States were calculated so as to bring them up to the all-States average of per capita expenditure on each of the various services regarded by that Commission as falling within the purview of the phrase "general administration" used in its terms of reference. We are, however, required to confine ourselves to providing for upgradation of standards of administration in non-developmental sectors and services. The period in which this upgradation of standards is to be attained is limited to the five years covered by our Report.
- 3. For an assessment of the existing standards and of the gaps between the backward and the more advanced States, we have decided to confine ourselves to the sectors and services which are the more important elements in the basic administrative infrastructure of government. In our view these would be the following:—
 - 1. Administration of taxes.
 - 2. Treasury and Accounts administration.
 - 3. Judicial administration.
 - 4. General administration, consisting of revenue, district as well as tribal administration, and the Secretariat services.
 - 5. Police.
 - 6. Jails.

Certain States have sought provisions to upgrade the administration in certain other fields like education, welfare of Scheduled Castes and Tribes etc., which do not in our view belong to the category of non-developmental sectors and services specified in our terms of reference, but rather to the Plan.

4. There is no doubt that, judged on various indicators, there are disparities in respect of the administrative infrastructure between the States, and there is a clear need to upgrade and improve the standards of administration in several States. The capabilities and efficiency of the administration have a significant bearing not only on the quality of public services rendered and the level of satisfaction of the citizenery, but also on the developmental situation in a State. We feel that administrative efficiency is not a function of finance alone, but depends very much on the priority accorded to the performance of basic administrative tasks by the State Governments themselves, their attention to improvements in organisational structures and methods of work, the capacity of the

official machinery to innovate, reform and change and the efficient functioning of the financial accounting and control systems. A strong political and administrative awareness and will, and sustained efforts, are also essential to carry out improvements within a defined period. We were struck by the fact that in several of the States which appeared backward in respect of general administration there was little preparedness for introducing the necessary improvements and upgradation of standards. This may have been, among other factors, partly the result of the low priority accorded to the non-developmental sectors on account of the severe constraints on their resources in recent years, judging from the fact of diversion of the provisions for upgradation made by the Sixth Finance Commission in several States for other purposes.

- 5. In the course of examining the standards of administration in different fields in the various States, as they are now, we have noticed that a simple measure like per capita expenditure is often misleading, especially taking into account also other indices of the effectiveness or output. Per capita expenditure figures are also misleading for the reason that the emoluments of the employees concerned with a particular service vary from State to State. Besides, it is not possible for us to assume, we find, that the States which are economically advanced always; have better standards of administration of the different services than the other States. We have, therefore, examined the relative position of he States in physical terms as far as possible, and considered the needs for provisions for upgradation of standards in relation to norms which we have evolved.
- 6. While we have examined the requirements for upgradation of standards of administration in terms of physical norms as far as possible, we have also kept in mind the feasibility of the implementation of improvement schemes within the five year period of our Report. We should mention also that we have not left out of consideration any State which, in our view, needs to effect some improvement in a particular service or sector, even though it may not have made any proposals. No State has been allowed larger provisions than it had proposed.
- 7. In the course of our consideration of the subject, we have found that in many cases the provisions under revenue account which we allow for the purpose of upgradation of standards of administration would need to be supplemented by provisions for administrative and residential Unless these buildings are provided buildings. for, it is unlikely that the object of providing funds on the revenue account would be achieved fully or within the period covered by our Report. We are led to this belief on the basis of the experience of most States in recent years, which has been that even essential administrative and residential buildings could not be provided for in their Plans. on account of the competing demands of other sectors on the available resources. We may cite the instance of courts or jails, areas which have been causing concern, and rightly. There is little point in numbers of new courts being opened to expedite the disposal of civil and criminal cases, especially in the smaller places to which the public have easy access, if the courts and judicial officers are also not housed suitably at the same time. We have, therefore, allowed provisions for the buildings also where we have considered these essential.
- 8. We have given careful consideration to the scope for grants-in-aid under Article 275 for meeting capital expenditure. The operative part of this Article speaks of "sums". There is no restriction or bar in the Article against making grants for capital expenditure. The first proviso to the Article expressly speaks of grants of capital sums. This goes to show that the expression grants-in-aid of revenues does not limit grants for revenue expenditure only. We are fortified in this view by the Note of the Chairman of the Fourth Finance Commission appended to its Report on the interpretation of Article 275.

Further, it seems unreasonable to hold that the operative part of the Article enables the Commission to make grants for revenue expenditure only, while the proviso enables grants being made of revenue as well as capital nature. It is quite clear therefrom that it is open to us to recommend grants for capital expenditure also, apart from grants for revenue expenditure under Article 275.

- 9. As already mentioned we have considered the necessity for upgrading the standards of the services we have examined in all the States. We have also mentioned, while dealing with the reassessment of the forecasts of the States, that we were providing for upgradation of standards of administration separately. We are not incorporating the provisions which we have recommended in this Chapter in the re-assessed revenue forecasts of the States concerned. In our view, and in the light of the arrangements we have proposed for implementation and monitoring of the schemes for upgradation of standards, it is necessary to keep these provisions distinct and provide equivalent amounts as grants under Article 275.
- 10. We have considered also the question whether grants-in-aid should be made to States for upgradation of standards of administration irrespective of their financial position. We believe that the States which have been assessed by us to be surplus on the revenue account even without taking crdit for resources being transferred in terms of our Report should be considered as not needing such assistance. It is our view that these States have the resources to effect such improvements in their standards of administration as they find desirable. We are, therefore, not recommending any grants for such States i.e. Gujarat, Haryana, Karnataka, Maharashtra and Punjab. In the case of the other States, where we have found that standards of administration need to be upgraded to the extent that we have worked out, we recommend that grants-in-aid be made equivalent to the revenue and capital provisions which we have estimated, and subject to the implementation and the monitoring of the upgradation schemes in the manner indicated hereafter.
- 11. We are aware that since the commencement of the Fifth Plan, outlays for buildings are being provided in the Plans, since they create capital assets. We would suggest that at the time of finalising the Plans of the various States, the non-Plan provisions we have recommended should be kept in view by the Planning Commission and the State Governments.
- 12. We have dealt with the standards of administration in different sectors and services later in this chapter. It should be understood that our exercise is no substitute for the normal scrutiny of the details by the administrative departments and the Finance Department of the State Governments concerned.

Fiscal Services and Treasury and Accounts:

13. We have mentioned in our account of the reassessment of the revenue forecasts of the States that additional revenue expenditure has been built in the forecasts of expenditure relating to fiscal services and the treasury and accounts administration in many States. For

these services, we recommend that capital expenditure needs may be provided through grants-in-aid under Article 275 in the following cases:

		(Rs. lakhs)
Bihar	Stamps and Registration	50
Himachal Pradesh	Upgradation of treasury and accounts administration	30
Madhya Pradesh	- do +	26

			Rs. lakhs)
Rajasthan	- do -		100
Tripura	- do -		5
Uttar Pradesh	- do -		375
		Total:	586

Appendix V.1 sets out the specific items on which the States are entitled to spend these amounts. The releases against these entitlements should be regulated in the manner suggested later in this chapter.

Administration. States is a matter of serious concern. The Union Law Minister has also written to us expressing his anxiety in the matter and proposing that the number of the courts in different States should be increased, with due regard to the accumulated work and the present rates of disposal of cases. In order to arrive at the requirements for upgradation of judicial administration, we have assessed the situation in the different States on certain objective quantitative standards, with reference to the institution, disposal and pendency of civil and criminal cases, in the period 1.1.1976 to 30.6.1977. The statistics furnished to us by the Department of Justice of the Central Government have provided a good basis for this assessment. The relevant data have been given in Appendix V. 2(i) to (iv). The adequacy or otherwise of the existing number of courts in different States has been judged with reference to the following criteria:

- i) the ratio of annual disposal of cases to fresh institutions, from which we have derived the additional number of courts needed in certain States for ensuring that disposal keeps pace with institutions.
- ii) the ratio of total pendency to annual disposal, which has enabled us to estimate the additional requirements of courts in order to ensure that the level of pendency is brought down in the next 4 or 5 years so as to enable courts to dispose of criminal cases within 6 months, and civil cases within 12 months of their institution.
- 15. We have relied to a large extent on the information contained in the periodical reviews, made by the Union Department of Justice, of the overall workload in the lower and appellate civil courts and magisterial and sessions courts. We had also asked for information from the State Governments in regard to the total number of courts at present. There are divergences in the figures from the two sources in the case of many States, which we are not able to reconcile, even though the information of the Department of Justice is also from the same sources. We have also taken note of the additional courts sanctioned in some of the States since 1977-78. We find that the present rates of disposal of cases in the courts at different levels vary a lot from State to State. While these variations may be explained partly with reference to the peculiar composition of the cases in different States, there seems to be room for improvement in the rates of disposal of cases attained at present in several Sates. We expect that with the upgradation of police administration which we are providing for and with the additional courts also being allowed for, there should be a marked improvement in timely disposal of criminal as well as civil cases.
- 16. Taking the overall workload, the number of courts and the current rate of disposal of cases in the lower as well as the higher courts upto the district level, we

are led to the following assessment of the additional courts necessary in the States:

	Criminal Courte		Civil	Courts
	Lower	Higher	Lower	Higher
Andhra Pradesh	10	_	5	4
Assam	14	2	26	-
Bihar	85*	33	14	1
Himachal Pradesh	2	-	•	-
Jammu & Kashmir	2	-	-	-
Kerala	-	2		_
Madhya Pradesh	4	1	· -	2
Manipur	7	_	-	-
Meghalaya	_	-	-	-
Nagaland	_	-	_	-
Orissa	12	7	-	2
Rajasthan	27	7	12	2
Tamil Nadu	4	-	-	-
Tripura	2	-	3	7
Uttar Pradesh	84*	48*	-	-
West Bengal	46*	3	51*	7

*Phased in 2 years

The scales of expenditure on pay and allowances and other recurring and non-recurring expenses per court, including a provision for the library of law books in each court, have also been specified in the entitlement of the States. Details may be seen in Appendix V.3.

- 17. We would like to stress in this context the desirability of close supervision of the work of the courts by the High Courts in order to ensure the achievement of reasonable degree of speed and efficiency in the dispensation of justice, which is our objective in providing for more courts as indicated above.
- 18. We have also made provisions for buildings for the additional courts for which we have allowed provisions on the revenue account. It is the general experience that suitable accommodation for additional courts would not be available in the districts and particularly in the smaller towns. We have also made provisions for residences for presiding officers of these new courts. We regard it as essential for the independence and fair image of the Judiciary, that Judicial Officers should not be constrained to hire quarters from private persons as far as possible. For estimating the provisions, we have adopted moderate norms of area requirements and costs of constructions as given in Appendix V.4.
- 19. The total provisions we have allowed for the Upgradation of Judicial Administration in the various States during 1979-84 add up to Rs. 2399. 45 lakhs, as shown in the Table below:

(Rs. Lakhs)

		Revenue	Capital
1.	Andhra Pradesh	54.77	29, 20
2.	Assam	108.96	60. 10

(Rs. lakhs)

		Revenue	<u>Capital</u>
3.	Bihar	373.43	208.30
4.	Himachal Pradesh	5.02	2.80
5.	Jammu & Kashmir	5.02	2.80
6.	Kerala	8.56	4.10
7.	Madhya Pradesh	22, 88	12.95
8.	Manipur	17.57	9.80
9.	Nagaland	-	70.00*
10.	Orissa	68.64	35.25
11.	Rajasthan	136.41	73.05
12.	Tamil Nadu	10.04	5.60
13.	Tripura	42.51	21.35
14.	Uttar Pradesh	374.58	217.20
15.	West Bengal	262.26	156.30
	Total:	1490, 65	908, 80

*For village courts

Item-wise details may be found in Appendix V. 5.

Revenue, District and Tribal Administration 20. Revenue and district administration taken together constitute the dispersed general administrative structure in all these States. It is with the officials in this structure that the largest number of citizens have dealings at the field level. The revenue administration

continues to be responsible for land records and land reforms administration, as well as for a wide variety of general administration, tasks of a routine as well as emergent nature. The district administrative structure provides a basic unit of integration for local administration as well as for decentralised developmental activities. The upgradation of standards in these sectors of administration is, therefore, of the utmost importance.

21. The Sixth Finance Commission had taken a composite view of expenditure on revenue and general administration. It had noted certain limitations of comparisons between States in physical terms such as the average size of districts, the span of control in terms of area and population served by different functionaries, etc., and found itself unable to arrive at a set of general criteria to apply across the States. That Commission, therefore, allowed provisions for upgradation of standards on the basis of expenditure in per capita terms. We have been unable to proceed in the same manner. Under the present system of classification of accounts, the practices of booking expenditure under various heads differ from State to State. Comparisons in terms of expenditure are also vitiated by the fact that local bodies play varying roles in different States, and in States like Maharashtra and Gujarat they have been assigned particularly large roles and receive larger transfers from the State Budgets than in other States. We have looked into the expenditure incurred by the different States under the Heads of Account 229-Revenue Administration and 253-District Administration, as well as on the Secretariat Administration under the Heads 252, 276 and and 296. We have examined the expenditure under these Heads in the States in per capita terms as well as in terms of net sown area, per district, as well as per square kilometre of area. Appendix V. 6 sets out some compilations we have done. The comparisons show that the field administration costs per capita were higher in States like Rajasthan than in Punjab, the level of expenditure in which State was on par with Madhya Pradesh as well as Karnataka. Gujarat was spending less per capita than Assam, and a little more than Bihar, though the

Gujarat administration cannot be regarded as backward. In terms of costs per hectare and net sown area, the comparisons again show that Gujarat had the lowest costs, followed by Rajasthan, Madhya Pradesh and Haryana, while the cost in States like Tamil Nadu and Kerala were nearly four times that incurred in Gujarat. Maharashtra and Punjab were also low-spending States in these terms. The expenditure per district varied in the ratio of 1:4 between Haryana and Tamil Nadu, and 1:3 between Haryana and Andhra Pradesh or West Bengal. These expenditure comparisons, however, are not wholly meaningful, considering the great variations in the average size of districts in the different States, in terms of area as well as population. The range of variation in expenditure per square kilometre was again very wide, almost more than 5 times in Kerala, West Bengal and Bihar over Gujarat, Rajasthan or Madhya Pradesh, and this may be explained partly by the varying density of population in these States.

- 22. In the light of the above, we feel that it would not be right to go by any general criterion in determining the provisions to be made for upgradation of revenue and district administration. Instead, we have considered the proposals received from various States for upgradation of these sectors of the administration on merits in the light of experience. We have also carefully perused the documentation sent by many States in support of their proposals, including in certain cases like Assam and Orissa, the report of committees which had in recent years examined the requirements of reorganisation of districts, sub-divisions, etc.
- 23. A large number of the States which have tribal sub-Plan areas, have sent us proposals for upgradation of tribal administration in various aspects. We are aware that the administration of tribal areas stands in particular need of upgradation of standards and that some essential improvements for this purpose are also incorporated in the tribal sub-Plans. We have also been favoured with a Memorandum by the Union Ministry of Home Affairs on this subject. However, we found ourselves unable to appreciate the logic behind the proposals made by certain States for making enhanced provisions of expenditure on certain items like maintenance costs of roads and buildings, or other works, not with reference to any technical considerations which may have a bearing on the costs, but merely on the ground that the particular works happen to lie within the tribal areas of the State., We have attached priority to proposals for allowing compensatory allowances to transferable Government servants working in these areas. We believe that these employees work in areas where the normal facilities and amenities of living are not yet available as they are in the non-tribal areas, and have therefore to incur extra costs for various purposes. Compensatory allowances for work in such conditions would help them to overcome their financial and other disadvantages.
- 24. As regards Secretariat administration, we find no reason to support any of the proposals made. The amounts involved, which only some States have asked for, are quite small. Besides, we feel that attention has to be concentrated on improvements not in the State headquarters but in the field levels of administration.
- 25. Keeping in view the above considerations, we have made the following provisions for different States, for implementation of the schemes, as listed itemwise in Appendix V.7:-

(Rs. lakhs)

States	Revenue	<u>Capital</u>	Total
Andhra Pradesh	165	306	471
Assam	146	622	768

States		(Rs. lakh	(Rs. lakhs)	
brates	Revenue	<u>Capital</u>	Total	
Bihar	884	1110		
Himachal Pradesh		1112	1996	
Jammu and Kashmir	60	24	84	
Kerala	50.	200	250	
	20	40	60	
Madhya Pradesh	1156	680	1836	
Manipur	74	540	614	
Meghalaya	-	150	150	
Nagaland	50	24	74	
Orissa	793	444	1237	
Rajasthan	200	390	590	
Tamil Nadu	22	72	94	
Tripura	95	24	119	
Uttar Pradesh	151	2016	2167	
West Bengal	98	96	194	
Total:	3964	6740	10704	
				

Police

26. The police administration is called upon to perform diverse tasks. It has an increasing responsibility to discharge not only in keeping law and order and investigating crime and prosecuting offenders, but also in regard to its dealings with the public and in obtaining their support. The National Police Commission is currently studying a wide variety of issues linked with the tasks of improvement and modernisation of the police force, and is reviewing, it is understood, the objectives, status, methods, organisational structure etc. of the Police. The recommendations of that Commission would, it is hoped, have a lasting impact on the course of the future development of police administration in the country.

- of administration in the different States. We have looked into the total and per capita expenditure incurred at present in different States, the trends in the situation of crime in different States, the strength of the police and the Home Guards, etc., and certain general indicators of the adequacy or otherwise of the police force and its capabilities. We have also obtained information from the State Governments about the state of the equipment and accommodation for the police. Comparisons have also been made of the strength of the police vis-a-vis indicators of performance such as the percentage of cases pending investigation and the convictions secured out of the total cases decided by the courts. There are very wide variations across the States in these matters. Appendices V. 8(i) to (v) set out some of the compilations made by us in this connection.
- 28. We have examined the variations across the States in respect of these indicators. In absolute numbers, Bihar has the highest population figure of 1407 per policeman, which is nearly double the population per policeman in Punjab (707) and Maharashtra (755). However, if this number is viewed against the volume of crime in the different States, the relative position of Bihar is even worse. With reference to the number of Policemen per 1000 crimes, the lowest number of policemen is found in Madhya Pradesh (320), Uttar Pradesh (338), Assam (395), and Bihar (445) as compared to Orissa (549), Maharashtra (552), Tamil Nadu (590) Andhra Pradesh (904), Haryana (1089) and Punjab (1357). We have excluded from this comparison States like Nagaland and Sikkim which have their own unique situations. However, neither the proportion of cases

pending investigations with the police nor the percentage of convictions to total court decisions is apparently adversely affected by the smallness of the number of policemen per 1000 crimes in the case of Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu. On the other hand, the mere fact of a relatively larger police force does not seem to have a positive impact on the results achieved in these terms in the case of Haryana, Punjab, Rajasthan or West Bengal. Similarly, percentages of per capita expenditure in different States on the Police do not by themselves reveal that the expenditure on the police in a State is an index of the effeciency of the police administration. Some of the low per capita expenditure States come up well in the comparison of performance in terms of investigations and convictions, as compared to States spending higher amounts.

29. In their proposals for upgradation of the police administration, the States have covered a very wide range of activities, and have sought additional expenditure on schemes for augmenting police strength, training, additions to their fleet of vehicles of different types, equipment and facilities etc. A number of States have asked for augmentation of armed police strength. Certain States have also proposed additional expenditure on fire services. Requirements of additional buildings for police stations, training institutes, laboratories etc. have been included in some of the States' proposals, while almost all States have made demands for additional housing for the police.

The Railway Board have also furnished a memorandum to us suggesting that the States should be enabled to augment the Government Railway Police. A few States have also made similar proposals. We do not think that this question needs separate treatment. The provisions we are allowing for the revenue expenditure should enable States to meet such requirements.

- 30. We have given serious consideration to the proposals made by the States and have not been able to find justification for adding to the armed police strength in any State. We feel that the needs of States in this regard from time to time could be adequately met by drawing upon the Central Reserve Police.
- 31. We have taken the view in regard to fire services that it would be inappropriate for the Commission merely to upgrade services in some States where they are a direct charge on the State budget, while in several States the fire services are the responsibility of the municipal bodies. We would however suggest that the Union Ministry of Finance should use its good offices with the General Insurance Corporation to extend assistance appropriately to State Governments and local bodies to improve and augment fire services. In the long term, this course might well be in the interest of reduction of insurance risks. We note that there is already a parallel to what we have suggested, in that the Life Insurance Corporation provides assistance to local bodies for water supply and sewerage schemes etc. on similar considerations.
- 32. We have not made any provisions for non-residential accommodation separately. We have however given priority to the consideration of the overall revenue expenditure needs and the specific needs of police housing in different States. These are the items which in our view need upgradation more than the rest. The information on police housing considered by us is given in Appendices V. 9(i) to (iii). There are srikingly low levels of housing satisfaction for the subordinate ranks in many States, in spite of the operation of the Central assistance scheme for police housing for about two decades. It is clear to us that there is urgent need to provide for adequate housing in these States in the interest of discipline and morale of the police.
 - 33. On an overall view of the situation we have adopted the following criteria for

dging the relative status of police administration in different States, for arriving at the equirements for upgradation of standards:

- (i) To the extent that, as compared to other States, any State has a lower figure of revenue expenditure on Police than is warranted by the level of crime in that State, the expenditure should be stepped up so as to enable the State to spend as much as the other States are spending on police with reference to their respective levels of crime per lakh of population. These provisions for enhanced revenue expenditure would enable the States which are backward in the matter of police administration (a) to increase the strength of civil police or strengthen Home Guards Organisation etc. and (b) to improve staff training, welfare, transportation, equipment and aids to scientific investigation.
- (ii) In regard to the housing of subordinate police staff, consisting of constables and head constables, the average level of 58.2 per cent of satisfaction in the States which are above the all-India average in this regard has been taken as the norm to be attained by the rest of the States, and adequate provisions of capital expenditure have been allowed to these States for construction of the number of quarters and barracks estimated on this norm.
- 34. On the basis of the above-mentioned criteria, we recommend provisions to the extent of Rs. 251. 59 crores, consisting of Rs. 168. 73 crores of revenue expenditure and Rs. 82. 86 crores of capital expenditure, as set out in detail for different States in Appendices V. 10(i) and (ii). This amount also includes Rs. 1. 00 crore for the construction of an armed battalion headquarters in Meghalaya. The provisions recommended for each State are shown in the following Summary Table:

		(Rs. lakhs)	
	State	Revenue	Capital
1.	Andhra Pradesh	-	1223. 00
2.	Assam	243.00	991, 00
3.	Bihar	2213.00	1006.00
4.	Himachal Pradesh	496.00	156, 00
5.	Jammu & Kashmir	800.00	720.00
6.	Kerala	-	345,00
7.	Madhya Pradesh	3599.00	159, 00
8.	Manipur	-	286, 00
9.	Meghalaya	-	281.00
10.	Nagaland	-	289.00
11.	Orissa	1443.00	-
12.	Rajasthan	916.00	92.00
13.	Sikkim	-	51.00
	Tamil Nadu	443.00	675.00
14.	Tripura	-	173, 00
15.	Uttar Pradesh	6720.00	_
16. 17.	West Bengal	-	1839.00
	Total:	16873, 00	8286.00

The mode of releases of the grants to the States is discussed later.

- 35. We are aware of the position that the Plan will make some provisions for police housing, for all the States as well as for the Central Government and the Union Territories. Our concern is more specific, with reference to the leeway to be made up in five years in the backward States, and the provisions we have recommended should be seen in this light. We would like to stress that while determining the outlays for police housing under the Plans, the non-Plan provisions we have recommended should be kept in view by the Planning Commission.
- Jail Administration

 36. In regard to the requirements of upgradation of standards of administration of Jails, we have gone into the adequacy of accommodation with reference to the trends in respect of number of inmates at various times and the level of facilities provided and expenditure incurred on prisoners in the different States. We have also studied the observations of the Shah Commission in these matters. The facts show that Jails have been neglected for too long and that there has been practically no improvement in the environment, or in the methods of handling inmates. We, however, do not regard ourselves as competent to lay down the requirements of modernisation of Jails, or the correctional services. At the same time, we are convinced that a certain minimum standard of upkeep of prisoners, improvements in diet and amenities, and to a certain extent additions to Jail capacity are urgently called for.
- 37. The essentials of the material received from the Ministry of Home Affairs and the Department of Social Welfare of the Government of India as well as that obtained from the State Governments have been compiled by us and may be seen in Appendices V. 11(i) to (iv). We have analysed the expenditure with reference to items which are related to the diet and other provisions made for prisoners and the expenditure on prison overheads. We are surprised to note that Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu spend less than Rs.2 per prisoner per day on diet. This expenditure is below Rs.2.50 in Andhra Pradesh, Orissa, Punjab and West Bengal. Adequate data on expenditure on other items for prisoners like washing, medicines, clothing etc. were not available for most of the States, but the amounts spent in States for which details were given in budget documents showed that the level of expenditure on these items was very low. The expenditure on establishment as well as Jail manufactures varied; greatly from State to State. But we are perturbed to find that, with rare exceptions, the level of expenditure on the prisoners has been extremely low. It has to be remembered. here that the inmates in Jails include not only convicts but also under-trials and other detenus, all of whom need to be given the essentials for a minimum human existence. We have been informed that there are extreme cases of neglect in this matter. It is stated that the Dewas Jail building in Madhya Pradesh was condemned over 20 years back (as reported by the State Government) and that all prisoners in this Jail have been kept in fetters for the reason that the Jail premises are not secure.
- 38. We have accordingly taken the view that priority should be given, firstly, to ensure that adequate direct expenditure was incurred on the prisoners and secondly, to improvements in amenities in the existing Jails in respect of water supply, sanitary facilities, electrification etc. Thirdly, there is immediate need to provide for construction of additional Jail capacities in States where these are found short of the minimum requirements. We have earlier made reference to the levels of direct expenditure on prisoners. We consider it necessary that a norm of Rs.3 per head per day for diet and Rs.1 per day per prisoner for other items like medicine, clothing etc. should be a minimum, and that inclusive of prison overheads (not including the headquarters costs of direction and administration), a minimum of Rs.6/- per day per prisoner should be provided for in all the States. This level of expenditure has already been attained by 1978-79 in certain States which we regard as the advanced States for this purpose. We have made provisions accordingly for the States which are backward in comparison as in Appendix V. 12. We have also taken note of the

proposals of various States for improvement in amenities in the existing Jails, and have made suitable provisions wherever the requirement was established on the basis of the material sent to us.

- 39. We turn now to the need for additional Jail capacity. The information we have received on the Jail population on different dates, and the Jail capacities is given in Appendix V. 11 (ii). It is clear that the Jails in several States are over-crowded. We have also taken care to look into the proportions of under-trials to the total Jail population in the States. We find that this proportion is very high in several States, for instance, Assam, Bihar, Orissa, Uttar Pradesh, West Bengal, rising in some cases to 80 per cent of the total inmates. While making provisions for additional Jail capacity for the long term, we cannot obviously allow for such high proportions of under-trials. For additions to Jail capacity, we have limited the proportion of under-trials to a norm of not more than 40 per cent of the total Jail population. The basis adopted for making the provisions for additional Jail accommodation has been indicated in Appendix V. 13.
- 40. In the light of the above, we recommend the following grants to different States for upgradation of jail administration:

		(Rs. lakhs	
	Revenue	Capital	Total
Andhra Pradesh	182	-	182
Bihar	205	250	455
Jammu & Kashmir	-	50	50
Madhya Pradesh	496	206	702
Manipur	-	68	68
Meghalaya	-	55	55
Orissa	221	221	442
Rajasthan	-	22	22
Sikkim	-	14	14
Tamil Nadu	631	862	1493
Uttar Pradesh	1078	270	1348
Total:	2813	2018	4831

Itemwise details are given in Appendix V.14.

41. Appendix V.15 provides a summary statement of the upgradation provisions made by us for the various States.

Monitoring

42. Para 5(vi) of the Presidential Order requires us to indicate the manner in which the utilisation of the provisions we allow for the upgradation of standards of administration can be monitored. We have gone into the question of the objectives, scope, methods and agencies for monitoring with due regard to the need of the system being effective, without becoming cumbersome to operate or self-defeating in the ultimate analysis. We also deal here with the aspect of monitoring referred to in para 5(v) of the Presidential Order, in respect of the provisions we have allowed for maintenance and upkeep of capital assets and plan schemes.

43. The main objective of monitoring is to ensure that the funds provided for specific purposes are actually utilised for those purposes, and are not diverted. Another objective

would be to see that the desired results in physical terms are achieved by incurring expenditure. We had raised in our discussions with the State Governments the question as to what stage of upgradation of standards had been reached as a result of the utilisation of the amounts provided for various purposes by the Sixth Commission. No specific answers were forthcoming to this question in most States. Though expenditure reports would be an essential part of the monitoring system, they would have to be supplemented by some other indicators of the progress achieved. Thus, both financial as well as physical indicators would have to be stated wherever possible.

- 44. In the course of our discussions with the State Governments we ascertained that none had any objection in principle to monitoring of the utilisation of the provisions we allowed for upgrading standards of administration. Some States, however, felt that the monitoring should not be by a Central Ministry but rather through an independent agency, which could perhaps be part of an agency set up at the instance of the Finance Commission. The States also had no objection to monitoring through the normal audit by the Comptroller and Auditor General, for which purpose they felt that the accounts of the utilisation of the upgradation provisions could be shown in separate sub-heads.
- 45. We are of the view that the provisions which have been made by us for upgradation of standards should be used on the basis of physical plans of action. These plans of action should be formulated by each State concerned in sufficient detail so as to be meaningful, and then finalised in consultation with the administrative Ministry concerned at the Centre. The State should then proceed to utilise the upgradation provisions in accordance with these plans of action, the progress being reviewed by the administrative Ministry concerned in the Central Government. On the recommendations of the administrative Ministry, the Ministry of Finance should make releases by way of grants to match the expenditure in respect of the upgradation provisions we have allowed.
 - 46. Accordingly, we recommend the following:
 - (1) As far as provisions for maintenance of roads and buildings, expenditure on medicines and diet of patients, maintenance expenditure on irrigation and flood control etc. works are concerned, it would be difficult to spell out the physical performance objectives. Except to the extent that budgetary provisions are specified by a sub-head in the major Head of Account concerned, it may be difficult to keep under review the utilisation of the provisions made. Moreover, since these provisions have been incorporated on a normative basis in the expenditure in the forecast period, it may not be feasible for an outside agency, say the Central Government, to keep the provisions under review. The only agency which could discuss this aspect regularly with the State Governments would be the Planning Commission, in the course of the Annual Plan discussions. We would suggest that the Planning Commission may, in consultation with the States, evolve a suitable procedure for monitoring the adequate maintenance of Capital assets and other schemes.
 - (2) In respect of the provisions made by us for upgradation of non-developmental sectors, our recommendation is that the administrative Ministries concerned with the finalisation of plans of action and the release of grants should draw up procedures for monitoring in terms of financial as well as performance indicators based on the criteria adopted by the Commission while making these provisions. These criteria may be recapitulated here.
 - (i) Capital expenditure on certain schemes relating to Stamps and Registration,

- Upgradation of Treasury and Accounts administration, as earlier described and set out in Appendix V. 1, may be monitored by the Ministry of Finance.
- (ii) <u>Judicial Administration</u>: Additions of a specific number of courts, attaining the minimum norms of disposal per court based on past trends, and construction of court buildings and of residential accommodation for all the new Presiding Officers, as set out in Appendix V. 5, can be conveniently monitored by the Department of Justice.
- (iii) Revenue. District and Tribal Administration: The implementation of specific schemes for which provisions have been allowed as listed in Appendix V. 7 may be monitored by the Ministry of Home Affairs.
- (iv) Police Administration: The norms adopted for making provisions for upgradation of strengthening of police administration have only been stated in financial terms as far as revenue expenditure is concerned and the State Governments should finalise their plans of operation in consultation with the Ministry of Home Affairs. For the provisions made for Police housing, the Ministry of Home Affairs may draw up a suitable monitoring system to ensure that the funds provided are utilised for the construction of quarters/barracks in accordance with the norms adopted by us. Appendix V. 10 (ii) lists the provisions we have allowed.
- (v) Jails: Provisions for incurring of minimum of expenditure of Rs.3 per day on the diet of prisoners and Rs.1 for medicines, clothing, etc. within the total provision of Rs.6 per day for direct expenditure on prisoners (including overheads), which should be monitored by having suitable sub-heads under the major head of account. For additions to overall capacity also we have specifically indicated the amounts provided to the States where such capacity needs to be augmented, and the progress made against these schemes should be monitored by the Ministry of Home Affairs. All the items, including amenities and improvements in Jails, and the provisions allowed by us are listed in Appendix V. 14. This should be utilised for the purposes of preparing plans of action, releases of grants and monitoring of progress.
- 47. We have examined the question of the mode of regulation of releases of grants. These grants should be made so as to cover the actual expenditure on the approved plans of action. An initial on-account grant may be released in the first year and the second year's grant on the basis of performance and expenditure reported by the State Government. By the third year, the audit report for the first year should be available and should also be taken into account while making the subsequent annual releases of grants. The grants we have recommended are for five years, and any shortfalls in actual expenditure in a year should remain available for utilisation in the subsequent years till 1983-84.
- 48. We expect that the provisions for upgradation of administration made by us will have a substantial impact on the effectiveness of the States' administration, and enable them to overcome the deficiencies that have come to light. We trust that the provisions will be purposefully utilised by the States.

Chapter 11

NON-PLAN CAPITAL GAP OF STATES

Under paragraph 8 of the Presidential Order constituting the Commission the Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1983-84. In the light of such an assessment, the Commission may undertake a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1978-79 and suggest appropriate measures to deal with the non-Plan capital gap, having regard interalia to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre. The Sixth Commission, which was the first Finance Commission to be asked to undertake a comprehensive review of this aspect of the finances of the States, had similar terms of reference. There is however a significant difference between our terms of reference and those of the Sixth Commission in that whereas that Commission was asked to suggest changes in the terms of repayment of the Central Loans, we are required to suggest "appropriate measures" to deal with the non-Plan capital gap of the States in the period covered by our report.

Assessment of non-Plan capital gap

2. The capital transactions of the State Governments are brought to account under the various heads of account prescribed in the Consolidated Fund, Contingency Fund and the Public Account. A summarised list of these heads is given in Appendix VI. 1. As indica-

ted earlier, we obtained from the States their forecasts of receipts and disbursements on capital account for the five years from 1979-80 to 1983-84. We re-assessed these forecasts on a uniform and comparable basis for estimating the gap of each State on capital account arising out of non-Plan transactions. We might observe in this connection that we have benefited considerably from the pioneering work of the Sixth Commission in this exercise. We have kept in mind certain general considerations, for instance, the current practice that some types of net receipts on capital account are taken as resources of the States for their Plans and so are not available for meeting non-Plan liabilities and the fact that capital outlays and loans advanced by the States generally represent investment expenditure and should form part of their Plans.

- 3. The capital outlay in the general services Sector in the States is mainly incurred for construction of non-residential buildings, other than those exclusively relating to a function included in the sectors 'social and community services' or 'economic services'. Outlays for stationery and printing, including purchase of machinery for printing presses, are also accounted for in this sector. Several States have proposed sizeable provisions for these purposes in their forecasts. These outlays would create new assets or new capacity and therefore should properly form part of the Plan. We have not, therefore, allowed any provision for non-Plan capital outlay in this group for computing the non-Plan capital gap of the States. However, we have provided elsewhere for their requirements on account of construction of buildings which we considered essential together with provisions on revenue account for upgrading the standards of administration of certain services in many States.
- 4. Capital outlay brought to account under the heads in the social and community services sector is mostly on buildings, both residential and non-residential, and other construction work like townships. These outlays basically create assets in the developmental

sectors. In a few cases, the outlays under this group are in connection with purchase and sale of commodities by the Food and Civil Supplies Departments of the State Governments. We have not allowed any non-Plan capital outlay under the heads in this sector, except a provision of Rs. 20 crores in the case of Assam towards construction of a new capital for the State. Following the formation of Meghalaya as a separate State the project of the Government of Assam to build a new capital has been given non-Plan aid by the Government of India. We have assumed that of a total outlay of Rs. 40 crores in the five years from 1979-80 to 1983-84, half would be covered by grants from the Central Government and the other half by non-Plan loan assistance. The grant portion and the corresponding amount of capital outlay have been omitted from the forecast of the State Government for convenience.

- 5. Capital outlay under the heads in the economic services sector are essentially of a developmental nature and should therefore be in the Plan. In certain cases, however, the transactions are of a trading nature, like purchase and distribution of fertilisers. pesticides, etc. In such cases the entire outlay ought to be fully recovered within a short period. The capital account forecasts of some State Governments include provisions for payments provided by their land ceiling laws. The practice is not uniform in all the States. In many States the expenditure has been included in their forecasts on revenue account. We also found that there is no uniformity among the States in the categorisation of such expenditure as Plan or non-Plan. We are not in a position to make correct estimations of the extent of surplus land likely to be acquired during the period covered by our Report in each State and the amounts of payments involved. We noticed that in some States the provision proposed on this account is based on phasing of acquisition of surplus land, which is too optimistic in the light of the achievements in recent years. It is not feasible to make a realistic and fair assessment of the pace of acquisition of surplus land in each State, and estimate on a uniform and comparable basis the payment liabilities likely to devolve on each State. We are of the view that the requirements of the States towards payments for surplus land acquired under the ceiling laws should be provided in their Plans, and that, for this purpose, the realisations from the allottees of such surplus land should be set off against such requirements. In this connection we have noted that the new Draft Five Year Plan for 1978-83 contemplates an outlay of Rs. 350 crores for land reforms and consolidation of holdings. The Planning Commission has also informed us that the Plans of many States for 1978-79 include outlays for payments under the land ceiling laws. Payments of compensation on the abolition of Zamindari, however, stand on a different footing. Hence, where the State Governments have proposed non-Plan expenditure for such payments we have allowed them in our assessment of the non-Plan requirements on revenue or capital account in which the provisions have been proposed by the States.
- 6. We now turn to the internal debt of the State Governments. Receipts from open market loans, net of repayments, are earmarked for financing the Plan. We have, therefore, excluded from the assessment of non-Plan capital gap both the receipts and repayments on account of open market loans of the State Governments. The States also obtain loans from the Life Insurance Corporation of India, the Agricultural Credit (Long-term) Operations) Fund of the Reserve Bank of India and other financial institutions for financing Plan schemes. We have not, therefore, assumed capital receipts by way of loans from these sources. We have, however, fully provided for the repayment liability during the five years 1979-84 in respect of loans from these sources as are likely to be outstanding at the end of 1978-79. But we have not included either receipts or repayments on account of loans from commercial banks and ways and means advances from the Reserve Bank in our computation of the non-Plan capital gap of the States.

Compensation Bonds

7. We have assumed credit for such part of the estimated payment of compensation towards abolition of Zamindari and Jagirdari as may be made in the form of Bonds according to the information furnished by the respective State Governments. We have also allowed for disbursements on the Bonds

issues as and when repayments become due during the five-year period from 1979-80.

Loans and Advances from the Central Government

8. We have not assumed credit in our assessment for any non-Plan loans from the Central Government to the States during the five years 1979-84 except in the case of Assam's capital earlier referred to. On the repayment side, however, we have fully provided for the repay-

ments that may be due on Central loans, both Plan and non-Plan, which are likely to be outstanding against the States at the end of 1978-79.

- 9. We have found that the States' forecasts of receipts on account of recoveries during 1979-84 against outstanding amounts of loans advanced by them do not conform to any uniform pattern. It appears that the estimates of receipts are not based in all cases on the terms of the loans. In very many cases the recoveries assumed are so low that they point to the need for improvement in this important area of fiscal management. It is also noticed in a few cases that loan accounts take very long to prepare, even years, with the result that recoveries are bound to become difficult. It also appears that there is no centralised monitoring of loan recoveries in many States. Greater attention must be paid to these matters. Some of the State Governments have also included recoveries against fresh loans likely to be advanced during the quinquennium 1979-84.
- 10. A detailed analysis has been made of the loans advanced by the State Governments and likely to be outstanding at the end of 1978-79. In order to estimate on a normative basis the recoveries against the outstandings, which the State Governments should be assumed to make in the period 1979-84, we have categorised the loans as follows:--
 - (a) loans for social and community services;
 - (b) loans for general economic services;
 - (c) loans for agriculture and allied purposes;
 - (d) loans for other economic services; and
 - (e) advances to Government servants and miscellaneous loans.
- 11. We are not in a position to make close estimates of loans likely to be advanced by the State Governments during the five years 1979-84 and have not assumed any recoveries against such loans except in the case of fresh advances to Government servants for purposes other than house building. We have not also assumed recovery against loans advanced to the State Electricity Boards and likely to be outstanding against them at the end of 1978-79, as most of these loans by their terms are not usually repayable by the Boards. For the rest of the loans advanced by the State Governments and likely to be outstanding at the end of 1978-79, we have adopted normative percentages of recovery uniformly for all States, on a broad consideration of the purposes for which the loans are usually advanced. The percentages of recoveries during the five years 1979-80 to 1983-84, as adopted by us, are:-

(a) Loans for social and community services	-	30%
(b) Loans for general economic services	-	45%
(c) Loans for agriculture and allied purposes	-	45%
(d) Loans for other economic services	-	56.25%
(e) Advances to Government servants and		
miscellaneous Ioans	-	50%

We have also taken credit for recovery of 60 per cent of the fresh advances to Government servants for purposes other than house building for the five year 1979-84 corresponding to the provisions we have allowed in this period.

Inter-State
Debt Settlement
(Net)

12. We have adopted in our assessment the forecasts furnished by the Governments of Assam and Meghalaya under this head. Meghalaya has also included in its forecast a provision for repayment to the Centre of a part of Assam's pre-reorganisation debt

liability. We have not provided for this repayment since it has not been possible for us to verify that this liability has been correctly assumed by the Government of Meghalaya.

Transfers to the Contin-

13. These transactions, of a book-keeping nature, have been ignored.

gency Fund and transactions under the Fund

Provident Funds 14. It appears to us that it would be proper to treat the net realisations under State Provident Funds as a draft on the savings of the community of Government servants, which should be available

for creation of new assets in the Plan, and should not be set off against the non-Plan capital gap liabilities of the State Governments. Several States have also urged that net accretions in State Provident Funds should be let out of account in the assessment of the non-Plan capital gap account. We have also noted that a number of State Governments have been compulsorily diverting into the provident fund substantial portions of benefits in emoluments sanctioned by them to their employees. It would be inequitable to take these accretions to set off non-Plan capital liabilities.

Other heads in the Public Account

15. In regard to the transactions in the Public Account other than State Provident Funds, the Sixth Commission reckoned the net accretions on account of civil deposits as capital receipts available to the States for meeting their non-Plan disbursements on capital

accoomt. Civil deposits include deposits in civil and criminal courts, earnest money and other deposits by contractors, public works deposits and a variety of other deposits made for short periods. The accretions to these deposits fluctuate considerably from year to year. It is no doubt to be expected that with the increasing volume of Government transactions there should usually be a net accretion to such deposits from year to year. On the other hand, it also happens that large deposits in a particular period would be followed by large refunds later, thereby causing a strain on State Governments' finances. There are also inherent difficulties and imponderables in estimating accurately the transactions under civil deposits, and that too for a full 5-year period. In the light of these considerations, we have considered it expedient to leave out such deposits from the assessment of the non-Plan gaps of the States on capital account. To the extent the States have net accretions of these deposits during the forecast period, the resources will therefore become available to them for financing their Plans.

16. The non-Plan capital gaps of the State Governments for the five years ending with 1983-84, assessed as set out above, add up to a total of Rs. 3512. 18 crores. The Statewise details are given in Appendix VI. 2.

Review of the States'
Debt
Position

Debt Liability

I. Internal debt -

17. We have estimated the total outstanding debt of the State Governments at the end of 1978-79 at Rs. 18,785 crores, comprising the following:-

(Rupees in crores)

L Internal Debt

(a) Market loans 2,572

(b) Other negotiated loans and Compensation Bonds etc. (excluding W&M advances from RBI, cash credit accommodation from commercial banks, etc.)

776

(In crores of Rupees)

II. Loans by the Central Government 13,463

III. Provident Funds and other unfunded debt 1,974
18,785

18. In estimating the debt position of the States as at the end of 1978-79, we have not included the Ways & Means Advances from the Reserve Bank, which are of a short-term nature, or cash credit accommodation from commercial banks, that may be outstanding against some of the States at the end of 1978-79. Similarly, we have also not taken the outstandings of short-term Central loans. Appendix VI. 3 gives the State-wise estimated debt likely to be outstanding at the end of 1978-79.

19. We indicate below the All-States' debt position since 1951, estimated as above:

As on 31st March of +

1951 1956 1961 1966 1969 1974 1979

Accts. Accts. Accts. Accts. Accts. Estimated

111 222 410 720 950 1543 2572

12 45 182 458 539 612 776

	(a) Market loans (b) Other loans	111 12	222 45	410 182	720 458	95 0 539	1543 612	2572 776
II.	Loans from Central Government	196	943	2014	4103	5569	8578	13463
III.	Unfunded debt	_56	86	133	231	367	857	1974
	Total debt liability	<u>375</u>	1296	2739	<u>5512</u>	7425	11590	18785

20. Obviously, the States' indebtedness has increased manifold during the 28 years from the commencement of the era of planned development. However, such a situation is inherent in a developing economy and so long as the money is raised or utilised towards achieving social and economic goals of national priority, one need not feel unduly

perturbed over the mounting debt burden of the State Governments taken together. We have also found that the progressive figures of capital outlay and outstandings of loans advanced by the State Governments, both for Plan and non-Plan purposes, have consistently been more than the outstanding debt. The table below would be of interest:

(In crores of Rupees) Upto 31st March of Acets. Acets. Acets. Acets. Acets. Esti− mated Assets represented by -(i) Capital Outlay (ii) Loans Outstanding Total

This is a welcome feature, indicative of the States taken together having financed a part of their capital outlay and lendings from revenues and from net receipts under public account.

21. The States' indebtedness to the Centre has always constituted a predominant component of their total debt burden. A major part of the mounting debt burden of the States to the Centre is attributable to the large loan assistance being provided by the Centre to the States for financing the Plan. Till the beginning of the Fourth Plan the bulk of such assistance was linked to individual schemes. The pattern was changed to block assistance from the Fourth Plan onwards, not linked with particular schemes, with the result that a direct nexus between the loan funds and their utilisation cannot be established.

Utilisation of the monies borrowed by the States from the Central Government

22. Our terms of reference require us to take into account the purposes for which the Central loans have been utilised by the States.

As in the case of the Central loans which form part of the block assistance for State Plans, the small savings loans advanced by the Centre to the State Governments have all along never been ascribed to any specific purpose. The same applies to Central loans given from time to time to many States in order to sustain their resources

for the Plans. These categories of loans constitute the largest bulk of Central loans to the States. It is clear that it is not possible to determine the purposes for which the States utilised the major part of the loans from the Centre merely by reference to the designations given to the loans.

23. We have, therefore, evolved an empirical approach, by which we can estimate sufficiently for our purposes the manner in which States have used the loans from the Centre and the return flows of funds to their budgets. For each State, we have computed the receipts from various sources of funds that became available on capital account during the period of 12 years from 1967-68 to 1978-79. We have also worked out the capital outlays and the loans advanced by the State Governments during the same period. We have categorised the capital funds available to the State Governments into the following four broad

categories, in the ascending order of the cost involved to the States in procuring these funds on capital account:-

Category (i) - no-cost funds, which include broadly the surplus on revenue account, recoveries of loans and advances by the States, and deposits and reserve funds not bearing interest;

Category (ii) - loans from the Central Government, net of repayments;

Category (iii) - market loans, net of repayments; and

Category (iv) - loans from the Life Insurance Corporation and other financial institutions, net accretions in the provident fund, deposits bearing interest and overdrafts.

Likewise, we have worked out the capital outlay and the loans and advances made by the State Governments during the same period of 12 years into three broad categories, namely -

- (a) those which are not likely to yield to the State budgets any return sufficient to cover interest charges, much less repayments of the loans used, and can, therefore, be termed as non-productive purposes such as capital outlay on public works, roads and bridges, education, social security and welfare;
- (b) outlays which ought to yield sufficient direct returns, assuming good management, to meet interest charges, but which do not yield enough to enable States to meet the repayment liabilities of the principal these which could be termed semi-productive purposes include capital outlay on housing, a part of the outlay on agriculture and allied services, outlay on multi-purpose river schemes etc., and, more importantly, loans for power projects; and
- (c) utilisation towards productive purposes, which we take as including mainly loans to various parties, where the States ought to be able to make recoveries sufficient to meet their interest and repayment liabilities.
- 24. Having thus categorised the funds available to the States, in the capital account during the 12 years from 1967-68 to 1978-79, as also the capital outlays and loans made by the States during the same period, we have assumed that the funds used for non-productive purposes would be the no-cost funds. If the non-productive purposes are not fully covered by the no-cost funds, Central loans have been taken as financing the balance. If in any case there is a balance of the no-cost funds, after meeting non-productive purposes, the amount has been taken as used for semi-productive purposes. To the extent that the use for semi-productive purposes is not covered by the balance of the no-cost funds, we have taken it that Central loans would have been used. In cases where the Central loan funds are larger than necessary for this purpose, they have been attributed to productive purposes. It appeared to us that it would be logical to assume, as we have done, that the requirements of capital expenditure, categorised into non-productive, semi-productive and productive uses should be properly met first from funds on which the State Governments have to bear no-cost and then progressively from funds which bear increasing costs.
- 25. We have thus estimated the amounts of Central loans which may be deemed to have been utilised towards non-productive, semi-productive and productive purposes. The percentage utilisation of Central loans accordingly has been shown in the Table

below (the percentages have been rounded to the nearest multiple of 5):-

(Percentages in nearest multiples of 5)

Sl.	States	Non-Product-	Semi-product-	Productive	Total
No.		ive purposes	ive purposes	purposes	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	-	90	10	100
2.	Assam	45	50	5	100
3.	Bihar	- 0:	75	25	100
4.	Gujarat	-	100	-	100
5.	Haryana	-	70	30	100
6.	Himachal Pradesh	60	40	-	100
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	40	60		100
8.	Karnataka	-	30	70	100
9.	Kerala	25	75	-	100
10.	Madhya Pradesh	-	90	10	100
11.	Maharashtra	-	70	30	100
12.	Manipur	50	50	_	100
13.	Meghalaya	80	20	_	100
14.	Nagaland	100	-	-	100
15.	Orissa	10	90	_	100
16.	Punjab	-		100	100
17.	Rajasthan	5	95	-	100
18.	Sikkim	-	90	10	100
19.	Tamil Nadu	-	25	75	100
20.	Tripura	70	30	-	100
21.	Uttar Pradesh	-	.70	30	100
22.	West Bengal	5	60	35	100

26. We have taken, for the analysis above, the Central loans to the States for the last 12 years i.e. from the year following the re-organisation of the erstwhile State of Punjab. The period is long enough to provide sufficiently reliable results for our exercise. There is no reason to assume that an analysis for a longer period would give substantially different results. We find that in the period we have taken, Central loans to States net of repayment by the States were two-thirds of the total outstandings at the end of 1978-79.

Measures to deal with the States' non-Plan capital gap during 1979-84

27. As aforesaid, our terms of reference require us to suggest appropriate measures to deal with the assessed non-Plan capital gap of the States for the five years ending with 1983-84. Obviously no such measure can be devised which would be confined to the five years from 1979-80 and which would have no impact on the debt burdens of the States in the years after 1983-84. Also, it is not possible to devise measures in relation to borrowings by the States from lenders other

than the Central Government. Whatever measures we recommend have consequently to be in relation to the outstanding Central loans.

28. In their memoranda submitted to us, some of the State Governments have urged that we should recommend scaling down or writing off a part of the outstanding Central loans, more particularly those whose utilisation is for non-productive purposes. We agree with the approach of the Sixth Finance Commission that write-off of the States' debt burden to the Centre, as a general measure, may not be desirable. Writing off

loans, except on a carefully selective basis, could well discourage conscious efforts on the part of the State Governments for mobilising tax and other resources sufficient to meet their requirements. Instead, measures aimed at linking the repayment period suitably with the purposes for which Central loans have been used by the State Governments, are likely to command greater acceptability in all quarters and would not also be questioned as arbitrary.

- 29. The total amount of Central loans likely to be outstanding against the States at the end of 1978-79 has been estimated at Rs. 13,463 crores, including Rs. 82 crores against Orissa on account of the Hirakud Project, Stage I, the repayment of which commences in 1988-89. Of this estimated amount of loans likely to be outstanding at the end of 1978-79, Rs. 2,133 crores have been estimated as relating to loans advanced to States as their shares of the net collections of small savings. Some of the State Governments have suggested that these loans should be converted into 'loans in perpetuity'. The reason adduced is mainly that what the Central Government lends to a State in a year is two-thirds of the 'net' collections in that State in that year. In other words, the Centre's repayment liability on account of small savings is, in each year, fully met from the fresh collections in that year and it is only from the balance that a share is paid to the States by way of loans. The suggestion for converting these into irredeemable loans had been made by many State Governments to the Sixth Finance Commission as well. The Government of India in a communication to that Commission, had agreed with the view that the small savings loans stand on a different footing from other Central loans to the States and might be considered on merits irrespective of the non-Plan capital gap of the States. It cannot be ignored that in mobilising small savings collections, the State Governments play a vital role, barring the portion attributable to deposits of provident funds, e.g. under the Employees' Provident Fund Act. On a full consideration, we see considerable force in the plea that small savings loans, being a part of 'net' collections, should be converted into 'loars in perpetuity'. Accordingly, we recommend that in the case of each State the small savings loans outstanding against the State at the end of 1978-79 may be consolidated into one loan as on 1st April, 1979, and such consolidated loans may be then converted into 'loans in perpetuity', in respect of which the States need not make any repayment of principal with effect from 1979-80. They should however continue to pay annual interest at the existing rate. Shri H. N. Ray has reservations on this recommendation, and thinks that 'loans in perpetuity' is a novel concept. Also, he has emphasised that while the Centre's liability to repay the individual depositors remains unchanged, the cover in the form of repayments of the principal on account of small savings loans advanced to the States is now withdrawn by virtue of this recommendation.
- 30. It appears logical that the Central loans applied to unproductive purposes, as we have derived in the manner explained above, should not be expected to be repaid, for the State Government cannot get any return which would enable them to meet their interest liabilities, let alone repayment of the capital. It is not as if the States had the choice to use the Central loans only for purposes other than unproductive ones. This is clear from the analysis which we have done. The amount involved, out of the total outstanding of Rs. 13462. 84 crores against all the States at the end of 1978-79 is Rs. 942. 82 crores as presently estimated by us without taking into account the rehabilitation loans referred to in paragraph 31. We recommend that this component should be written off.
- 31. We have referred earlier to the outstandings of Rs. 82. 42 crores against Orissa at the end of 1978-79 on account of Central loans advanced to that State for the Hirakud Project, Stage L. Since the repayment of this loan is due from

1988-89, and therefore does not affect the non-Plan capital gap of the State in the period covered by our Report, we do not recommend any modification of the terms of this loan. We have noticed that there are small outstandings against States on account of Central loans advanced upto 31st March 1974 for rehabilitation of displaced persons and repatriates, etc. in respect of which the position is that States are now required to pay only half of such recoverics as they are able to effect. We feel that this position need not be distrubed. In respect of loans advanced to the States by the Central Government from 1st April 1974 for the same purposes, we understand that the terms allow States to repay only what they are able to recover against their lendings from these advances. We do not propose to disturb this arrangement either.

- 32. In regard to the balance of the Central loans outstanding against the States at the end of 1978-79, we consider that the States should repay these loans over periods related to the purposes for which they have been used as estimated by us. It seems reasonable that the outstanding loans attributed to semi-productive purposes should be repayable in 30 years from 1979-80, and the balance of outstanding loans attributed to productive uses over a period of 15 years from 1979-80.
 - 33. We recommend accordingly that -
 - (a) the balance of the Central loans, other than small savings loans, the loans referred to in paragraph 31 and short-term loans, outstanding at the end of 1978-79 may be consolidated into one loan, as on 1.4.1979, outstanding against each of the States;
 - (b) out of the consolidated loans, amounts equivalent to the percentages shown against the respective State in column 4 of the Table in paragraph 25 should be recovered in 30 equal annual instalments, commencing from 1979-80; and
 - (c) the balance of the outstanding Central loans against the States, as consolidated on 1.4.1979, amounting to the percentages shown against the respective State in column 5 of the Table in paragraph 25, should be recovered in 15 equal annual instalments, commencing from 1979-80.
- 34. As estimated by now, the amounts to be consolidated in these two categories will be Rs.7613.64 crores and Rs.2690.79 crores respectively for all the States taken together, not taking into account the rehabilitation loans mentioned in paragraph 31, for which the estimates of outstandings at the end of 1978-79 are not available. When these are also allowed for our estimates of the amounts to be consolidated are likely to be marginally smaller.
- 35. We have considered what the rates of interest should be on these two categories of consolidated loans, in the light of the preferential rates of interest normally prescribed by the Central Government for the loans to the States. We have also kept in mind the fact that these outstandings relate to loans advanced by the Centre over a very long period. It appears to us that the rates of interest at 4.75% and 5% respectively would be just and appropriate for the consolidated loans relatable to semi-productive purposes and for productive purposes. We recommend that the rates of interest should be refixed accordingly.
- 36. As mentioned earlier, the Central loans likely to be outstanding against the States at the end of 1978-79, as estimated by us, do not include any outstandings on account of

the short-term advances, such as these for agricultural inputs, for tiding over temporary ways and means difficulties, etc. Should there be any such short-term advances remaining outstanding against any State at the end of 1978-79, the repayments thereof should be effected in accordance with the existing terms applicable to such advances.

37. These recommendations will reduce the estimated total debt burden of all the States to the Centre as at the end of 1978-79, by an estimated amount of Rs. 3075.99 crores. This is the result of conversion of small savings loans into 'loans in perpetuity' (Rs. 2133.17 crores), and the write-off recommended (Rs. 942.82 crores) in respect of 11 States. Further, for the 5 years ending with 1983-84, the repayment liability of the State Governments to the Centre will get reduced by Rs. 2155.80 crores, as estimated by us, comprising Rs. 388.14 crores on account of small savings loans, and Rs. 1767.66 crores due to write-off as well as conversions into 30-year loans and 15-year loans. The estimated relief, during the 5 years 1979-84, accruing to each State as a result of these recommendations, is as follows:-

(In crores of rupees)

S.No.	State	Estimated relief in repayment of loans to Central Government during 1979-84 on the basis of our
		recommendations.
1	2	3
1.	Andhra Pradesh	135.63
2.	Assam	112.20
3.	Bihar	182.65
4.	Gujarat	108.02
5.	Haryana	38.29
6.	Himachal Pradesh	30.37
7.	Jammu and Kashmir	133.79
8.	Karnataka	39.53
9.	Kerala	115.09
10.	Madhya Pradesh	147.34
11.	Maharashtra	160.78
12.	Manipur	11.85
13.	Meghalaya	5.94
14.	Nagaland	18.59
15.	Orissa	96.48
16.	Punjab	60.57
17.	Rajasthan	137.98
18.	Sikkim	0.66
19.	Tamil Nadu	49.93
20.	Tripura	10.55
21.	Uttar Pradesh	367.63
22.	West Bengal	191.93
	Total:-	2155.80

These estimates, as mentioned earlier, do not allow for the treatment we have proposed for rehabilitation loans in paragraph 31.

- 38. The estimated relief of Rs. 2155.80 crores in the States' loan repayment liability to the Centre during the five years 1979-84, in accordance with the above recommendations, will convert the non-Plan capital gaps of Nagaland and Tripura assessed by us for that period into surpluses amounting to Rs. 4.96 crores taking both the States together. The other 20 States will have their non-Plan capital gap for the five years 1979-84, as assessed by us, reduced to a total of Rs. 1361.34 crores, which is about 39.03 per cent of the assessed gap in relation to those States.
- 39. This position cannot be compared to the relief given by the Sixth Commission in regard to the non-Plan capital gaps of the States for the quinquennium 1974-79. As mentioned earlier, unlike that Commission, in our computation of the non-Plan capital gap, we have left out net accretions to provident funds and civil deposits, and have also provided for repayments of loans fully, including repayments of small savings loans to the Centre. Since we have recommended coversion of small savings loans into loans in perpetuity, the States' efforts at small savings collections should receive a great fillip and augment their capital receipts.
- 40. Our recommendations in relation to loan repayments to the Centre as well as the rates of interest to be charged on the 30-year and 15-year loans into which the loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79 would be converted, would also increase the interest liability in the case of 10 States by an amount of Rs. 158. 52 crores in all, but will reduce the liability of the remaining 12 States, by a total of Rs. 172. 19 crores during the five years 1979-84. These modifications in the States' liability towards payment of interest to the Centre, during the five years 1979-84, have been taken into account in our assessment of their surplus or gap on non-Plan revenue account. We have ignored, in these calculations, the changes in the amounts to be consolidated into 30-year and 15-year loans consequent on the treatment we have proposed for the rehabilitation loans.
- 41. Finally we would urge, as the Sixth Finance Commission did, that our recommendations for debt relief should be viewed in their totality and accepted as a 'package' both by the Government of India and the State Governments. Simultaneously we strongly recommend that while making financial assistance available to the States from 1979-80, whether for Plan or for non-Plan purposes, the Government of India and the Planning Commission should determine the loan and grant components thereof with due regard to the end-use to which the assistance is likely to be put by each state, and that, having so determined the loans component, the terms of repayment thereof should be prescribed consistently with the terms that we have recommended in relation to the loans that would be outstanding against the States at the end of 1978-79.

CHAPTER 12

GENERAL OBSERVATIONS

During our discussions with the State Governments, other non-official bodies and academics interested in the work of the Finance Commission, a view was expressed in emphatic terms that the Finance Commission, to fulfil its role effectively as contemplated by the Constitution, should be a permanent body instead of one constituted once in five years. This view was sought to be fortified by more than one consideration. Some thought that a permanent Finance Commission would reduce the scope for the Central Government to make discretionary transfers in an ad hoc manner to the States. It was pointed out that with the diversities which have emerged in the political complexion of the Governments at the Centre and in the States, it would be in consonence with sound and smooth Centre-State fiscal relations if there was a permanent Finance Commission to advise continuously on fiscal transfers, taking note of developments in the finances of the States from time to time. It was urged that this was not possible if the Finance Commissions were appointed once in about five years. In consequence of the Finance Commission coming into existence at intervals of five years the scope for making discretionary grants by the Centre automatically grew. It was suggested that if the Central Government had a large scope for discretionary fiscal transfers, there was scope for some States being favoured unduly, and their improvidence or lack of effort in the matter of good fiscal management condoned or even rewarded. Those who held such a view believed that the Finance Commission, being an impartial body, would be able to ensure that Central transfers were not made to particular States on considerations which may not be fair or acceptable to the rest of the States.

- 2. Another consideration put forward was that when a Finance Commission is appointed, it has to start on a clean slate, collect the material required for its work from the State Governments and the Central Government, and then initiate such studies and analyses as it requires. The feeling is that within the time available to a Commission it is often handicapped in its work. It has been urged that if the Finance Commission were permanent, like the Australian Grants Commission, its task would be easier, since it would be able to keep under continuous review various aspects of the finances of the Central and State Governments, special features of particular States, and the factors which affect their finances. An alternative suggestion in this context has also been made that there should be a permanent agency with functions similar to those of the Commission's Secretariat, which would act as the Secretariat for a new Commission as and when that is constituted. Similar suggestions have also been made by the Commissions in the past.
- 3. One of the most important advantages of the present system, under which the entire Finance Commission is constituted afresh, is that all the Members can be expected to function impartially. One might doubt whether it would be possible to preserve this cardinal feature if the Commission were a permanent body. If it were, there might well be a tendency for Members to be regarded as full-time employees of the Central Government, and this would be unhealthy from the point of view of the Commission's functions vis-a-vis the State Governments. Besides, we see advantage also in the present system which allows for the induction of persons with a fresh approach and unbiased minds as Members. We would not, therefore, favour the idea that the Finance Commission needs to be permanent. In regard to the discretionary transfers of fiscal resources by the Central Government to the States, we cannot conceive of a system which can altogether eliminate such transfers in the widely varying conditions and circumstances in which the State Governments may find themselves from time to time. The scope for

discretionary transfers, however, could be minimised if the States, particularly those who are financially weaker, are left by the Commissions in a position where they do not have to look to the Centre for help even in trifling matters.

- 4. The position which prevails now is that once a Commission completes its work, a small and ineffective cell comes into being in the Union Ministry of Finance, and this cell is merged in the Secretariat of the next Commission. This arrangement, in our view, is inadequate, we do, however, feel that it will be extremely useful to future Finance Commissions and greatly facilitate their work, if an expert non-political agency were to be established by the Central Government and were to perform such functions as the Secretariat of the Commission is expected to perform. In addition, it would be expected to play a watching and advisory role with regard to Centre-State financial relations generally. As and when a full-fledged Finance Commission is appointed, this agency could get merged into the Commission and its Secretariat. It should have the authority to call for whatever information may be required from the Central and State Governments and their institutions and should analyse and prepare the data based upon which a Finance Commission when appointed can act without further loss of time. It should carefully oversee the implementation of the recommendations of a Finance Commission as accepted by the Central Government and its advice should be sought by the various Ministries of the Central Government on matters which may require follow-up action. Thus, in our report, there are some items where an element of discretion is involved in the release of further funds e.g. additional grants to certain State Governments on account of interest liabilities on fresh loans which will be taken during the period covered by our report, monitoring of expenditure incurred for upgradation of the administrative services and releases of additional funds, grants for compensating the loss of excise revenue with the progressive introduction of prohibition. In our report, we have assumed certain returns from Electricity Boards and public sector undertakings etc. both under the Central Government and the State Governments. Similarly, we have drawn attention to the losses being incurred in irrigation projects, whether major, medium or small and have suggested not only a reduction in the loss but also a nominal return on the invested capital. It may be useful to see how far these expectations are being achieved and where we have suggested a progressive improvement over the years, this agency could draw attention to any deviations that are occuring and, perhaps, may suggest remedial measures. It is not unlikely that future Commissions, too, would be leaving similar matters in a somewhat incheate stage, which would, therefore, call for further follow-up action preferably by an agency which inspires confidence on the part of all concerned. This agency could thus be an expert body which would be concerned with Centre-State financial relations generally and the proper implementation of the accepted recommendations of the Finance Commission. Whether it should be located in the Finance Ministry or in the Planning Commission, or preferably perhaps as an independent unit, is a matter of detail which can be considered later, taking into account the necessity of making it active and effective.
- 5. It has been brought to our notice that there has not been much of competent research work in the field of public finance for quite some years now. In our view, it would be very fruitful if academic and professional interest in this are is stimulated. We understand that one of the reasons for the present situation is that it is very difficult for interested persons to get access to the necessary material, concerning not only the Central Government but all the States. Senior officials of many State Governments have also indicated that it would be worthwhile if some at least of the papers of the Finance Commission are published. We have no doubt that a beginning can be made in this area. We would therefore suggest that the Central Government should publish, as early as possible with the consent of the State Governments concerned, the memoranda furnished to us by the

State Governments containing their views on matters covered by our terms of reference. The Central Government should also publish after consulting the State Governments information furnished to us by them on:

- (i) taxation rates and tariffs,
- (ii) additional resource mobilisation,
- (iii) revenue and expenditure of local bodies,
- (iv) economy measures and administrative reorganisation,
- (v) standards of administration,
- (vi) agrarian reforms,
- (vii) working of State Electricity Boards, State Road Transport Undertakings and other commercial and industrial undertakings, and
- (viii) emoluments of employees of State Governments.

Similarly the Central Government should publish the analysis done for us by the National Institute of Public Finance and Policy, New Delhi.

7. The Central Government should also consider allowing access to the records of the Finance Commissions, other than those which are classified as confidential or secret, to bona fide research workers.

CHAPTER 13

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Our recommendations to the President in regard to the devolution of taxes and grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States are set out below:

- I. Estate Duty
 (1) The net proceeds of Estate Duty in respect of property other than agricultural land attributable to Union territories in each of the years 1979-80 to 1983-84 should be determined in the same manner and on the same principles as for the determination of the shares of each State, taking the Union territories as one unit for the purpose.
 - (2) The balance of the net proceeds of Estate duty in each year should be distributed among the States in proportion to the gross value of the immovable property and property other than immovable property taken together located in each State and brought into assessment. For this purpose property located abroad should be deemed to be located in the State where it is brought to assessment.
 - (3) Sikkim will also be entitled to a share in the net proceeds of this duty, calculated in the same manner as for the other States, as from the date the duty may become leviable in that State in the period covered by our Report.
- II. Additional

 Duties of Excise
 in lieu of sales
 tax.

 (1) There is no need to set apart any guaranteed amounts to the
 States out of the net proceeds of additional duties of excise as in
 our view there is no risk of the share of any States falling short
 of the revenue realised in the financial year 1956-57 in a State
 from the levy of the sales tax on the commodities subject to
 additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax.
 - (2) Sikkim should have a share in the net proceeds of these duties except the duties on textiles on which the State levies sales tax;
 - (3) A sum equal to 3.271 per cent of the net proceeds of the additional duties of excise on sugar in each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84 should be retained by the Central Government as attributable to the Union territories and the balance of 96.729 per cent of the net proceeds should be distributed among the States in the percentages shown below:

<u>States</u>		Percentages	
1.	Andhra Pradesh	5.245	
2.	Assam	2.408	
3.	Bihar	5.933	
4.	Gujarat	8.742	
5.	Haryana	2,656	
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.860	
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0.831	
	Karnataka	4.901	
9.	Kerala	3.783	
	Madhya Pradesh	6.019	
11.	Maharashtra	17.082	

States		Percentages
12.	Manipur	0.143
13.	Meghalaya	0.029
14.	Nagaland	0.115
15.	Orissa	2.178
16.	Punjab	6.220
17.	Rajasthan	4.729
18.	Sikkim	0.057
19.	Tamil Nadu	6.449
20.	Tripura	0,172
21.	Uttar Pradesh	13.184
22.	West Bengal	8.254

- (4) A sum equal to 2.192 per cent of the net proceeds of additional duties of excise on textiles and on tobacco in each of the years from 1979-80 to 1983-84 be retained by the Central Government as attributable to the Union territories.
- (5) The balance of 97.808 per cent of such net proceeds of the additional duties of excise on textiles and tobacco be distributed among the States in the percentages shown below:

St	ates	Textiles	Tobacco
1.	Andhra Pradesh	8.020	8.018
2.	Assam	2.298	2,297
3.	Bihar	7.221	7.219
4.	Gujarat	6.015	6,013
5.	Haryana	2.790	2.789
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.734	0.734
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0.744	0.744
	Karnataka	6.083	6.081
9.	Kerala	4.020	4.019
10.	Madhya Pradesh	6.422	6.419
11.	Maharashtra	13.510	13.506
12.	Manipur	0.185	0.185
13.	Meghalaya	0.171	0.171
14.	Negaland	0.084	0.084
15.	Orissa	3.457	3.456
16.	Punjab	4.270	4.268
17.	Rajasthan	4.366	4.365
18.	Sikkim	-	0.034
19.	Tamil Nadu	7.710	7.707
20.	Tripura	0.257	0.256
21.	Uttar Pradesh	12.549	12.544
22.	West Bengal	9.094	9.091

(6) In any year in which the State Government of Sikkim gives up its sales tax on textiles, it would be entitled to a share,, as from the date such sales tax is given up, in the net proceeds of the additional duties of excise thereon. The State-wise

percentage shares would then be as shown below:

ڍ	States	Percentage
1.		8.018
2.	Assam	2.297
3.	Bihar	7.219
	Gujarat	6.013
5.	Haryana	2.789
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.734
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0.744
8.	Karnataka	6.081
9.	Kerala	4.019
10.	Madhya Pradesh	6.419
11.	Maharashtra	13.506
12.	Manipur	0.185
13.	Meghalaya	0.171
14.	Nagaland	0.084
15.	Orissa	3.456
16.	Punjab	4.268
17.	Rajasthan	4.365
18.	Sikkim	0.034
19.	Tamil Nadu	7.707
20.	Tripura	0.256
21.	Uttar Pradesh	12.544
22.	West Bengal	9.091

III. Grant in lieu
of Tax on
Railway
Passenger
Fares.

The grant to be made available to the States in each of the five years commencing from 1979-80, in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act 1957 be distributed among the States as under:

.1	States	Percentage shares
1.	Andhra Pradesh	6.99
2.	Assam	2.46
3.	Bihar	9.50
4.	Gujarat	5.28
5.	Haryana	1.97
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.13
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0.74
8.	Karnataka	3.21
9.	Kerala	2.61
10.	Madhya Pradesh	5. 84
11.	Maharashtra	15.87
12.	Manipur	-
13.	Meghalaya	-
14.	Nagaland	0.26
15.	Orissa	1.73
16.	Punjab	3.81
17.	Rajasthan	5.48

	States_	Percentage snares
18.	Sikkim	•••
19.	Tamil Nadu	6.85
20.	Tripura .	0.04
21.	Uttar Pradesh	18,58
22.	West Bengal	8.65

IV. Grant on account of Wealth Tax_ on Agricul-

The grant to be made available to the States in each of the years 1979-80 to 1983-84 should be an amount equivalent to the net collection in that State in each year. Sikkim will become entitled to a grant in each year on the same basis if and when the levy of the tural Property wealth tax is extended to that State in the period covered by our Report.

- V. Income-In respect of distribution of the net proceeds of income tax in each Tax of the financial years from 1979-80 to 1983-84:
 - (1) Out of the net proceeds of taxes on income in each financial year a sum equal to 2.19 per cent thereof should be deemed to represent the proceeds attributable to Union territories;
 - (2) the percentage of the net proceeds of taxes on income, except the portion representing the proceeds attributable to Union territories, to be assigned to the States, should be eighty-five; and
 - (3) the distribution among the States inter-se of the share assigned to the States in respect of each financial year should be on the basis of the following percentages:

		Without Sikkim	With Sikkim
			(if the income-tax becomes
			leviable in that State)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	8.023	8.021
2.	Assam	2.522	2.521
3,	Bihar	9.540	9.536
4.	Gujarat -	5.959	5.957
5.	Haryana	1.819	1.819
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.595	0.595
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0.818	0.818
8.	Karnataka	5.442	5.440
9.	Kerala	3.950	3 .94 8
10.	Madhya Pradesh	7.356	7.354
11.	Maharasbtra	10.9 53	10.949
12.	Manipur	0.188	0.188
13.	Meghalaya	0.178	0.178
14.	Nagaland	0.085	0.085
15.	Orissa	3.739	0.738
16.	Punjab	2.714	2.713
17.	Rajasthan	.4.364	4.362
18.	Sikkim	-	0.035
19.	Tamil Nadu	8.050	8.048
20.	Tripura	0.258	0.258
21.	Uttar Pradesh	15.429	15.422
22.	West Bengal	8,018	8.015

VI. Union Excise Duties.

- (1) During each of the years 1979-80 to 1983-84 the entire net proceeds of the Union Excise duty on generation of electricity should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to each State in an amount equal to the collection in or attributed to that State; and
- (2) forty per cent of the balance of the net proceeds of the Union duties of excise on all other articles levied and collected during each of the years 1979-80 to 1983-84, excluding cesses levied under Special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States and distributed among them on the basis of the following percentages:

	States	Percentages		
		Excluding	Including Sikkim (if and when	
		Sikkim	Union excise duties become	
			leviable in that State)	
	A 11 - This Jack	5 000	7 001	
1.	Andhra Pradesh	7.698	7.691	
2.	Assam	2.793	2.793	
3.	Bihar	13.025	13.021	
4.	Gujarat	4.103	4.101	
5.	Haryana	1.177	1.177	
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.521	0.521	
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	0,839	0.839	
8.	Karnataka	4.877	4.876	
9.	Kerala	4.036	4.035	
10.	Madhya Pradesh	8.727	8.725	
11.	Maharashtra	6.633	6.632	
12.	Manipur	0.218	0.218	
13.	Meghalaya	0.200	0.200	
14.	Nagaland	0.097	0.097	
15.	Orissa	4.682	4.682	
16.	Punjab	1.226	1.226	
17.	Rajasthan	4.813	4.813	
18.	Sikkim	<u>-</u>	0.028	
19.	Tamil Nadu	7.641	7.637	
20.	Tripura	0.373	0.373	
	Uttar Pradesh	18.293	18.290	
21. 22.	West Bengal	8.028	8.025	

VII. <u>Grants-</u> <u>in-aid</u> The following States be paid the sums specified against reach of them as grants-in-aid of their revenues in the respective years indicated in the Table below under the substantive part of Clause 1 of

Article 275 of the Constitution:

Grants-in-aid to States over 1979-84

(In Rs. crores)
Total amount to be

	States	1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84	paid in five years
1.	Himachal Pradesh	37.60	40.54	41.63	43.00	44.30	207.07
2.	Jammu & Kashmir	41.06	40.82	39.20	39.40	39.08	199.56
3.	Manipur	26.19	28,00	29.27	30.76	32.10	146.32
4.	Meghalaya	16.97	17.67	18.44	19.48	20.05	92.61
5.	Nagaland	38.29	41.34	43.65	46.48	48.59	218.35
6.	Orissa	41.55	37.74	29.03	19.16	9.44	136.92
7.	Sikkim	6.32	6.70	7.11	7.54	8.05	35.72
8.	Tripura	24.36	25.75	27.29	28.85	30.32	136.57
	Total:	232.34	238.56	235.62	234.67	231.93	1173,12

OUR RECOMMENDATIONS ON OTHER TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Financing of Relief Expenditure.

In the light of review of the existing policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure and after considering the expenditure incurred by the State Governments in providing gratuitous relief and on repair and restoration works of public

properties after natural disasters. We recommend the following annual provisions (margins) under the head of account 289 - Relief on account of natural calamities for different States:

		(Rs. lakhs)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	858
2.	Assam	346
3.	Bihar	1308
4.	Gujarat	956
5.	Haryana	147
6.	Himachal Pradesh	51
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	130
8.	Karnataka	200
9.	Kerala	159
10.	Madhya Pradesh	183
11.	Maharashtra	457
12.	Manipur	8
13.	Meghalaya	7
14.	Nagaland	14
15.	Orissa	871
16.	Punjab	268
17.	Rajasthan	774
18.	Sikkim	1
19.	Tamil Nadu	859
20.	Tripura	18
21.	Uttar Pradesh	1080
22.	West Bengal	1360
	Total	10055

In our view the present policy and arrangements of Central assistance to States for relief expenditure should be modified. For drought relief expenditure in excess of the

margin we have provided, the State Government should make a contribution from its Plan for providing relief employment. The extent to which the State Government should contribute from its Plan in this manner should be assessed by a Central Team after consultation with the State Government and approved by the Central Government. This contribution should not exceed about 5 per cent of the Annual Plan outlay. This Plan contribution of the State Government should be treated as an addition to the Plan outlay in that year and covered by advance Plan assistance as in the present scheme. The adjustment of the advance Plan assistance against a ceiling of the Central assistance for the Plan of the State should be effected within five years following the end of the drought. If the expenditure requirement, as assessed by the Central Teams and the High Level Committee cannot be adequately met in a particular case after the State Plan contribution is taken into account, the extra expenditure should be taken as an indication of the special severity of the calamity which would justify the Central Government assisting the State to the full extent of the extra expenditure, half as grant and half as loan. In regard to the expenditure on relief and repairs and restoration of public works following floods, cyclones and other calamities of this nature, Central assistance should be made available as non-Plan grant, not adjustable against the Plan of the State or against Central assistance for the State Plan, to the extent of 75 per cent of the total expenditure in excess of the margins. Where a calamity is of rare severity, it may be necessary for the Central Government to extend assistance to the States concerned even beyond the scheme/s we have suggested.

II. Non-plan capital We have made an assessment of the non-plan capital gap of the gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1983-84. The methodology adopted by us and the State-wise non-Plan capital gaps so assessed by us are indicated in Chapter 11 and Appendix VI. 2.

In the light of the non-Plan capital gaps of the States as assessed by us, we have reviewed the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1978-79. Having regard inter alia to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre, we have recommended the following measures for dealing with the non-Plan capital gap of the States:—

- (i) The existing terms of repayment of Central loans advanced to Orissa for Hirakud Project Stage I and to all States for rehabilitation of displaced persons, repatriates, etc., and outstanding at the end of 1978-79, may remain undistrurbed;
- (ii) Short-term loans, if any, by the Central Government to the States that may remain outstanding at the end of 1978-79 may be recovered according to the existing terms applicable to such loans;
- (iii) Central loans advanced to State Governments by way of share out of net collections of small savings, and outstanding at the end of 1978-79, may be converted into loans in perpetuity, in respect of which the States need make no repayment of principal from 1979-80 but should continue to pay interest at the existing rate;
- (iv) The balance of the Central loans outstanding against the State Governments at the end of 1978-79 may be consolidated, in respect of each State, into one loan as on 1st April, 1979;

- (v) A portion of the Central loans so consolidated equivalent to the percentage shown against the respective State in column 3 of the table in paragraph 25 of Chapter 11 may be written off;
- (vi) A further portion of the loans so consolidated equivalent to the percentage shown against the respective State in column 4 of the table in paragraph 25 of Chapter 11, may be converted into 30-year loan, recoverable in equal annual instalments commencing from 1979-80, together with interest at the rate of 4.75 per cent per annum;
- (vii) The balance of the Central loans so consolidated equivalent to the percentage shown against the respective State in column 5 of the table in paragraph 25 of Chapter 11, may be converted into 15-year loan recoverable in equal annual instalments commencing from 1979-80 together with interest at 5 per cent per annum; and
- (viii) While making financial assistance available to the States from 1979-80, whether for Plan or for non-Plan purposes, the Government of India and the Planning Commission should determine the loan and the grant components with due regard to the end-use of the assistance and, having so determined the loan component, prescribe the terms of repayment thereof consistently with the terms that we have recommended in relation to the loans that may be outstanding against the States at the end of 1978-79.

J.M. Shelat

Raj Krishna.

C.H. Hanumantha Rao

H.N. Ray

New Delhi, October 28, 1978

V.B. Eswaran

We the four of us wish to place on record our indebtedness and gratitude to our very industrious Member-Secretary, Shri V.B. Eswaran, whose vast knowledge and experience of this field was reflected in the range and quality of the material collected and analysed for the use of the Commission, and for the advice which he rendered to us on various intricate matters. He was also an able leader and coordinator of his team which made it possible to process the voluminous materials.

J.M. Shelat

Raj Krishna

C. H. Hanumantha Rao

NOTE BY SHRI H. N. RAY, OUTLINING HIS VIEWS ON THE RETURNS FROM STATE ELECTRICITY BOARDS ETC. TO BE TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE FORECASTS OF THE STATE GOVERNMENTS, AND THE TARGETS OF ADDITIONAL RESOURCE MOBILISATION.

- 1. I have not been able to agree with the decision of the majority of the Commission that in projecting the returns from State Electricity Boards, a rate of 6 per cent per annum on the total investment should be stipulated, including the revenue obtained from the electricity duty levied by the State Government and the Central excise duty levied by the Central Government on the generation of the State undertaking. It has been further decided by the majority of the Commission that the return should be calculated on the total investment of the State Government till the end of 1978-79, and ignoring any fresh investments during the period of our Report.
- 2. Annex (1) to this note prepared by the Secretariat of the Commission / except the percentage calculations in Columns 4(b) and 5(b) / shows separately the electricity duty and the Central Excise duty for 1978-79 collected from "own generation" as a percentage of the total Government investment in the undertaking for each State.
- 3. I find it difficult to accept the proposition that the amounts collected by the Central Government as excise duty should be set off against the stipulated return of 6 per cent. In law, the Central excise duty accrues to the Central Government. When imposing the duty, the Finance Minister in his Budget Speech of February 1978 stated as follows:—
 - "I feel that with our enormous investment in power, there is ample justification for claiming a contribution from those who benefit from these investments. I am, therefore, proposing to levy a duty of 2p. per Kilowatt hour on electricity generated".

The intention, presumably, was to levy the duty so as to increase the return from the investments in electricity undertakings and to realise a higher amount from the consumers. so that the overall resources of the Central and State Governments would increase, and would be available for developmental and other essential purposes. Our information is that most of the States have taken steps to pass on the Central excise duty burden to the consumer. Whatever justification there might or might not be for setting off the electricity duty (which accrues to the State Government), there appears to be no justification for setting off the Central excise duty accruing by law to the Central Government from the returns which the State Government is assumed to derive during the forecast period from its investments in electricity undertakings. In fact, setting off the amounts collected as Central excise duty from the stipulated return, as decided by the majority of the Commission, would frustrate the purpose for which the duty was imposed in the first instance. That the Central Government has recently decided to make over the non-shareable portion of the duty from 1979-80 onwards to the various State Governments and that we are recommending the transfer of the entire Central Excise duty levied on electricity generated to the concerned States does not, in my view, vitiate the legal point. This money is now un-doubtedly available to the State Government for various purposes - but this factor by itself whould not absolve the State Electricity Board from earning a reasonable cash return on the State Government's investment through efficient operation of the system.

4. The combined effect of setting off both the electricity duty and the Central excise duty is somewhat anomalous in respect of the following States as the aggregate set off is in excess of 6 per cent:—

	Perc	<u>nt</u>			
<u>States</u>	Electricity duty	Central exci s e duty	Total percentage		
Gujarat	4.922	2.512	7, 434		
Kerala	3.444	4.297	7,741		
Ori ssa	3,325	3,011	6.336		

The would mean that according to the Commission's decision, no further return as such need be expected from the State Electricity Boards of these States as the stipulated return and more is already being corned by way of electricity duty and Central excise duty. On the contrary, the excess amounts over 6 per cent have been set off against the <u>other receipts</u> of these 3 States, so as not to "penalise" them for their better management compared to the other States. For some other States, the set off of these duties against the stipulated return of 6 per cent would be quite significant as shown below:—

	Percentage of total investment							
State_	Electricity	Central	Total					
	duty	Excise Duty	percentage					
Haryana	3.59	1.92	5.51					
Karnataka	1.88	2.25	4.13					
Madhya Pradesh	2,35	1.65	4.00					
Maharashtra	0.93	2.51	3.44					
Punjab	1.84	1.01	2.85					

5. My distinguished colleagues have argued that the Central Excise duty on electricity generation, has inhibited tariff revisions, and additional resource mobilisation in this sector. Central excise duties are levied on a vast number of commodities, and it could be similarly argued that these duties have inhibited State Governments from levying Sales tax etc. at higher rates, and generally hindered their additional resource mobilisation efforts. For all other commodities also, the Central excise duty is being shared with the States. Nevertheless, it is not the practice, whether in a public sector enterprise or in the private sector, to set off the Central Excise duty paid to the Central Government, when computing the return on the investment in a commercial organisation (which the State Electricity Board is meant to be). What is really sought is a genuine cash return from the investments made. The principle implicit in the majority recommendation of the Commission, if conceded, could lead to unsound practices in various undertakings both in the Central and the State spheres for determining returns on the investments made. The principle adopted may thus blur the line of demarcation between what is a cost of production, and what is a return on the investment made. Taking the case of the State Electricity Boards a step further, there is no logical reason why the arrangement should cover only the Central Excise duty on electrical energy, and not the excise duty on coal (levied in the same budget) or the duty on furance oil, which also raised the cost of generation to a corresponding extent. It is significant that inclusion of the Central excise duty in the stipulated return would have widely disparate results so far as different States are concerned. Even if we were to omit the atypical States, the incidence of the Central excise duty is only 0.84 per cent in Assam and 1.03 per cent in Uttar Pradesh, but is as high as 4.30 per cent in Kerala. Thus, in making the projections, although the stipulated rate of return taken as a whole is 6 per cent, Kerala would have a substantial advantage as compared with Assam or Uttar Pradesh. Such discrimination to my mind appears to be unjustified. Again, it is open to the Government of India to withdraw or modify the rates of the Central Excise duty on electricity. There is no assurance that this will not be done in the next 5 years. Any such decision would thus cause deviations from the State forecasts, beyond the control of the State Government. This consideration would suggest that the recommended linkage is wrong in principle and should be avoided.

6. A return of 6 per cent without adjustment of duty, to be achieved in gradual stages by 1983-84 does not appear to be too oncrous a task. In Cols. 1 and 2 of the table below are given some figures* showing the net surplus for certain State Electricity Boards as a percentage of the cumulative block capital in completed works at the middle of the year for 1977-78 and 1978-79. The net surplus has been arrived at from the gross operating surplus by deducting subsidy from the Government, interest to institutional creditors, and transfers to Depreciation Reserve Fund and General Reserve Fund. For the same Boards/Mysore Power Corporation, the return on Government's investment for 1978-79 have been tabulated in Col. 4.

Table

Percentages									
State	1977-78	1978-79	Return on Govt. investment in 1978-79						
_1	2	3	4						
Andhra Pradesh	2.90	2.93	4.7						
Gujarat	2.02	0.81	1.3						
Karnataka	2.75	15.19	4.2						
Maharashtra	5.09	4.44	5.0						

Our Report shows that the World Bank has obtained undertakings that the electricity Board concerned should achieve a return of $9\frac{1}{2}$ per cent on what was termed as the average capital base. While this concept, of course, took note of the net value of assets in use, it also added 1/6th of the operation and maintenance expenditure (excluding depreciation). This return, exclusive of electricity duty, was more than achieved in several States during 1976-77 e.g. Assam, Gujarat, Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh, and Maharashtra, as detailed in the body of our report. The Venkataraman Committee laid down a norm of 6 per cent interest, 3 per cent profit and $\frac{1}{2}$ per cent appropriation to reserve - exclusive of a notional $1\frac{1}{2}$ per cent on account of electricity duty.

- 7. For road transport undertakings, we are stipulating a return of 6.5 per cent on the capital as a general rule, though lower rates have been adopted for the weaker units. The point worth emphasising is that for these undertakings we have NOT taken note of either the motor vehicles tax or the tax on passengers and goods, which also accrue to the State Government. By the same token, we should treat electricity undertakings similarly. Again, we are stipulating that over and above the interest on the loan component, other State Government enterprises should earn by 1983-84 a return of 5 per cent on the equity capital as it stood at the end of 1978-79. This return has been adopted despite the fact that in 1976-77 the return on share capital was only 1.15 per cent averaged out for the enterprises of all States. The return for all State Electricity Boards was higher at 1.5 per cent. Further, out of 434 State Government enterprises, as many as 121 were promotional enterprises and therefore could not be reasonably expected to yield high profits. All State Electricity Boards by statute are meant to be commercially viable. It may be recalled that we are stipulating a return of 7.5 per cent on equity investments by the Central Government in its undertakings, besides interests on loans, again to be achieved during the last year of our forecast period.
- 8. Having regard to the returns already achieved by the better-run State Electricity Boards as indicated above, the recommendations of the Venkataraman Committee, the undertaking to earn a return of 9½ per cent given to the World Bank, and its over fulfil ment in

^{*} Source: Secretariat Compilations.

some cases, and the returns we ourselves are stipulating for Central and State enterprises, I am of the view that an unadjusted 6 per cent rate of return on the massive capital sunk in electricity undertakings is not an unfair proposition. I would also suggest that for the relatively weak units, the stipulated return need be achieved in gradual stages only during the final year, 1983-84. The financial effects of doing so are indicated in Annex 2 prepared by the Secretariat of the Commission at my instance. If a 6 per cent rate of return on Government investments is stipulated for each year, the credit to be given to the State Government budgets in the aggregate would be Rs. 2211 crores over the forecast period (col. 2 of Annex 1 x 5). If, however, State Electricity Boards are gradually expected to achieve a return of 6 per cent in the final year with progressive improvement in their working, then the contribution in aggregate terms during the forecast period would be Rs. 1449 crores (Annex 2). According to the majority recommendations of the Commission, however, after setting off the electricity duty and the Central excise duty, the total contribution to the State budgets by these undertakings would be Rs. 1101 crores (Col. 7 of Annex I). This would suggest that the return proposed by me is feasible, calling for only a moderate improvement over what the majority has assumed but with the advantage that unsound practices for computing returns need not be introduced. It will be recalled that these investments do not include fresh investments during the forecast period, and also have a fair proportion of investments made when prices of plant and equipment were such lower.

- 9. My impression is that there is enormous scope for improving the efficiency of most State Electricity Boards and certain reports on the functioning of particular bodies are highly disconcerting. There is also scope for fixing tariffs in a more business-like manner, specially in the agricultural sector where heavy losses are being incurred. The increases in procurement prices of first wheat and now paddy and coarse grains should enable revisions to be undertaken without causing hardship. The nation is entitled to a proper return from the massive investments made in the power sector, which will continue to grow rapidly, specially when such a return is achievable with more efficient management and economic tariffs. The assumption made by a body such as the Finance Commission, and its general attitude in financial matters, has effects spreading well beyond the transfer of funds from the Centre to the States. Having regard to the overall national interest, this Finance Commission should not, in my view, adopt too relaxed an approach to the question of the rate of return expected from investments in State Electricity Boards.
- 10. In making these comments, I would like to clarify that the intention is not to modify in any way the existing terms and conditions as between the State Government and the State Electricity Board. The purpose of laying down a particular rate of return is merely to arrive at a notional figure of the likely returns during the forecast period and thereafter to assess the financial position of the State Governments on a uniform basis and in a normative manner.
- 11. Our terms of reference require us to have regard amongst other considerations to the revenue resources of the States for the five years ending with 1983-84 on the basis of the levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of 1978-79 and the targets set for additional resource mobilisation for the Plan. In arriving at these targets, it has been decided by the majority of the Commission that the revenue from the Central excise duty on electricity generated by the State Electricity Boards and by the departmental undertakings of the State Government should be excluded also from this target. This has resulted in a reduction of the target for all the States combined from Rs. 452.17 crores to Rs. 326.84 crores after adjusting the Central excise duty on electricity amounting to Rs. 125.33 crores per annum. In my view, the preceding arguments for not adjusting the Central excise duty against the stipulated return, have equal validity for not making a corresponding adjustment in the target of additional resource mobilisation adopted by the State Government. This tax having

been imposed by the Centre should not count as a resource mobilisation effort by the State Government. When the target was initially fixed in consultation with the State Government concerned, and accepted by it. Even if it is contended that the levy of a Central Excise duty on electricity generation has inhibited State Governments from raising additional resources, this consideration would apply only with respect to a very limited field, namely, the electricity tariff, and not over the entire field of State taxation. Further, as pointed out in paragraph 5 above, the Government of India can withdraw or modify the Central Excise Duty on electricity at any time. This would effect the State budget, but not the target of additional resource mobilisation adjusted for the present rates of duty. Thus, an element of uncertainty is injected by the linkage into the State forecasts, over which the State Government has no control. Finally, I would add that the decision of the majority to set off the Central Excise duty on electricity generation once against the stipulated return of 6 per cent on the capital invested by the State Government in its State Electricity Board, and again by lowering the target of additional resource mobilisation by an amount equivalent to the duty, confers a double benefit on the State. This arrangement appears to me to be unduly liberal, especially when the Government of India and the Finance Commission are transferring the entire proceeds of the Central Excise duty on electricity back to the States, as against the general ratio of about 40 per cent for the devolution of Central Excise duties.

> H.N. Ray 25.10.1978

Annex.1

Statement showing net returns from State Electricity Boards and departmental undertakings during 1979-84 on the basis of Commission's decision

(Rs. lakhs)

STATES	Government investments as on 31, 3, 79	6% of Col. 2	on ov erati	8 paise unit 4 to	from eratio	K to	after deducing Excise Duty and Electricity Duty to be adopted for reassess- ment for each year 1979-86 to	Net retur t- in (Col. 6 x5)during 5 years 1979-84	receipts	given le (K)
				Col. 2		Col. 2	1983-84 Col. 5- (4+5)			
(1)	(2)	(3)	4 (a)	4(0)	5(a)	5(b)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
		(0)		- (0)						
1. Andhra Pradesh										
State Electricity	Board 41458	2487	830	2,002	•	-	1657	8285	11057	(K) In this col. the
Departmental	19850	1191	96	0.484	£	-	1095	5475	792	figures represent
2. Assam	13858	831	117	0.844	43	0.310	671	3355	Nil	interest receipts
3. Bihar	30913	1855	400	1, 293	275	0.889	1180	5900	Nil	assumed for 1979-84
4. Gujarat	35835	2150	900	2, 512	1764	4, 922	(-) 514	(-) 2570	934	in the State forecast.
5. Haryana	25726	1544	494	1, 920	925	3, 595	125	625	8125	In the case of depart-
6. Himachal Prades		428	85	1, 192	10	0. 140	333	1665	Nil	mental undertakings,
7. Jammu & Kashmi		1143	94	0. 494	54	0. 283	995	4975	Nil	figures represent
8. Karnataka	38535	2312	866	2, 247	725	1.881	721	3605 354	7+7102 MPC	surpluses after meet-
o. Mariataka	05000	2012	000				11.47.77.			ing working expenses
9. Kerala	18875	1133	611	4, 297	650	3. 444	(-) 328	(-) 1640	2644	If there are no sur-
10. Madhya Pradesh	52299	3138	865	1. 654	1228	2, 348	1045	5225	88	pluses, nil has been
11. Maharashtra	02203	510 0	000	1, 001	1020	2.010				shown. In the State
State Electricity	Board 70014	4753	1668)						1 11084	forecasts, if no
	20385	1223		9 500	924	0.928	2556	12780	9612(LM)	
Departmental	20355	1223	020)	2.506	924	0. 326	2330	12100) 3012(LIM)	are assumed from
10 11 :- 6	1446	87		0, 276	-	_	83	4158	Nil	the SEB's "Nil" has
12. Manipur £	1446		43	1. 326	15	-	136	680	Nil	been shown.
13. Meghalaya	3241	194	1	0.068	- 10	##.	87	435	Nil	Door ollowin
14. Nagaland £	1460	88	1	0. 003	7		0.	400	MIL	
15. Orissa	Doord scene	1111	Eans		F0.4		222	(-) 10	605	4
State Electricity		1111	529)	0 011	584	9 905				
Departmental	571	34	46)	3.011	51	3. 325	- 65	(-) 315	- 0266	
16. Punjab	64849	3891	656	1.011	1195	1,842	2040	10200	9366	
17. Rajasthan	28396	4704	594	1, 775	263		937	4685	3789	
18. Sikkim [£]	366	22	1	0. 273	-	1	21	105	Nil	
19. Tamil Nadu	33062	1984	660	1, 996	196		1128	5640	Nil	
20. Tripura E	2746	165	4	0. 145	-		161	805	Nil	
21. Uttar Pradesh	155025	9302	1590	1, 026	584		7128	35640	3425	
22. West Bengal	24181	1451	441	1,824	175		835	4175	Nil	
All States	736987	44221	12533		9465)		22934*)	114670 *	71470	
					,			(-) 4535		

[£] Departmental schemes

^{*}Excludes surplus returns in excess of prescribed returns for 3 States Gujarat, Kerala and Orissa.

Annex_1 Statement showing net returns from State Electricity Boards and departmental undertakings during 1979-84 on the basis of Commission's decision

(Rs. lakhs)

		Government investments	6% of		se Duty vn gen-		tricity Duty	Net return after deduc	Net return	Interest receipts i	rom
	STATES			erati @ 1, 8	eration @ 1, 8 paise per unit		on	ing Excise Duty and Electricity Duty to be adopted for reassess-	x5)during 5 years 1979–84	SEBs as a in the State forecasts 1979-84	e (K)
								ment for each vear			
					% to		% to	1979-8C to			
					Col. 2		Col. 2	1983-84			
								Col. 5- (4+5)			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	4 (a)	4(b)	5(a)	5(b)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
_	Andria Pradesh	3 49 45	0405	696	2, 002			1657	8285	11057	(K) In this col. the
	State Electricity Boar		2487	830 96		-	-	1095	5475	792	figures represent
	Departmental	19850	1191	117	0, 484 0, 844	43	0.310	671	3355	NII	interest receipts
	Assam	13858	831	400	1, 293	275	0. 889	1180	59 0 0	Nil	assumed for 1979-84
	Bihar	30913	1855			1764	4. 922		(-) 2570	934	in the State forecast.
	ujarat -	35835	2150	900	2, 512	925	3. 595	(~) 514 125	625	8125	In the case of depart
	laryana	25726	1544	494	1, 920			333	1665	Nil	mental undertakings,
	fimachal Pradesh	7128	428	85	1, 192	10	0. 140		4975	Nil Nil	figures represent
	lammu & Kashmir £	19 043	1143	94	0. 494	54	0. 283	995			
8. k	Karnataka	35535	2312	866	2, 247	725	1.881	721	3609 394	+1102 MPC	surpluses after meet ing working expenses
9 k	Kerala	18875	1133	611	4. 297	650	3. 444	(-) 328	(~) 16 4 0	2644	If there are no sur-
	Madhva Pradesh	52299	3138	865	1, 654	1228	2, 348	1045	5225	88	pluses, nil has been
-	Maharashtra				-,	- -	_•				shown. In the State
	State Electricity Boar	d 79214	4753	1668)						11084	forecasts, if no
	Departmental	20385	1223		2.506	924	0.928	2556	12780		interest receipts are assumed from
12 N	Manipur £	1446	87	. 4	0. 276	_	-	83	415F	Nil	the SEB's "Nil" has
	Meghalava	3241	194	43	1. 326	15	-	136	680	Nil	been shown.
	Vagaland £	1460	88	1	6.068	-		87	435	Nil	
	rissa			_							
	State Electricity Boar	d 18525	1111	529)		584		-	(-) 10	605	,
)epartmental	571	34	46)	3.011	51	3, 325		(-) 315	•	
	Punjab	64849	3891	656	1, 011	1195	1.842	2040	10200	9366	
_	runjao Rajasthan	28396	4704	594	1. 775	263		937	4685	3789	
	Sikkim [£]	366	22	1	0, 273	-	(21	105	Nil	
	Tamil Nadu	33062	1984	660	1, 996	196	•	1128	5640	Nil	
	Cripura ^E	2746	165	4	0. 145	-		161	805	Nil	
	Ittar Pradesh	155025	9302	1590	1, 026	584		7128	35640	3425	
	West Bengal	24181	1451	441	1, 824	175		835	4175	3423 Nil	
<i></i> , 1	Mens wellen	###U#	~701	***	-, 447	2.0			11.0		
	All States	736987	44221	12533		9465)		22934*)	114670 *	71470	
								(-) 907)	(-) 4535		

[£] Departmental schemes

^{*}Excludes surplus returns in excess of prescribed returns for 3 State/ Gujarat, Kerala and Orissa.

Annex. 2

Progressive returns to State Governments during 1979-84 on loans advanced to Electricity

Boards and outstanding on 31, 3, 1979 (Adopting returns in 1978-79 as base
and reaching the level of 6% in 1983-84)

(Rs. lakhs)

		Investment	Net	% Col. 3						
	States	as on	returns	to						Total
		31. 3. 1979*	· ·	Col. 2	1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84	1979-84
1.	Andhra Pradesh	41458	1929	4. 7	2041	2152	2264	2375	2487	11319
2.	Assam	13858	-131	-1.0	61	254	4.46	639	831	2231
3.	Bihar	30913	-988	-3, 2	-419	149	718	1286	1855	3589
4.	Gujarat	35835	474	1. 3	809	1144	1479	1815	2150	7397
5.	Haryana	25726	888	3, 5	1019	1150	1281	1412	1544	6406
6.	Himachal Practesh	7128	-	:=	86	171	257	342	428	1284
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	19043	- 22	-0. L	211	144	677	910	1143	3385
8.	Kamataka (EB+MPC)	38535	1639	4. 2	1774	1908	2043	2177	2312	10214
9.	Kerala	18875	520	2.8	642	764	887	1010	1135	4436
10.	Madhya Pradesh	52299	502	1.0	1029	1556	2083	2610	3138	10416
11.	Maharashtra	79214	3979	5, 0	4133	4288	4443	4598	4753	22215
12.	Meghalaya	33241	-50	-1.5	-2	47	96	145	194	480
13.	411111111111111111111111111111111111111	18525	-73	-0. 4	164	401	638	875	1112	3190
14.	Punjab	64849	1590	2. 5	2050	2510	29 70	3430	3891	14851
15.	Rajasthan	28396	-130	-0. 5	236	603	970	1337	1704	4850
16.	Tamil Nadu	33062	-15	-0.05	384	784	1184	1584	1984	5920
17.	Uttar Pradesh	155025	1185	0. 8	2808	4432	6055	7679	9302	30276
18.	West Bengal	24181	-937	-3, 9	-459	18	496	973	1451	2479
	All Boards	690163	10360	1, 5	16567	22775	28987	35197	41412	144938

Source: Net returns shown for 1978-79 are from Secretariat's compilations

Note: Excludes all departmental schemes.

^{*}Loans advanced and outstanding on 31, 3, 1979 with State Electricity Boards and MPC.

Annex. 2

Progressive returns to State Governments during 1979-84 on loans advanced to Electricity

Boards and outstanding on 31. 3. 1979 (Adopting returns in 1978-79 as base
and reaching the level of 6% in 1983-84)

(Rs. lakbs)

		Investment	Net	% Col. 3						
	States	മട നാ	returns	to						Total
		31. 3. 1979*	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Col. 2	1079-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84	1979-84
1.	Andhra Pradesh	41458	1929	4, 7	204!	2152	2264	2375	2487	11319
2.	Assam	13858	-101	-1. O	6.1	254	446	639	831	2231
3.	Bihar	30913	-983	-3, 2	-419	149	718	1286	1855	3589
4.	Gujarat	35835	474	1, 3	309	1144	1479	1815	2150	7397
5.	Haryana	25726	888	3, 5	1019	1150	1281	1412	1544	6406
6.	Himachal Pradesh	7128	-	_	86	171	257	342	428	1294
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	19043	- 2 2	-0, I	211	114	677	910	1143	3365
8.	Kamataka (EB+MPC)	3 85 3 5	1639	4. 2	1774	1908	2043	2177	2312	10214
9.	• • •	18875	520	2.8	642	764	887	1010	1135	4436
10.	Madhya Pradesh	52299	502	1, 0	1029	1556	2083	2610	3138	10416
11.	Maharashtra	79214	3979	5, 0	4133	4288	4443	4598	4753	22215
12.	Meghalaya	33241	-50	-1.5	- ;;	47	96	145	194	480
	Orisea	18525	-73	-0. 4	164	401	638	875	1112	3190
	Punjab	64849	1590	2. 5	2050	251 0	29 70	3430	3891	14851
	Rajasthan	28396	-130	-0, 5	236	603	970	1337	1704	4850
16.	Tamil Nado	33062	-15	-0.05	384	784	1184	1584	1984	5920
17.	Uttar Pradesh	155025	1185	0, 8	2808	4432	6055	7679	9302	30276
	West Bengal	24181	-937	-3.9	-459	18	496	973	1451	2479
	All Boards	690163	10360	1. 5	16567	22775	28987	35197	41412	144938

Source: Net returns shown for 1978-79 are from Secretariat's compilations

Noie: Excludes all departmental schemes.

^{*}Loans advanced and outstanding on 31. 3. 1979 with State Electricity Boards and MPC.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE NOTE OF SHRI H.N. RAY

We have adopted a normative return of six per cent every year on the investments of State Governments in electricity boards and departmental electricity undertakings, effective from 1979-80 onwards. We consider this realistic, since we have kept in mind the actual achievements in 1976-77 and the estimates thereafter in States which have shown good results as well as the States at the other end of the scale. We also feel that as Commission it would be incorrect for us to stipulate lower normative returns than the last Commission did. Any States which achieve better returns than the norms would thereby augment their resources for their plans. Having decided upon a norm we feel it would be fair, and a recognition of good performance, if we ignore additional returns earned by any State over the norm for the purpose of estimations of the receipts of the State Government. This is what we have done.

- 2. Shri Ray has observed that the inclusion of the Central excise duty in the normative return leads to disperate results in the different States, in that the Central excise duty element in the return is different in different States. This will be so, for reasons like the different load patterns and varying transmission and distribution losses in the States. Even more important, since our calculation is on the investment of the State Government, and not the total investment, the results are bound to be different. The proportion of State Government investment in the total investment in electricity boards varies widely between the States.
- 3. Apart from the above, our view basically is that the levy of the Central excise duty definitely is a factor which inhibits the freedom of the States to adjust electricity tariffs, in the same manner as electricity duty levied by the State Government does. We have to recognise that there are limits at any point of time to the levels of tariffs for the consumers, irrespective of whether additional earnings from them are retained by the electricity boards or given to the State Government or to the Central Government. This position stands irrespective of the merits of the much wider question raised by Shri Ray in para 5 of his note. We also note that the Central Government has decided in effect that the revenue from its Central excise duty on electricity should go back to the States.
- 4. Shri Ray feels that it is not correct to set off the Central excise levy on electricity both against the additional resource mobilisation targets of the States for 1978-79 and against the return on investments in electricity. This, we are afraid, misses a crucial point, namely, that when the targets were fixed there was no knowledge that there would be a Central levy on electricity of the order of 1/3rd of the total resource mobilisation targets of the States. It is well known that electricity tariffs and duty are an important areas for States to raise resources for their plans. We, therefore, consider it would be impractical to maintain for our purposes the original resource mobilisation targets for this year. We note that the Central Government's decision to retransfer the Central excise should ease to some extent the States' mobilisation effort.

J.M. Shelat

Raj Krishna

C.H. Hanumantha Rao

V.B. Eswaran

New Delhi, October 28, 1978. JOINT NOTE BY PROF. RAJ KRISHNA AND SHRIH. N. RAY ON COMPENSATION TO STATES FOR THE LOSS OF REVENUE CONSEQUENT ON THE PROGRESSIVE INTRODUCTION OF PROHIBITION.

- 1. The Finance Commission has projected the revenues from State excise duties under the head '039' at a static level from 1979-80 onwards during the forecast period on the basis of such decisions for the progressive introduction of prohibition as they have actually implemented during 1978-79 and about which the Commission has information. However, we have not been able to agree with the recommendations of our other distinguished colleagues for meeting the loss of excise revenue consequent on the progressive introduction of prohibition during the forecast period. Our understanding is that besides the compensation already agreed to by the Government of India, and computed on the basis of 50 per cent of the established loss of excise revenue each year, treating the actual excise revenue of 1977-78 as the base, our colleagues have recommended in the majority report that the Government of India should also make good to each State Government annually the balance of the loss of excise revenue consequent on the progressive introduction of prohibition. The following paragraphs explain our point of view and give the reasons for our not being able to go along with the majority of the Commission.
- 2. Though the Finance Commission was in session, the Government of India have communicated their decisions regarding compensation to the States for loss of excise revenue pursuant to the implementation of the prohibition policy / vide their letter No. 11012/18/78-PR(Vol. III) dated the 3rd August, 1978_/. In this communication, they have made it clear that the compensation will be limited to 50 per cent of the established loss of revenue each year and have also indicated with some degree of precision how the established loss is to be computed. The States have been expressly informed that they would be expected to devise ways and means of meeting the balance loss. It is our view that the present Finance Commission is not called upon by its terms of reference, to suggest any modification of the decision of the Government of India with regard to these compensatory payments. This view is re-inforced by the wording of paragraph 4 of the communication of the 3rd of August, 1978 where the Government of India presumes that the States would have projected their revenues to the Finance Commission on the basis of the national policy which envisages complete prohibition within a period of four years. The communication thereafter adds that it would be for the Commission to take a view on the question of devolution of funds with reference to the resources position disclosed in the forecasts and other relevant factors. It seems clear, therefore, that the Finance Commission was not expected to make good loss of excise revenue fully in all cases and it was left to it to take a view having regard to the overall financial position of each State and of the Government of India and all other relevant factors. The same position has been re-affirmed in letter No. P. 11012/18/78-PR dated 4th of August from the Department of Social Welfare addressed to the Member-Secretary of the Seventh Finance Commission. It has been reiterated in letter No. PF/R-9(50)74/Vol. V dated 16th of September, 1978 from the Finance Secretary, Government of India to the Member-Secretary, Finance Commission that the State Governments were expected to devise ways and means to recoup the likely loss of the balance of excise revenue by other measures. This communication clarifies that the Government of India have been guided by the consideration that it should be possible for the States to make up the balance (after 50 per cent has been compensated by the Government; of India) through higher realisation of revenue from some of the existing taxes like sales tax and entertainment tax. The introduction of prohibition was expected to divert some purchasing power from expenditure on liquor to expenditure on other goods and on entertainment, some of which are subject to State taxation.

- 3. The prohibition policy is implemented in pursuance of the Directive Principles of State Policy incorporated in Article 47 of the Constitution. The duty is cast upon "the State" to bring about prohibition of the consumption of intoxicating drinks, and is thus an obligation not only of the Government of India but also of the Government of each State and of all local and other authorities in India (vide Articles 36 and 12 of the Constitution defining "the State"). Duties of excise on alcoholic liquors etc. for human consumption figure in Entry 51 of List II to the Seventh Schedule and this excise is solely a State subject. All decisions regarding prohibition have to be implemented by the State Governments themselves within their respective territories. The costs involved and the benefits accruing from the implementation of prohibition, which is an accepted national policy should, therefore, be shared jointly by both the Central Government and by all the State Governments concerned.
- 4. Though the Finance Commission have projected receipts from State excise duties at a static level from 1979-80 onwards for all the States, the actual receipts under this head will depend largely upon the decisions taken by the concerned State Governments for implementing the prohibition policy and upon the phasing of the programme adopted. The Government of India is committed to compensate the States only to the extent of 50 per cent of the established loss and it is expected that the State Governments would be able to mop up through other tax and non-tax sources a part of the income that would otherwise have been spent on the purchase of liquor. The balance left after taking credit for the Government of India's compensation of 50 per cent may or may not be made good by these measures and by the partial diversion of alcohol (which would otherwise have been consumed as liquor) to industrial and transportation uses. Some States may experience financial difficulty with the progressive introduction of prohibition, since we have projected excise revenues from potable liquor under head 039 at a static level from 1979-80 onwards. This is likely because the loss occasioned by prohibition would only be partially compensated by the Government of India and the balance of the loss remaining uncovered may result in strain for the weaker States. It may be in conformity with the provisions of Article 275 to make additional grants to this category of States. For this purpose, the Government of India may keep the position under review, and make suitable additional grants, depending upon the pace at which prohibition is introduced and the actual loss of revenue sustained below the static level projected by us for a particular State.
- 5. But this consideration may not apply to States which are left by the recommended scheme of devolution of taxes etc. with a sizeable surplus even after meeting their non-Plan revenue needs. The surpluses left under this scheme are indeed substantial in the cases of Maharashtra (Rs.3005 crores), Punjab (Rs.817 crores), and Haryana (Rs.678 crores), having regard to their size.* To us, it appears adequate that the Centre should have agreed to compensate those States which are thus favourably circumstanced to the extent of only 50 per cent of the established loss incurred for implementing an accepted national prohibition policy for which they share joint responsibility with the Centre. We see no valid reason why additional Central funds should be expended for the purpose of maintaining their surpluses inviolate, and insulting them from the effects of implementing a prohibition policy which ex-hypothesi will benefit their citizens. It is recognised that in such a situation, implementation of the prohibition policy may result in a smaller balance from current revenues becoming available for financing the State Plan, but this factor should not, in our view, justify the payment of additional compensation by the Government of India over and above 50 per cent of the established loss already promised.

^{*} These are also large but different under the scheme of Prof. Raj Krishna.

They could take various measures to offset this loss even if the additional purchasing power released by prohibition does not bring substitute revenue e.g. mobilise additional resources, or curtail non-priority expenditure.

- 6. According to the scheme of devolution and grants-in-aid adopted in the majority report of the Commission, while all States will be left with a surplus, in some cases, these surpluses will be marginal whereas in other cases they will be substantial. In order to make the figures comparable, we have computed the per capita surpluses taking into account transfers under the heads (i) income tax, (ii) basic excise other than electricity duty, (iii) Central excise on electricity generation, (iv) additional excise in lieu of sales tax, (v) grants in lieu of railway fares, and (vi) grants under Article 275 including provisions for upgradation of administration. The per capita surpluses range from Rs.14.73 in the case of Orissa to Rs.678 in the case of Haryana. We have considered the level of the per capita surplus at which a State may be deemed to be in a relatively strong financial position. We are of the view that this cut-off point may be a per capita surplus of Rs.300/- after taking the above mentioned transfer into account. On this basis, the following States would be entitled to compensation over and above the already promised level of 50 per cent for loss of excise revenue occasioned by progressive introduction of prohibition in order to allow them some flexibility for financing their plans:-
 - 1. Andhra Pradesh
 - 2. Assam
 - 3. Bihar
 - 4. Himachal Pradesh
 - 5. Jammu & Kashmir
 - 6. Kerala
 - 7. Madhya Pradesh
 - 8. Manipur
 - 9. Meghalaya
 - 10. Nagaland
 - 11. Orissa
 - 12. Rajasthan
 - 13. Sikkim
 - 14. Tripura
 - 15. Uttar Pradesh
 - 16. West Bengal

On the other hand, the following States would be compensated only to the extent of 50 per cent of the established loss of excise revenue occasioned by the introduction of prohibition, as the Government of India have already agreed to:-

- 1. Haryana
- 2. Karnataka
- 3. Maharashtra
- 4. Punjab

The two remaining States of Gujarat and Tamil Nadu introduced prohibition long ago and are not covered by the scheme. The arrangement we have proposed is not very different in outcome from what the Commission has unanimously adopted to determine the eligibility of States for upgradation grants.

- 7. The Centre's resources together with those of the States constitute a common pool for financing not only non-Plan expenditure but also the Central and State Plans. Implementation of the prohibition policy necessarily means forgoing revenue in the short run and has been deliberately adopted for the overall good of the people. In all fairness, therefore, the entire financial burden for the implementation of the policy should not be borne by the Centre alone as would be the result in practice of accepting the majority recommendation of the Finance Commission. This burden is by no means negligible as the present State excise revenues are of the order of Rs. 505 crores per annum (figure for 1976-77) and at a static level would amount to about Rs. 2,500 crores over a 5-year period. It is our view that those States which are favourably circumstanced and are in a position to bear a part of the loss resulting from the implementation of the prohibition policy should do so. Casting almost entire financial burden of implementing the prohibition policy upon the Government of India, as envisaged in the recommendations of the majority of the Commission, may result in inadequate transfer of funds to those States which necessarily rely upon Central assistance for their efficient functioning and development. It was perhaps because of these considerations that the Government of India agreed to bear only 50 per cent of the established loss. It is our view that the present Commission need not in equity recommend that the existing commitment of 50 per cent of the established loss be raised to 100 per cent in respect of all States whether resourceful or not.
- 8. It is worth referring to a side issue in this connection. The Government of India have informed the Commission that neither the Government of Gujarat nor the Government of Tamil Nadu which have implemented the policy of prohibition long ago would receive any grants-in-aid on this account (Letter No. P. 110012/18/78-PR dated 4th August, 1978). Both these Governments in their Memoranda to the Finance Commission have strongly urged that they should be compensated for their loss of excise revenue. These demands we have not accepted. These Governments were pioneers in the field of prohibition and implemented the Directive Principles with little, if any, assistance from the Centre. Their sense of grievance will not be assuaged if those States which now implement the prohibition policy long after Tamil Nadu and Gujarat have done so, are compensated to the extent of 100 per cent of their loss, while the latter States get nothing on this account.
- 9. It has been argued that if full provision for loss of revenue occasioned by prohibition is not made, the Finance Commission will lay itself open to the charge of coming in the way of prohibition. But in our view, this argument is untenable because the Central Government itself has stipulated that it would compensate the States only to the extent of 50 per cent of the established loss. The Finance Commission is in no way expected to provide more Central assistance than this stipulation except to otherwise weak States. It has also been argued that it will be difficult to justify any decision which draws a distinction between strong and weak States in the matter of prohibition assistance. But inter-State disparities are a reality and condition to some extent all devolution decisions by all Commissions. We see no reason, therefore, why States with large surpluses should not bear a part of the loss of excise revenue entailed by the prohibition policy.

Raj Krishna 25.10.1978 H.N.Ray 25.10.1978

OBSERVATIONS ON THE JOINT NOTE OF PROF. RAJ KRISHNA AND SHRI H.N. RAY

The basic question is whether any distinction should be made between States which are left with a revenue surplus as a result of our scheme of transfer of resources from the Centre, and those which are not. The majority of us believe that all the States need to be treated equally in respect of entitlement to Central assistance to cover loss of excise revenue from potable liquor resulting from steps taken by the States to enforce complete prohibition in accordance with the national policy. The surpluses we have left should be wholly available as Plan resources. These surpluses are the result of a scheme of devolution of taxes on principles applied uniformly to all the States. In our view, to make distinctions, as envisaged by Prof. Raj Krishna and Shri H.N. Ray, will be to detract from this uniform and impartial treatment of all States. We should also note that in our recommendation in regard to Central assistance to cover losses of excise revenue we have left out of account losses of revenue which would occur under the heads Sales tax and other taxes. These losses would have to be borne by the States concerned. We would also point out that the introduction of prohibition would mean loss of resources for the Plan of a larger order than would appear from the projections of excise revenue which we have adopted, i.e. at a static level.

It seems to us that the cut off point of per capita surplus of Rs. 300, adopted by Prof. Raj Krishna and Shri H.N. Ray in paragraph 6 of their note is arbitrary. Incidentally, since the surpluses referred to are for the period 1979-80 to 1983-84, one should take the projected population of those years for calculating the per capita surplus. If one takes the projected population for 1981, the per capita surplus of Karnataka would be Rs. 283, and not more than Rs. 300 as taken by Prof. Raj Krishna and Shri H.N. Ray.

J. M. Shelat

C.H. Hanumantha Rao

V.B. Eswaran

New Delhi, October 28, 1978

NOTE OF DISSENT BY PROF. RAJ KRISHNA ENTITLED "A MORE EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION OF RESOURCES"

I. Introduction and summary

The Seventh Finance Commission has unanimously made major progressive innovations in many aspects of the traditional scheme of resource transfer to the States. It has recommended a record amount of overall devolution from the Centre to the States. It has doubled the proportion of shareable excise revenue given to the States. Thus the total devolution is more than twice the devolution by the Sixth Commission. It has for the first time left significant surpluses with <u>all</u> States. And it has liberalised and rationalised general expenditure forecasts and earmarked provisions on account of relief expenditure, debt relief, increases in the emoluments of State Government employees and upgradation of the standards of public services.

- 2. But with regard to the distribution of the total transfer among different States, I have felt constrained, with utmost respect, to differ from my most distinguished colleagues. In my view the distribution should be more progressive so that larger resources are transferred to the most poverty-stricken States, hill States and specially handicapped States.
- 3. Therefore I have devised a formula, different from that of my colleagues, which does allocate more resources for these more deprived States.
- 4. The overall transfer in my scheme (Rs. 21862 crores) is larger only by about 5 per cent than the transfer under the majority scheme (Rs. 20843 crores) @. (See Table 1). The difference is mainly due to the fact that my projection of Central excise revenue in the next five years is higher by Rs. 1400 crores. (Table A. 3.) (The basis for this higher projection of Central excise revenue is explained in the Annex.) I also provide extra grants totalling Rs. 366 crores to eight hill States and two handicapped States. (Table A. 1)
- 5. Except the devolution of excise revenues and extra grants all components of the total transfer are exactly the same in the majority scheme and mine. The real difference between the two schemes lies in the amounts and shares allocated for different States.
- 6. Under my scheme, eight States with a large share of India's poverty population (West Bengal, Bihar and Orissa in Eastern India, Kerala and Tamil Nadu in Southern India, Uttar Pradesh and Madhya Pradesh in Central India and Rajasthan in Western India) get an extra total allocation of Rs. 2013 crores than under the majority scheme. (See Table 1.)
- 7. Eight hill States viz. Assam, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu and Kashmir, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim and Tripura* also get an extra transfer, amounting to Rs. 113 crores, under my scheme. (See Table 1.)
- @. In rounded figures. These figures exclude the provisions for natural calamity relief and for prohibition loss compensation. They also exclude the sum of Rs. 64 crores (the estate duty share) for its inter-State allocation is not available at present.
- * Tripura is only partly a hill State but because of its special feature it is conveniently placed in the hill group
- I am grateful to Shri K.B.L. Mathur for extremely competent research and statistical assistance in the preparation of this Note.

- 8. The remaining 6 States (Andhra Pradesh, Gujarat, Haryana, Karnataka, Maharashtra and Punjab) get a somewhat smaller transfer under my scheme. Although the poverty percentage **exceeds 5 per cent in Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka and Maharashtra (Table A.2) their entitlement is marginally reduced in my recommendations because their per capita income and revenues are relatively larger than those of other poverty-sticken States.
- 9. It has been shown by many researchers that Finance Commission transfers during the whole period 1956-77 have not been very progressive. I.S. Gulati and K.K. George (1978) have demonstrated that during the whole period upto the Fifth Plan the per capita statutory transfer to 4 States with the lowest per capita income was less than to 5 States with the highest per capita income. The six middle-income States also received less than the 5 States with the highest per capita income. A. Bagchi (1977) has shown that under the Sixth Finance Commission award 3 States with the lowest per capita income received smaller amounts per capita than the 5 States with the highest per capita income. In a recent study the National Institute of Public Finance and Policy (NIPFP) has also shown that

"some of the poorer States like Bihar, Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh have got substantially lower per capita transfers than the all States average both during the Annual Plan and the Fourth Plan periods." (NIPFP 1978).

- 10. This regressivity of past transfers has been one of the important causes of the persistent regional imbalances in resources availability and service levels. If the inherited disparities are to be reduced, the most important objective of the new devolution must be to introduce in inter-State allocation a high degree of progressivity. It is this over-riding need that has led me to recommend a more steeply graduated inter-State allocation than the majority allocation.
- 11. There are many ways in which the progressivity of different allocations may be compared. In the past the main method of evaluating progressivity has been to compare the per capita income and the per capita transfer of different States. Adopting this method, I have classified the States into 6 groups according to the level of their per capita income, with Group A having the highest and Group E the lowest income. The eight hill States form Group F. It can be observed in Table 2 that the average per capita allocation of the higher-income Group A and B is less under my scheme than under the majority scheme by about Rs. 103 and Rs. 31 respectively. But the average per capita allocation of the lower income Group C, D and E is higher in my scheme by Rs. 16, 39 and 88 respectively. And the extra allocation increases progressively for the poorer States. West Bengal gets more under my scheme although it belongs to Group B because it alone has about one-tenth of India's poverty population. The hill States too, of course, get Rs. 51 more per capita on the average in my scheme.

^{**} The Share of a State in the total poverty population of all States.

- 12. The poverty ratio* is clearly a much more sensitive indicator of the deprivation of a State than per capita income because it reflects the distribution of income as well as its level. Therefore we should also compare the poverty ratio and the per capita transfers of different States. I divide the 15 non-hill States simply into two Groups the Poor Group with more than 50 per cent poverty and the less Poor Group with less than 50 per cent poverty (See Table 3). It can be seen that my plan gives on the average Rs. 61 more per capita to the Poor Group than the majority plan. But the Less Poor Group get Rs. 50 per capita less in my plan than in the majority plan. The hill States get Rs. 51 more per capita in my plan.
- 13. Still another way of comparing allocations is to examine the per capita surpluses left with different States. The per capita surplus of a State is a very revealing indicator of the overall effect of the Finance Commission transfers on its finances. For the surplus reflects how much will be left with a State in excess of its projected revenue deficits/ surpluses as a result of the transfer. Per capita (own) revenue, per capita expenditure and per capita transfer are only partial indicators of the financial position of a State. But the per capita surplus equals own revenue plus transfer minus expenditure per capita; therefore it reflects the net result of all the partial elements. If we compare the per capita surpluses left with States under the majority scheme and my scheme we find, again, that under my scheme the per capita surpluses of the higher income Groups A and B are smaller and those of Groups C, D, E and F larger than under the majority scheme. (See Table 2). If States are classified by poverty ratios, the Poor Group and the hill States get more surpluses per capita with my formula than under the majority formula (Table 3).
- 14. Moreover, whereas in the majority scheme the largest per capita surplus left (Rs. 676 for Haryana) is 45 times the smallest (Rs. 15 for Orissa), the ratio under my scheme is only 6 (Table 3). In other words my allocation significantly reduces the disparity in the net financial position of the States resulting from the statutory transfer.
- 15. Examining total surpluses left (Table 4) we see that it has been possible to give significantly more surpluses to 16 poor States by reducing the surpluses of the better-off States by small amounts Maharashtra from Rs. 3000 crores to Rs. 2600 crores, Gujarat from Rs. 1100 crores to Rs. 900 crores, Haryana from Rs. 700 crores to Rs. 600 crores and Punjab from Rs. 800 crores to Rs. 650 crores (in rounded figures).
- 16. Since the whole Indian nation is a Commonwealth the better endowed States should not grudge small reductions in their large surpluses for the sake of improving substantially the financial position of their weaker neighbours.

^{*.} The proportion of poor people in the total population of each State.

^{@.} On the revenue account with which the Finance Commission is mainly concerned.

Table I

TOTAL STATE ALLOCATIONS - MAJORITY
REPORT AND THIS NOTE

States		Majority Allocation (MA) (Rs. crores)	Krishna Allocation (KA) (Rs. crores)		oifference KA-MA)
	1	2	3		4
1.	Andhra Pradesh	1522.49	1416.95	(-)	105, 54
2.	Assam	518.65	55 6, 37	(+)	37.72
3.	Bihar	2212.87	3143.54	(+)	930.67
4.	Gujarat	963.87	758.01	(-)	205.86
5.	Haryana	308.57	208.99	(-)	99.58
6.	Himachal Pradesh	325 .07	351,93	(+)	26.86
7.	Jammu and Kashmir	376.89	404.78	(+)	27, 89
8.	Karnataka	1005.00	904.25	(-)	100.75
9.	Kerala	770.34	843.19	(+)	72.85
0.	Madhya Pradesh	1597.46	1837.13	(+)	239.67
1.	Maharashtra	1714.06	1289.28	(-)	424.78
2.	Manipur	194.03	194.81	(+)	0.78
3.	Meghalaya	134.15	139.41	(+)	5.26
4.	Nagaland	240.59	241.42	(+)	0.83
5.	Orissa	984.45	1171.64	(+)	187.19
6.	Punjab	419.53	249.64	(-)	169.89
7.	Rajasthan	902.81	920.90	(+)	18.69
8.	Sikkim	36.85	38.30	(+)	1.45
9.	Tamil Nadu	1503.60	1613.78	(+)	110.18
0.	Tripura	199.84	211.79	(+)	11.95
1.	Uttar Pradesh	3314.74	3691.15	(+)	376.41
22.	West Bengal	1597.11	1674. 56	(+)	77,45
	Total:	20842.97	21861, 82	(+)	1018.85

TABLE 2

TRANSFERS AND SURPLUSES PER CAPITA OF GROUPS
OF STATES IN MAJORITY REPORT AND THIS NOTE

146

		Average		Per Capita Transfers			Per C		Differ-
	.	per Capita	Group	(Rs.			Surplu		ence
	States	Income	Average		Krishna		_	Krish-	(KA-MA
		Rs.		Alloca-		(KA-MA)		na	
				tion	tion		(MA)	(KA)	•
				(MA)	(K A)				
_	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	Group A								•
1.	Punjab	1586 J		310	184		597	472	
	Haryana	1399 🛚	1445	307	209		676	57 7	
3.	Maharashtra	1349 ¶		340	256		596	512	
_	Average			319	216	- 103	623	520	- 183
_	Group B						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
4.	Gujarat	1134 [361	284		423	345	
	Karnataka	1045	1071	343	309		343	309	
-	West Bengal	1033		360	378		157	187	
	Average			355	324	- 31	308	280	- 28
_	Group C								
		- A- =							
	Kerala	948 [361	395		112	146	
	Tamil Nadu	942	939	365	392		159	186	
9.	Andhra Pradesh	928 [340	326		217	192	
	Average	-		355	371	+ 16	163	175	+ 12
	Group D								
0.	Rajasthan	853		350	357		85	100	
1.	Orissa	793	812	449	534		15	100	
2.	Assam	791		355	380		74	100	
	Average		385	385	424	+ 39	58	100	+ 42
_	Group E								
	Madhya Pradesh	776 🛚		383	44 1		282	341	
4,	Uttar Pradesh	715 🖡	712	375	418		233	276	
5.	Bihar	645 I		393	558		205	370	
	Average			384	472	+ 88	240	329	+ 89
	Group F								
	Himachal Pradesh	1068 I		940	1017		22	100	
	Jammu and Kashm			816	877		40	100	
-	Manipur	870 l		1808	1816		93	100	
9.	Meghalaya	850 i	867	1326	1378		48	100	
0.	Nagaland	820		4663	4679		84	100	
1.	81kkim	820 I		1755	1824		31	100	
2.	Tripura	830 i		1284	1361		23	100	
	Average			1799	1850	+ 54	49	100	+ 51
_									

TABLE 3

TRANSFERS AND SURPLUSES PER CAPITA OF STATES, ORDERED BY POVERTY RATIOS, IN MAJORITY REPORT AND THIS NOTE

	Poverty	Transfer Pe	r Capita (Rs.) Differ-	Surplus for	c Capita (Rs.	Differ-
States	ratio	Majority	Krishna	ence	Majority	Krishna	ence
		Allocation	Allocation	(KA-MA)	Allocation	Allocation	(KA-MA)
		(MA)	(KA)				
1	2	3	4	5	6.	7	8
The Poor Group							
Orissa	67.50	449	534		. 15	100	
Bihar	64.06	393	558		205	370	
West Bengal	62.28	360	378		157	187	
Kerala	62,25	361	395		112	146	
Tamil Nadu	60.71	365	392		159	186	
Madhya Pradesh	57.50	383	441		282	341	
Uttar Pradesh	50.38	375	418		233	276	
Average		384	445	+ 61	166	229	+ 63
The Less Poor Gro	up						
Karnataka	49.44	343	309		343	309	
Andhra Pradesh	47.85	340	326		217	192	
Gujarat	44.88	361	284		423	345	
Maharashtra	43.99	340	256		596	512	
Rajasthan	43.50	350	357		85	100	
Assam	32.95	355	380		74	100	
Haryana	32.24	307	209		676	577	
Punjab	21.62	310	184		597	472	
Average		338	288	- 50	376	326	- 50
The Hill Group							
Himachal Pradesh	32.95	940	1017.		. 22	100	
Jammu & Kashmir	32.95	816	877		40	100	
Manipur	32.95	1808	1816		93	100	
Meghalaya	32.95	1326	1378		48	100	
Nagaland	32.95	4663	4679		84	100	
Sikkim	32.95	1755	1824		31	100	
Tripura	62.28	1284	1361		23	100	
Average		1799	1850	+51	49	100	+ 51

TABLE 4

PROJECTED NET SURPIJUSES - MAJORITY AWARD AND THIS NOTE

	States	Majority	Krishna	Difference
		Allocation	Allocation	(KA-MA)
		(MA)	(KA)	(Rs. crores)
		(Rs. crores)	(Rs. crores)	
	1	2	3	4
1.	Andhra Pradesh	942.67	837.16	- 105.51
2.	Assam	108.53	146, 25	+ 37.72
3.	Bihar	1155.30	2086.01	+ 930.71
	Gujarat	1127.98	922.13	- 205.85
	Haryana	678, 61	579.05	- 99.56
6.	Himachal Pradesh	7.74	34.60	+ 26,87
7.	Jammu and Kashmir	18.28	46, 17	+ 27.89
8.	Karnataka	1006.14	905.40	- 100.74
9.	Kerala	239.21	312.08	+ 72.87
0.	Madhya Pradesh	1174. 79	1419.20	+ 244, 41
1.	Maharashtra	3004.73	2579.98	- 424.75
2.	Manipur	9.95	10.73	+ 0.78
3.	Meghalaya	4.86	10.12	+ 5.26
4.	Nagaland	4.33	5.16	+ 0.83
5.	Orissa	32.26	219.45	+ 187.19
6.	Punjab	809.50	639.61	- 169.89
7.	Rajasthan	220.27	257.66	+ 37.39
8.	Sikkim	0, 65	2.10	+ 1.45
9.	Tamil Nadu	654.57	765.78	+ 111,21
0.	Tripura	3, 61	15.56	+ 11.95
1.	Uttar Pradesh	2055.81	2439.59	+ 383.78
2.	West Bengal	739.77	826.41	+ 86.64
	Total:	13999.56	15060.20	+1064.64

II. The Difference Between Devolution Formulae

- 17. In many respects there is no difference between the majority approach and my approach to devolution. The Commission has unanimously decided to transfer 85 per cent of the net income-tax revenue and 40 per cent of the shareable excise revenues to the States.
 - 18. Three of the criteria used in the main report and in this Note are common, viz.,
 - (i) Total Population.
 - (ii) Poverty Ratio, and
 - (iii) The Inverse of State Income per Capita (SDP)

All of us have also accepted the basic principle of "revenue equalization" in the sense that some weight should be given to "revenue distance" viz. the distance between the estimated per capita revenue of a State and the maximum per capita revenue of any State.

- 19. Thus the four criteria which enter the majority scheme of devolution and my scheme are the same.
- 20. With regard to the allocations of additional excise revenue, the excise on power, the wealth tax on farm property, railway fare compensation and estate duty too our approach is identical. The basic principle of transfers under there headings is, or has to be, the collection* principle, although the collection principle does work regressively. Collections from almost any source of revenue are invariably higher in the better-off States. However in respect of wholly assigned revenues the collection principle must prevail because for these the Centre is merely a collection agent.
- 21. Our principles for special transfers for debt relief, relief expenditure, and upgradation have also been unanimously fashioned.
- 22. Thus while there is no difference between me and my distinguished colleagues about most aspects of devolution, the inter-State allocation designed by me is different. Its greater progressivitly is due to the following reasons.
 - 23. First, I attach no weight to collection in the devolution of income-tax revenue.
- 24. Second, the same formula of inter-State allocation is applied by me to the devolution of shareable excise as well as income-tax revenues.
- 25. Third, my colleagues give equal weights to four criteria in their excise allocation formula as follows:

. 25 to Population,

. 25 to Revenue Distance, and

. 25 to Inverse of Per Capita Income,

. 25 to Poverty Percentage.

This weightage introduces considerable progressivity in the allocation of shareable excise revenue. But in my general formula I use only three of the above criteria. The share of a State is made proportional to

(1) (Population) x (Poverty Ratio) x (Inverse of Per Capita Income). This formula yields a more progressive allocation.

^{*} For the pupose of my argument in this Note the distinction between 'collection' contribution' and 'assessment' is immaterial. I use these words synonymously.

- 26. Fourth, I have not included revenue distance as one of the criteria for allocating income-tax and shareable excise revenue. But I have directly reduced "revenue surplus distance," the disparity in the per capita surpluses of States left after all other transfers, by adjusting grants under Article 275. This procedure has a stronger equalising effect than giving a small weight to revenue distance in the general devolution formula.
- 27. The rationale of these four choices embodied in my devolution scheme is explained seriatim in the following argument.

III. The Contribution Criterion

- 28. All Finance Commissions have so far attached 10 or 20 per cent weight to incometax collection/assessment in each State in determining its share of the divisible income-tax revenue. But the use of collection as a criterion for the distribution of income-tax revenue is objectionable on many grounds.
- 29. First, any weight given to collection is regressive because a larger collection is invariably associated with a higher level of the State Domestic Product. It can be shown that collections are mainly a function of the gross income generated (value added) in the factory sector*. Every increase of Rs.1 lakh in net factory income across States fetches about Rs.23000 of additional income-tax revenue. When income-tax collections in States are so systematically related to State incomes any weight given to collections is in effect an extra weight given to per capita income. The more is the factory income of a State the more is the extra weight it would get in the income-tax award. Thus the more industrialised States get more devolution via this mechanism. The progressivity of transfers due to other criteria is reduced by the regressivity of the weight attached to collections. This is the most serious objection to any weight being given to collections.
- 30. It has been argued that the more industrialised States should receive more revenue because the Governments of these States have to incur heavy expenditures on the infrastructure which supports the high revenue-yielding organised sector. But this argument is weak as a basis of resource transfer because if a higher concentration of high-income units requires larger public expenditure, it also generates correspondingly higher revenues from subjects of taxation in the State list, namely, sales-taxes, property taxes, entertainment taxes, fees, etc. As a result, the net effect of the existence of a large factory sector in a State on its finances is clearly positive. This is why the more industrialised States can have substantial revenue surpluses even without Central transfers. Their need for transferred revenue should, therefore, be correspondingly less rather than more, than that of the poorer States.
- 31. Second, it is important to perceive that the State in which income <u>seems</u> to originate for the purpose of assessment is not necessarily the State where this income originates in a more fundamental economic sense. If enterprises located in Bombay or Calcutta, for example, generate high taxable incomes, the origin of their revenues does not necessarily

$$I = -2282 + 0.23 \text{ V}$$
 (R² = .95)
(633.00) (0.01)

Where I is the income-tax demand and V is gross value added (in Rs. lakhs) in the factory sector in each State in 1975-76.

The parentheses in the equation show standard errors.

^{*} The following estimated equation proves the points:

lie in Bombay or Calcutta, but in the incomes of their customers spread throughout the country and abroad. A factory seems to generate taxable factor incomes where it is located but behind the factor incomes lies the purchasing power of consumers which is dispersed throughout the country. In fact, in a large free trade area like India, the origin of income in a purchasing power sense cannot be geographically identified.

- 32. Third, the argument that weightage given to collections provides an incentive to the fiscal effort of a State is untenable because it implies that income-tax collections in a State depend on State effort. It has never been proved that this is the case. On the other hand, the equation cited above establishes that income-tax collections depend mainly on factory income. During the last 27 years of planning (not to mention the British priorities for locating most modern economic activities in a few port cities) the geographical distribution of factories has been determined mainly by the geographical distribution of (a) planned investments by the Central public sector, (b) private investments licensed by the Central Government, (c) term-lending by financial institutions, and (d) the allocation of foreign exchange by the Central Government. A large proportion of these investments and allocations have gravitated to already industrialised States. The efforts of the States have almost nothing to do with these decisions, and, therefore, with the inter-State distribution of factories, factory incomes or income-tax collections. It would be pointless to give incentives for income-tax collections.to an agency (the State Government) which has little control over the processes which generate these collections.
- 33. These strictly economic arguments show that there is really no case for weightage to collections. It has been argued, however, that Article 270 of the Constitution somehow implies that in the distribution of income-tax revenue some weight be given to contribution. But I am unable to find any basis even for this legal view. If the Constitution-makers had intended to treat income-tax as a wholly assigned tax, they would have included it in Article 269. But they did not do so. Article 270 only says that after deducting proceeds attributable to Union Territories income-tax revenue shall be "assigned" to the States within which income-tax is leviable and shall be distributed in such "manner" as may be prescribed. But the word "manner" does not limit the freedom of the Finance Commission in any way as to the choice of the criteria of inter-State distribution. Otherwise, if assignation is to be interpreted as a distribution in proportion to collection, the Commissions could not have given any weight even to population. Nor should they have varied the weights assigned to population and collection. The word "assigned" requires only that income-tax revenue must be shared by income-tax States and leaves open for the Commissions the "manner" of its inter-State allocation.
- 34. On these grounds, I hold that any interpretation of the word "manner" or the word "assigned" in Article 270 to require weightage to collection is purely arbitrary and dispensable.

IV. The Identity of Critaria for the Allocation of Income-tax and Excise Revenues

- 35. I am also convinced that there is no legal or economic basis for allocating shareable income-tax revenue and excise revenue according to different criteria.
- 36. From the economic point of view the States are interested in more 'vertical justice' in the form of greater devolution from the Centre. And they should be interested in greater 'horizontal justice' in the inter-State allocation of the total transfer. Whether the total transfer comes out of income-tax revenue or out of excise revenue is a matter of secondary importance. The important need is only that the total transfer out of both kinds of revenue

is adequate and the inter-State distribution of the whole transfer is progressive. It cannot be argued that progressivity should be a feature of the inter-State distribution of excise revenue but not of the inter-State distribution of income-tax revenues.

- 37. As for the legal aspect of this issue the only relevant difference between Article 270 and Article 272 is the use of the word "manner" in the former and the use of the word "principles" in the latter. It is only legal quibbling to argue solemnly that the "manner" of distribution and the "principles" of distribution must be or were intended by the Constitution-makers to be necessarily different formulae. The two words can validly be interpreted to be synonymous particularly when every Commission has felt free to define "manner" in varying ways and "principles" too in varying ways. I, therefore, hold that it is fully within the discretion of any Finance Commission to distribute both the shareable income-tax revenue and the shareable excise according to the same equitable formula.
- 38. Once again, if the constitution-makers had intended to limit the freedom of the Finance Commission in the matter of the criteria of inter-State allocation, and desired income-tax and excise revenues to be distributed by any rigidly specified method, they would have either included one or both of them in Article 269 or laid down the method in some other Article of the Constitution.
- 39. These considerations lead me to propose an allocation of the shareable income-tax revenue as well as the shareable excise revenue among the States according to one and the same formula.

V. The Formulae

- 40. I have already noted that the equal-weight formula of my distinguished colleagues used for inter-State allocation of shareable excise revenue is porgressive. And I am specially glad that they have given some weight to the poverty criterion which I proposed in the early stages of the work of the Commission. Poverty is clearly a much better indicator of overall backwardness than other partial indicators or composite indicators constructed with arbitrarily chosen variables and weights.
- 41. But I have designed the formula mentioned in paragraph 25 above because it has, in my view, some additional merits. (1) (Population) x (Poverty Ratio) x (inverse of per Capita Income) This formula gives the "income-adjusted" poverty population of each State. The percentage share of a State in shareable income-tax and excise revenue is simply the percentage of this adjusted poverty population in the total adjusted poverty population of all States. This share can be called the "income-adjusted poverty percentage" for brevity.
- 42. In the above formula, the multiplication of a State's population by its poverty ratio simply gives the number of poor people in a State. The division of this number by per capita income gives the "income-adjusted" poverty population. Thus the formula is simple. But it has two merits; (a) it minimises arbitrary weighting, and (b) it is sufficiently progressive.
- 43. It has been felt for a long time that the weights which the Finance Commissions have attached to various criteria in the past have been arbitrary. Therefore there is need to choose formulae in which arbitrary weighting is minimised. This is achieved to a considerable extent in the above formula because population is not multiplied by an arbitrary weight but by another objective ratio viz. the proportion of poor people in the total population of every State. Thus we get the poverty population or the number of people below the poverty-line in each State as the main basis of revenue distribution.

- 44. But this poverty population must be divided by per capita income for one important reason. There are some States which have a substantial poverty population but they also have a relatively high per capita income. Maharashtra and Karnataka are examples. A State in such a situation does have overall resources of its own to do more to reduce its poverty. It follows that it should get a larger transfer in proportion to its poverty population but at the same time it should get a somewhat smaller transfer in proportion to the inverse of its per capita income. If poverty population alone is chosen as the criterion the overall resources availability of a State is ignored. But if per capita income alone is used as the criterion its poverty is ignored. Therefore the use of the formula "poverty population divided by per capita income" (or income-adjusted poverty population) gives due weight both to poverty and to resources availability.
- 45. For States whose poverty ratio is high and at the same time per capita income is low, both the variables would tend to increase their share. But for States where poverty is high but income is also high, the poverty-based share will be moderated by the income variable.
- 46. It should be recognised, of course, that per capita income and poverty are not equally good indicators of the economic position of a State. Poverty is obviously better, for average (per capita) income does not reflect the distribution of income. Poverty on the other hand, reflects both the level of income and its distribution.
- 47. The reason why I have not considered it necessary to give a separate place in my formula to revenue distance is that revenue distance depends mainly on per capita income. Therefore per capita income itself reflects revenue distance. Revenue distance could be used <u>instead of</u> per capita income but then the resulting progressivity of distribution will be excessive.
- 48. All variables which enter any distribution formula are subject to measurement errors. Therefore, there is a case for including more than one or two variables in the formula in the hope that measurement errors in any variable will be moderated by a different pattern of errors in other variables. My colleagues have, partly for this reason, included 4 variables in their exercise allocation formula. It should be noted that my formula too has three variables in it (population, poverty ratio and per capita income) derived from three different sources: the Census, the NSS and the CSO. Thus my formula as well as the majority formula meet the "multi-variable" test. But whereas in the majority formula their 4 variables enter additively with equal weights, in my formula three variables enter multiplicatively. The majority weights are arithmetic; mine are geometric.

VI. Per Capita Surpluses

49. When I examined the per capita surpluses of different States resulting from the allocation scheme of my distinguished colleagues, I found that the disparity in them was unacceptably high (1:45). (Table 2.) I also found that in the case of 8 States the surpluses left by the majority scheme are simply equal to upgradation grants. Excluding these grants the surpluses of these States would be zero whereas the surpluses of other States would vary from Rs. 37 crores in the case of Assam to Rs. 3005 crores in the case of Maharashtra.

^{*}The partial elasticities of the income-adjusted poverty population in my formula are unity (+1) with respect to population and the poverty ratio and (-1) with respect to per capita income. By varying these elasticities different degrees of progressivity can be achieved.

- 50. It is for the first time that the allocations of the Finance Commission would leave surpluses with <u>all</u> States. This is a highly desirable new development. But when all States are given surpluses, the disparity between them should be a matter of concern to the Commission. The fact that in the past some States were left with zero surpluses and others with very large surpluses has invited valid criticism. It would therefore be indefensible to leave large surplus disparities even when all States have some positive surpluses.
- 51. Therefore, I have considered it necessary to fix a minimum per capita surplus level (Rs. 100 per capita) and provide extra grants under Article 275 to bring up the per capita surplus of 10 States to this minimum level. The extra requirement for this purpose turned out to be only Rs. 375 crores or 1.8 per cent of the total devolution. But the advantage is that the per capita surplus disparity is reduced from (45:1) to (6:1).
- 52. These 10 States include the 8 hill States (Assam, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu and Kashmir, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim and Tripura) and two other States (Orissa and Rajasthan).
- 53. Extra grants to these States are eminently justified for the hill States have always been treated as special category States and if the application of any general formula to them leaves them in a very weak financial position, extra grants for them are desirable. Also, the general formula as applied to them may have underestimated their entitlements because all the data required for computing their poverty populations were not available and their poverty population estimates are based on many assumptions.
- 54. Finally, it is generally recognised that the unit cost of every service is higher in hilly States because of their terrain, the high cost of transport and communications, and historical neglect. General formulae do not allow for these special handicaps of the hill States. Similarly, the special handicaps of the desert State of Rajasthan and the extremely backward tribal regions of Orissa* are not taken into account in the general formulae. Therefore it is reasonable that they get extra grants through the mechanism of per capita surplus adjustments.
- 55. The provision of extra grants under Article 275, over and above the grants to cover estimated deficits and upgradation, requires some clarification from the legal point of view. It may be argued that Article 275 restricts grants to deficit coverage and or upgradation only. But there is nothing in the wording of Article 275 which necessitates this interpretation. According to the Article the grants are to aid the revenues of States which are held to be in "need" of assistance. But the definition of "need" is in the discretion of the Finance Commission. An insufficient relative surplus is, in my opinion, as valid a definition of "need" as a deficit or the very low standard of particular public services.

VII. Alternative Recommendations

- 56. The exact percentage shares of, and/or total amounts to be transferred to the States, under various headings, in my judgement, are consolidated in Tables 5A and 5B.
 - 57. Supporting data are given in Tables A.1 to A.3.

New Delhi October 27, 1976

Raj Krishna

^{*}Rajasthan has the highest desert area ratio and Orissa the highest tribal population ratio in the country.

TABLE SA
SUMMARY AWARD OF THE NOTE OF DISSENT*

States	Percentage share in shareable Income Tax Revenue	Estimated Income Tax Amount	Percentage	Estima tëd Basi c Excise	Additional Excise Amounts	Article 275 General Grante
	(%)	(Rs.Crores)	(%)	(Rs. Crores)	(As Crores)	(Re Crores)
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Andhra Pradesh	6.86	328.69	6.86	817.21	146.40	-
2. Assam	1.86	89.12	1.86	221 •58	45.33	162.75
3. Bihar	17.12	820.28	17.12	2039.46	136.34	-
4. Gujarat	3.23	154.76	3.23	384.78	127.75	-
5. Haryana	0 •71	34.C2	0.71	84.58	54.C8	-
6. Himachal Pradesh	0.33	15.61	0.33	39.3 1	14.82	265.78
7⊕ Jammu & Kashmir	0.55	26.35	0.55	65 • 52	14.87	269.19
0. Karmataka	4.24	203.15	4.24	505.10	114.49	-
9. Kerala	4.29	205.55	4.29	511 •05	77.70	• '
10. Madhya Pradesh	9.44	452.30	9.44	1124-56	124.01	-
11. Maherashtra	5.63	241 •C6	5.G3	599.21	277.42	-
12. Manipur	0.12	5.75	0.12	14.30	3.45	160.65
13. Meghalaya'	0.12	5.75	0.12	14.30	2.61	108.90
14. Nagaland	D.C8	3.63	0.C8	9 • 53	1.76	220.63
15. Orissa	5 • 71	273.58	5.71	680.22	62.79	77.52
16. Punjab	D.57	27.31	0.57	67.90	90.74	-
17. Rajasthan	4.C2	192.61	4.C2	478-69	86.70	97.95
18. Sikkim	-	-	<u>-</u>	-	0.50	37.15
19. Tamil Nadu	8.12	389.C6	8.12	967.31	145.99	-
20. Tripura	0.39	18.68	0.39	46.46	4.70	137.74
21. Utter Pradesh	19.04	912•28	19.04	2268-18	247.65	-
22. West Bengal	8.17	391 • 45	8.17	973-27	174.62	-
Totali	100 .C 0	4791 •39	100 . C0	11912.72	1954.92	1538.86

^{*}Concerning items not included in this Table viz., Excise on Power, Railway Fare Compensation, Estate Duty, Upgradation Grants, Debt relief and Natural Calomity Relief, I agree entirely with the Majority award. Regarding Prohobition, see the Note by Mr. H.N. Ray and myself.

TABLE 5B

ADJUSTMENT OF THE INCOME_TAX AND BASIC EXCISE SHARES FOR SIKKIM

	States	With Sikkim	Without Sikkim
_	(1)	(2)	(3)
		(Per Cen	t)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	6.86	6.86
2.	Assam	1.66	1.66
3.	Bihar	17.11	17.12
4.	Gujaret	3.23	3.23
5-	Haryena	0.71	0.71
6.	Hima c hal P r adesh	0.33	0.33
7.	Jemmu & Kashmir	0.55	0.55
8.	Karnatak a	4.24	4.24
9.	Kerala	4.29	4.29
0.	Madhya Pradesh	9.44	9.44
۱.	Maharashtra	4-03	5.03
2 •	Manipur	0-12	G-12
5 •	Meghaleya	0.12	0.12
١.	Nagaland	0.08	0.08
.	Orissa	5.71	5•71
5.	Punjab	0.56	0.57
7.	Rajasthan	4.02	4.B2
•	Sikkir	0.03	-
•	Tamil Nadu	8.12	8.12
•	Tripura	0.38	0.39
•	Uttar Pradesh	19.04	19.04
·	West Bengal	8.17	8.17
		100.00	
		160.60	100.00

TABLE A.1

TOTAL SEVENTH FINANCE COMMISSION
TRANSFER TO THE STATES FOR THE PERIOD
1979-00/1983-84

I t • m	Majority Allocation (MA)	Krishna Allocation (KA)	Difference (KA-MA)
1	2	3	4
<u> </u>	·	(Rs. Erores)	
I. Shareable Taxes			
(i) Income tex	4791 •39	4791 •39	NIL
(ii) Basic Union	44540 46	11912.72	+ 565•26
Excise Outy	11347.46	11912-72	₩ 505428
Total I	16138-85	16704.11	<u>+ 565.26</u>
I. Specific Transfers			
(i) Additional Excise	1867.07	1954.92	+ 87.85
(ii) Excise on Power	1145-28	1145.28	NIL
(iii) Railway Fare			
Compensation	81 •25	81 • 25	NIL
*(iv) Estate Duty	64 ₀ 00	64.00	NIL
Totai li	3158.20	3246.D5	<u>+ 87.25</u>
I. Grants (Article 275)			
(i) General	1173.12	1538.86	+ 365.74
(ii) Upgradation	436.80	436.20	NIL
Total III	1609.92	1975.66	+ 365.74
Total I+II+III	20906.97	21925.82	<u>+101e.es</u>
V. Relief and Contin- gency Provisions			
(i) Debt Relief	2155.80	2155.80	NIL
(ii) Provision for Natural Calamity Relief	ND	ND	NIL
(iii) Provision for Prohibition Compensation	ND	ND	NIL
Total IV	2155.80	2155.80	NIL
rand Total 1+II+III+IV	23062.77	24081.62	+1018.65

^{*} The State—Cise allocation of Estate Duty is not computable at this stage. Excluding this and Debt Relief the total transfer is 6.21861.82 crores in the KA and 8.20842.97 crores in the MA. These amounts are allocated in

ND: The amount has not been determined at this stage.

TABLE A.2

POPULATION, POVERTY AND
TRANSFER PERCENTAGES

	States	Population	Poverty	Percentage Share of Total Trans			nsfer
	•	Percentage	Percentage	Majority	Krishna	Dif	ference
		(≴)	(%)	Allocation	Allocation	(KA	_MA)
				(MA)	(KA)		
				(≴)	(≴)		
	1	2	3	4	5		6
1.	Andhra Pradesh	8.03	7.39	7.31	6.48	_	0.83
2.	Assam	2.70	1.71	2.49	2.54	+	0.05
3.	8ihar	10.41	12.52	10.62	14.38	÷	3.75
4.	Gujarat	4.93	4.25	4.62	3.47	-	1.15
5•	Haryana	1 •85	1.15	1.48	0.96	-	0.52
6.	Himachal Pradesh	0.64	0.42	1.56	1.61	+	0.05
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	D.85	0.52	1.81	1.85	+	0.04
8.	Karnataks	5.41	5.15	4.82	4.14	_	0.68
9.	Kerala	3.94	4.72	3.79	3.86	+	0.16
10.	Madhya Pradesh	7.69	8.51	7.66	8.40	+	0.74
tj.	Maharashtra	9.31	7.86	8.23	5.90	-	2.33
12.	Manipur	0.20	0.12	0.93	0.89	•	0.04
13.	Meghalaya	D -1 9	0.12	0.64	D-64		-
4.	Nagal and	0.10	0.07	1.16	1.10	-	0.06
15.	Orissa	4.05	5.26	4.72	5.36	+	0.64
6.	Pun Jab	2.50	1.04	2.01	1.14	-	0.87
7.	Ra Jus then	4.75	3.98	4.33	4.21	-	0.12
B •	Sikkim	0.04	0.02	0.18	0.18	_	-
9.	Tamil Nadu	7.61	8.58	7.21	7.38	+	0.17
20•	Tripura	0.29	0.37	D•96	0.97	+	0.01
21.	Uttar Pradesh	16.32	15.81	15.90	16.88	+	0.98
22.	West Bengal	8.18	9.80	7.66	7.66	•	-
	Total	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00		

TABLE A.3
SHAREABLE CENTRAL REVENUES AND TRANSFERS

ITEMS	Majority Allocation (MA)	Krishna Allocation (KA)	Difference
1	2	3	4
		(%. Crores)	
A. Shereable Central Revenues			
(i) Income Tax (IT)	5636.93	5636.93	NIL
(ii) Union Excise Duties(EX)	28368.65	29781 - 81	+1413.16
Total (IT + EX)	34005.58	35418.74	+1413.16
B. Transfer			
I. Tax shares			
(i) Income Tax (IT)	4791 • 39	4791 • 39	NIL
(ii) Excise Duties Basic (EX)	11347•46	11912.72	+ 565.26
Total (IT + EX)	16138-85	16704.11	+ 565.26
II. Grants			
(i) General	1173.12	1538.86	+ 365.74
(ii) Upgradation	436.90	436.80	NIL
Total (i) + (ii)	1609.92	1975.66	+ 365.74
Total I + II	17748.77	18679.77	+ 931,00
Transfer (B) as Percantage of Shareable Central Revenue(A)	52.19	52.74	+ 0.55

ANNEXURE ON

PROJECTION OF UNION EXCISE REVENUE 1979-80/1983-84

- 1. The factors taken into account in projecting tax revenues have been mentioned in the majority report. They include long-term and recent growth rates and relevant elasticities.
- 2. In the case of the Central excise revenue which dominates total Central tax revenue, and from which a large part of the transfer is derived, my colleagues have accepted a growth rate of 7.0 per cent per annum for the next five years. I have been unable to agree to this growth rate. In my opinion the rate should be 8.1 per cent for the following reasons.
- 3. The long-term rate of growth of Central excise revenue (cleaned series) for the period 1960-61/1975-76 has been 8.23 per cent. The short-term rate of growth for the period 1973-74 to 1978-79 has also been 8.9 per cent. Thus growth has exceeded 8 per cent for a long period and has accelerated recently. In view of these facts there is no case for accepting the rate proposed by the Finance Ministry (6.7 per cent) or the slightly higher rate of 7 per cent.
- 4. The long-period elasticity of nominal Central excise revenue with respect to nominal net manufacturing income has been estimated to be 0.744. Assuming nominal income growth in manufacturing to be 10.9 per cent for the next five years (including the real income growth in manufacturing projected in the Draft Plan 1978/83 and an allowance for price increases) the estimated elasticity implies a revenue growth rate equal to 8.1 per cent. This is still less than the recorded long-term and short-term growth rates.
- 5. I, therefore, accept this figure (8.1 per cent) as a reasonable growth rate of Central excise revenue.
- 6. The Central Government will and should never allow the growth of its most important tax revenue to decelerate.
- 7. My colleagues have referred to some recent structural changes in the excise system which may retard revenue growth. But at the same time many other recent changes (such as extended coverage) will also tend to step-up the growth. On balance the revenue growth cannot be expected or allowed to slow down.
- 8. The structures and bases of income-taxation and excise taxation are so different that there is no economic case for linking or comparing or ranking the projected growth rates of income-tax and excise revenues.

Raj Krishna

New Delhi 27th October, 1978

161

REFERENCES

Bagchi, Amaresh (1977).

"Fiscal Federalism - Problem and Possible Solutions", <u>Indian Economic</u> <u>Review</u>" Vol. XII No. 2

Gulati, I.S. and George, K.K. (1978)

"Inter-State Redistribution Through Budgetary Transfers" in <u>Economic</u> and Political Weekly", March 11, 1978.

NIPFP (1978)

"Trends and Issues in Federal
Finance" - A Seminar Paper. National
Institute of Public Finance and Policy,
New Delhi.

OBSERVATIONS ON PROF. RAJ KRISHNA'S NOTE OF DISSENT

- 1. The point in paragraph 31 that industrialised States can have substantial revenue surpluses even without Central transfers, may not be wholly correct. West Bengal which is recognised as an industrialised State does not have a surplus but a deficit. On the other hand, both Punjab and Haryana have substantial revenue surpluses, excluding Central transfers, which on a per capita basis are higher than the industrialised States of Maharashtra or Gujarat and yet the two former States cannot be said to be industriased to any great extent as compared with the rest of the country.
- 2. Referring to paragraphs 31 and 32 of the Note, we would not like to under-estimate the role of the State Governments in attracting industries, and industrialising their areas. Experience shows that the provision of infrastructural facilities such as technical education, power, water supply and communications, as also the maintenance of stable law and order conditions, have a major role in attracting industry and these are all the responsibility of the State Governments.
- 3. The question of adoption of the same formula for the distribution of Income Tax and Central Excise duties, suggested in paragraph 39 of the Note and other matters on which the provisions in Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution have a bearing have been discussed in our report.
- 4. Prof. Raj Krishna observes that in his formula, the "partial elasticity" of the income adjusted poverty population is unity with respect to the poverty ratio. That is to say, other things remaining equal, there would be a proportionate relationship between the differences in poverty ratio among different States and the financial resources distributed among them according to this factor. The basic question then arises is whether it is reasonable to vary the distribution of resources among States in this manner.
- 5. It is true that poverty reflects both the level of income and its distribution. But it does not follow from this that, as a criterion for the distribution of resources among States, the poverty ratio is superior to the per capita income level, unless one assumes that the relative incidence of poverty is independent of the way the resources have been allocated by different States. It is well recognised that the incidence of poverty is very much influenced by the policies relating to land reform, distribution of institutional credit. public investment in the poverty-sensitive sectors like agriculture, health, schooling, etc. Whereas it is true that per capita income level itself depends on the pattern of allocation of resources, the latter influences poverty ratio not only through the income level but also through the distribution of income. There is evidence to show, for instance, that inter-State differences in poverty ratio are explained significantly not only by per capita income level but also by the proportion of income from agriculture to total income. That is to say. States which have given greater attention to agriculture in the past have been able to reduce the incidence of poverty. This is just an illustration to emphasise that the magnitude of poverty cannot be regarded as independent of how resources have been allocated and what policies have been followed by the State Governments.
- 6. By adopting income-adjusted poverty population as the criterion for the distribution of entire divisible pool of revenues between States, a strong bias is built in favour of States which have neglected the poor and against those whose policies have contributed significantly to the reduction of poverty irrespective of their per capita income level. We have explained in our report the considerations why we have adopted other criteria also in addition to the poverty percentage.

- 7. Prof. Raj Krishna also observes that in his formula the 'partial elasticity' of the income-adjusted poverty population is negative and unity to income. That is to say, between States, as per capita income rises, other things remaining equal, the income-adjusted poverty population declines proportionately. This accentuates the steepness in the formula by taking account of income level twice over, in effect. This is because the poverty ratio is itself inversely related to per capita income. The higher income States already have a lower poverty ratio, and varying poverty ratios again in an inverse proportion to per capita income of each State acts unduly harshly against higher income States, specially because Prof. Raj Krishna adopts his formula as the criterion for the distribution of the entire divisible pools of income tax and excise.
- 8. We would like to point out that the revenue equalisation criterion to which the Commission has given a weight has an in-built tendency to reduce per capita surpluses of States and this result is achieved with due regard to the own resources efforts of States. This is because under the revenue equalisation criterion for arriving at the distance of each State from the highest per capita revenue, estimated revenues (consistent with the respective per capita income levels of the States) have been used, rather than the actual revenue which is very much influenced by the States' own resource efforts. The disparity in per capita own resource between States is sharper than the corresponding disparity in per capita income. This is implied in para 47 of Prof. Raj Krishna's Note. The disparity in per capita revenues is the basic factor behind the disparity in per capita surpluses of States. Prof. Raj Krishna's method of reducing the disparities in these surpluses after devolution ignores the effort of States to raise their own resources. His method, unlike the one adopted in our report, rewards those lacking in effort and penalises those who have been able to achieve a high tax-income ratio, for comparable income levels.
- 9. We should add a word about the hill States. We feel that in their unique circumstances, much more than the Finance Commission, the Planning Commission and the Central Government have special roles to play for their well-being and development.
- 10. As an incidental matter, we would like to refer to Prof. Raj Krishna's assumption about the growth of Central excise revenues in the period of our report, in the context of our recommendation that the share of the States in excise duties should be 40%. We feel that the rates of growth we have adopted is realistic and does not carry any risk of dislocation of the finances of the States as well as the Central Government. Adoption of too high a rate of growth would involve much risks if revenues fail to materialise as anticipated, and this may well happen if the anticipation is pitched too high. We note that Prof. Raj Krishna's estimation is Rs. 1400 crores more than ours.

J. M. Shelat

.C. H. Hanumantha Rao

H.N. Ray

V.B. Eswaran

APPENDICES

Ŀ

ANNEXURES

CONTENTS

Page

APPENDICES

APPENDIX		Relating to Chapter 2 - RE-ASSESSMENT OF THE FORECASTS OF STATE GOVERNMENT'S ON REVENUE ACCOUNT.	1-163
APPENDIX	II	Relating to Chapter 4 - FINANCING OF RELIEF EXPENDITURE.	164–16 5
APPENDIX	III	Relating to Chapter 6 - ADDITIONAL DUTIES OF EXCISE.	166-171
APPENDIX	IV	Relating to Chapter 9 - CENTRE-STATE FINANCIAL RELATIONS AND OUR SCHEME OF TRANSFER TO THE STATES	172-221
APPENDIX	¥	Relating to Chapter 10 - UPGRADATION OF STANDARDS OF ADMINISTRATION.	222-260
APPENDIX	VI.	Relating to Chapter 11 NON-PLAN CAPITAL GAP OF STATES.	261-263
		ANNEXURES	
ANNEXURE	I	Provisions of the Constitution having a bearing on the work of the Finance Commission.	1–6
ANNEXURE	II	The Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951 as amended by the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Act No.XIII of	7–9
ANNEXURE	III	1955. Correspondence with Union and State	• -
		Governments.	10-72
ANNEXURE	IA	Dates of discussions with State Governments and Ministries/Departments of the Central Government.	73-74
ANNEXURE	V	Individuals and Organisations who furnished memoranda to the Commission.	75-78
ANNEXURE	VI	Individuals and representatives of Organisations who met the Commission	79 - 85
ANNEXURE	VII	General Tables.	86→90

	(1)	
	LIST OF APPENDICES	0
Appendix I.1	Long term rates of growth of yield from certain taxes and rates adopted by the Commission for the years 1979-80 to 1983-84.	Page 1
Appendix I.2	(i) States' excise revenues from potable liquor in 1978-79 and in the forecast period 1979-84.	2
	(ii) States' excise revenue from items other than Potable liquor in the forecast period 1979-84.	3
Appendix I.3	Correspondence on prohibition:	
	(i) Letter No.11012/18/78-PR(Vol.III) dated the 3rd August, 1978 from Department of Social Welfare, Government of India, to Chief Secretaries of all States.	4
	(ii) Letter No. P.11012/18/78-PR dated the 4th August, 1978 from Department of Social Welfare, Government of India, to Finance Commission.	5
	(iii) D.O. letter No. PF/R-9(50)74-Vol.V dated the 16th September, 1978 from Ministry of Finance.	6
Appendix I.4	Additional funds during 1979-84 over the current levels:	
	(i) For medicines in hospitals.	7
	(ii) For diet in hospitals.	8
Appendix I.5	Expenditure on old age pension in 1976-77 and provision for 1979-84.	9
Appendix I.6	D.O. letter No.5(10)/78-Desk.V dated the 16th August, 1978 from Ministry of Supply and Rehabilitation (Department of Rehabilitation).	10
Appendix I.7	Planning Commission letter dated 15th September, 1978 regarding Central sector and Centrally sponsored schemes.	11
Appendix I.8	Note received from Reserve Bank of India in their letter of July, 1978 regarding provisions for sinking fund and depreciation fund in the revenue account of State budgets	12
Appendix I.9	CPWD norms for maintenance based on capital costs of buildings.	19
Appendix I.10	Cost of maintenance of buildings for 1979-80 to 1983-84	20
Appendix 1.11	Amounts provided for expenditure on maintenance of State and local bodies' roads during 1979-80 to	21

			raye
Appendix	I.12	Correspondence with the Planning Commission regarding maintenance of capital assets completed during 1979-84:	·
		(i) D.O. letter No. 7FC 1(14)—Res/77 dated the 21st August, 1978 to Planning Commission.	22
		(ii) D.O. letter No. 60(34)/75—Eco. dated the 6th September, 1978 from Planning Commission.	22
Appendix	I.13	Note dated the 2nd November, 1977 received from Department of Irrigation on the need for adequate funds for operation and maintenance of Irrigation projects.	24
Appendix	I.14	 Financial returns from multi-purpose, major and medic irrigation schemes during the five-year period, 1979-80 to 1983-84. 	43
		(ii) Position of revenue arrears in respect of multi- purpose, major and medium irrigation schemes at the end of 1976-77, 1978-79, and 1983-84.	47
		(iii) Water rates in States.	4 8
Appendix	I. 15	Net receipts from minor irrigation in 1978-79.	61
Appendix	I•16	Flood control physical achievements (likely) upto the end of March, 1978.	62
Appendix	I.17	Provisions for flood control, drainage and anti-sea arcsion works during the five-year period, 1979-84.	63
Appendix	I.18	Installed capacity and capacity utilisation factor of the major thermal power stations during 1976-77.	64
Appendix	I.19	Total coal consumption, energy generated and the specific coal consumption in the major thermal power stations during 1977-78.	66
Appendix	I.20	Percentage of energy losses in transmission and distribution during 1974-75 to 1976-77.	68
Appendix	I.21	Net returns from State Electricity Boards and departmental undertakings during 1979-80 to 1983-84.	69
Appendix	I.22	State Road Transport Corporation/undertakings:	
		(i) Financial results during 1973—74 to 1976—77.	70
		(ii) Net profits/losses during 1973-74 to 1976-77	71
		(iii) Physical progress at the end of 1976-77.	72
		(iv) Operating ratio during 1975-76 and 1976-77.	73

		(iii)	Page
	(v)	Revenue and cost per bus/passenger kilometre in 1976-77.	74
	(vi)	Cost of personnel per bus kilo- metre during 1974-75 and 1975-76.	75
	(vii)	Bus kilometres per litre of diesel oil during 1974-75 and 1975-76.	76
Appendix	I.23 (i)	D.O. No.15/18/78-IGC dated 18.8.1978 from Department of Company Affairs, Ministry of law, Justice and Company Affairs along with the note on timely finalisation of audit of accounts in respect of Government companies.	77
	(ii)	State-wise number of companies which did not hold their annual general Body meeting within six months of the closing of accounts - Information supplied by various Accountants General.	90
\mathbf{A} ppendix	I.24 State	public undertakings:	
	(i)	Investments by the State Government at the beginning of 1976-77.	91
	(i i)	Returns of State Governments in 1975-76 and 1976-77 on investments.	92
	(iii)	Rates of return on State share papital and loans in 1975-76 and 1976-77.	93
	(vi)	Rates of return on State share capital in 1975-76 and 1976-77.	94
	(v)	State Governments Investments in co-operative institutions at the end of 1978-79.	95
	(AT)	Rate of returns on State Governments investments in share capital of co-operative institutions in 1976-77.	96
	(vii)	Interest receipts on State Governments Loans in 1975-76 and 1976-77 loans to co-operative institutions.	97
	(viii)	State-wise share capital invested in Public enterprises and co-operatives and returns during 1979-84.	98
Appendix	I.25 Compa Centr	rative statements of emoluments in e and States of:	
		Peon	9 9
	•	Lower division clerk	100
•	~	Upper division clerk	101
	•	Constable	102
	•	Head constable	103

.

.

	(vi)	Page
	(vi) Primary school teacher	104
	(vii) Trained graduate teacher	105
	(viii) Revenue inspector	106
	(1x) Naib tehsildar/deputy tehsildar	107
	(x) Tehsildar	108
	(xi) Deputy collector	109
Appendix I.26	State-wise overall percentage changes of relative emoluments for different posts - comparative position of each State, from 1.1.1972 to 1.1.1977, vis-a-vis:	•
	(i) All-State average emoluments level.	110
	(ii) Central emoluments level.	111
Appendix I.27	Number of employees in various States including employees of local bodies and aided institutions.	112
Appendix I.28	(i) Statement indicating State forecasts to) and reassessed estimates of receipts (xxii) and expenditures on revenue account for 1979-84.	113 <u>-1</u> 63
Appendix II.1	Item-wise reported expenditure by the State Governments in respect of natural calamities against advance plan assistance - 1974-75 to 1977-78.	•16 4
Appendix II.2	Expenditure on famine and natural calamities during 1974-75 to 1977-78.	165
Appendix IIL1	D.O.letter No.F.13(13)-B(S)/78 dated the 20th September, 1978 from Ministry of Finance	. 166
Appendix III.2	D.O.letter No.52/70-Economics dated the 10th February, 1971 from Planning Commission to Department of Revenue and Insurance, Ministry of Finance.	167
Appendix III.3	(i) Incidence of basic excise duty, etc., and additional excise duties from 1972-73 onwards.	16 8
	(ii) Ratio between basic and additional excise duties - 1971-72 to 1978-79.	169
Appendix III.4	D.O. letter No.60(34)/75-Eco. dated the 18th September, 1978 from Planning Commission.	171

			Page
Appendix	IV.1	Transfer of resources from Centre to the States during 1951-52 to 1978-79:	
		(i) Total transfers	172
		(ii) Transfers under the Finance Commission.	174
		(iii) Transfers under the plan	176
		(iv) Transfers other than under the plans and Finance Commission	177
Appendix	IV.2	(i) Tax revenue of States from 1960-61 onwards	179
		(ii) Changes in pattern of taxation in States since 1960-61.	180
Appendix	IV.3	Per capita tax of the State Governments and their urban local bodies, 1975-76.	183
Appendix	IV.4	(i) Income and expenditure of urban local bodies, 1976-77.	184
		(ii) Income and expenditure of rural local bodies 1976-77	185
Appendix	IV.5	(i) Note received from Town and Country Planning Organisation regarding study of muncipal budgetary finances and level of services.	186
		(ii) Financial structure of urban local bodies classified according to size - 1975-76	192
Appendix	IV.6	State-wise assessment of income-tax (excluding tax on Union salaries) for the years 1973-74 to 1976-77.	201
Appendix	IV.7	Communication from Ministry of Finance regarding Union excise duty on generation of power	S 05
Appendix	IV.8	Variation in total(plan + non-plan) expenditure in States -1961-64 and 1974-77	208
Appendix	IV.9	Note setting out the methodology in poverty percentages	209

		(vi)	Page
A ppendix	V.1	Statewise capital expenditure provisions allowed for stamps and registration and treasury and accounts	222
Appendix	V.2	Institution, disposal and pendency of cases during 1.1.1976 to 30.6.1977 (annual averages) in:	
		(i) Lower criminal courts	223
		(ii) Higher criminal courts	224
		(iii) Lower civil courts	225
		(iv) Higher civil courts	226
Appendix	V.3	Norms of provisions per court	227
Appendix	V.4	Area and cost of construction norms	228
Appendix	V.5	Statewise upgradation provisions for judicial administration during 1979-84	229
Appendix	v.6	Comparative costs of revenue, field and general adminstration -per capita, Per hectare net sown area, per district and per square km.	233
Appendix	V.7	Statewise upgradation provisions for revenue, district and tribal administration during 1979-84	235
Appendix	₹. 8	 (i) Number of police stations and population per police station in Metropolitan, urban, semi-urban and rural areas. 	240
		(ii) Basic crime statistics and trends (1974, 1975, 1976).	241
		(iii) Strength of civil police, district armed reserve, armed police and home guards.	242
		(iv) Population per policeman(1976) and population per policeman adjusted for crime rates.	243
-		(v) Number of policemen per 1000 I.P.C crimes (1976).	244
Appendix	V. 9	(i) Amount invested in police housing during 1956-57 to 1977-78	245
		(ii) Achievements and balance of requirement for police housing.	246
		(iii) Estimates of costs of reaching housing satisfaction level and cost on norm of 58.2%.	247
Appendix	V <u>.</u> 10	(i) Provisions of revenue expenditure for upgradation of police in 1979-84	248
		(ii) Item-wise upgradation provisions for police administration during 1979-84	•

		(vii)	Page
<u>Lppondix</u>	V.11	(i) State-wise capacity in jails- central/district/sub jails. etc.	251
		(ii) Average jail population in States	25 2
		(iii) State-wise comparison of jail capacity population and proportion cf under trials	25 3
		(iv) State-wise total and per prisoner expenditure in 1976-77.	25 4
Appendi x	V.12	Annual provisions of additional expenditure on prisoners during 1979-84.	255
Appendix.	V.13	Provisions for additional jail accommodation.	256
Appendix	V.14	Item-wise upgradation provision for jails administration in the States during 1979-84.	257
Appendix -	₹.15	Summary statement of upgradation provisions in States (total and sector-wise).	25 9
Appendix	VI.1	Summarised list of heads of Capital account	26 1
Appendix	VI.2	Non-Plan capital gap during 1979-84	262
Appendix	VI.3	States estimated debt position at the end of 1978-79	26 3

Long term rates of growth of yield from certain taxes and rates adopted by the Commission for the years 1979-84

		022-Agri-	028-Taxes on	on 030-Stamps and regis-		040-Sales Tax **		041-/042-Texes on Vehi-		045-Entertainment Tax		
	Sh-4		Professions, trade and/	_	Growth		Growth	cles and on passengers		Long term growth rate	Growth rate adopted by	
	States	ted by the adopte	growth rate adopted by the Commis-	owth rate 1963-64 to add opted by 1975-76 the commis-		rate 1963-64 to ed by the adopted by 1975-76 Committee commission,		Long term Growth rate adopted by 1963-64 to 1975-76*** ssion.		1963-64 to 1975-76	the Commi- acton.	
1.	Andhra Pradesh	•		9. 3	8.0	14.2	10.0	8.1	8.0	15.3	10,7	
2.	Assam	4.0	4.0	8.7	8.0	13.5	9.0	5,2	7, 0	10.0	7.0	
3.	Bihar	3.0		6.3 <u>1</u> /	4.0	10,7 <u>1</u> /	8.0	11.5 <u>1</u> /	7.0	13.9 <u>1</u> /	8.0	
4.	Gujarat		5.0	9.3 <u>1</u> /	6.0	12.5 <u>1</u> /	9.0	I 4.2 I 15.6 1/	7.0	5.4 <u>1</u> /	8.0	
5.	Haryana			9.7 <u>2</u> /	7.5	20.0 <u>2</u> /	12.0	1 31.6 2/ 1 10.7 =	10.0	24.0 2/	12.0	
6.	Himachal Prade	sh			4.0	14.9 <u>3</u> /	9.0		7.0		6. 1	
7.	Jammu & Kashn	nir		10.4 <u>4</u> /	4.5	12.1 <u>1</u> /	7.0	5.5 <u>1</u> /	5.0	16, 2	8.0	
8.	Karnataka	4.5	5.0	9.6	7.0	13.8	9.5	Х 7.4 Х 10.4	10.0	18.7	11.0	
9.	Kerala	4.5	5.0	9.5 <u>1</u> /	9.0	11.9 <u>1</u> /	8.0	6, 4	10, 0	-	•	
10.	Madhya Pradesi	h '	5.0	9. 9	6.0	13.7	8.0	I 7.9 I 10.0	7.0	8,1	6.0	
11.	Maharashtra	3.0	5.0	6.0	5.5	13.4	9.5	I 9.7 I 3.5	9. 5	1,7	10, 3	
12.	Manipur				4.5		6.0		5.0		6. 0	
13.	Meghalaya		4.0		4.0		6.0		5.0		6.0	
14.	Nagaland		4,0		4,0		6.0		5, 0		6. 0	
15.	Orissa	4.0		11.1	6.0	11.1	8.0	10.2	7, 0	12.7	8.0	
16.	Punjab			13.1 <u>1</u> /	8.0	17.4 <u>1</u> /	11.5	1 10.5 1 14.1 1/	10.0	13.6 <u>1</u> /	10.0	
17.	Rejesthen			11.7 <u>1</u> /	6.0	13.9 <u>1</u> /	9, 5	1 11.6 \ 1 9.8 1/	7.0	12.1 <u>1</u> /	8.0	
18.	Sikkim				3.0		6.0	_	5.0		4.1	
19.	Tamil Nadu	3,0		5.6	4.0	14.3	9.0	9,5	5.0	12, 2	8.0	
20.	Tripura		4.00		3, 0		6.0		5, 0		6.0	
	Uttar Pradesh				7,0	15.3	9, 0	I 11.0	8.0	11.2	8.0	
22.	West Bengal	4.0		5,0	4.0	8.0	8.0	I 11.7 4.2	7.0 (5.0) @	8.7	8.0	

^{**} Purchase tax on sugarcane wherever levied separately has not been included under 040.

[@] Tax on entry of goods.

^{***} Growth rates under 041 and 042 are shown separately wherever these taxes are levied separately.

States * Excise revenues from Potable Liquor, in 1979-79 and in the forecast period 1979-84.

		(Rs. Lakhs)
STATES	Revenues in 1978–79	Revenues in each year of the forecast period
1.	2.	5₄
1. Andhra Pradesh	10013,48	10013 _• 48
2. Assam	4 05 • 4 6	405 • 46
3. Bihar	1922.00	2058,00
4. Gujarat	·29 _• 93	29.93
5. Haryana	1976,77	2235.27
6. Himachal Prades.	591.00	670.00
7. Jammy & Kashmir	88 7。 20	897 _° 26
8. Karnataka	5920.50	5920 ₆ 50
9. Kerala	3639 • 40	5639 • ⊲0
10. Madhya Pradesh	3827.35	582 7。 35
11. Maharashtra	3494.00	3494,00
12. Manipur	3 0•06	30 •66
13. Maghalaya	58 _• 03	58.03
14. Nagaland	83.32	83,32
15. Orissa	656•47	656•47
16. Punjab	5690.12	5690 .12
17. Rajasthan	3075.00	3075.00
18. Sikkim	79.92	79,92
19. Tamil Nadu	-	*
20. Tripura	19.5 5	19.55
21. Uttar Pradesh	6028.71	6509 -2 4
22. West Bengal	3101.00	3101 ₀ 00
<u>Total</u>	51529.33	<u>52483.36</u>

Note: In Col. 3, in the following States, 50% grants-in-eid is included on account of the difference between reassessed revenues in 1978-79 and 1977-78 (actuals)

-	States	Amounts included in each year o the Forecast period (Rs. lakhs)	۴
1.	Bihar		_
		1 36 . 00	
2•	Haryana	258 _e 50	
3.	Himachal Pradesh	7 9•00	
4.	Uttar Pradesh	<u>480.53</u>	
	<u>Total</u>	954.03	

Appendix I. 2(11)
States' excise revenues from items other than
potable liquor in the forecast period 1979-84

			<u>-</u>		(Rs	, Lakhs)
<u>States</u>	1070 00	Forec	ast peri	iod		1 5 4050 0
	1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-85 1	983 . 84 T	otal 1979-8
1.Andhra Pradesh	667.30	700.67	735.70	772.49	811.11	3687.27
2.Assam	2.67	2.80	2.94	3.09	3.24	14.74
3.Bihar	252,00	264,60	277.83	291.72	306.31	1392.46
4.Gujarat	249.97	262.47	275.59	289.37	303.84	1381.24
5.Haryana	94.74	99.48	104.45	109.67	115.15	523.49
6.Himachal Pradesh	26.87	28.18	29.57	31.02	32.54	148 .1 8
7.Jammu & Kashmir	@ 6.03	6.33	6.65	6.98	7.33	33.32
8.Karnataka	83,48	87.65	92.03	96.63	101.46	461.25
9.Kerala @	424.63	443.56	463,44	484.31	506.23	2322.17
O.Madhya Pradesh	730.28	765.59	802.67	841.60	882.48	4022.62
1.Maharashtra	2059.00	2162.00	2270.00	2384.00	2503.00	11378.00
2.Manipur	0.99	1.04	1.09	1.14	1.20	5.46
3.Meghalaya	0.14	0.14	0.15	0.16	0.17	0.76
4.Nagaland		-	. 🕶		-	-
5.Orissa	108,71	114.14	1 19.85	125.84	132.13	600.67
6.Punjab @ *	205.37	212.58	219.84	228.16	236.55	1102.50
7.Rajasthan @	124.50	129.22	134.19	139.40	144.88	672.19
8.Sikkim	0,08	0.08	0,08	0.08	0.08	0.40
9.Tamil Nadu	404.79	416.93	429.44	442.33	455.59	2149.08
O.Tripura	· — •		-	-	~	
1.Uttar Pradesh	292,20	306.81	322.15	338.26	3 55 .17	1614.59
2.West Bengal	476.70	500.54	525.57	551.85	579.44	2634.10
Total	6210.45	6504.81	6813.23	7138.1 0	7477.90	34144.49

[@] Including arrears also.

^{*} Including Rs.120 lakhs from A.R.M. in 1978-79.

Appendix I.3(i)

Letter No. 11012/18/78-PR (Vol. III) dated the 3rd August, 1978 from Departm nt of Social Welfare, Government of India, to Chief Secretaries of all States and copy endorsed to Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Home Affairs, Finance Commission, Planning Commission, Comptroller & Auditor General and Finance Secretaries of all States.

Sub: - Compensation to the States for loss or excise revenue resulting from the implementation of prohibition policy.

I am directed to refer to d.o. letter No.11012/18/78-PR, dated 28th March, 1978 from Shri Saran Singh, Secretary, Department of Social Welfare addressed to the State Governments on the question of implementation of the prohibition policy.

- I am directed to state that the Government of India have decided to compensate the States for the established loss of excise revenue resulting from the implementation of the above policy. The compensation will be limited to 50% of their established loss of excise revenue each year, commencing from 1978-79, treating the actual excise revenue of 1977-78 as the base. The States will have to devise ways and means of meeting the balance loss. In this context the State Governments may consider mopping up, through taxation as well as through voluntary savings, of a part of the income that would otherwise have been spent on liquor. The States would not be compensated for possible increases which may have occurred in excise revenue, cost of enforcement etc. The established loss of revenue will be computed on the basis of figures of State excise revenue as certified by the State's Accountant General.
- 3. The above scheme of assistance to the States, which will be in the form of grant, will be in operation till the end of financial year 1983-84.
- 4. The States would have projected their revenues to the Finance Commission on the basis of the national policy which envisages complete prohibition within a period of four years and it will be for the Commission to take a view on the question of devolution of funds with reference to the resources position disclosed in the forecasts and other relevant factors.

Letter No.P.11012/18/78-PR dated the 4th August, 1978 from Department of Social Welfare, Govt. of India to Member Secretary, Finance Commission, New Delhi.

Sub: Compensation to the States for loss of excise revenue resulting from the implementation of prohibition policy.

I am directed to say that in pursuance of the Directive Principle of State Policy in the Constitution, the State Governments have been requested to implement the policy of prohibition in a phased manner over a period of four years. Guidelines on this subject have also been issued.

- 2. The Government of India have decided to compensate the States for the established loss of excise revenue resulting from the implementation of the above policy of prohibition. The compensation will be limited to 50% of the established loss of excise revenue each year, commencing from 1978-79 treating the actual excise revenue of 1977-78 as the base.
- 3. The States will have to devise ways and means of meeting the balance loss. The States would not be compensated for possible increases which may have occurred in excise revenue. cost of enforcement etc.
- 4. The above scheme of assistance to the States, which will be in the form of grant, will be in operation till the end of the financial year 1983-84.
- 5. In terms of the above decision, Gujarat and Tamil Nadu States which have implemented the policy of prohibition long ago and whose excise revenue in the base year 1977-78 is accordingly negligible will not get the grant-in-aid. These States would have projected their revenues to the Finance Commission on the basis of the continuance of their present policy of prohibition and it will be for the Commission to take a view on the question of devolution of funds to these States with reference to the resources position disclosed in their forecasts and other relevant factors.
- 6. A copy of the letter issued to the State Government is enclosed for the information of the Finance Commission.

D.O.No.PF/R-9(50)74-Vol.V dated the 16th September, 1978 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Finance Secretary, Ministry of Finance, New Delhi, to Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission.

. . . .

Subm. Compensation to the States for the loss of excise revenue resulting from implementation of prohibition policy.

Please refer to letters No. T-11012/16/78-TR dated August 4, 1978 and No. 11012/18/78-TR(Vol.III) dated August 3, 1978, from the Department of Social Welfare, Government of India, on the above subject.

- It may be recalled that the above subject came up for discussion with the Seventh Finance Commission on 13.9.1978 whom the Commission sought certain clarifications from the representatives of the Ministry of Finance. We explained the view point of the Finance Ministry to the Commission and undertook to furnish a note on the subject.
- The Union Government have decided to compensate the States for the established loss of "excise revenue" resulting from the implementation of the prohibition policy. The compensation has been limited to 50% of their established loss of excise revenue each year, commencing from 1978-79, treating the actual excise revenue of 1977-78 as the base. This assistance to the States which will be in the form of grant, will be in operation till the end of the financial year 1983-84. The actual receipts under the Head of Account 039-State Excise would be taken into account for purpose of determining the quantum of compensation. No compensation will be payable for increases in revenue or cost of enforcement machinery. The State Governments have been advised to devise ways and means to recoup the likely loss of excise revenue by other measures.
- In meeting the compensation of 50% payable to States for the loss of excise revenue, Government of India have been guided by the consideration that it should be possible for the States to make up for the balance through higher realisation of revenue from some of the existing taxes like sales—tax, entertainment tax, etc. The introduction of prohibition will increase the purchasing power which will be utilised for purchase of goods and on entertainment and other recreational activities which are subjected to tax. The cost of enforcement machinery can be taken care of within the annual growth rate of non—plan expenditure which will be provided by the Finance Commission.

Additional funds provided for medicines in hospitals.

Appendix I. 4(1)

S.No.	States	No. of beds (as on 1.4.76)	Per bed Present level	expenditure Desired level	Gap	Addition 1979-80 (2 x 5)	nal funds 1980–81	required 1981-82			lakhs) 1979-84 Total (6 to 10)
- - , -	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9·)	(10)	(11)
1. F	Bihar	15893	2139	2578	439	69.77	75.35	81.38	87.89	94.92	409,31
2. F	laryana	5488	1648	2578	930	51.04	55.12	59.53	64.29	69.43	299.41
3. F	dimachal Pradesh	5288	1112	2578	1466	77.52	82.17	87.10	92.33	97.87	436.99
4. 3	Jammu & Kashmir	5209	2534	2578	44	2.29	2.43	2,58	2.73	2.89	12.92
5. 1	Karnataka	24022	1897	2578	681	163.59	173.41	183.81	194.84	205,53	922,18
6. 1	Kerala	34393	1481	2578	1097	377.29	399.93	423.93	449.37	475,33	2126.85
7. 1	Meghalaya	1070	1783	2578	795	8,51	9.02	9.56	10.13	10.74	47.96
8.	Punjab	11613	2248	2578	53Ó	38.32	40.62	43.06	45.64	48.38	216.02
9.	Rajasthan	16293	2037	2578	541	88,15	93•44	99.05	104.99	111.29	496.92
10. 1	Uttar Pradesh	43179	1160	2578	1418	612.28	661,26	714.16	771.29	832.99	3591.98
					Total	1488.76	1592.75	1704.16	1823.50	1951.37	8560,54

Note: - For Bihar, Haryana & U.P., projection on 1979-80 has been done at 8%, while for other States 1t is at 6%.

Additional funds provided for dict in hospitals.

S. No.	States	No. of Beds		expendituro		Addition 1979-80		required		1002.04	(fs. 1a! 1979⊶84	khs)
		(as on 1.4.76)	Present _1evel	Desired	Gap	19 /9-80 (2 x 5)_	1980~81	1981-82	1982-83	1963-64	(Total 6	to 10)_
				[4]	_ [5]		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	_(<u>1</u> 0)	(11)	
l. Andhre	Pradesh	23451	1085	1100	15	3,52	3. 73	3.96	4.19	4.44	19.84	
2. Assam		6292	908	1100	192	12.08	13.04	14.09	15.22	16.43	70.86	
3. Gujara	t	15937	540	1100	560	89•25	94.61	100 • 29	106.31	112.69	503.15	
4. Haryana	3 -	5488	245	1100	855	46.92	50.67	54.72	59•10	63.83	275•24	
5. Himacha	al Pradesh	5288	169	1100	931	49 • 23	52.18	55,31	58.63	62.15	277.50	
5. Karnata	aka	24022	797	1100	303	72.79	77.16	81.79	86.70	91,90	410.34	
7. Kerala		34393	1081	1100	19	6.53	5, 92	7.33	7,77	B _c 23	35.78	
. Madhya	Pradesh	17108	758	1100	342	58,51	63.19	68.25	73.71	79.€1	343,27	
. Maharas	shtra	28636	869 -	1100	231	66,15	70.12	74.33	78 •7 9	83.52	372.91	
. Orissa		9302	688	1100	412	38.32	41.39	44.70	48•28	52.14	224,83	
- Punjab		11613	260	1100	840	97, 55	103.40	109.60	116.18	123.15	549.88	
. Rajasth	nan	16293	332	1100	7 68	125.13	132.64	140.60	149.04	157.98	705•39	
• Tamil N	· Vadu	29849	1025	1100	75	22.39	23.73	25.15	26,66	28.26	126.19	
. Uttar F	Pradesh	43179	252	1100	848	366.16	395•45	427.09	461,26	498,16	2148•12	
5. West B∈	angal	44402	913	1100	187	83.03	88.01	93•29	98.89	104.82	468 .04	
					Total		1216.24			. 	 '6532•34	

Note:- For Assam, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Orissa and Uttar Pradesh projection on 1979-80 figures has been done at 8%, while for other States it is at the rate of 6%.

Appendix I.5

Expenditure on old age pension under Major Head of Account 288

(Realakhs)

		(Rs. lakhs)
States	Actual exp.on old age pension in 1976-77	Exp. for 1979-84 as per norm of 0.1% Population @ Rs.60 per month	
1.Andhra Pradesh	48.54	1566,10	1566.10
2.Assam	Nil	526 ,50	526.50
3.Bihar	4.57	2028,60	2023 60
4.Gujarat	Nil	961.20	961.20
5.Haryana	20,97	361.35	361.35
6.Himachal Pradesh	19.76	138.00	138.00
7. Jammu & Kashmir	Nil	166.20	166.20
8.Karnataka	633.47	1054.75	4615.00
9.Kerala	332.00	768.60	2760.00
10.Madhya Pradesh	N11	1499,40	1499.40
ll.Maharashtra	N11	1815,00	1815.00
12.Manipur	N 11	38.65	38,65
13.Meghalaya	Nil	36,40	36,40
14.Nagaland	N 1 1	18.60	13.60
l5.Orissa	62,00	790.00	790.00
16.Punjab	217.76	487.85	1440.00
17.Rajasthan	61.96	927,55	1325.05
18.Sikkim	Nil	7.55	7.55
19. Tamil Nadu	145.82	1483.15	1483.15
20. Tripura	<u></u>	56,00	56.00
21.Uttar Pradesh	271.07	3180,30	3180.30
22.West Bengal	22.00	1595,25	1595,25
Total	1839.92	19507.00	26408.30
			

D.O. letter No.5(10)/78-Desk.V dated August 16, 1978 from Shri R. Tirumalai, Secretary, Ministry of Supply & Rehabilitation (Department of Rehabilitation) New Delhi addressed to Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary Seventh Finance Commission, Vigyan Bhavan Annexe, New Delhi.

As you are aware, very soon after the partition, we were confronted with the gigantic problem of relief and rehabilitation of refugees from West Pakistan. Even later, the influx of refugees crossing the borders from all points occurred in several waves. The displaced persons from former East Pakistan migrated to India till 1971 in several spells. Since 1963-64, the repatriation of Indian Nationals from Burma and Sri Lanka has been taking place. Subsequently, there has also been repatriation from certain other countries in Africa and South East Asia.

- 2. The rehabilitation work in respect of refugees from West Pakistan has been virtually resolved but problems in respect of other migrants/repatriates are still being handled by this Department.
- 3. Apart from the resettlement of refugees, migrants and repatriates on land etc., the relief and rehabilitation aspect involved, inter-alia, several welfare activities, such as housing, education, training, employment, medical facilities, establishment of Permanent Liability Homes etc., To take care of some segments of these migrants and repatriates, a number of institutions such as Boarding Schools Industrial Training Centres, P.L. Homes, etc. had to be set yp. Though most of these institutions were set up through the agency of concerned State Governments, these were maintained and/or financed by the Deptt. of Rehabilitation, over the last two Plan periods. The following institutions are still continuing.

Na	me and location of Institution	Capacity (persons)	Approximate annual expenditure based on B.E. for 1978-79 (R. in lakhs)
1.	Permanent Liability Home at Kancharapalem (Visakhapatnam - 1.P.)	300	1.93
2.	P.L. Home at Mathur (Tamil Nad	u)3 00	6.00
3.	P.L. Home at Mudrapur (U.P.)	1101	12.80
4.	P.L. Home at Amtoli(Tripura)	492	3.60
5.	P.L. Home at Mana (M.P.)	5536	42.00
	Boarding School at Bheemuni- patnam Boarding School at Anakapalli	250*	1.30
	Poerding School at Mathur (Tamil Nadu)	800 #	6.20

^{*} approximate.

- 4. The Home at Mana (Madhya Tradesh) is being run directly by this Department and we have already requested the Govt. of Madhya Pradesh to take over this Home. They have been informed that we would bear expenditure on the Home till the end of Fifth Plan Teriod and that in the meanwhile the State Govt. may place this issue before the Seventh Finance Commission to take this expenditure in account while fixing the quantum engrants—in—aid for the State Government.
- 5. The rest of the institutions are being administered by the respective State Govts. and the Central Govt. has been reimbursing the entire expenditure on their running and maintenance. However, as regards institutions at Srl. Nos.6 and 7, the Govt. of Andhra Pradesh were advised to take over their maintenance w.e.f. 1.4.77 stipulating also that assistance from this Department would be restricted only to the extent the repatriate students were eligible for stipends/book grants, under the pattern scheme. The State Govt, have corresponded us to allow them financial assistance for 1977-78 also and the proposal is under consideration.
- The Department of Rehabilitation has, however, been anxious to wind up its activities in a phased marner. Running of the institutions of these types for the general public is the responsibility of the State Govts. Besides rehabilitated persons should now form part of the local population as well as of the main stream of national life. We have, therefore, been making efforts to persuade respective States to assume full responsibility for running and maintenance of these institutions. The State Govts. have, however, shown some reluctance to take these over, some of them possibly owing to their tight ways and means position. Nevertheless, the fact remains that this Department cannot undertake to bear this liability on a perpetual basis, because the responsibility for locking after persons under the category of permanent liability also devolves upon the State Govts. We, however, realise that the normal resources of the States/Welfare Institutions may not be sufficient to shoulder this additional burden. We have, therefore, suggested to the concerned State Govts. to place this aspect before the Seventh Finance Commission, so that the Commission could consider taking into account this liability as a committed expenditure, while fixing the quantum of Central Assistance as 'grants-in-aid' for the State Governments.
- 7. I shall be grateful if you will kindly bring this to the notice of the Commission who may like to give it their sympathetic consideration, at the time of finalising their recommendations regarding the quantum of Central assistance to the concerned State Governments.

With kind regards,

Information furnished by Planning Commission in respect of Central sector and Centrally sponsored schemes in D.O.No.PC(P)4/5/CSS/77-MLP dated September 15, 1973 from Shri K.V.
Sundaram. Joint Director

Kindly refer to your D.O. letter dated 3rd August, 1978 addressed to Shri P.H. Vaishnav, Joint Secretary, Planning Commission. I understand that the information asked by you regarding current year's annual plan outlays has been sent to you by State Plan Division. I am enclosing herewith a revised statement regarding the order of committed expenditure liability in 1979-80 on account of centrally sponsored schemes which are being implemented in the current year. I am afraid, it may not be possible at this stage to give figures for statewise estimate of committed expenditure for each scheme in each of the five years from 1979-80 to 1983-84 as the entire question of central and centrally sponsored schemes is being reviewed by a Committee of the National Development Council and the Ministries handling these schemes have not been able to provide this information.

Appendix I.7(Contd.)

Estimated Committed Expenditure liabilities during 1979-80 on account of Centrally Sponsored Schemes

(Rs. lakhs)

Department/Name of the Schemes	mount which is likely to be shown In State Budgets.
Agriculture & Allied Sectors & Cooperation	10000.00
Nutrition	
Applied Nutrition Programme	17.60
Family Planning	
Family Planning	-
<u>Health</u>	
Malaria Eradication Programme (Urban) Malaria Eradication Programme (Rural)	1056.94
National Filaria Control	15,00
National T.B. Control	•
National Trachoma Control & Prevention of Blind	ness 558.15
V.D. Control	-
Cholera Control	~
National Small Pox Eradication	682.10
Leprosy Control	628,44
Training of Physico-Therapist	-
Establishment of Psychiatric Clinics	-
Combined Food & Drug Laboratories	•
ISM - Establishment of ISM Pharmacies including herbal Farms	-
Training of Community Health Workers	-
Post-Graduate Medical Education in Indian Syste	m -
School Health	-
Training and Employment of Multipurpose Health Workers	166.12
Welfare of Backward Classes Girls Hostels for Scheduled Castes & Scheduled	Tribes -
Post-matric scholarships and merit scholarships for SC & ST	
Pre-matric Scholarships	15.00
Research and Training	10,00
Cooperation (Special Schemes)	-
Aid to voluntary organisations	-

Appendix I.7 (Concld) (Rs. lakhs)

· (Rs. lakhs)
-Coaching & Allied Schemes including Pre- examination Training	16.00
Book Banks for Scheduled Castes & Scheduled Tribes students in Medical & Engineering Colleges	
Machinery for Enforcement of Untouchability (Offences) Act	50.00
New Schemes for Scheduled Castes	N . A.
Sccial Welfare	
Services for Children in need of care and protection	n 285,00
Integrated child care services	- ,
Welfare of destitute women & children	30,00
Integrated education for the handicapped	- •
Placement of handicapped through special employment exchanges and appointment of special officers in ordinary employment exchanges	20.00
<u>Village & Small Scale Industries</u>	
Rural Industrial Projects	350,00
Collection of Statistics	•
<u>Transport</u>	
Minor Ports - Development and modernisation	-
Inland Water Transport	-
Machinery and Equipment	res
Roads of Inter-State and Economic Importance	•
Special Roads/Bridges, Works of Mational Importance	· ·
Power	
Inter State/Regional Lines	-
General Education	
Book Production at University level in Hindi and regional languages	150.00
Establishment of Hindi Teachers Training Wings in existing colleges in non-Hindi speaking States	10.00
Appointment of Hindi teachers in non-Hindi speaking States	290.00
Development of Sanskrit	19.88
Technical Education	
Development of Post Graduate Courses and Research	82,00
Improvement of Polytechnics and Colleges	-
Water Supply	-
Accelerated Rural Water Supply to problem villages	-

Note received from Reserve Bank of India in their letter of July 1978, regarding Provisions for Sinking Fund and Depreciation Fund in the Revenue Account of State Budgets.

The Seventh Finance Commission has to recommend statutory Grants-In-Aid to States to finance their revenue gaps. For this purpose, the Commission is required to calculate revenue gaps of the State Governments on the basis of a method uniformely applicable to all States. In this context, a point has been raised whether transfer to sinking funds and depreciation funds should be considered as a legitimate charge or not on revenues of States and whether they should be included in , or excluded from, the revenue expenditure for the purpose of calculating revenue gaps with a view w determining the Grants In-Aid. The Seventh Finance Commission has pointed out that the State Governments do not adopt uniform or standardised practice in regard to provision in the revenue account for amortisation and depreciation of public debt liabilities and that the Reserve Bank's instructions in relation to Sinking Funds and Depreciation Funds are not being observed uniformly by all the States. The instructions given by the Reserve Bank regarding Depreciation Fund and Sinking Fund are summarised below.

Depreciation Fund: Prior to July 1971, the notifications issued by the State Governments concerning the floatations of new loans in the market contained a stipulation that the State Government will provide in each financial year a sum equal to 1/2 per cent of total nominal amount of the loan to be used for purchasing the securities of the loan for cancellation. The object of creating the Depreciation Fund through annual provisions in the revenue account was to extend support to the market prices of State loans, as and when these tended to depreciate, through repurchase in advance of their maturity dates. As the prices of States loans were well maintained for quite a number of years, prior to 1971, the Governments were not required to utilise the Depreciation Fund for redemption of loans in advance of their maturity dates. Furthermore, given the prevailing conditions

in the gilt-edged market which did not call for extension of any support to their securities by the State Governments, earmarking of resources to the Depreciation Fund would only tend to reduce the resources available to the State Governments for other purposes. Against this back-ground, the Reserve Bank, through its letter No.C. 117-275 dated July 23, 1971, advised the State Governments that loan notifications may be amended to make such purchases of securities permissible and not obligatory in future, and that no amount need be set apart in future for repurchases of outstanding debt. The Reserve Bank also indicated that while settling the net amount to be borrowed from the market by the States, the Bank would ignore ary provisions made in the budget by any State for purchasing its securities by transfer from the Consolidated Fund to the Public In purroance of the above advice from the Bank, the loan Accounts nctifications issued by the State Covernments in subsequent years do not make any reference to the creation of Depreciation Fund. The divergence in practice adopted by the State Governments in this regard could thus largely be explained in terms of the withdrawal of the earlier stipulation making the setting apart of funds to the Depreciation Fund permissible and not obligatory.

Sinking Fund: Prior to April, 1975, the loan notification of the State Governments contained a clause that 'the Government will also make such annual contributions to a Sinking Fund to be utilised towards the amortisation of their open market loans, as they may, from time to time, decide to be necessary. But, some of the State Governments which did not have a genuine revenue surplus (i.e. revenue surplus excluding grants from the Centre) were not making regular annual contributions to the Sinking Fund. While on the one hand such non-amortisation may be construed as a breach of contract as per borrowing from those who have subscribed to the loans, the mere transfer of annual provisions from the Revenue Account to the Public Account without the actual investment in securities, on the

other hand, is superfluous. It may also be noted here that the magnitude of the market borrowing of a State each year is determined after taking into account the loans falling due for redemption in that year. In view of the foregoing, it was felt that it should not be made obligatory on the part of the State Government to contribute to the Sinking Fund. Accordingly, the Reserve Dank in terms of its letter No.C117/4131 of April 9, 1975 advised the State Governments that it was not obligatory on their part to make any contribution to such funds and the relative paragraph in the loan notification can therefore be deleted.

It may, therefore, be observed that the provisions for Depreciation Fund and Sinking Fund are no longer obligatory and such provisions are not utilised for the purposes for which they are intended viz. (1) purchase by the State of its own securities so as to maintain their prices and (2) redeem them on maturity. Desides, the prices and yield of Government securities are dependent on conditions in the gilt-edged market which are determined in turn by the monetary and fiscal policies. Generally, maturing loans are converted into new loans and no repayment as such is made from States' own revenues. Hence, repayment of loans does not involve use of funds provided for in the revenue account.

It may further by argued that, in view of a number of State Governments having deficit on revenue accounts (excluding grants-in-aid), the transfers made to Depreciation Fund and Sinking Fund would appear to be mere book-entries rather than genuine transfer of cash balances. Moreover, all the States are not following uniform practices for making such provisions and some State Governments do not even make any provisions for these purposes. The present conditions in the gilt-edged market do not warrant any cause for concern in

terms of balancing the capital loss against an increase in interest income. It needs emphasis that, according to the 'locked in' theory of investment in government securities, an investor would normally prefer to hold the security and get full amount of loan on maturity rather than sell at lower price with an attendant capital loss in the market. Beside, even if State Governments have surpluses on revenue account (without grants-in-aid), the latter can be utilised for economic services providing better social rate of return rather than locking them up in reserves. Hence, the provisions for Depreciation Fund and Sinking Fund should not be obligatory revenue charges for States and should be excluded from the expenditure side for the purpose of determining the amount of Grants-in-aid required to fill their revenue gap.

On the basis of these considerations, the view taken by the Sixth Finance Commission that provisions for depreciation and sinking funds would not be legitimate charge on the revenue accounts of the States would seem to be apposite.

Pre

Post

August, 47 to 1.4.1952

C.P.W.D. Norms based on capital costs of buildings.

PARA 55 OF CHAPTER I OF C.P.W.D. MANUAL VOL. II: The total estimated cost of maintenance of buildings/structure during a year should be within the prescribed limits, as approved by Government from time to time, both for Annual Repairs and Special Repairs. The existing percentages, as approved for these purposes, are as below:-

31.3.42 14.8.47

1.4.42 to Fost 15th

	Structu- res	Structures	31.3.1962	
I - CIVIL				
1 - Annual Repairs:				
(a) <u>Non-residêntial</u> <u>tuildings (Permanent)</u>				
<pre>(i) Office buildings (e.g. Secretariat Elock etc.)</pre>	1.2%		0.35%	0.30%
(ii) Other permanent buildings	4.95%	2.8%	1.10%	0.95%
(iii) Temporary buildings	5%	4.4%	3.2%	2.60%
(b) Residential Buildings				
(i) Permanent	5,4%	3.2%	2.23%	1.9%
(ii) Temporary	6%	4,8%	6.4%	5.2%
2. Special Repairs				
(a) Residential				
(i) Temporary	3%	1,75%	1.60%	1.30%
(ii) Permanent	1.80%	1.20%	0.73%	0.63%
(b) Non-residential buildings				
(i) Temporary	3%	1.75%	1.60%	1.30%
(ii) Permanent	1.80%	1.20%	0.73%	0.63%
(c) <u>Monumental</u>	0.45%	-	0.36%	0.31%
II. Electrical installations				
1. Annual Repairs	11%	10%	6%	5%
2. Special Repairs with fans	3.50%	3.25%	3.00%	3.00%
3. Special Repairs without fans	2.00%	1.75%	1.50%	1.50%

Appendix I.10

COST OF MAINTENANCE OF BUILDINGS

1979-84 1.979-80 States Provision Provision Provision Provision reassessed proposed by proposed by reassessed State State Governments Covernments (1) (2)(3) (5) l. Andhra Pradesh 392.00 318.17 2170.00 1764.74 2. Assam 467.15 275.41 2581.40 1659.43 3. Bihar 2169.00 695.71 12790,00 4816.73 4. Gujarat 539,00 404.04 2950.00 2427.83 5. Haryana 357.00 207.68 2141.00 1337,20 6. Himachal Pradesh 392,70 116,57 2116,93 702.62 7. Jammu & Kashmir 346,00 245.77 2470.00 2026.77 8. Karnataka 799,00 313,19 4795.86 2035,68 9. Kerala 296.00 247.59 1657.00 1450,01 10. Madhya Pradesh 1631.16 489,38 9529,99 2989.02 ll. Maharashtra 765,00 669,65 4325.00 3904.77 12. Manipur 122,71 70.02 705.66 437.55 13. Meghalaya 151,10 31.97 819.16 218.73 14. Nagaland 319,00 170.64 2027.00 1014.54 15. Orissa 1292.00 445.95 6506.00 2522.78 16. Punjah 1082.00 307.05 6343.00 2735.74 17. Rajasthan 836.12 378.18 4620.08 2088.01 18. Sikkim 25.00 20.91 145.00 147.89 19. Tamil Nadu 645.76 358.45 3539,40 2215,42 20. Tripura 96.29 68.68 587.78 426.37 21. Uttar Pradesh 1977.56 450.45 11650.18 3845.91 22. West Bengal 1402.83 509,33 7980,73 3285.91 TCTAL 16104.38 6794.79

92451.17

44055.85

Provision for Maintenance of State and Local Bodies Roads (in & lakhs)

States	State Govt. 1979-80	Tocal Bodies _1 <u>272</u> -80_	Total	State Govt. 1979-84	Local bodies 1979-84	Total
1.Andhra Pradesh 2.Assam 3.Bihar 4.Gujarat 5.Haryana	2632 676 1320 676 909	614 - 389 780 12	3296 676 1709 1456 .921	14820 3736 7293 3736 5022	6 3393 /- 2149 4310 67	7 18213 3736 9442 8046 5089
6.Fimuchal Pradesh 7.Jammu & Kashmir 8.Karnataka 9.Kerala 10.Madhya Pradesh	459 409 2025 1074 2587	5 176 743 92	464 418 2201 1817 2679	3076 2259 12654 5934 16121	28 49 973 4105 510	3104 2308 13627 10039 16631
11.Maharashtra 12.Manipur 13.Meghalaya 14.Nagaland 15.Orissa	2010 140 206 249 831	1564 54 1 - 507	3574 194 207 249 1338	11107 1023 1137 1684 5663	86 43 300 5 - 2804	19750 1323 1142 1684 8467
16.Punjab 17.Rajasthan 18.Sikkim 19.Tamil Nadu	936 1922 127 1714	94 1 1176	936 2016 128 2890	6190 10617 701 12058	- 520 5 6498	6190 11137 706 18556
20.Tripura 21.Uttar Pradesh 22.West Bengal	206 2285 950	2 993 570	208 3 28 3 1520	1137 14)52 5250	10 5514 3150	1147 20466 8400

Correspondence with Planning Commission regarding maintenance of capital assets completed under the plans during 1979-84.

1. D.O. letter No.7FC-1(14)-Res/77 dated August 19/21, 1973 from Member Secretary to Dr. Ajit Mozocmdar, Secretary, Ilanning Commission.

In the course of examination of the requirements for maintenance of capital assets like roads, buildings and irrigation systems, we find that generally States provided for such maintenance in the non-lan budget for works completed during a Flan period, even before the end of the Five-year plan. In accordance with this practice, some States have proposed non-Tlan provisions for maintenance of works expected to be completed in each year of the 5-year period 1979-04 which includes 4 years of the new five-year plane There appears to be a conflict between this position, and what we understand is the principle supposed to be adopted for planning, i.e. that till the end of a Tlam period maintenance requirements of works completed in the years of the Tlan should be provided for as part of the plan cutlays. The question is whether in the years 1979-80 to 1983-84 the Finance Commission should consider providing for maintenance of roads, buildings and irrigation systems which may be completed in those years, or whether the Tlanning Commission would take care of the maintenance requirements in the Ilan outlays. We would appreciate the advice of the Planning Commission on this matter urgently.

- 2. In the Central Government, maintenance of plan roads and plan buildings is booked to the non-plan budget of the Ministries concerned as soon as a work is completed, without waiting for the end of the five-year plan, as I am informed by FA, Shipping & Transport and FA, Works & Housing. You are, no doubt, aware of this position, which seems to be relevant to the problem mentioned above in regard to the States, from the point of view of uniformity of treatment.
- 2. D.O.letter No. 60(34)/73-Ecc. dated September 6, 1978 from Dr. Ajit Yezu mdar to Yember Secretary.

Kindly refer to your letter No.7FC-1(14)-Res/17 dated 21.8.1978 about whether for the years 1979-80 to 1983-84, the Finance Commission should consider providing for maintenance of roads, buildings and irrigation systems which may be completed in those years, or whether the planning Commission would take care of the maintenance requirements in the Plan outlays.

2. We are of the view that maintenance of trrigation systems should not be treated at par with the maintenance of roads and buildings. In the former case, with the completion of canal works, water is released to the farmers and consequently irrigation charges, which accrue from the beneficiaries, are credited to the States!

Appendix I.12(contd.)

normal revenues. Simultaneously, the State Governments provide the working expenses relating to the maintenance of the newly opened canal works on the non-Plan side irrespective of the fact whether the Plan period is completed or not. Under the circumstances, the Finance Commission should consider providing for the maintenance of irrigation systems which may be completed during the plan period. On the other hand, roads and buildings do not yield additional revenue to States as irrigation does. The maintenance expenditure in respect of these in the initial years is relatively small. Therefore, maintenance charges in respect of roads and buildings could be treated as Plan outlay till the completion of the Plan period.

Note dated 2.11.1977 received from Department of Irrigation on the need for adequate funds for operation and maintenance of irrigation projects.

1. Reference by the Commission: Please furnish your views on the norms and levels of expenditure required in the States, for adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets and of Central and State Plan schemes likely to be completed by the end of 1978-79 in sector of development concerning your Ministry. Please indicate the details of how such norms and/or levels of maintenance expenditure have been worked out.

2. Note received in reply from Department of Irrigation

---×××××××××--------

Since the start of planned development in 1951, many major and medium irrigation projects have been taken up for construction in the country and irrigation facilities have been extended over very large areas. By the end of 1975-76 the irrigation potential created by these projects has been of the order of 47.7 million ha. out of which utilisation has been about 45.4 million ha. The construction of irrigation projects is necessary for extending the irrigation facilities to as large cress as possible in the country. Equally important is the task of operation and maintenance of these systems for realisation of full benefits envisaged at the time of their construction. Completion of irrigation projects is not an end itself. They have to be properly operated and maintained continuously if they have to yield anticipated benefits. Many of the earlier projects completed prior to independence and those which have been completed in the earlier plans, have not been generally maintained to the sufficient degree of efficiency, not due to technical know-how or the will to do this work properly being not there, but due to paucity of funds. The field of operation and maintenance of irrigation and drainage systems has been found to be quite often neglected, the main reason being shortage of finances. It needs no emphasis that proper operation and maintenance of the systems on a continuous basis is necessary, if they have to yield without interruption the full benefits. It has been noticed that in many of the older systems due to continuous financial stringency

in the operation and maintenance of the systems, deteriorations have set in and some of the systems are in a very bad state, meeding extensive special repairs, remodelling and modernisation. The enthusiasm that is being displayed by the various State Governments in increasing the irrigation facilities by taking up more and more projects in their territories, needs to be equally shown in proper operation and maintenance of the completed systems, so that they do not fall into a State of neglect and thus not yield the full benefits. The subject of providing adequate funds for proper operation and maintenance of irrigation systems is thus a very important one and needs to be reviewed periodically to cater for the escalation in the costs of labour, materials and equipment. Importance of this subject has somehow been lost sight of in the past. Many of the older irrigation systems are still getting the same grants for operation and maintenance which they were getting saveral decades before and thus their efficiencies are getting continuously reduced.

There are various practices which are being followed by the different State Governments in allocating funds for operation and maintenance of irrigation systems. The practices vary from State to State and in some cases even from project to project in a State. In general, there are four following methods by which the operation and maintenance charges are fixed. They are:

- a) Un the basis of gross annual irrigated area, a rate per ha.

 is fixed (this is being followed by a large number of States).
- b) On the basis of culturable command area of the projects, a rate per ha. is fixed (as in the case of Bihar).
- o) On the basis of length of the canals in distribution system a rate per Km. is fixed (as in the case of U.P.).
- d) Un the basis of potential created (as in the case of Maharashtra).

in the early stages of development of irrigation in a new system, the development may not be uniform throughout the command and the whole canal system may have to run to feed the different isolated developed patches of the command area. Under such conditions, of the above four

methods, it is desirable that the provision for operation and maintenance charges may be related to the potential created rather than to the actual area irrigated by the system. Once the anticipated potential is achieved under a system and is equal to the annual irrigated area. the provision for operation and maintenance charges may be made on the basis of gross annual irrigated area. Provision on the basis of gross annual irrigated area is preferable as it will take into consideration the length of time of the running of the canals in the various seasons.

3. The Committee of Ministers on "Under-utilisation of created irrigation Potential" which was set up by the eratwhile Ministry of Irrigation and Power in their report dated June. 1973 observed that operation
and maintenance of irrigation and drainage systems is often a neglected
field and is one of the main reasons accounting for under-utilisation
of created irrigation potential. The Committee has also mentioned
that in most of the cases adequate funds are not made available from
the maintenance grants to carry out repair jobs particularly soon
after the first operation of the canal system, when a substantial works
like strengthering and raising of the earth banks and repairs after
the first running of the canals are necessary.

Grants given for operation and maintenance of irrigation projects being too inadequate, the above committee felt that the systems cannot be operated with reasonable efficiency and the irrigation programme suffers. The Committee recommended that:

- (i) All the work-charged staff which requires to be continued for a long time must be appointed on regular establishment and financed from the normal establishment budget of the State for irrigation. (ii) To meet the rising costs of labour and materials and maintain the channels to a estisfactory standard, at least Re.30 per ha. should be allotted for operation and maintenance of irrigation systems.
- 4. It is also observed that channals running in Kharif need clearance more than once to carry full discharge. In addition, due to increases in water for high-yielding crops the existing availability of water on many irrigation systems does not meet the requirements of the cultivators with the result that cultivators resort to cut and breaches of most

of the channels during the period of keen demands. Due to paucity of funds and staff the damaged portion of the channels are not repaired promptly and properly. A study of allocation of funds for normal maintenance of channels during the last few years shows that availability per has has been reducing gradually, if the rise in cost of material and labour index is accounted for. Therefore, there is need for providing enhanced provision to achieve satisfactory level of maintenance.

- As per the recommendations of the "first Conference of the State Ministers of Irrigation" held in July, 1975, the Central Water Utilisation Team was set up for studying the irrigation systems and suggesting measures for optimising their operational efficiency. The Team during its visit to the various irrigation projects in the country during the period 1975—77, found that the operation and maintenance budget was grossly inadequate in many cases and the systems were gradually deteriorating. The details in respect of some of the projects, as observed by the Team, are given in the following paras:—
- (1) Son System (Bihar): The annual operation and maintenance expenses per ha. of the irrigated area in the command in the last few years has been of the order of Rs. 8.75 per ha. annually. The project authorities had approached the State Governments for increasing the rate to Rs. 18.25 per ha. The Team considered that even the increased rate of Rs. 18.25 per ha. was inadequate and needed to be increased further.
- (ii) Lower Ganga Canal System (U.P.) : The operation and maintenance budget for this project was reported to be Rs. 44 lakes per annum which corresponds to Rs. 5 per ha. of irrigated area. This rate is very low and insufficient. The system is in a bad shape due to neglect of proper maintenance.
- (iii) Peechi Project (Kerala): Funds made available for maintenance without gardens at the dam are stated to be Rs. 18.25 per ha. of gross irrigated area. The project authorities had indicated that this amount was inadequate to maintain the system properly.
- (iv) <u>Purna Project (Maharashtra)</u>: Funds are allocated for operation and maintenance at the rate of Rs.17.5 per ha. This has been found to be inadequate for proper operation and maintenance.

- (v) Upper Gampa Canal Project (U.P.): The operation and maintenance expenses in the case of Upper Gampa Canal System in U.P. in the year 1975-76 worked out to Re.7.93 ha. of irrigated area. This is quite insufficient for proper maintenance and operation of the system and the "Central Team for indepth study of the operation of UGC System" in their report of May, 1977 have recommended that this should be suitably increased.
- 6. Many irrigation projects have been posed for World Bank Assistance during the recent years. The World Bank authorities have prepared appraisal reports in respect of many of these projects wherein they have considered the aspect of proper operation and maintenance of the systems. In respect of some of the projects which have been appraised by the World Bank, the recommendations made in regard to the operation and maintenance expenses are detailed below:-

	Project	Appraisal	Recommended rate per ha
1.	Kadana (Gujarat)	June, 1970	Rs. 20/-
2.	Chambal (Rajasthan)	May, 1974	Rs, 32/-
3.	Chambal (Madhya Pradesh)	June, 1975	Rs. 48/-
4•.	Andhra Pradesh Irrigation & CAD component Project (Nagarjunasagar).	April, 1976	Rs. 45/-
5.	Periyar Vaigai Irrigation Project	May, 1977	Rs. 50/-
6.	Maharashtra Irrigation Project (Jayakwadi Purna)	June, 1977	Rs. 75/-
7.	Orissa Irrigation Project Medium Projects)	July, 1977	Rs. 50/-

- 7. The World Bank authorities in all their appraisal reports have emphasised that operation and maintenance project works should be strictly in accordance with the sound engineering principles and necessary budget provisions must be made for the same. They have insisted on categorical assurance from the Government of India, and the respective State Governments, in respect of proper operation and maintenance of the systems before signing the agreements for financial assistance.
- 8. The Sixth Finance Commission, 1973 had felt that a rate of Rs 25/per ha. of irrigated area for maintenance of irrigation systems would

be adequate. There has been a continuous secalation in the cost of labour, materials, and equipment, since then, resulting in increase in the operation and maintenance costs. So the rate of Rs.25/- per haw which had been recommended by the last finance Commission would be inadequate under the present day circumstances.

- 9. In order to have the detailed information on operation and maintenance charges of some of the selected irrigation projects in the country, Central Water Commission requested the project authorities to furnish the following information in respect of each system:-
 - (i) C.C.A. (ii) Area irrigated annually (iii) operation and maintenance charges for head-works and canals (iv) difficulties if any in proper operation and maintenance with the present grants and amount considered necessary by them for proper operation and maintenance.

They were also requested to furnish the norms being adopted by them for allocating funds for operation and maintenance of their irrigation systems, expenditure being incurred on regular establishment, special repairs needed or carried out along with their norms. They were further requested to intimate their actual expenses on operation and maintenance on their lift irrigation schemes (Pumped canals) and irrigation through tube wells.

10. Out of the 16 States addressed, only a few have supplied the part information which is given in Annexure I. A study of the Annexure reveals that the average annual operation and maintenance charges (including expenditure on regular establishment also) being incurred in the period 1971 to 1976 vary from Rs. 16.90 to Rs. 27.10 per ha. in the case of Bhakra Canal System (Haryana) (excluding expenditure on headworks) to Rs 52.53 per ha. to Rs 71.18 per ha. in the case of Peechi Project, Kerala. In the case of Malampuzha project, Kerala, the operation and Maintenance charges have gradually increased from Rs.64.50 por ha. in 1970-71 to Rs.105.52 per ha. in the year 1975-76. Similarly in the case of Neyyar Project, Kerala, the operation and maintenance charges have gradually increased from Rs 103.06 per ha. in 1970-71 to Rs. 127. 11 per ha. in the year 1973-74. However in the case of all the three projects of Kerala, the charges are said to include maintenance of gardens located near the dams and share debits towards establishment and T & P by Accountant General, Korela.

11. The information furnished by the States has further been categorised taking into consideration the States where regular establishment charges are included and the States where regualr establishment charges are not included in 'Overall operation and maintenance charges of the

irrigation eystems. The details are shown in the following table-I. O&M charges O&M charges Name of the Remarks. State/Project including excluding regular este- regular establishment. blishment charges. 1, 2. 1. Andhra Pradesh a) Nizam Sagar Period 1970-71 to 1975-76 Rs.11.46 per ha. to Rs. 23.80 per ha. Rs. 10. 15 per ha. to b) Godavari Delta -Rs. 17.50 per ha. -doc) K.C. Canal Period 1970-71 to 1975-76 Rs. 10. 10 per ha. to Rs. 18. 84 per ha. d) T.B.P., LLC Rs. 23. 76 per ha. to Rs. 36.27 per ha. --do--2. Haryana `a) Bhakra System Rs. 16.90 Rs. 6. 30 per ha. to -do-Rs. 8. 90 per ha. per ha. (excludes maintenance/ to Rs. 27.10 establishment charged per ha. towards works). b) W.J.C. Rs. 39.60 per Rs. 18.00 per ha. Period 1970-71 to ha. to Rs. 70 to Rs. 32. 40 per ha. 1975-75 per ha. 3. Karnataka a)T.B.P.,L.B.C. O to 141 miles Rs.14.06 per ha. to Period 1973 to 1976 Rs 19,90 per ha. b)T.B.P., H.L.C. Rs. 25.00 per ha. to & L.L.C. Rs. 72.00 per ha. --do-c)Ghataprabha Rs. 11. 70 per ha. to Stage I & II Rs. 15. 90 per ha. -do-4. Jammu & Kashmir a)Kathua Rs. 7. 00 per ha. to Period 1970-71 to Rs, 29, 00 per ha. 1975-76 b)Awantipura Rs. 22.50 per ha. to Rs. 60.00 per ha. -do-5.Kerala a)Malampuzha Rs. 64.53 per ha. Period 1970-71 to 1975-76. to Rs. 105. 52 per It includes expenditure of

b)Noyyar

d)Challakudy

Rs. 91.82 per ha. to

Rs. 51.10 per ha. to Rs. 96. 42 per ha.

Rs. 71.18 per ha.

Rs 127.11 per ha.

c)Peechi Project Rs. 52.53 per ha. to

maintonance of gardens & dobit expenditure of establishment & T & P.

6. Madhya Pradash a) Chambel Rs.19.85 per ha. Project to Rs.40.86 per to Rs.32.76 per ha. (Sherpur District) 7. Mahareshtra a) Girna Rs.69.88 per ha. to Rs.170.54 per to Rs.66.62 per		1970-71 1975-76
a) Girna Rs.69.88 per ha. Rs.35.43 per ha. to Rs.170.54 per to Rs.66.62 per		1970-71
to Rs.170.54 per to Rs.66.62 per		1970-71
ha. ha.		1975-76.
b) Gangapur - Rs.22.00 per ha. to Rs.44.00 per ha.		-do-
8. Punjab a) U.B.D.C. Rs.14.94 per ha. Rs.5.17 per ha. to to Rs.22.61 per ha. Rs.7.00 per ha.		do-
b) Sirhind Rs.8.20 per ha. Rs.3.20 per ha to Canal to Rs.12.80 per ha. Rs.4.51 per ha.		do
c) Bhakra Rs.45.89 per ha. Rs.12.90 per ha. to System to Rs.67.83 per ha. Rs.27.07 per ha.		-do-
The amounts recoverable from the States of Haryana and Rajaworks of Bhakra Canal are also included in the expenditure. 9. Rajasthan	•	
a) Gang Canal - Rs.14.60 per ha. to Rs.18.00 per ha.		-do- (excludional contraction of the document
b) Bhakra - Rs.10.55 per ha. to System - Rs.15.00 per ha.		-do-
c) Rajasthan Rs.27.83 per ha. Rs.21.51 per ha. to Canal Project to Rs.31.00 per ha. Rs.23.98 per ha.	to 19'	1 197 4- 75 75-76 (exc headworks
10. Utter Pradesh		
a) Upper Ganga - Rs.10.04 per ha.to Canal - Rs.16.99 per ha.	Perio to	d 1970-71 1973-74
b) Lower Ganga - Rs.9.12 per ha. to Canal Rs.13.97 per ha.	•	-do-
c) Betwa - Rs. 9.92 per ha. t Rs.19.27 per ha.		-do-
d) Sarda System - Rs.10.97 per ha. t Rs.19.69 per ha.	to Perio to	d 1970-71 1975-76
e) Kon Rs. 6.41 per ha. t Rs.10.45 per ha.	to	-do-

f) Agra Canal

Rs.14.62 per ha. to Rs.19.38 per ha. Period 1970-71

g) Easterm Yamuna Canal -

Rs.6.46 per ha. to Rs.10.74 per ha.

1975-76. -do-

12. Works Expenditure:

The data on works expenditure in the various projects (excluding work charge establishment expenses) has been tabulated in table II. It will be seen that this expenditure varies from 40% to 70% of the overall OAM expenses (excluding regular establishment expenses):-

TABLE II

Rs. in lakhs, Period : 1970-71 to 1975-76

Name of State/ Project	Total J & M charges including work charge staff	Works expendi- ture	%age of works expenditure of the total O&M charges.
1. Andhra Pradesh		and the destroys gauge gauge gauges grown on the species since	e en
a) Nizamsager b) Godavari Delta c) K.C. Syetem. d) T.8.P., LLC	12.64 to 23.88 46.80 to 69.83 12.174 to 24,333 9.71 to 15.63	4.42 to 10.87 35.89 to 50.00 5.78 to 13.05 6.19 to 9.78	35% to 46% 77% to 72% 47% to 62% 64% to 62%
2. J & K			
a) Awantipura Canal b) Kathua Canal	0.49 to 1.20 1.38 to 3.81	0.32 to 0.70 0.78 to 2.98	65% to 58% 56% to 77%
3. Haryana			•
a) Bhakra System (Excluding H/W)	52.23 to 82.59	35.69 to 59.45	68% to 72%
4. Kerala			
a) Malampuzha b) Neyyar	13.42 to 20.84 5.71 to 5.79	10.49 to 14.60 3.03 to 4.45	78% to 70% 54% to 58%
5. Punjab			
a) U .B.D.C. b) Sirhind Canal c) Bhakra System (excluding H.W.)	26.05 to 33.84 32.20 to 41.49 29.55 to 65.51	14.96 to 18.24 18.58 to 27.02 21.75 to 52.49	57.43% to 53.90% 57.7% to 65.12% 73.60% to 80.13%

It is observed that in many projects, the inspection roads constructed on the canal banks are also used by the public. Normally canal roads should not be used for purposes other than inspection. If due to reasons beyond control, those roads are to be used for other purposes, they should be suitably reconditioned, metalled, widehod and surfaced as per norms laid down for State Roads. The grant for maintenance of such roads should be borne by the PWD (Roads Department) of the respective States and should not be charged to the operation and maintenance charges of the irrigation system.

13. Work Charge Establishment Expenditure:

The expenditure on work charge estt. in the various projects has also been tabulated and shown in Table III. This indicates that these expenses vary from 30% to 60% of the overall N&M expenses (excluding regular estt: expenses):-

TABLE III

Period:	1970-71 to 1975-76.		(Rs. in lakhs)
S1. Name of State/ No. Project	Total O&M Expendi- ture (including work charge staff)	Expenditure on work charge staff	%age of work- charge staff expenditure to overall D&M charges.
1. 2.	3.	4.	5.
1. Andhra Pradesh			
a. Nizam Sagar b. Godavari Delta c. K.C. Canal d. TBP., LLC	12.64 to 23.88 46.88 to 69.83 12.174 to 24.333 9.71 to 15.63	8.22 to 12.81 10.99 to 19.85 6.391 to 9.278 3.52 to 5.85	65% to 54% 23% to 28% 53% to 38% 36% to 38%
2. <u>J&K</u> a. Awantipura Canal b. Kathua Canal	0.49 to 1.20 1.38 to 3.81	0.17 to 0.50 0.60 to 0.83	35% to 42% 44% to 23%
3. Haryana:a. Bhakra System (excluding HW)	52.23 to 82.5	16 _• 54 to 23 _• 14	32% to 28%
4. Kerala a. Malampuzha b. Neyyar 5. Punjab a. U.B.D.C. b. Sirhind Canal c. Bhakra system	13.42 to 20.84 5.71 to 7.59 26.05 to 33.84 32.20 to 41.49 29.55 to 65.51	2.93 to 6.25 2.68 to 3.14 9.09 to 13.86 14.29 to 17.50 7.80 to 13.02	22% to 30% 46% to 42% 35% to 41% 44% to 42% 26% to 20%
excluding H/W			

14. Regular Establishment expanditure:

HARYANA: In the case of W.J.C. irrigation system the regular establishment charges varies from Rs.15.00 per ha. of irrigated area to Rs.26 per ha. during the period 1970-71 to 1975-76. In the Bhakra Canal System it varies from Rs.6.30 per ha. to Rs.10.05 per ha. of irrigated area during the period 1970-71 to 1975-76. It does not include the expenditure on the regular establishment for operation and maintenance of headworks.

MADHYA PRADESH: In the case of Chambal Project (Sheepur Distt:) the regular establishment charges varies from Rs.2.25 per ha. to Rs.8.10 per ha. of irrigated area for the period 1970-71 to 1975-76.

RAJASTHAN: In the case of Rajasthan Canal Project, the regular establishment charges vary from Rs.6 to Rs.7 per ha. of irrigated area for the period from 1974-75 to 1975-76 excluding expenditure on regular establishment for headworks.

PUNJAB: The expenditure on regular establishment in the case of Bhakra Canal system (excluding Head Works) varies from Rs.33.80 to Rs.42.74 per hectare of irrigated area during the period 1970-71 to 1975-76. This includes proportionate recoveries from the States of Haryana and Rajasthan on common works of Bhakra system towards the regular establishment charges.

UTTAR PRADESH: Provision for establishment charges was about Rs.17.2 per ha. of irrigated area for the year 1976-77. It has been suggested for making the provision of Rs.25.00 per ha. to meet the regular establishment charges.

15. Norms for fixing D&M Charges:

As regards norms being adopted by the State Govts, for fixing operation and maintenance charges of their canal systems the information received is as under:-

HARYANA: No norms have been fixed in the State. However, tho amount sanctioned for operation and maintenance of irrigation systems for the earlier years is increased suitably to get the funds for the following year.

JAMMU & KASHMIR: No norms have been fixed for operation and maintenance charges of irrigation projects in the State.

MADHYA PRADESH: In the case of Chambal Project, it has been stated that Rs.10 per acro (Rs.25 per ha.) for utilised potential and Rs.5 per acre (3.12.50 per ha.) for unutilised potential are provided.

MAHARASHTRA: The norms have been under revision regularly in the last few years. The latest norms revised in 1974 were (i) %.3/- per acre (%s.20/- per ha.) of irrigated potential on old and new projects in the State with gated spillway (ii) %s.7/- per acre (%s.17.50 per ha.) of irrigated potential on all old and new projects with ungated spillway. All the above norms are exclusively for normal maintenance and repairs of the irrigation system and do not include expenditure on staff employed on maintenance works.

The Central Team appointed by the Govt, of India to study the operational programme on the irrigation works and to suggest measures for improving the efficiency have recommended that norms prescribed in 1974 need further revision upward. The suggestion of the Central Team is under examination by the State Govt.

RAJASTHAM: No norms have as yet been fixed by the State Government.

GUJARAT: Operation and maintenance expenses on irrigation canals

are under revision with the State Govt. The proposed revised rates are
as under:-

Rs. 10 per acre (Rs. 25 per ha.) for first 5 years.

Rs.8.35 per acre (Rs.21.00 per ha.) for 6-10 years.

Rs.4.65 per acre (Rs.11.60 per ha.) for pariod boyond 10 years.

16. Special Repairs:

Most of the States have not furnished the information regarding allocation of funds and the basis thereof for providing funds for carrying out special repairs. However, Haryana State authorities have intimated that funds for special repairs are also taken from the operation and maintenance allocation.

Maharashtra Stato have intimated that when a special repair is needed on a particular project, plans and estimates for such repairs are framed and sent to State Govt. for giving required funds in addition to the normal operation and maintenance grants. If the

special repair work is to be carried out in a phased manner, amount required during the particular year is demanded by the field Officers. Such requests are examined at Government level and the required funds inclusive of normal maintenance and repairs and special repairs grants are made available.

The very name of 'Special repairs' denotes that it is not a regular feature and will be taken up only casually as and when the system warrants the same. The expenditure on special repairs should not be charged to the normal provision of the 'operation and maintenance charges' of the irrigation system. As and when the need arises for carrying out special repairs to a particular irrigation system, a separate estimate for this purpose should be drawn up, sanctioned and funds allocated.

17. Irrigation through Lift Canals (Pumped Canals)

The operation and maintenance charges in the case of lift channels varies with the lift involved. It would not be possible to prescribe standard rates for operation and maintenance of lift schemes in general. The operation and maintenance charges will have to be determined on the basis of lift involved in the case of each individual scheme.

PUNJAB: There are two small lift irrigation schemes viz. Sukhi Nallah and Shahpur Kandi lift scheme each having irrigated area of 500 and 400 hectares respectively. The maintenance charges in the case of Sukhi Nallah scheme varied from Rs. 179.22 to Rs. 1,133.28 per hectare of irrigated area during the period 1970-71 to 1975-76. In the case of Shahpur Kandi lift scheme the operation and maintenance charges varied from Rs. 451.46 to Rs. 996.55 per hectare of irrigated area during the same period.

HARYANA: There are only four medium lift irrigation schemes in operation in Haryana. The lifts involved vary from 18 m. to 66 m. The maintenance charges of those four medium schemes very from Rs.172.00 per ha. to Rs.380.00 per ha. of irrigated area during the period 72-73 to 75-76. It includes electricity charges, repairs, work-charge establishment and depreciation on pumps.

RAJASTHAN: There are about 49 minor lift irrigation schemes under the irrigation department. The details of lifts involved have not been furnished by the State Government. The operation and maintenance charges, if the irrigation potential is fully utilised, would be of the order of Rs.9.55 lakhs which works out to Rs.282 per ha. of the irrigated area according to the State Government.

18. River Lift Schemes:

In some lift schemes where the water is pumped directly from the river, permanent pump houses are generally constructed near the river banks to draw water to feed the irrigation system. During the lean seasons of the year, many a time the river recedes from the bank and a supply channel has to be dradged in the river bed to bring the water to the pump houses. In such cases the expanditure on drading of the channel in the river bed and its maintenance should not be charged to the normal 'operation & maintenance charges' of the lift irrigation system. Such work will have to be undertaken as a special work under a separate estimate. Operation and maintenance grants for lift Schemes should not cover the depreciation charges.

19. It will be seen from the above that most of the State authorities are not maintaining separate accounts exclusively for expenditure on operation and maintenance of canal systems. However, it is seen that there is a vast variation in the rates for operation and maintenance per ha. of irrigated area in case of flow canals and lift schemes.

Thus, there is need for recommending separate rates per ha. of irrigated area for operation and maintenance of gravity canals systems, lift irrigation schemes and irrigation through tubowells,

20. The Union Ministry of Transport (Reads Wing) have drawn up norms

for maintenance of National Highways. Funds are separately provided for carrying out normal annual maintenance (which includes ordinary repairs and periodical renewals) and special repairs. The ordinary repairs include repairs to inspection bunglows and taking care of avenue trees. Additional provision for flood damages and special repairs is made on a lumpsum basis at 20% of the total cost of normal annual maintenance. However, examination and sanction of estimate by competent authority for carrying out special repairs is a pre-requisite before any allotment from the special repairs quota of the maintenance grabt, is made.

as the case may be. Because of these reasons no provision for the purpose was included in the amount recommended in our carlier note for maintenance charges for major and medium irrigation works which are to cover only the cost of maintenance of the canal system and its head regulator(s) and allied works like silt excluders, etc. Each project has to be considered individually for making suitable provision for operation and maintenance of the head works taking all relevant factors into consideration. The O & M charges can be related to the capital cost of the headworks but no uniform rate can be suggested for the purpose.

STATEMENT SHOWING THE OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE CHARGES PER HA, OF IRRIGATED AREA IN RESPECT OF VARIOUS PROJECTS FOR THE YEARS 1970-71 TO 1975-76

Sl.	Name of State/ Project	1970-71 Operation & Maintenance Charges					One	1971-72 Operation & Maintenance Charges					(Rate in Rs. per Hs.)				
		1 11 111 19			٧	1	Operation & Maintenance Charges			v	Operation & Maintenance Sharges						
1	2	3	. 4	5	6	. 7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	
1.	Andhra Pradesh																
	Nizameagar	12.45	. 0, 19	NA.	NA	12, 64	15.15	0.35	:NA	N A	15.48	11.37	0.09	NA		31.4	
	Godavari Delta	* 10,67	1.06	NA	NA	11, 75	11.05	1.65	NA.	N A	12, 70	12.21	1.61	NA NA	NA Na .	11.4	
	K.C. Canal	11,40	0.36	N.A.	N.A.	11.76	9.80	0, 33	· NA	NA NA	10, 13	11.02	0.49	NA NA	NA .	11.5	
	T.B. ILC	24.42	· NII	. NA	NA	24, 42	25.52	NII	NA.	NA.	25.52	23, 76	NII	NA.	NA AN	23.7	
2.	Haryana	-															
	Bhakra System	6. 3	NA	10.6	NA .	16, 90	7.0	NA					•••			٠ ــ .	
	W.J.C.	. 14,80	0, 64			34, 54	14.80	1.46	9.80	NA/	17.60	6, 7	NA	10, 70	NA -	17.4	
		. 44.00	0,04	7 13.0	,	37, 37	14.80	1.46	/ 19.20	,	35.26	16, 0	2.77	/ 23.50	7	42. 3	
١.	Jammu & Kashmir																
	K a hua	11.0	NII	NA	NA	11.9	14.00	NII	NA	NA	14.00	29,00	NI	NA	NA	29.0	
	Awan [†] lpur	22, 26	2.53	NA	NA	24.81	18, 50	4.0	NA	NA	22,50	20.83	5. 80 ·	N /	NA	26, 6	
١.	Karnataka			*													
	T.B.P. LBC 0 to 14	ti miles							infor	ma*ion n	ot given						
	T.B.P. RB HLC				•											•	
	T.B.P. RB LLCP									-do-							
	Ghataprabha I & II									-do-							
	-									_							
٠.	<u>Kerala</u>				•										•		
	Malampuzha	30, 67	37.03	-	-	67.70	29, 82	34, 71	· -	-	64, 53	34. 9 8	45. 59	• ,	-	BQ, 4	
	Neyyar	63, 71	39.35	-	-	103.06	66. 78	42, 55	-	-	109,33	62.67	41.25	-	٠-	103, 8	
	Chalakudy	NA	NA	N A	NA	51, 10	NA	N A	NA	NA:	61.40	NA	NA	NA	NA"	67. 1	
	Peechi	41.00	11.53	-	-	52,53	60.00	11.18	. •	-	71.18	56.50	11.87	-	- •	63, 3	
6.	Madhya Pradesh			•									•	•			
	Chambal Project							·	Not a	vallable							
	Bhind Canal									do-							
	Sheppur Canal	26, 71	NA	NA	NA	26, 71	19.66	N A	NA	ŇĀ	19, 66	17.78	NA	NA	NA	17.7	
											-						
7.	<u>Meharashtra</u>			•										•••			
	Gangapur Canal	22,90	21, 10	NA	NA ·	44. 00	11.90	11,10	N A	NA.	23.00	19, 40	16.60		NA	36,0	
	Girna	31.60	5, 30	7	4, 93′	41, 83	28.63	6, 80	/ 6.47	/	41.90	36, 04	5.70	/ 9.81	/	51.3	
θ.	Punjab				•							. •					
	U.B.D.C.	4. 37	0, 95	/ 9.62		14.94	4, 55	1. 13	9,88	7	15, 56	4, 35	0.82	/ 10.86	- /	16, 0	
	Bhakra	13, 20	NA	/ 33, 20		46, 40	12.90	N.A	32.99	N.A	45, 89	14,00	N A	37, 36	NA	51.3	
	Sirhind Canal	4, 43	0, 08	/ 4, 42		8.93	3.84	0.16	/ 4.36	 /	6.36	3.21	0.26	4. 73	. 7	6. 2	
	Official Capati		0,00	,	,	-,										•	
Э,	Rojasthan				٠,												
	Bhakra System	15.00	NA	NA	NA	15, 00	11,40	N A	NA	N A	11, 40	11.25	N I	NA	NA	11,2	
	Gang Canal	13.00	5,00	NA .	NA	18.00	8, 70	3.30	N V	N A	12.00	7.66	2.34	. NA	NA	10,0	
	R.C.P.	÷	4						Not ava	ilable					· · · · · · · ·		
٥.	Uttar Pradesh	•															
-	U.G.C.	/16.99	-	NA	NA	16.99	10.04		NA	N.A.	10, 04	/ 10, 10		, N A	N a	** -	
	L.G.C.	9.56		NA.	NA.	9.56	9, 12		N.A	NA.	9, 12			NA NA	NA	10, 1	
	Betwa			NA.	NA.	9, 92	13,54		NA.	NA		13.97		NA NA	NA	13.9	
	Sarda	9, 92							NA .		11.54	19.27		,NA	NA	19.2	
		10.97		NA NA	NA NA	10.97	12.07			NA	12.07	19.63		NA NA	NA	19,6	
	Ken	6.41		NA NA	NA	6, 41	7.26		N A	N A	7.26	10, 45		NA	NA	10.4	
	Agra Canal	15.36		NA	NA	15.38	14. 62		NA.	NA	14.62	19.78		NA	NA	19.7	
	Eastern Yamuna canal	6. 42		NA	NA	6, 42	7,30		NA	NA	7, 30	10,74		NA	NA	10.7	
•		- - -				–						•-•		**			

as the case may be. Because of these reasons no provision for the purpose was included in the amount recommended in our carlier note for maintenance charges for major and medium irrigation works which are to cover only the cost of maintenance of the canal system and its head regulator(s) and allied works like silt excluders, etc. Each project has to be considered individually for making suitable provision for operation and maintenance of the head works taking all relevant factors into consideration. The O & M charges can be related to the capital cost of the headworks but no uniform rate can be suggested for the purpose.

STATEMENT SHOWING THE OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE CHARGES PER HA, OF IRRIGATED AREA IN RESPECT OF VARIOUS PROJECTS FOR THE YEARS 1970-71 TO 1975-76

SI.	Name of State/	- Or	peration A	1970-71 Maintenanc			1971-72 Operation & Maintenance Charges					(Rate in Ra. per Ha.)				
No.	Project				Ope 1	ration & B	fain'enance fil	Operation & Maintenance Charges I II III IV V								
1	2	3	4	5	6	. 7		9	10	11	V 12	13	14	15	16	17
	Andhra Pradesh													-		
1.		12.45														
	Nizameagar Godavari Delta	12.45 10.67	0, 19	N.A.	NA	12.64	15.15	0.33	:NA	NA .	15.48	11,37	0.09	NA	NA	11.40
	K.C. Canal	11, 40	1, 08 0, 36	NA NA	NA NA	11.75 11.76	11.05	1.65	, NY	NA	12.70	12, 21	1.61	NA	NA .	13.8
	T.B. ILC	24, 42	NII	. NA	NA .	24, 42	9,80	0.33	NA.	N A	10. 13	11.02	0.49	NA	NA	11.5
			1414		NA.	24, 12	25.52	Nil	NA	NA.	25.52	23,76	N II	NA	N.A	23, 7
2.	Haryana											•	*			
	Bhakra System .	6.3	NA	10, 6	NA .	16. 90	7.0	NA	9.80	NA	17.60	6,7	NA	10, 70	NA	17.40
	W.J.C.	. 14.80	0,64	/ 19,0	 /	34.54	14.80	1.46	/ 19.20	7	35.26	16,0	2.77	/ 23,50	7	42, 2
3,	Jammu & Kashmir															
••	Kathua	11.0	NII	NA	N.A.	11.0	14, 00	Nu	NA.	NA	14, 00	29.00	Nil	NA ·	NA	. 29.00
	Awantipur	22.28	2.53	NA.	NA NA	24. 81	18.50	· 4.0	AN AK	N A	22.50	20, 83		N A	NA NA	26.6
	VARII-IMI.		2,00		NA	27.01	19, 30	4.0	MA	N.A.	22,50	20. 63	6. 80 ·	W /	NA	24, 6
4.	Karnataka								•			-				•
	T.B. P. LBC 0 to 14	(1 miles	•						lnfor	marion n	ot given					
	T.B.P. RB HLC									-do-						
	T.B.P. RB LLC		,							-00-		<u> </u>				
	Ghataprabha I & II		,			· 				-do-						
												-				
5	<u>Kerala</u>	-													•	
	Malampuzba	30, 67	37, 03	-	-	67, 70	29, 82	34, 71	· -	-	64, 53	34.90	45.59		-	80, 4
	Neyyar	69, 71	39, 35	-	-	103.06	66, 78	42,55	-	-	109, 33	62, 67	41.26		• =	103, 6
	Chalakudy	NA	ŅА	· NA	NA	51.10	NA	N A	NA	NA -	61,40	NA	NA	NA	NA.	67, 1
	Peechi	41.00	11,53	-	-	52,53	· 60,00	11, 18	-	-	71.18	56.50	11.07	-		63. 3
6.	Madhya Pradesh	• • •							÷					•		
٥.	Chambal Project					·			Not a	vailable						
	Bhind Canal									do-						
	Sheppur Canal	26,71	NA	NA	NA	26, 71	19, 66	NA	NA	ŇA	19, 66	17.78	NA	NA	NA	17.7
	onchhat canar	20212		****		40. **		• • •								
7.	Maharashtra		;	•	•							•	٠.			
	Gangapur Canal	22.90	21, 10	NA	NA ·	44. 00	11, 90	11, 10	NA.	NA.	23, 00	19, 40	16.60		NA.	36, 0
	Girna	31.60	5, 30	7	4, 93′	41, 63	28, 63	6, 80	/ 6, 47	/	41, 90	36, 04	5.70	/ 9.61	/	51, 3
	D.—t-b				•							. •				
8.	Punjab	1 1		/ 9,62	 ,	14.94	4, 55	1, 13	/ 9,88		15, 56	4, 35	0, 82	/ 10.86	- , .	16.0
	U.B.D.C.	4. 37	0, 95					NA .	32.99	N A	45.189	14,00	NA	37, 36	NA	51, 3
	Bhakra	13, 20	NA	/ 33.20		46, 40	12,90			 /	8.36	3, 21	0, 26			8. 2
	Sirhind Canal	4, 43	0.08	/ 4.42	. 1	8.93	3.84	0, 16	/ 4.36	,	8.30	3, 21	V, 20 /	4. 73		. •.•
9.	Rojesthan			- 1	-											
••	Bhakra System	15.00	N.A.	NA	NA .	15. 00	11.40	N.A	NA '	NA ·	11, 40	11.25	NI	NA	NA	11,2
-	Gang Canal	13.00	5,00	NA	NA	18.00	8, 70	3, 30	N V	N A	12,00	7.65	2.34	NA	NA	10,0
	R.C.P.	10.00							Not ava	ilable						
	N.C.P.						•			•					•	
10.	Uttar Pradosh	•		-		• •					-					
	U.G.C.	/16,99	 /	NA	NA	16,99	10.04	,	NA	NA	10.04	/ 10, 10	. /	NA	NA	10, 1
	L.G.C.	9.56		NA	NA.	9.56	9, 12		N.A	NA	9, 12	13.97		NA	NA	13.9
	Betwa	9, 92		NA	NA	9. 92	11.54		N A	NA	11.54	19.27		NA	NA	19, 2
	Sarda	10.97	-	NA.	NA	10.97	12, 07	- \ .	NA .	NA .	12.07	19, 63		NA	NA	19.6
	Ken	6.41		NA	NA	6, 41	7.26		NA	NA	7.26	10.45	•	NA	NA	10, 4
٠.	Agra Canal	15.38		NA	NA .	. 15, 38	14. 62	•	NA.	NA	14.62	. 19.78	• -	NA	NA	19.7
	Eastern Yamuna									•					•	
	canal	6.42		N.A.	NA	6. 42	7,30	•	NA	NA	7.30	10, 74		NA	NA	10, 7

9.	Name of State/	1973-74					1974-	75		1975–76					Remarks		
ie.	Project	Operat	Operation & Maintenance Charges			Operat	on & Ma	intenance			Operation & Maintenance Charges						
<u> </u>			п	m	IV	v	1	Π	III.	1V		1	<u>n</u>	<u>m</u>	1V 31		
_		18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30		32	33
	Andhra Pradesh																
	Nizamagar	11.71	0.06	NA	NA		10 17	4 60	NA	NA	23, 80	19,30	4. 38	NA	NA	23, 68	
	-		-			11.77	19, 17	4. 63							NA		
	Godavari Delta	8,77	1, 38	NA	NA	10, 15	13, 00	2.25	NA	NA	16, 70	14.94	2.56	NA		17.50	
	K.C. Canal	9.15	D. 95	МA	NA	10.10	15, 73	2. 25	NA	NA	17,98	16.98	1.86	NA	NA	18.84	
	T.B. LLC	30, 61	ИП	NA	NA	30.61	32.55	NII	NA	NA	32.55	36.27	NII	NA	NA	36.27	
	Raryana																
	Bhakra System	6. 9	NA	10, 75	NA	19.65	10.50	NA	16, 60	NA	27, 10	7. 10	NA	17, 30	NA	24, 40	
	W.J.C.	16, 40	1,00	/21.60		39,00	18.50				46, 65	21.00	1.62	/ 26, 60		49.22	
	w. v. 0.	20.40	1.00	721, 60	/	39.00	16.50	1, 60	/ 40.00	•	40.00	21.00	1, 00	, 20100	•		
,	Jammu & Kashmir																
	Kathua	7.00	NI	NA	NA	7.00	22.00	NII	NA	NA	22,00	26.00	NU	NA	NA	26,00	
	Awantipur	31.25	3, 34	NA	NA	34. 59	28.39	13.20	NA	NA	41.59	48, 50	11.50	NA	NA	60, 00	
	••																
•	Karnataka)	
	T. B. P. LBC 0 to 1	41 mHes	-	-	-	14.06	-	-	-	-	15, 90	-	-	-	-	19.90	Information as r quired vide I, II,
	T.B.P. RB HLC	-	-	-	-	25, 00	-	-	-	-	46, 00	-	-	-	-	72.00	III & IV not fur-
	T.B.P. RB LLC															,	nished separatel
	Ghataprabba 1 & II	-	-	-	-	11, 70	-	-	-	-	15. 90	-	-	-	-	15. 20)
	Kerala																
	Malampuzha	33, 95	47, 16	-	_	81.11	34, 73	62,07	_	_	96.80	33.01	72,51	-	-	106, 52)	Includes shared
	Neyyar	74, 56	52, 55	_	-	127, 11	60, 89	43.51	-	-	104, 40	53, 35	38, 47	_	-	91, 82	debit of estab-
	Chalakudy	NA	NA	NA	NA	78, 00	NA.	NA	NA	NA	90, 65	NA	NA	NA	NA	1	Hebment, T&P.
	Peechi	55.45	11.82	-	-	67, 27	44, 00	16, 05	-	_	60.05	50.90	17, 50	-	-		and maintenance of Garden,
_	* OCCA	30. 10	11,02	-		01,21	42, 00	10,00	_		00.00	00, 30	11.00		-	00. 40)	or danders
Ĺ	Madhya Pradeah																
	Chambal Project									Not a	vallable -						
	Bhind Canal			Not a	vailable-		22, 70	2.60	NA	NA	25, 30	19, 60	0, 30	NA	NA	19, 90	Bhind Canal
	Sheopur Canal	17.60	NA	NA	NA	17. 60	32.76	NA	NA	NA	32.76	26, 22	NA	NA	NA	28, 22	Sheopur Canal
	Maharashtra																
•	Gangapur Canal	18, 10	16, 90	NA	NA	35, 00	9.80	12, 20	NA	NA	99 00	00.00	10.40	N 7 A	N7 4	*	
					7						22.00	20,60	18.40	NA	NA	39.00	
	Girna	51.21	4, 20	/ 14. 25	,	69.66	59. 70	6.50	/ 13.62	/	79, 82	43.50	7. 20	/ 13.94	- 1	64, 64	
	Punjab																
	U, B. D. C.	4.54	0.76	/12.02		27.32	4, 79	0.98	/ 19.15	7	24.92	6. 33	0, 66	/ 22.81	7	29, 80)	The amount reco
	Bhakra	19, 98	NA	38, 17	NA	58, 15	20.90	NA	33.66	NA	54, 56	27, 07	NA	40,76	NA	67 83	able from the St
	Sirbind Canal	2.02	0.38	/ 5,80		8. 20	3,44		/ 5,85		9.53	3.43	_	/ 9.27			of Haryana & Rathan of common
		.,	4.00	, 0,00	,	0.20	0, 11	0,01	, 0.00	,	<i>3.00</i>	J. 163	0, 10	, 5.21	•	12.60)	of Bhakra Canal
																	included in the ex
	Rajasthan							•									diture.
•		11 46	N A	NA	N 4	11 00	10	N7 A		** 4	** **		.	A.r			
	Bhakra System	11,80	NA O		NA	11.60	10.55	NA	NA	NA	10.55	11,80	NA	NA	NA	11.00	
	Gang Canal	8. 70	2, 30	NA	NA	11,00	0, 20	2,00	NA	NA	12,00	11, 17	3. 43		NA	14.60	
	R. C. P.			Not availa	DI e		23.98	NA	7. 03	NA	31.01	21,51	NA	6, 32	NA	27. 83	
	Uttar Pradeah																
	U.G.C.	/11.26	• /	NA	NA	11, 26	ŧ										
	L, G.C.	13, 10		NA	NA	13, 10	1										
	Betwa	21.95		N 1	NA	21,95	2 2	NOT	UPPLIED								
	Sarda	16. 42		NA.	NA	16, 42	Ď	MO1 8	OF FIARD	•							
							ī										
	Ken	11.79		NA	NA	11,79	ŀ										
	Agra Canal	14, 32		N 4	NA	14, 32	1										
	Eastern Yamuna	9.90		NA	NA	9. 90	3										
	Canal																

^{1.} Canal system including work-charged establishment.
II. Head Works including work-charged establishment.
III. Regular establishment on Canal.
IV. Regular establishment on head works.
V. Total of I, II, III & IV

Appendix I.14(i)

Financial returns from multi-purpose, major and medium irrigation schemes (including flood control schemes and excluding power portion) during the five - year period, 1979-80 to 1983-84.

- A. As assessed by the Commission
- B. As given by the States in the forecasts
- C. As indicated by the States in the forms in reply to Finance Commission Secretariat's letter of 7th October, 1977.

_				•			(Rs. lak	hs)
_	States	Gross receipts	Working Irriga- tion portion	expenses Flood Control	Total	Net receipts efter irriga- tion and flood control portion (2-5)		Interest on Capital
	(1)	(2)	(5)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
1.	Andhra Pradesh A. B. C.	613	6950 	1027 - -	7977 8991 6052		2362 -8378 3967	2362 27195 24907
2.	Assam A. B. C.	260 79 41	146 4294 41 7	1946 £ 3850	2092 4 <i>2</i> 94 426 7	_	114 NA - 376	_114
3.	Bihar A. B. C.	552 8	6056 23735 12268	2102 £ 11467	8158 23735 23735	+ 30 -18207 -18207	2132 NA -6740	2132 39156
4.	Gujerat A. B. C.	3459 3866 3866	1770 6254 6254	129 -	1899 6254 6254		1639 -2388 -2388	1689 13250 18250
5•	Haryana A. B. C.	6732 6375 6375	590 3 99 31 95 75	.54 7 £ 900	6450 9931 10475		829 N.A. -3200	5280 12690
6.	Himaohal Pradesh A. B. C.	5 Neg.	5 7	_ 1 	6 7 -	-1 -7	- -7	=

S _t ates	Gross receipt	Working B Irriga- tion pertical	Control	Total	Net receipts after irrigation and flood control portion (2-5)	from irriga-	Interes on Capital
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	_(6)	_(<u>(8)</u>
7. Jammu & Kashmir							
A. B. C.	494 122 122	361 3422 1754	531 £ 1909	892 3422 3663	-398 -3300 -3541	133 N.A. -1632	133 1200 986
8. Karnataka		•				•.	٠.
A. B. C.	4942 5775 <u>2</u> / 577 5	3284 4253 5090	17 -	3301 4253 5090	+1522 + 685	1658 1522 ⊬ €35	1658 26914 26914
9. Kerala	•			,	•••		•
Be Ce	1589 610 740	1058 3553 9 7 4	639 ³⁷ £/ 1581	1747 3553 2555	-2943	531 N. A. -234	531。 980 1330
io. Madhya Pradesh					•		
Å• B• C•	5699 4177 4178	458 6 3614 3614		4597 3614 3614	+1102 +563 +564	111 3 56 3 +564	1113
11. Mehereshtra	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			·	•		•
A. B. C.	5675 6299 6299	3231 5818 470 7	11 -	3242 5818 4707	+2433 +481 +1592	2444 481 +1592	2444 30500 37369
12. Menipur		•			•		
A. B. C.	63 97 97	63 349 224	41 £/ 124	104 349 348	-41 -252 -251	N.A. -127	
13. Meghaleya			· -:		•	. :	
A.B.	_ 4	64 9	£/ ₆₅	33 64 74	-29 -64 -74	- - -9	46
14. Nagaland	•		*		ć		•
A. B. C.	- -	-	-		-		
15. Orissa A. B. C.	2760 1757 1246	2161 4806 2015	1415 <u>3</u> £ 2447	/ 3576 4806 4462	-30 49	599 NA -769	599 11225 9 2 05

States	Gross receipts	Worki Irriga- tion portion	ng expe Flood Contre	Total	Net receipts after irrigation and flood	Net receipts from	Interest on Capital
		por tron		•	control portion (2-5)		u oabrtar
	[2]	$\overline{(3)}$	<u>_(4)</u> _	- 75Y -	(6)	. (2-3)	
16. Punjab	- 	-	_\			· U /	(8)
A.	8047	7730	1381	9111	-1064	247	740
. ₿•	4925	8796	£/	8 7 96	-1064 -3871	317	317 7505
, C•	4925	11804	2037	13921	-5071 -8996	na -6959	3505 5672
47 D. 4 4 h		11004	2-21	17721	-0336	-0959	2012
17. Rajasthan	50.6			• ,			
. A.	5816	4719	56		+1041	1097	1097
B	4645	11032	£/	11032	-63 87	NA	14480
Cs.	7035	9582	. =	9582	-2547	- 254 7	17947
18. <u>Sikkim</u>	•	a.		•			
A.	4	4	· 	4	<u>.</u> ·	_	
. Be	••	26	-	26·	-26	26	
C.	-	16	-	16	-16	∽1 6	54
19. Tamil Nadu		• .		•	• -	, -	
A.	4265	3663	12	2676	500	60 a	60-
B.	4205 4195 ·	7522	13 £/	3676 7500	+589	602	602
C.	4155	7730		7522	-3327	NA 35.55	7120
	4177	1150	16	7746	-3591	-3575	6875
20. Tripura				•	•		
Λ•	7	7	171	178	-i 71	-	-
. B₀		180	` <u>£</u> /	180	-180	NA	
. C.	-		_	-	-		
21. Utter Pradesh	1.			•	•	•	•
An	18180	15415	884	16299	+1881 .	2765	2765
В.	17017	25109	£/	25109	-8092	NV	35621
C.	17017	19220	5889	25109	-8092	-2203	35621
			,		72		JJ0-1
22. West Bengal	3 037	3348	28812	1/	`		
Λ•	3937 2041	157984/	2001-	6229	-2292	589	589
B∙ C•	2041	8229 <u>4</u> /	<i>£∕</i> 4716	1 57 98 1 2 945	-13757 -10924	NA -6208	6195
. 0.	2461	02293	4/10	1 2343	-10924	-0200	3 92 1
Total all States	•	•				-	
A	89438	70464	13882	84346	+ 5092	189 7 4	18974
B _e		147554	₹/	147554	- 79433	AA	180465
<u>C</u> •	. 1 943 <u>9</u> _ '	1 <u>09614 </u>	<u>35001</u>	14 <u>4615</u>	_ =65176	-301 <u>75</u>	<u> 255926</u>
Note: Column 8 in	respect o	f C inclu	des int	terest of	Rs.61 crores on	Capital	

Note: Celumn 8 in respect of C includes interest of Rs.61 crores on Capital investments in flood control schemes in the case of Bihar, Haryana, Meghalaya and Orissa.

Includes receipts from land revenue attributable to irrigation schemes.

Excludes Rs. 12.5 crores for 1979-84 relating to '106' minor irrigation. State Government has booked the receipts under 133.

Net of receipts (Rs. 10 lakhs for Kerala and Orissa and Rs. 20 lakhs for West Bengal as indicated by the State Governments).

Includes 8.31 crores for payment to DVC to cover deficits.

E/ Provision for flood control are included under the Major Heads 332 and 333 in the State Forecasts and are not shown separately in the States' forecast.

Investments in irrigation schemes (excluding flood control and power portion) at the end of 1978-79 on which interest in column 8 has been calculated.

States	Cumulative investment at the end of 1978-79 (Rs. lakhs)
1. Andhra Pradesh 2. Assam 3. Bihar 4. Gujarat 5. Haryana 6. Himachal Pradesh 7. Jammu & Kashmir 8. Karnataka 9. Kerala 10. Madhya Pradesh 11. Maharashtra 12. Manipur 13. Meghalaya 14. Nagaland 15. Orissa 16. Punjab 17. Rajasthan 18. Sikkim 19. Tamil Nadu 20. Tripura 21. Uttar Pradesh	78752 3800 71082 56280 27624 330 4426 55262 17689 37097 81496 1836 13 - 19979 10571 36580 39 20059 - 91179
22. West Bengal Total:	19627 <u>634721</u>

Source:- Replies from the State Governments to Commission's letter No. 7 FC.1(8)-Res/77 dated 7th October, 1977, except for Andhra Pradesh and West Bengal for which data are based on Finance Accounts and State Budgets.

Position of revenue arrears in respect of multipurpose, major and medium irrigation schemes, in 1976-77, 1978-79 and 1983-84

STATES	Arrears of water rate demand & batterment levy (3s, Lakle)			Water railed lovy (%)		& buttorment	Pe rcentage	of arrears	to demand	Arrears	per hect	are (Rs.)
			1978-79 1983-94		1975-77		1976-77	1970-79	1983-84	1976-77	1978-79	1993-84
14			4.	5.	6.	7,	٤.	9.	i0.	11-	12.	19.
1. Andhra Fradesh	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NĄ	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
2. Assam	0.08	0.50	_	13	15	17 ·	neg∙	3	-	neg.	2	NA.
3. Bihar	1280	1428	626	639	752	1071	200	190	58	68	87	26
4. Gujarat	NA	NA	NA	3 55	534	948	NA	NA	MΑ	NA	NΑ	NA
5. Haryena	71	46	24	928	994	1370	C	5	2	5	3	1
6. Himachal Pradesh	-	-	_	-	-	_	<u>.</u>	_	_	-	_	<u>.</u>
7. Jemmu & Keehmir	20	20	14	12	14	27	167	143	52	25	20	10
8. Karnataka	1421	1691	3076	1005	1110	1635	141	170	186	214	233	257
9. Kerala	60	64	70	83	104	70	72	62	100	22	18	11
O. Madhya Pradcam	1500	1609	1563	31,9	6 19	045	470	260	185	186	135	96
1. Maharashtra	NA	NA	NA	1065	1238	1656	NA.	NA NA	NA NA	N A	NA NA	NA NA
2. Manipur	_	-	_	5	12	24	-	-	-	_	-	-
3. Meghelaya	_		_	_	_		_	- .	_	_	_	_
4. Nagaland	_	_	-	-	_	_	_	_		_	_	_
5. Orisea	108	19	24	139	275	297	57	. g	8	12	2	2
6. Punjab	NA	NA	- Na	NA	NA	NA	NA NA	NA .	NA .	NA	NA	NA.
7. Rejesthen	300	215	153	744	738	841	40	29	18	NA NA	NA	NA
0. Sikkim	_	-	_	••	-		_	_	_	_	F	-
9. Tamil Nadu	NA	NA	NA	N.s	NA	Na	No	NA	N·	NA NA	NA NA	NA
O. Tripura	_	_	_	-	-	_	_	_	_	-	_	_
1. Uttor Pradesh	5 ?7	326	353	3047	3 53 9		. 30	9	9	46	58	90
2. Wost Bengal	605	255	415	183	359	423	331	71	98	72	26	34
Total 2	<u>6292</u>	5374	<u>6310</u>	<u>0507</u>	10293	<u>1310a</u>	551	71	20	.2	**	••

Source: Information received from State Grute.

N.B. Arrows in respect of minor irrigation schemos have not been included in the above table. These are given below, for some States:

Statos	(Rs. lakhs) As at the end of							
	1976-77	1970-79	1983-84					
Assem	0.5	_	_					
Biher	140.0 (77-76)	144.0	164					
Himachal Pradesh	0.5	1.1	2.9					
Oricca	14.3	2.5	2.3					
Utter Predomh	582-0	001.0	1919.0					
Wost Gengal	5.0	NA	NA					

^{1/} Arrears include those relating to minor irrigation schemes. 2/ Percentage of arrears to Demand and Arrears per hoctare have been worked out in respect of States for which data about demand and arrears are available.

Water rates in the States as furnished by the State Governments under Subsidiary Point No.13

and of parties	1202,					
·		<u>.</u>		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		rupees per Acre
Lift_i	rrigation/	Tube wells		Flow irr		
	Rabi		thers Rabi season)	Kharif	Others	
	<u>(1)</u>		3) (4)	(5)	(Hot season) (6)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		121	21 \\frac{\frac{1}{1}}{1}	()/		
1. Andhra Pradesh	-	•				
Fixed Water rate system						
Standard Scale of						
Water cess				-,		
	Fon fine	rri eee (n te	igation course	the Rate	es per acre are	Ros and for
i)Wet Crop			n, the rates p			no and tor
			_			B. 6 and for 2nd
<pre>ii)Dry Crop syste- matically Irrigated</pre>			the rates per			Rs. 6 and for 2nd
iii) Dry Crop Occasio-					es per acre are	Rs. 4 and for
nally irrigated			n, the Rates p			*
iv) Duffasal Crop			igation source n, the rates p		es per acre are re R.9.00	Rs.12 and for
<u>Old Projects</u>	Rate per	acre				
Special Project	First	2nd class				
Water rates .	class	Irrigation				
Krishna Godavari	Irriga- tion	Source				
Delta system	Source	•				
4 Nata to Green	 .	20.00	•			
i)Wet Crops ii) Dry Crops	25.00 12.50	20.00 10.00				
· •						
Recent Projects**		,	**These rates	ame unifor	ım fom all	
i) For irrigated Wet.	4				s, if the sour	ce ⁻
cropon dry land	30 k	·			source is non-	
ii) For irrigated dry Crops on dry land	20 🐧		Government t	hese rates	will be half.	i.e.
iii) For duffasal Crops	60 Š		Rs.15, Rs.1	O and Ra	3.30 respective	ly.
THEY TO CONTROVE OF UNIT	** *		• •		•	

		er oo Zoob o					are in rupees per A
	lift irriga Raci	Kharif			Flow : Kharif		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
Assan					.		
a) Irrigation charges i) Rice ii) Wheat		22.76		91.05 45.53	22.76		
b) The daily hire charge Rs.14,16,18,22 and 27	s with oper for the Pu	ator but mp Capac	without I	POL(minimu),13-16, 2	um days of 20&4 H.P.	f hire - respect	7)are ively•
<u> </u>		•				•	•
Non-Perennial Canal							
a) Long leaseb) Season leasec) Single Watering				13.50 10.50	13.50 16.50 17.50	36.00* 12.00*	For Gujarat
I. Perennial Canal							1/the monthly
a) Long lease b) Scason lease c) Single Watering	32. 00 18. 00	42 . 00 16 . 00	32.00 32.00 32.00	18.00 16.50	30.00 31.50 18.50	55.50 19.50	water rates for "Over-lap" sugar cane are as under:- Season Monthly rat
Gujerat Crops 1. Paddy (Short term) 2. Paddy (Long term)		30.00 42.00	70.00	70.00	30.00 42.00	70.00	Kharif 15.00 Rabi 22.00 Hot
 Bajri Wheat (Short term) Wheat (Long term) 	30.00 42.00	11.00	3 0 . 00	30.00 30.07 42.00	11.00		Weather 28.00 Besides, the rates for
6. Cotton 7. Sugarcane 1	32.00 81.00	18.00 50.07	106.00	32.00 81.00	18.00 50.00	106.00	two seasonal, 16 montand 15 months sugar cane rates are Rs. 474, s. 319 and Rs. 344 per acre.

			-50-	•		,	
						(Rates are in rupees p	er Acre)
L	<mark>ift irrig</mark> at.	ion/Tube	vells		Flow irr		
	Rabi.	Kharif	Others (Hot seas	Rebi on)	Kharif	Others (Hot season)	
	(1)	(5)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
5. Haryana							
I. <u>Chakra Canal including</u> Ghaggar and Saraswati Canals							
1. Wheat 2. Paddy (Rice) 3. Maize 4. Pajra	12 15 10 10	6 .	-	25 30 20 20			
5. Sugarcane 6. Cotton	12.50	33		40 25		•	
II. Western Jumna Canal, Gurgaon Canal, Rewari, Jui, Lohru, Sewani and Jhajjar Lift Irriga- tion schemes	•						
 Wheat Paddy (Rice) Maize Bajra 	9 15 1 0 10	4		18 30 20 20	8		
5. Sugarcane 6. Cotton	17 12.50	16.50		34 25	3 3		
Lower Chautang Nalla Canal			•				
1. Wheat 2. Maize 3. Cotton	3 8 5	5		5 12 12	8		
4. Rice 5. Sugarcane	13			20			
4. Rice 5. Sugarcane	13 13			20 20			

Trift	irrigation	n/Tube we	lls		irrigation	
	Rabi.	Khariî	Others Hot seaso	Rabi n)	Kharif	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Himachal Pradesh						
1) Wheat 2) Rice	11.60 19.54 11.30	5.56		5.80 9.82 5.65	2.7 8	These rates do not
3) Maise4) Sugarcane5) Cotton	33.26 13.60	27.60		16.63 6.80	13.60	cover the operating cost, depreciation and interest on Capital. If these
Jammu & Kashmir Kashmir Division Gravity Schemes			•			items are also covered, at least the rates would be three times
i) Wheat ii) Paddy (Rice)	20.80 *	<u> </u>		6.60		more.
iii) Maize	-	10.40*		3.3°		*These are the
iv) Pajra	-	10.40*		447.00		Abiana rates for tube wells and
y) Sugarcane vi) Cotton Abiana rates in respect of gravity Canals	<u>-</u>	Ξ		117:00		Tawi-Lift Irriga- tion. The rates for all Kharif &
i) Wheat				4.38		Rabi Crops from
ii) Paddy (Rice) iii) Maiz.				8 .13 4 .33		Lift Canals other than Tawi Canal
iv) Cotton v) Sugarcane				4.38 8.13		are Rs. 20.80
Noubed Jammu (Gravity Canal)						
i) Wheat (Jammu Tebsil) ii) Sugar				3.75 13.75		

Life iff	Rabi	/Tube Welle _ Kharif Others	Rabi	low Irric Kharif O				
		(Hot seaso	o n)	(Hot season)			
		2. 3.	4.	5.	5.			
Karnataka								
1. Wheat	36		18					e prevailing in areas
2. Paddy (Rice)	6 0		20					infall of 1250 mm.
3. Maize	36		18					the rates are Rs.90 :
4. Cotton	36		18			Rs.30 p	ber scre	for Lift and Flow
5. Sugarcane (12 months)	240		80			irriga	ation.	
Sugarcane (12 to 18 months)	360		120		ı	Not es: (Karnatak	(a) rat	fresh Irrigation, t es are concessional.
Kerala								er rate for temporar
								ply of water to land
1. Land already registered as								side the notified ar
single crop wet lands and								twice the normal rat
on which two paddy crops							• •	nal water rate for
could be raised	25.09	•	25.09	9				nauthorised use of wa
o ()								rom an irrigation
2. Lands already registered	_							ork is 10 to 30 times
as single crop wet land and							ti	ne normal rate and fo
on which more than two pade	•		10.0	_			gı	rowing unathorised cr
erops could be raised	40,06		40,06	5			ī.	5 to 10 times the
3. Other lands already							חפ	ormal rate.
registered as wet lands and	4							ne water rate for
-	,							ermitted use of water
on which two paddy crops	or 00		as no	n			•	or irrigation from
could be raised.	25.09		25.09	3				_
4. Other lands already	•							atural waterways, riv
registered as Wet lands and	1							nd streams is Rs.4 per
-							a	cre per revenue year.
on which more than two pade	•		40.00	E		Koralas	Prior +	o 1.7.1974, the Water
crops to be raised.	40.06		4U. U	0		T/GT GTG.		n the State were not
							uniform	•

	ift Irriga	C10N/!!	108 merts			ioation	
	Rahi		Others Hot soss	Rabi cn)	Kharif	(Hot season))
	1,	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	
5. Lands made fit for cultivation and on whice only one paddy crop coupe raised				14.97			
6. Land made fit for cultivation and on whice two paddy crops could to raised				25.09			
7. Lands made fit for cultivation and on whice more than two paddy cre could be raised				40.06			
8. Other lands already benefited	25.09		·	25。09			
Madhya Pradesh							Madhya Pradesh:
1. Wheat 2. Rice 2 3. Sugarcane % 4. Cotton				15 20 60	16		* The demand rate is Rs. 8 per ac The demand rate is Rs. 24 per acre and the rates for a long term of five years are Rs. 16.00 per acre % The rate of Rs. 60 is with
Maharashtra							Sullage Water and for complete irrigation of crop is &.40 per
1. Kharif Seasonal Crops 2. Rabi seasonal Crops 3. Sugarcane	1 80	60		 30	20 ~	60 60	acre. Maharashtra:
4. Cotton)	160	60	240	300**		100	The rates are different if water taken by privately owned lift scheme from notified nallas, rivers, etc.

		54	
	Lift irrigation/Tube	wells Flow irrigation	ates are in rupees per acre)
	Rabi Kharif Ot (Hot		hers season)
	1 2	<u>-34 5</u>	6
12. Manipur	No water rate is 1	evied in the State	`
13. Meghalaya	only one Medium Ir under investigatio schemes implemente	irrigation project in the rigation Project in Garon stage. There are some d by Agriculture Departmor use. Details not give	Hills which is still minor irrigation ent but water rate
14. Nagaland	No water rate is l	evied in the State.	
15. Orissa 1.Wheat 2.Rice 3.Maize 4.Cotton 5.Sugarcane	36 28.80 57.60 48.00 108.00	9 6* 7•50 15•00 27•00	* This rate is for 2nd class Irrigation Works. The rates for 1st class, 3rd class and 4th class irrigation works are &.8, 4,2 per acre per annum respectively.
a) Eastern Canal 1. Whe at 2. Rice 3. Maize 4. Sajra 5. Cotton 6. Sugarcane b) Bhakhra, Bist Doab and other canals 1. Whe at 2. Rice 3. Maize 4. Bajra 5. Cotton 6. Sugarcane	2.75 9.75 6.37 3.75 7.87 13.50 5.84 2.75 9.75 6.37 4.87 6.75 16.50 13.50	5.50 19.50 12.75 7.50 15.75 27.00 11.69 5.50 19.50 12.75 9.75 13.50 33.00 27.00	Punjab:- Note (1) An additional charge are levied, if any, any extra watering is allowed after 31st October. (2) For irrigation through tubewells owned by the Punjab State Tubewell Corporation a rate of 52 paise per Unit of electricity consumed is charged

(Rates are in rupees per Acre)

	Lift irrig	ation/Tul	Dewells		Flow is	rigation
	Rabi	Kharif	Others	Rabi	Kharif	Otners
			Hot season)			(Hot goason)
	1.	2-	3,	4.	5	6,
c) <u>Sirhind Canal</u>						
1. Wheat	5.84	2 .7 5	1	1.69	5.50	
2. Rice	9.75		19	9.50		
3, Maize	6.37		1:	2.75		
4. Bajra	4.B7		9	9.75		
5. Cotton	6.75		13	3.50	•	
6. Sugarcane	16.50	13.50	3:	3.00	27.00	
d) <u>Upper Bari Doab Canal</u>						
1. Wheat	5.89	2.78	1	1.79	5.56	
2. Rice	9.83		1!	9.65		
3. Maize	5.67		11	1.34		
4. Bajra	4.91		•	9.83		
5. Cotton	6.80		13	3.61		
6. Sugarcane	16.64	13.61	3:	3.28	27.22	
e) <u>Shah Nahar Canal</u>						
1. Wheat		3.02			6.04	
2. Rice	9.88		1'	9.76		
3. Maize	5.49		1	0.98		
4. Bajra	4.94		9	8.87		
5. Cotton	6.59		13	3.17		
6. Sugarcane	13.73			7.45		

						<u>, (Rε</u>	tes are in rupees per Acre)
	Lift	irrie	gation/Tu	abewells		Flow	irrigation
			Kharif		Rabi n)		Others (Hot season)
		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
17.	Rajasthan (a) Gang Canal Bhakra-Ghagar and Rajasthan Canal (Irrigation under Perennial channels and Chambal Canal area and all works constructed improved after 1st Jan. 1952 and all works in the area of former States of Banswara						*These rates are applicable for Pre- 1952 Irrigation Works except inundation Irrigation. The rates fore Pre-1952 Irriga- tion works inundation Irrigation are as under:-
10	Dungarpur and <u>Pratap Garh</u> 1. Wheat 2. Paddy (kice) 3. Maize 4. Bajra 5. Sugarcane 6. Cotton	15* 16* 7* 7* 35* 20*	15* 16* 7* 7* 35* 20*	-	21 28 12 12 40 25	21 28 12 12 40 25	Crops R. per acre 1.Wheat 9 2.Paddy(Rice) 7 3.Maize 5 4.Bajra 5 5.Sugarcane 15 6.Cotton 12
TR.	Sikkim				_		

Minor Irrigation

Rs. 4 per acre per annum. Irrigation schemes whose estimated cost is within Rs. 25000/- only are implemented on 50% subsidy from the Govt. and the rest 50% has to be borne by the beneficiaries of the scheme. The schemes which cost more than this are implemented with Govt. assistance 85% and 15% Public participation.

	/ ES				(Rat	es are in	rupees per Acre)
Lift		ration/T			Flow ir	🕶	
	Rabi	Kharif	Others (Hot season)		Kharif	Others (Hot season)	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
19. Tamil Nadu					·		
I. Standard Scales of water cess on Dry Lands		First C	lass Sou	rce	Second	Class Source	: <u>e</u>
(1) Sugarcane			6.00	-		4.50	_
(2) any other crop which required water for more than six months			6.00			4.50	
(3) Crops other than those specified in Class (1) and (2)			The totacharges from R. Rs. 6 per	vary l to		The total vary from to B. 4.50 acre.	75 paise
II. Rates of assessment and water-Cess and the concessional water rates fixed for the projects in the State.							
Projects i) Parambikulam Aliyar Proj ii) Lower Bhavani Project		e for We	t lands		<u>Re.</u>	tes for Dry Rs.15 to Rs. Rs.20	
iii) Chittar-Pattanankaliv) Kodaganar Reservoir sche			- -	D 00	-0	Rs. 10 to 25 Rs. 12.50 to	
v) Santhur Reservoir Projec vi) Periyar system vii) Kadayar Project	Ն		Rs. 15 to	Ks. 22.	50	Ps. 1.00 to Rs. 0.75 to	
20. Tripura			utilisat ing levie		f water :	from Minor	Irrigation

			(Rate	s are in rupees per Acre)
	Lift Irrigati Rabi Wharif	Cthers (Hot season)	Flow irrigo Rabi Khari	tion î Others (Hot season)
21. Uttar Pradesh Schedule I.A 1.Wheat 2.Rice 3.Sugarcane 4.Votton Schedule I 1.Wheat 2.Rice 3.Sugarcane	20 20 33 8 12 12 12 33 4		40 40 66 16 24 24 66 8	Irrigation rates for different canal systems and tube wells are prescribed in various schedules.
Schedule II 1.Wheat 2.Rice 3.Sugarcane 4.Cotton Schedule III 1.Wheat 2.Rice 3.Sugarcane 4.Cotton	4 9 9 17 3 7 2		8 18 18 34 6 7 6	

				(<u>R</u> a	tes ere	in rupees	per Acre)	
D.1	ft trrige	tion/Tu	bewells	File	ow irrig	ation		
		Kharif		Rabi	Kharif	Others (Hot season)		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
22. West Bengal a) Deep Tubewells/ River lift Pumps/ Shallow Tubewells.				•				,
 i) Wheat ii) Paddy ifi) Maize iv) Sugarcane v) Cotton 	24.00 19.20 32.00 48.00 19.20							
b) Boro Bundhs								
Boro Paddy	19.20							

Appendix I.14(iii) - concld.

Comparative Water rates in some States where levy is on the basis of crops grown*

\$40 at the State of the State o		I TET TH	≀IGAT10N/TUB	EMELLS		(Rupees per acre) FLOW IRRIGATION						
STATES	Wheat	Paddy	Maize	Cotten	Sugar- cane	Wheat	Paddy	Maize	Cotton	Sugar- cane		
(1)	(2)		(4)	<u> </u>	(6)	(7)	(8)	(3)	(10)	7117		
Assam		22.76				45.53	91.05					
Gujarat	30 to 42	30 to 42		18 to 32	50 to 106	30 t o 42	30 to 42		18 to 32	50 t o 106		
Haryana	3 to 12	13 to 15	8 to 10	8 to 12.50	13 to 33	5 to 25	20 to 30	12 to 20	12 to 25	20 to 40		
Himachal Pradesh	5.56 tc 11.60	19.64	11.30	13.60	27.60 to 33.26	2.78 to 5.80	9.82	5.65	6.80	13.60to		
Jammu & Kashmir	20.80	20.80 to 41.60	10.40 to 20.80		117	4.38	6.60 to 8.13	3.30 to 4.33	4.38	8.13 to 13.75		
Madhya Pradesh					8	(demand)	16 to	40 to 60	16			
Maharashtra	60 to 120 36	60 to 150 8 to 120	60 to 80 57.60	80 to 240 48	80 to 160 108	20 to 60 9	20 to 60	20 to 60	30 to 80	100(from		
Orissa							6 to 24	7.50	15	27		
Punjab	2.75 to 5.89	9.75 to 9.88	5,49 to 6,37	6,59 to 7,87	13.50 to 16.64	5.50 to 11.79	19,50 to 19.76	10.98 to 12.75	13.17 to 15.75	27 to 33.28		
Karnataka	3 6	60	36	36	40	19	20	18	13	80		
Rajasthan	9 to 15	7 to 16	5 to 7	12 to 29	0 15 to 35	9to 21	7 to 28	5 to 12	12 to 25	15 to4		
Tamil Nadu Parambikulam Aliyar Project)	4.50 to 6.00	4.50 to 6.00	4.50 to 6.00	4.50 to 6.00	4.50 to 6.00		15		20	30		
Uttar Pradesh	9 to 20	3 to 20	- 	2 to 8	7 to 33	19 to 40	6 t o 40	•	4 to 16	14 to 66		
West Bengal	24	19.20	32.00	19.20	48	24	19.20	32.00	48	19.20		

^{*} Source: Information given by the States in Subsidiary Points.

Appendix I.15

Net receipts from minor irrigation in 1978--79 as per budget estimates

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		·	(Rs. in Lakha)
	States	M.H. 106 Minor Irrigation receipts	M.H. 306 Minor Irrigation expenditure	Net Rcceipts (2-3)
	1.	2.	3.	4.
1.	Andhra Pradesh	24	656	-632
2.	Assam	10	234	- 224
3.	Bihar	30	270	- 240
4.	Gujarat	27	192	-1 65
5.	Haryana	-	2	-2
6.	Himachal Pradesh	2	30	- 23
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	18	252	-234
8.	Karnataka	161	1014	~ 85 3
9,	Kerala	21	237	-216
10.	Madhya Pradesh	266	264	+2
11,	Maharashtra	140	145	- 5
12.	Manipur	1	2	-1
13.	Meghalaya	-	9	~ 5 ·
14.	Nagaland	1	-	+1
15.	Orissa	64	222	-158
16.	Punjab	63	134	-71
17.	Rajasthan	158	354	– 196
_	Sikkim	-	6	- 6
	Tamil Nadu	63	149	- 86
	Tripura	1	13	-12
	Uttar Pradesh	1420	4179	- 2759
	West Bengal	193	851	-6 58
	Total	2663	9215	<u>-6552</u>

Source:- Budget documents and State Forecasts.

Appendix I.16
Flood control physical achievements (likely) upto the end of March 1979

States	As furnis	hed by Centr	al Water Co	ommission	State Govt. figures*
	Towns	Length of embankments (Kms.)	Length of	Total (2+3) (Kms.)	Length of embank- ments an s drainage channels (Kws.)
l. Andhra Fradesh	8	405	5750	6155	NA
2. Assam	50	4145	772	4917	4145 1/
3. bihar	22	2355	3 65	2720	2811
4. Gujarat	27	208	271	479	NA
5. Haryana	-	396	2547	294 3	NA
Himachal Pradesh	-	2	-	2	NA
7. Jammu & Kashmir	2	-	_	-	**************************************
8. Karnataka		~	~	_	
9. Kerala	2	46	7	55	234 ₺
10. Madhya Pradesh	9	~	-		
ll. Maharashtra	15	26	-	26	NA
12. Manipur	1	90	21	111	330
13. Meghalaya	3	43	-	43	61
14. Nagaland	-	_	-	-	_
15. Orissa	11	385	23	408	4320
16. Punjab	3	810	5517	6327	810 1/
17. Rajasthan	13	52	134	216	NA
18. Sikkim		-	•••	_	
19. Tamil Nadu	-		19	19	NA
20. Tripura	9	35	94	129	
21. Uttar Pradosh	55	1172	2634	3806	NA
22. West Bengal	34	515	589	1104	13226
Total:	264	10715	18743	29458	14410 40347

^{*} As furnished in response to 7th October, 1977 latter.

wo river training works comprising of long embankments have been constructed and, therefore, no information is given.

[&]amp; Includes 185 Kms. of sea-wall.

^{1/} It appears that only length of embankments has been shown.

Appendix I, 17

Provisions for flood control drainage and anti-sea erosion works, during the five-year period, 1979-84.

				eriod, 19		Takal	(Rs. in lakhs) As furnished by
States	1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84	Total 1979-84	State Government 1979-84.
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	<u>(5)</u>	(6)	(7)	(8)
1. Andhra Pradesh	182	193	205	217	230	1027	Not shown
2. Assam	345	366	388	411	4.36	1946	3850
3. Bihar	373	395	419	444	471	2102	11467
4. Gujarat	2:3	24	26	27	29	129	Not shown
5. Haryana	97	103	109	116	122	547	900
6. Himachai Pradesh	0.15	0.16	0.17	0.13	0,19	0.85	Not shown
7. Jammu & Kashmir	94	100	106	112	119	531	1882
8. Karnataka	3.00	3.18	3,37	3.57	3.78	16.90	Not shown
9. Kerala - Total	124	131	139	148	157	699	
Receipts	2	2	2	2	2	10 1/	1580
Net	122	<u>129</u>	<u>137</u>	<u>146</u>	<u>155</u>	689	i
10. Madhya Pradesh	2.00	2.12	2.25	2.39	2.53	11.29	Not shown
11. Maharashtra	2.00	2.12	2.25	2.39	2.53	11.29	Not shown
12. Manipur - Total	7.24	7.67	8.13	8.62	9.1.1	40.80	125
Receipts	0.30	0.30	0.30	0.30	0,30	1.50	1
Net	6.94	7.37	7.83	8.32	8.84	39.30	124
13. Meghalaya	5.23	5.54	5.87	6.22	6.59	29.45	65
14. Nagaland	-	-	-		-	-	-
15. Orissa - Total	253	268	284	301	319	1425	2447
Receipts	2	2	2	2	2	10 1/	A
Net	<u>251</u>	<u> 266</u>	<u>282</u>	<u>299</u>	<u>317</u>	<u>1415</u>	1 2437
16. Punjab	245	260	275	292	309	1381	2037
17. Rajasthan	10.00	10.60	11.24	11.91	12.62	56.37	Not shown
18. Sikkim		-	-	-	-	-	10
19. Tamil Nadu	2.25	2.39	2.53	2.68		12.69	16
20. Tripura	30.41	32.23	34.16	36.21		171.39	179
21. Uttar Pradesh	157	166	176	187	198	884	5889 * 4716
22. West Bengal-Total	515	546	579	613	650	2903 22 <u>1</u> /	I 4716
Receip	ts 4	4	4	5 ene	5 645	2881	4694
Net	<u>511</u>	<u>542</u>	<u>575</u>	608 2932.87	645 3109.30	13881.53	35120
All - States (net)	2461.98	2609.71	2767.67	2002,01			

^{1/} Receipts.

Source for Co.8: Information received from State Governments.

Statement showing the installed capacity and capacity utilisation factor of major thermal power stations in the country during the year 1976-77.

....

Sl. No.	Name of Power Station	Derated installed capacity (MW)	Capacity utilisation (% age)
1.	2.	3.	4.
1.	Ahmedabad	57.0	75.00
2.	(Unit 15 & 16) Amarkantak	60.0	86.00
3.	Barauni (Units 4 & 5)	100.0	5 7. 83
4.	Bokaro	227.5	58 .1 1
5•	Bandel	320.0	56.11
5.	Bhusawal	62.5	84,75
7.	Baderpur	3 00 . 0	55.67
8.	Bhatinda	220.0	39.64
9•	Basin Bridge (Units 3 & 4)	60.0	52.64
17.	Chandrapura	650.0	44.66
11.	Calcutta (i) New Cossipore (ii) Mulajoro	150.0 128.0	60.58 59.40
12.	(i) Durgapur (DVC)	250.Q	58.63
	(ii) Durgapur (DFL)	280.0	45.41
13.	I.P. Station	282.5	75.28
14.	Dhuvaran	534.0	61.27
15.	Ennore	450.0	45•71
16.	Faridabad	120.0	45.39
17.	Harduaganj 'A'	90.0	53.53
18.	Harduaganj 'B'	220.0	67.97
19.	Khaperkheda (Units 4,5 & 6)	90.0	56.44
20.	(i) Kothagudem 'A'	240.0	65.48
	(ii) Kothagudem 'B'	220.0	45.87

1.	2.	3.	7.
21.	(i) Korba-I	80.0	66.00
-	(ii) Korba-2	200.0	80.31
22.	Koradi	480.0	50.03
23.	Nasik	280.0	61,85
24.	(i) Obra (T)	²⁵⁰ .0	57.26
	(ii) Obra Extn.	300.0	57.88
25.	Parli	60.9	81,62
26.	Paras	9 2.5	56 .7 7
27.	(i) Panki	64.0	40.31
	(ii) Panki Extn. (Unit I only)	. 110,0	30.90
28.	Patratu	510.0	46.56
2ე。	Ramagundam 'B'	62.5	90.96
30.	Renusagar	125.0	100.00
31.	Satpura	312,5	62.76
32.	Santaldih	240.0	29 .73
33.		330.0	68.80
34.	Talcher	250.0	44.00
35.	Ulrai	240.0	24.11

Source : Department of Power.

Statement showing the total coal consumption, energy generated and the specific coal consumption in the major Thermal Tower Stations in the country during the year 1977-78.

Sl. No.	Name of TPS.	Coal consumption (Tonnes)	Units generated (MU)	Coal con sumption kg/kwh.
1.	2.	3.	4.	5,
1.	Ahmedabad	908243	1257.034	0.72
2.	Amarkantak	409514	618.062	0.66
3.	Barauni	303850	539.821	.0.56
4.	Bokaro	827639	1136.773	0.73
5•	Bandel	726546	1447.670	0.50
6.	Bhusawal	248574	358.31 9	0.69
7.	Padarpur	476678	839.430	0.57
8.	Phatinda (GNDTP)	45609 5	8 7 0 .73 8	₽•57
9.	Basin Bridge	297011	413. 200	0.72
10.	Chandrapura	1529236	2824.069	0.54
11.	Calcutta	1344132	1758.174	0.76
12.	(i) Durgapur(DNL)	623055	1001.890	0.62
	(ii) Durgapur (DVC)	623069	94 3. 007	0.66
13.	D.E.S.U.	1288460	1909. 979	0.57
14.	Dhuvaran	55872	2773.375	
15.	Ennore	935945	1439.000	0.65
15.	Faridabad	406714	593.000	୦.68
17.	Harduaganj 'A'	3 0 52 99	356.270	0.85
18.	Harduaganj 'B'	742303	1150.000	0.65
19.	Khaperkheda	3683 99	399.102	0.92
20.	Kothagudem	1480279	2232.466	0.66

1.	2•	3.	4.	5،
21.	(i) Korba-I	503715	444.239	1.13
	(ii) Korba-II	1794396	1897.162	0.94
22.	Koradi	1527723	2621.855	0.53
23.	Nesik	85 73 09	1544.470	0.56
24.	Obra	2074373	2728.079	0.76
25.	Parli	261300	437.403	0.60
26.	Paras	417121	518.087	0.81
27.	(i) Panki	205715	326.146	0.63
	(ii) Panki Extn,	472906	726.300	0.55
28.	Patratu	1281916	1944.992	0.66
29.	Ramagundam 'B'	290471	508.000	0.37
3 ٦.	Renusagar	870579	1044.097	0.83
31.	Satpura	1086337	1873.000	0.58
32.	Santaldih	404186	8 28.571	0.49
33.	Trombay	307138	2196.177	
34.	Talchar	467798	669.089	0.70
35•	Ukai	320744	671.616	0.48

Source - Department of Power

Percentage of Energy Losses in Transmission and Distribution for State Electricity Boards, D.V.C. and DESU during the years 1974-75, 1975-76 and 1976-77 (Provisional).

Sl.	Boards/Undertakings	1974-75	1975-76	(Percentages) 1976-77 (Provisional)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	$\frac{(120\sqrt{1510\text{Mat}})}{(5)}$
7.	Andhra Pradesh	25.24	24.53	24,40
2.	Assam	18 .22 @	16.50	20.19
3.	Bihar	29.33	23.94	25.83
4.	Gujarat	20.22	19.51	17.13
5.	Haryana	24.40	23.19	22.27
6.	Himachal Pradesh	15.86	19.62	17.69
7.	Jammu and Kashmir	23.49	23.34	N.A.
8.	Karnataka	18.53	15.92	15.47
9.	Kerala	15.20	16.13	14.52
10.	Madhya Fradesh	20.08	1 8.80	18.24
11.	Maharashtra	15.90	17. 50	17.36
12.	Meghalaya	, ***	9.03	4.18
13.	Orissa	11.04	1 4 . 29	16.76
14.	Punjab	23.52	21.1 8	24.43
15.	Rajasthan	30.27	25.74	21.43
15.	Tamil Nadu	21.55	18.75	18.34
17.	Uttar Pradesh	24.73	21.69	22.25
18.	West Bengal	9.19	11.69	11.57
19.	D. V. C.	4.03	3. 26	
20.	DESU	8.61	13.97	2.97 N.A.
	All India -	20.48	19.42	19.92

@ - Includes Meghalaya and Mizoram

Source - Department of Power.

Appendix I.21

Net returns from State Electricity Boards and departmental undertakings

during each year from 1979-80 to 1983-84 and for the five year period 1979-84

i	Government nvestments as on 31.3.79	6 per cent of Col.2	Net return (a deducting Ex duty and Ele- city duty) for each year 19 to 83-84	ccise during 5 ctri- years r 1979-84
1	2	3	4	5
1. Andhra Pradesh Sl	EB 41458	2487	1657	8285
Departmental	19850	1191	1095	5475
2. Assam	13858	831	671	3355
3. Bihar	30913	1855	1180	5900
4. Gujarat	35835	2150	(-) 514	(-) 2570
5. Haryana	25726	1544	125	625
6. Himachal Pradesh	7128	428	333	1665
7. Jammu & Kashmir		1143	995	4975
7. Jammu & Kasiimir 8. Karnataka	38535	2312	721	3605
9. Kerala	18875	1133	(-) 328	(-) 1640
0. Madhya Pradesh	52299	3138	1045	5225
11. Maharashtra SEB	79214	4753	2556	12780
Departmental	20385	1223		
l2. Manipur£	1446	87	83	415
l3. Meghal aya	3241	194	136	680
14. Nagaland£	1460	88	87	435
l5. Orissa SEB	18525	1111		(-) 10
Departmental	571	34	(~) 65	(-) 315
l6. Punjab	64849	3891	2040	10200
l7. Rajasthan	28396	1704	937	4685
l8. Sikkim£	366	22	21	105
19. Tamil Nadu	33062	1984	1128	5640
0. Tripura£	2746	165	161	805 35640
21. Uttar Pradesh	155025	9302	7128	4175
22. West Bengal	24181	1451	835	
All States	736987	44221	22934*	114670*
			<u>(-) 907 </u>	(-) 4535

[£] Departmental schemes

^{*}Excludes surplus returns in excess of 6 per cent return for 3 States: Gujarat, Kerala and Orise

Financial Results of State Road Transport Undertakings.

Summy Table

		من سن ماه بلو يې ليو پې ښار د و د مه		<u>(</u> [5	_lakhs:
Sl. No.			1974-75 Actuals	Actuals	1976-77 Actuals/ Prel. Actuals
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4°)	(5)
1.	Block Capitd at the end of the year	39556.81	46202.97	52946,70	60919.78
2.	Gress Receipts	3 387 3.1 6	5034 7.85	60734, 63	71232,58
3.	Working exponses	35154.7 8	47115.59	55251 .27	61024.14
A.	Interest payments	1839.65	2300.07	2891.55	3451.02
(a) to State Govt.	13 00.90	1546.25	1722.05	1952.90
(h) Others	538.75	753.82	1169.49	1493.03
5.	Transfer to depreciation fund	3 378 .2 7	4946.58	5528.67	6589.35
6.	Transfer to other funds	223,26	167.63	185.05	225.76
7.	Other charges	285.06	270.87	263.14	3 40.58
8.	Total (3 to 7)	41391.02	54800.74	64119.69	72530.85
9.	Net profit	-2517.86	-4459.91	-3385.01	-1298.27
10.	Corporation Tax	236.00	265.00	127.00	174.26
11.	Contribution to State Revenues	730.35	-13.63	29.99	17.59
12.	Retained profit	-2793,22	-4711.28	-3544.00	-1492.12
	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~				

### State Road Transport Undertakings

## Net Profit (+)/Loss (-) after providing for interest, depreciation and other funds

interest,	depreciation an	d other funds	Ma	in lakhs)
	1973-74	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77
	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals/
		<del></del>	<del></del>	Prel. Actuals
1. Andhra Pradesh	+339, 00	+364, 00	+224. 00	+249. 00
2. Bihar	-252, 00	-155, 00	-116, 83	-262, 00
3. Gujarat	-374, 00	-712, 00	-276. 00	-256.00
4. Haryana	+ 33. 54	- 56, 43	- 49.70	+107. 89
5. Karnataka	+ 26.00	+ 11,00	-130, 00	+ 42,00
6. Kerala	-367, 00	-470, 00	-411, 00	-108.00
7. Madhya Pradesh	-154, 57	-148, 27	+ 46, 31	+ 48, 24
8. Maharashtra	-305, 00	-78 <b>0. 00</b>	+153, 00	+741, 00
9. Orissa	N. I.	- 59, 37	- 80, 71	- 6.99
10. Punjab	- 8,00	-151, 00	-296, 00	<b>-350, 0</b> 0
(l) Punjab Roadways	12.00	- 99, 00	-166. 00	-192, 00
(ii) Pepsu R. T. C.	- 20,00	- 52,00	-130. 00	-158.00
11. Rajasthan	+ 34, 76	+ 49, 90	- 50,67	+ 1, 13
12. Tamil Nadu	- 95, 00	-274, 00	-839, 00	+137, 00
i) Pallavan Transport Corpn.	-121, 00	-204. 00	-490, 00	+ 15, 00
ii) Cheran Transport Corpn.	+ 6,00	+ 12,00	+ 17, 00	+- 50, 00
iii) Cholan Roadways Corpn.	+ 11,00	- 29.00	-103, 00	+ 7, 00
iv) Pandiyan Roadways Corpn.	+ 4.00	+ 9.00	- 62, 00	+ 71.00
v) Kattabomman Roadways Corpn.	-	- 65, 00	- 76.00	+ 15.00
vi) Anna Transport Corpn.	+ 5,00	+ 3,00	- 26.00	+ 6.00
vli) Thanthai Pariyar Transport				
Corpn.	-	-	- 99, 00	- 27, 00
13. Uttar Pradesh	+ 14.00	-240, 00	+189, 00	+173, 00
14. West Bengal	<u>-1182, 05</u>	-1533, 61	<u>-1634, 76</u>	<u>-1616, 77</u>
i) C. S. T. C.	-740, 49	-93 <b>2, 3</b> 9	-1007, 23	-941, 00
ii) Durgapur 8, T. C.	- 49, 56	- 56, 22	- 51, 43	- 60, 77
iii) North Bengal S. T. C.	- 98, 00	-153, 00	-187. 00	-217, 00
iv ) Calcutta Tramways Co.	-294, 00	-392, 00	-389, 00	-398, 00
Hill States				
15. Assam	- 70, 78	- 75, 46	- 14, 13	- 34, 45
16. Himachal Pradesh	+ 21, 42	- 79, 52	- 51, 92	-105, 05 °
17. Jammu & Kashmir	-168, 00	- 93.00	- 31, 40	- 14, 00
18. Manipur	- 7.00	- 41, 00	- 8.00	- 12,00
19. Meghalaya	- 2,07	- 4,75	- 2,64	- 4.00
20. Nagaland	- 11,60	- 12,46	- 7.46	- 8. 04
21. Sikkim	+ 15, 44	+ 9.67	+ 25.03	+ 4, 59
22. Tripura	÷ 4.95	- 6.61	- 22, 13	- 22, 82
Totals	-2517, 86	-4459, 91	-3385. 01	-1298, 27

N. L = Not indicated

Source:- Profits & Loss Accounts and Subsidiary Points.

#### State Road Transport undertakings - Physical progress as at the end of 1976-77

States	Fleet (Nos.	-	d Col.3 as per cent of Col.2	Fleet Utilisa- tion(名)	Vehicle utilisation (in Kms) per year	Occupancy Ratio per cent
	2	3	4_	5	6	7
1. Andhra Pradesh	4835	918	18.99	90.0	109500	71
2. Bihar	1627	175	10.76	63.2	77015	63
3. Gujarat	5752	1224	21.28	79.0	99025	76
1. Haryana	2078	_	-	94.0	88000	87
5. Karnataka	458 <del>9</del>	1560	33.99	80.0	94540	_
3. Kerala	2419	456	18.85	80.0	100000	83
7. Madbya Pradesh	2145	733	34, 17	81.9	80223	67
3. Maharashtra	8070	3954	49.00	82.3	86615	78
. Orissa	601	111	18.47	80.7	69715	80
0. Punjab	3009	<u> </u>	0.07	84-90	71035-75920	
(i) Punjab Roadways	2101	-	-	84.3	71035	89
(ii) Pepsu R.T.C.	908	2	0.22	90.0	75920	83
l. Rajasthan	1767	120	6.79	77.0	97820	72
2. Tamil Nadu	<u>495</u> 7	<u>770</u>	15.53	83-93	69033-177000	<u>62-80</u>
(i) Pallavan Transport Corporation						
(a) Express Services	269	80	33.09	86.0	177000	
(b) Metropolis	1470	136	9.25	87.0	69033	
(c) District Services	394	<b>30</b> .	7.67	85.0	115000	
(ii) Cheran Transport Corporation	686	156	22.74	92.0	117000	
(iii) Cholan Roadways Corporation		172	33.46	87.0	120000	
(iv) Pandiyan Roadways Corporation	649	, 107	16.49	93.0	100000	
(v) Kattabomman Transport Corporation	521	62	11.90	86.0	117000	
(vi) Anna Transport Corporation	245	11	4.49	86.0	118000	
(vii) Thanthaf Periyar Transport Corporation	212	7	3.30	83.0	111000	
. Uttar Pradesh	5713	549	9.61	80.0	79205	70
. West Bengal (i) Calcutta State Transport	2082	<u>816</u>	<u>39. 19</u>	<u>61-65</u>	46750-96000	-
Corporation	1245	263	21.12	65.0	58431 ,	108
(ii) Durgapur S.R.T.C.	102	35	34.31	69 A	00000	
(iii) North Bengal S.R.T.C.	297	121	40.74	62.0 61.0	96000 78000	82 92
(iv) Calcutta Tramway Co.	438	397	90.64	65.0	46750	90
Hill States			- <del>-</del>		20100	30
. Assam	618	57	9.22	69.0	66000	_
. Himachal Pradesh	800	161	20.13	80.0	41250	80
Jammu & Kashmir	593	130	21.92	75.0	50000	70*
. Manipur	103	18	17.48	49.0	21000	<u>-</u>
. Meghalaya	101	11	10.89	70.0	50000	_
. Nagaland	101	55	54.46	58.6*	16504*	_
. Sikkim	44	10	22.73	78.0	35490	-
. Tripura	90	-	-	66.7	43860	79
	52094	<u>11830</u>	22.71			-
BEST (Bombay)	1667			92.07	80735	
D. T. C. (Delhi)	2131*			71.25*	81271*	
*For 1975-76.					2-m1 T.	
Source: Col.2 to Col.6 = Subsidiary Col.7 = M.P. "		•				
Col.7 = M.P. " =Other State	"					

#### Operating ratio of the State Road Transport Undertakings

si.		1975-76 (Actuals)			1976-77 (Pre-actuals)		
No.	Undertakings	Gross	Working	Operating ra-	Gross	Working	Operating ra
		receip ^t s (Rs. lakhs)	expenses (Rs. lakhs)	tio Col. 3 as % of Col. 2	receipts (Rs. lakhs)	expenses (Rs. lakhs)	tio Col. 6 as % of Col. 5
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		<del></del>	<u>~</u>	<u>-</u>		<del></del>	
l.	Andhra Pradesh SRTC	7322.00	6165.00	84.20	8814.00	7470.00	84.75
	Bihar SRTC	1328,84	1193.91	89.85	1303.00	1282.00	98.39
	Gujarat SRTC	7678.00	7028.00	91,53	8649.00	7786.00	90,02
	Haryana Roadways	2349.40	2123.98	87.36	2802.54	2342.83	83,60
i.	Karnataka SRTC	5001.00	4407.00	88.12	6499,00	5465.00	84.09
	Kerala SRTC	3091.00	3086,00	99.84	4042.00	3716.00	91.93
•	Madhya Pradesh SRTC	2016.87	1681.92	83, 32	2259, 82	1815.70	80.35
	Maharashtra SRTC	11032.00	9746.00	88.34	12280,00	10276,00	83.68
	Orissa SRTC	557.46	504.42	90.49	671.32	` 523.89	78.04
).	Punjab	-					
-	(i) Punjab Roadways	1792.00	1658.00	92.52	2039.00	1890.00	92.69
	(ii) Pepsu Road Transport Corporation	809.00	777.00	96.04	835.00	811.00	97.13
i.	Rajasthan SRTC	1649.38	1449.90	87.91	2017.98	1659.43	82.23
2.	Tamil Nadu SRTC	7112,00	6993,00	98, 33	8789,00	7647,00	<u>87,01</u>
	(i) Pallavan Transport Corporation	2760.00	2849.00	103, 22	3599.00	3175.00	88,22
	(ii) Cheran Transport Corporation	884.00	<b>7</b> 70.00	87.10	1134,00	918.00	80.95
	(iii) Cholan Roadways Corporation	860.00	862.00	100, 23	928.00	829.00	89.33
	(iv) Pandiyan Roadways Corporation	1121.00	1045.00	93.22	1377.00	1165.00	84.60
	(v) Kattabomaman Transport	,			**		00.04
	Corporation	814.00	794,00	97.54	928.00	825.00	88.90
	(vi) Anna Transport Corporation	371,00	339.00	91. 37	<b>4</b> 52, 00	393.00	86.95
(	vii) Thanthai Periyar Transport	302.00	334.00	110,60	371.00	342.00	92.16
	Corporation	5276.00	4078.00	77. 29	5802.00	4408.00	75.97
3.	Uttar Pradesh SRTC	0210,00	401000				
<b>4.</b>	West Bengal	644.41	1148.36	178,20	1071, 00	1384.00	129.23
	(i) Calcutta State Transport Corporation	64.55	93.02	144, 11	76.66	113,39	147.91
	(ii) Durgapur SRTC	284.00	378.00	133. 10	287.00	385.00	134, 18
	(iii) North Bengal SRTC	462.00	738.00	159.74	502.00	754.00	150.20
,	(iv) Calcutta Tramway Company	702.00	100,00	200.			
<u>ill 8</u>	States_						<b>55.1</b>
5.	Assam SRTC	627.61	470, 87	75, 03	620.00	478.00	77.10
6.	Himachal Pradesh SRTC	692.39	633,50	91.49	807.20	749.56	92.80
7.	Jammu and Kashmir RTC	621.26	600,66	96.68	664,00	561.00	84.49
3.	Manipur SRTC	68.00	58.00	85.29	69.00	64,00	92.7
9.	Meghalaya SRTC	24, 49	27. 13	110.78	65.00	69.00	106.1
0,	Nagaland Transport Undertaking	64.73	72, 19	111.52	68.11	76.15	111.80
1.	Sikkim Nationalised Transport	124.65	99.62	79.92	146, 45	141.86	96.8
2.	Tripura SRTC	41.64	39. 79	95.56	52.50	55.33	105.39
		60734, 68	55251.27	90.97	71232.58	61924.14	86.93

### Revenue and cost per bus/passenger Km. 1976-77

	State Dead Thereses & A	Per bus Km. (Rs.)				n. (Paise)	
	State Road Transport Corporation/ Undertakings	Revenue Cost Col. (2)  as % of Col. (3)			Revenue	Col. (5) 25 % of Col. (6)	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	Andhra Pradesh SRTC	2,07	2.04	101.47	5.79	5.76	100, 62
2.	Bihar SRTC	1.91	2.30	83.04	3.64	4,27	85.25
3.	Gujarat SRTC	2.18	2,23	97,76	5,51	5.58	98.75
4,	Haryana Roadways	1.68	1,62	103.70	N. A.	N.A.	•
5.	Karnetake SRTC	2.07	2.06	100.49	3.56	3.54	100.56
6.	Korala SRTC	1.98	1,99	99.50	5.00	5, 04	99, 21
7.	Madhya Pradesh SRTC	1,54	1.51	101.99	3.02	2.96	102.03
8.	Maharashtra SRTC	2,51	2,43	103, 29	6, 24	6.21	100, 48
9.	Orisen SRTC	1.78	1.81	98,34	3,49	3, 55	98.31
0.	Punjab					•	
	i) Punjab Roadwaya	1.52	1.66	91.57	2.91	3.19	91,22
	ii) Pepsu Road Transport Corporation	1.60	1.60	100.00	2.96	3.14	94, 27
i.	Rejasthen SRTC	1.65	1.65	100.00	4.00	4,00	100,00
2.	Tamil Nadu SRTC	1,60-2,14	1.76-2.12	90, 91-100, 94		3.60-6.10	86.11-101.6
	i) Pallavan Transport Corporation						
	a) Express Services	1.60	1.59	100.63	6,20	6.10	101, 64
	b) Metropolis	<b>#214</b>	212	100, 94	4.76	4,71	101,06
	c) District Services	194 "	200	97.00	5.00	5.20	96.15
	ii) Cheran Transport Corporation	212	204	103, 92	5.00	5.00	-
	iii) Cholan Roadways Corporation	186	164	101.09	-	-	-
	iv) Pandiyan Roadways Corporation	206	196	105.10	4.30	4.08	105, 39
	v) Kattabomman Transport Corporation	177	176	100.57	5.00	5.00	-
	vi) Anna Transport Corporation	181	178	101.69	-	-	
,	vii) Thanthai Periyar Transport Corporati	on 181	205	88.29	3, 10		-
3.		1.82	1.82	100.00	5.32	3.60	86.11
l.	West Bengel	·			<b>0.</b> J <b>2</b>	5, 32	100,00
	i) Calcutta State Transport Corporation	3.01	5.65	53, 27	4.00	7.40	EA EE
	ii) Durgapur SRTC	1.31	2.45	53.47	4.36	7.47	<b>53.</b> 55
	iii) North Bengal SRTC	1.57	2.76	56.88	4.30	8.00	<b>54.</b> 50
	iv) Calcutta Tramway Company	3.80	6.87	55.31		5.52	77.90
	Will Garage		••••	00.01	12.00	23, 00	52, 17
_	Hill States						
j.	Assum SRTC	2.20	2.13	103.29	N.A.	4.26	-
) <b>.</b>	Himschal Pradesh SRTC	2.12	2.62	80, 92	4.70	5.80	81.03
•	Jammu & Kashmir RTC	1,25	1.36	91.91	N. A.	N.A.	-
).	Manipur SRTC	1.71	2.99	<b>57.00</b>	6.00	14,50	41.96
}. `	Meghalay- SRTC	N. A.	N.A.	-	6.00	6,20	96.77
).	Nagaland Trasport Undertaking	N.A.	N.A.	-	N. A.	N.A.	-
•	Sikkim Nationalised Transport	3, 25	2.31	140.69	13.00	12.00	108.33
<b>:</b> .	Tripura SRTC	2.10	3.07	68.40	6.00	9.00	66.67

Source: Subsidiary Point No. 64

## Cost of personnel per bus Km. (paise)

S.No States	1974-75	_1 <u>975</u> -75
_1		4
1. Andhra Pradesh	45.34	49.45
2. Bihar	63.25	69, 59
3. Gujarat	52.64	57.12
4. Haryana	<b>36.</b> ,00	37.30
5. Karnateka	<b>57.</b> 45	60.25
6. Kerala	85.40	79.40
7. Madhya Pradesh	35.82	N.A.
3. Mahareshtra	67.15	65.81
9. Orissa	33.21*	55.60
10. Funjab		
(i) Punjab Roadways (ii) Pepsu R.T.C.	36.70 34.34	36.50 37.15
11. Rajasthan	34,00	38.00
12. Tamil Nedu		-
(i) Pallaven Transport Corporation (ii) Cheren Transport Croporation (iii) Cholan Readways Corporation (iv) Pandiyan Readways Corporation (v) Kattatomman Transport Corporation (vi) Anna Transport Corporation (vii) Thanthal Periyar Transport Corporation	63.70 38.00 43.20 44.00 37.90 29.66	63.50 38.00 N.A. N.A. N.A.
13. Uttar Pradesh	N. A.	55.00
14. West Bengal		
(i) Calcutta S.T.C. (ii) North Bengal S.T.C.	212.96 100.30	206 <b>.</b> 32 99 <b>.</b> 71
Hill States		
15. Assem	80.37	89.26
16. Himachal Fradesh	51,00	N. A.
17. Jammu & Kashmir	N.A.	N.A.
18. Menipur	116.50	N.A.
19. Meghaleya	N. A.	N. A.
20. Nagaland	N.A.	102.50
21. Sikkim	N.A.	N. A.
22. Tripura	81.69	<u> </u>

^{*} Relates to the year 1973-74

Source: Report of the Association of State Road Transport Undertakings, 1975-75/Profit and Loss Accounts

## Bus Kilometres per litre (dissel)

S.No. States	1974-75	1975-75
1 2		
1. Andhra Fradesh	4.00	4.02
2. Bihar	4.19	N . A .
3. Gujarat	4. 22	4.35
4. Haryana	<b>3.</b> 90	<b>3.8</b> 0
5. Karnataka	3.89	3.92
6. Kerala	4, 00	N.A.
7. Madhya Fradesh	4, 11	$N_{\bullet} \Lambda_{\bullet}$
8. Maharashtra	<b>3.</b> 89	3.87
9. Orissa	4.10*	4.30
10. Funjab		ē .
(i) Tunjab Rondways	3.60	3.60
(ii) repsu R. T. C.	3, 61	<b>3.5</b> 5
11. Rajasthan	4.51	4.40
12. Tamil Nadu		
1) Pallavan Transport Corporation	3.60	3.61
ii) Cheran Transport Corporation	3.72	3.70
iii) Cholan Roadways Corporation	3,67	N. A.
iv) Pandiyan Roadways Corporation	3.70	N. A.
v) Kattatomman Transport Corporation	3.92	N - A -
vi) Anna Transport Corporation	3.80	N.A.
vii) Thanthai Feriyar Transport Corporation		N.A.
13.Uttar Pradesh	N.A.	4.70
14. West Bengal		
i) Calcutta S.T.C.	2.60	N. A.
ii) North Bengel S.T.C.	4.00	3.90
Hill States		
15. Assem	N.A.	N.A.
16. Himachal Pradesh	2.95	N. A.
17. Jammu & Kashmir	N. A.	Ν. Δ.
10. Manipur	3.10	N. A.
19. Meghalaya	N.A.	N. A.
20. Nagaland	3.50	N.A.
21. Sikkim	N. A.	N.A.
22Tripura_ * Relates to the year 1973-74	3_59	<u>N-A-</u>
Source: Report of the Association of State Road Transport Undertakings, 1975-76.		

#### Appendix I.23(1)

D.O. letter No.15/18/78-IGC dated 18th August, 1978 from Shri P.B. Menon, Member, Company Law Board to Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary.

. . . . . .

Kindly refer to your Confidential D.O. letter No. 7FC-9(7)-Res/77 dated the 4th August, 1978, addressed to Shri P. Krishnamurti, Secretary, Department of Company Affairs, about placing of audit report before the Annual General Meeting within six months of the close of the accounting year in respect of Government companies.

Many Government companies have not been strictly complying with the requirements of section 210 read with section 166 of the Comapnies Act, 1956 regarding placing of the balance-sheet and profit and loss account along with the auditors' report before the annual general meeting within six months of the closing of the financial year. A Note regarding timely finalisation of audit of accounts of Government companies and a list containing names of Government companies, both Central and State, which have failed to hold the annual general meeting during the year 1977 and during the current year upto 31st July, 1978, within six months of closing of the financial year are enclosed herewith, for your information.

A note regarding timely finalisation of audit of accounts in respect of Government companies.

In pursuance of Section 619 (2) of the Companies Act, 1956, the appointment of Auditors in respect of Government companies are made by the Contral Government on the advice of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India. At the time of making such appointments, all Government companies are invariably instructed to make the account books of the company for the financial year available to the Auditors for audit, immediately, on the receipt of this Board's appointment order, so that the Auditors can complete their audit and submit the copies of their audit report to the Comptroller and Auditor General of India in terms of Section 619(4) of the Companies Act, 1956, so as to enable him to offer his comments upon, or to supplement the audit report well in time to permit the holding of the Annual General Meeting of the Company within 6 months of the closing of the accounting year in order to comply with the provisions of Section 166 read with Section 210 of the Companies Act, 1956.

- 2. Moreover, in order to ensure expeditious appointment of Auditors for the next financial year, the companies are also asked to initiate action soon after the completion of audit and certification of accounts by the Auditors for the preceding year, by immediately making a copy of such certified accounts available direct to the Office of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India without waiting for Accountant General or the Member of the Audit Board concerned to complete his audit.
- 3. However, inspite of these instructions, it has been observed that a large number of Government companies delay the holdings of the Annual General Meeting within six months of the close of the accounting year mainly because of non-finalisation of the audit report and sometime because of delay in appointment of Auditors. However, the delay in the appointment of Auditors takes place only in such cases where the Comptroller & Auditor General of India does not recommend the names of the

Auditors to the Company Law Board on the ground that the previous year's account had not been audited and the auditor's report not submitted to him for his remarks under Section 619(4) of the Act.

- Thus, during the preceding calendar year, t.o., 1977 and the current year i.e. from 1.1.78 to 31st July, 1978,*
  191 and *46 Government companies respectively were not in a position to hold their Annual General Meetings within the stipulated time of six months and requested the Government for granting them extension of time for holding their Annual General Meeting. In all such cases, required extensions were granted by the Government where applications under Section 166(1), second proviso of the Act, were received so that they were able to finalise the accounts to place before the Annual General Meeting within a period of nine months of the closing of the accounting year.
- 5. This type of extension is, however, granted with instructions that for future year steps should be taken by the company to ensure that the programme to the finalisation of their accounts and their audit is so arranged that the Annual General Meetings are held within the normal time prescribed by Section 166 read with Section 210(3)(b) of the Companies Act, 1956, While sanctioning such extension of time, the companies are also asked to take adequate measures so as to avoid default in complying with the provisions of the Act and the contingency of the application of the penal provisions thereof.
- steps taken by the Government by instructing the Government companies to comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, in respect of placing the books of accounts before the Annual General Meeting within six months of the closing of the accounting year, it has been noticed that many of them have failed to place their audit report before the Annual General Meeting within the stipulated period. In fact, it is for the companies and the administrative Ministries to organise

  *Statewise statement is annexed at Annexures WAW & WBW

accounting system in such a way that the accounts are completed within the period as provided for in Section 210(3) of the Companies Act, 1956. Thus, the only course for placing the Audit Report before the Annual General Meeting within 6 months of the closing of the accounting year, is to reduce the time at all levels, that as soon as the Auditors submit their report, Accountant General be requested to take up supplementary audit—under Section 619 (4) immediately, and that the Comptroller and Auditor General of India be requested forthwith to recommend the names of the Auditors to the Company Law Board for appoint-ment of Auditors for the succeeding year. Thus, the timely placing of audit report before the Annual General Meeting much depends on the initiative of the company.

#### ANNEXURE - A

#### STATEWISE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 1977

#### CENTRAL GOVERNMENT COMPANIES

- 1. Bolani Ores Limited.
- 2. The Jute Corporation of India Limited
- 3. Hindustan Salts Limited.
- 4. Sambhar Salts Limited.
- 5. Bharat Refineries Limited.
- 6. General Insurance Corporation of India Ltd.
  - 7. New India Assurance Company Limited.
  - 8. Industrial Credit Company Limited.
  - 9. National Insurance Company Limited.
- 10. National Textile Corporation (U.P.) Limited.
- 11. Oriential Fire & General Insurance Co. Ltd.
- 12. Triveni Structurals Limited,
- 13. Central Coalfields Limited.
- 14. Haffkine Bio-Pharmaceuticals Corpn. Ltd.
- 15. Balmer Lawrie & Co. Ltd.
- 16. Bridge and Roof Company (India) Ltd.
- 17. National Textile Corpn. (T.N. and Pondicherry) Ltd.
- 18. Mogul Line Limited. .
- 19. The Indo-Burma Petroleum Co. Ltd.
- 20. Modern Bakeries (India) Ltd.
- 21. Heavy Engineering Corporation Ltd.
- 22. Bongaigaon Refinery and Petro-Chemicals Ltd.
- 23. Indian Motion Pictures Export Corpn. Ltd.
- 24. National Textile Corporation Ltd. (Delhi).
- 25. Indian Drugs and Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
- 26. Indian Tourism Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 27. Pyrites Phosphates and Chemicals Ltd.
- 28. Hindustan Machine Tools Ltd.
- 29. Tannery and Footwear Corpn. of India Ltd.
- 30. Indian Iron & Steel Co. Ltd.
- 31. National Textile Corpn. (Gujarat) Ltd.
- 32. Central Road Transport Corpn. Ltd.
- 33. Hindustan Zinc Limited.
- 34. National Textile Corpn. ( W.B ., Assam, Bihar & Orissa)Ltd.
- 35. Richardson and Cruddas (1972) Ltd.

- 36. National Projects Construction Corpn. Ltd.
- 37. National Textile Corpn. (Maharashtra North) Ltd.
- 38. Mining and Allied Machinery Corpn. Ltd.
- 39. Film Finance Corpn. Ltd.
- 40. Wagon India Ltd.
- 41. National Textile Corpn. (South Maharashtra) Ltd.
- 42. Scooters India Limited.
- 43. Rehabilitation Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 44. Central Inland Water Transport Corpn. Ltd.
- 45. Delhi State Industrial Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 46. Coburn Properties Limited.
- 47. Western Coal Fields Ltd.
- 48. Banana and Fruit Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 49. National Seeds Corpn. Ltd.
- 50. States Farms Corpn. of India Limited.
- 51. Central Fisheries Corpn. Ltd.
- 52. Cochin Refineries Limited.

#### STATE GOVERNMENT CUMPANY

#### (INDHRA PRADESH)

- 53. 1. F.P. State Police Housing Corpn. Ltd.
- 54. 2. A.P. Fisheries Corpn. Ltd.
- 55. 3. The Hyderabad Allwyn Metal Works Ltd.
- 56. 4. A.P. State Trading Corpn. Ltd.
- 57. 5. A.P. Steels Limited.
- 59. 6. A.P. State Textile Dev. Corporation Ltd.

#### ( ASSAM )

- 59. 1. Assam Petro-Chemicals Ltd.
- 60. 2. Assam Gas Co. Ltd.
- 61. 3. Assam Industrial Development Corporation Limited.
- 62. 4. Assam Spun Silk Mills Ltd.

## (BIHZR)

- 63. 1. Bihar State Industrial Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 64. 2. Bihar State Dev. Cor. Ltd.
- 65. 3. Bihar State Textbook Publishing Corpn. Ltd.
- 66. 4. Bihar State Credit & Investment Corpn. Ltd.
- 67. 5. Bihar State Small Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 68. 6. Bihar State Mineral Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 69. 7. Bihar State Handloom Handicrafts D ev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 70. 8. Bihar State Export Corpn. Ltd.
- 71. 9. Bihar Mica Syndicate Limited.

#### ( GWARAT )

- 72. 1. Gujarat Small Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 73. 2. Gujarat Agro Marine Products Ltd.
- 74. 3. Gujarat Agno Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 75. 4. Steel Corpn. of Gujarat Ltd.
- 76. 5. Gujarat Industrial Investment Corpn. Ltd.
- 77. 6. Gujarat Nylons Limited
- 78. 7, Gujarat Tyres Limited.
- 79. 8. Cement Corpn. of Gujarat Ltd.
- 80. 9. Gujarat Sheep and Wool Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 81. 10. Gujarat State Machine Tools Corpn. Ltd.
- 82. 11. Gujarat State Seeds Corpn. Ltd.
- 83. 12. Gujarat State Construction Corpn. Ltd.

#### ( HARYANA )

- 84. 1. Haryana State Industrial Dev. Corporation Ltd.
- 85. 2. Haryana Breweries Limited.
- 86. 3. Haryana Tanneries Limited.
- 87, 4. Haryana Land Reclamation and Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 88. 5. Haryana Mineral Limited.
- 89. 6. Haryana State Small Industries and Export Corpn. Ltd.

### ( HIMACHAL PRADESH ).

- 90. 1. H.P. Horticultural Produce Marketing and Processing Corporation Limited.
- 91. 2. The H.P. State Small Industries & Export Corpn. Ltd.
- 92. 3. Himalaya Fertilizers Limited.
- 93. 4. H.P. Mineral & Industrial Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 94. 5. Himachal Wool Processors Ltd.

- 95. 6. H.P. Agro Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 96. 7. Nahan Foundry Limited.
- 97. 3. Himachal Forsted Mills Limited.

#### ( JIMMU & KISHMIR )

98. 1. Jammu & Kashmir Tourism Dev. Corpn. Ltd.

#### (KARNATAKA.)

- 99. 1. Karnataka Fisheries Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 100. 2. Karnataka Small Industries Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 101. 3. Karnataka Dairy Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 102. 4. Mysora Lac and Paint Works Ltd.
- 103. 5. Karnataka Film Industries Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 104. 6. Karnataka State Construction Corpn. Ltd.
- 105. 7. Karnetaka State Industrial & Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 106. 8. Karnataka State Forest Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 107. 9. Mysore Tobacco Co. Ltd.
- 108. 10. Karnataka State Handicrafts Dav. Corpn. Ltd.
- 109. 11. Karnataka State Agro Seeds Ltd.
- 110. 12. Mysore Sugar Co. Ltd.
- 111. 13. Karnataka Handloom Dev. Corporation Ltd.
- 112. 14. Karnataka Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes Dev. Corporation Limited.
- 113. 15. Visvesvaraya Iron and Steel Co. Ltd.

#### ( KERILI. )

- 114. 1. Kerala State Coir Corporation Ltd.
- 115. 2. Kerala Agro Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 116. 3. Kerala State Dev. Cor. for Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribas Ltd.
- 117. 4. Kerala Agro Machineries Coron, Ltd.
- Ile. 5. Meat Products of India Ltd.
- 119. 6. Travancore Sugars and Chemicals Ltd.
- 1.20. 7. Kerala State Construction Corpn. Ltd.
- 121. 8. Kerala State Civil Supplies Corpn. Ltd.
- 122. 9. Kerala Handloom Finance and Trading Corpn. Ltd.
- 123. 10. Kerala Fisheries Corpn. Ltd.
- 124. 11. Kerala Shipping Corpn. Ltd.
- 125. 12. State Farming Corpn. of Kerala Ltd.

#### MAHARASHTRA

- 126. 1. Forest Development Corporation of Maharashtra Ltd.
- 127. 2. Maharashtra State Textile Corporation Ltd.
- 128. 3. M.A. F.C.O. Ltd.
- 129. 4. Maharashtra Tourism Development Corporation Ltd.
- 130. 5. The Pratap Spinning, Weaving & Manufacturing Co. Ltd.
- . 131. 6. Development Corporation of Vidarbha Ltd.
  - 132. 7. Vidharbha Quality Seeds Ltd.
  - 133. 8. City and Industrial Development Corpn. of Maharashtra Ltd.
  - 134. 9. Maharashtra State Police Housing and Welfara Corporation Ltd.

#### MADHYA PRADESH

- 135. 1. M.F. State Commodities Trading Corporation Ltd.
- 136. 2. M.P. State Textile Corporation Ltd.

#### ORISSA

137. 1. Industrial Development Corporation of Orissa Ltd.

#### BACKUR

- 138. 1. Punjab Tanneries Ltd.
- 139. 2. Punjab Footwears Ltd.
- 140. 3. Punjab Film and News Corporation Ltd.
- 141. 4. Punjab Transmissions (P) Ltd.
- 142. 5. Punjab Scooters Ltd.
- 143. 6. Punjab Spinning and Weaving Mills Ltd.
- 144. 7. Punjab State Irons Ltd.
- 145. 8. The Punjab Agro Industries Ltd.
- 146. 9. The Land Development and Seeds Corporation Ltd.
- 147. 10. Punjab Breweries Limited.

#### RAJASTHAN

- 148. 1. Rajasthan State Agro Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 149. 2. Rajasthan State Industrial & Mineral Development Corporation Ltd.
- 150. 3. Rajasthan State Hotels Corporation Ltd.
- 151. 4. Rajasthan State Dairy Development Corporation Ltd.
- 152. 5. Rajasthan Small Industries Corporation Ltd.

#### TRIPURA.

153. 1. Tripura Small Industries Corporation Ltd.

#### UTTAR PRADESH

- 154. 1. U.P.State Agro Industries Corporation Ltd.
- 155. 2. U.P. Investments Limited.
- 156. 3. U.P. State Food & Essential Corporation Ltd.
- 157. 4. U.P. State Tourism Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 158. 5. U.P. Rajkiya Nirman Nigam Ltd.
- 159. 6. Varanasi Mandal Vikas Nigam Ltd.
- 160. 7. U.P. State Mineral Development Corporation Ltd.
- 161. 8. U.P. Exports Limited.
- 162. 9. U.P. Small Industries Corporation Ltd.
- 163. 10. U.P. State Handloom and Power Loom Finance and Development Corporation Ltd.
- 164. 11. Leather Industries Development Corporation of U.P. Ltd.
- 165. 12. The Pradeshiya Industrial and Investment Corporation of U.P. Ltd.
- 166. 13. U.P. State Spinning Mills Co. Ltd.
- 167. 14. Indian Turpentine and Rosin Co. Ltd.
- 168. 15. Turpentine Subsidiary Industries Ltd.
- 169. 16. Prayag Chitrakoot Krishi Avom Godan Vikas Nigam Ltd.

- 170. 17. U.P. Poorvan Chal Vikas Nigam Ltd.
- 171. 18. U.P. State Textile Corporation Ltd.
- 172. 19. U.P. State Spinning Mills Co.(1) Ltd. (No.1)
- 173. 20. Kumaon Mandal Vikas Nigam Ltd.

#### TAMIL NADU

- 174. 1. Tamil Nadu Fisheries Corporation Ltd.
- 175. 2. Tamil Nadu Textile Corporation Ltd.
- 176. 3. Poompohar Shipping Corporation Ltd.
- 177. 4. Tamil Nadu Small Industries Corporation Ltd.
- 178. 5. Tamil Nadu Small Industries Devl. Corpn. Ltd.
- 179. 6. Temil Nadu Ceramics Ltd.
- 180. 5. Tamil Naou Agro Industries Ltd.
- 181. 8. T.N. Dairy Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 182. 9. Tamil Nadu Theatre Corpn. Ltd.
- 183. 10. State Industries Promotion Corpn. of Tamil Nadu Ltd.
- 184. 11. T.N. Transport Dev. Fin. Corporation Ltd.
- 185. 12. T.N. Poultry Development Corpn. Ltd.

#### WEST BENGAL

- 186. 1. The Electromedical and Allicd Industries Ltd.
- 187. 2. West Bengal Tourism Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 188. 3. State Fisheries Development Corpn. Ltd.
- 189. 4. Dürgapur Chemicals Limited.
- 190. 5. The W.B. Small Industries Corpn. Ltd.
- 191. 6. W.B. State Minor Irrigation Corpn. Ltd.

# ANNEXURE-B

#### STATEWISE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 1.1.1978 TO 31.7.1978

#### CENTRAL GOVERNMENT COMPANIES

- 1. Jute Corporation of India Limited.
- 2. The Cotton Corporation of India Limited.
- 3. Samachar Bharati Limited.
- 4. National Film Development Corporation Limited.
- 5. Hindustan Salts Limited.
- 6. Sambhar Salts Limited.
- 7. Bharat Coking Coal Limited.
- 8. Indo-Nippon Precision Bearing Limited.
- 9. Caltex Oil Refining (India) Limited.
- 10. Trade Fair Authority of India Limited.
- 11. New India Assurance Company Limited.
- 12. Cochin Refinerics Limited.
- 13. ISSCO Stanton Pipe and Foundry Co. Limited.
- 14. Industrial Credit Company Limited.
- 15. The Oriental Fire and General Insurance Co. Limited.
- 16.Export Credit and Guarantee Corporation Limited.
- 17. National Textile Corporation (M.P.) Limited.

# STATE GOVERNMENT COMPANIES

## ANDHRA PRADESH

- 18. 1. A.P. Scooters Limited.
- 19. 2. A.P. Heavy Machinery and Engineering Ltd. BIHAR
- 20. 1. Bihar State Sugar Corporation Limited. GUJARAT
- 21. 1. Gujarat Small Industries Corporation Ltd.
- 22. 2. Gujarat Agro Marine Products Ltd. 23.
- 3. Gujarat Agro Oil Enterprises Limited.

# HARYANA

1. Haryana Agra Industries Corporation Limited. 24.

# MAHARASHTRA

- 25. 1. Forest Development Corp: of Maharashtra Ltd.
- 25. 2. Maharashtra Fisheries Development Corp: Ltd.
- 27. The Gordwana Paints and Minerals Limited.

## MADHYA PRADESH

- 28. 1. M.P. State Diary Development Corp: Ltd.
- 29. 2. M.P. State Forest Dev. Corporation Ltd. PUNJAB
- 30. 1. Punjab Export Corporation Ltd.
- 31. 2. Panjab State Small Industries Corpn. Ltd.

  UTTAR FRADESH
- 32. 1. Handloom Incentive Dev. Project (Bijnor) Ltd.
- 33. 2. U.P. Madhya Kshetriya Vikas Nigam Ltd.
- 34. 3. U.P. State Leather Nev. Marketing Corp. Ltd. WEST BENGAL
- 35. 1. The Electro-Medical and Allied Industries Ltd.
- 36. 2. Westing House Saxby Farmer Ltd.
- 37. 3. West Bengal Sugar Industries Dev. Corpn. Ltd.
- 33. 4. Durgapur Chemicals Ltd.
- 39. 5. Jessop and Co. Ltd.

#### TAMIL NADU

- 40. 1. T.N. Tea Plantation Ltd.
- 41. 2. T.N. Sugar Corporation Limited.
- 42. 3. T.N. Salts Corporation Limited.

#### KARNATAKA

- 43. 1. The Hutti Gold Mines Co. Ltd.
- 44. 2. Mysore Tobacco Co. Ltd.
- 45. 3. Visvesvarya Iron and Steel Ltd.
- 46. 4. Karnataka Film Industry Corporation Limited.

# Appendix I.23(ii)

Statement showing Statewise number of companies which did not hold their Annual General Body Meeting within 6 months of the closing of Accounts - Information supplied by various A.Gs.

Sr. No.	State .	No. of Companies
	-	
1.	Andhra Fradesh	27
2.	Assam	21
3•	Bihar	23
4.	Gujarat	13
5•	Haryana	14
6.	Himachal Pradesh	11
7•	Jammu & Kashmir	9
8.	Karnataka	19
9•	Kerala	N.A.
10.	Madhya Pradesh	13
11.	Maharashtra	23
12.	Manipur	N.A.
13.	Neghalaya	3
14.	Nagaland	N.A.
15.	Orissa	47
16.	Punjab	25
17.	Rajasthan	8
18.	Sikkim	n.l.
19.	Tamil Nadu	32
20.	Tripura	$N_{\bullet}\Lambda_{\bullet}$
1.	Uttar Pradesh	$\mathbf{N}_{\bullet}\mathbf{A}_{\bullet}$
22.	West Bengal	17

#### Investment of State Governments in State Public Undertakings at the beginning of 1976-77

(Rs. Crores)

Sl.			inancial				tional -				thers E I			All Cat	egries	I <u>+II</u> +[	<u> </u>
No.	State	No. of Enter- prises	Share Capital	Loan	Total	No. of Enter- prises	Share Capital	Loan	Total	No. of Enter- prises	Share Capital		Total	No. of Enter- rrises	Shere Coputal		Total
0_	1	2	3	_4_	_5	_6	_7	_8_	_ 2	10	11	_ 12_	_ 13	_ 14	15	_1 <u>6</u>	_17
1.	Anchra Pradesh	2	15	-	15	6	12	12	24	20	27	17	44	28	54	29	83
2.	Accem	2	2	5	7	7	7	-	7	15	12	5	17	24	21	10	31
3.	Bihar	2	5	7	12	6	. 2	5	7	16	11	10	21	24	18	22	40
4.	Gujerat	2	5	6	11	5	1	13	14	12	9	5	14	19	15	24	39
5.	Haryana	2	4	1	5	3	1	-	1	8	11	4	15	13	16	5	21
6.	Himachal Pradesh	2	2	-	2	3	1	-	1	3	3	-	3	8	6	-	6
7.	Jammu & Kasbrir	2	1	-	1	3	1	-	1	5	20	2	22	10	22	2	24
8.	Karnataka	2	12	1	13	6	2	_	2	21	43	19	62	29	57	20	77
9.	Kerala	2	6	-	6	10	7	2	9	39	31	18	49	51	44	20	64
10.	Madhya Pradesh	2	3	_	3	1	1	1	2	9.	9	4	13	12	13	5	18
11.	Meharasitra	2	14	3	17	12	19	7	26	13	33	5	38	27	66	15	81
12.	Manipur	-	-	-	-	1	1	_	1	1	1	-	1	2	2	-	2
13.	Meghalaya	1	1	-	1	1	-	-	-	3	6	1	7	5	7	1	В
14.	Nagaland	1	4	-	4	-	-	-	-	2	2	1	3	3	6	1	7
15.	Oriesa	2	2	-	2	3	22	9	31	14	14	2	16	19	38	11	49
16.	Punjab	2	8	-	8	6	6	1	7	14	17	6	23	22	31	7	38
17.	Rajasthan	2 .	5	1	6	2	2	-	2	11	9	2	11	15	16	3	19
18.	Sikkin	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	negl.	1	1	3	negl.	1	1
	Taril Wadu	2	5	2	7	6	19	19	38	27	16	7	23	35	40	28	68
20.	Tripura	-	-	-	-	5	1	negl.	. 1	1	1	negl.	1	4	2	negl.	2
21.	Utter Predesh	2	6	1	7	31	20	8	28	17	59	26	85	50	85	35 1	20
22.	West Bengal	2	4		4	6	1	_3_	_ 4	21	52	64	96	29	37	67 1	04
	TOTAL	36	104	27	131	121	126	80	2×6	275	366	199	565	32 5	96	o6 9	902

Sources (i) Compiled from information relating to Subsidiary Points 52,53 and 66 received from State Governments.

⁽ii) Belance sheets of the enterprises.

⁽iii) Finance Accounts.

#### Investment of State Governments in State Public Undertakings at the beginning of 1976-77

(Rs. Crores)

Sl.			inancial				tional -				thers E I			All Cat	egries	I <u>+II</u> +[	<u> </u>
No.	State	No. of Enter- prises	Share Capital	Loan	Total	No. of Enter- prises	Share Capital	Loan	Total	No. of Enter- prises	Share Capital		Total	No. of Enter- rrises	Shere Coputal		Total
0_	1	2	3	_4_	_5	_6	_7	_8_	_ 2	10	11	_ 12_	_ 13	_ 14	15	_1 <u>6</u>	_17
1.	Anchra Pradesh	2	15	-	15	6	12	12	24	20	27	17	44	28	54	29	83
2.	Accem	2	2	5	7	7	7	-	7	15	12	5	17	24	21	10	31
3.	Bihar	2	5	7	12	6	. 2	5	7	16	11	10	21	24	18	22	40
4.	Gujerat	2	5	6	11	5	1	13	14	12	9	5	14	19	15	24	39
5.	Haryana	2	4	1	5	3	1	-	1	8	11	4	15	13	16	5	21
6.	Himachal Pradesh	2	2	-	2	3	1	-	1	3	3	-	3	8	6	-	6
7.	Jammu & Kasbrir	2	1	-	1	3	1	-	1	5	20	2	22	10	22	2	24
8.	Karnataka	2	12	1	13	6	2	_	2	21	43	19	62	29	57	20	77
9.	Kerala	2	6	-	6	10	7	2	9	39	31	18	49	51	44	20	64
10.	Madhya Pradesh	2	3	_	3	1	1	1	2	9.	9	4	13	12	13	5	18
11.	Meharasitra	2	14	3	17	12	19	7	26	13	33	5	38	27	66	15	81
12.	Manipur	-	-	-	-	1	1	_	1	1	1	-	1	2	2	-	2
13.	Meghalaya	1	1	-	1	1	-	-	-	3	6	1	7	5	7	1	В
14.	Nagaland	1	4	-	4	-	-	-	-	2	2	1	3	3	6	1	7
15.	Oriesa	2	2	-	2	3	22	9	31	14	14	2	16	19	38	11	49
16.	Punjab	2	8	-	8	6	6	1	7	14	17	6	23	22	31	7	38
17.	Rajasthan	2 .	5	1	6	2	2	-	2	11	9	2	11	15	16	3	19
18.	Sikkin	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	negl.	1	1	3	negl.	1	1
	Taril Wadu	2	5	2	7	6	19	19	38	27	16	7	23	35	40	28	68
20.	Tripura	-	-	-	-	5	1	negl.	. 1	1	1	negl.	1	4	2	negl.	2
21.	Utter Predesh	2	6	1	7	31	20	8	28	17	59	26	85	50	85	35 1	20
22.	West Bengal	2	4		4	6	1	_3_	_ 4	21	52	64	96	29	37	67 1	04
	TOTAL	36	104	27	131	121	126	80	2×6	275	366	199	565	32 5	96	o6 9	902

Sources (i) Compiled from information relating to Subsidiary Points 52,53 and 66 received from State Governments.

⁽ii) Belance sheets of the enterprises.

⁽iii) Finance Accounts.

# Returns of State Governments on investments in State Public enterprises in 1975-76 and 1976-77

(In lakhs of Rupees) Net profits after tax & interest States Net profits after tax Financial Promotional Others Total on State Loans Total Financial Promotional Others 1975-76 1. Andhra Pradesh 333 92 370 -11 252 531 92 69 2. Assam -11 -5 27 46 73 Bihar 11 128 11 -10 -158 - 157 59 68 4. Gujarat 80 -7 15 88 122 102 63 287 5. Haryana 35 3 -26 12 42 3 91 136 6. Himachal Pradesh 15 -24 16 -5 -32 -21 -6 -33 7. Jammu & Kashmir 14 -22 -8 14 -22 8. Karnataka -1 103 35 69 38 -1 206 243 9. Kerala 42 -6 42 -356 -319 7 -248 - 199 10. Madhya Pradesh 18 -29 2 -25 18 83 76 11. Maharashtra 137 -216 115 36 154 -149 141 136 12. Manipur 13. Meghalaya 2 -23 -21 2 -23 -21 14. Nagaland 5 -71 -66 -62 -57 15. Orissa 12 75 42 12 142 -45 -27 127 16. Punjab 30 -7 -111 -88 30 -2 21 49 17. Rajasthan 34 -38 20 16 34 -37 45 42 18. Sikkim 1 1 1 1 19. Tamil Nadu 80 -248 92 -101 93 84 20. Tripura -6 -6 -6 -6 21. Uttar Pradesh 65 37 -564 72 87 -505 -346 22. West Bengal 24 -14 -588 -578 28 -11 -183 -166 Total 737 -484 <u>-1529</u> <u>-1276</u> 851 132 111 1094 1976-77 1. Andhra Pradesh 112 -70 -285 -243 112 19 -93 38 2. Assam 11 147 158 39 193 232 3. Bihar 13 58 11 82 13 150 122 285 4. Gujarat 95 -1 138 44 145 5. Haryana 46 65 97 53 213 262 Himachal Pradesh 14 -8 -23 -17 16 -22 -12 7. Jammu & Kashmir 16 5 21 16 22 8. Karnataka **52** 44 100 53 158 216 9. Kerala 44 -12 -385 -353 44 -266 -216 10. Madhya Pradesh 24 -32 92 84 24 -28 138 134 11. Maharashtra 193 -87 378 479 207 -21 436 622 12. Manipur 13. Meghalaya 6 -30 -24 6 -30 -24 14. Nagaland -42 -42 -31 -31 15. Orissa 15 131 170 316 15 199 179 393 16. Punjab 39 -10 -132-103 39 -6 -63 -29 17. Rajasthan 23 21 29 73 23 22 50 95 18. Sikkim 6 6 19. Tamil Nadu 91 -80 <del>-9</del>8 -87 108 56 58 222 20. Tripura -7 -7 -7 -7 21. Uttar Pradesh* 62 57 -320 -201 115 -242 -62 22. West Bengal* 35 -10 -170 -145 39 -5 246 280 Total 891 -509 -50 332 1017 496 1144 2657

Source: (i) Complied from information relating to Subsidiary Points 52, 53 and 66 received from State Governments.

⁽ii) Balance sheets of the Enterprises (iii) Finance Accounts.

Rate of return on State Share Capital and Loans to State public enterprises
in 1975-76 and 1976-77 (%)

Sl.		1975-7	- <b>- · · -</b> 5			1975-7		
No. States	Finan-	Promo- tional		Tctal	Finan-	Promo- tional	Others	Total
1. Andhra Pradesh	7.9	3.5	13.6	9.1	7.3	0,8	2.1	0.5
2. Assam	2.7	-	2.9	2.6	3.4	-	12-1	7.7
3. Bihar	27.5	3.7	<b>3.</b> 8	4.1	8.2	3 <b>, 7</b>	5•5	7• 2
4. Gujerat	11.0	8.3	6.2	8.5	10.9	0.6	6.6	8.3
5. Haryana	10.4	1.9	7.0	7.3	11.8	-1.8	15•7	12.9
6. Himachal Pradesh	9.4	-4.4	13-1	-4.0	7.7	-4.1	-7.2	-1.8
7. Jammu & Kashmir	12.7	-	-2.0	-0.6	12.8	-	3.9	1.5
8. Karnataka	3.3	-0.,5	3.9	<b>3.</b> 7	4•2	1.7	2.8	<b>5.</b> 0
9. Kerala	8.0	2.4	-6.4	-4.2	7.9	-11.5	<b>-</b> 6.,0	-3.9
10. Madhya Fradesh	6_8	-12.5	6.7	4-4	7.2	-13-5	10.6	7.3
il.Maharashtra	11.8	-3.2	4.2	€ 203	12.5	~102	1250	8.7
12.Manipur	-	<del>`</del>	<b></b>	1	• A, • V			
13. Meghalaya	2.0	***	3-3	-2.6	5.9	-	-4-2	-3.0
14.Nagaland	า๋ ๑ 5	-	-20.1	-8.8	-	-	-9.0	-4.6
15.0rissa	6.8	2.5	-1.7	2•7	6.8	6.5	10.9	8.0
16.Punjab	4.8	-0.5	1.2	1.7	3.8	-0.8	-2.7	-0.7
17. Rajasthan	8.9	-21.4	4.8	2.8	4.6	12-3	<b>3.</b> 8	4.8
18.Sikkim	-	-	2.1	2.1	-	-	10.9	10.9
19. Tamil Nadu	17.4	-3.0	8.2	1-7	15.6	1.5	4.0	<b>3.</b> 8
20. Tripura	_	-16.2	-	-6.7	-	-17.5	-	-17-1
21.Uttar Pradesh	10.2	4.5	-7,6	-3.7	7.9	4.9	-3.0	-0.6
22. West Bengal	7.9	-3•1	-2.1	-1.8	8.6	-1.3	2•7	2.8

Source: (i) Compiled from information relating to Subsidiary Points
52,53 and 66 received from State Government.

(ii) Balance Sheets of Enterprises.

(iii) Finance Accounts.

# Rete of return on State Government share capital to State public enterprises in 1975-76 and 1976-77 (%)

<u>s1.</u>		 1	975-76				1976	 ⊱77	
No.	States	Finan-	Promo-	Others	Total	Finan-	1976 Promo-	Others	Total
		CTEL	tional			CTET _	tional_		
1.	Andhra Fradesh	7.9	- 1.2	13.3	8.4	7.3	<b>-</b> 5•6 ⋅	-10.7	- 4.5
2.	Assam	0.9		- 0.9	-0.3	1.7	-	11.7	7.2
3∙	Bihar	27.5	-1.8	-21 • i	-11.6	8.2	10.2	1-1	4.7
4.	Gujarat	15•1	-7.4	2.6	7.3	15.8	-1.0	5.2	8.9
5•	Haryana	11.9	-	-2.7	0.9	13.0	-	5•4	6.4
6.	Himachal Fradesh	10.1	-6.7	<b>-</b> 14,3	-5.1	7.0	-6.3	-7.8	-2.8
7•	Jammu & Kashmir	12.7	-	-2.1	-0.7	12.8	-	4.0	1.5
8.	Karnataka	3.2	-0,6	2-1	2.2	4.3	1.9	1-1	1.8
9•	Kerala	8.0	-3.2	-15.1	-10.4	7.9	-5.0	-13.8	<b>-9.</b> 8
10.	Madhya Fradesh	6.8	-23.2	0,3	-0.9	7•5	-24-1	10.5	6.4
11.	Maharashtra	13.2	-21.1	4-1	0.7	13.7	-8.0	11.8	8.5
12.	Manipur		<del></del>	~ <del></del>	N.A.				
13.	Meghalaya.	2.0		-3.5		5.9	-	-4.6	-3.2
14.	Nagaland	1.5	-	-34.1	-12.0	-	-	-19.2	-7.5
15.	Orissa	6, 8	3.6	-3.2	1.1	6.8	6.∪	11.6	8.2
16-	Punjab	4.9	-1.8		-3.6		-1.9	-7.9	-3.4
17.	Rajasthan	8.9	-25.9		1.3	4.6		2•9	4.4
18.	Sikkim		-	3.0	3.0	_	-	18.2	18.2
19.	Tamil Nadu	21.0	-15.0		-6.2	17.2	-4•4	-12.1	-2.8
20.	Tripura	_	-21.4	_	-11.2	-		-1201	
		11.0	· ·	-13-9			-22.6 3.7		-21.9
	West Bengal	7.9			-18.1			-4-1	-2.5
					-10-1	8.8	-8 _e .8	-5.6	-4.1

Source:- (i) Compiled from information relating to Subsidiary points 52, 53 and 66.

(ii) Balance Sheets of Enterprises.

(iii) Finance Accounts.

Appendix I.24(v)

State Governments' Investments in Co-operative Institutions
at the end of 1978-79

			(ms. lakha)
<u>STATES</u>	Share <u>Capital</u>	Loans	<u>Total</u>
1. Andhra Pradesh	10026	2348	12374
2. Assam	1302	423	1725
3. Bihar	3030	2256	5286
4. Gujarat	51.8 <b>7</b>	1780	6967
5. Haryana	3613	75	<b>36</b> 88
6. Himachal Pradesh	303	125	428
7. Jammu & Kashmir	255	348	603
8. Karnataka	9473	2486	11959
9. Kerala	2729	1607	4336
10. Madhya Pradesh	6577	3287	9864
11. Maharashtra	15263	4702	19965
12. Manipur	83	121	204
13. Meghalaya	164	<b>3</b> 5	199 ·
14. Nagaland	102	51	153
15. Orissa	3956	761	4717
16. Punjab	2880	1265 [.]	4145
17. Rajasthan	3702	1072	4774
18. Sikkim	9	11	20
19. Tamil Nadu	6626	3953	10579
20. Tripura	122	148	270
21. Uttar Pradesh	10308	2795	13103
22. West Bengal	3516	2057	5573
<u>Total</u>	89226	<u>31706</u>	120932

(Compiled from Finance Accounts and State Budget documents)

Rate of return on State Governments' investment in share capital of Cooperative Institutions in in 1976-77

				(Rs. Lakus)
	States	Share Capital upto the end of 1976-77		
1.	Andhra Pradesh	7330	8	0.11
2.	Assam	878	1	0.11
3.	Bihar	25 <b>65</b>	20	0.78
4.	Gujarat	3854	145	<b>3.</b> 76
5.	Haryana	2545	58	2.28
6.	Himachal Pradesh	198	ı	0.51
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	215	-	
8.	Karnataka	7728	<b>3</b> 8	0.49
9.	Kerala	2029	18	0.89
10.	Madhya Pradesh	4956	96	1,94
11.	Maharashtra	12182	в6	0.71
12.	Manipur	50	NA	-
13.	Meghalaya	122	NA	
14.	Nagaland	55	NA	-
15.	Orissa	2693	3	0.11
16.	Punjab	3377	34	1.01
17.	Rajasthan	2836		-
18.	Sikkim	3	-	ent
19.	Tamil Nadu	6240	33	0.53
20.	Tripura	75	NA	<b>-</b>
21.	Uttar Pradesh	8636	262	3.03
22.	West Bengal	2274	9	0.40
	Total:	<u>70536</u>	812	1.15

[@] Total excludes Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim and Tripura.

⁽Compiled from Finance Accounts and State Budget documents)

Appendix I.24(vii)

# Interest Receipts on State Governments loans to Cooperative Institutions.

				(Rs. lakha)_
	States	1975-76 closing balance	1976-77 interest receipt _(Actual)	Rate of return
1.	Andhra Prodesh	2176	215	9.93
2.	assam	320	NA	
3.	Bihar	3377	28	0.83
4.	Gujarat	<b>9</b> 96	8 <b>3</b>	8.33
5.	Haryana	43	5	11.63
6.	Himachal Pradesh	84	6	7.14
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	333	-	-
8.	Karnataka	1838	37	2,03.
9.	Kerala	1487	27	1.82
10.	Madhya Pradesh	3125	56	1.79
11.	Maharashtra	5070	640	12.62
12.	Manipur	. 35	NA	
13.	Meghalaya	16		
14.	Nagaland	34	NA	,
15.	Orissa	731	58	7.93
16.	Punjab	657	5	0.76
17.	Rajasthan	936	14	1.50
18.	Sikkim	12	Neg	
19.	Tamil Nadu	1937	185	9.55
20.	Tripura	76	NA	
21.	Uttar Pradesh	2095	168	8.02
22.	West Bengal	913	10	1.10
	Total	<u>25798</u>	<u>1538</u>	<u>5.96</u>

^{*} Excluding Assam, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Sikkim, and Tripura.

(Compiled from Finance Accounts and State Budget documents)

# Appendix I.24(viii)

Statewise share capital invested in Public enterprises and cooperatives, and returns assumed thereon in the period 1979-84.

<b></b>						(R. Laki	ns)
S1.	States		Enterpri			peratives	
No.		Share	Return @ achieved	5% to be in	Share	Return @ achieved	5% to be
		ss on	1983-84		Capteat	1983-84	1979-84
	<b>-</b>	31.3.79					
•							- 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01
1.	Andhra Pradesh	12639	631	1892	10025	501	150,1
2.	Masam	3110	156	467	1302	65	195
3.	Bihar	3611	181	542	3030	152	454
4.	Gujarat	3717	186	557	5187	259	775
5.	Haryana ·	2381	119	<b>3</b> 55	<b>3</b> 613	181	541
6.	Himachal Pradesh	1196	60	180	303	`15	45
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	2020 <del>**</del>	101	302	255	13	37
8.	Karnataka	7964	<b>3</b> 98	1195	9473	475	1425
9.	Kerala	7021	351	1052	2729	136	407
10.	Madhya Pradesh	2004	100	300	6 <del>5</del> 77	329	985
11.	Maharashtra	7865	393	1177	15263	763	2289
12.	Manipur	347	17	48	83	4	10
13.	Meghalaya	888	44	130	164	8	21
14.	Nagaland	624	32	93	102	. 5	12
15.	Orissa	4956	248	743	3956	198	593
16.	Punjab	5271	264	790	2880	144	431
17,	Rajasthan	2560	128	382	3702	185	555
18.	Sikkim	71	4	8	9	@	<b>@</b>
19.	Tamil Nadu	5155**	258	766	6626	330	990
20.	Tripura	291	15	45	122	6	16
21.	Uttar Pradesh	14348	672	2015	10308	51 <b>%</b>	1542
22.	West Bengal	6707	335	1005	3516	176	528
	TOTAL	94746	<u>4693</u>	14044	89226	4457	13352

[@] Negligible.

Source: (i) Information received from State Government.
(ii)Finance Accounts.

(iii)State Budget Documents

^{**} Investment as at the end of 1976-77.

#### Comparative statement of Emoluments of Peon in Centre and States

(In Rupees)

Centre/States			ents at M		le	% increase	Difference of Col. 8			
	Basic Pay	1, 1, 1972 D, A./ I. R. etc.		Basic Pay	1.1.1977 D.A./ I.R. etc.	Total Emolu- ments	(Col. 7 over Col. 4)	in each S From Centre	From all- States' Average	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
All India consumer price index number for indust- rial workers (1960 = 100)		<u>195</u>			306*		<u>56, 9</u>			
A. Centre	70	93	163	196	98.60	294, 6			<u> </u>	
B. States		•								
All States' average			141			231	63. 8	• .		
1. Andhra Pradesh	62	77	139	165	82.50	247.5	0 78.1	- 2.6	+ 14.3	
2. Assam	80	60	140	190	42	232	65.7	- 15.0	+ 1.9	
3. Bihar	70	79	149	155	24	179	20,1	- 60.6	- 43,7	
4. Gujarat	90	62	152	196	79.20	275.2	0 81.0	+ 0.3	+ 17.2	
5. Haryana	70	71	141	70	165.80	235.8	67.2	- 13.5	+ 3.4	
6. Himachal Pradesh	70	89	159	70	163.70	233.7	0 47.0	- 33.7	- 16.8	
7. Jammu & Kashmir	65	65	130	170	30	200	53.9	- 26.8	- 9.9	
8. Karnataka	65	85	150	250	-	250	66.7	- 14.0	+ 2.9	
9. Kerala	70	82	152	196	106	302	98.7	+ 18.0	+ 34.9	
0. Madhya Pradesh	55	81	136	125	91.50	216.	50 59.2	- 21.5	- 4.0	
1. Maharashtra	75	81	156	75	172	247	58.3	- 22.4	- 5.1	
2. "Manipur	80	60	140	190	20	210	50.0	- 30.7		
3. Meghalaya	80	60	140	190	60	250	78.6	- 2.1		
4. Nagaland	90	40	130	190	15	205	57.7	- 23.0		
5. Orissa	47	83	130	200	49	249	91.5	+ 10.8		
6. Punjab	70	71	141	70	165.80	235.		- 13.5		
7. Rajasthan	60	81	141	240	-	240	70, 2	- 10.5	+ 6.	
8. Sikkim				175	20	195		00 4		
19. Tamil Nadu	130	15	145	130	85	215	48.3	- 32.4		
20. Tripura	65	71	136	170	31	201	47.8	- 32.9		
21. Ut+ar Pradesh	55	66	121	165	73.40	238.		+ 16.3		
22. West Bengal	135	-	135	135	87	222	<b>64. 4</b>	- 16.3	+ 0.	

^{*} This refers to the absolute level of index in December 1976. Central Government employees emoluments as on 1.1.1977 are based on A.D.A. sanctioned at the 12 monthly average index level of 304 which was reached in February, 1975

D.A./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief.

Comparative statement of Emoluments of Lower Division Clerk in Centre and States

									(In Rupees)
Centre/States	Emolume	ents at M	inimum of	the Scale	111				
	Basic	1,1,197	2 Total	Basic	1.1.1977 D.A./	Total	% increase	Difference of	Col. 8 in each State
	Pay	I.R. eto.	Emolu- mente	Pay	I.R. etc.	Emoluments	(Col. 7 over Col. 4)	(*/-) From Centre	From All States
J	2.	- 3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10
All India consumer price Index No. for industrial workers (1960 = 100)		<u>195</u>			<u>306</u> *		<u>56.9</u>		
A. Centre	110	131	241	260.00	130.00	390,00	61.8		
B. States All States average			<u>206</u>			<u>323</u> .	55.3		
1. Andhra Pradesh	90	104	194	250	125	375	93.3	+31.5	+38.0
2. Assam	150	70	220	275	57.80	332.80	51.3	-10.5	-4.0
3. Bihar	135	106	241	220	24	244	1.2	-60.6	-54.1
4. Gujarat	13C	63	193	260	104.30	364.30	88.8	+27.0	+33.5
5. Haryana	110	98	208	110	227.60	337.60	62.3	+0.5	<b>+7.</b> 0
6. Himachal Pradesh	110	123	233	110	227.60	337.60	44.9	-16.9	-10.4
7. Jammu & Kashmir	75	65	140	220	35.20	255,20	82.3	+20.5	<b>+27.0</b>
8. Karnataka	90	85	175	300	-	300	71.4	<b>+9.</b> 6	<b>+16.1</b>
9. Kerala	100	96	195	285	152	437	123.0	+61.2	+67.7
10. Madhya Pradesh	90	81	171	159	121.40	290.40	69.8	<b>*8.</b> 0	+14.5
ll. Maharashtra	115	113	228	115	221,60	336.60	47.6	-14.2	-7.7
12. Manipur	150	70	220	240	20	260	18.2	-43.6	-37.1
lo. Keghalaya	150	70	220	275	82.50	35 <b>7.50</b>	62,5	+0.7	+7.2
l4. Nagaland	165	50	215	275	15	290	34.9	-26.9	-20.4
15. Orissa	90	99	189	255	62	317	67.7	<b>+5.9</b>	+12.4
16, Punjab	110	98	208	110	227.50	337.50	62.3	+0.5	+7.0
17. Rajasthan	110	113	223	355	-	355	59.2	-2.6	<b>+3.9</b>
18. Sikkim				240	30	270			
19. Tamil Nadu	210	15	225	210	104.60	314,60	<b>39.</b> 8	-22.0	-15.5
20. Tripura	150	122	272	240	35.20	275.20	1.2	-60.6	-54.1
21. Uttar Pradesh	100	66	166	280	118.80	398.80	140.2	<b>•</b> 78 <b>.</b> 4	◆84 <b>.</b> 9
22. West Bengal	230	-	230	230	88	318	38.3	-23.5	-17.0

^{*} This refers to the absolute level of index in December 1976. Central Government employees empluments as on 1,1,1977 are based on A.D.A. sanctioned at the 12 monthly average index level of 304 which was reached in February, 1975.

O.A./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief

Comparative statement of emoluments of Upper Division Clerk in Centre and States

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<del></del>	Emolum	ente et	minimum	of the sca	ماد		(In rupees) Difference	
	<del></del>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.1.197		minimum	1.1.1977	(10		in each Sta	
	Centre/States	Basic	1D.A./		Basic	D.A./	Total	% increase		From Al
	,	Pay	I.R.	Emolu		I.R.	Emolu-	(Col. 7	Centre	States
			etc.	ments		etc.	ments	over Col.	. 4)	Average
	11	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Ind	India consumer price ex No. for industrial rkers (1960 = 100)		<u>195</u>			306*		56.9		
A.	Centre	<u>130</u>	<u>131</u>	<u>261</u>	330	148	478	83.1		
В.	States		<u>.</u>							
	All States' Averages			292			406	39.0		
1.	Andhra Pradesh	140	104	244	310	148	458	87.7	+4.6	+48.7
2.	Assam	300	80	380	425	42.50	467.50	23.0	-60.1	-16.0
3.	Bihar	200	120	320	284	24	308	-3.7	-86.8	-42.7
4.	. Gujarat	200	74	274	425	126	551	101.1	+18.0	+62.1
5.	, Haryana	140	98	238	140	240.50	380.50	59.9	-23.2	+20.9
6.	Himachal Pradesh	160	147	307	Post does	not exist				
7.	, Jammu & Kashmir	100	85	185	220	35.20	255.20	38.0	-45,1	- 1.0
8.	, Karnataka	160	122	282	Not avail	able				
9.	, Kerala	140	111	251	410	162	572	127.9	+44.8	+88.9
10.	. Madhya Pradesh	115	113	228	205	139.50	344.50	51.1	-32,0	+12.1
11.	. Maharashtra	150	137	287	150	248.60	398.60	38.9	-44.2	- 0.1
12	. Manipur	300	80	380	335	20	355	-6.6	-89.7	-45.6
13.	. Meghalaya	300	80	380	425	63.75	488.75	28.6	-54,5	-10.4
14.	. Nagaland	330	60	390	425	-	425	9.0	-74.1	-30.0
15	. Orissa	145	117	262	Post does	s not exist	;			
16	. Punjab	110	98	208	Post does	s not exist	:			
17	. Rajasthan	150	137	287	385	-	385	34. 2	-48.9	- 4.8
18	. Sikkim				270	40	310			
19	. Tamil Nadu	300	30	330	250	105	355	7.6	-75.5	-31,4
20	. Tripura	225	146	371	325	42	367	-1.1	-84.2	-40.1
21	. Uttar Pradesh	120	86	206	350	126	476	131.1	+48.0	+92.1
22	. West Bengal	330	-	330	330	88	418	26.7	-56 <b>.4</b>	-12.3

^{*} This refers to the absolute level of index in December 1976. Central Government employees emoluments as on 1.1.1977 are based on A.D.A. sanctioned at the 12 monthly average index level of 304 which was reached in February, 1975.

D.A./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief.

#### Comparative statement of Empluments of Constable in Centre and States

(In rupeos)

							(In rupeos)			
Centra/States		Emc	oluments at Mini	mum of the	scale		<u>,</u>		co of Col. (8)	
		1972			1, 1, 1977		Increase		Stato (+/-)	
	Basic Pay	Daha/ I.Ra	Totel Emoluments	Basic Pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total Emoluments	( Col. 7 over Col. 4 )	From Contro	From All State Average	
	-	otc.			etc.				_	
1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	5.	10.	
li india Consumer Price Index No. for ndustrial workers (1960=100)		<u>195</u>			306		<u>56.9</u>			
. Centre*	75	93	168	210	105	315	<u>87.5</u>	• .		
. Statos									······································	
li States averages			<u>166</u>			<u>271</u>	<u>63.3</u>			
. Andhra Pradesh	70	77	147	180	90	270	63,7	-3.8	+20_4	
A Resc.a	90	ęο	15 ⁰	205	43, 10	248. 10	65.4	-22.1	· <del>+2</del> 1	
, Bijnar	[.] 95	<b>7</b> 9	174	<b>2</b> 05	24	229	31.6	-55-9	-3147	
. Gujarat	100	62	162	200	80.30	260.30	73.0	-14-5	<del>+9</del> • 7	
. Heryana	125	98	223	125	234	359	61.0	-26.5	-2.3	
, Himechal Pradech	125	123	246	125	252,50	377.50	<b>52,</b> 2	-35.3	-11.1	
Jammu & Kashmir	80	81	161	210	33,60	243.60	51.3	-36, 2	-12.0	
. Kernetake	63	71	151	300	_	300	98.7	+11-2	435,4	
, Kerala	90	62	162	210	112	322	98.8	+11.3	+35.5	
. Madhya Pwadesh	65	81	146	135	94.70	229.70	57.3	-30, 2	-6.0	
Naharos   Iro	30	85	176	90	184.70	274.70	56.1	-31.4	-7.2	
, Manipur	90	60	150	205	20	225	50.0	-37.5	-13.3	
. Maghalaya	90	60	150	205	61.50	266.50	77.7	-9.8	И4.4	
, Nagaland	100	40	140	200	15	215	53.6	<b>-33</b> ,9	-9.7	
, Crissa	70	83	153	240	58	298	94.8	+7+3	+31.5	
, Punjab	125	98	223	125	234	359	61.0	-26.5	-2.3	
Rajesthen	70	81		250	-	250	65.6	-21.9	+2.3	
Sikkim				200	30	230	,	_		
Tamil Nadu	150	15	165	150	93.60	243.60	47•6	-39.9	-15.7	
Tripura	80	71	151	205	33.20	238, 20	57.0	-29.7	-5.5	
Utter Predesh	75	66	141	185	80.60	265.60	88 _e 4	+0.9	+25.1	
. West Bengal	150		160	160	87	247	54.4	-33-1	~6.9	
, west denight	100	-	TOU	100	01	241	3464	-0001		

^{**} This refers to the absolute level of index in December, 1976. Sentral Government employees em

Refers to emoluments in Union Territories.
 D.A./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief.

#### Comparative Statement of Empluments of Head Constable in Centre and States

Centre/State		Emolumer	ts et "Moimum	of the sc	alo		% Increase	n ruposs) Differenc	on of Col. (8)
- •		1, 1972			1.1.19	77	Col. 7 over	<u>in pach S</u>	Stato_(-/-)
	Boado	Dains/	Total	Besic	Data	Total	Col. 4	From	From Pil
	Pay	I.R. etc.	Emolumunis	Pay	I.R.	Emoluments		Contro	Statu's Evarage
1,	2.	3.	4	5.	Б.	7		2.	10.
All India Consumer Price Index N industrial workers (1960=100)	lo. for	<u>195</u>			306	•	56.9		
A. Centre*	100	104	204	360	130	<b>3</b> 90	91-2		
3- States		_ <del></del> -		·				<del></del>	
11 Status avoragos			<u>207</u>			<u>317</u>	<u>53, 1</u>		
t. Andheo Predosh	90	104	194	250	1 25	375	93.3	<b>+2</b> •1	+40.2
2. Assar	125	70	195	240	50, 40	290.40	48.9	-42-3	<b>-4.</b> 2
J. Bihar	110	106	<b>2</b> 16	220	24	244	13.0	-78.2	<b>-40.1</b>
a. Ingernt	125	63	188	260	104-30	364.30	93.6	+2+6	+40.7
5- Hugy tha	150	122	27?	150	274	424	55,9	<b>-</b> 35 <b>.</b> 3	<b>+2</b> •8
S. Himechal Prodosh	100	147	297	150	293	443	49 • 2	-42.0	<b>-</b> 3•9
7. Jammu & Kashmir	113	112	222	270	41.60	311.60	40 • 4	-50.8	-12.7
8. Kornotaka	90	83	175	340	-	340	94.3	+3,1	+41+2
7. Kursis	100	96	19-	240	128	368	87-8	-3,4	+34.7
O. Madhya Pradosh	75	61	156	139	96	235	50,6	-40 <b>.</b> 6	-2.5
1. Mehrzashtye	115	443	?15	115	221.60	33€.60	47.6	-43.6	-5.5
2. Penigue	122	<b>7</b> C	155	240	20	<b>2</b> €0	33 <b>.3</b>	-57.9	<b>-</b> 19 <b>.</b> β
13x Marinhiny.	125	<b>7</b> a	1 5	249	72	312	6ს•0	-31.2	<b>+6</b> •9
4 _e the condi	140	43	168	243	15	255	41.7	-49.5	-11-4
IS. Oriser	90	99	109	255	62	317	67.7	-23.5	<del>+</del> 14•6
16. Punjrb	150	172	272	150	273	423	55,5	-35.7	+2-4
17. Anjosthon	90	81	<b>1</b> 71	, 200	-	200	63.7	<b>-27-</b> 5	+19 _• 6
18. Sikkim				<b>21</b> J	30	240			
19. Tamil Nedu	210	15	225	219	104.60	314.60	39.8	-51.4	<b>-13.3</b>
20. Tripura	113	98	<b>2</b> 00	22?	33, 20	253, 20	21.7	-69.5	-31.4
21. Uttor Prodush	90	66	164	273	36	<b>2</b> 06	74.4	-16.8	+21+3
22. Woet Bangol	210	-	210	210	87	297	41.4	-49.0	<b>-11.7</b>

^{**} This refers to the absolute level of index in December, 1070. Sentral Covernment employees encluments as on 1.1.1977 are based on 6.0.6. sanctioned at the 12 monthly everyge index level of 304 which was ratched in February, 1975.

Refers to empluments in Union Territorios.
 D.4./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief

Appendix I.25(vi)

Comparative statement of Empluments of Primery School Teachers in Centre and States

(In rupees) * Centre/States Empluments at Minimum in the scale Difference of Col. (8) <u>1 1 10 72</u> 1,1,1977 Descripti in each State (+/-) Basic. Total 2:sic (Col. 7 over From All Daring Total From Contro Daisa/ Pay I.R. Emolumenta Fay I.R. Emclumonta Col. 47 Statos! Avorage ntc. 5, All Toris consumer Price Industrial workers 306 (1960=100)<u> 195</u> <u>56,9</u> 155 320 49,4 A. Centre* <u> 155</u> <u>330</u> <u> 140</u> <u>470</u> L. Staic 197 All States avarages 313 58.9 104 200 96 175 87.50 262,50 31.2 1. Andhra Pradesh -10,2 -27.7 125 70 195 290,40 40.9 -10.0 2. ks-um 240 50, 40 -0.5 115 3. 3.hrg 106 221 205 24 229 3.6 -45.8 -55.3 135 63 190 4. Gujarat 290 115.00 405,80 105.0 +55.6 +46.1 5. Haryana 125 90 223 125 234 61,0 359 +11-6 +2.1 125 123 6. Himschal Pradosh 240 150 273 423 70.6 +11.7 +21.2 7. Jammu & Kashmir 80 81 161 220 35.20 235.20 50.5 49.1 -0.4 C. Karnatako 100 35 340 105 63.0 340 +34,4 +24.9 9. Korala 95 96 191 205 152 437 120.0 +79.4 +69.9 90 1 % Madhya Pasdosh 61 171 169 121.40 297,40 69.8 +20.4 +10.9 11. Mahagushtra 115 113 220 100 108,30 200,30 26.5 -22.9 -32.4 70 12. Monipur 125 20 260 195 33.3 240 -16.1 -25.6 13. Maghalaya 125 70 195 247 72 312 60.0 +10.5 +1.1 140 40 100 15 14. Negaland 240 263 46.1 -3.3 -12.8 15. Orissa 55 83 130 330 139.1 265 65 +09.7 +00.2 16. Punjab 125 93 223 150 273 423 09.7 +40.3 +30.0 113 223 **3**55 17. Rajasthan 110 355 59.2 49.0 +0.3 -18. Sikkim 240 30 270 :**93**, 60 243,60 8.3 -41.1 -50.6 225 19. Tamil Nadu 210 15 153 20. Tripura 125 98 223 240 35, 29 275, 20 23.4 -26,0 -35,5 21. Uttar Predosh 80 66 146 195 34.20 279.20 91.2 +41.0 +32.3 206 22. Wost Bengal 175 175 230 56 63.4 +14.0 +4,5

^{**} This refors to the absolute level of index in December, 1976. Central Government employees emuluments as on 1.1.1977 are based on A.D.A. sanctioned at the 12 monthly average index level of 304 which was reached in February, 1975.

^{*} Refers to amoluments in Union Territories.

D.A./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief.

Comparative statement of emoluments of Trained Graduate Teacher in Centre and States

									(In Rupees)
Centre/States	Emolum	ents at minim	rum of the scale	•			g increase		ce of Col.(8) State (+/-)
•		1.1.1972		1.1.1977					From
	Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total Emoluments	Basic pay	D. A. / I. R.	Total emolumenta	Col.7 over Col.4	Centre	All States Average
	2.		4.	5	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.
Il India consumer Index for Industrial workers (1960=100)		195			<b>*</b> 306		56.9		
A. Centre •	220	186	406	440.00	162.80	602.80	48.5		
B. States									
All States averages			<u>315</u>			445	41.3		
1. Andhra Pradesh	150	128	278	320	1/8	468	68.4	+19.9	+27.1
2. Assam	200	80	280	325	40	365	30.4	-18.1	-10.9
3. Biher	220	148	<b>3</b> 68	387	24	411	11.7	-35.8	-29.6
4. Gujarat	225	85	310	440	130.40	570.40	84.0	+35.5	•42.7
5. Haryana	220	146	<b>3</b> 56	220	309	52 <del>9</del>	44.5	- 4.0	+ 3.2
6. Himachal Pradesh	220	176	396	205	273	478	20.7	-27.8	-20.6
7. Jemmu & Kashmir	150	136	286	475	45	520	81.8	+33.3	+40.5
8. Karnataka	175	122	227	500	_	500	68.4	<b>•19.9</b>	+27.1
9. Kerala	140	111	251	405	160	565	125.1	<b>•76.6</b>	+83.8
10. Madhya Pradesh	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	246	152	408			
11. Maharashtra	165	137	302	160	248.60	408.60	35 <b>•3</b>	-13.2	- 6.0
12. Manipur	200	8^	280	360	20	380	35.7	-12.8	- 5.6
13. Meghalaya	200	80	<b>2</b> 80	260	<b>7</b> 8	338	20.7	-27.8	-20.6
14. Nagalend	230	50	280	350	-	<b>3</b> 50	25.0	-23.5	-16.3
15. Orissa	185	141	325	<b>400</b>	73.50	473.50	45.3	- 3.2	+ 4.0
16. Punjab	220	146	355	220	307.40	527.40	44.1	- 4.4	+ 2.8
17. Rajesthan	225	161	<b>3</b> 85	450	-	450	16.6	-31.9	-24.7
18. Sikkim				400	40	440		-	
19. Tamil Nadu	300	<b>3</b> 0	330	300	120	420	27.3	-21.2	-14.0
20. Tripura	175	122	297	325	42	367	23.6	-24.9	-17 <b>.7</b>
21. Uttar Pradesh	150	103	253	300	125	426	68.4	<b>•19.9</b>	+27 • 1
22. West Bengal	375	-	375	300	83	38:3	3.5	-45.0	-37.8

This refers to the absolute level of index in December, 1976. Central Government employees emplo

Refers to emcluments in Union Territories.

#### Comparative statement of emoluments of Revenue Inspector in Centre and States

	Emalum	ents of minima	m of the scale				B	7:00		
Contre/States	·	1.1.1972			1.1.1977		increrse	Difference of Col.(3) .tr cach State (4/-) 1:00 From All State		
	Pasic pey	D.A./ I.R.	Total encluments	Ensic poy	D.// I.R.	Total emoluments	Col.7 over Co.4	lion Centre	Avor ge	
1	2.	3.	4.	5	5.	7	8.	9	10.	
Ill India consumer price index for industrial workers		405			206					
(1950=100)		195			306**		<u>56.9</u>			
. Centre	110	131	241	290.00	<del>-</del> 144.40	434.40	30.3			
. <u>States</u>	<del></del>		<del></del>			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
11 States averages			<u>232</u>			<u>348</u>	50.0			
. Anchre Pradesh	90	194	194	250	125	<b>3</b> 75	93.3	+13.0	+43.3	
- Lasam	-Does no	ot exist-		255	53.60	378.50				
Fiber	160	120	280	295	24	320	14.3	-65.0	-35.7	
• Gujarat	130	63	193	250	194.30	364.30	88.88	+ 8.5	+38.8	
- Haryana	Not	available	Does not e	xist						
. Himechal Prodosh	140	123	263	160	293	453	72.2	- 8.1	+22.2	
. Jammu & Kashmir	150	135	286	280	42.40	322.40	12.7	-57.6	-37.3	
. Karnataka	90	85	175	300	-	300	71.4	- 8.9	+21.4	
. Kerala	130	111	241	275	147	422	75.1	- 5.2	+25•1	
0. Madhya Predesh	100	81	181	195	136.40	331.40	83.1	+ 2.8	+33.1	
1. Mahereshtra	115	113	228	115	221.60	336.60	47.6	-32.7	- 2.4	
2. Menimur	Dees r	et exist		335	20	355		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
5. Megholaya 🕽				•	not exist					
. Nageland	155	50	205	255	15	270	31.7	-48.6	-18.3	
o Orissa	90	99	130	255	62	317	67.7	-12.6	+17.7	
Punjab	140	93	236	140	247.47	380.40	59.8	-20.5	+ 9.8	
. Rajasthan	130	113	243	<b>3</b> 8 <b>5</b>	_	385	58.4	-21.9	+ 8.4	
• Fikkim	-	-		310	40	350				
. Tamil Nedu	210	15	225	210	104.60	314.60	39.8	-40.5	-10.2	
• Tripura	175	122	297	325	42	367	23.6	-56.7	-26.4	
. Uttar Pradesh	120	86	205		does not exist	•	->••	J041	E-70 *F	
. West Pengal	300	-	320		does not exis					

^{**}This refers to the absolute level of index in December, 1975. Central Government employees emp

[•] Refers to emoluments in Union Territories.

D.A./I.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief

#### Comparative statement of emoluments of Naib Tehsildar/Dy. Tehsildar in Centre and States

						<del></del> -			(In rupces)	
Centre/States	Enolui	rents et minimu 1.1.1^72	um of the scale	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.1.1977		_ \$ increase	Difference of Col.(8) in such State (+/-)		
	Dasic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total Emoluments	Besic poy	D.A./ I.R.	Total emoluments	Col.7 over Co.4	From Jentre	From All States Arc mee	
1.	2.		4.	5	6.	7.	8	9	10.	
All. India consumer Trice Irdex for Industrial workers (1960=100)		<u>195</u>		<u>#305</u>			<u>56.9</u>			
A. Centres	150	155	<b>3</b> 05	425.00	157.20	582.20	90.9			
B. States	<del></del>			<del></del>				<del></del>		
LIL States avorages			<u>349</u>			<u>511</u>	<u>46.4</u>			
1. Andhra Fredesh	250	152	402	430	159.10	589.10	46.5	-44.4	+ 0.1	
2. Annem	D.	ca not exist		Post d	ocs not exist					
3. Biher		<b>-</b> ₹5			-do-					
A. Gujarat	200	74	274	425	126	551	101.1	+10.2	+54.7	
5. Heryana	250	146	396	250	317	567	43.2	-/7.7	- 3.2	
6. Hinnohol Tradesh	225	176	401	225	330	555	33.4	-52.5	- 8.C	
7. Johnu & Koehmir	150	136	235	340	45	<b>3</b> 35	34.6	-56.3	-11.8	
C. Karmataka	225	1/15	371	500	-	602	61.7	-29.2	<ul><li>15.3</li></ul>	
9. Kermin	220	163	383	475	1 ካ6	511	35.4	<b>-57.5</b>	-13.0	
10. Madhyn Fradosh	170	137	307	230	162	442	44.0	-46.9	- 2.4	
11. Mchareahtra	550	151	391	220	295.30	515.30	35.6	-55. <b>3</b>	-10.0	
12. Mention 13. Meghalaya 14. Necessard 15. Orisea	DOES NOT	EXIST		Tost does -do- -do- -do-	-					
16. Tunjab	205	145	371	<b>2</b> 25	309	534	43.9	-47.0	- 2.5	
17. Enjasthan	180	<b>137</b>	317	500	-	510	57.7	-33.2	•11.3	
13. Sikkin				· Fost doc	es not exist			-	-	
19. Temil Medu	350	30	380	350	120	470	23.7	-67.2	-22.7	
20. Tripure	Doca	not exist		Does no	t exist					
21. Uttrr Fradesh	160	103	253	320	125	425	52.0	-23.9	<b>•15.6</b>	
22. West Bengal	Does 1	not exist		Does no	t exist	. –			<del>* * -</del>	

^{*}This refers to the absolute level of index in December, 1975. Control Government employees empl

[•] Refers to encluments in Union Perritories

O.A./I.R. = Jearness Allowance/Interim Relief

#### Comparative statement of Emoluments of Tehsildar at Centre and States

		- T	- Inalum	ents at M	inimun	of the	Roale	Percent-	(Rupee	e of Col. (8)
			1. 1. 19		TILLIAN.	1. 1. 197		age in-		State (+/-)
	Centre/States	Basic	D. A. /		Basi			crease	From	From All
		Pay	LR.	Emolu-	Pay	7 I.R.	Emolu-	(Col. 7	Centre	States
		_	etc.	ments		etc.	ments	over		Average
						<del></del> _		Col. 4)		····
	1	2	3	<u> 4</u>	5	6	7	8	9	10
All	India consumer									
Pri	ce Index for									
Ind	ustrial Workers									
(19	60=100)		<u>195</u>			**306		<u>56. 9</u>		
A,	Centre*	350	186	536	550	203. 50	753, 50	40.6		
В.	States		_					<u>-</u>		
A	ll States averages			414			602	<u>45. 4</u>		
1.	Andhra Pradesh	300	152	452	530	196. 10	726. 10	60.6	+20.0	+15. 2
2.	Assam	300	80	380	475	47.50	522, 50	37. 5	- 3.1	- 7.9
3.	Bihar	290	148	438	Post	does not	exist		*	
4.	Gujarat	350	85	435	650	192,60	842.60	93. 7	+53. 1	+48.3
5.	H aryana	350	146	496	350	349	699	40. 9	+ 0.3	- 4.5
6.	Himachal Pradesh	350	176	526	350	392	742	41, 1	+ 0.5	- 4.3
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	300	161	461	520	45	565	22. 6	-18, 0	-22, 8
8.	Karnataka	300	146	446	750	-	750	68. 2	+27.6	+22, 8
9.	Kerala	310	163	473	495	196	691	46.1	+ 5.5	+ 0.7
10.	Madhya Pradesh	250	161	411	<b>35</b> 0	177	527	28. 2	-12, 4	-17. 2
11.	Maharashtra	300	161	461	300	315	615	33. 4	- 7.2	-12. 0
12,	Manipur	300	80	380	Post	does not	exist			
13.	Meghalaya	300	80	380	Post	does not	exist			
14.	Nagaland X	Dogs	not exis	<b>.</b>	Doot	doog				
15.	Orissa X	Locs I	IOL CALE	<b></b>	525	does not	exist 616			
16.	Punjab	350	146	496	350	349	699	40, 9	+ 0.3	- 4.5
17.	Rajasthan	275	161	436	620	-	620	42. 2	+ 1.6	- 3. 2
18.	Si kkim				Post	does not	exist	-	,	<del>-</del> -
19.	Tamil Nadu	425	30	455	425	120	545	19.8	-20.8	-25. 6
20.	Tripura	125	98	223	240	35. 20	275, 20	23, 4	-17. 2	-22. 0
21.	Uttar Pradesh	225	121	346	400	128	528	52.6	+12.0	+ 7. 2
22.	West Bengal	180	-	180	180	87	267	48. 3	+ 7.7	+ 2.9

^{**}This refers to the absolute level of index in December 1976. Central Government employees emoluments as on 1.1. 1977 are based on A. D. A. sanctioned at the 12th Monthly average index level of 304 which was reached in February, 1975.

^{*}Refers to emoluments in Union Territories.

D. A. /I. R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief

# Comparative statement of emoluments of Deputy Collector in Centre and States

	• E	molument					Percent-		nce of Col. (8) in
•	<del></del>	1.1.1972			1.1.197		age in-	each St	
Centre/States	Pay Pay	D. A. /I. I. R.	Total Emolu-		D, A, / I, R,	Total Emolu-	Creaset	From	From All States Average
Centro, binica	- <del>-</del>	etc.	ments	FAy	etc.	ments	over	Centre	Division with 180
i							Col, 4)	1	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
All India consumer price Index No. for industrial workers			-		**			•	
(1960 = 100)		<u>195</u>			306		<u>56.9</u>	N. A.	
A. Centre .	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA		
B. States							ı		
All States average	÷		539			743	37.9		
1. Andhra Pradesh	500	169	669	900	323	1223	82.8		+44.9
2. Assam		Po	st does i	ot exis	it				
3. Bihar	325	168	493	510	14	524	6.3		-31.6
4. Gujarat	500	76	576	700	207.5	0 907.50	57.6		+19.7
5. Haryana	NA	NA	NA.		s not e				
6. Himachal Pradesh		190	590	400	418	818	38.6		+ 0.7
7. Jammu & Kashmir		178	678	750	45	795	17.3		-20.6
8. Karnataka	400	160	560		vailable	1			
9. Kerala	400	177	577	600	237	837	45.1		+ 7.2
-	300	161	461	425	195	620	34.5		- 3.4
10. Madhya Pradesh		175	585	410		0 768.80			- 6.5
11. Maharashtra	410	113	000	•••		- · ·			
12. Manipur		Po	st does r	ot exis	t				
13. Meghalaya	905	60	445	Post	does no	t exist			
14. Nagaland	385	168	468	525	91	616	31.6		- 6.3
15. Orissa	300		496		does no				
16. Punjab	350	146 D-				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
17. Rajasthan			st does n						
18. Sikkim			st does n			695	14.9		-23.0
19. Tamil Nadu	575	30	605	575	120				-20.6
20. Tripura	325	146	471	500		50 552,50			+15.5
21. Uttar Pradesh	350	121	471	550		50 722.50	•		-16.8
22. West Bengal	475	-	475	485	90	575	21.1		-10.0

^{**} This refers to the absolute level of index in December, 1976. Central Government exployees emoluments as on 1.1.1977 are based on A.D.A. sanctioned at the 12 monthly average index level of 304 which was reached in February, 1975.

D. A. /L.R. = Dearness Allowance/Interim Relief.

Appendix I.26(1)

Statewise overall Percentage Changes of relative Encluments for different Posts, Comparative position of each State vis-a-vis the All State Average Encluments level from 1.1.1972 to 1.1.1977.

States	Pecns	Lower Division Clerks	Upper Division Clerks	Constables	Hoed Constables	Frinary School Teachers	Trained Graduate Teachers	itevenue Inspector	Neib Tehsildar/ Dy. Tehsildar	Tehsilder	Deputy Collector
	(2)	(3)	_ (4)	(5)	_ (e)	_ (7)	(2)	(9)		(11)	<u>(12)</u>
1. Andhra Pradesh	+14-3	+38.0	<b>+48.7</b>	+20.4	+40.2	-27.7	+27.1	+43.3	+ 0.1	+15-2	+44.9
2. Assem	+ 1.9	- 4.0	-16.0	+ 2.1	- 4.2	-10.0	-10.9	•	•	- 7.9	•
3. Bihar	-43.7	~54•1	-42.7	~31.7	<b>-4</b> ⊃•1	~55•3	-29.6	-35.7	•	•	-51.6
4. Gujarat	+17.2	+33 • 5	+62.1	+ 9.7	+40.7	+46.1	+42.7	+38 •8	+54• 7	+48.3	+19•7
5. Haryona	+ 3.4	+ 7.0	+29.9	- 2.3	+ 2.8	+ 2.1	+ 3.2	•	- 3.2	- 4.5	~ •
6. Uinschal Fradesh	-16.8	-1C-4	•	<b>11.1</b>	- 3.9	+11+7	-20.6	+22.2	- 8.0	- 4.3	+ 0.7
7. James & Kashmir	- 9.9	+27.0	- 1.0	-12.0	-12.7	_ C. 4	+ 40.5	-37.3	-11.8	-2 2. 8	-20.6
8. Karnataka	+ 2.9	+16.1	NA.	+35.4	+41-2	+24.9	+27.1	+21.4	+15.3	+22.8	NA.
9. Merala	+34.9	+67.7	+88,9	+35.5	+34.7	+69.9	+83.8	+25.1	-13-0	+ 0.7	+ 7.2
🛂 Kodhya Pradesh	- 4.6	+14-5	+12.1	- 6.0	- 2.5	+10.9	N.	+33.1	- 2.4	-17.2	- 3.4
11. Feberashtra	- 5.5	- 7.7	- 0.1	- 7.2	~ 5.5	-32.4	- 6.0	- 2.4	-10.8	-12.0	- 6.5
2. Manipur	-13.8	-37,1	-45.6	-13.3	-19.∂	-25.6	- 5.6	•	*	•	•
13. Meghalaya	+14.9	+ 7.2	-10.4	+14.4	+ 6.9	+ 1-1	-20.6	•	*	•	•
4. Nogal and	- 6.1	-20.4	-30.0	- 8,7	-11.4	-12.8	-16.3	-18.3	*	•	•
5. Orisse	+27.7	+12-4	•	+31.5	+14.5	+80.2	+ 4.0	+17.7	#	•	-6.3
6. Tunjeb	+ 3,4	+ 7.0	•	- 2.3	+ 2.4	+30.8	+ 2.0	+ 9.8	- 25	- 4.5	•
7. Rajasthan	+ 6.4	+ 3.9	- 4.8	+ 2.3	+10.6	+ 0.3	-24.7	+ 8.4	+11+5	- 3.2	•
8. Tamil Nadu	<del>-</del> 15.5	-i 5• 5	-31.4	-15-7	-13.3	-50, 6	-14.0	-10.2	-22.7	-25. 6	-23.0
9. Tripura	-16.0	-54.1	<b>-40.1</b>	- 5:5	-31.4	-35.4	-17 <b>.7</b>	-26.4	*	-22.0	-20.6
O. Uttar Pradesh	+53 • 2	+84.9	+92.1	+25.1	+21.3	+32.3	+27.1	•	+15.6	+ 7.2	+15-5
1. West Bengal	+ 0.6	-17.0	-12.3	- 0.9	-11.7	+ 4.5	-37.8	*	*	+ 2.9	-16.3

^{*} Post does not exist either in 1972 or in 1977.

Note: - In cases where an identical post did not exist in the Centre comparison has been made with empluments of corresponding posts in Union Territories.

fippendix I_e26(ii)

Statewise overall Percentage Changes of relative Encluments for different Posts, Comparative position of each State vis-n-vis the Central Encluments Level From 1.1.1972 to 1.1.1977.

States	l'eona	Lower Division Clerks	Upper Division Clerks	Constables	Head Constables	Prinary School Teachers	Trained Gradu et e Teachers	Revento Inspector	Naib Tehsildar/ Doputy Tehsildar	Tohsildar
(1)	(5)	_(3)	- 7か	(5)	_ (6)	_ (7)	_ (e)	_ (a)	(0)	(11)
1. Andhra Predesh	~ 2.6	+31.5	+ 4.6	- 3.8	+ 2.1	-18,2	+19.9	+13+0	-44. 4	+20.0
2. Assam	-15.0	-10,5	-60.1	-22.1	-42.3	- 0.5	-18.1	•	•	- 3.1
3. Bihar	-60.6	-60.6	<b>-8</b> 6.8	-55-9	-78.2	-45.8	-36.8	-66.0	•	•
4. Gujarat	+ 0.5	+27.0	+18.0	-14.5	+ 2.6	+55.6	+35.5	+ 8.5	+10.2	+53.1
5. Haryana	-13.5	+ 0.5	-23.2	-26.5	-35.3	+11.6	-4-0	•	<b>-47.7</b>	+ 0.3
6. Himachal Fradesh	-33.7	-16.9	•	-35 <b>.3</b>	-42.0	+21. 2	-27.0	- 8.1	-52•5	+ 0.5
7. Jannu & Kashmir	-26,8	+20,5	-45.1	-36.2	-50.8	+ 9.1	+33.3	-67.6	-56 <b>.3</b>	-18.0
8. Karnateka	-14.0	+ 9.6	na.	+11.2	+ 3-1	+34.4	+19-9	-8. 9	-29.2	+27.6
9. Kerala	+10,0	+61,2	+44.8	+11.3	- 3,4	+79-4	+76.6	- 5.2	<b>-</b> 57 <b>.</b> 5	+ 5.5
B. Radhya Pradach	-21.5	. 8.0	-32.0	-30. 2	-40.6	+20.4	NΔ	+ 28	-46.9	-12.4
1. Mohernshtza	-22.4	-14.2	-44.2	-51-4	-43.6	-22.9	-13.2	-32.7	-55 <b>.3</b>	- 7.2
2. Famipur	-30.7	-43.6	<del>-2</del> 9.7	<del>-</del> 37. 5	-57.9	-16.1	-12.8	•	•	•
13. Kochaleye	- 2.1	+ 0.7	-54.5	<b>-7.</b> 8	-31.2	+10.6	-27 <b>.</b> 8	•	•	•
4. Kegaland	-25, 0	-25.9	-74.1	-33, 9	-49.5	- 3.3	-23.5	-48.6	•	•
5. Orisea	+10.8	+ 5,9	•	+ 7.3	-23.5	+89.7	- 3.2	-12.6	•	•
6. Funjab	-13.5	+ 0.5	•	-2 <b>6.</b> 5	-35.7	+40.3	- 4.4	-20.5	-47.C	+ 0.3
7. Rajasthan	-10.5	- 2.6	-48.9	-21.9	-27.5	+ 9.5	-31.9	-21.9	-33.2	+ 1.6
10. Tapil Nadu	<b>-3</b> 2.4	-22,0	-75.5	-39.9	-51.4	-41.1	-21, 2	-40.5	-67.2	-20.6
19. Tripura	-32.9	-60.6	-84.2	<b>-29.7</b>	-69.5	-26.0	-24.9	-56.7	•	-17.2
20. Utter Predesh	+16.3	+78.4	+48.0	+ 0.9	-16.8	+41.8	+19-9	•	-28.9	+12.0
21. West Bengal	-16.5	-23.5	-56.4	-33.1	_49. B	+14.0	-45.0	•	•	+ 7.7

^{*}Post Does not exists either in 1972 or in 1977.

Note :- In cases where an identical post did not exist in Centre comparison has been made with esoluments of corresponding posts in Union Territories.

Appendix I.27

## Number of employees in various States including employees of Local Bodies and Aided Institutions.

	States	Numbers	
	(1)	. (2)	_
			-
ı.	Andhra Pradesh	584288	
2.	Assam	189449	
3.	Bihar	548297	
4.	Gujarat	423765	
5.	Haryana	167413	
6.	Himachal Pradesh	75230	
7.	'Jammu & Kashmir	173428	
8.	Karmata <u>k</u> a	393502	
9.	Kerala	429442	
10.	Madhya Pradesh	611241	
11.	Maharashtra	<b>7</b> 52047	
12.	Manipur	29593	
13.	Meghalaya	26391	
14.	Nagaland	41950	
15.	Orissa	339267	
16.	Punjab	259785	
17.	Rajasthan	359996	
18.	Sikkim	8495	
19.	Tamil Nadu	739771	
20.	Tripura	36802	
21.	Uttar Pradesh	1206439	
22.	West Bengal	721300	
	All-States	<u>8117991</u>	

Source:- Replies received from State Governments to Commission's letter No. 7 FC 9(2)-Res/77 dated 22.7.78 and information in Subsidiary Point 35.

## Appendix I.28(1)

State : Andhra Pradesh

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment

	(Pio groves)			
Item	State for _s cast	Reassessed estimates	Variation (3-2)	
1.	2.	3,	<u> </u>	
I. <u>Revenue Receipts</u>				
1. Tax Revenues	1852.05	2294.85	(+)442.73	
2. Non-tax Revenues				
A. Interest Receipts				
a) State Electricity Board	110.57	82.85	( <del>-</del> ) 27.72	
b) Road Transport Corporation.	11.94	12.33	(+)0.39	
c) Irrigation	271.95	179	(-)271.95	
d) Others	35.37	49.91	( )14.54	
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans.	65•70		( <del>+</del> )65•70	
C. Other non-tax revenues	455,98	567.75	(+)131.77	
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	10.00	<b>541</b>	(-)10.00	
4. Transfer from funds	· -	4	. <b></b>	
5. Additional Resource Mobilisation	-	135.98	(+)135.98	
6. Loss on account of prohibition	322.28	-	(+)322.28	
Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	<u>2491.29</u>	<u>3153.67</u>	(+) <u>672<b>.</b>38</u>	
II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account				
1. Non-Development Expenditura			•	
A. Debt Services				
<ol> <li>Interest payments on loans outstand at the end of 1978—79.</li> </ol>	ing _,			
a) Market loans	58.37	58.27	(-)0.10	
b) Central Government	233.32	237.86	(+)4.54	

#### Appendix I.28(1)

#### STATE ANDHRA PRADESH c) Others(including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.) 39.75 39.75 (-) 168,50 ii) Interest payments on fresh loans 168.50 iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidanc. of debt: (-)0.20 a) for existing loans 0.20 b) for fresh loans B. Other Non-developmental expendi-(-) 100.11 ture(excluding Fublic Works) 996.23 896.12 Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1) 1231.00 (-) 264.37 1496.37 2. Developmental Expenditure 832,29 i) Education 987.88 11) Medical (-) 10.96 246.13 235.17 iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings (including housing) 21.58 (-)5.95 27.53 iv) Repairs and maintenance of roads and bridges (including (-) 53.19 (-) 470.11 local bodies) 271.75 218.56 v) Other Developmental Expenditure 1293.45 823.34 Total of Davelopmental Expenditure (-) <u>645.80</u> 2826.74 <u>2180.94</u> (2) <u>4323.11</u> <u>3412.94</u> (-) <u>910.17</u> 3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79. 418.22 249.98 (~) 168.24 4. Transfer to Funds 5. Fresh Expenditure 374.82 (T) 374.82 6. Upgradation of emoluments 90.54 (+) 90.54 7. Addl.expdr.on a/c of prohibition 8. Deduct-Expenditure met from non-27.61 27.61 (-) 10.00 Plan Grants from the Centre 10.00 Total-Non-Plan Expenditure on revenue account (II) <u>5143.76</u> 3743.46 (-)<u>1400.30</u>

- <u>2652.47</u> - <u>579.79</u>

(+)<u>2072.68</u>

NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I-II)

#### Appendix 1,23(11)

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment

( b. crores ) State Regaseased Varietion forecast estimates. (2-3) 1. Revenue Receipts 1. Tex Revenues 367.54 427.83 (+) 60.29 2. Non-tax Revenues 288.77 (+) 196.48 92.29 A. Interest keceipts 3.45 50.52 (+) 4,07 a) State Electricity Board 33.55 1.68 (+) 0.16 b) Road Transport Corporation 1.52 c) Pett. undertakings d) Others 15.29 (+) 13.56 1.93 B. Interest receipts on fresh 1.29 loans (+) 46.51 238.25 C. Other non-tex revenues 191.74 (-) 21.92 3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre 21.92 4. Transfer from funds 12.70 (+) 12.70 5. Addl. Resource Mobilisation (+) 143.36 729.30 <u>585.94</u> Total of Revenue Roveints (I) II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account 1. Non-Developmental Expenditure A. Debt Services i) Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of <u>49,66</u> <u> 163.90</u> 114.24 1978-79. 0.03 19.59 a) Market loans b) Central Government c) Others (including 84.47 131.86 interest on accumulations during the fore-cast period in Providerd Fund, other deposits etc) 12.45 10.15 (-) 2.30 ii) Interest payments on fresh (-) 67.37 67.37 loans iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt: a) for existing loans b) for fresh loans

## Appendix I.28(11)

	State: Assam				•
1					1
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works)		264.82	236.09	(-)	28.75
Total of Non-Developmental Expanditure (1)		496.09	350.33	(-)	145.76
<ul><li>2. Developmental expenditure</li><li>i) Education</li><li>ii) Medical</li></ul>		291.00 67.87	273.95 58.35	(-)	17.05 9.52
iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings (including housing iv) Repairs and maintenance of	g)	30.22	19.91	(-)	10.31
roads and bridges (including local bodies).  (v) Other Povelopmental Expendit		103.41 233.49	44.83 195.70	() ()	58.58 37.79
Total of Tavelopmental Expenditure (2).		725,99	5 <u>92.74</u>	(-)	133.25
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79		183.96	138.99	(-)	44.97
4. Transfer to Funds		· <b>-</b>	=		-
5. Fresh Expenditure	Ŏ		<b>→</b>	0 (-)	235.92
6. Upgradation of emoluments	Q Q Q	293.28	57.36	( - )	277.92
Total -Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)		1699,32	1139.42	(-)	<u>559.90</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I-II)	(-)	1113.38(	410.12	(+)	703.26

#### Appendix I.28(111)

STATE : BIHAR

## Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

			(1	s. crores)
st	<u>ءte</u> 1	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (2-3)
 `	REVENUE RECEIPTS			
	1. Tax Revenues	1120 97	1348.23	(+)227.26
	2. Non-tax Revenues			
	A. Interest Receipt	<u>s</u>		
	a) Sta <b>t</b> o Electri Board.	city _	59.00	(÷) 59.00
	b) Road Transpor Corporation	t =	2.71	(+) 2.71
	c) Irrigation	-	-	-
	d) Others	10.15	46.82	(+) 36.67
	B. Interest receipt on fresh loans	s 3.19	<b>~</b>	(-) 3.19
	C. Other non-tex revenues	332.80	462.04	(+) 129·2 ¹ +
	3. Non-Plam Grants from Centre	ı —	-	-
	4. Transfer from Funds	-	-	••
	5. Additional Resource		67.33	(+) 67.33
<u>T</u> 0	Mobilisation otal of Revenue Receipts(	(I) 1467·11	1986.13	<u>(+) 519.02</u>

# Appendix I.28(iii) State: Bihar

Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimate	Variations (2-3)
1	2	3	<u> </u>
II. Non-plan Expenditure on Revenue Account.  1.Non-Developmental Expenditure.			
(i) Interest payment on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79 a) Market loans b)Central Govt. c)Others(including interest on accumulation during the for cast period in Provident Fundother deposits etc.)	34.33 258.36 ons	34.39 282.39	(+) 0.06 (+)24.03 (-) 10.00
(ii)Interest paymonts on fresh loans.	-	, o v, <u>r</u>	
(iii)Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt: a)for existing loans b)for fresh loans	93 • 13	- -	(-) 153.64 (-) 93.13
B.Other Non-developme expenditure (exclud Public Works)	ental ling 671.03	507 • 94	(-) 163.09
Total of Non-developmental Expenditure(1)	1279.01	883.2 ¹ 4	<u>(-) 395.77</u>

119

## Appendix I.28(111)

State : Bihar

Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates.	
1	2	3	<u>4</u>
2 Developmental Expenditure			
(i)Education	788 • 36	654 • 16	(-) 13 ¹ +.20
(ii)Medical	135.83	122.56	(-) 13.27
(iii)Repairs and maintenance buildings (including housing)	of 125.98	54.09	(-) 71.89
(iv)Repairs and maintenance roads and bridges(Inclu- local bodies)	of ding 181.82	109.01	(-) 72.81
(v)Other l'evelopmental Expenditure.	1177 •75	574.78	(-) 602.97
<u>Total of Developmental</u> Expenditure (2)	2409.74	1514.60	(-) 895.14
3.Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	540.90	276 .85	(-) 264.05
4.Transfer to Funds	-	-	-
5.Fresh Expenditure	789.60		(-) 789.60
6.Upgradation of Emolu- ments.		368•97	(+) 368.97
Total Non-plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	<u>5019.25</u>	<u>3043.66</u>	( <del>-)</del> 1975•59
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I-II)	( <u>-)3552•14</u>	<u>(-)1057.53</u>	(+)2+94-61

#### Appendix I.28(iv)

STATE GUJARAT

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

(E. crores)

Item .	State forecast.	Reassesse estimates	
1.	2.	3.	4.
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues 2. Non-tax Revenues	1975.38	2262.51	(+)286.13
A. <u>Interest Receipts</u> a) State Electricity Board	9.34	(-) 25.70	(-) 35.04
b) Road Transport Corporation	-	•	
c) Irrigation.	182.50	-	(-)182.50
d) Others	37.07	44.41	(+) 7.34
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	6,98	€MP	(-) 6.98
C. Other non-tax revenues	418.20	418,55	(+) 0.35
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre	2.50	••	(-) 2.50
4. Transfer from Funds	5.69	· <b>~</b>	( <b>-)</b> 5.69
5. Addl. Resource Mobilisation		89.47	(+) 89.47
Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	2638.66	2789.24	(+)150.58
II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
A - Debt Services			
(i) Interest payments on loan outstanding at the end of 1978-79.	s		٠
a) Market loans	48.32	46.57	(-) 1,75
b) Central Government	117.96	128.41	
c) Others (including interest on accumu-lations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other			
deposits, etc.)	56.69	51.44	(-) 5.25

# Appendix I.28(iv) State Gujarat

1	2	3	4
<pre>(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans.</pre>	82.00	-	(-) 82.00
(iii) Appropriation for reduc- tion or avoidance of De			
<ul><li>a) for existing loans</li><li>b) for fresh loans</li></ul>	- -	<del>-</del>	-
B.Other Non-developmental			
expenditure(excluding Public Works)	511 \$16	450.64	(-) 60.52
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure(1)	816.13	677.06	(-)139.07
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	774.33 143.90	730 • 24 -1 40 • 73	(-) 44.09 (-) 3.17
<ul><li>(ii) Medical</li><li>(iii) Repairs and maintenance</li></ul>	147170		
of puildings(including housing) (iv) Repairs and maintenance	74.44	30.34	(-) 44.10
of roads and bridges(in- cluding local bodies).	94 <b>.</b> 46	87.93	(-) 6.53
(v) Other Developmental Expenditure	729 • 41	552.59	(-)176.82
Total of Developmental Expenditure(2).	1816.54	1541.83	(-)274.71
3. Committed Expenditure on	•		
Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	18 - 434•96	284-68	(-)150.28
4. Transfer to Funds	192.37	50 - 49	(-)141.88
5. Fresh Expenditure	125.97	-	(-)125.97
6. Upgradation of emoluments	95.08	71 •06	(-) 24.02
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on	3481 <u>•05</u>	2625 ·12	<u>(-)855.93</u>
revenue account (II)  NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP(I - II)		(+)164.12	(+)1006.51

## Appendix I.28(v)

STATE: HARYANA

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

(Rs. crores)

~,~,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=,=	State	Ressessed	Variations
Item	forecest	<u>estimates.</u>	2:3)
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			······································
1. Tax Revenues	1085.35	1100.04	14.69
2. Non-tax Revenues			
A. Interest Receipts	-		
a) State Electricity Board	81 • 25	6.25	(-)75.00
t)Road Transport Corporation	-	-	end .
c)Commercial Deptts.	89.82	22.75	(-)67.07
d)Others	7 • 35	و4,3	1014
B. Interest receipts on fresh logns.	1.84	-	(-) 1.84
C. Other non-tax revenues	381.99	188.39	()193.50
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre	0.89	=	(-) 0.89
4. Transfer from Funds		••	_
Total of Revenue Receipts(I)	1648.49	1325 • 92	(-)322.57
Additional Resource Mobilisation	_	38.49	38.49
Total revenue receipts	1648.49	1364.41	(-)284.08

## Appendix I.28(v)

State : Haryana

	State forecast	Reassessed estimates.	Veriations (2-3)
1	2	3	4
II. Non-plan Expenditure on Revenue Account.			
1 • <u>Non-Developmental</u> Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on loan outstanding at the end of 1978-79.  a) Market loans b) Central Government c) Others (including interest on accumulation during the forecast period in Provident Function other deposits, etc.)  (ii) Interest payments on fresh loans.  (iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt	22.97 63.54 ons ad, 37.12 33.91	23.17 72.29 37.12 6.82	(+) 0.20 (+) 8.75  (-) 27.09 19.97
a)for existing loans b)for fresh loans.			
B.Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works)	208 • 96	176 •61	(-)32.35
Total of Non-developmental Expenditure (1)	386.47	<u>316.01</u>	(-)70.46

#### Appendix I.28(v)

State : Haryana

Item		Reassessed	
	2	3	4
2.Developmental Expenditure (i)Education (ii)Medical (iii)Repairs and maintenance of	225 <b>.</b> 45 48 <b>.</b> 98	216.59 61.75	(-) 8.86 12.77
buildings (including housing) (iv)Repairs and maintenance of		16.05	(-) 51.72
Roads & Bridges (including local bodies) (v)Other Developmental	87.30	60.93	(-) 26.37
Expenditure.	527 •46	206 .46	(-)321.00
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2).	<u>956 • 96</u>	<u>561.78</u>	<u>(-)395-18</u>
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79.	57 - 18	81 •23	24.05
4. Transfer to Funds	2.25	<b>-</b> '	(-) 2.25
5. Fresh Expenditure	:		
6. Upgradation of Personal Per	17 • 12*	35•33	18.21
Total Non-plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	1419.98	<u>99+•35</u>	(-)425.63
NON-PLAN REVENUE SURPLUS	<u>228.51</u>	<u>370.06</u>	(+)141.55

^{*} Excludes DA revisions in 1977-78.

#### Appendix I.28(vi)

STATE HIMACHAL PRADESH

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

	_	(Rs. crore	es)
Item	State forecast.	Reassessed estimates.	Variations (3-2)
1	2	3	4
I - REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues	94.12	126.62	(+) 32.50
2 • Non-tax Revenues			
A. Interest Receipts			
a) State Electricity Board.	-	16.65	(+) 16.65
b) Road Transport Corporation•	-	-	-
c) Irrigation.	-	-	-
d) Others	4.94	3.72	(-) 1.22
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	1.53	-	(-) 1.53
C. Other non-tax revenue	s 68.68	104.98	(+) 36.30
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre	-	-	<u> -</u>
4. Transfer from Funds	-	-	-
5. Addl. Resource Mobilisati	,on	<b>(-)0•</b> 48 ⁻	(-) 0.48
Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	169.27	251 . 49	(+) 82.22
II. Non-plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1.Non-Developmental Expendit	ure		
A Debt Services		·	
(i) Interest payments or loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79.	1		
<ul> <li>a)Market loans</li> <li>b)Central Government</li> <li>c)Others(including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in</li> </ul>	3.12 34.07	3.06 19.27	(-) 0.06 (-) 14.80
Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.)	er 15.16	14.86	(-) 0.30

126

## Appendix I.28(vi)

State <u>Himachal Pradesh</u>

1	2	3	4
(ii)Interest payments on fresh loans.	10.51	==	(-) 10.51
(iii)Appropriation for red tion or avoidance of Debts	uo-		
a)for existing loans b) for fresh loans	2.50 -	<del>-</del>	(-) 2.50
<pre>B.Other Non-developmental expcnditure(excluding Public Works)</pre>	113.97	<del>3</del> 9.52	(-) 14.45
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure(1)	179.33	136.71	(-) 42.62
2.Developmental Expenditure			
<ul><li>(i) Education</li><li>(ii) Medical</li><li>(iii) Repairs and maintenance</li></ul>	147.49 30.39	144•63 36•60	(-) 2.86 (+) 6.21
of buildings(including housing) (iv) Repairs and maintenance	21 •41	8.43	(-) 12.98
of roads and bridges(in- cluding local bodies). (v) Other Developmental	32.32	37•19	(+) 4.87
Expenditure	121.79	103.33	( <del>-</del> ) 18.46
Total of Developmental Expenditure(2).	353 • 40	330.18	(-) 23 <b>.</b> 22
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79.	121 •40	85 <b>-</b> 43	( <i>-)</i> 35.97
4. Transfer to Funds	-	-	(-) 03.57
5. Fresh Expenditure	_	- -	_
6. Upgradation of emoluments	4.35	16.50	(+) 12 _• 15
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II):	658 • 48	<u>568.62</u>	<u>(-)</u> 89.66
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP(I - II)	-)489.21	(-)317.33	(+)171.88

## Appendix I.28(vii)

STATE Jammu & Kashmir

# Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment (%. crores)

Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (3-2)
1	2	3	4
<ul><li>I. REVENUE RECEIPTS</li><li>1. Tax Revenues</li><li>2. Non-tax Revenues</li></ul>	171.58	187.05	(+) 15.47
A. Interest Receipts			
a) State Electricity Board	77.70	~	(-) 77.70
b) Road Transport Corporation	1.73	1.46	(-) 0.27
c) Irrigation	12.00	•	(-) 12.00
d) uthers	3.62	1 <b>1.</b> 63	(+) 8.01 ·
6. Interest receipts on fresh loans	0.69	-	( <b>-</b> ) 0.69
C. Other non-tax revenues	192.12	238.25	(+) 46 <b>.</b> 13
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre	2.05	-	(-) 2.05
4. Transfer from Funds	-	-	-
5. Addl.Resource Mobilisation	,, <del>-</del>	7.42	(+) 7.42
Total of Revenue Receipts (1	)461 .49	445.81	(-) 15.68

## Appendix I.28(vii)

#### State Jammu & Kashmir

1	2	3	4
II.Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account		r glydniaeth regel Generale and an rife remand	
1.Non-Developmental Expenditur	e		
A.Debt Services	<b></b>		
(i)Interest payments on lo outstanding at the end 1978-79;	ans of		
<ul> <li>a) Market loans</li> <li>b) Central Government</li> <li>c) Others (including interiors during the forecast pages)</li> </ul>	na .	5.11 83.89	(-) 0.04 (-) 47.81
in Provident Fund, ot deposits, etc.)	18r 47.97	. 47 07	•
(ii)Interest payments on	41.91	47.97	, · <del>-</del>
fresh loans	73.45	_	(-) 73.45
(iii)Appropriation for reduct or avoidance of Debt:	tion .		•
a) for existing loans	_	-	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
b) for fresh loans	_	· -	-
8.Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works)  Total of Non-Developmental	155.97	120.46	(-) 35.51
2.Developmental Expenditure	414.24	<u>257.43</u>	( <u>- )156.81</u>
(i)Education (ii)Medical	139.09 54.29	119.69	(-) 19.40
(iii)Repairs and maintenance	o.f	43.26	( <b>-</b> ) 11.03.
(iv)Repairs and maintenance roads and bridges (ical)	ing)27.33	24.32	(-) 3.01
ing local bodies).  (v)Other Developmental Expenditure.	47.49	27.60	<b>(-)</b> 19.89
· .	428.30	164.78	<b>(-)</b> 263 <b>.</b> 52
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2)	<u>696.50</u> *	200	
(1+2)	· · ·	379.65	( <del>-</del> )316.85
<u> </u>	1110.74	637.08	(-)473.66

^{*}Includes &.13.15 crores in respect of 'Food Subsidy sub-plans'.

129

Appendix I.28(vii)

State Jammu & Kashmir

1	2	3	4
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1973-79.	141.60	75.96	(-) 65.64
4. Transfer to Funds	25.61	-	(-) 25.61
5. Fresh Expenditure	193.52	-	(-)193.52
6. Upgradation of emoluments		91 •38	(+) 91.38
Total Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	1471.47	804.42	(-)667.05
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I - II)	1009.98	(-)358.61	(+) 651.37

## Appendix I.28(viii)

State KARNATAKA
Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

		(Rs. cror	res)
Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (3-2)
	$\frac{1}{2}$ .	3	⁴ <u>.</u>
• REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues	1520.83	2058.09	(+) 537.26
2. Non-tax Revenues			
A. <u>Interest Receipts</u> a) 1) State Electricity Board	35.47	36.05	(-) 70,44
ii) Myscre Power Corporation	71.02	<b>6</b>	
b) Road Transport Corporation.	5.64	3.18	(-) 2,46
c) Irrigation(Commercial)	276.20	7.06	(-) 269.14
d) Others	45.60	60.01	(+) 14.41
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	64.41	<b></b>	(-) 64,41
C. Other non-tax revenues	_	708.74	(+) 80.41
3. Non-Plan Grants from Cent	re. 4.38	. =	(-) 4,38
4. Transfer from Funds	17.85	•	( <b>-</b> ) 17.85
Total of Revenue Receipts(I)	2669,73	2873.13	(+) 203.46
Additional Resource Mobilisation		+ 84.95	(+) 84.95
Total of Revenue  Receipts after adjusts ments	:2669.73	2958 •08	(+) <b>2</b> 88 <b>.35</b>

## Appendix I.28(viii)

#### KARNATAKA

		2	3.	4	
II. Non-plan Expend Revenue Account					
1. Non-Developme ture.	ntal Expen-				
A. Debt Servi	ces				
loans	st payments on outstanding at d of 1978-79.				
b) Cen c) Oth int mul the in	ket Loans tral Government ers(including erest on accu- ations during forecast period Provident Fund,	43.93 155.80	43.85 156.52	( <del>-</del> )	
oth etc	er deposits,	62.87	45.64	(-)	17.23.
(ii) Intere fresh	st payments on loans	104.80	16.10	(-)	88.70
(iii) Approp reduct ance o	rlation for ion or avoid- of Debt:				
	existing oans	93,56	-	(-)	98.66
b) for	fresh loans	26.15	-	(-)	26.15
expenditur Public Wor		817.76	600.14	(-)	217.62
Total of Non-Dev Expenditur	relopmental re(1)	1309.97	862.25	(-)	447.72
2. Developmental	Expenditure		_	, ,	400.44
(1) Education		869.30 218.60		(-)	180.46 28.80
housing)	ings(including	81.83	24.44		57.39
of roads (including	and maintenance and bridges ng local bodies)	. 162.13	161.58	(-)	0.55
(v) Other Dev Expenditu	relopmental ure•	1203.81	718.68	(-)	485.13
Total of Deve Expenditure	elopmental (2)	25 <u>3</u> 5 <u>•</u> 67	<u>1783.34</u> _	_(=).	_ <u>752,33</u> _

## Appendix I.28(viii)

#### KARNATAKA

1			
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	321.59	238,08	( <b>-</b> ) 83,51
4. Transfer to Funds	21.20	-	(-) 21.20
5. Fresh Expenditure	52.29	-	(-) 52.29
6. Upgradation of emoluments	<b>171.</b> 56	73,16	(-) 98.40
Total Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	4412.28	2956.93	( <b>-</b> ) <u>1455.35</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP/Surplus	(-) 1742.55	(+) <u>1.15</u>	(+)1743.70

## Appendix I.28(1x)

#### STATE KERALA

## Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment

						(Rs,	cror	es)
			]	[tem	State forecast	Reassessed estimates		ations 3-2 )
				(1)	(2)	(3)	(	4)
I.	RE	VENU	Œ I	RECEIPIS				-
	1.	Taz	c Re	evenues	1280.15	1402.50	(+)	122.35
	2.	Nor	ı–te	ax Revenues				
		A.	In	terest Receipts				
			a)	State Electricity Board.	26.44	(-) 16,40	(-)	42.84
			b)	Road Transport Corporation	· •••			-
			c)	Irrigation	9.80		(-)	
			d)	Others	14.35	21.89	(+)	7.54
		B.		terest receipts fresh loans	8.92		(-)	
		C.	Ot	her non-tax revenues	318.74	425.10	(+)	106.36
	3.	Nor	n-P.	lan Grants Centre	<b>3.</b> 65	••	(-)	3.65
	4.	Tra	ns	fer from Funds	-	<b></b>		-
	5.	Ada	11.	Resource Mobilisati	ion -	41.97	(+)	41.97
				of Revenue ots (I)	1662.05	1875.06	(+)	213.01
II.	No:	n-Pl Re	Lan veni	Expenditure ne Account				
,	1.	Nor Ex	ı-Do	evelopmental diture				
		A.	De'	bt Services ) Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79				0.51
	·			a) Market loans b) Central Govt.	27.30 115.92	26.56 94.15	{-}	0.74 21.77

## Appendix I.28(ix)

	STATE	- KERAL	<u>A</u>
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
(c) Others (including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other deposits.	,		
etc.)	84-47	72.32	( <del>-</del> ) 12.15
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	134.14		(-)134.14
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of debt:  a) for existing loans b) for fresh loans	13,38	-	(-) 13.38
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works	535.31	429.62	(-)105.69
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	910,52	622.65	<u>(-)287.8</u> 7
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	1089.50	879.21	(-)210,29
(ii) Medical	244.79	206.14	(-) 38.65
(iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings (including housing)	26.77	17.40	(-) 9.37
(iv) Repairs and maintenance of roads and bridges (including local bodies)	132,32	109.81	( <b>-</b> ) 22 <b>.</b> 51
(v) Other Developmental Expenditure	660,96	377.81	( <b>-)</b> 283 <b>.</b> 15
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2).	2154.34	<u>1590.37</u>	<u>(-)563.97</u>

## Appendix I.28(ix)

STATE - KERALA

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	227.57	150,87	( <b>-</b> ) 76 <b>.</b> 70
4. Transfer to Funds	20.03	11.25	( <b>-</b> ) 8.78
5. Fresh Expenditure	212.42		(-)212,42
6. Upgradation of emoluments	<b>1</b> 58 <b>.3</b> 9	31.03	( <b>-</b> )127.36
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	3683.27	2406.17	(-)1277.10
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I - II)	<b>(-)</b> 2021 <b>,</b> 22	<u>(-)531,11</u>	(+)1490.11

## Appendix I.28(x)

State: Madhya Pradesh

# Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment (Rs.crores)

		(Rs.C:	rores)
Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (2-3)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			•
1. Tax Revenues	1644.84	1834.17	(+)189.33
2. Non-tax Revenues			
A. Interest Receipts			
<ul><li>a) State Electricity Board</li><li>b) Road Transport Corporation</li></ul>	0.88	52.25	(+) 51 <u>.3</u> 7
c) Irrigation d) Others	23.76	39.41	(+) 15.65
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	28.30	••	(-) 28,30
C. Other non-tax revenues	1912.34	1102.17	(+) 89.83
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	6.17	-	( <b>-</b> ) 6:17
4. Transfer from Funds	•••	<b>Sent</b>	-
5. Additional Resource Mobilisation	-	<b>(-)</b> 116 <b>.</b> 95	(-)116.95
Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	<u>2716.29</u>	2911.05	(+) 194.76
II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
A. <u>Debt Services</u>	-		
(i) Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79	<u>301,66</u>	<u>313.13</u>	(+) <u>11.47</u>
a) Market loans	26.66	26.22	( <b>-</b> ) 0.44
b) Central Government c) Others (including interest on accumula- tions during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other	148.02	164.93	(+) 16.91
deposits, etc.)	126.98	121.98	( <del>-</del> ) 5.00
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	119,49	••	<b>(-)1</b> 19 <b>.</b> 49
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt:			
a) for existing loans b) for fresh loans	25.95 15.90	•••	( <b>-</b> ) 25.95 ( <b>-</b> ) 15.90

Appendix I.28(x)

STATE - MADHYA PRADLSH

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
B. Other Non-developmental			<del></del>
expenditure (excluding Public Works)	647.57	526.50	(-)121,07
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	1110.57	839.63	<u>(-)</u> 270,94
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education (ii) Medical	748.34 <b>173.</b> 07	637.58 161.52	(-)110.76 (-) 11.55
<ul> <li>(iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings(including housing)</li> <li>(iv) Repairs and maintenance of</li> </ul>	47.27	36.33	(-) 10,94
roads and bridges (including local bodies)	178,22	198.55	(+) 20.33
<pre>(v) Other Developmental     Expenditure</pre>	985.44	833.15	(-)152.29
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2)	2132.34	1867,13	( <b>-</b> ) 265,21
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan			
schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	212.64	207.87	(-) 4.77
4. Transfer to Funds	182.79	173.46	(-) 9.33
5. Fresh Expenditure	1150.11	_	(-)1150.11
6. Upgradation of emoluments	_	245.59	(+)245.59
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	<u>4788.45</u>	<u>3333.68</u>	<u>(-) 1454.77</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I - II)	( <b>-</b> )2072 <b>.</b> 16	<u>(-) 422,63</u>	(+) <u>1649.53</u>

Appendix I.28(xi)

State: Maharashtra

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

(%. crores)

			(12, CIOLES)
Items	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (2-3)
1	2	3	4
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues	4741.53	5077.85	+336.32
2. Non-tax Revenues			
A. Interest Receipts			•
a) State Electricity Board	110.84	108.05	-2.79
b) Road Transport Corporation	-	· -	
c) Irrigation	305.00	-	-305,00
d) Others	43.95	96.25	+52.30
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	12.97	-	-12.97
C. Other non-tax revenues	1543.72	1521.88	-21.84
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centr	re 42.97	31.87	<del>-</del> 11,10
4. Transfer from Funds	_	<del>-</del>	-
<ol><li>Additional resource mobilisation</li></ol>		133.00	+133.00
Total of Revenue Receipts(I)	6800.98	<u>6968.90</u>	+167.92
II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account  1. Non-Developmental Expendit  A. Debt Services 1. Interest payments on loa outstanding at the end o	ms	-	
a)Market loans b)Central Government c)Others (including inte on accumulations durin the forecast period in Provident Fund, other	g L	68.10 244.32	-4.30 +17.80
deposits, etc.)	157.58	157.58	
ii.Interest payments on fresh loans	156.36	-	-156.35
iii.Appropriation for reduct or avoidance of Debt	ion		
a)for existing loans b)for fresh loans	319.28 85.22	'	-319.28 -85.22

#### Appendix I.28(xi)

#### State: Maharashtra.

11	2	3	. 4
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works)	1265,21	1170.16	-95.05
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	2282.57	1640.16	<u>-642.41</u>
2.Developmental Expenditure i)Education ii)Medical iii)Repairs and maintenance of	1246.86 254.11	1269.90 246.37	+23.04 -7.74 +68.72
buildings (including housing) iv)Repairs and maintenance of roads and bridges(including local bodies). v)Other Developmental Expenditure	38.55 2242.71	134.98 237.00 1566.28	+198.45 -676.43
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2)	<u>3848,49</u>	<u>3454.53</u>	<u>-393.96</u>
<ol> <li>Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1973-79</li> </ol>	459.59	459 <b>.5</b> 9	
4. Transfer to Funds	975.49	-	-975.49
5. Fresh Expenditure	611,21	-	-611.21
6. Upgradation of emoluments	-	123.92	+123.92
Total Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account(11)	<u>8177.35</u>	<u>5678.20</u>	<u>-2499.15</u>
on-Plan Revenue Gap (I-II)	- <u>1376.37</u>	+ <u>1290.70</u>	+ <u>2667<b>.</b>07</u>

#### Appendix I.28(xi1)

(Rs. crores)

State: Manipur Overall Summary Table of State Forecast and reassessment.

Variations State Reassessed _____forecast_estimates___ I.REVENUE RECEIPTS 1. Tax Revenues 15.47 13.91 -1.562. Non-Tax Revenues A. Interest Receipts Total 1.71 3.07 +1.36 a.State Electricity Board b.Road Transport Corporation c.Irrigation d.Others 1.71 +1.36 3.07 B. Interest receipts on fresh loans1.34 -1.34C.Other non-tax revenues 22.91 19.51 -3.40 3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre 2.96 -2.96 4. Transfer from Funds 5. Additional Resource Mobilisation 1.60 +1.60 Total of Revenue Receipts (I) 44.39 38.09 -6.30II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account 1. Non-Developmental Expenditure A. Debt Services (i)Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79 a.Market loans b.Central Government 11.60 c.Others (including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.) 3.11 3.11 (ii)Interest payments on fresh loans 3.75 (iii)Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt: a.for existing loans b.for fresh loans

## Appendix I-28(x11)

		Manipur	
	2	<del>3</del>	
B.Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding			
Public Works) Total of Non-Developmental	80,64	67.50	-13.14
Expenditure (1)	102.70	<u>80.87</u>	- <u>21.83</u>
2. Devélopmental Expenditure			
i) Education	46.57	42.38	-4.19
ii) Medical	9.59	6.85	-2.74
<pre>iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings(including housing)</pre>	13.79	5.25	-8.54
iv) Repairs and maintenance of roads and Bridges (including local bodies).	7.37	15.27	+7.90
v) Other Developmental Expenditure	54.86	21.54	-33.32
Total of Developmental Expenditure	<u>132,18</u>	<u>91.29</u>	- <u>40.89</u>
<ol> <li>Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79</li> </ol>	37.52	32.07	-5.45
4. Transfer to Funds	-	-	
5. Fresh Expenditure	66.79	-	-66.79
<pre>6. Upgradation of    emoluments</pre>	-	17.94	+17.94
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	<u>339.19</u>	222.17	- <u>117.02</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I - II)	-294,80	- <u>184.08</u>	+110.72

## Appendix I.28(xiii)

#### State <u>Meghalaya</u>

	Overall Summary Table of S	tate for	ecast and re	assessment.
				(Rs. crores)
		·_'''-		·_·_·_·
		State forecast	Reassessed estimates.	Variations (3-2)
		·-!!-	·_·_·_·_	•=•=;=•=•=
ı.	Re venue Receipts	·	* <b>* * * * *</b>	*~` <b>~</b> '' <i>-</i> '-'-''
•	<u> </u>			•
	1. Tax Revenues	13.68	17.79	±4•11
	2.Non-tax Revenues			
	A. Interest Receipts	-		
	a) State Electricity Board b) Road Transport Corporation	0:04	6.80	+6.80 -9.04
	c) Irrigation	-	<del>-</del>	-
	d) Others	0.78	0.52	-0.26
	B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	0.11		-0.li
	C. Other non-tax revenues	9.14	13.12	<b>+3.</b> 98
	3. Non-plan Grants from	4.97	<b>→</b>	-4.97
	Centre.	-	-	~
	4. Transfer from Funds	-	-	•
	5. Addl. Resource Mobilisation			-
TT.	Total of Revenue Receipts (I) Non-Plan Evenuerity	28.72	<u>38.23</u>	<u>+9.51</u>
•••	Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
	<pre>1. Non-Developmental Expenditure</pre>			
	A. Dobt Services			
	(i)Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79.	:		
	a) Market loans	2.89	2.55	20.34
	b) Central Government c) Others(including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in	11.37	1.41	-9.96
	Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.)	1.88	1.88	-

## Appendix I.28(xiii)

_'_'_'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-		_'-'-'.'.	.'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'
1 '-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-	2		
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	-4.36	**	<b>~</b> 4.36
(iii) Appropriation for redution or avoidance of Debt;	IC -	•	-
<ul><li>a) for existing loans</li><li>b) for fresh loans</li></ul>	••	<u>-</u>	<u>-</u>
B. Other Mon-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works)	50.18	37.68	-12.50
Total of Mon-Developmental Expenditure (I)	70.68	43.52	- <u>27.16</u>
2. Developmental Expenditure (i) Education (ii) Medical (iii) Repairs and maintenance	27.84 8.93	27.01 8.04	-0.83 -0.89
of buildings (including housing) (iv) Repairs and maintenance	11.61	2.62	-8.99
of roads and bridges (in cluding local bodies).  (v) Other Developmental	14.43	13.19	-1.24
Expenditure.  Total of Developmental	37.01	30.90	-6.11
Expenditure(2)	99.82	81.76	<u>-18.06</u>
Total of 1 & 2	170.50	1 <u>25 • 28</u>	- <u>45.22</u>
3.Committed Expenditure on Plan Schemes completed by the			
end of 1978-79	62.13	37.00	-25 • 13
4.Transfer to Funds	43.00	•	<b>-</b> -41∙98
5.Fresh Expenditure	41.98	-	<b>-</b> -71 • 70
6.Upgradation of emoluments	-	5.24	+5 • 2 4
Total-Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)		167.52	-1 <u>07.09</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP(I-II)	-2 <u>45.89</u>	-1 <u>29.29</u>	±1 <u>16.60</u>

## Appendix I.28(xiv)

## State Negaland

	Overall Summary Table		recast and	45
	re asse:	ssment		(Is. crores)
Item			Reassessed estimates	Variations (3-2)
<u> </u>		<u> </u>	3.	4.
I, Revenue	Receipts		<del>-</del>	
1. Tax	Revenues	11.64	13.35	1.71
2. <u>Non-</u>	lax revenues			
A- <u>Inter</u>	est receipts			
a) State b) Road c) Irrig d) Other	e Electroity Board Transport Corporation gation rs	- - 1.20	1.73	- 0.53
B <u>Intere</u> <u>loars</u>	est receipts on fresh	Not show	n	***
C Other	non-tax revenues	21.67	22.97	1,30
3. Non-	Plan Grants from Centre	-	-	-
4. Trans	sfer from funds	-	<b>→</b>	, ===
Total of Re	evenue Receipts (I)	<u>34,51</u>	<u> 38.05</u>	<u>3.54</u>
Addl.Resou	rce Mobilisation	· <b>-</b>	0.60	0.60
Total		<u>34.51</u>	<u> 38.65</u>	4.14
II. <u>Non-Plan</u> <u>Revenue</u>	n Expenditure on Account	÷		
1. Non-1	<u>Developmental Expenditure</u>	<u>e</u>		
A. De	ebt Services	_		
•	Interest payments on load outstanding at the end of 1978-79. a)Market loans	ns C	5 <b>.</b> 48	<b>7</b>
٦	o)Central Government c)Others(including intere	est)	0.19	(
(ii)	on accumulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.)	3 24.23	12.33	-6.28
(iii)	Interest payments on fresh loans Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt:	Not shown	n -	-
	a)for existing loans b)for fresh loans	<del>-</del>	<del>-</del>	<b>→</b>

#### Appendix I.28(xiv)

Stato - Nearland

1	2		4
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure			
(excluding Public Works)	104-99	79.14	-25, 85
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure(I)	129.27	97.14	-32. ij
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	<b>3</b> 5 <b>,</b> 93	32.96	-3.02
(ii) Medical	19.22	16.25	-2.97
(iii) Repairs and maintenance of	0.5 54	40.47	47 54
buildings (including housing) (iv) Repairs and maintenance of	25.71	1217	-13.54
reads and bridges (including			
local bodies)	24.39	20.21	-4. 1B
(v) Other Developmental Expenditure	<b>57-</b> 54	44.26	-13.28
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2)	162, 84	125,65	- <u>36.99</u>
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes		•	
completed by the end of 1978-79	28.93	31.26	2.33
4. Transfer to Funds	_	-	_
5. Fresh Expenditure	i 9.39	-	-19.39
6. Upgradation of \			
emoluments	78.87	20.66	-58, 21
Total New Dien comenditums con			
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	419,30	274.91	-144.39
	-384.79	-236, 26	(+) <u>148.53</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE CAP (I-II)	2		· · · ·

## Appendix I.28(xv)

STATE ORISSA

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment

		(Re.	crores)
Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (2-3)
	2	3.	4.
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues	528.64	614.30	(+) 85.66
2. Non-tax Revenues A. Interest Receipts	371.84 135.71	315.53 13.84	(-) 56,32 (-)121,87
a) State Electricity Board.	6.05	(-)0.10	(-) 6.15
b)Road Transport Corporation.	2.50	1.64	(-) 0.86
c)Commercial Deptt. undertaking.	113.15	<del>-</del>	(-)113,15
d)Others	14.01	12.30	(-) 1.71
B.Interest receipts on fresh loans	6.47	-	(-) 6.47
C.Other non-tax reven		301.69	(+) 72.03
3.Non-Plan Grants from	Centre -	-	-
4.Transfer from Funds	-	_	<del>-</del>
5. Addl. Resource Mobilis		(-) 3.88	(-) 3.88
Total of Revenue Rece		<u>925.95</u>	(+) 25.47
II. Non-plan Expenditure of Revenue Account  1. Non-Developmental Exp (i) Interest payments on loans outstanding at end of 1978-79.	enditure 238.19	224 <u>.06</u>	<u>(-) 14.13</u>
a) Market loans	31.79	31,61	(_) 0,18
b)Central Government c)Others(including i erest on accumulat	.nt-	145.87	(-) 0.18 (-) 9.26
during the forecas period in Provider Fund, other deposit	st 51.27 nt :s.etc)	46 • 58	(-) 4.69
(ii)Interest payments or fresh loans.	92,28	-	(-) 92,28
(iii)Appropriation for re uction or avoidance	ed- 0.96	-	( <u>-) 0.96</u>
a) for existing loans b) for fresh loans	0.96	•	(-) 0.96
B.Other Non-developmen	ta 1	-	-
expenditure(excludin Public Works)		338.37	(-) 36.51
<u>Iotal of Non-Developmental</u> <u>Expenditure(I)</u>	706.32	<u>562,43</u>	<u>(-)143.89</u>

#### Appendix I.28(xv)

#### STATE ORISSA

1	2	3	4.
. Developmental Expen	diture		-
(i) Education	391.73	403.32	(+) 11.59
(ii)Medical	93.04	84.81	(+) 11.59 (-) 8.23
(iii)Repairs and maint	ena -		
nce of buildings	. 67 67	70.07	( )
(including housing		30.27	(-) 52.96
(iv)Repairs and maint		24 22	(.) .0 .0
of roads and brid		96.00	(+) 40.80
(v)incl.local bodies	3)		
Other Development	³¹ 589.73	391.96	(_)197.77
Expenditure.			
Total of Developme			/ No.04
Expenditume(2).	1212.93	<u>1006.36</u>	<u>(-)206.57</u>
<ol> <li>Committed Expendituon Plan Schemes con eted by the end of 1978-79</li> </ol>		233.67	(-) 9.52
4. Transfer to Funds	-	•	•
5. Fresh Expenditur.			
•	1	-	_
6. Upgradation of emoluments	555.03	75,68	(-)479.35
<u>Total - Non-Plan</u> <a href="mailto:plan">expenditure on</a> <a href="mailto:revenue">revenue account(II</a>	2717.47	1878.14	<u>(-)839.33</u>
ON_PLAN REVENUE GAP(I	_TT\/_\\816.99	( <u>-)952.19</u>	(+)964_90

#### Appendix I.28(xvi)

STATE <u>PUNJAB</u>

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment

(Pr. crores)

Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (2-3)
1	2	3	4
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1.Tax Revenues	1227.81	1670.58	(+)442.77
2.Non_tax Revenues	579.34	547.23	(-) 32.11
A. Interest Receipts a) State Electricity	166.93	132.55	<u>(-) 34.38</u>
Board. b)Road Transport	93.66	102.00	(+) 8.34
Corporation. c)Departmental Commer	<b></b>	-	-
cial undertakings	43.01	•	(-) 43,01
d)Others	30.26	30.55	(+) 0,29
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans.	19.18	**	(-) 19,18
C. Other non-tax revenue	s 393,23	414.68	(+) 21.45
<ol><li>Non-plan Grants from Centre</li></ol>	32.65	-	(-) 32.65
4. Transfer from Funds	-	_	_
5. Addl. Resource Mobili	.sation	(-)29.76	(-) 29.76
Total of Revenue Receipts(	I) 18 39 . 80	2198.05	(+)349,25
II. Non-plan Expenditure o	<u>n</u>	<del></del> -	
1.Non-Developmental Expe	<u>nditure</u>		
A. Debt Services			
(i) Interest payments on outstanding at the e	loans		
1978-79.	155.64	159.81	(+) 4.17
a)Market loans	18.86	20,35	(+) 1.49
b) Central Government	70.55	£6 <b>.53</b>	(+) 15.93
c)Others(incl.interes on accumulations	T .		
during the forecast	66.23	58.23	(-) 8.00
period in Provident	ı	30,23	(=) 8,00
Fund, other deposits	,etc)		
(ii) Interest payments o	n 92.76	·	(-) 92.76
fresh loans. (iii)Appropriation for r		-	(=) 92.10
uction or avoidance	<u>18.98</u>		-
of Debt:		-	<u>(-) 18.98</u>
a) for existing loan	s 18.98	•	(-) 18,98
b)for fresh loans	-	_	

### Appendix I.28(xvi)

### PUNJAB

		_^	
1.	2 <b>.</b>	3, 	4. '-'-'-
B.Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding	<b>700 04</b>	270 73	(-) 58.11
public works)	328.84	210.15	(-) 50.11
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	596.22	435.84	(-)1 <u>60.38</u>
<ul> <li>2. Developmental Expenditure</li> <li>(i) Education</li> <li>(ii) Medical</li> <li>(iii) Repairs and maintenance</li> <li>of buildings (Encl. housing</li> </ul>	406.26 157.77 81.67	372,20 86.75 32.83	(-) 34.06 (-) 69,02 (-) 48.84
(iv) Repairs and maintenance of roads and bridges. (Incl., local bodies)	90.01	74,28	(-) 15.73
<pre>(v) Other Developmental Expenditure</pre>	686.11	525 <b>.1</b> 2	(-)160.93
Total of Developmental Expenditure(2)	1421.82	1 <u>093,18</u>	(-) <u>328,64</u>
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	311.13	214.43	(-) 96.70
4. Transfer to Funds	-	-	
5. Fresh Expenditure	٥		
6. Upgradation of emoluments	0 0 153.18 0	54.63	(-) 98.55
Total Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	2482.35	<u>1798.0</u> 8	(-) <u>684.27</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP(I-II)	(-) <u>642,55</u>	(+) <u>389.97</u>	(+) <u>1032.52</u>

#### Appendix I.28(xvii)

( Rs. crores )

# State Rajasthan Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment,

Item Reassessed Variations State (2-3)forecast estimates I. REVENUE RECEIPTS 1. Tax Revenues 918.19 1233.44 + 315.25 2. Non-tax Revenues 560.77 468.90 (-) 91.87 A. Interest Receipts 223.15 <u>67.32</u> (-)<u>155.83</u> a) State Electricity
37.89 46.85 8,96 b) Road Transport Corporation. 2.71 2.81 0.10 c) Departmental Commercial undertaking 167.93 (-)167.93d) Others 14.62 17.66 3.04 B. Interest receipts on fresh loans C. Other non-tax revenues. 337.62 401 .58 63.96 3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre. 4. Transfer from Funds 150.00 (-)150.005. Addl. Resource Mobilisation 60.42 60.42 Total of Revenue Receipts 1628.96 1762.76 +133,80

#### Appendix I.28(xvii)

#### State Rajasthan

1.	2.		4.
II. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure	<u>e</u>		
A. Debt Services (i) Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79.  a) Market loans.	336.13	337.24	• 1,11 (-) 0,26
b) Central Government. c) Others(including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, oth deposits, etc.)	•	48,25 208,61 80,38	• 3.87 (-) 2.50
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans.	-	-	_
(iii) Appropriation for redu or avoidance of Debt:	etion -		-
a) for existing loans.	-	-	<b>-</b>
b) for fresh loans	-	-	_
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure(excluding Public Works)	6 <b>.7.</b> 00	456.92	(-)150.08
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	943.13	<u>794,16</u>	(-) <u>143,97</u>
<ul> <li>Developmental Expenditure</li> <li>i) Education</li> <li>ii) Medical</li> </ul>	777.92 20 <b>5.</b> 67	552.14 151. <b>3</b> 0	(-)225.78 (-) 54. <b>3</b> 7
<ul><li>iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings (including housi</li><li>iv) Repairs and maintenance of</li></ul>	ng) 49.74	25.06	(-) 24.68
roads and bridges(includi local bodies).	ng 186.47	132.60	(-) 53.87
v) Other Developmental Expenditure.	1035.09	467.38	(-)567.71
<u>Total of Developmental</u> <u>Expenditure (2)</u>	2254.89	<u>1328.48</u>	(-) <u>926,41</u>
<ul> <li>3. Committed Expenditure on Plaschemes completed by the end of 1978-79.</li> <li>4. Transfer to Funds</li> <li>5. Fresh Expenditure</li> </ul>	217.29 150.00	222.56	+ 5.27 (-)150.00
<pre>6. Upgradation of emoluments</pre>	)179.11	80.80 )	(-) 98.31
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II).  Non-Plan Revenue gap (I - II)	<u>3744.42</u> (-) <u>2115.46</u>		(-) <u>1318.42</u> + <u>1452,22</u>

#### Appendix I.28(xviii)

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

<u></u> .			(Ps.	crores)
	Item	State forecast.	Reassessed estimates.	Variations (2-3)
I. R	evenue Receipts (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	Tax Revenues	8.33	8.76	(+) 0.43
2.	Non-tax Revenues			
	A. Interest Receipts			
	a) State Electricity Board.	•••		
	<ul><li>b) Road Transport Corporation.</li></ul>			
	c) Irrigation.	_	-	
	d) Others	2.38	1.59	(-) 0.79
	B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	0.08	-	(-) 0.08
	C. Other non-tax revenues.	20.46	18.53	(-) 1.93
3.	Non-plan Grants from Centre.	0.04	-	(-) 0.04
4.	Transfer from Funds	-	-	-
	Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	31.29	28,88	<u>(-) 2.41</u>
II. No	on-plan Expenditure on evenue Account			
1.	Non-Developmental Expenditure			•
	A. Debt Services			
	(i) Interest payments on loans outstand at the end of 1978-79	ing		-
	a)Market loans b)Central Govern- ment c)Others (includi	•	1.31	(+) 0.14
	interest on acc mulations durin the forecast pe in Provident Fu other deposits,	u- g 0.20 riod und,	0.20	-

#### Appendix I.28(xviii)

		STATE:	<u>s ikk im</u>
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans.	1.41	-	(-) 1.41
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt:	;- -	-	-
(a) for existing loans	-	-	-
(b) for fresh loans	_	<del>-</del>	•
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works)	13.19	10,91	(-) 2.28
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	15.97	12,42	(-) 3.55
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education (ii) Medical	5.88 2.74	4.70 2.44	(-) 1.18 (-) 0.30
(iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings (including housing)	3.26	1.78	
(iv) Repairs and maintenance of roads and bridges (including local bodies)	6.70	8.46	(*) 1 _• 76
(v) Other Developmental Expenditure	19.26	16.71	(-) 2.55
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2)	<u>37.84</u>	34.09	(-) 3.75
<ol> <li>Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79</li> </ol>	12.99	14.03	(+) 1.04
4. Transfer to Funds	-	***	-
5. Fresh Expenditure	-	_	-
6. Upgradation of emoluments	-	4.54	(+) 4.54
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	66.80	65.03	(-) 1.72
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I-II) (-	)35.51	(-) <u>36,2)</u>	(-) <u>0.69</u>

#### Appendix I.28(xix)

STATE : Tamil Nadu

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

			(Rs. Crores)
Item	State	Reassessed	Variations
1.	forecast. 2.	estimates 3.	(2-3) 4•
• REVENUE RECEIPTS		-4	
1. Tax Revenues	2107•18	2426.14	+318-96
2. Non-tax Revenues	457.28	<u>514, 18</u>	<u>+56,90</u>
A. Interest Receipts	<u>128,54</u>	<u>135.81</u>	<u>+7.27</u>
a) State Electricity Board	<del>(=</del>	56 <b>-</b> 40	+56.40
b) Road Transport Corporation	5.85	-	<b>(-</b> )5 _• 85
c) Commercial Deptts.	72.45	-	(-)72,45
d) Others	50.24	79•41	+29.17
8. Interest receipts on fresh loa	ns 22.77	-	(-) 22, 77
c) Other non-tax revenues	305.97	378 _• 37	+72,40
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre.	-	•••	••
4. Transfer from Funds	42.81	••	(-)42.81
5. Addl.Resource Mobilisation	-	51.38	+51.38
Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	2607.27	<u>2991.70</u>	+384,43
Non-plan Expenditure on Revenue Acco	<u>unt</u>		
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
A. Debt Services			
(i) Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79.	<u>349.39</u>	<u>342, 24</u>	(-) <u>7.15</u>
a) Market loans	65.36	65 ₄ 70	
b) Central Government	171.93		+0.34
. c) Others (including inter		177.55	<del>4</del> 5.62
on accumulations during forecast period in Prov	the ident	98,99	(-)13.11
fund, other deposits, e	100/ 112010		(-) io- i i

## Appendix I.28(xix) STATE * Temil Nadu

1.	2•	3.	4,
(iii)Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debts	117,89		( <b>-</b> ) <u>117.89</u>
a) for existing loans	86.60	-	(-)86.60
b) for fresh loans	31.29	-	(-)31.29
B. Other Non-developmental expenditure (excluding public Works)	951•28	825 _• 44	(-)125.84
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure (1)	<u>1590,49</u>	1167.68	(-) <u>422<b>.</b>81</u>
• Developmental Expenditure			
(1) Education	1031-11	932.50	<b>(-</b> )98 <b>.</b> 61
(ii) Medical	345.14	302.76	(-)42,38
(iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings (including housing)	65 <b>•</b> 0 <b>7</b>	26•58	<b>(-</b> )38 _• 49
<ul><li>(iv) Repairs and maintenance of road and bridges (including local bodies).</li><li>(v) Other Developmental Expenditure</li></ul>	234.38	209 _• 68 720 _• 51	( <b>-</b> )24 <b>.</b> 70 ( <b>-</b> )278 <b>.</b> 63
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2)	2674.84	2192.03	(=) <u>482,81</u>
5. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79	292.26	229•00	<b>(-)</b> 63 <b>.</b> 26
• Transfer to Funds	80.35	•	(-)80,35
5. Fresh Expenditure	57.30	-	(-)57.30
5. Upgradation of emoluments	275.00	251 _• 99	(-) 23.01
Total - Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	4970.24	3840,70	(-) <u>1129,54</u>
	-) <u>2362<b>.</b>97</u>	( <b>-</b> ) <u>849,00</u>	+ <u>1513,97</u>

### Appendix I.28(xx)

STATE: TRIPURA

### Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

			(b. crores)
Item	State forecast.	Reassessed estimates.	Variations.
1	2	3	4
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues	12.47	13.91	+ 1.44
2. Non-tax Revenues			
A. Interest Receipts			
a) State Electricity Board.	-	••.	-
b) Road Transport Corporation.	-	-	-
c) Commercial	16.24	1•25	(-)14-99
d) Others	3.32	0.47	(-) 2.85
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	0, 29	-	(-) 0, 29
C. Other non-tax revenues.	16.41	27.61	+11.20
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre.	-	-	-
4. Transfer from Funds	-	-	-
'Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	48.73	43.24	(-) <u>5.49</u>
Addl.Resource Mobilisation	-	<u>1.15</u> 44.39	(+) <u>1.15</u> (-) <u>4.34</u>
II. Non-plan Expenditure on Revenue Acc	ount		•
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
A. Debt Services  (i) Interest payments on loans outstanding at the end of 1978-79.	ı		
a) Market loans b) Central Government	3•72 11•04	2.51 3.02	(-) 1.21 (-)8.02

## Appendix I.28(xx)

STATE: TRIPURA

				(&.crores
Item			Reassossed estimates.	
1		2	3	4
c)	Others (including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in Provide Fund, other deposits, etc.	ent Je	6• 55	••
(ii)	Interest payments on fresh loans.	4.65	0,40	(-) 4.25
(iii)	Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt:	on		
	a) for existing loans	-	-	•
	b) for fresh loans	0.45	-	(-) 0.45
ex	her Non-developmental penditure (excluding blic Works)	71 <b>.</b> 28	44. 58	(-)26.70
	-Developmental	<u>97.69</u>	57.06	(-) <u>40,63</u>
(i) Educat (ii) Medicat (iii) Repair buildi (iv) Repair roads local (v) Other Expenditure	intal Expenditure  cion al rs and maintenance of ings(including housing) rs and maintenance of and bridges(including bodies).  Developmental diture.  relopmental (2)  Responditure on Plan completed by the end	62.71 11.44 17.96 14.23 84.16 190.50	60.81 14.35 5.12 13.76 44.10 138.14	(-) 1.90 (+) 2.91 (-)12.84 (-) 0.47 (-)40.06 (-)52.36
4. Transfer		-	-	-
5. Fresh Exp 6. Upgrada emolumen	tion of	34•04 [©]	20.75	(-)13.29
Total - )	Non-Plan expenditure on account (II)	<u> 353.31</u>	240.62	(-) <u>112,69</u>
NON-PLAN RE	VENUE GAP (I - II) (.	304.58		(+) 108.35
@ State forec	east includes D.A. revision	after 1.1.	.1977•	

#### Appendix I.28(xxi)

## Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

(Rs. crores)

Item		State forecast	Reassessed estimates.	Variations (3-2)
1,		2.	3.	4.
	EVENUE RECEIPTS			,
1.	Tax Revenues	2264.94	2908•23	+643.29
2.	Non-tax Revenues			
J	A. Interest Receip	ts		
	a) State Electri- city Board.	<b>34</b> •25	356.40	+322•15
	b) Road Transport Corporation.	17.94	12.84	- 5.10
	c) Irrigation	472.30	-	-472.30
	d) Others	34.28	58.53	+ 24.25
B∙	Interest receipts on fresh loans	180.92	· •	-180.92
C.	Other non-tax revenues.	769.71	905.83	+136•12
	on-plan Grants rom Centre.	-	<b></b>	-
4. !	Transfer from Funds	192.99	-	-192.99
5.	Addl.Resource Mobi	lisation	125.32	+125.32
	otal of Revenue eccipts (I)	3967.33	4367.15	<u>+399,82</u>
II. No	on-plan Expenditur n Revenue Account	<u>e</u>		
1. Nor	n-Developmental penditure			
A. <u>D</u> e	ebt Services			
(1)	Interest payments on loans outstand- ing at the end			
	of 1978-79. a) Market loans	94•58	86.28	- 8.30
	b) Central Government	416.82	434.10	+17-28

#### Appendix 1.28(xxi)

#### STATE UTTAR PRADESH

		(Rs.	crores)
Item	State forecast	Reassessed estimates	Variations (3-2)
1.	2.	3,	4
c)Others (including interest on accumulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund other deposits, etc.)	140.60 \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\	140.60	<b>-</b> -240,48
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans.	240•4O	<del>-</del>	-240840
(iii)Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt:			
a)for existing loans b) for fresh loans	152 <b>.3</b> 5 s 74 <b>.</b> 51	=	-152.35 - 74.51
B. Other Non- developmental expenditure (excluding Public Works	)	1025.84	<b>-</b> 366 <b>.</b> 04
Total of Non-Developmenta Expenditure (1)	<u>2511.22</u>	1686.82	-824.40
2. Developmental Expenditu			
<ul><li>(i) Education</li><li>(ii) Medical</li><li>(iii) Repairs and</li><li>maintenance of</li><li>buildings</li></ul>	1650.66 295.40	1254•37 304•89	-396•29 + 9•49
(including housing (iv) Repairs and	24.68	46 <b>.1</b> 6	+ 21.48
maintenance of roads and bridge (including local bodies).	s 293.90	234.56	<b>-</b> 59 <b>.</b> 34
(v) Other Developmental Expenditure.	1 2117•49	1334.72	<del>-</del> 782 <b>.</b> 77
Total of Developmental Expenditure (2) (1+2)	4382 <b>.13</b> 6893 <b>.3</b> 5	3174.70 4854.22	<u>-1207.43</u> -2039.13

160

### Appendix I.28(xxi)

			R PRADESH Prores)
Item	State forefast	Reassessed Estimates	
1.	2.	3•	4.
3. Committed Expenditur on Flan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79		531.37	-272,35
4. Transfer to Funds	192.99	<del></del>	-192.99
5. Fresh Expenditure	2290.57	-	-2290.57
6. Upgradation of emoluments			
·	-	232.92	+232.92
Total -Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (	<u>10180.83</u> II)	5626.01	-4554.82
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I - II)	<u>-6213.50</u>	<del>-1258.86</del>	+4954.64

### Appendix I.28(xx11)

STATE WEST BENGAL

Overall Summary Table of State forecast and reassessment.

(Rs. crores)

Item	State forecast.	Reassessed estimates.	Variations (3-2)
			4
I. REVENUE RECEIPTS			
1. Tax Revenues	2346.07	2421.87	<b>75 .</b> 80
2. Non-tax Revenues	616.08	769.92	153.84
A. Interest Receipts	79.05	143.82	64.77
a) State Electricity Board.	_	41.75	41.75
b) Road Transport Corporation.	-	5.53	5.53
c) Irrigation.	61.95	-	( <b>-</b> ) 61.95
d) Others	14.50	96.54	82.04
B. Interest receipts on fresh loans	2.60	-	(_) 2.60
C. Other non-tax revenues.	537.03	626.10	89.07
3. Non-plan Grants from Centre.	-	-	-
4. Transfer from Funds	-	<b>-</b>	
Total of Revenue Receipts (I)	2962.15	3191.79	229.64
Addl.Resource Mobilisation	-	(=)60.78	(-) 60.78
Net Receipts	2962.15	3131.01	168,86

### Appendix I.28(xxii)

	WEST	BENGAL
--	------	--------

		STATE_W	EST DE	IACATT
		3	4	<u> </u>
II. Non-plan Expenditure on Revenue Account.				-
1. Non-Developmental Expenditu	<u>ce</u>			
A. Debt Services		,		
<ul><li>(i) Interest payments</li><li>on loans outstand-</li><li>ing at the end of</li><li>1978-79.</li><li>a) Market loans</li></ul>	<b>37</b> •98	37 <b>.</b> 75	(-)	0•23
b) Central Government	288.42	318,21	(+)	29.79
c) Others(including interest on accu- mulations during the forecast period in Provident Fund, other deposits, et	,	51,11	-	-
(ii) Interest payments on				_
fresh loans.	45,40	7.08	(-)	38.32
<pre>(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoid- ance of Debt:</pre>				
<ul><li>a) for existing loans</li></ul>	38.07	-	(-)	38.07
b) for fresh loans	-	-		-
B.Other Non-developmental expenditure(excluding Public Works)	996.03	848.79	(-) :	147.24
Total of Non-Developmental Expenditure(1)	1457.01	1262.94	(-)	194,07
2. Developmental Expenditure	000 05	000 45		
(i) Education (ii) Medical	920 •05 488 •49	833 <b>,</b> 65 309 <b>,</b> 60		86.40 178.89
(iii) Repairs and maintenance of buildings(including housing)	137.90	39.43		98.47
(iv) Repairs and maintenance		27 6 43	\ <del>-</del> /	<i>3</i> 0 <b>• ⁴</b> /
of roads and bridges (including local bodies)	. 123.91	94.50	(-)	29.41
<pre>(v) Other Developmental   expenditure</pre>	1410.26	864.86	( <b>-</b> ) !	545.40
Total of Developmental Expenditure(2)	3080,61	2142.04		938 •57

#### Appendix I.28(xxii)

#### WEST BENGAL

		3.	₁
			·
3. Committed Expenditure on Plan schemes completed by the end of 1978-79.	527.10	345.57	(-) 181,53
4. Transfer to Funds	4.55	-	( <b>-</b> ) 4.55
5. Fresh Expenditure	939.01 ¹ /	237.79	(-) 701.22
6. Upgradation of emoluments			
Total Non-Plan expenditure on revenue account (II)	6008,28	<u>3998.34</u>	(-) <u>2019.94</u>
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (I - II)	(-)3046.13	(-)857.33	(+) 2188,80
		~ ~ ~	

^{1/}Excludes D.A. and Pay increases sanctioned in 1977-78, which is included under different items above.

## Itemwise Reported Expenditure by State Governments in respect of Natural Calamities - 1974-75 to 1977-78 - Against Advance Plan Assistance.

	Items	1077 75	1000 00	1070 ""	1000 00		Percentag		1077 70		<u>ice Plan A</u> 5 1976-76		
	1	2	1975-76 3	1976-77	1977-78 5	1974-75	1975-76 7	1976-77	1917-78	19/4-7	11	12	13
. <u>Dr</u>	ought												
1.	. Roads	410.00	25.00	377.00	-	7.06	0.71	3.79	-				
2	. Soil Conservation	858.60	12.00	372.00	-	14.78	0.34	3.74	-				
3,	•	1356.00	-	1886.00	962.00	23,35	-	18.95	5.77				
•	Drinking Water Works	524.00	-	1728.00	-	9,02	-	17.36	-				
5.	Sinking of Wells	375.00	-	29,50	-	6,46	-	0.30	-				
6.	Afforestation	-	17.29	57.00	-	-	0.49	0, 57	-				
7.	Employment generation	1024,00	-	1533.00	-	17.63	-	15.40	-				
8.	. Renovation of Tanks	450.00	-	-	-	7.75	-	•	-				
9.	Others	-	21.00	8.19	-	-	0. 5 <del>9</del>	0,08	-				
	Total - I	4997.60	75.29	5990.69	962,00	86.05	2.13	60.19	5.77	4404.00	73.00	3730.00	962.0
. FI	oods												
	Reconstruction/												
-•	replacement of (i) Roads and Communication	AS 284.00	1380, 00	1115.00	2143.63	4.89	39.03	11.20	12,87				
	(ii) Flood Control/ Irrigation Wor Tubewells	ka/	1390.00	1916.65	2371.00	7.27	39.32	19.26	14.23				
2.	Hard Manual												
	Labour	104.00	-	-	-	1.79	-	· -	-				
3.	Reconstruction of												
•	Buildings/Godown	ı <b>s</b> -	100.00	30.00	106.00	-	2.83	0.30	0.64				
4.	Drinking Water Supply Schemes	-	_	50.00	16.00	_	_	0, 50	0, 10				
5.	Electricity Boards	s -	35.00	200.00	_	-	0,99	2.01	_				
6.	Resettlement	-	-	60,00	100,00	_	-	0,61	0.60				
7.	Subsidy for Seeds	etc.											
	to Farmers	-	-	51.98	188.85	-	-	0, 52	1.13				
8.	Village reconstruct programmes	otion _	100,00	77.00	53.00	_	2,83	0.77	0.32				
9.	Slum Clearance B	oard -	_	60.00	_	_	_	0,61	_				
10.	Soil Conservation	,						0.02	_				
	Afforestation	-	-	-	53.00	-	-	-	0, 32				
11.	Others	-	40.00	-	32,00	-	1.13	-	0.19				
	Total - II	810.00	3045.00	3560.63	5063.48	13.95	66.13	35.78	30,40	584.00	2545.00	3159.50	4998.73
. <u>C</u> y	olone/Earthquake												
1.	Roads and Bridges		-	110.00	2260.00	_	-	1.10	13.57				
2.	Irrigation Works	-	25.00	186.00	1327.00	-	0,71	1.87	7.97				
3.	Construction of Buildings/Huts	_	40.00	25.00	2284.72	_	1 10						
4.			360.00	2.00	1300.00	_	1.13 9.90	0.25	13.71				
	Assistance to	•	000.00	2.00	1300.00	•	8.30	0, 02	7.80				
	Weavers etc.	-	-	75.00	630,00	-	-	0.76	3,78				
ď.	Restoration of Water Supply	-	_	3.00	95.00	-	_	0.03	0 re				
7.	Resettlement	-	-	-	1630.00	-	_	<b>0.</b> 03	0.57 9.78				
8.	Medical Care etc.	_	-	-	242.71	_	_	_					
	Assistance to Agriculturists	_	_	-		_			1.46		1		
10	Others	_	_		602.50	-	-	-	3,62				
IU.		-	-	-	261.00	-	-	-	1.57				
	Total - III	$\dot{=}$	415.00	401.00	10632.93	<u>-</u>	11.74	4.03	63.83	<u> </u>	915.00	401,00	8946.72
	Grand Total	5807,60	3535.29			100.00	100,00						

Source: - Plan Finance Division - Union Ministry of Finance (Department of Expenditure).

#### EXPENDITURE ON FAMINE RELIEF & NATURAL CALAMITIES

(Rs. crores)

50	ATES	107/-75	(Actuals)	1 175-76	(Actuals	1975-77	(Pre-Actuals)	1977-78	(Estimates)
91	RIEG	Plan	Non-Flan	Plan	Non-Flan	Flan	Non-Plan	Flan	Non-Plan
1.	Andhra Pradesh		6.42		3,03		N.I		N.I
2.	Assam		4.17		2.15		2.48		1.45
3.	Bihar		9.31		9.40		10.36		4.63
4.	Gujarat	59.30	12.66	53.07	14.71	4.25	2.59	10.43	2.30
5.	Haryana	2.00	4.04	_	1.63		1.55		1.24
6.	Himachal Pradesh		0.13		1.02		0.56		0.30
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	-	3.09	-	1.35	_	2.29	_	1.97
8.	Karnataka	-	2.18	-	2.54	12.24	9.61	15.00	1.75
9.	Normia	0.22	1.49	0.41	2.40	0.02	2.05	0.70	1,60
17.	Madnya Precesh	11.74	5 <b>.71</b>	8.82	7.79	18.02	2.44	-	9.00
11.	Maharashtra	-	2.41	_	1.09	-	2.15	-	4.44
12.	Manipur		0.01		0.01		0.30		N .I
+13 <b>.</b>	Meghalaya		0.22		0.10		0.10		0.04
14.	Nagaland	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-
15.	Orissa	7.91	<b>3.</b> 85	7.55	3.40	5.10	<b>3.</b> 66	8.52	<b>3.</b> 59
16.	Punjab		0.30		3.35		13.14	•	1.52
17.	Rajasthan	<b>15.3</b> 9	7.09	16.25	10.26		N.I		N.I.
18.	Sikkim	-	-	0.73	-	_	-	-	
M9.	Temil Nadu		21.42		<b>33.7</b> 6		33.51	-	N.I.
•2 <b>0</b> -	Tripura	-	0.09	-	0.42	-	0.10	-	-
21.	Uttar Pradesh	4.70	4.57	7.52	5.31	15.41	10.39	18.67	13.25
22.	West Bengal	10.00	5.25	-	10.83	-	12.10	-	N I
	TOTAL:	111.26	94.41	94.35	114.55	55.04	129.38	53.32	47.08

Source:- Subsidiary Point No.37

N.I. - Not indicated by the State Government.

^{*}The State Government has not furnished bifurcation of the expenditure into Plan and Non-Plan separately.

D.O. letter No.F. 13(13)-B(S)/78 dated the 20th September, 1978 from Shri K.N. Row, Joint Secretary (Budget), Ministry of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs, to Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary.

Please refer to your D.O. letter No.7FC.11(2)-Res/77 dated the 16th September 1978 regarding additional duties of excise.

The Additional Duties of Excise (Goods of Special Importance) Act, 1957 provides for levy of additional excise duties on certain commodities. The duties are levied by agreement with the State Governments in lieu of the sales tax levied by them on those commodities. The act does not debar the levy of sales tax by a State on any of the commodities covered by it. But such a course is discouraged by virtue of (a) inclusion of these commodities in the list of "declared goods" and thereby subject them to the restriction specified in Section 15 of the Central Sales Tax Act 1956 i.e. a ceiling of 4% for the levy of sales tax and (b) the proviso in the Second Schedule to the Act which provides for discontinuance of the share of additional duties in the event of levy of any sales tax by a State. In the original Act of 1957, the proviso appeared under each of the three parts of the Second Schedule dealing with one of the commodities covered by the Act. Thus the intention of the Government was to cease payment of additional duties realised from a commodity to a State if that State levied and collected any sales tax on that commodity. By the Amendment made in 1962, the distribution of net proceeds of additional duties, commodity-wise, was discontinued in pursuance of the recommendation of the Third Finance Commission. The wording of the proviso in the Second Schedule in the Amendment Acts of 1962 and 1965, however, later led to an interpretation that no part of the payment of additional duties can be discontinued to a State so long as it did not levy and collect sales tax on all the commodities mentioned in the proviso. Since the intention was to make pro-rata reduction in the payment due to a State if it levied and collected sales tax on any one or more of the Commodities covered by the Act, the proviso was reworded when the Act was amended in 1969. In terms of this amendment, the payment of share of additional duties would cease if a State levies sales tax on any of the commodities mentioned in the proviso; at the same time the special order envisaged in the same proviso was intended to regulate suitably the payment due to the States with such reductions as were necessary consequent on the levy of sales tax by that State.

Incidentally, there has so far been no occasion since the introduction of additional duties in 1957, to invoke the above proviso in the Second Schedule.

We hope this clarifies the issue.

D.O. No.52/70-Economic dated 10.2.1971 from Shri A. Mitra, Secretary, Planning Commission, New Delhi, addressed to Shri P. Govindan Nair, Secretary, Ministry of Finance, Department of Revenue & Insurance, New Delhi.

I am enclosing for your perusal a copy of the summary record of the meeting of the Committee of the National Development Council held at Vigyan Bhawan on 28th December, 1970, at 10.30 A.M. to discuss replacement of sales tax on sugar, tobacco and mill-made textiles by additional excise duty. As you are aware, the agreed conclusions, as summed up by Deputy Chairman, Planning Commission, on which you may like now to proceed were:

- (1) The ad valorem system of additional excise duties be extended to all items except un-manufactured tobacco in respect of which specific rates may continue subject to periodical review and adjustments on the recommendations of Standing Review Committee.
- (ii) The incidence of additional excise duties be raised to 10.8 per cent of the value of clearances as soon as possible during the next two or three years.
- (iii) While making upward adjustments in basic excise duties in future, the Government of India need not rigidly adhere to, but always keep in view, a ratio of 2:1 between the yield of basic and special excise duties on the one hand and additional excise duties on the other.
- (iv) The Ministry of Finance will restructure the rates of additional excise duties with a view to reaching the incidence of 10.8 per cent of the value of clearances of all the three items taken together. While doing so the Ministry of Finance could make differential increases in the rates of additional excise duties on individual items or their components on the basis of their assessment of the burden that different items or components will be able to bear. They will also have the option of making some compensatory adjustments in the rates of basic excise duties if the total incidence on any individual item calls for such adjustment.
- (v) A Standing Review Committee be set up with Member (Tariff), Board of Indirect Taxes, Government of India, and Finance Secretaries/Finance Commissioners of all States Governments as Members and Economic Adviser, Planning Commission, as Convenor. The Committee will meet at least once a year to review the working of the new arrangement and make such recommendations as may be necessary for its further improvement.

A separate Order for the appointment of the Standing Review Committee is being issued by the Commission.

## STATEMENT SHOWING INCIDENCE OF BASIC DUTY, ETC AND ADDITIONAL EXCISE DUTY (IN LIEU OF SALES TAX)

#### (Rupuss in ereres.)

Year	Value of clearances (Approx.)	BED+SED+ RED+AYED	Addl. duty of Excise.	Inciden Basic + Spl. + Reg.+Aux d	Addl. duty	
1.	2.	<b>3.</b>	4.	5.	6.	
			<b></b>	%	<b>%</b>	
1972-73	1732.83	440.00	135.62	25.39	7.83	
1973-74	2007.38	488.85	173.75	24•35	8,66	•
1974-75	2409.49	553.65	187.89	22.98	7.80	
1975-76	3417.77	623.67	223.43	18.25	6, 53	
1976-77	4061-65	673.74	257 <b>.13</b>	16-59	6ი უ3	
1977-78 (RBE)	4295.67 (Provl.)	693.02	292.76	16-13	6.82	
1978-79	N.A.	754.22.	325 <b>. 7</b> 0	-		

Source : i) Directorate of Statistics & Intelligence for Col. 2.

Note &- BED = Basic excise duty

SED = Special excise duty

RED = Regulatory excise duty

AYED= Auxiliary expise duty.

(Received vide D.O. F.No.333/7/77-TRU dt.12.9.78 from Shri G. Sankaran. Commissioner, (Tax Research) Department of Revenue, Ministry of Financey to Member-Secretary, Finance Commission.

ii) Explanatory Memorandum of Budget Division for Col. 3 and Col. 4.

Appendix III.3(ii)

STATEMENT SHOWING RATIO DETWEEN BASIC AND ADDITIONAL EXCISE DUTIES 1771-72 TO 1978-79.

Commodity	Basic duty+ Spl. duty+ Regulatory duty + Auxi- liary duty.	Additional excise duty	Ratio between Col.2 & Col.3
(1)	(2)	(3)	(A)
	(Rupees in <u>1971-</u>		
Suga <b>r</b>	133.55	33.12	4.03:1
Tobacco	234•19	43.32	5.47:1
Cloth	72.08	29.77	2.42:1
	439.82	106.21	4.14:1
	<u> 1972-</u>	<del>-73</del>	<del></del>
Sugar	140.66	36.60	3.64:1
CoosdoT	226.37	62 <b>.</b> 48	3.62:1
Cloth	72.97	36.54	2.00:1
	44000	135.62	3.24:1
	<u> 1973-</u>	<u>-74</u>	
Sugar	<b>1</b> 54 <b>.</b> 60	43.33	3.56:1
Tobacco	244.64	88 <b>.</b> 9 <b>5</b>	2.75:1
Cloth	89.61	41.47	2.16:1
	483.85	173.75	2,81:1
	<u> 1974</u> -	<u>-75</u>	
Sugar	153.67	42.20	3.64:1
Tobacco	295.22	99.27	2.97:1
Cloth	104.76	46.42	2.25:1
	553.65	187.89	2.95:1

(Received vide D.O. F. No.333/7/77-TRU dated 12th September, 1978 from Shri G. Sankaran, Commissioner (Tax Research), Department of Revenue, Ministry of Finance to Member Secretary, Finance Commission).

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	<u>19</u>	75 <b>-</b> 76_	
Sugar	194.84	45.86	4.16:1
Tobacco	343.50	113•26	3.03:1
Cloth	85 <b>.33</b>	63 <b>.31</b>	1.35:1
	623.67	223.43	2.79:1
	197	76 <b>-77</b>	<del></del>
Sugar	192.73	48.47	3.98:1
Tobacco	338.47	126 <b>.</b> 35	3.07:1
Cloth	92.54	82.31	1.12:1
	673.74	257.13	2.62:1
	<u>197</u> 7	<u>'-78</u> (R <b>E)</b>	
Sugar	156.84	53.46	2.93:1
Inbacco	437.23	139.85	3 <b>.13:1</b>
Cloth	98.95	99,45	0.99:1
	693.02	292.76	2.37:1
	1978	3-79 (DE)	
dugar	154.91	65.07	2.38:1
lobacco	488.36	148.07	3.30:1
Cloth	110.95	112.56	0.99:1
	754.22	325.70	2.32:1

D.O. letter No.60(34)/75-Eco. daved the 18th September, 1978 from Shri Ram N. Lal Director(FR), Young Bhevan, New Delhi to Shri R.K. Dar, Joint Secretary, Finance Commission, Vigyan Bhawan Annexe, New Delhi.

*** * *

Kindly refer to your D.O. letter No. 7/FC/7(1)-Res/77 of August 8, 1978 regarding the reasons for not convening the meeting of the Review Committee constituted in 1971 for keeping under review the working of the arrangements in respect of the additional excise duties. The Ministry of Finance had requested us in 1975 for convening a meeting of this Committee to discuss the proposal for withdrawal of additional excise duty in lieu of sales tax on art silk fabrics and restoration of the right to levy sales tax on such fabrics to the State Governments. We felt that the meeting of the Committee could not be called for this limited purpose only. The meeting would have provided an opportunity to discuss the wider question of the working of the scheme itself. It was, therefore, considered necessary to prepare a position paper reviewing the working of the entire scheme before convening the meeting of the Review Committee.

- 2. As the preparation of the position paper took time, it was suggested to the Ministry of Finance that they might themselves take a view in regard to the revision of additional excise duties insofar as the budget proposals for 1976-77 were concerned and the question of convening the meeting of the Review Committee could be considered thereafter.
- 3. Subsequently, the Government set up the Indirect Taxation Enquiry Committee. The terms of reference of this Committee covered review of the existing structure of indirect taxes of the Centre, States and Local bodies in all its respects. It appears that some of the State Governments had already posed, in their memoranda submitted to this Committee, the question of working of the scheme of additional excise duties. In the circumstances, convening of the meeting of the Review Committee might have involved duplication of work and making of overlapping recommendations by two different bodies. Hence it was decided not to convene the meeting of the Review Committee.

Appendix IV.1(i)
Total Transfer of Resources from Centre to the States

	1951-52 to 1978-79			
			( <u>Fs</u> (	rores)_
	Share in taxes_	Grants	Loans	Total
First Five-Year Plan 1951-52	5 <b>3</b>	32	73	158
1952 <b>–53</b> 1953–54 1954–55 1955–56	74 72 71 74	35 46 70 105	112 155 221 238	221 273 362 417
Total:	<u>344</u>	<u>288</u>	<u>799</u>	1431
Second Five Year Plan 1956-57 1957-58 1958-59 1959-60 1960-61	79* 116* 151* 157* 165*	84 119 153 195 238	209 284 284 - 295 339	372 ' 519 588 647 742
Total.	<u>663</u>	<u>789</u>	<u>1411</u>	<u> 2868</u>
Third Five-Year Plan				
1961-62 1962-63 1963-64 1964-65 1965-66	179 224 259 258 276	217 223 231 285 348	452 523 624 680 821	848 970 1114 1223 1445
Total:	<u>1196</u>	<u>1304</u>	<u>3100</u>	<u>5600</u>
Three Annual Plans				
1966-67 1967-63 1968-69	373 417 4 <u>9</u> 2	419 471 499	916 869 891	1708 1757 1882
<u>Total</u> :	<u>1282</u>	<u>1389</u>	<u> 2676</u>	5347
Fourth Five-Year Plan				
1969 <b>-</b> 70 1970-71 1971-72 1972-73 1973-74	622 755 944 1067 1174	531 544 854 944 9 <b>5</b> 8	1029 1002 1191 1926 1560	2182 2301 2989 3937 3692
<u>Total</u> :	<u>4562</u>	<u> 3831</u>	6708	15101

173

## Appendix IV.i(i) (Concld)

	Share in taxes	Grants	Loans	Total
Fifth Five-Year Plan				
1974-75	1224	1020	1076	<b>3</b> 320
1975-76	1599	1219	1274	4092
1976-77	1690	1549	1460	4690
1977-78(RE)	1799	1948	1972	5719
1973-79(BE)	2025	2399	30289	7452
Total:	<u>9337</u>	<u>8135</u>	<u>8810</u>	<u>25282</u>

^{*} Does not take into account State's share in tax on railway passenger fares; these transfers are shown under 'grants'.

[@] Includes following loans not taken into account in the Budget estimates for 1978-79.

	(%. crores)
<ul><li>i) Loans to cover gap in resources</li></ul>	427
ii) Loans es advance plan assistance	143
<u>Total</u>	<u>570</u>

Appendix IV.1(ii)
Transfers to the States on the basis of the recommendations of the Finance Commission during 1951-52-1978-79.

						ـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ		CIMTes	)
	Share	in Div & duti	visible	Taxes			y and other	r	Grand Total
	Income Tax	Union of exc	duties		Total	Art.275 grants		Tetal	
<u>lst Fiv</u>	e Year	Plan				•			
1951-52	53	_	_		53	1	16	17	70
1952-53	<b>57</b>	17	**	_	74	5	14	19	93
1953-54	57	15	-	-	72	7	14	21	93
1954-55	56	15	-		71	7	15	22	93
1955-56	55.	17	-	2	74	7	17	24	98
<u>Total</u>	<u>278</u>	<u>64</u>	•••	<u>2</u>	<u>344</u>	<u>27</u>	<u>76</u>	<u> 103</u>	117
2nd Fiv	e-Year_	<u>Plan</u>				•			
1956-57	59	18		2	79*	8	12	20	99
1957-58	74	29	11	2	116*	36	12	48	164
1958-59	76	33	40	2	151*	36	21	57	208
1959-60	79	36	39	3	157 <del>*</del>	36	26	62	219
1960-61	87	37	<b>3</b> 3	3	165*	37	26	63	228
<u>Total</u>	<u>375</u>	<u>153</u>	<u>128</u>	<u>12</u>	<u>668</u>	<u>153</u>	<u>97</u>	<u>250</u>	<u>918</u>
3rd Fiv	<u>e-Year</u>	<u>Plan</u>							
1961_62	94	41	40	4	179	40	16	56	235
1962-63	95	79	46	4	224	61	19	80	304
1963-64	119	92	44	4	259	62	20	82	341
1964-65	124	86	41	7	253	65	23	88	346
1965-66	123	100	46	7	276	64	24	88	364
<u>Total</u>	<u>555</u>	<u> 398</u>	<u>217</u>	<u>26</u>	<u>1196</u>	<u> 292</u>	<u>102</u>	394	<u> 1590</u>
Three A	<u>nnual P</u>	<u>lans</u>							
1966-67	137	184	47	5	373	141	28	169	542
1967-68	175	203	32	7	417	141	24	165	582
1968-69	195	241	50	6.	492	141	25	166	658
<u>Total</u>	<u>507</u>	<u>628</u>	<u>129</u>	18	1282	423	<u>77</u>	500	1782
4th Fiv	<u>e-Year</u>	<u>Plan</u>							•
1969-70	293	266	56	7	622	153	26	179	801
1970-71	359	318	72	6	<b>7</b> 5 <b>5</b>	142	29	171	926
1971-72	462	369	106	7	944	141	27	168	1112
1972-73	492	432	135	8	1067	146	31	177	1244
1973-74	532	465	166	11	1174	131	33	164	1338
To tal	<u>2138</u>	<u>1850</u>	<u>535</u>	<u>39</u>	<u>4562</u>	<u>713</u>	<u>146</u>	<u>859</u>	<u>5421</u>

## Appendix IV.1(ii) (Concld.)

	Share	in Div	visible les	Taxes		Statutory	· ·	r	Grand Total
	I.Tax	of c	duties kcise Addl.	Estate Duty	Total	Art,275 Grants	Other grants@	Total	-
5th Five	<u>Yээг Р</u>	<u>lan</u>			- <del> </del>		<del></del>		
1974-75	512	524	178	10	1224	482	24	506	1730
1975-76	734	646	211	8	1599	503	16	519	2118
1976-77	652	774	254	10	1690	500	16	516	2206
1977-78(	RE)675	812	302	10	1799	583	18	601	2400
1978-79(	BE)737	961	317	10	2025	672	17	. 699	2714
<u>Total</u>	<u> 3310</u>	<u>3717</u>	1262	<u>48</u>	<u>8337</u>	2740	<u>91</u>	2831	11163

^{*} Does not take into account States share in tax on railway passenger fares. These transfers are shown under "Other grants"

@ Other grants - The break-up is as shown below:-

						<u>(Ps. Cro</u> :	<u>'es)</u>
	Art. 275	Provisos to Art. 275	Art. 278	States' reorga- nisation grants	Railway Passenger fares Tax/ grant.	Wealth tax on agricul.	Total
1951-52	2	1	13	_	-	-	16
1952-53	3	2	9	_	-	-	14
1953-54	3	2	9		-	_	14
1954-55	3	3	9		-	-	15
1955-56	3	5	9	_	-	-	17
1956-57	3	5	-	4	_	-	12
1957-58	3	3	_	1	5		12
1958-59	3	6	-	1	11	-	21
1959-60	4	8	-	I	13	-	26
1960-61	-	12	-	<b></b>	14	-	26
1961-62	-	4	_	**	12	••	16
1962-63	-	7	-	-	12	-	19
1963-64	-	7	÷	_	13	-	20
196465	-	10	-	-	13	-	23
1965-66	-	11	-	-	13	÷	24
1966-67	949	12	-	-	16	-	28
1967-68	_	8	_	-	16	-	24
1968-69	-	9	-	-	16	-	25
1969-70	_	10	_	<u>-</u> ·	16	-	26
1970-71	-	10	-		16	3	29
1971-72		11	_	-	16		27
1972-73	_	14	<u>:</u>	-	16	1	31
1973-74	-	16	-	-	16	1	33
1974-75	-	8	_	-	16	-	24
1975-76			-	-	16	-	16
1976-77	-	_			16	-	16
1977-78(RE)	_	-	-	-	16	2	18
1978-79 (BE)		_	-	-	16	1	17

#### Appendix IV.1(iii)

## Central Transfers to the States for the Planduring 1951-52 to 1978-79

					(R: . cr	res)	
	Assista	nce for	State	Central			Grand
·		lans	_	sponsor			Total
	Grants	Loans	Total	Grants			
First Five Year Pl	a n					<del></del>	
195152	x	x	29	×	x	X.	×
1952-53	×	×	35	x	X	x	×
1953-54	x	x	58	x	x	x	×
1954-55	x	x	100	x	x	x	×
1955-56	×	x	128	x	×	x	×
<u>Total</u>	×	×	<u>350</u>	x	×	<u>530</u>	<u>880</u>
Second Five Year P	<u>lan</u>						
1956-57	33	126	159	x	x	x	x
1957_58	40	182	222	×	x	x	×
1958 <b>-59</b>	48	161	209	×	×	x	x
1959-60	62	154	216	x	x	x	×
1960-61	71	181	252	x	×	x	x
<u>Total</u>	<u> 254</u>	8C4	<u>1058</u>	x	x	X	x
Third Five Year Pl	<u>a n</u>						
1961-62	x	×	354	20	5	25	379
1962-63	x	x	412	26	4	30	442
1963-64	x	x	457	36	14	50	50 <b>7</b>
1964-65	X	x	606	44	11	55	661
1965-66	x	x	686	49	14	63	749
<u>Total</u>	x	×	<u> 2515</u>	<u>175</u>	<u>48</u>	223	<u>2738</u>
<u>Three Annual Plan</u>							
1966-67	x	x	568	×	x	x	x
1967-68	91	489	580	x	X	X	x
1968-69	124	495	619	x	x	×	x
<u>To ta l</u>	×	×	<u>1767</u>	<b>X</b>	x	150	1917
Fourth Five Year P	lan						
1969-70	189	446	635.	69	1	70	705
1970_71	200	456	656	66	13	79	735
1971-72	227	498	725	144	18	162	887
1972 <b>-73</b>	2 36	529	765	352	170	522	1287
1973-74	225	529	754	338	25	363	1117
<u>Total</u>	<u>1077</u>	<u>2458</u>	<u>3535</u>	<u>969</u>	227	<u>1196</u>	<u>4731</u>
Fifth Five Year Pl							
1974-75	269	569	8 38	197	77	274	1112
1975-76	371	720	1091	252	85	337	1428
1976-77	5 30	<b>7</b> 83	1313	340	103	443	1756
1977-78 (R E)	730	1191	1921	484	171	655	2576
1978-79(BE)	914	1680	2594	685	202	887	3481
<u>Total</u>	<u> 2814</u>	<u> 4943</u>	<u>7757</u>	<u>1958</u>	<u>638</u>	<u>2596</u>	10353
				ے ہے۔ سےرمیدمید مید			

x Break-up not available.

## Appendix IV.1(iv)

Central Transfers to the States - Other than those by the Finance Commission and the Planning Commission during 1951-52 to 1978-79

		201012 eff	1
First Five-Year Plan	<u>Grants</u>	Loans	<u>Total</u>
1951-52	, <b>x</b>	×	x
1952-53	x	x	×
1953-54	×	×	×
1954-55	x	<b>X</b>	X
1955-56	x	×	×
<u>To ta l</u>	x	<b>.X</b>	104
Second Five Year Plan		·	
1956-57	×	×	x
1957-58	×	×	X
1958-59	×	X	<b>x</b>
1959-60	X	×	×
1960-61	<b>x</b> .	×	X
<u>Total</u>	x	*	<u>892</u>
<u> Third Five Year Plan</u>			
1961-62	×	×	234
1962-63	x	x	224
1963-64	X	X	266 216
1964-65	x	X	332
1965-66	x	X	
<u>Total</u>	x	X	<u>1272</u>
Three Annual Plans			
1966-67	x	X	x
1967-68	x	×	X
1968-69	×	x	×
<u>Total</u>	X .	X	1618
Fourth Five Year Plan			
1969-70	94	582	676
1970-71	107	53.3	640
1971-72	315	675	990 1406
1972-73	179	1227 1006	1237
1973-74	231		
<u>Total</u>	<u>926</u>	<u>4023</u>	<u> 1949</u>
Fifth Fiva Year Plan*			450
1974-75	48	430	478
1975-76	77	469	546 727
1976-77	163	574	737 743
1977-78 (RE)	133	610	1257
1979-79(BE)	111	1146	_
<u>Total</u>	<u>532</u>	3229	<u> 3761</u>

x Break-up not available.

^{*} The details of the grants and loans for the period ......

## Appendix IV.1(iv) (Concld)

1974-75 to 1978-79 are given below:-

27/4-/3 to 17/0-/7 ale	given			crore	<u>s)</u>
	1974-75	1975-76	1976_77	1977-78 (не)	1978_79 (BE)
I. <u>Grants</u>					
1.Relief & Rehabilitation	7	8	8	7	7
2.Improvement of roads and subvertions from Central Road Fund	17	27	31	35	36
3.Incentive Bonus for procument of food	10	24	90	30	1
4.To Rajasthan to cover add tional interest liability reallocated Beas loans		-	9	-	-
5.Relief on account of nat- ural calamities	- -	-		27	10
6. Education	3	8	10	12	19
7.Non-Plan grant to Sikkim		<del>-</del>	3	4	5
8.Police	1	3	4	3	7
9.Others	10	7	8	15	26
<u>Total</u>	<u>48</u>	<u>77</u>	<u>163</u>	<u>133</u>	111
II. <u>Loans</u>					
l.Small Savings Loans	269	249	293	290	300
2.Ways & & Means advances	77	96	150	200	300
3. Short-term loans for fertilizers etc.	55	110	100	100	100
4.Loans to cover gap in resources for the Plan		-	-	-	427
5.Others	29	14	31	20	19
<u>Total</u>	<u>430</u>	<u>469</u>	<u>574</u>	<u>610</u>	1146

				<u>.</u>	rowth of t	at revenu	io in skrie	es since 196	<u> </u>			(in_arores of Rupees	, .
States	1 <u>960-6</u> 1	1 <u>965-66</u>	1 <u>9</u> 6 <u>3</u> - <u>6</u> 9	1 <u>369-7</u> 0 5	_1 <u>97</u> 0 <b>-7</b> 1_	_1 <u>9</u> 7 <u>1-7</u> 2	1 <u>972-7</u> 3	_1 <u>9</u> 7 <u>3</u> -7.	1974-75 10	_1 <u>9</u> ~5-76_	1 <u>9</u> 7 <u>6</u> - <u>7</u> 7	1 <u>977</u> -76[ag)	_1 <u>970-79(BB</u> ) 14
1. Andhra Pradesh	40.18 (160)	69.12 (172)	1 ⁰ 5.64 (263)	107.02 (266)	136.36 (339)	138.69 (344)	132.41 (354)	201.25 (501)	251,02 (627)	ैं?5.55 ( <b>910)</b>	342,84 (355)	356.64 (530)	361.1 (391)
2. Assam	12.27 1001	21.68 (177)	25.0 (2 ⁰ 4)	31.87 (260)	25.14 (229)	32.54 (265)	31.06 (253)	33.46 (273)	4.1. 43 (362)	59,33 (403)	57,20 (515)	66.∴9 (53∷)	70.65 (576)
3. Bihar	31.24 (1∞)	54.92 (176)	73.93 (237)	77.9 <b>3</b> (249)	79.17 (253)	37.54 (26.)	1 ⁰ 5.91 ( <b>33</b> 9)	(15.2) (369)	144.18 (461)	186, 36 (596)	258,46 (667)	<b>225.5</b> 9 (722)	225.53 (722)
4. Gujarat	21.08 (164)	50.39 (241)	73.93 (374)	92.94 (441)	1⇔, ∞ (513)	1259 (55 <b>3</b> )	140.97 (669)	151.19 (717)	<b>2</b> 01.15 (954)	235.99 (i120)	293 <b>.19</b> (1415)	310.39 (1510)	341.39 (1619)
5. Haryana	(a)	(E)	34.72 (106)	37,69 (1-9)	44.23 (128)	51 - 51 (148)	<b>5</b> 9-91 (172)	76.14 (219)	99.12 (205)	(16.94 (337)	138,07 (398)	(51, 62 (437)	170 • 29 (490)
6. Himachal Pradeah	-	-	-	-	1.52 [#] (18)	€ <b>.3</b> 8 (10⊎)	9•98 (119)	11. 3 (131)	13.77 (164)	15.76 (163)	19.02	20.32 (242)	19•45 (232)
7. Jemmu & Kashmir	2.85 (106)	5.23 (134)	9.22 (324)	10.06 (353)	7•1√ (249)	7.91 (270)	11.84 (415)	11.76 (413)	13.37 (469)	25.30 (8හ)	25.62 (899)	28.49 (10.0)	<b>30.73</b> (1078)
8. Karnataka	24.42 (100)	46.48 (190)	70.34 (321)	33.31 (362)	101.74 (417)	113.59 (465)	132.63 (543)	150 <b>.39</b> (616)	193.59 (613)	236.73 (969)	269.25 (1103)	292 <b>.3</b> 8 (1197)	312.15 (1270)
9. Kerala	20•17 (100)	3ઘ <b>. 71</b> (192)	56.88 (282)	60.84 (302)	67.98 (337)	74.69 (370)	82.90 (411)	95.46 (4'/3)	123.57 (6 ₁ 3)	159。71 (*12)	186.49 (925)	198 <b>.</b> 36 (93 <b>3</b> )	21 <b>7.34</b> (1 <i>7</i> 73)
10. Medhya Pradesh	27. 20 (100)	40.95 (130)	69.8 <b>5</b> (257)	79 <b>.</b> 92 (294)	86.53 (313) s	94.90 (349)	110.36 (407)	123.35	172.03	231.47 (051)	249 <b>.</b> 07 (916)	265.02 (974)	289.04 (1063)
11. Moharashtra	64.26 (100)	122.42 (191)	187.64 (292)	216.53 (337)	255 <b>.</b> 56 (303)	274.57 (427)	302.82 (471)	302,31 (595)	497.87 (775)	585.96 (912)	679 <b>.</b> 97 (1053)	735• 75 (1145)	793.75 (1235)
12. Manipur			-	<i>i</i> -	(1.0)	່ 0.71 (92)	0.96 (125)	(130)	1.16 (151)	1.94 (252)	2.05 (266)	2.63 (342)	3.24 (421)
15. Meghelaya	-	-	~		ე. 1 (100)	0.24 (240)	1•23 (123○)	1•55 (1550)	1.95 (1950)	2.18 (2180)	2.48 (2480)	<b>2. 5</b> 8 ( <b>2</b> 580)	2.82 (2820)
14. Nagrlend	-	0.14 (100)	0•19 (136)	0,22 (15%)	ე, ჳ <b>ჳ</b> (256)	0.51 (364)	J. 98 (70¢)	1.55 (11.7)	1.47	2.19 (1564)	1.99 (1421)	2.15 (1536)	2.31 (165 ⁰ )
15. Orisse	8,54 (100)	19•76 (231)	26.05 (3∪5) ⁻	23,41 (333)	33 - 27 (390)	34.70 (4)5)	39.95 (463)	42.20 (494)	50 <b>.53</b> (591)	63.41 (801)	`მე.∂2 (946)	95.↓3 (1113)	94 <b>.</b> 29 (1104)
16. Tunjeb	25.66 (199)	55.91 (218)	66, 22 (258)	75.4 <b>3</b> (296)	ີບ6. /2 (335)	92.24	1-9.58 (427)	123.14 (430)	151.61 (591)	172.80 (673)	2J1.98 (757)	220.39 (359)	238.76 (930)
17. Rajesthan	10.12 (10~)	35.46 (196)	49.43	53.30	6.46	65.67	74.50	99 <b>.6</b> 6	106.14 (506)	130.00 (722)	151.68 (37)	172.73 (953)	192.80
10, sikkin	-	(190)	(273)	(297)	(334)	(362) -	(413) -	(5√.) <del>-</del>	(506) -	(722)	1.56	ن4•4	(1¢64) 1•59
19. Tamil Nada	<b>3</b> 9∙80 (1∞)	83. 25 (209)	115.99	131.59	140.35	191.53	22.65	273.12	305.68 (765)	(1 λ ) 319• ⊍9	(137) 346.35	(13°) 358.99	(139) 377.50 (948)
20. Tripura	-	•	(291)	(331)	(374)	(401) 2 ₆ 15 (122)	(575) 66 (367)	(6⊍6) ું (45√)	(166) 1,10 (611)	(6∨2) 1.76 (.7∀)	(373) 2.03 (1111)	(902) 2. ↓8 (1155)	2.25 (125~)
21. Uttnr Fradesh	57.45	95.20	133.50	141.44	152.06	155.71	177.90	225.61	276.04	353.36	454.65	435•42	436.10
22. Wost Bengel	(100) 51.53 (1 <u>0</u> 0)	(166) 94.13 (183)	(233) 114.63 (2 <u>2</u> 2)	(246) 127.83	(266) 126,97	(271) 144.93	(310) 172 <b>.3</b> 0	(393) 109 <b>, 22</b> (207)	(460) 224.2)	(605) 282 <b>.</b> 96	(791) 316.91	(758) 383,50 ( <u>144)</u>	(759) 41 <b>7.45—</b> ( <u>8</u> 10)
TOTLE	444.77 (100)	542.33 - 189	- (2 <u>2</u> 2] 1226, 24 (2 <u>7</u> 6)	_( <u>240)</u> 1362-23 _( <u>306</u> )	( <u>250)</u> 1527, 35 ( <u>3</u> 4 <u>4</u> )	_ <u>(231)</u> _1695.26 _ <u>(351)</u> _	(325) (325,43 (424)	- (367) 2305.37 - (51 <u>0</u> )	( <u>435)</u> 200 <b>.67</b> _( <u>640)</u>	( <u>5</u> 4 <u>2)_</u> . 3555•73 _(79 <u>5</u> )	(6 <u>15)</u> 4042.65 (9 <u>0</u> 9)	4315.63 (970)	4601,33

⁽c) Included under Punjab.

^{*} iertial year figures.

SOURCE: R.B.I. Bulletine for the years 1966-61 - 1974-75 and State Rudgets for the remaining years.

Appendix IV.2(11)

## Changes in pattern of Taxation in States since 1960-61 (Percentage share of each tax in States total tax revenue)

States	Year	Land Revenue	Agricultural Income Tax	State excise duty	Sales Tax	Taxes on Transport	Stamps & Registration	Entertain- ment Tex	Electri- city Duties	Other Texes & dutles	notr <u>i</u>
1. Andhra Pradesh	1960—61 1965—66 1970—71 1975—76 1976—77 1977—78(亚)	22 20 15 15 7	neg.	19 27 26 23 28 28	31 35 37 42 43 45	9 12 11 9 9	11 9 7 5 6	355 355 56	neg neg neg neg neg	5 1 1 1 2	100 100 100 100 100 100
2. Assam	1960–61 1965–66 1970–71 1975–76 1976–77 1977–78(RE)	22 26 25 12 5	22 13 8 22 28 27	150 9566	23 37 41 46 45	8 5 8 5 8 7	4 5 4 4	2 2 3 3 3	neg neg 1	4 3 1 2 2 2	100 100 100 10 <del>0</del> 100 100
3. Bihar	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1 : 5-76 1976-77 1977-78(RE)	26 22 9 12 10 11	1 neg neg neg neg	17 14 15 14 12	32 38 48 50 54	5 3 7 7 7	11 10 11 9 8 8	2 3 4 3 4	2 5 6 4 4	4 4 1	100 100 100 100 100 100
4∙ Gujarat	1960-61 1965-66 1976-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 (RE)	20 14 8 4 3	-	1 1 1 ncg 1	49 53 59 66 67 66	9 8 15 13 12 13	976645	3 3 4 4 4	566567	4 8 1 2 3	100 100 100 100 100 100
5. Haryana	1970–71 1975–76 1976–77 1977–79 (RE)	3 6 4 4	- - -	20 18 17 16	39 41 45 47	15 18 17 18	12 8 6	3 4 3	4 4 5	4 1 3 2	100 100 100 100
. Himnohal Pradesh	1970–71 1975–76 1976–77 1977–78	8 6 3 4	- - -	42 38 38 34	25 30 30 34	10 17 17 17	7 6 6	7 2 5	1 1 1	1 -	100 100 100 100
. Jammu & Kashmir	1950-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1975-77 1977-78	40 14 6 3 3	-	24 28 31 26 29	13 24 35 26 26 26	6 15 12 37 34 34	10 8 9 3 3 3	7 3 4 4 4	- 2 2 1 1	5 1 neg neg	100 100 100 100 100 100

#### Appendix IV.2(ii) - Contd.

States	Year	Lend Revenue	Agricultural Income Tax	State excise duty	Sales Tax	Taxes on Transport	Stamps & Registration	Entertain- ment Tax	Electri- city Duties	Other Taxes & duties	Total
8. • Karmataka	196061 196566 197071 197576 197677	18 12 5 3 2	3 3 2 1 2 2	13 9 19 22 19	32 42 48 50 51	17 12 11 10 10	9 10 7 5 4 5	3 3 3 4 5	3 5 4 3 2	2 4 1 2 4 5	100 100 100 100 100 100
9. Kerala	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78	7 7 2 2 2 2	11 6 5 5 3	13 13 14 14 17	44 47 55 61 53	13 11 11 7 9	10 11 10 8 8 8	1 1 1 1 neg	1 neg 2 2 2 3	4 neg neg neg	100 100 100 100 100 100
10. Madhya Pradesh	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78(座)	34 14 8 11 8 5	neg	18 18 15 15	25 41 47 51 51 52	11 6 11 9 14	7 7 7 6 5	2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 4 3 3	neg 8 2 2 1	100 100 100 100 100 100
11. Maharashtra	1960–61 1965–66 1970–71 1975–76 1976–77 1977–78 (RE)	14 5 4 3 3	neg neg neg neg reg	1 3 3 6 6	49 58 63 63 65	13 6 10 9 8	9 7 5 3 3	455544	5 7 7 7 5 5	5 9 3 6 6 6 6	100 100 100 100 100 100
12. Manipur	1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 (RE)	37 17 10 13	= = = =	3 9 14 11	34 49 51 54	9 8 9	.9 6 6 5	10 10 8	1 -	8 -	100 100 100 100
13. Moghalaya	1979-71 1975-75 1976-77 1977-78 (RE)	- 2 2 2	- - -	30 14 15 16	55 52 51	20 14 16 16	20 4 4 4	10 8 7 8	- 1 1 2	2 0 2 2 2 2	100 100 100 100
14. Nagaland	1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 (RE)	3 1 2 2	- -	18 49 40 <b>3</b> 7	43 38 42 46	24 5 8 <b>7</b>	- 1 1 1	9 3 4	-	3 3 3 3	100 100 100 100
15. Orisea	1900-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1975-77 1977-76 (RE)	24 15 5 6 3	neg neg neg neg neg	15 11 13 9 8 8	36 50 53 55 58 64	12 9 11 11 10 9	9 8 8 8 6	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	neg 4 8 10 10	2 1 - neg	100 100 100 100 100 100

States	Year	Land Revenue	Agri- cultural Income Tax	Stato excise duty	Seles Tex	Texes on Trensport	Stomps and Registration	Entertainment Tex	Electricity duties	Other Taxes and duties.	Total
1	2	_ 2	4	5	_6	7		9	10	1	12 _
16. Punjab	196C-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78(RE)	16 7 2 2 <b>1</b> 1	-	21 24 26 20 24 26	23 35 43 42 48 45	0 2 11 12 11 12	12 12 11 11 9	2 3 2 4 3	2 5 4 3 4	11 12 1 neg	100 100 100 100 100 100
17. Rojesthen	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-73(RE)	30 20 18 12 8	neg neg neg neg	22 22 15 15 15	20 40 46 52 56	10 5 13 13 12 12	5 5 5 4 4 4	1 2 2 3 3	- 1 1 1 2 2	neg	100 100 100 100 100
18. sikkim	1975-76 1976-77 1977-70 (RE)	3 3 2	-	50 51 51	20 24 22	3 3 3	1 nog	1 -	-	22 19 21	100 100 100
19. Tamil Nedu	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-70 ( 25)	12 8 3 4 2 (neg)	3 2 1 1 1	1 1 1 1	47 49 55 65 66 <b>6</b> 0	17 16 14 1.1	14 12 11 7 6	5 6 6 6	nog 5 6 nog 2	1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2	100 100 100 100 100 100
?O. Tripura	1975 <b>-</b> 76 1976-77 1977-78 (RE)	41 30 12	1 2 1	10 9 ن	21 30	10 11 11	19 15 17	9 9 8	 	10	100 100 100
?i. Uttar Pradesh	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-17 1977-70 (RF)	37 25 14 10 9	neg reg reg	13 15 16 12 14 15	20 29 41 55 53 53	10 5 12 1	3 2 1 7 6 9	3 5 5 5 5 5	1 1 1 3 1 1 1	7 13 1 **** g	100 100 100 100 100 100
2. West Bengal	1960-61 1965-66 1970-7; 1975-76 1976-77 1977-70 (RS)	13 8 3 5 4 7	2 1 1 1 1	12 13 13 9 8 8	40 46 53 56 50 57	6 6 9 10 12 10	9 7 7 7 6	3 3 5 5 4 4	1 1 1 3 4	7 13 1 neg 2	100 100 100 100 100 100
3- <u>All States</u>	1960-61 1965-66 1970-71 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 (RE)	21 13 7 7 5 4	2 1 1 1 1	12 11 13 12 12 12	35 44 50 54 56	10 8 11 11 11 11	9 8 6 6	3 4 4 4 4	3 4 4 3 3	5 6 2 2 2	100 100 100 100 100 100

### Per Capita total Tax Revenue of State Governments and their Local Bodies

	Tax Revenue	Urban Local		C. S. O's estimates	Per capita
States	1975-76	Bodies Tax	Total	Population as on	total tax
•	State	Revenue		1, 10, 1975	effort
	Governments	·	<del> </del>	(in lakhs)	
• 1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Andhra Pradesh	325.55	22.99	348.54	471.03	74.00
2. Assam	59.53	1.24	60.77	169.16	35.81
3. Bihar	186.36	3.32	189.68	616.68	30.76
4. Gujarat	235.99	25.39	261.38	294.94	88.62
5. Haryana	116.94	7.30	124.24	110.70	112.23
6. Himachal Pradesh	15.76	1.15	16.91	38.06	44. 43
7. Jammu & Kashmir	25.30	1.10	26.40	52:14	50,65
8. Karnataka	236.73	23.33	260.06	321.06	81.00
9. Kerala	159.71	7.38	167.09	235.36	70.99
0. Madhya Pradesh	231.47	22.19	253.66	471.12	53.84
1. Maharashtra	585.96	108.99	694.95	552.18	125.86
2. Manipur	1.94	-			
3. Meghalaya	2.18	0.14	2.32	11.45	20.26
4. Nagaland	2.19	_			
5. Orissa	68.41	2.66	71.07	242.37	29.32
6. Punjab	172.80	16.05	188.85	146.14	129.23
7. Rajasthan	130.80	11.64	142.44	291.68	48.83
8. Sikkim	1.14	-			
9. Tamil Nadu 0. Tripura	319.09 1.76	31.68	350.77	440.10 17.93	79.70
1. Uttar Pradesh	393.36	31.20	424.56	959.01	44.27
2. West Bengal	282.96	23.08	306.04	496.99	61.58

#### Appendix IV. 4(i)

#### Income and expenditure of urban local bodies in 1976-77

														<del></del>				<del></del>		Re. lai	khs)	<del></del>	
Item s	A, P	, Assam	Bihar	Guja- rat	- Har- yana	н.Р.	J&K	Karna- taka	Kerala	M.P.	Maha- rashtra	Mani- pur	Megha- laya	Naga- land	Orissa	Punjab	Rajas- than	Sikkim		Tri- pura	Uttar Pra- desh	West Ben- gal	Total All States
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
I. RECEIPTS																					-		
1. By way of transfers from State Govt.												,											
(a) Assignment of taxes, duties / cesses	225	-	1 <b>12</b>	NA	9	-	-	-	91	695	665	-	7		67	-	-	-	NA	-	_	387	2158
(b) Grants	918	46	690	528	35	35	35	166	59	893	2725	194	-	4	274	106	258	17	NA	18	1046	898	8945
(c) Loans	668	62	314	-	182	_	20	207	-	786	1219	15	-	-	26	132	4	•	NA	-	91	55	3781
Total-1	<u> 1811</u>	108	<u>1116</u>	<u>528</u>	226	35	<u>55</u>	<u>373</u>	<u>150</u>	2374	<u>4509</u>	209	7_	4	367	238	262	17	NA	18	1137	340	14884
2. Own receipts																							
(a) Tax revenues	1465	212	<b>523</b>	3507	909	135	243	2033	653	2087	12497	28	18	3	336	1140	1550	1	NA	13	2877 2	048	32278
(b) Non-tax revenues	2109	315	7	1130	243	40	11	1164	252	622	7111	7	1	-	237	107	682	1	NA	-	1441	461	15941
(c) Public Borrowings		-	-	1097	45	_	-	<del>1</del> 36	-	26	1562	-	-	~	1	8	•	-	NA	-	19	-	2896
<u>Total - 2</u>	3574	<u>527</u>	_5 <u>30</u>	<u>5734</u>	<u>119</u> 7	175	254	3333	905	2737	21170	<u>35</u>	<u>19</u>	_3_	574	1255	2232	<u>2</u>	NA	<u>13</u>	4337 2	509	51115
Total - I	<u>5385</u>	635	1646	6262	<u>1423</u>	<u>210</u>	309	<u>3 706</u>	1055	5111	25679	244	26	7	941	1493	2494	19	<u>NA</u>	_31	5474 3	849	6 <u>5999</u>
I. EXPENDITURE																							
<ol> <li>General Administration</li> </ol>	1680	52	588	523	185	27	25	NA	161	349	875	12	14	1	76	155	269	6	NA	-	171	674	5843
2. Tax collection	71	*	75	393	115	22	*	NA	*	320	876	-	2	1	75	211	222	-	NA	_	296	*	2679
3. Education	426	2	-	1173	24	2	-	64	-	130	3117	257	-	-	123	11	24	-	NA	÷	170	277	5800
4. Medical	535	4	20	468	6	1	25	284	409	108	2483	-	· <b>-</b>	-	21	30	11	-	NA	-	1269	515	6189
<ol> <li>Drinking water supply</li> </ol>	183	200	259	549	237	28	-	546	) ) 76	583	2474	-	2	-	64	154	32	-	NA	-	742	769	6898
6. Sewerage	88	30	130	268	230	33	· -	741	)	477	1192	-	1	-	14	160	698	-	NA	-	11	287	4360
7. Roads	566	60	418	269	158	23	-	413	335	689	1933	-	3	-	47	275	99	<u>-</u>	NA	-	804	351	6443
8. Others	1741	113	176	2591	370	39	187	1611	173	1078	8602	-	3	5	498	485	1035	8	NA	62	1940	1219	21936
<u>Total - II</u>	5290	461	1666	6234	1325	<u>175</u>	237	3659	1154	3734	21552	269	25	7	918	1481	2390	. 14	, NA	62	5403	4092	60146

^{*} Included under General Administration.

Source: Information received from the State Governments.

N.A. = Not available.

Notes: 1. Figures for Karnataka are for 1974-75.

Expenditure under 'Others' also includes items for which break-up by services is not available.

Figures of expenditures in regard to other municipalities in Gujarat are for 1975-76.

^{4.} In West Bengal, while figures for Calcutta Corporation are for 1976-77, those for other municipalities are for 1975-76.

					Income	e e	nd Ex	pend	iture	of m	ral loc	al bod	ies i	n 19	976 <b>-7</b> 7					<b>(</b> 9	s. laki	hs)	•
Items	Andhra Pračesh	Assan	Bihar	Gujarat	Haryana	Himschell Pradesh	J & K	Karma-	taka Kerala	Medhya	Pradesh Mahara- shtra	Manipur	Meghu-	Egg-	lend Orisea	Puntab	Ra 19.8-	SIXXIM	Terri L	Tedu	Pripura Utitar	Prodest	Toys, Logar
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	_11	<u>(6)</u>	7	<b>187</b>	10	1 (12)			(13			5) (15)	10	7210	<u> </u>	c) (2	0) (2	27 (2)	2)(23)	(5.7)
I. RECEIPTS																							
<ol> <li>By way of transfers from State Govt.</li> <li>(a) Assignment of Taxes, duties/ cesses</li> </ol>	537	161	51	1575	122 [©]	3		-	321	121	622	NA	19	<b>А</b> И	203	-	53	NA	n <b>a</b>	NΛ	44	1499	5331
(b) Grants	11017	261	180	13596	62 [@]	83	-	-	130	492	14180	NA	163	NA	2817	239	2458 ⁶	NA	NA	NA	509	13229	59416
(c) Loans	745	-	_	170	-	2	-	-	3	_	240	NA	-	ATE	2	7	-	$\mathbf{K}\mathbf{A}$	NΛ	MΑ	2	101	1272
Total - I	<u>12299</u>	422	<u>231</u>	15341	<u> 184</u>	88			454	613	15042	MA	<u>132</u>		3022	<u>246</u>	<u>2511</u>	HA_	NA_	MA	<u>555</u>	14829	6601 <u>9</u>
2. Own receipts				-							<del></del> .												
(a) Tax revenues	1200	120	17	1260	NA	56	NA	NΛ	343	139	1432	NA	59	NΔ	9	171	105	NA	MA	Αľ	628	367	5906
(b) Fon-tax	455		_						_														
revenues (c) Public	152	55	2	166	ИV	40	NA	NA	354	-	522	MV	-	NA	87	<b>63</b>	220	NA	AK	ΝA	230	72	1993
Borrowings	8	_		50	ΝΛ	_	AN	NΔ	_	_	74	NA	_	AV	_	44		NA	NΔ	NA	_	528	704
Total - 2	1360	175	19		NA.	_9€	ŇA	NA.	70 <b>7</b>	139	<u>2728</u>	NA	_ <u>5</u> 9	NA	<u>96</u>	278	325	NA.	ÑΑ	NA	858	987	8603
Total-I	13659	597		16817	184	184	NA.	NA	1161		<u>17070</u>	NΛ	24 <u>1</u>	MA	<u> </u>		2836	NA	NΛ	NA			74622
II-EXPENDIMUE		<del></del> :-		722.4	757	10.		A	1101	172	11010		5.1.1		2710	<u> </u>	2070	/*			1112	125.5	17722
1. General																							
Administration	988	244	33	1236	NΛ	48	NA	МÁ	<b>3</b> 54	_	1364	NA	83	N/A	103	193	NΔ	MΑ	MA	NΛ	197	980	5823
2. Tax collection	71	5	4	26	ΛI	2	NΑ	NA.		_	18	314	3	ΝA	33	29	NA	NA	NA	NA	37	-	228
3. Education	7362	34	13	-	$i\Lambda$	11	MA	NA	25	_	7174	MA	117	MA	2259	_	NA	NΑ	NA	N/	42	6810	
4. Medical	296	3	79	501	NΛ	7	NA	NΛ		-	761	NA	_	NA	59	_	N.A.	NΑ	NΛ	N/.	118	395	2219
5. Drinking Water		-		•		•					, - ,				•				<del></del>			•	
Supply	568	5	63	120	NA	3	NA	NA	37	-	301	AH	-	NA	256	84	NA	NA	NA	NA	1	10	1453
6. Sewerage	21	-	-	29	NA	-	NΛ	NA	-	-	37	МV	-	MA	-	-	NA	N.	NA	N.A.	-	-	87
7. Roads	855	19	58	146	ЙΥ	7	NA	MA	213	-	1070	NA	5	AU	107	15	NA	NA	NA	N/L	262	-	2757
8. Others	2808	179	246	6314	NA.	67	NA	NA	578	490	3169	NA.	21	AM	284	185	NA	NA	NA	MY	763	5716	20820
Total-II	12969	<u>489</u>	<u> 496</u>	<u>15333</u>	ena .	<u>150</u>	NA	NA	1207	1 <u>.90</u>	<u>13894</u>	NA	<u>229</u>	KA	<u>3101</u>	506	N.A.	NA	NA	NA	1420	13911	<u>64195</u>

NA = Not available N.B. - Figures for Pihar are for 1975-76

Source - Information received from State Governments.

# Note received with letter dated 28.9.78 from Town and Country Planning Organisation of the Ministry of Works and Housing

### Study of Muncipal Budgetary finances and level of Services

The term of reference of the Seventh Finance Commission stipulated that in making its recommendations, the Commission shall have to take into consideration, besides other things the requirements of States which are backward in providing level of services in non-developmental sectors, their upgradation to the level either obtaining in more advanced States or to certain threshold standard in different types of urban area.

Further, since powers and utilisation of tax and nontax resources vary from State to State, it was found essential to assess the resource mobilisation efforts of the urban local bodies themselves.

This study encompassing financial resources of urban local bodies and the level of services provided, was carried out by the Town & Country Planning Organisation on behalf of the Finance Commission and the study covered "standards of services provided by urban local bodies in the different States and the budgetary position of their local bodies".

Methodology:

The study of the budgetary position of urban local bodies was conducted on a "universe" basis and the "Level of services" enquiry on a "sample basis". The reference year of study was fixed as 1975-76 as this was the latest year for which "actuals" were available at the time of study. Scope of the Budgetary Study

The coverage of this study extended to all settlements which had some form of urban local-self government in the year 1976 like municipal corporation, municipalities, notified or town area committees, etc. Urban ereas having cantonment Board have been excluded from the scope of this study as, firstly, the finance data was not available at State headquarters, and secondly, their finances and level of

services provided are mostly determined by considerations other than local resources.

Though a proforma for assessing budgetary position was circulated to all the State Government departments dealing with urban local bodies, it was thought expedient to collect the relevant budget report of each of the urban local body from the State headquarter since it is a well known fact that (a) budgetary format varies not only from State to State but even within the State and (b) in most of the smaller and medium size urban local bodies, the technical parsonnel to reclassify the budgetary entries as per standard proforma is virtually non-existent. The data contained in each of the budget report was tabulated by trained staff in the Town & Country Planning Organisation in the standard format.

There were 2474 urban local bodies excepting the cantonment boards functioning in the country during the year 1975-76. In the study it was possible to collect the relevant data from about 80% of the urban local bodies. In case of Uttar Bradesh, the non-reporting urban local bodies were mostly notified area committees which have come to be established after 1971. In the case of Karnataka, no centralised availability of data at the State level was available and effort was made to collect the data from individual local bodies through a proforma with the assistance of the State Government.

### Limitations of Data:

Though due care was taken to make the data comparable, it was observed that in some of the cases it was not possible to do the same as explained below:

- a) "Establishment Costs" on various services in some of the budget reports were found to be included in "Establishment- General Administration".
- b) Since in quite a substantial number of budget reports expenditure on sanitation, drainage and sewerage was clubbed together, hence it was not possible to segregate and present the same separately.

the same separately.

c) In very few of the budget reports wherein actuals were not available, revised estimates were taken for compilation purposes.

However, it is felt that the effect of limitations on the data presented is very insignificant.

Statewise number of Urban Local Bodies in India and their coverage (1975-76)

STE THE TE COVE LOGIC	(1915-10)		
S1. STATES	No. of total urban local bodies	No. of reported urban local bodies	% Col.3 to Col.2
@7	(2)	(∑)	
1. Andhra Pradesh	84	80	95.24
2. Assam	59	59	100.00
3. Bihar	140	107	76.43
4. Gujarat	57	54	94.74
5. Haryana	79	71	89.87
6. Himachal Pradesh	34	29	85.29
7. Jemmu & Kashmir	44	34	77.27
8. Karnataka	253	106	41.90
9. Kerala	<b>35</b>	33	94.29
10. Madhya Fradesh	218	201	92,20
11. Maharashtra	229	224	37.82
12. Meghalaya	2	2	100.00
13. Orissa	92	83	90.22
14, Punjab	110	102	92.73
15. Rajasthan	182	173	9 <b>5.</b> 05
16. Tamil Nadu	106	103	97.17
17. Uttar Pradesh	634	404	63.72
18. West Bengal	100	90	90.00
19. Pondicherry	4	4	100,00
20. Delhi	2	2-	100.00
21. Góa, Daman & Diu	9	8	88,89
22. Andaman & Nicobar.	1	1	100.00
Total	2474	4050	
	2474	1970	79.53

### Study of Level of Services Sample Design:

The coverage of the survey was urban local bodies in India with the exception of cantonment Board. Towns having non-urban local bodies like panchayat/village panchayat and those without any municipality have been excluded from the universe. the list of universe for the study period i.e. 1975-76 was not available, basic listing has been done from Census 1971. Updating on the status of urban local bodies has been made with . respect to corporations. As regards population status and local body status (other than corporation), Census 1971 was taken as the base.

Three levels of stratification have been adopted to enable proper representation of universe in the sample. They are -

- a) State and Union Territories
- b) Type of local body
  - i) Corporation
  - ii) Muncipality
  - iii) Other urban local bodies
- c) Population size
  - i) 20 lakhs and above

  - ii) 5 lakhs 20 lakhs
    iii) 1 lakh 5 lakhs
    iv) 50,000 1 lakh
    - iv) 50,000
    - v) 20,000 50,000 vi) 10,000 20,000
  - vii) Below 10,000

All the local bodies in the population categories (i) to (iii) and 20% in the size (iv) and 10% each in the size categories (v) to (vii) on random basis from each of final stratum have been selected. Of the 1980 towns which had urban local bodies, 411 samples have been thus drawn. Some reserve samples have also been drawn to deal with in case there were non-response from some selected towns.

A comprehensive questionnaire was drawn up and sent to respective state town planning departments for getting it filled Since the questionnire referred to various types of sarrices viz; (a) water supply, (b) sewerage and drainage, (c) roads, (d) medical, (e) electricity, (f) transport sta., which were to be assessed in their respective technical aspects, it was concluded that the only suitable agency which have the trobhical expertise to fill up the relevant data was the state town planning departments. These questionnaires were filled by their regular trained staff on the field.

#### Limitations

As the field work progressed, changes in the status of local bodies became apparent. Population projections also indicated changes in the ropulation status of certain towns, from one category to another. This created problem in presentation of data and analysis. In case the original 1971 status and population size is maintained, the analysis will not show the nature of exact relationship between population threshold and level of facilities and consequent estimation of gaps in the level of services. Therefore, the latest position of sample local bodies have been taken for analytical purposes, though by this, the statistical design and randomness will be affected. It may be presumed that the cities/towns responded are representative samples of the universe of the particular stratum. The response also has not been uniform for all the services.

### Methodology alopted in Study of Services:

The study is meant to find out the prevalent levels and establish wherever possible standards of civic services in the urban sector. It is also attempted to express the existing levels of services in terms of expenditure (excluding capital) per day per urban dweller. The analysis has been carried out for each group of urban centres of different population sizes in each states as well as for the country as a whole. The final picture of sample and response on the all India level is as follows:

#### Sample and Response:

	Totaī	0ver 20 _lakhs	_5-20 lakhs	1-5 lakhs	50000- 1 lakh	20000 <del>-</del> 50000	₹0000 20000	Below 10000	•
Universe	1980	4	19	137	203	512	613	492	•
Sample	411	4	19	137	52	71	72	56	
Response	344	2	15	118	46	60	64	39	
& age	(83.7)	(50)	(78.9)	(86,1)	(88.5)	(84.5)	(88.9)	(69.6)	

In working out the levels of existing services, except in the case of water supply, it is not possible to strike the per capita available level. In the case of expenditure it is found possible to arrive at the per capita expenditure for all the services studied.

Water Supply: Per capita consumption of water in all the responsive urban centres has been arrived at taking the projected population figures for 1975-76. In getting at the average per capita supply for each population size in a given state, the mean value of each group are taken, for, in most of the cases, coefficient of variation is found significantly low in the case of per capita figures than in the total water supply data. Thus the variable, namely, per capita supply is apparently more stable for adoption than the other variables.

An attempt is also made to regroup the arban centres into two large categories namely: i) Centres with more than a lakh population and ii) these with less than a lakh population. Finally, for the given state as a whole, weighted representative figure is also worked out. To get these broad groupwise as well as state representative figures, the groupwise means of per capita figures are individually weighed with respect to the aggregate population of the group and totalled for the broad groups, and then the representative per capita figure for the broad group is worked out. To get the state figure for the urban centres as a whole, the said exercise is carried out with respect to all the groups of urban centres. This method is extended in working out the all India representative averages groupwise as well as for India as a whole.

Other Services: Per capita availability of other services such as sewerage, educational and health facilities, roads etc. was found difficult to work out.

### Per capita expenditure of services:

Exactly similar method as adopted in arriving at the levels water supply has been adopted in working out the representative average per capita expenditure of urban civic services.

Appendix IV, 6(ii)

#### FINANCIAL STRUCTURE OF URBAN LOCAL BODIES (1978-76), CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO SIZE

#### (Figures in lakhs)

Size	No				INC	OME										XPEND	ITURE								Capital	Total
		Tax	M	on-Tax	Ordy. Grant	Total Ordinar Income	Extra y Ordinas Income			Collec- tion of Rev.	Public Health	Public Selety	Medical	Water Supply	Educa- tion	Library	Garden	Roads	Trans- port		Com. Inst!— fution	Misc.	Repay. of Loans	Total Ordinary Expn.	Expen- diture	Expe ditur
1	4	8216, 97	21	155 <b>. 49</b>	1376. 🐿	11551, 15	1830, 45	13381, 60	1475,60	515.91	2545, 53	689,21	2454, 43	233, 40	1585, 58	37.74	299, 07	1688, 36	473.1	4 34, 8	29.29	2081,01	691.47	14832, 56	2401, 89	172
п	16	5661, 36	41	778, 00	1 <b>366,</b> 17	11900,56	440, 09	13430, 65	664, 95	569. 34	1624, 46	243, 39	581,34	767.83	907.88	16,63	141,33	696. Q	5 40,1	2 18.94	0.57	4000, 18	930.97	11202.93	1419, 63	126
m	140	19917, 11	. 31	163.97	<b>2596</b> , 01	18677,00	1775.10	20452, 19	1501,47	589. 36	3908, 75	731.74	827,99	1109.06	1548, 30	4,33	268, 70	1017.10	5 554, 6	4 24.7	13.05	1883, 29	487.80	14225.32	4615, 48	180
IV	220	4333, 88		196. \$3	647. <del>80</del>	6680,09	463, 22	7133, 31	768, 24	<b>380. 45</b>	1617, 23	334, 41	225, 51	630, 43	857.95	18,60	89, 45	300, 4	ž <b>43</b> , 6	9 31.7	20.40	995,39	260.33	6310, 43	1906, 92	: 82
•	E94	4308, 80	15	70.66	L009, 84	6973, 40	786, 60	7780,00	847,70	535.87	1453.27	448, 79	236,41	520, 62	610, 49	26.45	60, 31	204. 4	o a.e	<b>0</b> 9.8	3 2,20	856, 64	309,56	<b>6</b> 13 <b>1.22</b>	2231,20	) · <b>5</b> 3
VI.	437	1543.00		94 63	<b>300</b> , 75	2487, 28	234.73	3713.11	307,79	316, 43	619.74	180, 15	45.30	134, 11	<b>85.72</b>	9,50	22, 70	90,2	9 3.4	ю 6, 1	5 2,30	313.11	86, 93	2157.07	510, 2:	) 2
VII	400	450, 63	2	50.37	137, 22	826,41	96, 72	984, 13	167, 64	68.98	137, 50	88.73	11.39	41.95	15. 09	3, 79	5, 61	42,9	0.6	7 1.7	L 0.57	116.21	20,65	712.48	123, 31	l
VIII	294	<b>225</b> , 15	1	51, 65	141, 79	<b>618.</b> 59	53, 30	671, 98	189.83	49. 40	125, 36	29, 69	13,48	30.50	15.86	0.70	1,25	17. 6	u	0, 8	7 0.05	114, 03	10.29	631, 46	106,06	3
									/																	
- 2	323 1	379 <b>6</b> 0, <b>6</b> 1	1406	6.50 7	747.4	59806, 07	6650,30	15465, 97	5942,92	2054.74	11924, 14	2663,11	4095, 85	3457, 91	562 G. 84	4 157, 74	AAA. 67	4057.0	6 1132	38 198	91 67 49	10068, 86	2707 00	66100 40	19914 7	

				140	OME										FVD	ENDIT	tipe								n lakhe)
ALSO	No.	Tax	Non-Tex	Ordy.	Total	Extra Ordinary Income	Total Income	Gen. Admn.		Public Health	Pubito Bafety	Medical	Water Supply	Educa- tion	Library (			Trans- port	Recrea- tion	Com. Insti- tution	Misc.	Repay. of Loans	Total Ordinary Expn.	-	Expen:
.P. I	••	**	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
I	1	1063.09	12,54	202,38	1378.01	••	1378. 01	93, 65	50,73	273.74	26.60	••	233.70	51,97	••	••	536, 26	••	••	••	78.37	••	1345, 02	••	1846.
111	13	520, 14	314,44	204, 42	1119.00	130, 40	1357, 46	49, 97	0, 32	236, 87	34, 13	••	144, 18	243, 25	8.64	11,66	60, <b>ce</b>	12,00	2, 15	••	36, 63	••	831,87	302, 30	1134,
17	20	428, 73	119, 97	121,24	669,93	111, 54	781, 47	32, 60	7,68	96, 42	26, 16	1,99	84, 33	159, 03	1,46	2, 79	29.55	8, 17	0.15	••	13. 38	7.80	471.41	374, 12	845.
•	45	274, 40	68,28	91,74	454.42	131, 18	685.60	63, 69	1,21	90, 54	24, 22	0.06	51.67	118, 95	2,00	3.36	24,63	4,14	0.74	••	16, 27	1,82	403, 32	222, 70	626,
M.	5	13,6	2,90	0,52	16,10	4, 48	20, 5\$	3, 66	••	4.11	1.00	1,67	1,66		0,04	0.06	2, 24	0, 10		••	1, 95	0.33	16,84	0,89	17.
<b>VI</b> I	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	• •	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••
AIII	••	••••	••		••	•	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
TOTAL	83	2299, C	638, 13	700.30	3637,46	485, 66	4123. 13	243. 57	59. 84	701, 68	112.11	3.72	515.54	573. 20	12,14	17,86	643. 37	24. 41	3,04		148,00	9.95	2066, 46	900, 01	3968.
en I			••	••	•••	••			••		••	••	••.	••	••			•••	••		••	••			••
п	••	••	••	••	••	•••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•		••	••	••	••		••	••		••	••
ш	1	66.8		3, 84				11,09	6, 17		7.63	1.58	8, 14	0, 32	0.10	0.64				••	, 3. 55	3,74	68.95	8, 58	78,
14	- 4	18, 1		4.8		_,_		3, 02	3, 35		3,62	0, 53	1,90	0, 06	0.11	0,36	-		••		6. 12	1.20	37.88	5, 50	43.
▼	12	23,1	6 21, 10	7, 3		4, 91	67.38	5. 47	5, 34		4,83	0.47	5, 46	0, 10	0.02	1, 10	5. 07	••	3, 25	••	11, 97	1.57	58, 45	17,73	76.
<b>W</b>	81	19,4		6, 4		3, 67		11, 16	2,09		2,78	0, 16	2, 03	0, 02	0,06	0.37	3, 26		1, 17		11, 20	0,90	39.67	9, 54	<b>49</b> .
<b>VII</b>	17	1, 4		3,5		3, 31		4, 08	1,05		0.78	0.44	0, 27	0, 07		0.03	1, 12		0.06	-	2, 17	0, 60	11.71	3, 55	15.
ADT	4	0,1		0. 4		_		1, 19			0.02	0.02		••	••	••	0, 38		••	0, 01	0, 11		3,29	0.81	3.
TOTAL	66	193.1	8 81,53	26,5	1 223,01	18, 40	250, 41	36, 96	17, 13	46, 68	19,86	3,20	16, 10	0, 57	0,29	2.50	22, 34	5.90	4.47	0, 01	37, 12	8,01	220,13	45, 70	265.8
Phar 1	••	• ••	••	••	••	••		••	**	••	••	••	••	••	**	• ••	••	•.•	••	••	••	••	••	••	. ••
п	1	80,0	12,27	<b>F13</b> , 1	0 305,41	49, 20	353, 47	24, 19	••	74_60	10, 29	1.60	••	54.60	••	0,89	· 62, 14	••	••	••	••		286, 18	33, 33	319.
111	12	97.1		88,7	6 243.90	29.71	273, 77	18, 06	1, 45	78, 94	22, 12	1,91	15.75	0.58	0,64	0, 14	10.70	0, 25	••	**	13, 34		177.53	43, 09	230.
14	11		-	23, 3	5 \$4, 51	10.6	95,11	20, 46	0, 64	34, 36	5.08	1,20	1.11	6. 56		0, 22	9, 13	3, 43	••	••	17. 37		11 6, 68	16.87	132.
<b>Y</b>	53						184, 61	28, 54		•	15,33	1, 85	12,93	0, 79	0,72	0.33			••	••	39, 13		166, 75	38, 56	205.
₩.	34			33,0		- * ·		17.66			3,71		_	0, 16	0, 17	0,06		-	••	••	7,60	9,70	64,05	46, 92	110.
¥II		_,		_				2, 63			0, 65			0, 40	••	0, 19			••	••	2, 16	••	12.04	7, 92	19.
YEI				17.	65 31,6	7 0.6	1 32,06	3, 87	0. B(	3. 17	1,33	0.07	0.38	0, 66	0.02	••	2, 10	••	••	••	8, 30	0, 10	20.79	11, 36	32,
TOT	TR	9 231	. 67 151, 94	<b>463</b> ,	86 907.S	2 149,1	2 1066, 64	116, 48	9.0	6 252,26	58, 51	7.81	20,61	62, 70	1,55	1,63	103, 66	4_31	••		68, 10	111.65	843,03	198, 06	1041.

Bise	No.			INCO	ЙĒ	_								EX	PENDI	TURE								Capital	Total
0130	, NO.	Tex	Non-Tax	Ordy.	Total Ordinary Income	-Extra Ordinary Income	Total Income	Gen. Admn,	Collection of Rev.	Public Health	Public Safety	Medical	Water Supply	Educa- tion	Library	Garden		Trans- port	Recrea- tion	Com. Institu- tion	Misc.	Repay. of Loans	Total Ordinary Expn.	Expen- y diture	
arat 1	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
n	3	1260, 11	3870, 18	376,46	5506,85	3, 32	5510.17	151, 57	292,65	239.77	52, 55	424.93	27,77	60 <b>6, 43</b>	14, 60	71, 12	••	••	0.20	0, 20	3306, 02	650,27 8	718,06	721, 15	6439,21
m	7	539.72	90, 95	153, 36	79 <b>3,</b> 06 ′	45, 96	639, 02	85.09	13.21	228, 94	44,21	13, 14	61.83	95, 55	••	••	••	4. 75	•• .	••	118, 37	47.28	712,36	179.04	691.4
ĭ₩	14	332, 49	160, 46	85.06	885,98	35, 46	691, 44	78, 55	5, 98	88. 33	34, 18	24, 42	36.79	67. 65	••	0.73	0. 40	0. 23	0.11	0, 11	131, 39	17.71	476,53	200.86	677.3
•	81	360,20	120,06	96, 75	577.01	17, 08	594, 06	79. 64	3, 52	94, 79	44.78	25,25	52,18	97, 08	0, 29	0,26	0, 61	••	••	••	113, 64	28,97	541,06	135, 64	676.1
¥	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	••	• •	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
VII	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
AIII	3	46,50	16,54	7, 66	70,71	••	70.71	10,06	••	13, 35	3,63	5.04	6,04	3. 52	••	••	••	••	••	••	6, 46	1.94	40.94	10.87	60,
NOTAL	67_	2539,03	4275,27	719.30	7833, 60	101.79	7635, 39	384, 91	315, 36	665. 18	169.20	492.77	184, 60	770, 37	14, 89	72, 11	0, 91	4, 96	0,31	0, 31	3675, 88	746, 17	1497.36	1247,56	8745.
TABLE I	••	••	••	••	**	•• .	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
П	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	. ••	••	••	••	••	••
ш		191,74	52, 67	10,02	. 255, 43	2, 68 1	258, 12	19.97	22, 34	34. 88	9, 19	34, 29	16,03	6, 34	0,81	6, 63	3, 65	••	••	2.41	••	2,62	169.11	94. 40	253,
IV	9	260.02	117.71	36, 90	423, 63	32.44	456, 07	40.78	52, 52	103, 59	32,37	12,73	61.66	0.36	7.57	26, 36	7. 61	••	••	••	0, 36	5.93	351,79	51, 08	402
V	16	462. 62	98. 22	35.23	316,26	23. 13	339,38	37, 67	39,59	72.82	17.51	0, 29	46, 15	0, 94	1, 15	19, 14	11.64	••	**	••	1.80	1.79	250.51	597.46	847.
VI	15	49,46	26, 52	1, 15	77.33	13.44	90.78	10.00	16, 66	16, 32	3, 87	0.78	9,72	0,29	0, 28	0,51	0, 83	••	**	••	1, 12	4.23	64, 61	14, 35	78.
VII	20	28.64	16, 68	1.80	46, 72	10.00	66,72	8.36	11.72	6. 76	3, 32	0.03	6.68	0.02	0.34	0, 24	2, 47	••	••	••	1, 12	0.15	43,23	16, 17	69
AIII	17	7.94	5, 63	0,79	14, 36	2, 30	16, 76	1.71	2.78	3,91	0,96	0.02	0, 16	• ••	••	••	1.24	••	••	••	••	••	9, 81	0. 74	10.
TAL	79	729,62	318.63	85,29	1133.74	84, 09	1217,63	118,44	145.61	237, 28	67,22	48, 14	142,40	7,95	10, 17	62, 88	27.34	••,		,2, 41	4, 40	14,72	879.06	774. 18	1653
. 1	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••			••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	
п	• •	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••			••
ш	••	••			••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
17	1	40, 45	24, 58.	•	64, 98	0, 31	65,29	6.08	5, 46	22, 04	0,06	0.11	17.76	••	0. 38	2.39	2. 71	••	••	••	1,04	1.04	58.01	1, 38	55
V	1	6, 19	0.88	••	7.07	4.0	7.07	0, 79	0.88	1, 11	0, 33	••	0.68	••	0.09	0, 33	0. 75		**	••	0,50	••	5,44	0. 91	ı
٧ı	7	44.27	7, 52	0.67	52, 46	3, 23	66.69	7,93	6. 82	13, 18	4, 02	0, 15	1.43	0, 02	0, 21	1, 37	1.01		0. 01		14.66	••	52.71	6, 46	8 5
VII	10	\$3,10	8.93	3, 62	25.65	<b>3,</b> 00 ·	38,65	6, 98	6, 24	6, 51	2,60	0,20	1,64	0.08	0, 23	0.77	1, 06		••	••	6, 07	0,26	32.60	9, 10	9 3
Vin	7	0, 99	0, 66	1,96	3,60	1.44	6, 06	0.45	0. 65	0, 35	0, 35	••		••		••	••			••	1,74	••	2.94	0, 62	1
TAL	34	115.00	42.51	8.98	163,76	9, 00	172.76	31, 16	21, 44	48, 19	7.36	0.48	91.51	0.08	0, 91	4, 60	6. 81		0, 0	٠	33, 01	1, 30	151.70	12.6	8 16

Sist	No.			IN	COME									E	XPEND	ITURE		_						Capital	Total
	, NO.	Tex	Non-Tax	•	Total Ordinary Income	Extra Ordinary Income	Total Income	Gen. Adms.	Collec- tion of Rev.	Public Health	Public Safety	Medical	Water Supply	Educa- tion	Librar	y Garden	Roads	Trans- port	Recree- tion	Com. Insti- tution	Misc,	Repay, of Loans	Total Ordinar Expen	Expen-	
&K I	**	••		••	**		4.0	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••		••	••	••		••
п	••	••	••	••	**	••	•• .	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
ш	2	110,31	15.41	4.30	130,10	10.40	140, 50	11. 11	5, 88	62, 55	8. 22	••	••		0, 08	3, 63	11.05	••	••	••	32.56	••	135,08	13, 91	147.99
1V	••	••	•••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••
v	3	••	38.40		33,40	2.25	35, 65	11.58	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•••	••	••	6, 20	••	17.78	••	17.76
VI	3	••	11,81	0.1	12,00	1.00	18.00	6, 76	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	5, 35	0, 38	12.49	••	12,4
VII	29	••	43, 99	••	43.99	••	43,99	23,06	••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	**	**	••	••	17.36	***	40,42	1. 18	41.60
VIII	7	••	7.40	••	7.40	0,09	7.49	4, 39	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	1, 83	0.28	6,50	0. 13	6, 63
TOTAL	_44	110,31	112,01	4.5	7 226,89	13, 74	240,63	56,90	5, 88	62.55	8.22		••	••	0,08	3, 63	11, 05	••	••	••	63, 30	0, 66	212.27	14, 28	226.40
Carna- I	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••
aka 11	1	637,00	134_04	7.9	4 778.98	12.50	791.48	102.57	••	137.02	37.92	14,73	31,65	6. 97	••	••	••	••		• • •	374. 34	51,36	755.56	55, 72	611,29
m	12	770,10	162.03	9.6	8 941,71	15, 11	956.82	124, 01	••	165, 65	45.84	17.79	36,25	7.21	••	••	••	••	••	••	452. 55	62,08	913, 28	68, 10	981.48
IV	13	248,06	43, 95	13,4	3 305,44	87, 69	393,13	46, 69	••	45.51	48.61	2,57	22.78	1.37	••	••	••	••	••	••	56, 62	10,42	234, 67	106, 59	341,36
W.	58	390, 87	101, 74	24,4	<b>617,1</b> 0	61, 55	578,65	98, 29	••	85,98	56.35	13, 17	109,51	11, 90	••	••	••	••	••	••	145, 75	44.95	569, 98	78. 97	<b>648. 9</b> 0
VI.	98	210,97	52, 95	13.2	5 277,18	10,05	267,23	73, 38		33.66	32.03	1.90	18,58	4. 38	0.21	••	••	••	••	••	83, 45	10.98	256 <b>, 4</b> 7	13.72	271, 19
VII	40	48,85	20.97	3,4	5 73.27	1, 72	74,99	16,26	••	9. 54	12.03	0,24	6.15	0. 98	••	••	••	••	••	••	22, 14	1.21	67,52	1.66	71,18
VIII	22	27.18	4, 28	3, 3	4 34.40	0.90	35.70	9, 68	••	7, 16	2.79	••	2.62	0, 49	••	. ••	••	••		**	4,31	0,34	27, 41	0. 68	26, 29
TOTAL	263	2333, 03	519.97	75.4	8 2928.48	189.52	\$118.00	471.08	••	484, 52	235.57	60.40	228.64	82.27	0, \$1	••	••	••	••	••	1138.96	185,29 2	26,14	221.65	2153,60
Kerala 1		4.5	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••
n		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
m	6	458,78	106, 53	44, 1	2 609,42	63, 51	672.93	149, 39	0.60	59. 94	42.19	45.88	26,73	4,77	••	8. 33	62, 66	38, 30	0.94	5. <b>es</b>	37, 58	27,20	506, <b>6</b> 1	<b>323, 3</b> 0	637,81
IV	7	140.30	41, 06	19.5	i5 208,90	63, 99	272.89	80,20	6, 66	23, 20	9, 87	30,74	22,63	0, 34	••	6, 11	2, 27	••	4.21	••	10, 68	13.43	201,77	1 <b>02,</b> 50	205,27
v	18	112.97	33, 89	27.5	2 174,68	74, 02	248,70	47.73	6, 39	16,30	13.48	20,56	3,61	3. 02	9, 04	••	1,41	••	0, 88	••	8, 10	23, 40	140.26	113, 81	254.00
VI	3	16,78	6, 73	2,6	36 26, 16	13, 41	39.57	6, 97	0, 14	5, 65	1.43	0,00	0, 19	0, 15	••	0.51	0, 64	••	0, 05	••	0, 43	3.34	17,47	24.00	43, 16
VII	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	••	••	••	4.0	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
VIII	1	1.10	0, 53	0.8	50 <b>2.</b> 12	0, 17	2.29	0.40	0, 16	0, 46	0.09	0.06	0.10	0, 06	••	••	0, 06	••	••	**	0, 40	0.04	1,48	0.26	1,20
TOTAL	_35	737,93	188.71	94,6	4 1021,28	215, 10	1236,38	283.69	13,94	105.62	67.06	97,32	63,36	8, 34	0, 04	2, 45	67,24	38, 30	E, 06	E. 82	<b>51, 53</b>	65 <u>.</u> 60 (	107,95	573 <u>.</u> 60	141,4

												196					, •				,		_	(Ra. in l	lakhei
Size	No.	<del></del>		INCO		•							*-	EX:	PENDIT	URE		•					<u> </u>	Capital	
51 Me	NO.	Tax	Non-Tax		Total Ordinary	Extra Ordinary	Total Income	Gen.	Collec- tion of Rev.		Public Safety	Medical	Water Supply				Roads T	-	Recrea-	Com. Insti- tution	Misc.	Repay. of Loans	Total Ordinary Expn.	Expen-	
	<u></u> Ł_				Income	Income			Mev.						<del></del>	<del></del>				***************************************			Expir		
.P. 1			••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	• •		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
п	1	347,26	93. 54	40.6	1 481.41	0, 02	481.43	32. 24	26, 49	79, 48	25.87	0.0	41, 12	0, 0	0.20	35. 41	20.98	17, 46	4.94	0,0	20, 51	12.79	317.49	38, 80	356.
111	9	926, 29	173, 65	26,6	9 1126,63	129, 45	1256.08	256, 18	62, 24	164.25	47.20	18.74	87.86	40, 94	3, 60	17.53	12.74	14. <b>6</b> 9	6, 60	0, 13	137,67	53,34	924, 00	329, 72	1253,
17	13	246,28	62, 36	20,5	5 329,19	20, 39	349,58	16, 55	35,75	55.18	21, 12	4.47	23.67	20.83	0.49	2: 58	16,00	0. 67	0.74	0.0	21, 84	26.53	246.62	76, 04	322.
v	40	367, 43	69, 70	22.7	1 459.84	55. 13	514.97	41.57	60, 53	89, 98	39:07	5.28	29.01	23, 54	0.93	4, 53	27.05	2, 69	2.78	0.0	27.94	30,87	385.77	96, 83	482.
vı	73	232,77	66.08		9 316,84	57, 99	374, 83	37,73	46,37	55, 28	21,66	3,44	24,54	8, 27	0, 96	3, 14	16, 71	0,78	3, 55	0, 15	22.45	26.21	271,24	63, 45	334,
VII		-	20, 86	-	7 107,44	14, 28	121, 72	14, 13		17, 90	9.81	0.77	5.28	2, 03	0.25	0,41	5, 61	0, 01	1, 31	0. 16	9, 20	۰.16	90,63	19.38	110.0
	52	74.81										0, 16						0.00			2, 13				
VIII	29	23.78	6, 59	4, 7		12, 64	47,71	6,96	-	3, 55	2.75	•	1,00	0, 48	0,08	0,55	•	_		0,00		1,58	•	10, 38	
OTAL .	217	2218,62	492, 78	145.0	2 2856.42	289, 90	3146.32	405, 36	251, 52	465. 65	167.48	32.86	212.68	96.09	6, 51	64, 15	101, 19	36, 30	20.56	0, 44	241, 74	160.48	2263.01	634.60	2897.
hara-I	1	2856.28	1235.70	27.0	4118.98	1525, 75	5644.73	393,06	284, 43	1159, 46	374, 78	1837, 03	0,0	195, 60	33, 48	145,65	1256.83	0.0	8, 55	0.0	1772, ' 7	678,05	8138,79	1577.49	9716,
tra U	2	809.66	180.75	171.0	3 1161.39	58,00	1219.39	123.47	103,43	82.21	33,53	46.11	182,61	203, 15	1, 04	11.36	68,26	20.34	0, 25	0.0	47, 23	0.0	922.99	156, 09	1079.
Ш	32	4796.06	466, 11	1236, 3	6498.49	555.87	7054.36	309, 73	235. 92	735, 67	212,48	227.32	343,35	617, 96	10,76	110,06	463, 68	458. 99	7. 04	0, 16	698.83	1,71	4433,54	1497.26	5930,
IV	17	1399.55	309.14	348.14	2056.83	0, 25	2057.08	122,90	123, 40	433, 45	41.75	101,36	219, 12	359, 84	2, 52	33, 38	182, 57	31.07	21, 50	18.79	176, 28	0.03	1867.96	309, 78	2177
v	67	626, 90	167.88	423.8	1218,64	5.70	1224,34	97.37	157.82	199, 60	54,50	65.53	71.83	148.00	14.58	7. 91	51, 91	0, 15	0.07	0, 0	181,99	1.45	1052.91	140, 84	1193
VI	84	315. 44	80, 97	185, 45	581.86	<b>6. 4</b> 5	588,31	51.05	84_18	91.44	24.86	24.47	41,46	54, 35	3,90	2.58	25, 53	0, 0	0. 14	1,21	95, 15	0.19	500,51	94.1	17 594
VII	29	62,89	39. 72	36, 7	139.38	0. <b>4</b> 3	139.81	15, 37	13, 81	16.33	6,35	6, 70	8,50	6, 52	0. 79	0,86	7.51	0.0	0,0	0,28	27, 86	0.0	110,88	13,5	56 124
VIII	7	32. 72	12, 32	26, 83	71.91	0.0	71.91	5.09	7.46	7. 82	1.54	3, 18	6, 31	5.00	0.29	0, 11	2, 94	0.0	0.0	0.04	41,58	0.93	82.31	4, 56	8 80
OTAL	229	10899.40	2492, 59	2455.49	15847.48	2152.45	17999.93	1118.04	1010,45	2726.08	749.77	2311.70	873,18	1590, 42	: 67.36	311.61	2058.23	510, 65	37.55	20, 48	3041.89	682,38	17109,89	9 <b>3</b> 79 <b>3,</b> 76	5 20903
								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							<del></del>						<del></del>				
gha-I a	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
n	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
ш	1	11,52	2, 47	2.15	16.14	2,64	18.78	3, 65	1, 76	3, 63	0,93	0.51	3,86	••	••	0, 02	1,74	1.10		••	0, 03	••	17,23	2.89	9 20,
Ι¥	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•
V	1	2,60	0, 16	••	2,75	1, 51	4, 26	1, 05	••	2, 34	••	••	••	48, 12	••	••	••	••	••	••	2.82	••	54, 33	1,80	s <b>6</b> 5
VI	••	••	••	••	• •	••	• •	••	••	••	•••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		
vn	••	••	••	••	••	••	••				••	••	••			••	••		••		••		••	••	
VIII			••		••	••	4.	••		••	••		••		••		••	••	••			••	••		

												197													
			<u> </u>											· ·					⟨Ra,	in lakhs)	•				
Size	No.			INCO											PENDI									Capital	Total
<u></u>		Tax	Non-Tax	Ordy. Grant	Total Ordinary Income	Extra Ordinary Income	Total y Income	Gen. Admn.	Collec- tion of Rev.	Public Health	Public Safety	Medical	Water Supply	Educa- tion	Librar	y Gerden	Roads	Trans- port	Recrea- tion	Com. Institu- tion	Misc.	Repay. of Loans	Total Ordina- ry Ex		Expen- diture
Oriesa I	١.		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•• ,	••			••	••		••	••	••	••	••	
n		••			••	••	••		••	••		••			••		•• .		••		••		••	••	••
111	4	80,08	26. 93	48. 56	155, 57	23, 60	179. 17	16, 24	9, 19	30, 68	14, 65	2,11	1.39	25, 01	0. 59	2.13	26, 73	••	0.03	••	9. 86	3.27	141.88	49.84	191.72
17	4	49.70	25. 90	26,66	102,26	22,88	125, 14	7.08	11, 24	30. 44	4, 15	1,41	0.70	24. 82	0, 04	0.38	7. 52	1, 33	6, 65	••	10.53	1,58	101.86	35. 11	136.97
v	24	93.06	34. 39	27.31	154.76	107,25	262.01	19, 06	19,69	29.43	13,61	0.76	6,25	11.86	0.47	0.91	17.21	0,28	0.40	0.06	22.56	7.11	149.85	66,53	216,38
VI	33	38.31	22,74	24.09	85.14	21, 88	107.02	13. 19	14, 50	24,24	6.03	0.39	3, 68	2. 16	0.34	0,61	7.01	••	0, 17	0.04	9.99	4, 15	86,80	20, 07	106.87
VII	15	3. 66	5. 72	6. 16	15.54	21, 42	36.96	6.09	2.27	5. 78	1.85		0.80	0. 44	0.11		1, 34	••	0. 02	••	1, 89	0,39	19,98	2, 17	22,15
urv	13	1.42	3, 21	2.81	7.44	26, 90	34.42	3.47	0. 62	1, 71	2.18	0.08	1.12	••	••	0.16	2.11		0. 01	••	1, 38	0.62	13.46	7.27	20, 73
TOTAL	93	266,23	118.69	135.59	520.71	224, 01	744.72	64. 13	67, 61	122,28	42.67	4, 75	13, 93	64, 29	1,55	4. 49	61, 92	1, 61	1.28	0.09	56, 21	17,12	513.83	180. 99	694.62
Punjab I	••				••		••		••		••			••		••	••	••	••	••	••		••		••
п	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••.	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••		••	••
. 131	4	762,88	160 <b>. 48</b>	6.47	929, 83	43, 28	973.11	38, 45	64. 48	174_23	72.23	11,32	64.50	••	2, 94	24. 32	10.14	••	••		20. 46	55.66	538.72	335. 30	874.02
ıv	9	275.49	<b>69.</b> 73	1.93	337, 15	37, 33	374.48	16.56	45, 97	67.53	22,38	2.76	28.51	0.26	1, 05	5. 65	4. 76	••	1, 17	••	35.56	39.88	274.05	218, 46	493,61
v	22	291,09	76. 32	6,68	373,09	15, 53	388.62	43, 19	61,41	106,68	18.94	4. 64	20.68	5. 82	2,25	3, 61	16,26	••	. • •	••	15, 84	20,98	320,28	70, 14	390.42
٧ı	32	179.54	40, 64	10.04	230.22	14, 69	244,91	45.95	50. 13	41.57	9, 12	2.37	9,28	2, 14	1.17	4, 63	14.64	••	0.06	••	6, 11	9.29	195, 46	43, 61	239.07
VII	32	57.57	22.38	9, 12	69.07	12, 03	101.10	18, 86	19, 93	19, 13	6.49	0,61	5.21	0.49	1.26	0, 63	14, 62	••	••	••	0. 02	5.24	92,61	5. 26	97.87
VIII	11	38, 16	24_58	1,61	64.35	1. 07	65.42	21,69	12, 43	11, 20	2.51	0,02	7.20	••	0.04	0, 15	3, 67	••	••	••	0, 44	1,38	60,73	3, 69	64, 62
TOTAL	110	1604.73	384, 13	34,85	2023.71	123, 93	2147.64	186,70	254, 35	420.34	131,67	21.72	135,38	8, 71	8.71	38. 89	64, 30		1, 23	••	77.43	132.41 1	481.84	677, 66	2159,50
Rajas- I	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••			••	••	• •	••	••	••	••	••	••	•• ,	••	••	••
than Ti	1	163.31	33, 90	••	197.21	3. 02	200.23	12.08	10.47	85.65	9.30	••	i	0.38	••	0.09	6, 65		••	••	••	0, 32	126, 84	20,50	147.34
101	7	442.62	115. 71	0.61	558.94	34, 16	593.10	13. ولي	39.70	220, 64	33,80	4.21	2, 62	0.60	2, 13	6, 64	29.45	13, 48	0, 60			15.14	420,62	64, 15	484,77
1V	7	116.52	31.73	0.08	148.33	16.20	164. 53	16, 66	16, 27	58.36	7.21	0.46	4.38	1, 16	1.68	3. 39	4. 67		0. 01		0.63	2.74	116,62	27.46	144.07
v	39	220.79	63. 33	0.39	284. 51	18. 27	302.76	36, 28	46, 14	103,43	27.05	1.52	7.18	3.76	1.76	3.77	5.34	••	0.02	0, 83	••	2. 39	238, 64	54, 75	293,39
VI	<b>6</b> 9	179.86	65, 60	.0.90	236.36	35, 16	271.54	46, 28	44,74	76, 09	15.53	0.69	3.74	1.45	1,29	3, 28	4. 10	0.46	0.14	••	1, 58	2,48	2 <b>62, <del>68</del></b>	67,21	259,89
νπ	36	37, 57	17.60	0.25	<b>55.42</b>	10. 84	66,26	13, 10	10.88	16, 30	3.83	0.30	1.04	0. 24	0.42	0.56	0, 65	••	0. 01	••	••	1.48	48, 51	14.90	63.71
Vıπ	3	3, 13	1. 47	0.02	4.62	0. 90	5.52	1.09	0. 91	1.36	1.25	0.02	0,09	0, 92	0.04	0.05	0.06	••	••	••	••	0, 12	5,00	1, 24	6.24
TOTAL	162	1163, 79	<b>3</b> 19. <b>35</b>	2,25	1485.39	118, 57	1603.96	176, 20	169, 11	561.73	97.97	7,20	18, 95	7, 61	7. 32	17, 78	62, 91	13, 94	0, 78	0, 63	2,21	24,67 1	159,21	241, 20	1400,41

																				(Re.	in lakhs				
Gi:	10 No	Tax	Non-Tax	Ordy.	OME Total Ordinary Income	Extra Ordinar Incomé	Total y Incom	Gen. ne Adma	Collec- tion of Boy.		Public Safety	Medical	Water Bupply		Library		Roads;	Trans- port	Recrea- tion	Com. Insti- tution	Misc.	of O	Total rdinary Expen.	Capital Expen- diture	
and I du	1	1255, \$1	267, 14	-	1524, 37	_•	1526.63	174,77	10.15	396.70	103,79	90,91	112.15	66.43		15,57	77.06	123.96	5, 35		159.31	13.42 15		61, 20	
П	1	232, 21		15,45		49.60	459.69	55.14	••	97.06 273.98	4.95	31.89 60.54	51,87 192,24	33, 74 289, 11	0. 07 2. 72	2, 70 16,54	9, 56	2. 42	0.34	0. 37 2. 81	14, 38 77, 06	27,09 3 127,33 13		22.08 474.94	353.3 17 <b>84</b> .3
	1.5	825.36		_	1437.88	286, 86 56, 16	1734,74	158, 28 202, 66	••	188, 86	43. 60 28. 34	26,45	79.45	163.53	2, 05	4, 26	27.11	••	1, 14	1.50	36,23	83,50 8		93.58	938.6
IA.	<b>32</b> 50	476, 68 355, 20		20.44		125.91	760,01	100, 58	••	147.61	28, 12	52.04	67,55	87.45	1,74	3.04	22.45	••	0, 69	2. 15	2.17		593.81	140, 32	734.
VI	4	12.06	8, 67	0, 19		5. 69	26.81	8. 42		5, 19	0.89	0, 43	1,92	0, 89	0. 19	0.35	1.66	••	0.01	0, 07	0.55	4.07	24, 66	1, 58	25.2
VII	3	11,44	5, 69	1.57	10.60	3.40	22,00	5.29	••	3, 74	1,04	0.39	1,39	2. 17	0, 09	0, 19	0. 65	••	0.08	0, 13	0.56	1,39	17.11	2.53	19,
<b>VIII</b>	0	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••
POTAL	106	3168,26	1572.57	148.77	4869, 60	530.07	5419.67	705, 14	10, 15	1118.04	210,73	262.55	506,37	645. 32	0, 86	42.64	203, 31	126.38	7, 61	8.60	290, 28	336.12 4	194, 40	797.18	<b>529</b> 0,
P. I			••	••	••	••	••	••			••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
п	4	1062,72	170.95	275.15	1620.02	209.37	1738, 19	51,00	63.78	467.57	34.67	61,57	199,11	44. 54	0.72	1976	••	••	13, 60	••	100.39	112.89 1	189.52	357.89	1547.
ш	15	761,46	340, 03	233,91	1335, 40	134. 75	1470.15	41, 43	102.27	447.22	38.05	19.52	62,68	10, 06	2.69	8.09	••	0.60	2, 28	0, 72	114, 49	41.37	881,60	442.37	1323
1A	30	343,02	162, 88		622.51	12.80	635, 31	37.44	63.59	235.08	29.37	6, 77	••	3, 25	1, 23	6.77	••	••	2, 13	••	79. 43	23, 57	_	194, 73	663
V Vi	<b>66</b> 107	532, 21 214, 11	250. 12 92. 52		969, 63 400, 02	46. 37 8. 96	1016,00	73.50 42.82	122, 71 43, 12	290, 16 122, 76	59.63 21.94	36,49	2.33 3.19	17. 14 9. 23	1.96 0.68	7, 34 4, 94	1, 36 5, 12		1, 00 0, 87	••	164. 15 44. 25	52.67 11.41		364. 67 104. 99	1199
VII	84	84.94	31, 87		148.17	8, 20	156.37	27.59	7. 88	32.45	8.29	0.78	0.74	1, 38	0. 11	0.96	4,41		0.22	••	17.95		103.40	28.08	131
VIII	153	102,01	60, 69	52, 84	215,54	5, 26	220,80	48. 03	14, 92	56, 24	8,66	0.50	1.40	2, 92	0, 20	0.23	3, 19		0,51	••	41.06	2.93		42, 73	151
TOTAL	478	3130.47	1117.06	982, 56	5220. 09	425, 71	6645.60	321.81	438.27	1651.49	200,94	132.44	269.64	66, 52	7. 58	48.09	14,08	0. 60	20, 62	0.72	661.71	249.49 3	3996.19	1535, 45	5531
t _ 1	1	1002.41	219,62	647.45	1959.66		1959, 68	707, 62	43.78	303.86	63.51	37, 84	121.34	103.98	••		75.78	272.29	••	27, 72	89, 69	1	1837.08	155,77	2002
ral II	1	186.09	2. 10	54.00	249.i9	56, 00	298, 19	39.24	••	87.46	7.01	0,62	••	7. 11	••	••	••	••	••	••	58, <del>94</del>	8.28	208.66	14, 06	22
ш	16	337.66	29.48	261,48	548, 43	27. 08	595.70	47, 07	20.01	133, 24	54.68	12,70	49,03	84, 42	0, 00	0, 34	••	••		••	91.80	1.62	445.09	99.87	54
IV	28	300.40	75, 13	103.09	478,62	50, 20	628,82	58, 31	11.06	108.88	29. <del>98</del>	7.48	23,66	49.89	0,03	0, 09	0, 01	٠.٠	••	••	85.47	6, 92	381, 78	75.60	45
▼ .	34	343.92	83, 04		509. 19	44, 54	546, 73	29. 01	6. 13	: 47. 62	23,60	6. 42	19.01	32, 07	0, 03	2, 31	1.64	٠	••	••	91.98	2,86		70.78	
٧ı	13	16, 79	6. 57	9,76	33, 12	1. 17	34,29	4, 42	4, 08	6, 37	1.28	1, 14	2.31	2,21	••	0, 04	••	••	••	••	8, 13	0.24		0.91	
VII	5	1,73	0, 52	2.30	4. 55	1.49	6,04	1,06		0.43	0, 18	0,35	••	0, 17	0.03	••	••	••	**	••	1, 36	••	3.56	0.58	
VIII	3	29,22	2, 06	20,39	51,66	••	51,66	4,31	3, 40	15, 86	1,75	4, 32	3.68	2,72	0, 16	••	••	••	••	••	4,40	0,09	40.44	10,00	
TAL	100	2308, 22	418,71	1113,70	3840, 63	180, 48	4021, 11	891, 24	87.46	703. 22	172,18	72.85	218.93	232.57	0, 34	2, 78	77, 40	372.2	• ••	27, 72	431.66	20.01	3210.67	445.59	36

Size	No.			INCO	ME						······································			E	XPEND.	ITURE								Capital	lakhs) Total
		Tax	Non-Tax	Grant C	Total rdinary Income	Extra Ordinary Income	Total Income	Admn.	Collec- tion of Rev.	Public Health	Public Safety	Medical	Water Supply	Educa- tion	Library	Garden	Roads	Trans- port	Recrea- tion	Com. Insti- tution	Misc.	Repay, of Loans	Total Ordinary Expn.	Expen-	
Pondi- I	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	- •	••	••	••	••		••	••	••		••	••	••	••
chery II	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		•• .	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
ш	••	••	••	**	••	**	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
17	1	27.2	11.69	7.6	46.40	1, 59	47.99	8, 60	••	15, 14	••	0.08	0.88	••	••	••	••	2.6	1	••	11,92	0.71	39,34	16,34	55.50
v	1	8.4	0 1.9	3.5	13.61	4.30	18.11	4.99	1, 65	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	0, 72	0,21	7.67	3, 99	11.66
VI	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
VII	?	5.7	5 1.0	0 0.4	3 7.10	•••	7.18	2, 63	0.09	••	0. 78	• ••	0,47	••	••	••	0. 8	ı	0, 02	••	1, 06	0.03	5.76	0, 19	6.95
VIII	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	***	••	••	••	••	••
TOTAL	4	41.3	5 14.4	8 11.5	6 67.39	5,89	73.28	16, 12	1,74	15, 14	0.70	0.06	1.35	**	••	••	0.6	2.6	L 0,02	••	13, 60	0.95	52.67	20,53	73,00
Delbi I	1	3012.9	7 432.8	3 502.3	2 3948.12	302,24	4250.36	199, 95	177.55	<b>886,</b> 01	157.1	3 488.65	• ••	1197, 64	4.26	137, 95	279, 6	8 75.8	20, 42	••	59. 04	••	3484, 05	697, 53	4061,58
п	••	••	**	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••
m	1	1218,6	4 488.8	9 174.1	9 1879.92	130.00	2009.92	110,05	4. 82	639.43	0.6	L 56.43	3, 63	172, 19	6,64	67, 01	252, 0	14,5	4, 47	••	47, 03	39,67	1608.42	276, 41	1884. 83
17	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
v	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
٧ĭ	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
VII	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	,••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
vm	••	••	••	••	••	** .	••	••	••	••		••	••	**	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
TOTAL	2	4231.	919.	72 676.0	1 5828.0	4 432,24	6260,28	\$10,00	182.37	1525.44	157.7	4 545.00	3,63	1369.73	10, 80	194, 96	531, 60	90,41	24,89	••	106,07	29, 67	5002.47	675.94	5968.41
Goa 1 Damas	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	• •	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••
4 II	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
<b>m</b>	••	•••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
17	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	**	••	••	••	••	•••
V	4	8.	25 21.	80 18	.69 48.6	4 4.18	62,73	24. 30	0, 02	4, 52	4,1	4 0.00	0,74	••	0, 42	2,24	5, 31	0. 82	• ••	••	2.42	••	45.00	19, 01	54, 10
vı	1	0.	69 0,5	3 5.	47 1.2	2 1,79	3,01	1, 63	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	0, 44	٠.,	••	••	0, 01	0.13	2, 13	0.07	2,00
VII	4	1.	85 7.	68 ,,	14.9	1 1,64	16,55	3.27	••	0.31	0.7	6 0, 11	2,56	0,00	0, 19	0, 26	0, 20	٠.	••	••	4.20	••	12,23	2.07	16,19
VIII	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••
TOTAL	. 9	10.	79 28.	72 24.	16 64.6	7 7, 61	72,28	29, 10	0.02	4, 83	4.9	0 0, 20	3,30	0, 09	0,61	2.60	6, 01	7 0.85		••	6. 07	0, 13	50.45	17.56	17, ₩

Size	M.			INCO	ME									EX	PENDIT	CURE								Capital	Tetal
	, m.,	Тех	Non-Tax		Total Ordinary Income	Extra Ordinary Income	Total Income		Collec- tion of Rev.		Public Bafety	Medical	Water Bupply				Roads	Port	Recrea-	Com, Institu- tion	Misc.	Repay. of Locus	Total Ordina- ry Espa,		Expen-
amen I k	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
п	••	••	••	••	••			••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•• .	••	• ••		••	••	••	••	••	••
ш.	••	••	·	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•	••	••	••	••
18	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••,	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••
v	1	21.73	7, 21	<b>4</b> • '	38.94	9, 60	38,44	3, 20	••	10, 33	0.70	••	12,45	••	••	0, 13	••	••	••		E.64	••	23.65	1,71	*
VI	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•• •	••	••	•••	j	••	••	••	••
VİI	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	. ••	•
VIII .	••	••		••	••	••	••		••	••	••		••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	••	•
TAL		21.73	7, 21		28.94	9 50	20 44	3, 20	••	10.33	0, 70.		13,66	••		0, 13					E 64		33.65	1.7	1 1

Statewise assessment of Income-tax (excluding tax on Union Salaries) for the years 1973-74 to 1976-77.

(Net of reductions on account of appellate order, revision, rectification, etc.)

بربس وي جبر بسبس مب سيفي من مياسات، قدرات کا قدائم مر نال		, مومر موم حد سا			(Rs.CTOICS)
S <b>t</b> ate <b>s</b>	1973-74	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1973-74 to 1976-77
	(2)	737	(4)	(5)	(6)
1. Andhra Pradesh	27.59	32.93	35.32	31.45	127.29
2. Assam	2.40	3.38	3.17	5.33	14.28
3. Bihar	6.39	5,18	8.02	7.14	26.73
4. Gujarat	40.93	49.31	66.09	89.38	245.71
5. Haryana	4.45	6,18	6.97	6.43	24.03
6. Himachal Pradesh	0.88	1.01	0.84	0.89	3.62
7. Jammu & Kashmir	1.06	1.71	2.85	2.85	€ • 47
8. Karnataka	13.46	22.66	29.59	27.12	92.83
9. Kerala	10.21	14,53	18,92	20.39	64,05
10. Madhya Pradesh	16.74	17.27	18.53	17.89	70.43
11. Maharashtra	65.64	115.47	112.08	122.89	416.08
12. Manipur	0.41	0.57	0.32	0.27	1. 457
13. Meghalaya	0.07	0.22	0.21	0.28	0.78
14. Nagaland*	0,14	0.17	0.12	0.24	0.67
15. Orissa	3.11	3, 32	3.91	3.98	14.32
16. Punjab	12.63	14,65	16.31	30.33	73,92
17. Rajasthan	3.47	3.20	5,02	1.51	13,20
18. Sikkim	-	-	-	-	-
19. Tamil Nadu	33.91	49.62	54,78	56,26	194.57
20. Tripura	0.16	0,16	0,15	0.23	0.70
21. Uttar Pradesh	22.25	32,61	33.91	31.76	120.53
22. West Bengal	27.36	33.95	38.59	4,97	104.87
Total :	<u> 293.26</u>	408.10	<u>455.70</u>	461.59	1619,65

^{*} Figures for Nagaland relate to net collections.

Source: Central Board of Direct Taxes.

### Appendix IV.7

# Communications from Ministry of Finance regarding Union excise duty on generation of power.

1. Letter No.46(75)PFI/78 dated the 13th Oct., 1978 from Finance Secretary to Member Secretary

As you are aware, Union Excise Duty of 2 paise per kw/h on electricity generated had been levied with effect from 1.3.1978 as part of the budget proposals for 1978-79. Electricity generated for captive consumption as well as that used in auxiliary plants in the generation stations for the generation of electricity was exempted from this levy. Besides, a rebate of duty had been given in respect of electricity used for agricultural purposes.

- 2. The rationale behind this levy of excise duty on generation of power was fully explained in the budget speech of the Union Finance Minister. He had observed that the nation has invested heavily in the development of power. The returns from this investment have not been commensurate. It was felt that with the enormous investment in power, there was ample justification for claiming a contribution from those who benefit from these investments.
- There is no constitutional bar to the levy of Central excise duty on generation of power. However, the States have been pressing for either withdrawal of the levy altogether or for transfer to the States of its net proceeds entirely. We have given careful consideration of the view point expressed by the States at various forums including the National Development Council and the Southern Zonal Council. It has now been decided that the entire non-shareable portion of the net proceeds of Central excise duty on generation of power would be transferred to the States in proportion to the revenues realised from each State on this account. This decision will be effective from The decision is being brought to the notice of the Seventh Finance Commission so that it may take into account the implications of this decision while assessing Centre's resources as well as finalizing the scheme of devolution to the States for the quinquennium 1979-84.

### Appendix IV.7 (contd.)

4. A statement* showing Statewise anticipated revenue from Central excise duty on generation of power for the years 1979 to 1984 as furnished by the Central Electricity Authority is enclosed.

### 2. <u>Ietter No.46(75)PF.I/78 dated 19th Oct. 1978 from Finance Secretary to Member Secretary.</u>

Please refer to my D.O. letter No.46(75)PFI/78 dated the 13th October, 1978, regarding Union excise duty on generation of power.

2. I would like to clarify that the decision that the entire non-shareable portion of the net proceeds of central excise duty on generation of power would be transferred with effect from 1.4.1979 to the States in proportion to the revenues realised from each State on this account is subject to the condition that this duty will continue to be levied beyond that date.

### 3. <u>Letter No. 46(75)PF.I/78 dated October 23.1978 from</u> <u>Finance Secretary to Member Secretary</u>

Please refer to my corridential d.o. letter No. 46(75)PFI/78 dated October 13, 1978 conveying the decision of the Government of India that with effect from 1.4.1979, the entire non-share-ble portion of the net proceeds of the Central excise duty on generation of power would be transferred to the States in proportion to the revenues realised from each State on this account. A statement showing State-wise anticipated revenue from this levy for the years 1979-80 to 1983-84, as furnished by the Central Electricity Authority, was also enclosed with my letter.

2. The matter has been examined further in consultation with the Central Electricity Authority and the Department of Power, Ministry of Energy and a fresh statement of estimated revenue

^{*} not reproduced.

### Appendix IV.7(Contd.)

State-wise from the levy of Central excise duty on generation of power for the years 1979-80 to 1983-84 has been worked out which may be taken in substitution of the statement enclosed with my earlier letter of October 13, 1978. The basic premises underlying the present estimates have been spelt out in the explanatory note attached.

### Appendix IV.7(Contd.)

An Explanatory Note on the estimates of net revenue from excise duty on generation of power from each State for the years 1979-80 to 1983-84.

- 1) The State-wise estimates of net revenue are based on the estimates of energy availability as contained in the Tenth Annual Power Survey.
- 2) The 'energy availability' represents net generation by the State Electricity Boards and other State authorities, the State's share in generation of power from jointly owned projects, allocation from Central power stations and net generation by private licensees located within the State.
- 3) The revenue from D.V.C. has been allocated between West Bengal and Bihar in the ratio adopted in the Tenth Annual Power Survey.
- 4) i) The Power available from Singrauli Power Station and Narora Atomic Power Plant has been allocated according to the shares decided by the Government of India. The share reserved by the Government of India for allocation at a later, date has been shown as energy available in Uttar Pradesh.
  - ii) The power available from Tarapur Atomic Power Station has been allocated equally between Maharashtra and Gujarat.
  - iii) The entire power available from Rajasthan Atomic Power Plant Unit I and II has been shown as energy available in Rajasthan.
    - iv) The power available from Ist Unit of Kalpakkam Atomic Power Plant has been allocated equally among Tamil Nadu, Karnataka and Andhra Pradesh, while the entire power from the IInd Unit has been allocated to Tamil Nadu.
      - v) As regards the Central hydro projects the share allocated to each State has been included under that State,

### Appendix IV.7(Contd.)

- 5) The estimates of net revenue have been worked out by deducting the repate towards the estimated agricultural consumption as assessed by the Tenth Annual Power Survey.
- 5) The energy availability shown for Pondicherry and Dadra and Nagar Haveli have been shown as energy available in Tamil Nadu and Gujarat respectively, as these Union Territories do not have generation of their own.
- 7) The actual share of each State will be based on collection of revenue on account of excise duty on generation of power and <u>not</u> on the basis of accrual.

Statement showing revenue from each State as a purpose to to to total

207

Appendix Ty.7(Concld.)

revenue from excise duty on sener ion from 1979-00 to 1, 5-84 الناقية بالمراب والمراب pago Name of the State Net No. Net Revenue tot:1 5 total " to West to revenue Let nige to Reverse tofal 1979-01 nvenue revenue Revenue total tot 1 revenue total revenue revenue to revanue IN INVESTIGA revenue 1033-64 1. Haryara 6.1992 3.21 35-0626 5.03 6.8524 5.20 6.3944 2,90 7.3394 2.91 7.7772 3.00 2. Himachal Pradesh 1.5066 0.78 1.5622 9.73 1.7036 0.72 1.8122 0.72 1.0004 0.72 8,4500 0.73 3. Jamu and Kashnir 1.7352 0.90 1.7014 3.57 0.70 1. 656 0.70 0.86 2,0022 1.07 10,2723 2,1602. 4. Funjab 11.3598 5.49 11.3792 61,1994 5.29 5.55 12,1470 5.11 12.503: 4.99 13.1796 5.06 5. Rajasthan 7.6673 3.97 7.7444 3.62 8.5034 +1.4216 3.58 J. 4496 3.55 3.51 9.0054 3.45 6. Uttar Pradesh 23.7236 12,28 23.5250 12.39 27.1212 29. 3172 11,49 30.9089 11.87 157, 2959 11,86 11.40 7. Gujarat 14,3063 7.67 16.0473 37.2925 7.54 7.50 10.8756 19.0343 7.32 18.4703 7.77 7.48 8. Maihya Pradesh 10.5700 63,6212 5.93 5.47 12,5332 5.36 14.5342 6.13 15.3...? 6.05 15.5316 5.98 9. Maharashtra 25.6047 13.26 28,5170 37.6.155 14.48 163.2939 13.94 15.32 13.70 14,22 32.5736 35.0001 10, Andhr. Pradesh 15.0026 7.30 13,6418 22.3292 100.3553 B. 66 2,70 21.7734 J.16 22.5038 8.92 S.57 11.Karmutaka 13.6164 7.05 15.4812 16.5222 6.46 79.7052 **6.**ಚ3 7.23 15.3978 7.11 16.6336  $\epsilon \omega$ 12.Kermin 8,1154 4.20 43.0301 3.72 9.0672 3.76 3.53 9.4134 3.61 3.3306 3.54 9.3335 13.Tanil Nadu 13,9972 79.4566 6.95 7.25 15.5062 7.27 16. 393 16.7773 6.6+ 16,6156 6.33 6.91 14. Bihar 13.2734 6.03 14.24.2 6.63 77.5126 6.69 6.66 17.2758 16,1052 6.31 16.5240 6.54 15.West Bengal 16,4525 ·.35 15,050% 104.7044 9.04 444 21.1665 3.91 25.7990 9.42 25,2158 9.67 16.0rissa 7.1.50 43.9052 3.59 7.5 :7: 3.38 3.73 5.54 3.9;22 3.76 10.1132 4.00 10.1 34 1.3 61 9.79 14,0223 1.21 1.95,/5 ^. JO 3.2473 1.37 3.7512 1.43 3.6776 1.40 13.Meghalaya 0.5676 0,30 0.5051 2.3224 0.2+ 1.25 - 5644 0.5630 0.22 3.5616 J. 22 ). 24 19.Manipur 2, )152 0.007 0.1101 ), je 0,2234 0.09 0.7200 0.06 1, 1672 0.03 0. 17 J. 1095 20.Nagaland : 52 0.06 0.1506 3,9504 3.05 1.37 3,1.33 J.0% J. 2176 0.08 ), 25)2 3.05 21.Tripura J. 757 0.003 0.0554 0,004 ), 1126 0,04 **2.131**5 0.05 ), 1,53 3.35 0,5513 0.05 Total All India 103. 00% 213,9113 1157.4563 237.1603 252.1523 260.54.13

⁽ Source: Elmintry of Finance)

208

Appendix IV.8

Variations in Total (Plan + Non-Plan) Expenditure (Budget)

S1. States	(%, in l Avorage Annual	akhs) Expenditure(Total)	Per Capita	(Rupees) Expenditure
No.	<u> 1961-64</u>	<u> 1974-77</u>	<u> 1961-64</u>	1974-77
	<u> </u>	3	4	5
1. Ardhra Pradesh	15573	71192	43.28	152.77
2. Assam	6213	21937	50.93	129.04
3. Bihar	12794	56577	27.51	92.75
4. Gujarat	10530	55654	51.12	191.25
5. Haryana	<del>tos</del>	Prod	<b>-</b>	_
6. Kernataka	12294	57812	51.71	182.37
7. Kerala	8051	<b>41</b> 594	47.64	178.52
8. Madhya Pradesh	12790	52918	3 <b>9.4</b> 8	110.56
9. Maharashtra	20022	112329	50.56	205.73
10. Orissa	3302	34393	50.30	143.9C
11. Punjab	11608	40007	104,58	275.91
12. Rejasthen	9596	46041	47.50	160.42
13. Temil Nadu	16131	70790	47.87	162.36
14. Uttar Pradesh	21092	117014	28,62	123.30
5. West Bengal	15792	65604	45.25	135.93

### Appendix IV.9

# FOR ESTIMATION OF PERSONS BELOW POVERTY LINE IN STATES - 1970-71

This note explains the methodology and data base utilised for the estimation of persons below the poverty line in the Indian States in 1970-71. The following steps constitute the methodology.

- (a) Choosing the cut-off point the all India poverty line.
- (b) Conversion of the all-India poverty line into State-specific poverty lines.
- (c) Adjusting the State-specific poverty lines to 1970-71 prices.
- (d) Addition of per capita public expenditure to arrive at the "authorited poverty line".
- (e) Calculation of the percentage of persons below the augmented poverty line in each State by linear interpolation in the relevant interval; and
- (f) Calculation of the number of persons below the augmented poverty line in each State and the poverty percentage.
- 2. These steps are explained below.
- (a) Choosing the All-India Poverty Line: For the measurement of the incidence of poverty in India two cut-off points have been accepted for a long time: the Dandekar-Rath (DR) norm of Rs. 15 as per capita monthly consumption expenditure for rural areas and Rs. 22.5 for urban areas (in 1960-61 prices); and the Planning Commission (PC) norm of Rs. 18.9 for rural and Rs. 25 for urban areas(1960-61 prices). For the present calculations the Dandekar-Rath

norm has been adopted.

(b) State Specific Poverty Lines: In order to convert the all-India rural and urban poverty norms into State-specific poverty norms (at 1960-61 prices) State price indices are needed. For converting the rural all-India norm, the State index of rural consumer prices in 1960-61 prepared by Bardhan* on the basis of the study "Between States Variation in Consumer Prices" by Chatterjee and Bhattacharya** has been utilised. In this study, Chatterjee and Ehattacharya had constructed indices of consumer prices for the rural areas of different States by fractile groups, based on the N.S.S. 18th Round data.

For converting the urban all-India norm, no State relative price index is available. The three year (1961-63) average of the working class consumer price index has been utilised.

The State-specific poverty lines are shown in Cols. 2 and 3 in Table.

(c) Adjusting the State-specific poverty lines to 1970-71 Prices: In order to compute rural State poverty lines in the prices of 1970-71 the consumer price index number for agricultural labour(CPIAL) has been utilised.

^{*} Bardhan, Pranab K, "On the Incidence of Poverty in Rural India in the Sixtees" in Poverty and Income Distribution in India (ED.) by Srinivasan T.N. and Bardhan P.K. (1974).

^{**} Chatterjee G.S. and Bhattacharya. N., "Between States Variation in Consumer Prices and Per Capita Household Consumption in Rural India" in Poverty and Income Distribution in India (Ed.) by Srinivasan T.N. and Bardhan P.K. (1974).

### Appendix IV.9 (Contd.)

For the urban lines the consumer price index number for the working clars (CPIWC) has been used. Both these official index numbers (Annexure II) have been taken from the monthly publication, <u>Indian Labour Journal</u>, of the Labour Bureau, Ministry of Labour. The CPIWC is not directly available State-wise. The Labour Bureau constructs this index for 50 Centres (Listed in Annexure VI) in different States. In order to compute State-wise CPIWC from the 50 Centres index numbers, a weighting diagram (Annexure-VI) was obtained from the NSSO. This gives the Centre-wise weights in the new series.

State-specific poverty lines in 1970-71 prices are shown in Cols.4 and 5 of Table 1.

- (d) <u>Augmented Poverty Lines</u>. The NGS data only covers household consumer expenditure. In order to get a more inclusive measure of welfare or deprivation an estimate of the benefit of public expenditure has been added to the private consumer expenditure norm for calculating "the augmented poverty line" (Cols. 6 and 7 of Table 1). To the per capita per monthly private consumer expenditure norm is added the per capita monthly public expenditure by each State government under the following Heads of expenditure in 1970-71:
  - (i) Health and Family Planning;
  - (ii) Water supply and samitation;
  - (iii) Education;
  - (iv) Administration of Police, Jails and Courts,
    - (v) Roads; and
  - (vi) Social Welfare.

### Appendix IV.9 (Contd.)

The data (Annexure III) on public expenditure by each State Government were obtained from the Combined Revenue and Finance Accounts for 1970-71.

Since the distribution of this public expenditure as between different expenditure classes is not available, the actual public expenditure per capita monthly was added to the actual private monthly per capita expenditure of each class for each State. To the norm, i.e. the State specific poverty lines, the maximum per capita monthly public expenditure for any State in India in 1970-71 was added. This modified State-specific norm is named the "Augmented Poverty Line".

(e) Interpolation of the Poverty Ratio. Data provided in the NSS report No.269 on consumer expenditure for 1970-71 (NSS 25th Round - July 1970 to June 1971) have been used for calculating the State-wise rural and urban poverty ratios by the method of linear interpolation.

#### Thus if :

- Y = Cumulative percentage of persons at the cut-off point (x) i.e. augmented poverty line;
- y₁ = Cumulative percentage of persons at the lower limit of the expenditure class in which the cut-off point(x) falls;
- y₂ = Cumulative percentage of persons at the upper limit of the expenditure class in which the cut-off point(x) falls;
- x = Cut-off point i.e. the augmented poverty line;
- x₁ = Lower limit of the expenditure class in which
   x falls; and
- $x_2$  = Upper limit of the expenditure class in which x falls, then Y =  $y_1 + \frac{y_2 - y_1}{x_2 - x_1}$  (X-X₁).

### Appendix IV.9(Contd.)

- (f) Poverty Percentage. After estimating the State-wise rural and urban poverty ratios with reference to augmented poverty lines, the total number of persons below the augmented poverty line in each State (vide Cols. 10, 11 and 12) were calculated by applying the ratios to the 1971 Census population data (Annexure V). The "Poverty Percentage" (as shown in Col. 14 of Table 1) is the percentage of the number of persons below the augmented poverty line in a State to the total number of persons below the augmented poverty line in all States.
- (g) Since all the required data for calculating the number of persons below the augmented poverty line were not available for the following States, their poverty ratios were assumed to be the same as for the similarly situated States for which data were available.

States	Assumed Po Rural	<u>Urban</u>	
1. Himachal Pradesh	33 • 95	22.66 (for Assam)	
2. Jammu & Kashmir	33.95	22.66 "	
3. Manipur	33.95	22.66 "	
4. Moghalaya	33•95	22.66	
5. Nagaland	33•95	22.66	
6. Sikkim	33-95	22.66	
7. Tripura	70.82	36.30 (for West Bengal	L)

Appendix IV.9(Contd)

Stepwise Data base for derivation of Poverty Percentage (Statewise) - 1770-71

Table I

Sl. No.	States	State	Specif	ic Pover	rty Lin	nuga Lines	nented Poverty (APL)	Percer Popula (APL)	ntage of ation below	Number of position AFL	orsons	Total Mumber of persons below ATL	Ratio of all persons below	Poverty percen- tage	Rank
		196 Rural	60-61 Urban	1970 Rural	0-71 Urban	1970 Rural	0-71 Urban	197 Rural	70-71 Urban	1977-7	1 Irben	Totrol + Urbor Col.10+Col.11	APL		
	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.		7•	8.	9•	17.	11.	12.	13.	14,	15.
1.	Andhra Pradesh	15.50	22.87	26.51	42.92	<b>3</b> 0. 68	47.09	45.63	57.14	16,015,212	4,801,204	20,817,416	47.85	7.52	7
2.	Assam	16.31	22.63	33.09	40.3∩	37.26	46.47	33.95	22,66	4,527,548	292,138	4,819,686	32.95	1.74	13
<b>3.</b>	Bihar	15.80	22.03	32.55	42.14	36.72	46.31	64.78	57.53	32,856,029	3,241,221	36,097,250	64.06	13.03	2
4.	Gujarat	16,80	21.87	29.06	39.37	33.23	43.54	44.21	46.61	8,488,751	3,494,119	11,982,870	44.88	4.33	11
5.	Haryona	15.90	22.01	30.85	42.65	35.02	46.32	29.73	45.36	2,432,051	804,217	3,236,265	32.24	1.17	14
6.	Karmataka	15.60	22.64	29.33	41.42	33.50	45.59	43.85	51.29	10,833,425	3,652,921	14,486,346	49.44	5.23	9
7.	Kerala	16.10	22.32	34.45	43.78	38.62	47.95	61.82	64.44	11,753,908	2,233,780	13,267,768	62.25	4.00	10
8.	Madhya Pradesh	14.10	23.22	27.92	43.94	32.09	48.11	56.99	60.15	19,872,043	4,081,037	23,953,080	57.50	8.65	5
9.	Maharashtra	16.01	21.79	30.72	39.71	<b>3</b> 4.89	43.83	46.67	38.07	16,194,967	5,981,258	22,176,225	43.99	8.01	6
10.	Oriesa	14.51	22.00	37.74	41.15	34.19	45.32	69.18	49.20	13,904,640	907,134	14,812,574	67.50	5.35	8
11.	Punjab	15.90	22.29	30.05	42.57	35.02	46.74	17.47	34.94	1,805,504	1,123,733	2,929,237	21.62	1.06	15
12.	Rajaethan	14.70	22.46	25.43	41.83	29.60	46.22	41.84	51.23	3,879,374	2,330,041	11,209,345	43.50	4.05	12
13.	Tamil Nadu	16.40	22.22	23.54	38.05	32.71	42.22	61.32	59.29	17,610,893	7,390,000	25,010,203	60.71	7.03	4
14.	Uttar Pradesh	14.51	22.25	26.54	42.70	<b>3</b> 1.71	46.37	48.02	64.83	36,472,413	8,037,721	44,510,134	50.38	16.07	1
15.	West Bengal	18.11	22.25	37.29	40.34	41.45	44.51	70.32	36.30	23,614,913	3,931,733	27,595,946	62.28	9.96	3
ų̈́ν	otal - All India	15,00	22.50	<b>2</b> 3.80	41.40					•				100.00 (15 State	<b>(a</b>
		Annexus	re I	Annoxu	re II	Annoxu	re III	Derive Anneru Il and		Derived from	a.		Derived from Annexure V Col.12 of this table	Derived from Col.12 of this table.	

# Appendix IV.9(Contd) ANNEXURE I

### State Relative Price Indices for Rural and Urban Price levels in 1960-61.

S. No.	State	Index of Consumer Price for the rural Poor in each State with all India average Price for the same Group as 100 (1960-61)	State Relative Urban price index for Industrial Workers with All India Average as 100 *
1.	2.	3.	4.
1. 2. 3. 4.	Andhra Pradesh Assam Bihar Gujarat	102.4 108.6 105.5	101.65 100.53 97.93 97.20
5.	Haryana	106.0	97.82
б.	Karnataka	104.1	100.63
7.	Kerala	207.6	99.19
8.	Madhya Pradesh	93.8	103.22
9.	Maharashtra	106.5	96.84
10.	Orissa	96.8	97.79
11.	Punjab	106.0	99.07
12.	Rajasthan	98.0	99.83
13.	Tamil Nadu	109.3	98.76
14.	Uttar Pradesh	96∙4	99.68
15.	west Bengal	120.3	98.91
	All India .	100.0	100*00

Source:-

Poverty and Income
Distribution in India (Ed)-1974
by T.N. Srinivasan
P.K. Bardhan
Article on "On the incidence of
poverty in Rural India in tha
Sixties" By Pranab K BARDHAN
Page 277, Table 3 Col. 2.

^{*} Derived from the Statewise average of Index Numbers for three years 1961-63 as shown in Annexe.

Appendix IV.9(Con

### Consumer Price Index Numbers

5. No.	State	CPI of Agricultural Labourer* (8ase: 1960- 61= 100)			Working e 1960=	Classes** 100)	
		1970-71	1961	1.962	1963	Average 1961-63	1971
1.	Andhra Pradesh	171	104.54	108.48	113,29	108.77	187.69
2.	Assam	203	102.64	106.31	113.91	107.62	178.10
3∙	8 <u>i</u> har	206	101.76	103.92	108.67	.104.78	191.30
4.	Gujarat	173	102.00	104.00	105.99	194.00	180.03
5•	Haryana	194	102.00	104.00	108.00	104.67	193.00
6.	Karnataka	188	104.24	107.52	111.25	107.57	192.94
7.	Ķerala	214	103.13	106.25	109.00	106.13	1 ⁹ 6.13
8.	Madhya Pradesh	198	106.28	110.98	114.09	110.45	189.23
9.	Maharashtra	192	100.91	104.38	105.56	103.62	182.26
10.	Orissa	212	98.76	101.29	113.81	104.62	187.05
11.	Punjab	194	102.00	106,00	110.00	106.00	191.00
12.	Rajasthan	173	105.41	107.82	107.22	106.82	186.22
13.	Tamil Nadu	174	103.25	106.55	107.21	105.67	171.26
14.	Uttar Pradesh	183	101.71	106.36	109.53	105.80	191.92
15.	West Bengal	206	190.82	105.42	112.04	105.83	181.29
	All India	<u>192</u>	104.00	107.00	110.00	107.00	184.00

^{*} Source: Indian Labour Journal, Labour Bureau, Ministry of Labour, Government of India, Aug., 1977 Vol. 18, No. 8 Table Bil.2.2

^{**} Calculated from the Centrewise index numbers given in the above mentioned reference Table B. 1.1.2 and weighting diagram for the Centres obtained from MSS office.

Appendix IV.9 (Contd) ANNEXURE III

Statewise public Exponditure (Revenue + Capital) on selected items of expenditure - 1970-71.

. No.	States	Total Educa <del>-</del>	Total Medical	Total social	Adminis- tration	Roads	Total Col.2	Per Capi Expend	ta Public iture
		tion	Public* Health & Family Planning	security	of justice, Jail & Police		to Col.6	Annua1	Por month
	ſ.	2) e	Z.,	4-,	5.	6.	7.	g.	9.
1.	Andhra Pradesh	620,502	308,747	92,051	186,716	89,907	1,297,923	29.84	2.49
2.	Assam	251,421	. 92,512	-	108,051	136,748	588,732	40•26	<b>3</b> - 36
3.	Bihar	484,781	234,120	42 <b>,</b> 256	200,370	134,013	1,103,540	19.58	1.63
4.	Gujarat	423,634	272,935	-	162,635	203,249	1,062,453	39.80	3.32
5.	Haryana	185,314	93,775	-	48,966	102,484	430,539	42.90	3.58
6.	Karnataka	537,870	234,825	22,475	119,614	136,394	1,051,178	35.88	2.99
7.	Korala	601,179	222,127	39,226	98,502	94,759	1,055,793	49.46	4.12
8.	Madhya Pradosh	494,727	269,656	99,319	194,837	118,672	1,177,211	28.26	2.36
9.	Maharashtra	981,089	491,065	-	380,581	134,426	1,987,161	39+42	3.29
10.	Orissa	236,433	144,384	_	91,711	62,450	534,978	24.38	2.03
11,	Punjab	301,168	123,263	-	100,613	95,811	620,855	45.82	3.82
12.	Rajasthan	415,858	272,841	19,703	129,100	68,593	906,095	35.17	2.93
13.	Temil Nadu	725,408	335,103	65,554	205,769	93,001	1,424,835	34.58	2.88
14.	Uttar Pradesh	753,696	410,833	-	328,931	222,631	1,716,091	19.43	1.62
15.	West Bengal	646,232	308,104	3,205	292,750	104,139	1,354,430	30,57	2.55

*Including Water Supply and Sanitation.

Source: Combined Revenue and Finance Accounts 1970-71

Note:- Figures in Cols. 2 to 7 in Rs. '000 and in Col. 8 and 9 in Rs. only.

21 8

Appendix IV.9(Contd)

Annexure IV-R

Cumulative Percentage Distribution of Estimated Number of perons by monthly per capita Expenditure Classes in Rural Areas - 1970-71 (W.S.S. 25th Round)

States	Pelov												75 and	
	8	11	13	15	18	21	24	<b>2</b> 8	34	43	55	75	above	درا ماساوس خوس
. andhus Pradesh	0.24	0.71	2.64	5.56	12.31	20.21	31.51	45.09	62.11	78.65	89.49	96•89	3.20	100.00
2. Assem	-	0.16	0,09	0.46	1.27	2.97	6.80	15.65	34.26	61.51	87.86	97.76	2.24	100.80
3. Bihar	0.39	2.17	4.52	7.33	14.85	24.14	33.54	45.68	62.81	79.11	90.00	97.01	2.99	100.00
4. Gujarat	-	0.48	2.73	4.23	7.83	13.07	24.53	37.33	58.95	74.31	85.41	95•78	4.92	100.60
5. Heryera	-	0.17	0.43	0.50	4.56	3.41	15.11	20.65	35.96	54.74	71.51	87.23	12.77	100.00
6. Yimachal Pradesh	-	7	-	1.22	1.22	3.87	4.06	10.37	23.73	46.85	70.37	86.53	13.47	100,00
7. Jemmu & Kashmir	7.01	0.01	0.12	0.40	1.01	5.21	10.18	19.56	35.92	58.23	79.36	93.22	6.73	100.00
3. Karmataka	0.05	0.89	2.31	5.51	11.25	19.14	29.17	47.88	59.92	75,93	87.59	95.64	4.36	100.00
9. Kerala	0.74	2.66	4.71	6.46	16.46	26.18	36.22	40.72	61.00	75.79	85,75	94.03	5.97	100.00
10. Madhya Pradesh	0.45	2.38	5.90	10.15	20.41	29.24	40.75	52.86	67.18	79,96	89.01	95.68	4.32	100.00
11. Mcharashtra	0.12	0.48	1.51	3.66	8.20	16.72	23.77	36.74	53.29	74.04	89.05	97.15	2.85	100.00
12. Menipur							- <del>-</del> - · ·	•	****					
3. Meghalaya														
4. Nagaland														
5. Orissa	1.44	5.03	10.03	15.68	25.09	34.80	45.97	57.30	74.43	85.99	92.60	98.20	1.72	100.00
6. Punjab	-	_	0.18	0.29	1.32	. 3.39	5 <b>.</b> 57	9.13	24.77	42.77	57.36	80.54	19.46	100.00
7. Rajesthan	0.74	4.06	7.17	11.41	19.33	27.42	35.97	44.76	61.00	75.56	86.32	94.50	5.50	100.00
3. Sikkim														
9. Tamil Nadu	C.63	2.03	65	9.92	18.03	29.46	41.68	56.73	71.78	85.00	93.24	97.61	2.39	100,00
O. Tripura					_					-		•		
1. Wittar Pradesh	0.12	0.87	2.72	5.52	12.93	22.12	32.35	45.02	61.53	78.34	89.31	96.34	3.66	100.00
2. West Bengal	0.07	1.17	2.72	5.55	12.37	22.78	32.50	46.37	63.57	79.61	91.61	97.26	2.74	100.00
Total - All India	2.30	1.50	3.55	6.53	13.10	21,81	31.12	43.16	53.97	76.41	97 <b>.</b> 99	95.02	4.18	130,00

Source:- M.S.S. 25th Round - July, 1970 to June, 1971 - Report No. 269.

Appendix IV.9(Contd)
Annexure IV.U

### Cummulative Percentage Distribution of Estimated Number of Persons by monthly per capita Expenditure classes in Urban Areas - (1970-71) NSS 25th Round.

States					<u> </u>								75 &	A11
	ô	11	13	15	18	21	24	28	34	43	75	<u>-</u>	above	classes
1.	2.	3,	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9•	10.	11,	12,		14.	15.
, Andhra Pradesh	0. 20	0.43	4 05		4 00				55	-4 -0	44			
. Pasam	0. 20		1.03	1-53	4.09	7.97	12.44	21.39	35.72	54.68	73.11	87.37	12,63	100.00
. 9ihor		0.04	0:04	0.04	0.08	0.08	D. 27	2. 24	10, 59	26, 24	49.77	74.72	25, 28	100.00
-	_ 0.12	0.44	0.71	1.65	4.36	8.71	13.99	23.71	40.44	55.64	70.63	84.66	15.34	100,00
. Gujarat	-	0,22	0.22	0.22	0.77	3.22	8.64	16.62	31.12	53.54	74.46	90.78	9.22	100.00
* Horyana	-	-	-	1.38	3.45	7.60	10.09	19.07	26.08	44.98	63.71	81.76	18.24	100.00
. Himachal Pradesh	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
7. Jommu & Kashmir	-	-	-	-	-	••	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
3, Karmataka	-	0,09	U.34	1.39	3.01	6.67	13.80	22•79	38.53	51.60	70.72	66 <b>.</b> 61	13.19	100.00
, Kernle	0.23	1.52	3.07	8, 51	13.68	19.48	26.13	36.05	50.55	63.56	76.30	86.29	13.71	100.00
0. Madbyn Prodesh	0.13	0.61	1. 45	2,97	6,00	10.40	16.00	24.30	39.98	58,08	72-27	B5.02	14,98	100.00
1. Maharashtra	0.11	0.16	0, 29	0.72	1, 60	5.44	9.37	16.28	26.81	42.37	57.15	73.60	26.40	109.00
2. Manipur	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		_	-	-
i. Meghalaya	-	<b>-</b>	-	_	_	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	-	-
4r Nagaland	-	-	-	-	.=	_	_	_		-			-	
5. Orissa	-	-	0.33	1.29	2, 7€	6.05	10.17	21.26	33.63	40.70	C9.26	82.30	17.70	100.00
6. Punjab	-	_	_	-	0.50	0.81	3, 51	7.16		35،11 گئے	53,69	73, 20	26.80	100.00
7. Rajasthan	_	0.70	1.69	1.97	4,94	9.30	13.72	22.62	33.81	51.17	70,66	82.65	17.15	100.00
8. Sikrim	-	_	-	_	-	_	•	-		_		_		-
9. Tani? Nodu	0.06	0,22	1.67	2,60	7-17	14.24	22.01	32.92	50 <b>.</b> 9e	64.98	70.31	97.76	12.24	100,00
Og Tripur	-	_		_	_	_	_	_	_ //		`4	3 18 <u>5</u>	_	-
1. Utto: Prodesh	0.06	0.30	1.38	2.82	7-41	13,93	22.18	31.81	45.44		76.37	. 88.34	11.66	100.00
2. West Bengal	-	0.27	0.49	1.12	2.44	4.95	7.25	13.73		39.49	57.30	75.39	24-61	100.00
					2044	4493	1423	136 /3	24021	. 22443	37830 .	13133	24001	100800
Total All India	0.07	0.32	0.64	1. 86	4.49	A, 77	14.12	22.62	36.31	52,60	60.B2	03.01	16.99	100,00

Sources NSS 25th Round = July, 1970 to June, 1971 - Report No.269

220

# Appendix IV.9(Contd) ANNEXURE V

Population (1971 Census)

S.No. State	Rural	Urban	Total(R + U)
1 2	3	<u> </u>	5
. Andhra Pradesh	35,100,181	8,402,527	43,502,708
2. Assan	13,335,930	1,289,222	14,625,152
3. Bihar	50,719,403	5,633,966	56, 353, 369
. Gujarat	19,200,975	7,496,500	26,697,475
. Haryana	8,263,849	1,772,959	10,036,808
. Karnataka	22,176,921	7, 122,093	29,299,014
. Kerala	17,880,926	3,466,449	21, 347, 375
. Madhya Pradesh	34,869,352	6,731+,767	41,654,119
• Maharashtra	34,701,024	15,711,211	50,412,235
• Orissa	20,099,220	1,845,395	21, 944, 615
• Punjab	10,334,881	3,216,179	13,551,060
. Rajasthan	21,222,045	4,543,761	25,765,806
. Tanil Nadu	28,734,334	12,464,834	41,199,168
. Uttar Pradesh	75,952,548	12,388,596	88, 341, 144
. West Bengal	33, 344, 978	10,967,033	44,312,011

Source: Statistical Abstract, India, 1974.

# Percentage Group Weights in the New Series of All-India Consumer Price Index for Industrial Workers (Base: 1960=100) Centre-wise.

		Food	Pen.	Fuel	rcentege Housing	Clothing	Missala	All
State	S. No. Centre	roog	Superi, Tobacco and Intoxi-	and Light	nousing	Bedding & Foot	laneous	Groups Com- bind
1	2	3	Canta 4	5	6	7	8	9 .
		,						
Amdhra Pradesh	•	0,23	0,01	0,02	0,01	0.03	0.04	0.34
	2. Guntur	0.97	0.06	0.08	0,06	0, 16	0,16	1.48
	3. Hyderabad	1,28	0.13	0.11	0.17	0, 15	0, 33	2.17
Assem	4. Digboi	1.42	0, 12	0.16	0, 17	0, 19	0, 26	1.38
	5. Doom Dooma	0.85	0.11	0.05	0,06	0.10	0.07	1.27
	6. Labad	0,65	0.06	0,08	0,05	0, 13	0.04	1.01
	7. Mariani	0.85	0,13	0.09	0,05	0.08	0,06	1,26
	8. Rangapara	0.86	0.11	0.05	0,04	0.07	0,08	1,21
Bibar	9. Jemshedpur	1.58	0.10	0.09	0, 26	0, 27	0,44	2,74
	10, Jharia	1.26	0.13	0.09	0, 13	0,15	0.17	1.93
	11. Koderme	0.43	0.03	0,05	0, 03	0,05	0.03	0.62
	12. Monghyr	1.53	0.07	0, 13	0.13	0.16	0.28	2.30
	13. Normundi	0.51	0.05	0,09	0,05	0,07	0.07	2,84
Gujeret	14. Ahmedabad	2.49	0, 20	0.26	0,21	0.38	0, 63	4.17
	15. Bhavbagar	2, 61	0.22	0,24	0,24	0. 32	0,59	4,22
J. & K.	16. Srinagar	0.12	0,00	0.02	0,01	0. 01	0.02	0, 18
Kerala	17. Alleppey	0.80	0.05	0, 06	0.07	0. 07	0, 18	1, 23
	18. Alwaye	1.16	0.09	0.09	0.11	0, 18	0.39	2.02
	19. Mundakayam	1,74	0.13	0.14	0, 12	0, 22	0.38	2, 73
M. P.	20. Balaghat	0.55	0.11	0.06	0, 05	0.12	0,08	0. 97
	21. Bhopai	0.61	0, 19	0.07	0, 09	0.09	0.14	1.09
•	22. Gwalior	0.66	0,04	0.07	0, 05	0.16	0.18	1, 16
	23. Indore	0.64	0.07	0.07	0,06	0, 12	0, 16	1.12
Tamil Nadu	24. Colmbatore	1,44	0.08	0.16	0.17	0, 19	0, 39	2,43
	25. Coonoor	1.06	0.07	0, 16	0,09	0.19	0. 26	1.62
	26. Madras	1.58	0.06	0, 16	0.22	0.17	0, 43	2,62
	27. Madurai	1,60	0.06	0.16	0, 17	0, 25	0, 48	2,72
Maharashtra	28. Bombey	4.84	0.41	0.43	0, 39	0,80	1.61	8,48
	29. Nagpur	2,57	0,17	0.25	0.30	0.49	0.71	4, 49
	30. Sholapur	2.04	0, 11	0.23	0.16	0.29	0.40	3, 23
Karnataka	31. Ammathi	0.55	0.05	0, 06	0.04	0, 06	0,09	0,85
	32. Bengelore	2.47	0.16	0.32	0. 37	0.36	0, 61	4, 29
	33. Chikmagalur	0.45	0,04	0.05	0, 03	0.06	0.08	0.71
	34. Kolar Gold	0.63	0.04	0.07	0,05	0, 11	0.14	1,04
Orissa	35. Barbil	0.24	0.04	0.03	0. 03	0.02	0.03	0, 39
	36, Sambalpur	0.14	0, 03	0.02	0,02	0.01	0, 02	0, 24
Punjab	37. Amritaar	0.74	0.03	0,07	0,07	0, 12	0.26	1,28
Haryana	38. Yamunanagar	0.70	0.02	0.05	0.09	0,10	0.19	1,15
Rejesthen	39. Ajmer	0.50	0,04	0.05	0, D <b>5</b>	0.11	0, 18	0, 93
	40. Jaipur	0.35		0.04	0,04	0.08	*0, 10	0, 64
U. P.	41. Kanpur	0:96		0.10	0, 12	0.20	0.32	1,76
<u></u>	42. Sharanpur	1,28	0, 11	0.11	0.15	0.32	0.41	2.38
	43. Varanasi	1.30		0. 12		0,16	0.22	1,99
West Bengal	44. Asansol	2.40		0.15	0, 25	0.22	0.34	3,52
Mest Dankar	45. Calcutta	3.89		0.29		0.38	0. 79	6. 22
	46. Darjeeling	0.39		0.05		0, 05	0,03	0,58
	47. Howrah	1.83		0, 15		0, 16	0.36	2,89
	48. Jalpaiguri	1.18		0.13		0,10	0, 11	1,74
		1,21		0.09		0.09	0.11	1.79
	49. Raniganj	0.78		0.08			0.28	1,44
<u>Delhi</u>	50, Delhi	U, 18	<u>,,,,,</u>					

Source: Labour Bureau.

## Appendix V.1

Statewise Capital Expenditure Provisions	Allowed
For Stamps and Registration and Treasury	and
Accounts.	·

Accounts.	distribution and freshary and
	(Rs. lakhs)
Stamps and Registration	Capital
Bihar	
Construction and expansion record rooms	of the 50.00
Total: Bihar	50,00
Treasury & Accounts Administra Himachal Pradesh	tion
Buildings for treasuries/su treasuries including the ne treasuries to be opened	
Total: Hinachal	Pradesh 30.00
Madhya Pradesh	
1. Construction of Pensioners' sheds and Distt Treasuries	7.00
<ol><li>Construction of new buildin for sub-treasuries</li></ol>	gs 9.00
<ol><li>Expansion of existing treas buildings</li></ol>	ury 10.00
<u> Total: Madhya                                   </u>	radesh 26.00
Rajasthan	
Construction of new treasur sub-treasuries buildings	ries/ 100.00
Total: Rajastha	<u>n</u> 100.00
Tripura	
Construction of new sub-tre buildings	asury 5.00
Total: Tripura	5.00
Uttar Pradesh	<del></del>
Construction of office-buil treasuries/sub-treasuries a payment offices	dings for and pension 375.00
Total: Uttar Pr	adesh 375.00
Total Treasury	& accounts 536.00
Grand Total	586.00

						Pendency	
					Total	%rge to	%age to
	States	Institution	Disposal	%age of	as on	Institution	Disposal
	<del></del>			Col. 3:2	30.6.77	Col. 5:2	Col. 5:3
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<del></del>
1.	Andhra Pradesh	409280	389931	95	74815	18	19
2.	Assam	104279	87403	84	104220	100	119
3.	Bihar	211345	222457	105	472802	224	212
4.	Gujarat	1237462	1203824	97	427936	<b>35</b> ·	36
5.	Haryana	48393	38987	81	35295	73	91
6.	Himachal Pradesh	16965	17077	101	15755	93	92
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	82615	80322	97	55522	67	69
8.	Karnataka	307455	296332	96	70626	23	24
9.	Kerala	183549	186610	102	56922	31	31
10.	Madhya Pradesh	349205	393341	113	254347	73	65
11.	Maharashtra	1317331	1286079	98	668488	51	52
12.	Manipur	9442	4755	50	21070	223	443
13.	Meghalaya						
14.	Nagaland						
15.	Orissa	129395	137571	106	138042	107	100
16.	Punjab	67036	58075	87	50536	75	87
17.	Rajasthan	197683	188829	96	247624	125	131
18.	Sikkim						
19.	Tamil Nadu	1501921	1474077	98	121470	8	8
20.	Tripura	16647	17561	105	16788	101	96
21.	Uttar Pradesh	854225	785403	92	581009	68	74
22.	West Bengal	674879	593764	88	694310	103	117
	Total	7719107	7462398	97	4107577	_53_	<u>55</u>

		· •	· · ·			Pendency	
						Percentage to	
	States	** Institution	Dianogal	Percentage of Col. 3:2	Total as on 30.6.77	Institution Col. 5:2	Percentag Disposal Co
	1	2	Disposal 3	4	5	6	7
1.	Andhra Pradesh	7617	7703	101	2150	28	28
2.	Assam	2408	1970	82	2831	118	144
3.	Bihar	20996	18489	88	31365	149	170
4.	Gujarat	5121	5206	102	1484	29	29
5.	Haryanan	3873	3141	81	2445	63	78
6.	Himachal Pradesh	1035	956	92	731	71	76
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	1341	1269	95	1144	85	90
8.	Karnataka	3534	3654	103	1691	48	46
9.	Kerala	4799	4256	89	2040	43	48
10.	Madhya Pradesh	17330	17170	99	7511	43	44
11.	. Maharashtra	13183	12972	98	6148	47	47
12.	Manipur	301	350	116	92	31	26
13.	Meghalay <b>a</b>						
14.	Nagaland						
15.	Orissa	3934	3208	82	3723	95	116
16.	Punjab	8247	8452	102	4205	51	50
17.	Rajasthan	11440	9666	84	8416	74	87
18.	Sikkim						
19.	Tamil Nadu	9962	9554	96	2453	25	26
20.	Tripura	687	766	111	338	49	44
21.	Uttar Pradesh	43927	38947	89	42411	97	109
22.	West Bengal	7420	6 957	94	3806	51	55
	Total	<u>167155</u>	<u>154686</u>	93	124984	<u>75</u>	<u>81</u>

^{**}Total consists of original cases, Revision, appeal.

225

Appendix V.2(iii)

# Institution, Disposal and Pendency of cases in Lower Civil Courts during 1.1.1976 to 30.6.1977 (annual average)

		··			······································	Pendency	
				_		Percentage to	
	States	Institution	Dianogal	Percentage	Total as	Institution	Percentage to
	States 1	Institution 2	Disposal 3	of Col. 3:2	on 30,6,77 5	Col. 5:2 6	Disposal Col. 5:
		<u></u>	<u> </u>				••
1.	Andhra Pradesh	517649	502139	97	215092	42	43
2.	Assam	13434	13646	102	14552	108	107
3.	Bihar	77365	92996	120	148552	192	160
4.	Gujarat	93682	87232	93	127465	136	146
5.	Haryana	33675	33443	. 99	25482	76	. 76
6.	Himachal Pradesh	11105	11663	105	16604	150	142
7.	Jammu & Kashmi	r					
8.	Karnataka	73738	53729	73	185387	251	345
9.	Kerala	167637	167940	100	87528	52	52
10.	Madhya Pradesh	87727	85983	98	102921	117	120
11.	Maharashtra	195786	179063	91	359713	184	201
12.	Manipur	847	748	88	525	62	70
13.	Meghalaya						
14.	Nagaland						
15.	Orissa	25306	25320	100	22602	89	89
16.	Punjab	70805	62686	89	54443	77	87
17.	Rajasthan	42232	40640	96	72683	172	179
18.	Sikkim						
19.	Tamil Nadu	384210	384249	100	180775	47	47
20.	Tripura	1893	1298	69	3175	168	245
21.	Uttar Pradesh	241230	242279	100	219404	91	91
22.	West Bengal	93014	81142	87	188962	203	233
	Total:	2131343	2066196	97	2025865	95	_98_

Institution, Disposal and Pendency of cases in Higher Civil Courts during 1.1.76 to 30.6.77

(annual average)

	<u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		<del> </del>		Pendency	,
	States	Institution	Disposal	Percent- age of Col. 3:2	Total as on 30.6.77	Percentage to Institution Col. 5:2	Percentage to Disposal Col. 5:3
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
ι.	Andhra Pradesh	12158	10563	87	13730	113	130
2.	Assam	1515	1394	92	1900	126	137
3.	Bihar	10979	12572	115	13840	126	110
4.	Gujarat	5166	4958	96	696 <b>3</b>	135	140
5.	Haryana	5757	4932	86	5697	99	116
$G_{\bullet}$	Himachal Pradesh	1457	1225	84	1665	114	136
ĩ.	Jammu & Kashmir					•	
8.	Karnataka	9943	10916	110	15230	153	140
9.	Kerala	12670	13870	109	12869	102	93
<b>1</b> 0.	Madhya Pradesh	13695	12935	94	13229	97	102
11.	Maharashtra	11438	11613	102	20098	176	173
12.	Manipur	63	84	133	38	60	45
13.	Meghalaya	·			•		
14.	Nagaland						
t5.	Orissa	3124	2797	90	2986	96	107
16.	Punj ₂ b	9153	9656	105	8090	. 88	84
17.	Rajasthan	7025	6379	91	8070	115	127
18.	Sikkim					•	
19.	Tamil Nadu	18669	15528	83	16061	86	103
20.	Tripura	191	264	138	252	132	95
21.	Uttar Pradesh	64516	58889	91	36070	56	61
22.	West Bengal	12436	12805	103	8909	<b>72</b> ·	70
	Total	199955	191380	96	185705	93	97

#### Appendix V.3

#### Moras of provisions per court

1.	Appellate/Sessions Court		130
	a) 1 Presiding officer 1 Stenotypist, 4 Clerks and 3 peons/bailiff (annual cost)		66000
	b) Library (annually)		3000
	c) Stationery and other office expenses © 5% of (a)		3300
	Total		72300
	or say	Rs .	72000
2.	Magisterial original Courts		
	a) 1 Presiding Officer 3 Clerks and 3 peons/bailiff (annual cost)		37000
	b) Library (annually)		1000
	c) Stationery and other office expenses @ 5% of (a)		1850
	Total		39850
	or say	Rs .	40000

- 3. Growth rate of 5% per annum on revenue expenditure.
- 4. \$30000 per court, as non-recurring cost at the time of setting as of a new court, including \$5000 for the court's library.

#### Appendix V.

# Area and cost of construction Norms adopted for providing Judicial administration buildings

Itom	Area norm (sq. ft.)	Cost of construction
1.	2,	(Ns. lakhs)
1. Higher Courts	2500	1.25
2. In case of new Judgeships (inclusive of lock-up/Bar/library, etc.)	1000	<b>2</b> ₀€⊎
3. Lower Court	1800	0,90
4. Lock-up	300	0,12
5. Bar/Library		
a) District courts	1500	.C _{\$} 60
b) Outlying area	500	0 e 20
6. Whiting hall/litigant; shed/trilets	625	0 <u>،</u> 25
7. Residential building for higher officers	<u></u>	0.00
G. Residential building for lower courts officurs	-	ŭ <b>"</b> 50

Appendix V.5
Statewise upgradation provisions for judicial administration during 1979-84

			<u> </u>	(Es. lakhs)
States	Itens	Rovenue Expenditure	Capital Expenditure	Total
(1)	(S)	(3)	(4)	(5)
1. Andhra Pradesh	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher Courts 4 (b) Lower Courts 15 (	54.77	<del> </del>	54 <b>•77</b>
	2. Court Buildings	<b>6-17</b>	18.50	18.50
	3. Residential accommodation		17.70	10.70
,	Total	54.77	<u> 29,20</u>	83.97
2. Assam	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher courts 2 X (b) Lower courts 40 X	108.96	<del></del>	108.96
	2. Court buildings	••	<b>38.50</b>	<b>3</b> 3• <b>5</b> 0
	3. Recidential accommodation lotal	108.95	21.60 <u>60.10</u>	21.60 169.06
3. Biher	1. Additional Courts			
	(a) Higher courts 34 ( (b) Lower courts 99 (	373.43	••	373.43
	2. Court buildings		131.60	131.50
	3. Residential accommodation	-	76.70	76.70
	Total	<u>373.43</u>	208.30	581,73
4. Gujarat	-	••	-	¢ <b>4</b>

#### Appendix V.5(contd.)

				(Rs. lakha)
States	Items	Rovenue Expenditure	Capital Expenditure	Total
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	<b>(</b> 5 <b>)</b>
5. Haryana	**	•	Sea	===
6. Himachal Fradesh	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher courts - (b) Lower courts 2	5.02	<b>t</b> ea	5.02
	2. Court Buildings		1.80	1.80
	3. Residential accommodation	•••	1.00	1.00
	Total	5.02	<u>2.30</u>	<u>7。日2</u>
7. Jammu & Kashmir	1. Addl. Courts			
•	(a) Higher courts - (b) Lower courts 2	5.02	-	5.02
	2. Court Buildings	read	1.80	1.80
	3. Residential Duildings	g mar	1.00	1.00
•	Total	5.02	2.87	7.82
3. Karnataka	<b></b>	-		-
9. Kerala	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher Courts 2 (b) Lover Courts - 1	8,56	gant	8 <b>∙5</b> 6
·	2. Court buildings	· <del>-</del>	<b>2.</b> 50	2.50
	3. Residential accommodation	***	1.60	1.60
	Total	<u>8,56</u>	4.10	12.66
0. Madhya Tradesh	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher Courts 3 (b) Lower Courts 4 (	22.83		22.38
	2. Court Buildings	•••	8 <b>.5</b> 5	<b>3.55</b>
	3. Residential buildings	<b></b>	4.40	4.40
	Total	22.88	12.95	35.83

#### Appendix V.5(Contd.)

				(B. lakha)	
States	Items	Revonue Expenditure	Capital Expenditure	Totel	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
11, Maharashtra	<del>an</del>	, <del></del>	_	•	
12. Manipur	1. Addl. Courte				
	(a) Higher Courts 7	17.57	••	17•57	
	2. Court Buildings	-	6.30	6 <b>.3</b> 0	
	3. Residential accommodation		3.50	3.50	
	Total	<u>17.57</u>	9.30	<u>27.37</u>	
13. Meghajaya	••	-		<b>Q</b> and	
14. Nagalend	Court buildings for 700 village courts @ B. 1000/- eac	n ~	<u>70.00</u>	70.00	
15. Orissa	1. Addl. Counte				
	(a) Higher Courts 9 1 (b) Lover Courts 12 1	68.64	مد	63.64	
	2. Court buildings	<del>-</del>	22.05	22.05	
	3. Residential accommodation	<b></b>	13.20	13.20	
	Total	<u>69.64</u>	<u>35,25</u>	<u>103.89</u>	
16. Punjab	<b>₩</b>	•.	-	**	
17. Rajesthan	T. Adul. Semmis				
	(a) Fisher Courds 9 ↓ (b) Lower Courts 99 ↓	135.41	-	136.41	
	2. Coart Buildings		46.35	45.35	
	3. Residential accommodation	-	26.70	25.70	
	Istal	<u> 136.41</u>	73.05	209.45	
18. Sil-kim	-	4	_		

## Appendix V.5 (concld)

States	Items	Revenue Expenditure	Capital Expenditure	Total
(1)	(2)	(3)	_(4)	<b>(5)</b>
19. Temil Nedu	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher courts - 1 (b) Lower courts 4 1	10.14	••	10.04
	2. Court buildings	<b>←</b>	3.60	3.60
	3. Residential accommodation	-	2.00	2.00
	Total	10.74	<u>5.50</u>	15.64
20. Tripura	1. Addl. Courts			
	(a) Higher Courts 7 (b) Lower Courts 5 (	42.51	-	42.51
	2. Court buildings	••	13,25	15.25
	3. Residential accommodation Total	<u>-</u> 42.51	8.10 21.35	მ <b>.</b> 10 63.86
21. Uttar Pradesh	1. Addl. Courts		<u> </u>	92022
	(a) Higher Courts 48 (b) Lower Courts 84 (	<b>3</b> 74 <b>.</b> 50	-	<b>3</b> 74•58
	2. Court buildings	•	136.80	136.80
	3. Residential accommodation	•••	80.40	80.40
	Total	<u>374.58</u>	217.20	<u>591.78</u>
2. West Bengel	1. Add 1. Courts			
	(a) Higher Courts 10 I (b) Lower courts 97 I	262.26		262.26
	2. Court buildings	ممي	99.80	99.80
	3. Residential accommodation	-	55.50	56 <b>.</b> 50
	Total	252.25	156.30	418.56
	Grand Total	1490.65	903.30	2399,45

Comparative costs of Revenue (Head of Account 229), Field (Heads of Account 229 plus 253) and General Administration (Heads of Account 229, 252, 253,276, 296) (a) per capita (on 1.3.1976 population) as projected by Registrar General (b) per hectare net sown area (c) per district (d) per square km. (1976-77 Finance Accounts) - (in Rs.)

States		(a) Per capita		(b) Per	hectare
	venue r capita	District )	General Adminis- tration (field + Sectt. services) Per capita	Field Adm. Expenditure Per hectare	General Adminitration Per capita Per hectare
1	2	3	4	5	6
Larger States					
1. Andhra Prade	sh 0.62	4.28	6.14	17.97	21.55
2. Assam	1.42	2.26	3.37	16.08	23.89
3. Bihar	1.13	1.95	2.57	14.83	19.53
4. Gujarat	0.71	2.16	3.31	8.29	12.68
5. Haryana	1.53	2.98	4.57	9.66	14.83
6. Karnataka	2.08	3.53	4.30	11.29	13.78
7. Kerala	1.92	3.00	4.27	32.84	46.78
8. Madhya Prade	sh 1.91	3.53	3.97	9.28	10.46
9. Maharashtra	1.15	4.02	5.27	12.53	16.40
10. Orissa	2.32	3.68	5.41	16.07	23.61
11. Punjab	1.66	3.53	5.10	12.93	18.67
12. Rajasthan	2.29	3.87	4.62	8.38	10.02
13. Tamil Nadu	0.88	4.21	5.24	34.07	42.37
14. Uttar Pradesi	2.06	2.99	3.62	17.17	20.76
15. West Bengal	2.14	2.91	3.84	23.30	30.69
. Other States					
1. Himachal Pra	desh 3.52	7.28	10.50	52.39	75.55
2. Jammu & Kas		3.88	6.16	30.52	48.40
3. Manipur	1.62	4.47	8.33	41.43	77.14
4. Meghalaya	0.59	2.69	8.99	19.51	65.24
5. Nagaland	3.65	31.59	51.43	177.68	289.29
6. Sikkim	2.52	2.52	13.87	-	-
7. Tripura	3.53	6.57	9.24	51.25	72.08

(c) Per district (in Rs. lakhs)

	_		Distric		Expenditure	-	Expenditure	
	States	(a) No.	(b) Average area ('000 sq.	(c) Popu- lation (in lakhs)	on revenue admn. per district	on District Admn., per district	_	on Gen. Admn. pe district
	1	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
I.	Larger States							
1.	Andhra Pradesh	21	13. 2	20. 7	14, 33	84.00	98. 33	117.95
2.	Assam	10	7.9	14.6	25.60	15, 30	40.90	61,00
3.	Bihar	31	5. 6	18. 2	23. 10	16.81	39. 91	52, 58
4.	Gujarat	19	10.3	14. 1	11. 37	23, 26	34.63	<b>53.</b> 00
5.	Haryana	11	4.0	9. 1	15. 91	15. 00	30.91	47.45
6.	Karnataka	19	10. 1	15. 4	36. 11	<b>25. 16</b>	61, 27	74. 74
7.	Kerala	11	3.5	19. 4	42, 18	23. 73	65.91	93. 91
8.	Madhya Pradesh	46	9.6	9. 1	20, 24	17. 13	37. 37	42. 09
9.	Maharashtra	26	11.8	19. 4	25. 08	62, 69	87. 77	114.85
10.	Orissa	13	12. 0	16. 9	44. 54	26. 15	70.69	103. 85
11.	Punjab	12	4, 2	11. 3	20.67	23. 42	44.09	63.67
12.	Rajasthan	26	13. 2	9. 9	26.62	18. 38	45.00	53. 77
13.	Tamil Nadu	15	8.7	27. 5	26, 20	99. 93	126. 13	156.87
14,	Uttar Pradesh	54	5. 5	16. 4	37. 54	17, 02	54. 56	65. 96
15.	West Bengal	16	5. 5	27.7	68.69	24. 81	93. 50	123. 13
	Total-I	330			28, 59	30. 65	59 <b>.</b> 24	75. 81
נו	. Other States		<u>-                                      </u>		····	······		<u> </u>
1.	Himachal Pradesh	12	4.6	2, 9	11, 50	12, 25	23. 75	34. 25
2.	Jammu and	4.0	40.0					
_	Kashmir	10	13.8	4. 6	13. 00	8, 00	21.00	33. 30
	Manipur	5	4. 5	2, 1	4, 20	7.40	11, 60	21, 60
	Meghalaya Nagaland	4	5 <b>.</b> 6	2, 5	1.75	6. 25	8.00	26.75
	Nagal and	3	5. 5	1.7	7.67	58. 67	66.33	108.00
	Sikkim	4	1.8	0. 5	1, 50	-	1, 50	8.25
7.	Tripura	3	3. 5	5. 2	22.00	19. 00	41.00	57.67
	Total-II	41			9. 54	12, 73	22, 27	36. 32
	Grand Total	371			26, 49	28, 67	55. 16	71. 45

(d) Per Sq. Km.

	States	Area total	Expenditure Per Sq. Km.	Per Sq. Km. Expenditure on district Admn. (Rs.)	Per Sq. Km. Expenditure on Field Admn. (Rs.)	Per Sq. Km, Expenditure in Gen. Admn. (Rs.)
	1	14	15	16	17	18
I.	Larger States					
	Andhra Pradesh	277	109	637	746	894
2.	Assam	79	324	194	518	772
3.	Bihar	174	411	299	710	937
4.	Gujarat	196	110	226	336	514
5.	Haryana	44	397	375	772	1186
6.	Karnataka	192	357	249	606	740
7.	Kerala	39	1190	669	1859	2649
8.	Madhya Pradesh	443	210	178	388	437
9.	Maharashtra	308	212	529	741	969
10.	Orissa	156	371	218	589	865
11.	Punjab	50	496	562	1058	1528
	Rajasthan	342	202	140	342	409
	Tamil Nadu	130	302	1153	1455	1810
	Uttar Pradesh	294	68 9	313	1002	1212
15.	West Bengal	88	1249	451	1700	2239
	Total of I	2812	336	360	695	890
II.	Other States				<b>7</b> 00	704
1.	Himachal Pradesh	56	246	263	509	734
2,	Jammu & Kashmir	222	59	36	95	150
3.	, Manipur	22	96	168	264	491
4.	, Meghalaya	22	32	114	146	486
5.	. Nagaland	17	135	1035	1170	1906
6	. Sikkim	N. A.	-	-	-	
7.	Tripura	10	660	570	1230	1730
	Total of II	349	112	150	262	427
	Grand Total	3161	311	337	647	339

#### Appendix V.7(centd.)

Statewise provisions for upgradation of Revenue, District, and tribal administration during 1979-84

(Rs. lakhs)

S1. States	Items	Revenue	Capital	Total
(1) (2)		(4)	(5)	(6)
laAndhra Pradesh	<pre>l.For construction of administrative buildings/    staff quarters in 54 Talukas added recently 2.In fribal creas.</pre>	-	250	250
	(a)Compensatory allowance (b)Residential buildings	16 <u>5</u> -	<del>-</del> 56	165 5 <b>6</b>
	<u>Total Andhra Pradosh</u>	<u> 165</u>	306	<u>471</u>
2.Assam	1. For addition of 2 districts and 5 Sub Divisions 2. In tribal areas	<b>-</b> ,	470	470
	(a)Compensatory allowance (b)Residential buildings	146	152	146 152
3.Bihar	Total Assam  1.For providing vehicles to all anchal adhikari	<u>146</u>	<u>622</u>	<u>768</u>
<b>J D L</b> Ha <b>L</b>	(but without provision for drivers and maintenance cost)	263		263
	<ul> <li>2 • Construction of buildings in Divisions/</li> <li>Districts/Sub divisions created since 1972</li> <li>3 • In Tribal areas</li> </ul>	·	1000	1000
	(a) Compensatory allowance (b) Residential Buildings	621	112	621 112
4.Gujarat	Total Bihar	<u>884</u>	1112	199 <u>6</u>
		•	-	~
o _¢ Haryana				
Aimechal Pradech	1.Setting up of Sub record offices and sub copying ag	-	•	-44
	In tribal areas  (a) Compensatory allowance		•	40
	(b) Residential accommodation	20	- 0.4	20
	Total Himachal Pradesh	·. 60	24	24
	<del></del>	<u>60</u>	<u>24</u>	14

#### Appendix V.7(contd.)

S1.	States	Items	Revenue	Capital	To ta 1
TIT	(2)		(4)	(5)	(6)
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	<pre>1.Agrarian Reforms organisations 2.Construction of office-cum-residence complexes in block centres and in foral points(excluding</pre>	50	200	50
		District headouarters.)	-	200	200
		<u>Total Jammu &amp; Kashmir</u>	<u>50</u>	<u> 200</u>	<u>250</u>
8.	Karnataka				•
			-=		~
			•		
9.	Kerala	<u>In Tribal areas</u>		٠	
		(a)Compensatory allowance (b)Residential Buildings	20	-	20
		Total Kerala	~	40	40
- 0	Madhus Bastab		<u>20</u>	<u>40</u>	<u>60</u>
	, Madhya Pradesh	1.Delimitation of Tehsil and Sub divisions 2.Constauction of Collectorate buildings at Raisen, Shajapur & Datia and Tehsil buildings in Bagli,	40 <del>-</del>	260 <b>84</b>	30 <b>0</b> 84
		Kokshi, and Jatala. 3.Recurring and Non-recurring costs in connection with new sub-divisions/tehsils	60		60
		4. In Tribal areas			
		(a) Compensatory allowance (b)Residential buildings	1056	206	1056
		Total Madhya Pradesh	1156	336	336
11.	Maharashtra		1156	<u>680</u>	<u> 1836</u>
	,		Ş.o.	-	
12.	Manipur	7 For concernation of multiple and a second			
		1.For construction of residential and non-residential buildings in 5 hill districts		500	500

			Appendix V.7(contd.)		
S1. State	Items	Revenue	Capital	Total	
(2)		(4)	(5)	(6)	
	<ul><li>2.In Tribal areas</li><li>(a) Compensatory illowance</li><li>(b) Residential buildings</li></ul>	74	40	74 40	
	Total Manipur	74	<u>540</u>	<u>614</u>	
13. Meghalaya	Construction of buildings in places other than the State Capital		<u>150</u>	<u>150</u>	
14.Nagaland	1.Addition of 4 new sub-divisions	50	-	50	
	<pre>2.Corstruction of buildings in 4 new sub-divisions</pre>	-	24	24	
	Total Nagaland	<u>50</u>	<u>24</u>	<u>74</u>	
15.Orissa	1.Provision of 250 Revenue Inspectors	150	••	150	
	2.Reorganisation of Districts & sub-divisor: 3.In Tribal areas	<b>s</b> 40	260	300	
	(a) Compensatory allowance (b) Residential buildings	603	<u>-</u> 184	603 184	
	Total Omissa	<u>79 3</u>	444	1237	
16.Punjab	<b>*</b>	_	-	-	
17.Rajasthan	1.Creation of additional tehnils	50	-	50	
	2.Construction of administrative and residential buildings in now tehsils 3.In Tribal areas		350	350	
	(a)Compensator, allowance (b)Residential buildings	150	- 40	150	
	<u>Total -Rajasthan</u>	200	_	40	
18.Sikkim	<u> </u>	<u>200</u>	<u>390</u>	<u>590</u>	
19.Tamil Nadu	In Tribal areas		-	~	
TN814WIT MEGA	(a)Compensatory allowance (b)Residential buildings	22	- 72	22 72	
	Total Tamil Nadu	<u>22</u>	<u>72</u>	<u>94</u>	
20.Tripura	In Tribal areas	<del></del>	<del></del>	<del></del>	
	(a)Compensatory allowance	95		95	
	(b)Residertial buildings Total Tripura	<u>95</u>	24 24	- <u>119</u>	

239

## Appendix V.7(Concld.)

Sl. Nc.	States	Items	Revenue	Capital	Total
21.Uttar	Pradesii	l.Completion of decentralisation of adminis- tration in 147 sub-divisions - costs of administrative & residential buildings.		2000	2000
		<pre>2.Recurring and non-recurring expenditure    relating to above 3.In Tribal areas</pre>	150	-	150
		(a)Compensatory allowance (b)Residential buildings	1	<b>-</b> 16	1 .16
		Total Uttar Pracesh	<u>151</u>	<u>2016</u>	<u>2167</u>
22.West	Bengal	In Tribal areas (a)Compensatory allowance (b)Residential buildings	98 <del>-</del>	<u>-</u> 96	98 96
		T. tal West Bengal	<u>98</u>	<u>96</u>	124
		<u>Grand Total</u>	<u> 3964</u>	<u>6740</u>	10704

Number of Police Stations and population per Police Station in Metropolitan, Urban, Semi Urban and Rural Areas.

	STATES	METRO	METROPOLITAN AREA URBAN AREAS				RBAN AREA	RURAL AREA	
-		No. of Police Station	Population	No. of Police Station	Population	No. of Police Station	Population	No. of Police Station	Population
1.	Andhra Pradesh	41	43876	97	80194	72	83166	660	86137
2.	Assam	-	<b>-</b> ,	49*	214155	22	NA	55	NA
3.	Bihar	679*	-	122	385700	73	80000	484	71000
4,	Gujarat	17	102000	24	7500 <b>0</b>	169	23000	155	124000
5.	Haryana	118*	-	16	91020	-	-	96	107894
6.	Himachal Pradesh					20	77711	44	43323
7.	Jammu & Kashmir								
8.	Karnataka	39	47840	48	37783			565	52040
9.	Kerala	-	-	87	154880	34	72358	172	70897
10.	Madhya Pradesh	13	49334	58	43854	227	22606	574	69472
						url	an pop. only		
11.	Maharashtra	69	346634	234	162050	133	72854	230	57857
12.	Manipur			3		41	24381		
13.	Meghalaya			3	60755			14	55273
14.	Nagaland							17	30400
15.	Orissa	319	68882	8	82680	78	87673	233	62118
16.	Punjab			50	110000	40	75000	101	50000
17.	Rajasthan	536	48071	89	119255	144	55537	303	37393
18.	Sikkim			1	60000	11	20000		
19.	Tamil Nadu	74	52000	94		78	47566	557	45435
20.	Tripura			2	53199	9	80000 appro	x21	35452
21.	Uttar Pradesh								
2 <b>2.</b>	West Bengal	32	187500	70	204942	86	166244	179	136043

^{*} Assam - including 10 GRP

Source: - Information received from State Governments.

^{*} Bihar - including 40 GRP.

^{*} Haryana-including 6 GRP.

#### Basic crime statistics and trends (1974, 1975, 1976)

	Cognisable	Crime 1974	Cognisable	Crime 1975	Cognisable Crime 1976		
	Total	Crime	Total	Crime	Total	Crime	
States	number	per lakh	numbe <b>r</b>	per lakh	number	per lakh	
	of fresh	of popula-	of fresh	of popula-	of fresh	of popula-	
	reports	tion	reports	tion	reports	tion	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
1. Andhra Pradesh (1.4.76)	55601	121	57105	123	44503	94	
2. Assam (1.4.77)	36238	221	36077	212	37989\$	217	
3. Bihar(June, 78)	101100	169	99135	163	99353	160	
4. Gujarat (1. 4. 78)	55829	196	54872	189	55761	187	
5. Haryana(1.4.77)	10194	95	9596	88	9875	88	
6. Himachal Pradesh	3783	102	3450	91	5733	151	
7. J. & K. (77-78)	8693	174	10419	204	18423	348	
8. Karnataka (1977)	49023	158	49491	156	49684	153	
9. Kerala (1.4.77)	43124	189	36022	155	31650	134	
10. M.P. (Dec., 1977)	127302	281	121211	274	117619	247	
11. Maharashtra expansion (75-77)	144432	270	141980	260	133386	239	
12. Manipur	2820	256	3102	259	2957	227	
13. Meghalaya	1566	142	1619	147	2186	182	
14. Nagaland	1088	181	910	152	@ 1314	219	
15. Orissa	32207	138	34511	144	37104	152	
16. Punjab	12878	91	12360	85	15335	104	
17. Rajasthan	51102	183	50984	178	50842	172	
18. Sikkim	N. A.	-	336	168	378	189	
19. Tamil Nadu	79862	186	74909	172	75666	171	
20. Tripura	2373	140	2026	113	N.A.	-	
21. Uttar Pradesh	244284	262	230901	243	198890	206	
22. West Bengal	86600	181	86514	177	86450	172	
Total	1150099	199	1123530	191	1075098	179	

Source: Bureau of Police Research and Development (Annual Crime Reports 1974, 1975 and Quarterly Reports for 1976).

^{\$} Based on the average of I & II Quarters of 1975.

[@] Based on the average of I, II & III Quarters of 1975.

Strength of civil police, district armed reserve, armed police and home guards.

					Distt. Armed	SPL/Reserve/	Home Gu	ards
	States		Total	Civil	Reserve	MIL, Police	Permanent staff	Volunteers
	1		2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	Andhra Pradesh	(1.4.76)	47017	29234	11021	6762	6986	39625
2.	Assam	(1.4.77)	31406	15020	N.A.	16386	463	N.A.
3.	Bihar	(June '78)	57164*	27835	16357	12636	1249	71810 WH 10023
4.	Gujarat	(1.4.78)	43594	35042	included in civil	8552	24981 (combined	
5.	Haryana	(1.4.77)	16280	10755	included in civil	5525	476	10445
6.	Himachal Pradesh	-	7401	5162	2239@	-	203	6017
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	(77-78)	13514	10736	included in civil	2778	1777	-
8.	Karnataka	(1977)	36148	24512	8733	2903	N.A.	
9.	Kerala	(1.4.77)	24522*	13007	6051	4156	N.A.	
0.	Madhya Pradesh	(Dec. 177)	56943*	37605	included in civil	17436\$	<b>762</b> ·	17000
1.	Maharashtra	(M)	84506	49487	24195	10824	N.A.	46455
2.	Manipur		6258	2854	included in armed	d 3404	185	
3.	Meghalaya		4566	2129	included in armed	d 2437	97	
4.	Nagaland		8258	2890		5368 Village Guards		N.A.
5.	Orissa	(1.4.77)	27652	14712	5663	7277	N.A.	11634
6.	Punjab	(1.4.77)	26662	16214	4593	5855	1378	31006
7.	Rajasthan	(1.4.77)	43228	27781	8484	6963	760	14100
.8.	Sikkim	(1978)	1456	1047	included in civil	409	672 र्	N.A.
9,	Tamil Nadu	(1.4.77)	49272	31531	13110	4631	N.A.	24347
0.	Tripura	(1.4.78)	5515	2727	1080	1708	25	
1.	Uttar Pradesh	(Dec. 177)	111648	67266	included in armed	i 44382\$	4021 45577 Village chowkidar	123207
2.	West Bengal	(1977)	72225	45510	included in civil	26715	3400	<del></del>
	All States		775235	473056	101526	197107	96506	405669

*Bihar - Including prosecution 336
Kerala - Including Ministerial 1308
M.P. - Including Ministerial 1902

Source: Information received from State Governments.

^{**}WF = Women Force
@ No regular distribution

^{\$}M.P. - excluding India Res. 2920 U.P. - excluding Border Police 1905

# Population per Policeman(1976) and Population per Policeman adjusted for Crime rates.

	STATES	Popula- tion	Police Civil	Civil	per Poli	ceman	Population per Policeman adjusted for crime rates		
		as on 1.3.76		& Dar+	Civil	Civil &	for eri	me rates Civil &	
		(00)				DAR*	•	DAR	
	(1)		_3ia)	3(b)	_4(n) _	_4(b)	<u>5(e)</u>	_5(b)	
1.	Andhra Pradesh	47435i	29234	40255	1623	1178	860	624	
	Assam	175257	15020	15020	1167	1167	1412	1412	
	Bihar	621675	27855	44192	2233	1407	1987	1252	
•	Gujarat	297612	35042	35042	849	849	383	88 <b>3</b>	
•	Haryana	111726	10755	10755	1039	1039	509	509	
6.	Himachal Pradesh	30378	5162	7401	743	519	624	436	
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	52708	10736	10736	491	491	953	953	
8.	Karnataka	323712	24512	33245	1321	974	1123	828	
9•	Kerala	23.7309	13007	19058	1824	1245	1368	934	
į٥,	Madhya Pradesh	475922	37605	37605	1266	1266	1747	1747	
11.	Maharashtra	556595	49487	73682	1125	755	1508	1012	
12.	Manipur	12574	2854	2854	441	441	560	560	
	Meghalaya	11578	21 29	21 29	544	544	555	<b>5</b> 55	
	Nagaland	6098	2890	2890	211	211	257	25 <b>7</b>	
	Orissa	244529	14712	20375	1662	1200	1413	1020	
	Punjab	147194	16214	20807	908	707	527	410	
	Rajasthan	294900	27781	36265	1062	813	1020	<b>7</b> 8 <b>0</b>	
-	Sikkim	2332	1047	1047	223	223	237	237	
19.	Tamil Nadu	442703	31531	44641	1404	<b>9</b> 92	1348	952	
	Tripura	18158	2727	3807	666	477	NA	NA	
	Uttar Pradesh	966291	67266	67266	1437	1437	1653	1 <b>653</b> .	
	West Bengal	501892	45510	45510	1103	1103	1069	1069	
	Total:	6013492	473056	574582	1271	1047			

Source: Col. 2 from Registrar General's figures as on 1.3.76

^{*}DAR = District Armed Reserve

#### Appendix V.8(v)

#### No. of Policemen per 1000 I.P.C. Crimes (1976)

	States	Pol Civil	i <u>ce forc</u> L Givi + DAR	cognis crime( report	sable Po fresh pe ts <u>cr</u>	r 1	emen 000	of cases pending investiga-	
				during year)	the Civ	ril	Civil +	tion	by courts.
							DAR**		<b></b>
-	(1)	_2 <u>(a)</u> .	2(b)	(3) _	4	a)	_4 <b>(</b> b)	<u>(5)</u>	_(6)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	29234	40255	44503	6	57	904	15	<b>7</b> 9
2.	<b>Assam</b>	15020	15020	37989 [*]	3	95	39 <b>5</b>	73	34
3•	Bihar	27835	44192	99353	2	280	445	57	45
4.	Gujarat	35042	35042	557€1	52	8	628	16	57
5.	Haryana	10755	10755	9875	10	89	1089	<b>3</b> 6	62
6.	Himachal Pradesh	51€2	7401	5733	9	00	1291	50	64
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	10736	10736	18423	5	83	583	73	<b>3</b> 8
8,	Karnataka	24512	33245	49684	4	93	669	22	61
9•	Kerala	13007	19058	31650	4	11	602	21	34
10.	Madhya Pradesh	37605	57605	117619	3	20	320	8	69
11.	Maharashtra	49487	73682	133386	3	<b>7</b> i	552	24	69
12.	Manipur	2854	2854	2957	9	65	965	152	27
13.	Meghalaya	2129	2129	2186	9	73	973	34	49
14.	Nagaland	2890	289 <b>0</b>	1314 [@]	21	99	2199	105	87
15-	Orissa	14712	20375	37104	3	97	549	50	43
16.	Punjab	16214	20807	15335	10	57	1357	43	54
17.	Rajasthan	2 <b>7</b> 781	<b>3</b> 6265	50842	5	46	713	14	43
18.	Sikkim	1047	1047	378	27	70	2770	NA	NA
	Tamil Nadu	31531	44641	<b>7</b> 5666	4	17	590	15	82
	Tripura	2727	3807	NA	_			49	46
	Uttar Pradesh	67266	67266	198890	3:	38	338	20	55
22.	West Bengal	45510	45510	86450	5	<b>2</b> 5	525	48	47
<u> </u>	Total		<u>574582</u>	1075098	<u>4</u>	40	534	<u>27</u>	<u>63</u>
Sou	cce : Col.3 - Crin			rom	* Based (	on t	he ave:	rage of I &	

Cols5&6-Material received from Bureau of Police Research and Development, M. H. A.

Quarters of 1975.

[@] Based on the average of I, II & III Quarters of 1975.

^{**}DAR = District Armed Reserve

Appendix V.9 (1)

Amount invested in police housing during 1956-57 to 1977-78.

(Rea lakha) STATES Central State's Total Percentage distribution Assistance of total investment. 0wn Resources _ _3... _ 1. Andhra Pradesh 635°CO 7.87 623,44 1258.44 4.11 266.14 391.09 657.23 2. Assam 4.64 742.87 3. Bihar 366.44 376,43 7.C8 809,26 1132.78 323,52 4. Gujarat 5- Haryana (67-68 1,24 89.50 108,70 198.26 to 77-78) 0, 76 122-12 6. Himachal Pradesh 49.43 72.60 (71-72 to 77-78) 1.74 7. Jammu & Kashmir 278.91 278.91 N. A. 1203.64 7.53 796.97 8. Karnataka 405، 67 4.62 738.21 383.40 354.81 9. Kerula 4.06 648.64 128,06 520.58 10. Madhya Pradesh 15.43 2467-99 634,55 1833.64 11. Maharashtra 0.44 12. Manipur(71-72 to 70.28 50,48 19.80 77-78) 52.64 0.33 12.76 39,88 13. Meghalaya (72-73 to 77-78) 1-28 177.14 204.75 27.61 14. Nagaland (69-70 to 77-78) 3-43 548,00 177.00 371.00 15. Orissa 3.24 518,12 264.94 253.18 16. Punjab 2.63 420,28 15.00 405.28 17. Rajasthan 0.09 14.31 NΔ 14.31 18. Sikkim 6.52 1043.46 506,80 536,66 19. Tamil Nadu 0.35 56,24 16.91 39.33 20. Tripura 14.05 2246,50 680,00 1566.50 21, Utter Pradesh 8,56 604.51 764.80 22. West Bengal 100,00 15993,00 8892.54 7100.46. Total

Source: Information received from the State Governments.

Achievement and balance of requirement for police housing

	States	Non- gazetted police strength	No. (out of Col. 2) provided housing	Percent- age of Col. 3 to Col. 2	No. still requiring housing (2-3)	Break-up Upper Subord- inates	of Col. 5(B)  Lower Subordinates	Col. 7as Percent- age of Col. 5
		_	upto 77-78 end					
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1.	Andhra Pradesh	45,584	14,908	32.7	30, 676	2,608	28,068	91.5
2.	Assam	29,187	8,382	28.7	20,805	3,200	17,605	84.6
3.	Bihar	55,163	23, 345	42.3	31,818	4,655	27,163	85.4
4.	Gujarat	43,044	31,730	73.7	11,314	728	10,586	93.6
5.	Haryana	16,075	7,148	44.5	8,927	1,040	7,887	88.4
6.	Himachal Pradesh	7,292	2,669	36.6	4,623	198	4,425	95.7
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	13, 373	554	4.1	12,819(A)	641	12,178	95.0
8.	Karnataka	34,247	17,796	32.0	16,451	1,224	15,227	92.6
9.	Kerala	21,719	9,414	43.3	12,305	1, 172	11,133	90.5
10.	Madhya Pradesh	57,294	31,755	55.4	25,539	1,316	24, 223	94.9
11.	Maharashtra	82,570	43,507	52.7	39,063	2,489	36,574	93.7
12.	Manipur	<b>6,3</b> 30	683	10.8	5,647	133	5,514	97.6
13.	Meghalaya	4,592	1,115	24.3	3,477	536	2,941	84.6
14.	Nagaland	8,387	2,069	24.7	6, 318	431	5,887	93. 2
15.	Orissa	26,026	15,367	<b>59.</b> 0	10,659	4, 253	6,406	60.1
16.	Punjab	27,137	13,831	51.0	13,306	1,377	11,929	89.7
17.	Rajasthan	40,770	22,895	56.2	17,875	2,103	15,772	88.2
18.	Sikkim	1,048	99	9.4	949(A)	47	902	95.0
19.	Tamil Nadu	41,388	17,637	42.6	23, 751	1,931	21,820	91.9
20.	Tripura	5,640	1,790	31.7	3,850	591	3, 259	84.7
21.	Uttar Pradesh	106,549	70, 268	66.0	36, 281	3,084	33, 197	91.5
22.	West Bengal	66,474	16,734	25,2	49,740	8,227	41,513	83.5
	Total	739,889	<u>353, 696</u>	47.8	386, 193	41, 984	344, 209	89.1

⁽A) As furnished by Home Ministry. State Govt. has not furnished any information.

⁽B) The break-up is on pro-rata basis on total strength of Upper & Lower Sub-ordinates in the force.

Estimates of costs of reaching housing satisfaction level and costs on norm of 58,2%

Appenaix V.9(iii)

247

	STATES	Non- Gazetted Police Strength	Present level of Satisfaction (derived)	Housing Total Require- ment.	Balanco	quired on Upper Subord. Qrs.	norm of the lower Subord. Total	Ors. for	faction level Bairacks for 86% of Lower Subord.	Uppor Subord.	sts on norm of 14% of Lower Subord. @ 25000/-	50,2% of Barrecks 80% of Lower Sibora 6 5000/-	antisfiction level to Total cust Alternative (8+9+10)
	1	'_2	_3	4	_5	6	_ [(a)_	<u>7(b)</u>	(ه)	6		10	11
1.	Andhra Pradesh	45584	14908	26530	11622	<b>9</b> 88	10634	1489	9145	247	372	604	1223
2.	<b>Assam</b>	29187	8382	16987	8605	1324	7281	1019	6262	331	255	405	991
3.	Bihar	551 6 <b>3</b>	23345	32105	8760	1282	7478	1047	6431	320	262	424	1006
4.	Qujarat	43044	* 31 <i>7</i> 30	25052	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	_
5-	Haryana	16075	7148	9356	2208	257	1951	273	1678				
6.	Himschal Pradesh	7292	2669	4244	1575	67	1508	211	1297	17	53	86	156
7.	Jammu & Keshmir	13373	554	7783	7229	361	6868	962	5906	90	240	390	720
8.	Karnotoka	34247	17796	19932	2136	159	1977	277	1700				
9.	Kerala	21719	9414	12640	3226	<b>507</b>	2919	409	2510	77	102	166	<b>3</b> 45
10.	Madhya Pradeah	57294	31 755	33345	1590	82	1508	211	1297	20	53	86	159
11.	Maharnshtra	82570	43507	48056	4549	290	4259	<b>5</b> 96	3663				
12.	Manipur	6330	633	3684	3001	71	2930	410	<b>25</b> 20	18	102	166	286
13.	Meghalaya	4592	1115	26 <del>73</del>	1558	240	1318	185	1133	60	46	75	181
14.	Magaland	8387	2069	4001	2812	192	2620	367	<b>22</b> 5 <b>3</b>	48	92	149	289
15.	Orisea	26026	15367	15147	-								
16.	Funjab	27137	13831	15794	1563	203	1760	246	1514				
17.	Rajasthan	40770	22895	23728	833	9 <b>8</b>	<i>7</i> 35	103	632	24	26	42	92
18,	Sikkin	1048	99	610	511	25	486	63	418	6	17	<b>2</b> 8	51
19.	Tamil Wadu	41388	17637	24083	6451	524	5927	<b>83</b> 0	5097	131	5.70	336	675
20.	Tripura	5640	1790	<b>32</b> 82	1492	229	1263	177	1086	57	44	72	173
21.	Uttar Pradeah	106549	<b>7</b> 0268	62012	-	-	-						
22,	West Bongal	66474	16734	<b>5</b> 0683	21954	3631	18323	2565	<b>1575</b> 8	150	641	1040	1839
	<u>Total</u>	<u>739389</u>	<u>353696</u>	43-16T	<u>92475</u>	<u>10730</u>	<u> 21 745</u>	11445	<u>70300</u>	<u>1604</u>	<u>2513</u>	4069	<u>0186</u>

Source for Col. 2: Ministry of Home Affairs (arcse shocked with material received by the Commission).

#### Provisions of revenue expenditure for upgradation of felice in 1978-04.

Appendix V. 10(1)

											((Rs. lekhs)
Statos	Rossessed figure	Por capita	Total		obsm eno	during	197904			·	
	1976-79 including upgraded emoluments	exponditure (Rs.)	1979-00		1901-82	1902-03	1903-04	Total	apital	Grand total	<b>-</b>
	2,		4.	5.	<u>6</u>	7.	0,	9	10.	11.	
1. Andhra Pradosh	3004	7. 70	_	_	_	_	_	_	1223	1223	
2. Assam	1976	10.60	44	46	40	51	54	243	991	1234	
3. Bihar	3609	5.71	400	420	442	464	407	2213	1006	3219	
4. Gujarat	3403	10.95	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	
5. Haryena	1132	9.69	-	•	-	-	-	. <b>-</b> .	-	-	
. Himachal Pradesh	569	14-25	90	94	99	104	109	496	156	652	
7. Jammu & Kashmir	003	14-47	145	152	160	167	176	000	720	1520	
l. Karnoteka	2409	7. 16	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
. Kgrola	2053	0 _* 33	-	-	-	-	-	-	345	345	
l. Medhya Pradosh	3599	7. 23	651	664	<b>71</b> Q	754	792	3599	159	3750	
. Mehorachtro	6930	12.00	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	
le Menipur	956	71-60	-	•	-	-	-	-	206	206	
. Maghalaya	333	<b>2</b> 7• 25	-	-	_	-	_	-	201	281	
• Nagaland	014	125•23	**	-	-	-	-	-	209	209	
. Oriesa	1702	6.67	261	274	200	302	310	1443	-	1443	
. Punjab	1730	11.40	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	
• Rajosthen	<b>2511</b>	8.09	166	174	103	192	201	916	92	1008	
. Sikkim	<b>G6</b>	35,54	-	-	-	-	-	-	51	51	
. Temil Nedu	3420	7.53	88	94	69	92	90	443**	675	1110	
• Tripura	33?	17+40	-	-	-	-	-	-	173	173	
. Uttor Pradesh	6720	6.71	1216	1277	1340	1408	1479	6720	-	6720	
. West Bongal	5456	10, 39	-	-	-	-	-	-	1639	1839	
<u>Total</u>	<u>\$4450</u>	<b>9,</b> 28	3053	3205	<u>3367</u>	3534	3714	<u>16073</u>	<u>8286</u>	<u>25159</u>	

^{*} Includes & 100 lakhe hoodquertors for Armod Polices

^{**}Restricted to State's demands.

## Appendix V.10(ii)

## Upgradation provisions for police administration during 1979-84.

(Rs. lakhs)

STATE 1	ITEMS 2	Revenue 2	Capital 4	Total 2
1. Andhra Pradesh	Residential accommodation per norm		1223	1223
	Total		<u> 1223</u>	<u>1223</u>
2. Assam	1. Strengthening of Police Admn.	243	=	· 243
	2. Res. accommodation per norm	<b>-</b>	991	991
	Total.	243	<u>991</u>	1234
3. Bihar	1. Strengthening of Police Admn.	2213(1)	-	2213
•	2. Res. accommodation per norm	-	1006	1006
	Total	<u>2213</u>	<u>1006</u>	<u>3219</u>
4. Gujarat		-	-	-
5. Haryana		- (.)	<b>-</b>	-
6. Himachal Pradesh	1. Strengthening of Police Admn.	496 (1)	-	496
	2. Res. accommodation per norm	-	156	156
	Total	<u>496</u>	<u>156</u>	<u>652</u>
7. Jammu & Kashmir	1. Strengthening of Police Admn.	800	-	800
	2. Res. accommodation per norm Total	800	720 <u>720</u>	720 <u>1520</u>
3. Karnataka		-	-	-
9. Kerala	1. Res.accommodation per norm Total	<del>-</del>	345 345	3 45 <u>3 45</u>
10. Madhya Pradesh	1. Strengthening of Police Admn.	<b>35</b> 99	-	3599
	2. Res. accommodation per norm	-	159	159
	Total	<u>3599</u>	<u>159</u>	· <u>3758</u>
11. Maharashtra		-	~	-

Appendix V.10(11) (Concld)

		(Rs. lak)	13 )	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
12. Manipur	<ol> <li>Res, accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	- -	286 286	286 286
13. Meghalaya	1. Res. accommodation per norm Total	<del>-</del>	281 (2) 281	281 <u>281</u>
14. Nagaland	<ol> <li>Res. accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	<del>-</del>	289 <u>289</u>	<b>2</b> 39 <u>2</u> 39
15. Orissa	<ol> <li>Strengthening of Police Admn. Total</li> </ol>	1 4 4 3 <u>1 4 4 3</u>	-	1.443 1.443
16. Funjab		-	-	-
17. Rajasthan	<ol> <li>Strengthening of Police Admn.</li> <li>Res. accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	916 <u>916</u>	92 <u>92</u>	916 92 <u>1008</u>
18. Sikkim	<ol> <li>Res. accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	<del>-</del>	51 <u>51</u>	51 51
19. Tamil Nadu	<ol> <li>Strengthening of Police Admn.</li> <li>Res. accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	443 ⁽¹⁾ - 443	- 675 6 <u>75</u>	443 675 <u>1118</u>
20. Tripura	<ol> <li>Res. accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	<del>-</del> -	173 <u>173</u>	173 <u>173</u>
21. Uttar Pradesh	<ol> <li>Strengthening of Police Admn. Total</li> </ol>	6720 <u>6720</u>	<b></b>	6720 <u>6720</u>
22. West Bengal	<ol> <li>Res. accommodation per norm Total</li> </ol>	<del>-</del> -	1839 <u>1839</u>	1839 <u>1839</u>
	ALL STATES .	<u>16873</u>	<u>8286</u>	<u>25159</u>

- (1) Restricted to State's own demands in the cases of Bihar, HP and Tamil Nadu,
- (2) Includes Rs. 100 lakhs earmarked for armed police battalion headquarters in Meghalaya. Res. Residential.

Statewise Capacity in Jails - Central/District/Sub-Jails etc.

	Central Jails			strict ails	Sub	-jails		n Camp Jails		ther ails	Total all Jails	
States	No.	Capa- city	No./ No. of Dist.	Capa- city	No.	Capa- city	No.	Capa- city	No.	Capa- city	No.	Capa- city
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1. Andhra Pradesh	6	3739	9/21	1859	127	3412	-	-	3	460	145	9470
2. Assam	-	-	15/10	4523	2	113	1	100	1	366	19	5102
3. Bihar	7	7612	28/31	6964	28	<b>2</b> 50 <b>6</b>	-	-	2	4288	65	21370
4. Gujarat	2	2449	5/19	1267	12	1142	2	60	1	114	22	5032
5. Haryana	1	986	5/11	1666	12	459	-	-	-	-	18	3111
6. Himachal Pradesh	1	148	1/12	58	7	242	1	116	-	-	10	564
7. Jammu & Kashmir	2	760	-/10	-	7	433	-		-		9	1193
8. Karnataka	4	2983	16/19	1970	78	1328	1	95	2	395	101	6771
9. Kerala	3	2780	1/11	350	32	1737	1	200	1	98	38	5165
0. Madhya Pradesh	6	5449	23/40	4310	33	2461	2	150	2	408	66	12778
1. Maharashtra	7	9562	33/26	6406	-	-	2	66	3	326	45	16360
2. Manipur	1	500	-/ 5	-	1	77	-	-	-	-	2	577
13. Meghalaya	-	-	2/4	495	-	<u> -</u>	-	-	-	-	2	495
14. Nagaland	1	500	3/3	166	5	75	-	-	-	-	9	741
15. Orissa	4	1534	9/13	1933	47	2072	-	-	5	562	65	6101
16. Punjab	3	2935	6/12	2371	14	902	1	200	1	330	25	6738
17. Rajasthan	5	3672	21/26	2598	56	1245	6	-	-	-	88	7515
18. Sikkim	1	30	-/14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	30
19. Tamil Nadu	. 8	10746	-/15	-	119	3446	2	142	5	1221	134	15555
20. Tripura	1	275	-/ 3	•	9	264	-	-	-	-	10	539
21. Uttar Pradesh	6	8217	51/54	18901	3	731	2	2758	3	974	65	31581
22. West Bengal	5	10499	11/16	5334	31	1597	_	_	6	2807	53	20237

Source: State Govts. Replies to the Commission, checked with Department of Social Welfare data.

^{(1) -}Calender year (2) - in 1976

⁽⁻⁾ Blank indicate lack of category-wise information.

## Average jail population in States

	Average jail population 1974-75	Average jail population in 1976-77
	2	
I. Normal States		
1. Andhra Pradesh 2. Assam 3. Bihar 4. Gujarat 5. Haryana 6. Karnataka 7. Kerala 8. Madhya Pradesh 9. Maharashtra 10. Orissa 11. Punjab 12. Rajasthan 13. Tamil Nadu 14. Uttar Pradesh 15. West Bengal	9784 8030 36600 4547 3032 4836 3699 16766 19114 9750 7656 5739 24736 36051 24657	10581 6671 36268 3719 3216 5425 4905 19274 18005 11045 7691 7212 25552 40586 22962
Total of I	214997	223112
I. Other States		
1. Himachal Pradesh 2. Jammu & Kashmir 3. Manipur 4. Meghalaya 5. Negaland 6. Sikkim 7. Tripura Total of II	681 191 317 512 560 NA 615 2876	442 258 436 471 550 NA 631
Grand Total	217873	225900
Grand Toyal		22 7300

253

Appendix V.11(iii)

Statewise comparison of Jail capacity, population and proportion of undertrials

States	Cepacity of	f				Undertrials as on				Percentage of undertrials to Jail Population as or			
	Jail	1.1.75	1.4.77	1.1.78	1.7.78	1.1.75	1.4.77	1.1.78	1.7.78	1.1.75	1.4.77	1.1.78	1.7.78
1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	θ.	9,	10.	11.	12.	13.	14,
. Andhra Pradesh	9470	8437	10026	5853	, 5224	2272	4133	1400	1351	27	41	24	26
2. Assem	5102	8263	<b>57</b> 75	6185	569 <b>8</b>	5831	3912	4342	3888	71	68	70	68
6. Bihar	21370	36225	27742	27784	24337	29980	22619	23328	19584	85	82	84	60
l. Gujarat	5032	4025	3946	N.A.	N.A.	1877	1634	N.A.	N.A.	47	41	N.A.	N.A.
. Haryana	3117	2872	2829	2229	2257	1145	N.A.	1121	1198	40	N.A.	50	53
5. Himachal Predesh	564	272	307	400	400	171	N.A.	205	205	63	N. A.	51	51
7. Jemmu & Kaehmir	1193	723	816	N.A.	N.A.	364	420	N.A.	N.A.	50	52	N.A.	N.A.
3. Karnataka	6771	6095	5564*	5014	4810	2103	2395*	2218	2070	35	43*	44	43
. Kerala	5165	3669	3526	3499	3466	1089	1136	1290	1283	30	32	37	37
. Madhya Pradesh	12778	16643	159 40	15261	13077	5991	5564	6075	6056	36	35	40	44
i. Maharsehtra	16501	<b>1</b> 9 100	17400	23705	15571	8187	6209	7728	4718	43	36	33	30
2 _e Manipur	55 <b>7</b>	325	354	389	36D	218	224	252	201	67	63	65	56
3. Meghalaya	495	612	394	407	411	493	N.A.	240	259	81	N.A.	59	63
4. Nagaland	741	499	535	399	416	199	287	183	168	40	54	46	40
5. Orisea	6101	9165	9 2 3 5	No.ko	N.A.	5937	5486	NoÁs	N.A.	65	<b>59</b>	N.A.	N.A.
δ. Punjab	6738	8531	6702	6763	6637	3839	1570	2178	2128	45	23	32	32
7. Rajamthan	<b>7</b> 515	5903	6551	6287	6016	2436	29 22	3175	3035	41	45	50	50
8. Sikkim	30	110	53	58	54	63	(8) 34	47	35	75(8)	64	81	65
9. Tamil Nedu	15555	24709	27232	10176	20000	14238	11750	N.A.	N.A.	58	43	N.A.	N.A.
O. Tripura	539	598	483	350	416	466	328	217	270	78	68	62	65
1. Utter Predesh	31581	35432	32015	22669	33865	22642	19706	17437	27640	64	62	77	82
2. West Bengal	20237	24703	21626	13799	12519(+)	15331	11101	93930	8340(+)	62	51	680	67(+)
All States	177146	216911	199050	159247	156334	124892	101430	80629	B2429	58	51	51	53

^{*} as on 1,1,77

^{\$} as on 5,10,78

⁽⁸⁾ using 25.6.75 Retio.

⁸ se on 28,12,77

⁽⁺⁾ as on 28,5,78

254

#### Appendix V.11(iv)

Statewise Total and per prisoner Expenditure in 1975-77

STATES		Expenditure (R. lrkhs)	on prisoner	8	Total Expd. on	Jail Population	Expendi	ture ner pri	soner (daily		Total
	Diet	Other items	Estab- lishment	Total	Head 256 Jails	caily average	Diet	Other 1tems	Estab- lishment	Total	expanditure on Head 250
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(5)	1n 1775 <b>-77</b> (7)	(E)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
I. Normal States											
1. Andhra Fradesh	94.9	15.0	88.2	199.1	243.3	1058 <b>1</b>	2.46	0 • 41	2.28	5.15	6.30
2. Assam	100.0	-	30.1	130.1	137.5	567 <b>1</b>	4.11	-	1.23	5.34	5.65
3. Bihar	347.8	44.5	137.2	529.5	612.7	<b>362</b> 68	2.63	0.34	1.03	4.00	4.63
4. Gujarat	46.9	NA	60.B	107.7	125.6	4609	2:79	na.	<b>3.</b> 61	6.40	7.47
5. Heryana	NA	NA	NA	70 <b>.7</b>	103.3	3216	NA	AH	NA	6.02	8.80
6. Karnataka	52.8	-	64.1	116.9	141.4	542 <b>5</b>	2.67	-	3.24	5.91	7.14
7. Kerala	49.3	MA	<b>71.</b> 8	121.6	139 <b>.7</b>	4905	2.78	NA	4.01	6.79	7.00
3. Madhya Tradesh	AIT	NA	NA	332.2	369.0	19274	MA	NA	MA	4.72	5 • 25
, Maharashtra	100.0	NA	253.0	353.0	459.0	18005	1.52	AK	3. ∶5	5.37	6.93
n. Orisea	86.7	10.5	64.1	161.3	187.1	11/145	2.15	0.26	1.59	4.00	4.64
11. Dunjab	62.7	24.4	86.9	174.0	220.3	<b>7</b> 59 <b>1</b>	2.23	0.87	3.10	6.20	7.05
2. Rajasthan	84.1	1.0	96.4	161.5	201.2	721 <b>2</b>	3.19	0.04	3.66	6.89	7.64
3. Tamil Nadu	175.8	16.7	139.0	333 <b>.3</b>	455.4	25552	1.90	0.10	1.50	3.50	4.89
A. Uttar Tradesh	NA	NA	NA	557.7	645.0	40586	NA	NΑ	N/	<b>3.7</b> 7	4.35
5. West Bengal	184.3	132.9	142,1	459 <b>.3</b>	505.6	22962	2.20	1.58	<b>1.7</b> 0	5.48	6.03
Total of I	1306.8	246.0	1234.5	3027.9	4547.1						
I Other States								<del></del>			
. Himachal Pradesh	NΛ	NA	15.8	15.3	17.3	442	AK	NA		9.81	10.75
. Jemmu & Kashmir	Ait	15.7	14.2	29.9	31.1	<b>25</b> 3	MA	16.70	15.11	31.81	33.09
. Menipur	ΛM	NA	NK	NA	8.9	436	AK	NΛ	N <b>A</b>	NA	5.60
. Meghalaya	2.1	MΑ	6.0	3.1	14.1	471	1.22	NA	3.49	4.71	8.20
. Nagaland	MA	NΔ	AN	30.8	44.0	550	MA	NA	AN	15.32	21.09
. Sikkim	NA	NA	МÇ	ΛK	1.1	NA	MA	NA	NA	NA	NA
. Tripura	NA	NA	NA	MA	13•4	631	NA	NA	l:A	NA	0.00
Total of II	<u>2.1</u>	<u> 15.7</u>	<u>36.0</u>	84.6	134.9						
Grand Total	1388.9	261.7	1270.5	3012.5	4532.0						

Annual Provisions of additional expenditure on prisoners, during 1979-84

	Fotal expdr. required on morm of Rs.6 per prisoner	Level of Expdr. in 1976-77 Accounts		dur	ing 1979-6	34 (Rs. la)	chs)	_
	per day (Rs. lakhs)		1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84	Total 1979-84
I. Large States								
1. Andhra Pradesh	232	199	33	35	36	38	40	182
2. Assam	146	130	-	-	-	-	-	-
3. Bihar	794	529	37	39	41	43	45	205
4. Gujarat 、	101	108	-	-	-	-	-	-
5. Haryana	70	71	-	-	-	-	-	-
6. Karnataka	119	117		-	-	-	-	-
7. Kerala	108	122	-	-	-	-	-	-
8. Madhya Pradesh	422	332	90	94	99	104	109	496
9. Maharashtra	394	353	-	~	-	-	-	-
10. Orissa	242	161	40	42	44	46	49	221
11. Punjab	168	174		-	-	-,	-	-
12. Rajasthan	159	182	-	-	-	-	-	-
13. Tamil Nadu	559	333	114	120	126	132	139	631
14. Uttar Pradesh	889	558	195	205	215	226	237	1078
15. West Bengal	503	459	-	-	-	-	-	_
Total of I	4906	3828	509	535	<u>561</u>	589	<u>619</u>	2813
II. Other States								
1. Himachal Prade	sh 10	16	-	-	-	-	-	-
2. Jammu & Kashn		30	, -	_	-	-	-	-
3. Manipur	9	NA	-	-	-	-	-	. <b>-</b>
4. Meghalaya	10	8	-	-	-	-	-	-
5. Nagaland	12	31	-	-	-	-	-	-
6. Sikkim	NA	NA	-	-	-	-	-	-
7. Tripura	14	18	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total of II	<u>61</u>	<u>103</u>	<u>-</u>		<del>-</del>	<del>-</del>	-	
Grand Total (I+	II) 4967	3931	509	535	561_	589	619	2813

## Appendix 13

## Provisions for additional jail accommodation

	Additional jail capacity provided for (1) (Nos)	Amount provided (2) (R. lakhs)
1. Madhya Pradesh	1040	166 (3)
2. Manipur	125	68
3. Meghalaya	100	<b>5</b> 5
4. Orissa	1380	221
5. Sikkim	25	14
6. Tamil Nadu	4445	712
Total:	7115	1236

⁽¹⁾ net of number of undertrails in jail in excess of 40%

^{(2) 50%} by way of new jails at average cost of &.25000 per prisoner capacity, and balance 50% through extensions / additions in existing jails at average cost of &.7000 per prisoner capacity; for hill states, higher scale of expenditure is provided for

⁽³⁾ Restricted to amount asked for by the State Govt.

Appendix V.14

	Upgradation provisions for Jails States during 1979-		ion in the	(p. 1	akhs)
~. ·	T1 -			-	-
State (1)	<u>Item</u> (2)		Revenue (3)	Capital (4)	$\frac{\text{Total}}{(5)}$
1.Andhra Pradesh	1. Expenditure on prisoners	Total	182 <u>182</u>	-	182 182
2.Assam			-		-
3.Bihar	1. Expenditure on prisoners		205	-	205
	<ol> <li>Amenities for prisoners (water sanitary facilities, latrines</li> </ol>		<b>-</b>	250	250
		Total	<u> 205</u>	<u>250</u>	<u>455</u>
4.Gujarat			-	, <b>–</b>	-
5. Haryana			-	-	-
6. Mimachal Pradesh			<b>-</b>	-	_
7.Jammu & Kashmir	1. Amenities for prisoners	Total	-	50 <u>50</u>	50 50
8.Karnataka			·-	-	-
9.Kerala		•	_	-	
10.Madhya Pradesh	<ol> <li>Expenditure on prisoners</li> <li>Amenities for prisioners (water</li> </ol>	er supply.	<b>4</b> 96	-	<b>4</b> 9 <b>6</b>
	hospitalisation) 3. For additional jail capacity		-	40 166	40 166
		Total	<u>496</u>	<u> 206</u>	702
11, Mahareshtra			-	-	~
12.Manipur	<ol> <li>New jails/sub-jails, and separations</li> <li>blocks for females, lunatics.</li> </ol>	rate	<b>-</b>	68	<b>6</b> 8
	,	Total		<u>68</u>	<u>68</u>
13.Meghalaya	1. New jails/sub-jails		-	<u>55</u>	55
		Total	-	<u>55</u>	<u>55</u>
14.Nagaland			-	-	-

		Annendi	x V.14 (Cd	uncid)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
15.Orissa	<ol> <li>Expenditure on prisoners</li> <li>For additional jail capacity and</li> </ol>	221 *		221
	improved sanitary facilities.	***	<b>2</b> 21	221
	. Total.	221	<u><b>2</b>21</u>	142
16 .Punjab		**	~	-
17, Vaj asthan	<ol> <li>Amenities for prisoners- latrines</li> <li>Construction of Juveniles' Reformatory</li> </ol>		7 15	7 15
	LatoT		22	<u>22</u>
13.Sikkim	1. New jail/sub-jail Total	-	14 <u>14</u>	14 <u>14</u>
19.Tamil Nadu	1. Expenditure on prisoners. 2. Amenities for prisoners - water supply	631	~	531
•	latrines, fans ventilation.  3. For additional jail capacity		150 712	150 712
	Total	<u>631</u>	<u> 562</u>	<u> 1493</u>
20.Tripura		-	₩.	***
21.Uttar Tradesh	<ol> <li>Expenditure on prisoners</li> <li>Amenities for prisoners - modernised sanitation, water strong, electrificatio</li> </ol>	1078* n	-	1073
	of barwacks	-	270	270
OO Meet Descript	Total	<u>1078</u>	<u>270</u>	<u>1549</u>
22.West Bengal		~	<b></b>	₩
	GRAND TOTAL	<u>2813</u>	<u> 2013</u>	<u>43<b>31</b></u>

^{*} Restricted to State's demand

259

#### Symmetry statement of upgradation provisions of States (Total and Sectorates)

Appendix V.15

(Rs. lakha)

States		Judieia)	<u>Admisistra</u>		Cavital	Total	Reverve	. Pintri Rozunue	rt and T	ribal Ade	inistration	Poli na		tration	Capital	- Fa7/1
			1981-82 Geo	wth Total		1979 <del>-</del> 84	1979-00		Total 1379- 64		1979-34	1572-13	Srouth gate	Total 1979-04	V.,	<b>1</b> 000€04
1	2		_45		_1	_8	 ⁹ +	_12	11	12		14 :	_ 15	16	12	
1. Andhra Pradesh	14.58	9.32	9.79 5%	54.77	29.20	63-97	30	<del>5</del> .	165	306	471	-	5%	-	1023	4.2.3
2. ABBAM	30.04	18.31	19.23 5%	108.96	60,10	169.06	26	5%	146	622	<b>7</b> 60	44	5%	243	1:1	1234
3. Bihar	74.50	79.00	69.76 5 <b>%</b>	373.43	208.30	501.73	160	5%	864	1112	1996	400	5	2213	1000	3219
4. Himschal Fradesh	1.40	0.84	0.38 5%	5.02	2.80	7.82	11	5.0	60	24	84	<b>9</b> 3	5%	496	150	652
5. James & Kashmir	1.40	0,84	0.80 🐝	5.02	2,80	7.02	)	5%	<b>5</b> 0	200	250	145	5%	800	72.	15.20
6. Kermia	2.04	1.51	1.59 5%	e <b>.</b> 56	4-10	12.66	4	50	50	40	6େ	-		-	3.45	345
9. Madhya Pradesh	5.86	3.95	4-15 5%	<b>22.8</b> 8	12.95	35.03	209	50	1156	600	1036	651	5%	3539	153	375%
8. Manipur	4.90	2.94	3.10 5%	17.57	9,50	27.37	13	5%	74	540	614	-		-	4:4	2.6
9. Meghalaya		•		-	-	-	•	•	-	.150	150	-		-		2.11
10. Raganana	-	-		-	70.03	70.00	9	5/4	50	24	74	-		-	<b>-</b> 43	۲. ۶
11. Criesa	17.58	11.04	12.44 5%	60.64	35.25	1:3.09	144	5/	793	444	1237	261	5,3	1433	<b>-</b> .	**:
12. Anjasthen	36,48	25.18	24.35 5%	136-41	73.05	209.46	36	74	200	390	590	166	5%	916	بمر	1.03
13. Sikkin	-	-		-	-	-	-		-	•	-	-		-	•	::
14. Temil Nadu	2.80	1-68	1.76 🗫	10.04	5.60	15.64	. 4	576	22	72	94	90	57	447	17	•••
15. Tripura	10.64	7.39	7.76 5%	42.51	21.35	63.06	17	5%	95	24	119	-		-	1.3	179
10. Utter Fredesh	53,60	09.61	73.30 5%	374.58	217.20	591.78	1	-	151	2016	2167	1216	#	672.	-	6723
i". West Bangel	43.80	62.02	49.64 5	262.26	156.30	416.56	14	5,0	98	96	194	-		-	1959	4539
<u>Totel</u>	299-90	312.43	274.43	1430.55	900,00	2399-45	_01		3564	6743	<u> 11.714</u>	3153		16973	<u>0296</u>	تتلث

# Appendix V, 15(Concld)

(R. Lakha)

								(le • Trancos	9		
	States	Jail Admi	nistration				Capital Stamps and		rand total		
		Revenu	e		Capital	Total	registra-		Revenue	Capital	Total
		<del>1979-8</del> 0	Growth rate	Total 1979-84	<b>1</b> 979 <b>-84</b>	1979 <del>-</del> 84	tion and Treasury Administra- tion	1979-80 1979-84 1979-84			1979-84
		<u>(1</u> 9)	(20)	(21)	(22)	(23)	(24)	(25)	(26)	(27)	(28)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	33	5%	182	-	182	-	77.58	401.77	1558.20	1959 <b>•9</b> 7
2.	Assam	***		-	-	_	_	100.04	497 • 96	1673.10	2171.06
3.	Bihar	37	**	205	250	455	50\$	671.50	3675.43	2626.30	6301.73
4.	Himachal Pradesh	-		•	•	-	30	102.40	551.02	212.80	773.82
•	Jammu & Kashmir	-		-	50	50	-	155-40	855.02	972.80	1827.82
<b>5.</b>	Kerala	•-		-	-		_	5.04	28.56	389.10	417.65
7•	Madhya Pradesh	90	**	496	206	702	26	955.86	5273.88	1083.95	6357.83
3.	Manipur	-		-	68	68	-	17.90	91.57	903.80	995+37
•	Meghalaya	_		, s 🕶	<b>5</b> 5	55	<b>44</b>	-	=	/86.00	486.00
iO.	Nagaland	-		-	-	-		9.00	50.00	383.00	433.00
1.	Orissa	40	45	221	221	442	· =	462.58	2525.64	700.25	3225.89
2,	Rajasthan			-	22	22	100	238.48	1252 • 41	677.05	1929.46
3.	Sikkim		•	-	14	14	-	=>0140	-	65.00	65.00
4.	Tamil Nadu	114	"	631	862	1493		200.80	1106.74	1614.60	2720.64
5.	Tripura	-		-	-	-	5	27.64	137 • 51	223.35	360.86
6.	Uttar Pradesh	195	**	1078	270	1348	375	1465.88	8323.58	2878.20	11201.78
7•	West Bengal	_		-	-	-		51.80	360.26	2091.30	2451.56
	Total	509	**	2813	2018	<u> 4831 </u>	586	4552.90	25149.65	18538.80	43579.45

^{\$} Stamps and Registration.

#### Summarised list of heads in Capital Account

- I Consolidated Fund
  A Capital Account of General Services
- B Capital Account of Social and Community Services
- C Capital Account of Economic Services -
  - (a) General Economic Services
  - (b) Agriculture and Allied Services
  - (c) Industry and Minerals
  - (d) Water and Power Development.
    - (e) Transport and Communications
- E Public Debt -
  - (603) Internal debt of the State Government
    - (604) Loans and advances from the Central Government
- F Loans and Advances -
  - (677 to 695) Loans for social and community services
  - (698 to 700) Loans for General Economic Services.
  - (705 to 715) Loans for agriculture and allied purposes
  - (720 to 744) Loans for other Economic Services
  - (766 to 767) Loans to Government servants and Miscellaneous Loans.
- G Inter-State Settlement
- H Transfer to Contingency Fund

#### II - Contingency Fund

(800) Contingency Fund

#### III - Public Account

- I Small Savings, Provident Funds etc.
- J Reserve Funds -
  - (815 & 826) Depreciation/Renewal-Reserve Funds
  - (821 & 835) General and other Reserve Funds
  - (822) Sinking Fund .
  - (823) Famine Relief Fund
  - (825) State Roads and Bridges Fund
  - (829) Development and Welfare Fund
- K Deposits and Advances -
  - (836 and 843) Civil Deposits
  - (836 and 847) Deposits of Local Funds
  - (842 and 848) Other Deposits
  - (850) Civil Advances
- L Suspense and Miscellaneous
- M Remittances
- N Cash Balance

Non-Plan Capital gap: 1079-24

31.	State	CAPITAL RE					at distriction				Non-Plen
		Recoveries of loans and advances	Compensa- tion Powde- net of repoyment	State Settlement (net)	Potal Receipts (5+4+5)	Local repryment to Centre	local renapments to others		Ton-"Inn Iorna A Adrendes vo Covarment Servants		depth account (6-11)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(3)	(3)	(10)	(11)	(12)
1.	Andhra Pradesh	97.48	-	-	93.48	317.29	15.02	0.60	32.53	365.44	(-)271.95
2.	Acsam	37.39	0.04	0.62	38.05*	165.74	2.10	-	20.82	183.66*	<b>(~)</b> 150 ₊ 61
3.	Bihar	99 27	3.35	-	102.62	393.08	6.44	10,00	39.00	429+52	(-)326.90
A.,	Gujarat	114.88 (	-) 1.00	_	113.83	171.26	14.57	-	69.88	255.71	(-)141,83
5•	Haryona	<b>13.</b> 93	-	-	13.93	91.44	7.15	-	2.55	101,24	(-) 87.31
5.	Himmchal Pradeah	8.10	-	-	8.10	38.64	1.75		2.01	43.20	( <b>-)</b> 35 <b>.1</b> 9
•	Jammu & Kashmir	19.11		-	19.11	193.57	1.00	<del>-</del>	6.16	200.73	(-)131.62
9.	Kornataka	130.84	-	-	130.84	204.77	17.07	-	52,25	274.89	(-)144.05
5.	Kerala	51.10 (	-) 0.09	-	51.01	177.38	12.72	-	18.05	208.15	( <b>-)</b> 157•14
:O.	Hadhya Pradosh	86.03	-	-	86.03	262.50	18.63	=	50.00	331.18	(-)245.15
14.	Meharashtra	<b>1</b> 77.90	-	-	177.90	304.50	18.19	-	18.35	341.04	(-)163.14
1	Monipur	4•31	-	-	4.31	15.58	0.50	-	1.95	19.03	(-) 14.72
'3•	Normal nya	0,96	-	(-) 0.71	0.25	6.70	0.33	•	0.18	7.26	(-) 7.01
14.	Magn] rud	3.98	-	-	<b>3.9</b> 8	18,59	0.31	••	1.07	19.97	( <b>-)</b> 15.09
5.	Orisea	26.37	-	~	26.37	180.65	12.80	0.39	<b>5</b> ,00	201.84	(-)175./7
6.	Punjab	45.17	-	_	46.17	172.74	9.26	•	2,42	184.42	(-)138.25
7.	Rajasth <b>an</b>	35.96 (-	-) 0.82	<del>-</del>	34.24	283.20	14.36	5.83	10.85	314.24	(-)280.00
E.	Sikkim	1.61	-		1.51	1.75	0.03	-	0.61	2.39	(-) 0.7°
9.	Tamil Nadu	168,09	-	_	168.09	229-21		-) 3.15	68,45	314.22	(~)146,13
.O.	Tripura	4.33	-	•	4.33	12.45	0.07	-	•	12.52	(-) 8.19
	Utter Pradesh	95.16	0.07	••	95.23	686.47		-)19.73	6.25	688.76	(~)593.53
2.	West Bengal	238.50	7.30	-	245.80	403.16	16.94	23.25	29.75	473.10	(-)227.30
	Total	1456.57	8.85	(-) 0. 79	1465.33	4321.67	275.62	17.19	433.03	4977.51	<b>(-</b> )3512 <b>.1</b> 8

^{*}Excludes 5.20.00 groves as normal nation from the Centre and equivalent amount of non-plan capital outley on construction of a new capital for the State.

States' estimated cabt position. and of 1978-79

(In crores all h.)

								fin crox	ws 5 rs• /			
	Andhra Pradesh	assom	Bihar	Gujarat	Haryar	Simachal Prudesh	Jasmu Kashmit	Karmataka	Kerske	Madhya Pracesh	Marash-	Manipur
	1	<del>2</del>	3	4	5.	<b>6.</b>	7.	8		- 10.		12.
I. Internal debt (603)								·				
a) Market Loans	229.26	74.69	133.94	190.41	69.33	10,25	17.05	168,61	103.97	105.99	282 <b>.87</b>	12,66
b) Compensation Bonds	_	0.09	22,72	2.17	-		•	10.01	2.11	_	4.15	_
c) Ways & Means Advance from RBI	. ***	-	-	-	-	-	_	-		-	, <b>-</b>	-
<ul> <li>a) Other Loans</li> </ul>	43.23	5.18	17.24	36.95	27.20	5.54	32.57	41,51	19.30	37.72	93.77	1.57
Total-Internal debt	272.49	79.96	173.90	229.53	116.50	15.77	49.5%	20.13	11.5.27	143.71	<b>3</b> 30 <b>.7</b> 9	14.23
II. hoans from Central Government	1050.74	597.29	1187.13	521,19	<b>303.</b> ⊴1	150,50	611.2	676.93	514.50	711.35	977.31	57.35
III. Unfunded debt	68.48	23.79	129,25	97.44	97.60	31.21	38.F	83.53	1,5,94	283.12	217.63	5.72
Total - debt	13:1.71	701.01	1490,28	843.16	517.97	197.49	700.7	9 50.59	85%, 14	1133.18	1050.29	75.30
	 Mogha- laya	Naga-	Orissa	· Panj ib	Rajasik	o sikkim	Pomik i	ata Tripura	i dubia Cubiar Aracebh	 West Bengal	Total	
	T3.	14.	- 15	T6 <del>.</del> -	· _{17.} -	·· ₁₈ -		7 - 70,	- 2	22	23.	
I. Internal debt (603)					<b></b>		. <del></del>	·			<b>-</b>	
a) Market Loans	10.93	18.29	<b>121.</b> 43	73.44	179.	7 -	270. i-	e <b>.27</b>	335.37	152,00	2571.9	7
b) Compensation Bonds.	0,01	_	-	-	•		·	-	5+ <b>,</b> 70		52 <b>.4</b> 2	
c) Ways & Means Advance from RBI	-	-	-	~ <b>=</b>		_	-	-		-		
d) Other Leans	1.25	3.43	33.46	37.17	1	0.15	46.70	4.67	77.01	50,21	093.60	່ວ
Total-Internal debt	12,24	21.71	154.94	152,61			322.	12,94	41 .OC		35,7.99	
II. Loans from Central Government	24.11	40.56	705.84	3, 0 <b>,1</b> 0			75	<b>3</b> 9.58	1.03.33		<b>134</b> 62 <b>,</b> 34	•
III. Unfunded debt	5.30	8,13	<b>90.</b> 06	63.47	•		១៥. :	3.36	.75	88,5	1974.24	
Total - dept	41.65	70,20	912.64	506.1 <i>2</i>	13:5:5	. 6.3.)	1165.	61.45	2447.76	1637.81	15705.07	7
				<del></del> -							·	

# LIST OF ANNEXURES

		. •	Page
Annexure	I	Provisions of the Constitution having a bearing on the work of the Finance Commission.	1
Annexure	II	The Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951 as amended by the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Act Ho.XIII of 1955.	7
Annexure	III	Correspondence with Union and State Governments.	10
Annexure	IV	Dates of discussions with State Governments and Ministries/ Departments of the Central Government.	73
Annexure	V	Individuals and organisations who furnished memoranda to the Commission.	75
Annexure	VI	Individuals and representatives of organisations who met the Commission.	<b>7</b> 9
Annexure	VII.1	State-wise total area	86
Annexure	VII.2	State-wise population (1971 Census)	87
Annexure	VII.3	CSO's comparable estimates of State Domestic Product at State current price during 1970-71 to 1975-76	88
Annexure	VII.4	Non-suburban passenger earnings of railways allocated on the basis of originating status located in each State.	89
Annexure	VII 5	Revenue from income tax, Curporation tax and Union surcharge - 1952-53 to 1975-76	90

#### AMNEXURE - I

# Provisions of the Constitution having a bearing on the work of the Finance Commission.

# Article 268 - Duties levied by the Union but collected and appropriated by the States.

- (1) Such stamp duties and such duties of excise on medicinal and toilet preparations as are mentioned in the Union List shall be levied by the Government of India but shall be collected -
  - (a) in the case where such duties are leviable within any Union territory, by the Government of India, and
  - (b) in other cases, by the States within which such duties are respectively leviable.
- (2) The proceeds in any financial year of any such duty leviable within any State shall not form part of the Consolidated Fund of India, but shall be assigned to that State.

# Article 269 - Taxes levied and collected by the Union but assigned to the States.

- (1) The following duties and taxes shall be levied and collected by the Government of India but shall be assigned to the States in the manner provided in clause (2), namely:-
  - (a) duties in respect of succession to property other than agricultural land;
  - (b) estate duty in respect of property other than agricultural land;
  - (c) terminal taxes on goods or passengers carried by railway, sea or air;
  - (d) taxes on railway fares and freights;
  - (e) taxes other than stamp duties on transactions in stock exchanges and futures markets;
  - (f) taxes on the sale or purchase of newspapers and on advertisements published therein;
  - (g) taxes on the sale or purchase of goods other than newspapers, where such sale or purchase takes place in the course of inter-State trade or commerce.
- (2) The net proceeds in any financial year of any such duty or tax, except in so far as those proceeds represent proceeds attributable to Union territories, shall not form part of the

Consolidated Fund of India, but shall be assigned to the States within which that duty or tax is leviable in that year, and shall be distributed among those States in accordance with such principles of distribution as may be formulated by Parliament by law.

·(3) Parliament may by law formulate principles for determining when a sale or purchase of goods takes place in the course of inter-State trade or commerce.

# Article 270 - Taxes levied and collected by the Union and distributed between the Union and the States.

- (1) Taxes on income other than agricultural income shall be levied and collected by the Government of India and distributed between the Union and the States in the manner provided in clause (2).
- (2) Such percentage, as may be prescribed, of the net proceeds in any financial year of any such tax, except in so far as those proceeds represent proceeds attributable to Union territories or to taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments, shall not form part of the Consolidated Fund of India, but shall be assigned to the States within which that tax is leviable in that year, and shall be distributed among those States in such manner and from such time as may be prescribed.
- (3) For the purposes of clause (2), in each financial year such percentage as may be prescribed of so much of the net proceeds of taxes on income as does not represent the net proceeds of taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments shall be deemed to represent proceeds attributable to Union territories.
- (4) In this article -
  - (a) "taxes on income" does not include a corporation tax:
  - (b) "prescribed" means -
    - (i) until a Finance Commission has been constituted, prescribed by the President by Order, and

- (ii) after a Finance Commission has been constituted prescribed by the President by Order after considering the recommendations of the Finance Commission:
- (c) "Union emoluments" includes all emoluments and pensions payable out of the Consolidated Fund of India in respect of which income-tax is chargeable.

# Article 271 - Surcharge on certain duties and taxes for purposes of the Union.

Notwithstanding anything in articles 269 and 270, Parliament may at any time increase any of the duties or taxes referred to in those articles by a surcharge for purposes of the Union and the whole proceeds of any such surcharge shall form part of the Consolidated Fund of India.

# <u>Article 272</u> - <u>Taxes which are levied and collected</u> by the Union and may be distributed between the Union and the States.

Union duties of excise other than such duties of excise on medicinal and toilet preparations as are mentioned in the Union List shall be levied and collected by the Government of India, but, if Parliament by law so provides, there shall be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States to which the law imposing the duty extends sums equivalent to the whole or any part of the net proceeds of that duty, and those sums shall be distributed among those States in accordance with such principles of distribution as may be formulated by such law.

# Article 274 - Prior recommendation of President required to Bills affecting taxation in which States are interested.

(1) No Bill or amendment which imposes or varies any tax or duty in which States are interested, or which varies the meaning of the expression "agricultural income" as defined for the purposes of the enactments relating to Incian incometax, or which affects the principles on which under any of the foregoing provisions of this Chapter moneys are or may be distributable to States, or which imposes any such surcharge for the purposes of the Union as is mentioned in the foregoing

provisions of this Chapter, shall be introduced or moved in either House of Parliament except on the recommendations of the President.

(2) In this article, the expression "tax or duty in which \( \)

(a) a tax or duty the whole or part of the net proceeds whereof are assigned to any State; or

/States are interested" (b) a tax or duty by reference to the net proceeds whereof sums are for the time being payable out of the Consolidated Fund of India to any State.

# Article 275 - Grants from the Union to certain States.

(1) Such sums as Parliament may by law provide shall be charged on the Consolidated Fund of India in each year as grants-in-aid of the revenues of such States as Farliament may determine to be in need of assistance, and different sums may be fixed for different States:

Provided that there shall be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India as grants-in-aid of the revenues of a State such capital and recurring sums as may be necessary to enable that State to meet the costs of such schemes of development as may be undertaken by the State with the approval of the Government of India for the purpose of promoting the welfare of the Scheduled Tribes in that State or raising the level of administration of the Scheduled Areas therein to that of the administration of the rest of the areas of that State:

Provided further that there shall be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India as grants-in-aid of the revenues of the State of Assam sums, capital and recurring equivalent to -

- (a) the average excess of expenditure over the revenues during the two years immediately preceding the commencement of this Constitution in respect of the administration of the tribal areas specified in Part A of the table appended to paragraph 20 of the Sixth Schedule; and
- (b) the cost of such schemes of development as may be undertaken by that State with the approval of the Government of India for the purpose of raising the level of administration of the said areas to that of the administration of the rest of the areas of that State.

(2) Until provision is made by Parliament under clause (1), the powers conferred on Parliament under that clause shall be exercisable by the President by order and any order made by the President under this clause shall have effect subject to any provision so made by Parliament:

Provided that after a Finance Commission has been constituted no order shall be made under this clause by the President except after considering the recommendations of the Finance Commission.

# Article 279 - Calculation of "net proceeds", etc.

- (1) In the foregoing provisions of this Chapter, "net proceeds" means in relation to any tax or duty the proceeds thereof reduced by the cost of collection, and for the purposes of those provisions the net proceeds of any tax or duty, or of any part of any tax or duty, in or attributable to any area shall be ascertained and certified by the Comptroller and Auditor-General of India, whose certificate shall be final.
- (2) Subject as aforesaid, and to any other express provision of this Chapter, a law made by Parliament or an order of the President may, in any case where under this Part the proceeds of any duty or tax are, or may be, assigned to any State, provide for the manner in which the proceeds are to be calculated, for the time from or at which and the manner in which any payments are to be made, for the making of adjustments between one financial year and another, and for any other incidental or ancillary matters.

# Article 280 - Finance Commission.

(1) The President shall, within two years from the commencement of this Constitution and thereafter at the expiration of every fifth year or at such earlier time as the President considers necessary, by order constitute a Finance Commission which shall consist of a Chairman and four other members to be appointed by the President.

- (2) Parliament may by law determine the qualifications which shall be requisite for appointment as members of the Commission and the manner in which they shall be selected.
- (3) It shall be the duty of the Commission to make recomnendations to the President as to -
  - (a) the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under this chapter and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds;
  - (b) the principles which should govern the grants-inaid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India;
  - (c) any other matter referred to the Commission by the President in the interests of sound finance.
- (4) The Commission shall determine their procedure and shall have such powers in the performance of their functions as Parliament may by law confer on them.

# Article 281 - Recommendations of the Finance Commission.

The President shall cause every recommendation made by the Finance Commission under the provisions of this Constitution together with an explanatory memorandum as to the action taken thereon to be laid before each House of Parliament.

# <u>article 282 - Expenditure defrayable by the Union or a State out of its revenues.</u>

The Union or a State may make any grants for any public purpose, notwithstanding that the purpose is not one with respect to which Parliament or the Legislature of the State, as the case may be, may make laws.

The Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951, as Amended by Act 13 of 1955.

Act No. 33 of 1951

An Act

to determine the qualifications requisite for appointment as members of the Finance Commission and the manner in which they shall be selected, and to prescribe their powers.

BE it enacted by Parliament as follows:-

Short title

1. This Act may be called the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951.

Definition

2. In this Act, "the Commission" means the Finance Commission constituted by the President pursuant to clause (1) of Article 280 of the Constitution.

Qualifications for

- 3. The Chairman of the Commission shall be appointment as, and
  the manner of selection selected from among persons who have had experience of members of the
  Commission in public affairs, and the four other members shall in public affairs, and the four other members shall be selected from among persons who -
  - (a) are, or have been, or are qualified to be appointed as Judges of a High Court: or
  - (b) have special knowledge of the finances and accounts of Government; or
  - (c) have had wide experience in financial matters and in administration; or
  - (d) have special knowledge of economics.

Personal interest to disqualify members

4. Before appointing a person to be a member of the Commission, the President shall satisfy himself that that person will have no such financial or other interest as is likely to affect prejudicially his functions as a member of the Commission;

and the President shall also satisfy himself from time to time with respect to every member of the Commission that he has no such interest and any person who is, or whom the President proposes to appoint to be, a member of the Commission shall, whenever required by the President so to do, furnish to him such information as the President considers necessary for the performance by him of his duties under this section.

Disqualifications for being a member of the C amission

- 5. A person shall be disqualified for being appointed as, or for being, a member of the Commission,
  - (a) if he is of unsound mind;
  - (b) if he is an undischarged insolvent;
  - (c) if he has been convicted of an offence involving moral turpitude;
  - (d) if he has such financial or other interest as is likely to affect prejudicially his functions as a member of the Commission.
- Terms of office of members and eligibility for reappointment
  - 6. Every member of the Commission shall hold office for such period as may be specified in the order of the President appointing him, but shall be eligible for re-appointment:

Provided that he may, by letter addressed to the President, resign his office.

Conditions of service and salaries and allowances of members

7. The members of the Commission shall render whole-time or part-time service to the Commission as the President mey in each case specify, and there shall be paid to the members of the Commission such fees or salaries and such allowances as the Central Government may, by rules made in this behalf determine.

Procedure and powers of the Commission

- 8.(1) The Commission shall determine their procedure and in the performance of their functions shall have all the powers of a civil court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1968 while trying a suit in respect of the following matters, namely:-
  - (a) summening and enforcing the attendance of witnesses;
  - (b) requiring the production of any document;
  - (c) requisitioning any public record from any court or office.
- any person to furnish information on such points or matters as in the opinion of the Commission may be useful for, or relevant to, any matter under the consideration of the Commission and any person so required shall, notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (2) of Section 54 of the Indian Income-tax Act, 1922, or in any other law for the time being in force, be deemed to be legally bound to furnish such information within the meaning of section 176 of the Indian Penal Code.
  - (3) The Commission shall be deemed to be a Civil Court for the purposes of sections 480 and 482 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898.

#### Explanation:

For the purposes of enforcing the attendance of witnesses, the local limits of the Commission's jurisdiction shall be the limits of the territory of India.

## ANNEXURE-III

## Correspondence with Union and State Governments

1. Letter No.F.3(12)-FCC/77
dated the 31st July, 1976
from Shri K.W. Row, Joint
Secretary(Budget), Ministry
of Finance (Deptt. of
Economic Affairs) to
Finance Secretaries of all
States.(Copy enclosed as
Annexure III.1, updated
for later references).

Letter No.7 FC 2(1)-Res/77 dated the 28th July, 1977 from Shri R.K. Dar, Joint Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

Letter No.7FC.3(1)-Res/77 dated the 13th October, 1977 from Shri V.B.Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

- 2. Letter No. PC.21(1)-A/77
  dated the 15th April,
  1977 from Shri V.B. Eswaran,
  Officer on Special Duty,
  Ministry of Finance (Deptt.
  of Economic Affairs) to
  Finance Secretaries of all
  States. (Copy enclosed
  as Annexure III.2, without
  its enclosures.
  Letter No.7 FC.4(1)-Res/77
  dated the 18th April, 1978
  from Shri V.B. Eswaran,
  Member Secretary, Finance
  Commission to Finance
  Secretaries of all States
- dated the 7th July, 1977
  from Shri V.B. Eswaran,
  Member Secretary, Finance
  Commission to Finance
  Secretaries of all States.
  (Copy enclosed as Annexure III.3
  without its enclosures).

ŧ

Regarding factual information on 70 Subsidiary Points.

For bringing information uptodate with reference to actuals for 1975-76, preliminary actuals (or actuals, if available) for 1976-77, and the B.E. for 1977-78.

Seeking revised information on Subsidiary Point No.66 concerning financial results of commercial and industrial undertakings.

Forecast of Receipts and expenditures, with explanatory notes.

Seeking Revised and upto date forecastsbased on the B.E. for the year 1978-79 together with the estimated Committed liability in respect of each scheme for each of the years of the forecast under each major head of account.

Communication regarding:

a) terms of reference as set out in Presidential Order of 23rd June, 1977 constituting the

I.3 Commission, and inviting State Goots Memoranda thereon:

- b) forecasts of Capital Account and debt position of the States; and
- c) Views on financing of relief expenditure.

Letter No.7FC.4(1)-Res/77 dated the 18th April, 1978 from Shri V.B. Esweran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States. (cited at serial 2 above) Revised and upto date information based on B.E. for the year 1978-79 about the forecasta of Capital Accounts and debt position of the States.

4. Letter No.7FC.9(1)-Res/77 dated the 26th July, 1977 from Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States. (Copy enclosed as Annexure III.4)

Information about scales of pay, dearness allowance as on 1.1.1977 of the State Government employees etc.

Letter No.7FC.7(7)-Res/77 dt. 5. the 10th August, 1977 from Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Accountants General of all States. (Copy enclosed as Annexure III.5)

Seeking information on State Finances viz. Finance Accounts, Appropriation Accounts and C.& A.G.'s report for 1973-74 and for the latest years.

Letter No.7 FC.7(23)-Res/77 dated the 6th October, 1977 6. from Shri R.K. Dar, Joint Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States. (Copy enclosed as Annexure III.6)

Information regarding judicial administration, jails, police and home guards.

Letter No.7FC.7(23)-Res-77 dated the 14th October, 1977 from Shri M.R. Sivaraman, expenditure for different Director, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

Per capita expenditure on prisoners and also the purposes like jail administration, maintenance of jail buildings, jail industries etc. for the years 1973-74 onwards.

Letter No.7FC.7(23)-Res/77 dated the 7th November, 1977 from Shri M.R. Sivaraman, Director, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

Letter No.7 FC.7(23)-Res/77 dated the 4th January, 1978 from Shri R.K. Dar, Joint Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

Letter No.7 FC.1(8)-Res/77 dated the 7th October, 1977 from Shri M.R. Sivaraman Director, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States (Copy enclosed as Annexure III.7)

# Information regarding:

- a) number of police stations of different types having wireless, telephones and clectricity facilities;
- clectricity facilities;
  b) number of jeeps, lorries,
  trucks etc. at the
  disposal of the civil
  police; and
- c) total number of stationery wireless sets, nobil wireless sets, Walkie-Talkie sets available with civil police.
  Information on the Police Housing Scheme, since its introduction in 1956-57.

Regarding physical data, investments and returns from multi-purpose, major and medium irrigation schemes etc. from 1974-75 to 1983-84

#### Annexure III.1

Letter No.F.3(12)-FCC/77 dated the 31st July, 1976, from Shri K.N. Row, Joint Secretary (Budget), Ministry of Finance (Department of Economic Affairs) to Finance Secretaries of all States (updated for later references).

As you are aware, a Finance Commission is due for appointment sometime early next year. Besides obtaining from the State Government its forecast of revenue receipts and expenditure and Memoranda on various terms of reference, the Commissions, in the past, have generally been requesting the State Government to furnish factual information on certain 'Subsidiary Points' relating to various aspects of the State economy. The collection of information on these 'Subsidiary Points' is a time consuming process and it takes considerable time before the information is received from all States and can be purposefully analysed by the Commission.

- 2. In order that the time of the next Commission may be saved and the factual information on various items may be tabulated for the Commission expeditiously, it is necessary that the State Government activate its various Departments/ agencies well in time before the Commission is set up so that more time can be devoted by the State Finance Department to the preparation of its Memoranda on various terms of reference for submission to the Commission.
- 3. I would, accordingly, request you to kindly take steps to collect information on various aspects of the State economy on the lines of information furnished to the Sixth Finance Commission. For your convenience, I enclose a list of 'Subsidiary Points' on which the Sixth Finance Commission sought information from the State Government during the course of its deliberations. To facilitate compilation of data on a comparable basis for all States, we have drawn up certain performae on the lines indicated in the report of the Sixth Finance Commission.

4. I shall be grateful if you would kindly arrange to furnish the required information, in quadruplicate, to the following address:

Shri P.B. Dhawan, Senior Research Officer, Finance Commission Cell, Budget Division, Department of Economic Affairs, Ministry of Finance, New Delhi.

Since data on various points would have to be consolidated for all States, I would request you

to furnish information on each 'Point' separately, as and when ready, and without waiting for the completion of information on other points.

5. This letter is only a request for advance action before the Commission is constituted. The Commission when set-up, would, no doubt, make a formal request to you for such information as may be needed by it.

#### LIST OF SUPSIDIARY POINTS

#### I. TAXATION

## (i) Land Revenue

(1) Basis and rates of land revenue accessment including surcharge, special rates etc. in 1973-74; changes made during the first 4 years of the Fifth Plan, the existing rates of land revenue assessment (i) for each district, and (ii) minimum and maximum rates for dry, wet or garden lands.

# (ii) Agricultural Income Tax

(2) Pasis and rates of agricultural income tax, if any, on plantations (tea, coffee, rubber and cardamom etc.) and non-plantation crops, in 1973-74 and changes made during the first 3 years of the Fifth Plan, indicating with reference to relevant statutory provisions and the procedures for assessment, the basis of collection, i.e. whether on returns of income or certain flat rates per acre/standard acre.

# (iii) Tax on Urban Immovable Property

(3) Basis and prevailing rates of tax, if any, on non-agricultural land in urban areas in the form of urban land tax or ground rent or premium for conversion of agricultural land to non-agricultural uses.

# (iv) Local taxation on land and buildings

(4) Basis and prevailing rates of local taxation on land and buildings, with a brief account of procedures for valuation of property, assessment and appeal and revision against assessment.

#### (v) Stamps and Registration

(5) Prevailing rates of (i) stamp duties, and (ii) registration fees, with a brief description of arrangements for checking under-valuation of properties for evasion of stamp duty.

#### (vi) Sales Tax

(6) Prevailing rates and salient features of sales tax system in force in the State - single point or multipoint or both -, together with a brief account of the reviews, if any, made of the working of sales tax system and suggestions made for its improvement from time to time.

# (vii) State excise duties

(7) Pasis and prevailing rates of State excise duties.

# (viii) Taxes on motor vehicles and passengers and roods

(8) Basis and prevailing rates of taxation on motor vehicles and taxes on passengers and goods.

# (ix) Electricity Duties

(1) Dasis and prevailing rates of duties on consumption/sale of electricity.

#### (x) Entertainement tax

(10) Basis and prevailing rates of entertainment tax, cinema show tax and betting tax.

# (xi) Other texes and duties

(11) Basis and prevailing rates of Profession Tax. Other taxes, if any, yielding a revenue of %.50 lakes or more per annum may please be listed separately, together with the basis and prevailing rates of each tax.

#### (xii) <u>Cesses</u>

(12) Particulars of cesses levied by the State Government. Basis and prevailing rates of levy of each cess. Whether transferred to local bodies or spent directly by the State Government. Powers, if any, of local bodies to levy similar cesses over and above those levied by the State Government.

#### II. RATES AND TARTEES

#### (i) Irrigation Rates

(13) Basis and existing rates of charges for irrigation from Government sources, the rates for each source and for different types of land/crops being shown separately. Please indicate whether there is any minimum fixed charge for use of irrigation facilities. Details of changes made in irrigation rates during each of the years of the Fifth Plan, indicating likely yield from these revisions in part of the year in which the measure has been undertaken and also the yield in a full year.

#### (ii) Electricity Tariffs

(14) Basis and existing average rates of electricity tariffs/duty for power supply to various categories of users and for different purposes in the proforma enclosed. Please indicate when last revision in rates took place in respect of each category. (Proforma I).

## (iii) Bus Fares

(15) Dasis and existing rates of bus fares by distance travelled/stages for single or return journeys separately for (a) State Road Transport Corporation buses; (b) Departmentally run buses; and (c) private buses on various routes. Separate information may be given for (a) passengers and (b) goods. These indicate when last revision in rates took place in respect of each category.

## III. ADDITIONAL RESOURCE MOBILISATION

- (16) Statement giving the details of measures of additional taxation implemented by the State Government during each of the years of the Fourth Plan and the first 4 years of the Fifth Plan with their yields during each year and over the Plan periods as a whole.
- (17) Statement giving the details of tax concessions given by the State Government during each of the years of the Fourth Plan and the first 4 years of the Fifth Plan with the estimated loss in revenue during each year and over the Plan periods as a whole.
- (18) Statement giving the details of revision of electricity tariffs and bus fares by the State Electricity Board and the State Road Transport Corporation respectively, during each of the years of the Fourth Plan and the first 4 years of the Fifth Plan with the yield, net of concessions, if any, during each year and over the Plan periods as a whole.
- (IV) Economy Measures and Administrative Re-organisation
- (19) A broad appraisal of economy measures implemented by the State Government from 1971-72 onwards.
- (20) Important measures of administrative re-organisation, if any, carried out during the years from 1971-72 onwards; the basic objectives of such schemes of re-organisation and their impact on the finances of the State Government.
- (V) Efficiency in Collection of Taxes and Loans due to Government
- (21) The position of arrears in collection of (i) land revenue, (ii) agricultural income tax, (iii) sales tax, (iv) electricity duties and (v) other tax and non-tax revenue during each year from 1971-72 onwards with a detailed statement showing in respect of each of these sources of revenue (i) the arrears outstanding at the beginning of each year, (ii) the demand for the year, (iii) the amounts collected during the year, (iv) the amounts remitted or written off during the year, and (v) the balance carried forward to the subsequent year. (As in Proforma II enclosed).
- (22) Position of Takkavi and land improvement loans with a detailed statement showing (i) the arrears of demand outstanding at the beginning of each year from 1971-72 onwards, (ii) the demand for the year, (iii) the amounts collected during the year, (iv) the amounts remitted or written off during the year, and (v) the overdue arrears at the end of the year.
- (23) Position in respect of direct loans by the State Government to industries under enactments such as State aid to Industries Act, with detailed Statements showing (i) the arrears of demand outstanding at the beginning of each year from 1971-72 onwards, (ii) the demand for the year,

(iii) the amounts collected during the year, (iv) the amounts remitted or writen-off during the year, and (v) the overdue arrears at the end of the year.

# VI. State's Budgetary Position

- (24) A statement showing total receipts and expenditure on revenue account, receipts and disbursements on capital account and surplus or deficit on revenue account and capital account during the years from 1971-72 to 1976-77. This statement should also show how the overall deficit, if any, during each year was financed, i.e. whether by liquidation of securities, withdrawal from cash balance, increase in floating debt or by resort to overdrafts from the Reserve Bank in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma III)
- (25) A statement showing details of States' budgetary position on revenue account from 1971-72 chwards as in proforma enclosed. (Proforma IV).
- (26) A statement showing details of States' budgetary position on capital account from 1971-72 onwowds as in proforma enclosed (Proforma V).
- (27) A statement showing details of the grants received from the Central Government from 1971-72 onwards as in proforma enclosed. (Proforma VI).
- (28) Matching or ad hoc grants received from statutory or non-statutory todies, e.g., the National Co-operative Development and Warehousing Board, the Indian Council of Agricultural Research, the Indian Central Cotton Committee, the Indian Central Jute Committee, the Handloom Board etc. during the years 1971-72 onwards, showing separately (i) the gross expenditure on account of Plan and non-Plan schemes financed by such grants. (ii) the pattern and duration of the grants.
- (29) A statement showing from 1971-72 onwards the amounts transferred to and from any reserve funds with explanations as to the nature and purpose of those funds.
- (30) Statement showing expenditure in connection with famine and natural calamities in each of the years from 1971-72 onwards and the amount of assistance received from the Centre towards expenditure as grants and leans, by way of supply of foodgrains at concession prices or otherwise. Please indicate whether such assistance was received as (i) part of Plan assistance; and/or (ii) non-Plan assistance.
- (31) Receipts, payments and balances in the State Road Fund, the famine and natural calamities fund and other reserve funds for each of the years from 1971-72 onwards.

- (32) A statement showing position regarding receipts and disbursements under important Deposit Heads in the Public Account of the State Government as in proforma enclosed. (Proforma VII)
- (33) A statement showing assets and liabilities of the State Government at the end of each year from 1971 onwards in proforma enclosed. (Froforma VIII)
- (34) Details of transactions on account of short-terms loans from the Centre for fertilisers etc. as in the enclosed proforma. (Proforma IX)

# VII. Revision of Pay Scales, Dearness Allowance etc.

- (35) Please indicate total number of State Government employees, teachers and employees of local bodies in the different pay ranges as in the enclosed proforma (Proforma X)
- (36) Please furnish information in regard to pur scales, D.A. and other allowances of various categories of employees, with special reference to posts listed in the enclosed proforma.

  (Proforma XI)
  - (37) Please furnish separate statements showing expenditure over the Fourth and Fifth Plan periods, on account of revision of pay and dearness and other allowances of (i) State employees, (ii) employees of local authorities and (iii) teachers of aided institutions; (iv) employees of other quasi-Government bodies in each of the years from 1969-70 to 1976-77 in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XII)
  - (38) flease furnish a brief note describing the changes in dearness allowances and pay scales and indicating the dates from which the changes became effective. The estimates should include grants to educational institutions, local bodies, etc. towards meeting the cost of increases in dearness allowances, pay revisions, etc. for their employees. The estimated net accretion to provident funds in different years on account of crediting a part of the additional dearness allowances etc. to the employees' provident fund accounts may also be indicated. The effect of the increase in the case of the quasi-Government bodies may be indicated separately.

# VIII. Norms for maintenance of Capital assets

- (39) A brief appraisal of prevailing norms, if any, which the State Government have prescribed or follow in the regulation of expenditure on maintenance of various types of buildings as in the proforma enclosed, (Proforma XIII)
- (40) Please furnish figures relating to the capital cost of buildings constructed during specified periods and actual cost of maintenance of such buildings from 1971-72 onwards as in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XIV)

- (41) A brief appraisal of prevailing norms, if any, which the State Government have prescribed or follow in the regulation of expenditure on maintenance of various types of reads as in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XV)
- (42) Please indicate figures relating to kilometrage of roads of different classes and traffic intensity and the actual cost of maintenance of such roads from 1971-72 onwards as in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XVI)
- (43) A brief appraisal of prevailing norms, if any, which the State Government have prescribed or follow in the regulation of expenditure on maintenance of various types of irrigation works major, medium and minor with their net-work of canals, indicating the liability, if any, of the beneficiaries of irrigation for maintenance of field channels under the regulations in force.
- (44) Please indicate figures relating to net area irrigated by Government sources as in the proforma enclosed, (Proforma XVII)
  - (45) A brief appraisal of the norms, if any, which the State Government have prescribed or follow in regulating provisions for medicines and diet in respect of (i) teaching and other major hospitals, (ii) District headquarters hospitals, (iii) Hospitals at Tehsil level, (iv) Primary Health Centres, and (v) rural dispensaries etc. as in the proforma enclosed, (Proforma AVIII)

#### IX. Standards of Aministration

- (46) Please indicate figures relating to levels of expenditure on certain specified administrative and social services from 1971-72 onwards as in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XIX)
- (47) Please indicate strength of establishment under (1) General administration, (2) Justice, and (3) Jails as on Ist of April, 1971 onwards.
- (48) Please indicate strength of establishment under Police with separate figures for armed police, border police (where such police is maintained separately) homeguards, Prantiya Raksha Dal etc. as on Ist of April, 1971 onwards.
- (49) Please indicate number of primary schools; pupils and teachers therein as on Ist April, 1971 onwards showing the additional strength of pupils in these schools together with the age group.
- (50) Please indicate number of hospitals and dispensaries; total number of beds, nurses, doctors, and mid-wives rural and urban separately as on 1st April, 1971 onwards.
- (51) Please furnish a brief note indicating major schemes for the welfare of scheduled castes, scheduled tribes and other backward classes together with annual expenditure on each scheme from 1971-72 onwards.

# X. Working results of State enterprises and other autonomous bodies

- (52) Please list out the names of autonomous enterprises Corporations etc. set up by the State Government with brief notes on their functions and petivities. Please indicate from 1971-72 onwards the capital base and the budgetary support, revenue as well as capital, extended by the State Government and the amount of interest/dividend acrued/actually paid to the State Government by each enterprise/Corporation.
- (53) Please indicate progressive total investment of the State Government in public sector undertakings as in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma AA)

# (i) State Electricity Board

- (54) Please indicate financial results of the working of the State Electricity Poard in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XXI)
- (55) Total progressive investment in power projects, as at the end of each year from 1971-72 to 1974-75 and estimated at the end of 1975-76 and 1976-77 separately for the various systems of power generation e.g. steam, hydro, diesel etc.
- (56) Average cost of power per unit (kwh) produced under various systems of power generation e.g. steam, hydro, diesel etc., separately and also all the systems taken together during the years 1971-72 to 1976-77.
- (57) Average revenue in paisa per unit (kwh) realised from power sold -
  - (a) within the State, and
  - (b) outside the State

for each of the years from 1971-72 to 1976-77.

- (58) Receipts from electricity duty for the years 1971-72 to 1976-77 together with break-up as follows:
  - (a) on power sold by the State Electricity Board;
  - (b) on power sold by departmental electricity undertakings including electricity portion of multi-purpose river valley project etc.;
  - (c) on sale of power purchased from other State/Systems; and
  - (d) on sale of power by private generators etc. For this purpose, aggregate revenue from electricity duties may be split up in proportion to the number of units sold under each category.
- (59) Yearwise position from 1971-72 onwards regarding the estimated level of losses in power transmission/distribution etc. and steps taken by the State Government/State Electricity doard to minimise such losses.

- (60) Brief note may kindly be furnished on norms, if any, used by the State Electricity Board in projecting its receipts and expenditures for purposes of the budget and for formulation of the forecast to be furnished to the Planning Commission in connection with Annual Plans.
- (61) Yearwise position from 1971-72 onwards regarding arrears of interest outstanding from the State Electricity Board on loans from the State Government.
- (62) Estimated investment in Rural Electrification Works out of the total Block Capital (at the beginning of each year) of the State Electricity Board for each year beginning from 1971-72 to 1976-77.
- (63) Kilowats of energy generated in each of the years beginning from 1971 by (i) State undertakings (excluding purchases from other systems and (ii) private undertakings with indications of the progress of rural electrification programme from 1971-72 to 1976-77.

#### (ii) State Road Transport Corporation

(64) Financial results of State Road Transport Corporation (or State Road Transport Department where the transport services are run departmentally) in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma AXII)

# (iii) Irrigation Projects

(65) Financial results of major irrigation projects during Fourth Plan and the first 3 years of the Fifth Plan with a brief indication of capital outlay, running costs and revenue derived each year, utilisation of irrigation potential and other direct and indirect benefits of the project.

## (iv) Other Commercial and Industrial undertakings

(66) Financial results of other State Commercial and Industrial undertakings for which commercial accounts are maintained in the proforma enclosed. (Proforma XXIII)

#### XI. Local Bodies

(67) Revenue of local bodies and expenditure incurred by them in each of the years from 1971-72 onwards; grants received from State Government being indicated separately together with a brief account of powers of taxation available to the local bodies urban and rural - and the extent of utilisation of such powers by them.

#### XII. Agrarian Reforms

(68) Progress of agrarian reforms in the State; their effect on revenue and expenditure, production of foodgrains and commercial crops during the years 1971-72 onwards.

#### XIII. General

- (69) A note on the arrangements for preparation and collection of statistics relating to State income and consumption data regarding commodities subject to Union Excise Duties.
- (70) A note on the arrangements for preparation of an 'Economic and functional classification of the State Budget'. Please also indicate, progress, if any, in the preparation of performance budget.

#### SUBSIDIARY POINT 14

#### PROFORMA I

State:		

Average rates of Electricity Supply and Electricity Duty for different categories of Consumers.

				Ave:	e in P/KV!	
Catego	ry of Consumers	KWH/ month	Rate	Duty Tax	lotal	Enforced wit effect from
	1,	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.
(b)	estic Lights and fans Heat and Small powe Combined load	(30) r (100) (130)				
(a) (b)	mercial Lights and fans Heat and Small powe Combined load	(200) r (400) (600)				
	icultural purposes HP, 15% L.F.)	(817)				
	ll Scale Industries (KW, 20% L.F.)	(1460)				
5. Med (50	lium Industries ) KW, 30% L.F.)	(10,950)				
6. Laz	rge Industry I 50 KW, 40% L.F.)	(73,000)				
7. Lan	rge Industry II 000 KW, 50% L.F.)	(365,000)				
B. Hed (50	avy Industry 000, KW, 60% L.F.)	(2,190,000)				
9. Pul	olic Lighting					
LO. Sur ou (a (b	oplies to consumers tside the State. ) Inter Board Suppie ) Supplies to other Governments ) Others : The average rates	·				

1. Power factor may be assumed at '0.85'.

2. Wherever in the case of H.T. Industrial rates fuel surcharge is levied, the fuel surcharge, as per latest available information, may be indicated separately.

3. All the H.T. Industrial rates may be worked out considering a

supply voltage of 11 KV.

4. Prompt payment rebate, wherever given, may be taken into account.

#### SUBSIDIARY POINT 21

#### PROFORMA II

STATE:	
	 7 - T

#### Arrears of Taxes/Non-Tax Revenues

 					_crores	
1971-	1972-	1973-	1974-	1975-	1976-77	1977-78
72	73	74	75	76	Proli-	6. E.
Act-	Act-	Act-	Act-	Act-	minary	
uals	uals	uals	uals	uals	Actuals	
1	2.	3.	4.	5.	6,	7,

# A. Tax Revenues

- Land Revenue
  - (a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year
  - (b) the demand for the year
  - (c) the amount collected during the year
  - (d) the amount remitted or written off during the year
  - (e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year
- 2. Agricultural Income-tax
- (a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year
- (b) the domand for the year
- (c) the amount collected during the year
- (d) the amount remitted or written off during the year
- (e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year
- 3. Salas Tax
  - (a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year
  - (b) the demand for the year
  - (c) the amount collected during the year
  - (d) the amount remitted or written off during the year
  - (e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year
- 4. Electricity Duties
- (a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year
- (b) the demand for the year
- (c) the amount collected during the year
- (d) the amount remitted or written off during the year
- (e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year
- 5. Other taxes and duties (Please specify important items)
  Total A

# PROFORMA II (Continued)

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.

## B. Non-tax Ravenues

- 1. Interest
  - (a) From State Electricity Board
  - (b) Other (with broad details)
- 2. Other non-tax revenue
   (Please specify
   important items)

Total - B

#### SUBSIDIARY POINT 24

#### PROFORMA III

•	State:								
a.	Overall Budgeta	(Rs. lakhs)							
	1971-	1972-	1973-	1974-			1977-		
			74				78		
						Proli-	B. E.		
	uals	uals	uals	uals	uals	minary Actuals			
Commence of the commence of th	1.	2,	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.		

- I. Revenue Receipts
- II. Rovenue Expenditure
- III. Surplus(+) or Deficit(-) on Revenue Account (I-II)
- IV. Capital Receipts
- V. Capital Disbursements
- VI. Surplus(+) or Deficit(-) on Capital Account
- VII. Overall Surplus(+) or Deficit(-) (III+VI)

#### Financed by:-

- (a) Drawing on Cash balances
- (b) Sale of Treasury bills
- (c) Sale of other uncarmarked securities
- (d) Increase in ways and means advances from R.B.I.
- (e) Increase in Over-draft
- (f) Special accommodation from Centre, if any

## Total (a-f)

# SUPSIDIARY POINT 25

# PROFORMA IV

	State¹s Budgeta	ry Pos:	ition -	Rever	na kod	ount				
		Stato!								
							(Ps. lakha)			
	`	72	73	74	75	76 Abbu		1977-73 B. E.		
		1,	2.	3.	4.		6	7.		
<b>Α.</b>	Rovenue Receipts  1. Share in Central taxes  2. State Tax Revenues  3. Non-Tax Revenues  4. Grents from Centre (a) Plan (b) Non-Plan  5. Transfer from Funds									
	Total Revenue Roccipts - A									
8∙	Expenditure on Revenue Account  1. Non-Developmental Expenditure  (i) Interest payments  (a) Central Government  (b) Others  (ii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt  (iii)Other Non-Developmental expenditure									
	Total - Non-Devolopmental  2. Developmental Expenditure (a) Plan (b) Non-Plan									
	Total - Developmental									
	3. Committed Expenditure on Plan.									

- Committed Expenditure on Plan Schemes
- 4. Transfer to Funds
- Total Expenditure on Revenue
  Account B
- C. Surplus or Deficit on Revenue Account (A-B)

## SUBSIDIARY POINT 26

<u> </u>	RO FO RM	A V		00.00			
State's Budgetary Position	- Capi	tal Ac	count		State:	<del></del>	
						(Rs. lakh:	3)
	72 Accts	73 Accts	74 Accts	75 Accts	76 Actu- als	minary Actuals	8. 5.
	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	3.	4.	5	6.	7,
A. Capital Receipts  I. Internal Debt  1. Market Loans  2. Loans from LIC  3. Loans from SBI and other Banks  4. Loans from National Agricultura	nc' o						
Total - II							
III. Recovery of Loans and Advances  IV. Inter-State Settlement (net)							
V. Contingency Fund (net)							
VI. Public Account  1. State Provident Funds (net)  2. Reserve Funds (net)  3. Deposits and Advances (net)  4. Suspense and Miscellaneous (net)  5. Remittances (net)  Total - VI							
VII. Total - Capital Recoipts - A							

## PROFORM V (Continued)

(Rs. lakhs)

1971- 1972- 1973- 1974- 1975- 1976--77 1977-78

72 73 74 75 76 Preli- 8.E.

Accis.Accis.Accis.Accis.Acis- minary

213 Actuals

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.

#### B. Capital Disbursoments

- I. Capital Outlay
  - (a) Developmental
    - (i) Plan
    - (ii) Non-Plan
  - (b) Non-Developmental
    - (i) Plan
    - (ii) Non-Plan

## II. Discharge of Internal Debt

- 1. Market Loans
- 2. Loans from LIC
- 3. Loans from SBI and other Banks
- 4. Loans from National Agricultural Credit (Long-term Operations Fund)
- 5. Loans from National Co-operative Development Corporation
- 6. Others
- III. Repayment of Loans to the Centre
- IV. Loans and Advances by State
  Government
  - (a) Plan
  - (b) Non-Plan
  - V. Appropriation to Contingency Fund
- VI. <u>Total Capital Disbursements 8</u>

Plan Non—Plan

C. Surplus(+) or Deficit(-) on Capital Account (A-B)

## SUBSIDIARY POINT 27

PRO	FORMA	VI
-----	-------	----

State:

## Grants from the Contral Government

(Risa Lakts) 1971-- 1972-- 1973-- 1974-- 1975-- 1976-77 1977-78 73 74 75 76 Proli- B.E. Accts.Accts.Accts.Accts.Actu- minary als Actuals

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.

## I. Plan Grants

- (a) State Plan
- (b) Centrally Sponsored Schemes
- (c) Contral Plan Schemes

Total - I

## I. Non-Plan grants

- 1. Statutory
  (a) Under Substantive Provisions of Article 275
  - (b) Under Provises to Article 275
- 2. Grants in lieu of Railway Passenger fares
- 3. Other non-Plan grants (Please specify each grant separately)
  - l.
  - 2.
  - 3.

Total - II

I. Grand Total

		IFORMA VI		State:	(Rs. lakhs)	
above or •	and the state of t		nn 3lat	March of e		
		1971	1972	19731974_	<u> 1975   1976   197</u>	
,	and the state of t		<u> </u>	34 42	5. 6. 7.	<u> </u>
1.	Deposits of Deprociation Reserves of Government Commercial concerns					
	<ul> <li>(a) Kept with State Government</li> <li>(b) Kept with banking and financial institutions including liquid, cash and investments in shares etc.</li> </ul>					
2.	Electricity Board Deposits					
	(a) (b)					
3.	Housing Board Deposits					
	(a) (b)					
4.	Deposits of Small Industries Corporation					
	(a) (b)					
5.	Deposits of Agro-Industries Corporation					
	(a) (b)					
6•	Doposits of Khadi and Villago Industries Board					
	(a) (b)					
7.						
	(a) (b)					

8. Other deposits (Please specify details by major categories)

(a) (b)

S	UE	S	10	IL	ĸR۱	/ F	01	N	T 3	53
_	_	-	_	-		_	~~	-		

STATES	 B. F	 	
	 B. F	 	

Monats and Listilizios of the State Government as on 31st March or each year

. (fs. latins)

1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1975 1977

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 5. 7.

## h. Liabilities

- 1. Due to Government of India
- 2. Open market loans
- 3. Land compensation bends
- 4. Floating Luans
- 5. Other loans
- 5. State Provident Funds
- 7. Other Deposits

Total - A

#### 9. Assets

- 1. Leans advanced (due to Government)
- 2. Loans to Electricity Boards
- 3, Other assets
- 4. Cash balancas
- 5. Investments:
  - (a) In securities
    - (i) Earmanked
    - (ii) Ungarmarked
  - (b) Other investments

Total - B

Note: - Dutails may be given whorever available by Major items only.

## SUBSIDIARY POTRT 54

## PROFORMA IX

				State	31		
Transact Centra f	ions on c	occount d	of Short-	-torm Los	ins from	tha	
						<b>(</b> 5. 234)	٠٤)
	1971-72	1972-73	1973-74	1974-75	1975-76	1975-77	1977-73
	hctuals	hctuals	ńctuals	hctuals	Actuals	Proli- minary Actuals	B. E.
	1,	2.	3.	4.	<u>5</u> ,	6	7.

- l. Short-term loans from Centre for fertilizers, etc.
- 2. Disbursement of loans to cultivators, etc. on account of item 1 above.
- 3. Recoveries from cultivators etc. on account of 2 above.
- 4. Rapayment of shortterm loans to Contra.

# PROFORMA X-A (Added vide letter No. 7 F.C. 9(1)-Res/77 dated 26.7.77)

Subsidiary Point No. 35
State

Number of State Government employees, teachers and employees of local bodies (including Kided Institutions)

<u>As on 31st March</u> 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976 1977

```
A. State Covernment employees
  Below Rs. 201/-
  Rs. 201/- and above but below Rs. 251/-
      251/- "
  Rs.
                " " " : Rs. · 301/--
      301/- "
  is.
                  17
                      11
                           " Rs. 401/-
  Rs. 401/- "
Rs. 501/- "
Rs. 701/- "
                  28
                      11
                           " - Rs. 5G1/-
                         " Rs. 701/-
                 11
                      Ħ
                11
                      n
                         " Rs. 901/-
                11
  Rs. 901/- "
                    " " Rs. 1001/-
  Rs. 1001/- "
                " " Rs. 1201/-
  Rs. 1201/- " " Rs. 1601/-
  Rs. 1601/- " " " Rs. 1601/-
                      " Rs. 2001/-
  Rs. 1801/- "
                      tr # Rs. 2251/-
  Rs. 2001/- " "
  Rs. 2251/- and above.
B. Teachers
  Below Rs. 201/-
  Rs. 201/- and above but below Rs. 251/-
               tf 12 ff
           11
  Rs. 251/-
                              Rs. 301/-
                 11
                      11
  Rs. 301/-
                              Rs. 401/-
                17
           79
                         11 Rs. 501/-
                      17
  Rs. 401/-
               11
           17
                    76
                         " Rs. 701/-
  Rs. 501/-
           " " Rs. 901/-
  Rs. 701/-
           " " " Rs. 1001/-
  Na. 901/-
           " " Rs. 1201/-
  ns.1001/<del>-</del>
           # " " Rs. 1501/-
  Rs. 1201/-
           f1 11
  ƙs. 1601/<del>-</del>
                              Rs. 1801/-
                           " Rs. 2001/-
  Rs. 1801/-
                      18
                           11 Is. 2251/-
            11 11
                      Ħ
  Rs. 2001/-
  Rs. 2251/- and abovo.
C. Employees of Local Bodies including Aided Institutions
   Balow Rs. 201/-
  Rs. 201/- and above but below Rs. 251/-
             " " " " " Rs. 301/-
  Rs. 251/-
                  11
                      Ħ
             11
  Ro. 301/-
                           " Rs. 401/-
            11 11
  Rs. 401/-
                      11
                           " Rs. 501/-
            11
               11 . 17
  Rs. 501/~
                             Rs. 701/~
                      11
  Rs. 701/-
                         11
                               Rs. 901/-
                         tt
            11
               11
                      11
  Rs. 901/-
                               Rs. 1001/-
            11
                17
                     11 11
  fis. 1001/-
                              Rs. 1201/-
                         . #
                  11
             **
  fs. 1201/-
                      11
                              Rs. 1601/~
                          !1
  Rs. 1601/-
             Ħ
                 11
                      tř
                              Rs. 1801/-
             Ħ
                 11
                      11
                         " . Ks. 2001/-
  Rs. 1801/-
                17
                         " Rs. 2251/-
             13
                      11
  rs. 2001/-
  Rs. 2251 and ahove.
```

PROFORMA I-8 (Added vide letter No. Trc. 9(2)-Res/77, dated 22/7/78)

Rotes of Dearness Allowance in

Index Pry clabs on which Devates are relationed level to up to \$.300 \$.301-900 \$.901-1250 \$.1251-1600 Above \$.1600

Pay is related.

## 1. P.4. /A. D.A. sq 00 1.1.1977

- (a) Rates (s)
- (b) Amount (b)

## 2. Beke the has at present

- (a) Rates (A)
- (b) Amount (b)
- 5. MG. of employees being compensated through Pay and D.A. by the State Government(Numbers) as on 31.3.1977 s-
  - (a) State Covt. employees
  - (b) Tempers in mided Institutions
  - (a) Employees of Local Hodies

[.] Plane include interia relief. DA.LDA or other form of compensation given for increase in the cost of living.

et The State Govt, may kindly indicate the bose and the components of the Days like Basic Lay, Desrbess Fay on which the R.L. rates given above applied.

## SUBSIDIARY FOINT 36

#### IROFORMA XI

CI	Ŋ,	ηı	Ţ,
. O. I	- 5)	· I	::>

## Pay and Allowances of Government employees

 Minipum					Neximus				
Besic Lay	D.A.		allo- wances	Eco-	Pay	D.A.	HRA	Other Total I allo- Emo- i wances (with detai- ls)	Dat fro nia ef eti
 1	2	<b>2</b> _	4	_5	_6	1	<u>8</u> .	2_10_1	<u> </u>

## Revenue Administration

- 1. Lekhpal/Tatwari/
  village accountant
- 2. Revenue Inspector
- Naib-Tehsildar/ Deputy Tehsildar
- 4. Tehsildar
- 5. Sub-deputy Collector
- 6. Deputy Collector
- 7. Additional Collector/ Joint Collector/ Distt. Revenue Officer.

## Police Administration

- i. Constable
- 2. Head Constable
- 3. Assistant Inspector/ Sub-Inspector
- 4. Inspector
- 5. Deputy Superintendent of Folice

## Civil Judiciary

- 1. Nunsiis
- 2. Civil Judges/Sub-Judges
- 3. Civil & Sessions Judges
- 4. District Judges

#### Education

- 1. Teachers in Trimary Schools (trained/untrained)
- 2. Teachers in Middle Level Schools (trained/untrained)
- 3. Assistant Master in Govt. High Schools(trained/untrained)/ B.T. Assistants.
- 4. Headraster of Govt. High Schools/Aided Institutions.

## FROFORMA XI (Continued)

2 3 4 5 6 7 3 9 10 11

## Engineering Services

- i. Deploma holders (overseers/supervisors/ junior engineers)
- 2. Degree-holders/ Assistant Engineers)
- 3. Executive Engineers
- 4. Superintending Engineers

#### Secretariat and other Office Establishments

- 1 Orderly/Teon/Jamadars
- 2. Junior/Rousine Grade Clerks
- J. L.D. Cs.
- 4. U.D.C s.
- 5. Stenographers/I.As.
- 6. Assistant Superintendents
- 7. Superintendents/ Section Officers.

## Medical & Health Staff

- i. Nursing Orderlies
- 'a Nurses
- 3. Compounders
- 4. Thermacist/Laboratory Technicians/Radiographers etc.
- 5. Social Worker/Health Visitor
- 6. Civil Assistant Surgeon
- 7. Civil Surgeon

## Agriculture

- . Fieldman
- 2. Agricultural Demonstrator/ Extension Officer (Graduates in Agriculture)
- 3. District Agricultural Officer.

## Animal Husbandry

- 1, Live Stock Inspector/Assistent
- 2. Veterinary Assistant Surgeons (Graduates in Veterinary Science)
- 3. District Veterinary Officers/ Live Stock Officers

## Forest Department

- i. Forest Guards
- 2. Forester
- 3. Assistant Ranger
- 4. Ranger
- 5. District Forest Officer.

## SUBSIDIARY POINT 37

## PROFORMA XII

	<del></del>		-	State	:		<del></del>
Expenditure on accoun-	t of in	crease i	Dearne	ss Allow	ances _		
and Revision of						,	
					(As. le	khs)	
	1971-72	1972-73	1973-74	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	Estimated
		Actuals					cost over
					mete	nate	the 5th
• .		•				1.	Plan
					<del>-</del>		period.
		2		4	_ 5	6	7
A Don't day to Do was A773							
A. Revision in Dearness Allo	ow <u>anc</u> e						
1, Increases in 1969-70							
2. Increases in 1970-71							
3. Increases in 1971-72							
(a) Orders issued and							
implemented upto 1.1	1.1972						
(b) Orders issued and							
implemented from 1.1.1972 to 31.3.197	76						
4. Increases in 1972-73	12						
5. Increases in 1973-74							
Total: (1 - 5)							
6. Increases in 1974-75							
7. Increases in 1975-75							
8. Encreases in 1976-77							
Total: $(6+7+8)$							
A. Favigion in other allowa	noda						
1. Increases in 1969-70	H-1219						
2. Increases in 1970-7!							
3. Increases in 1971-72							
(a) Orders issued and							
implemented upto 1.1.19	972						
(b) Orders issued and							
implemented from							
1.1.1972 to 31.3.1972.							
4. Increases in 1972-73							
5. Increases in 1973-74							
Total: (1 - 5)							
6. Increases in 1974-75 7. Increases in 1975-76							
6. Increases in 1975-76							
Total : (6+7+3)							
C. Revision in Tay Scales							
1. Increases in 1969-70 2. Increases in 1970-71							
3. Increases in 1970-77							
(a) Orders issued and							
implemented upto 1.1.197	72						
(b) Orders issued and							
implemented from 1.1.72	2 to 31.	<b>.3.</b> 72					
4. Increases in 1972-73							
5. Increases in 1973-74							
<u>Total : (1 - 5)</u>							

## PROFORMA XII (Continued)

- 6. Increases in 1974-757. Increases in 1975-768. Increases in 1976-77

Total: (6+7+8)

D. Grand Total

#### PROFORMA XII-A

TOTAL WAGE BILL
(Added vide letter No. 7FC-9(1)-Res/77 dated 26.7.77)

State _____ Expenditure incurred on different categories of employees State Government Teachers Employees of Local Casual Tot Bodies and Aided employees* employees ø_ Institutions (4) (1) (2) (5 (3) 1972-73 Expenditure on 1. Pay 2. D.A. 3. H.R.A. 4. C.C.A. 5. Other Allowances 6. Total <u> 1973-74</u> Expenditure on 1. Pay 2. D.A. 3. H.R.A. 4. C.C.A. 5. Other Allowances 6. Total 1974-75 Expenditure on 1. Pay 2. D.A. 3. H. R. A. 4. C.C.A. 5. Other Allowances 6. Total 1975-76 Expenditure on 1. Pay 2. D.A. 3. H.R.A. 4. C.C.A. 5. Cther Allowances 6. Total <u> 1976--77</u> Expenditure on (Actuals) 1. Pay 2. D.A. 3. H.R.A.

4. C.C.A.

6. Total

5. Other Allowances

## PROFORMA XII-A(Conted)

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)

1. Pay 2. D.A. 3. H.R.A. 4. C.C.A. 5. Other Allowances 6. Total 1978-79 (Estimates) 1. Pay

- 2. D. A.
- 3. H.R.A.
- 4. C.C.A.
- 5. Other Allowances
- 6. Total
- @ Please specify categories.
- * In the case of casual employees, if they are paid only on a lump sum basis per diem or month then, the total amount paid may please be indicated.
- NOTE : Break up of the above amount into Plan & Non-Plan may also please be given.

#### PROFORMA XII - 2 (Addod vide letter No.7FC-9(2)-Res/77 dated 22/7/78)

## Financial implications of revisions in pays DA etc. during 1074-79.

		L					
Rature of revision Pay D. A. etc.	#stimeted total cost during the period 1974-79 of the revisions in pay, DA undertaken between 31.3.1974 and 1.1.1977. (b. lakhs)	Revisions No. and date of issue of orders	Date of effect	8 £.ஐவும்	1.1, 1977 in chro al inplications in full year	nological order iu_ lekha] 1974—79	1979-04 (forecrat)
		3	4	5	6	7	_ 8
(a) Luz.		7					

- (b) D.A./A.D.A./I.R.
- (c) Other allowances (Flease specify the allowance)

^{1.} Please enclose a copy each of the orders issued.

^{2.} Major headwise break-up of increases sanctioned after 1.1.1977 may please be furnished, if not already sent.

^{3.} In case there is a Pay Commission/Committee presently looking into the pay scales etc. of the State Covernment employees, a copy or the Resolution/order indicating the terms of reference of the Commission/Committee may please be sent. Likely date of submission of the Report may also please be indicated, if possible.

	PROFORMA XIII				POINT 32
<u>M</u> a	intenance Norms for buil	l <u>dinga n</u> a	percentage	of Capital	
			۔ ۔ ۔ ج ج ج ۔	,,	(Percent)
		Upto	Buildings co From 43 1.4.1948 to 31.3.1962	From 1.4.1962 to	to
		1	2		4
I.	Residential buildings (permanent)				
	1. Ordinary repairs 2. Special repairs				
IIa	Secretariat blocks				
	<ol> <li>Ordinary repairs</li> <li>Special repairs</li> </ol>	•			
ΪΙΙ.	Other Non-residential buildings(permanent)				
	<ol> <li>Ordinary repairs</li> <li>Special repairs</li> </ol>				
IV.	Temporary Buildings				
٧.	Electrical Installation	18			
	A. Residential				
	<ul><li>1. Annual repairs</li><li>2. Special repairs</li><li>(a) With fans</li><li>(b) Without fans</li></ul>				
B. No	n-regidential				

1. Annual repairs
2. Special repairs.

## PROFORMA XIV

<u>ชึกหิสา</u> ธ	TV KA BOINT 40
State	

Capital cutlay	o <u>n build</u> i	ngs and e	ost of	ma <u>inten</u> a	n ce	(Rs. lakhs)	
Cepital cost of Buildings constructed	~		Cos	t of Mai			
	1971-72 1	972-73 19 ctuals Ac	73-74 19	974-75 1 ctuals A	975-76 1 ctuals P	976-77 re: Actuals	1977-78 B. F.
						_6	

- 1. Upto 31.3.1948
- 2. From 1.4.1948 to 31.3.1962
- 3. From 1.4.1962 to 31.3.1974
- 4. In 1974-75
- 5. In 1975-76

Total

- NOTE: Under a later telex additional information was asked for, on the following points:
  - (i) Break up of cost of buildings of various age groups into
    (a) residential (b) non-residential, each of these further divided into permanent and temporary.
  - (ii) capital cost of electric construction for the above categories.
  - (iii) Information may be furnished upto 1978-79.

## SUBSIDIARY POINT 41

## PROFORM, XV

(a)	<u>Norma</u>	for M	ainten	ance o	f State	High	Wavs	Stoi (Bl	te ock−To	t or or	Surfa		-	
											er Km.		mer 1	
Traffic Classif	- <del></del>			Single	Lane				<u>-</u>	Doub.	le Lan	G 도 구 7	.03.1.17	
Classif	i <u>sat</u> i <u>o</u> r	,	Zone i	Zone	<u>2 Zo</u>	ne 3	Zone	4	Zone 1	Zone	2 Zore	3_Zona	4	
i _		<b>-</b> -	2	3 _		<u>-</u>	5_		_5	_7_	8_	9_		
1. < 450. c 2. 450-19 3. ≥ 1500 c _ c. v.	500 C.V C.V./ <u>D</u> a	./Day		les.	. <del>-</del>									
(ъ)		for h	iainten Opped S	ance curface	f_Majo	r_Dist							Roeds_	
Traffic			Road	· — — ·	. – – –					7,	s.per_	K <u>n p</u> ⊖	C Xeur)	
Classif		•	Classi	. <del>-</del> lon Zo	Singl	e Lane ne 2 Zo	e one 3	Zone	<u>4 z</u>	ne !	ouhl <u>e</u> Zone 2	Lane Zone 3	Zone 4	
	 1													
1. < 45 C	_		 MDR				· — •							
	50 C.V.	_	ODR											
•		_	ODR											
-	450 C.		ODR											
4. 450-	1500c.	V./Da	y MDR Odr											
5. > 1500	c.v./	Day	MDR ODR											
ODR:	Major : Other :	Distr:	ict Ro	ed s	_ — ~ ~		- <del>-</del> -			<del>-</del>		•		
<u>C. V.</u> :	<u>Commer</u>	cial :	<u>Vehicle</u>	<u> s</u>										
(0	) <u>Nor</u>	ო <u>s f</u> ა	r Main	tenance	of We	ter_B	ound	Mace	ad <u>r</u> m_S	urfac	e_Rond	<u>3_</u> -		
	$v_{1}$	<u>Cure</u>	go <u>r te</u> a	0 <u>1</u> 21	te Ron	<u>.</u>				(Rs. p	er Km	per_y	<u>e₁r)_</u> _	
Traffi	<u> </u>		ingle_	<u>ane</u>			·		D	emark	· n			
Clazsi cation		Zone	1 Zone	e 2 Z	one 3	Noue	4 							_
{		2	3		_4	5				_ 6 _		. – –		_
											0 17 /	/ _{Dav. a}	nd for	
1. < 450	) C. V./	Day		٠				doubl	le land	e roa		M sur	facing	
								at on for o	the ordinal	basis ry re	of Rs.	1800/ and r	arrived Km/Year enewal nce in	1
C.V. Comm	ercial	Vehi	cles.											

S	U	В	S	IJ	ÌΙ,	ſ.	R)	[ ]	90	INT	<u>'_42</u>	
_		-			-			-	-		_ '	

#### PROFORMA XVI

Kilometrage and cost of Maintenance of Roads (Rs. lakhs)

## A. Government Roads

- 1. State High Ways.
- 2. Major District Roads
- 3. Other District Roads
- 4. Village Roads

Total

- B. Roads of Local Bodies
- 1. Major District Roads
- 2. Other
  District
  Roads
- 3. Village Roads
- NOTE: Under a later telex additional information on the following points was requested for:
  - (i) Break up of Road lengths of State Highways, Major District Roads, other District Roads, Zone-wise, separately for gingle Lane and Double Lane and classified on the basis of traffic intensity and according to type of surface.
  - (ii) Grants to Local Bodies for maintenance of roads.

					<u>subst</u>	O IARY PO III	T_4 <u>4</u>
•		PNOF	ORMA XI	111	<u>State</u>	:	
	Not ares irr	igated by Co	vemmei	nt source	3_		
					(_೧೦၁_)	h <u>ectares</u>	<u>}</u>
	_ <u>1971-72</u> _ <u> </u>	<u>at_the_end</u>	o <u>f</u> 3-74	1974-75	1975-76	- 1975-17	, <b></b> -
		23_					
Canal							
Tanks							
<b>V</b> olls							
Other source	8						
Total:							

PROFORMA XVII	STATES .
Norma for medicine	(hupaes per petiont per day)
hospitals Head-	rict Teluk Primary Kural hospi- health Distan- Others ters tals Centres saries itals
(1) (2)	(3) (4) (5) (6)

A • Medicines
In petients
Out patients

B. Diet

					<u>s</u> uas]	idiary foint c	<u>6</u>	
	Es	<u> </u>	XIX		State	9 <b>:</b>		
<u>Standards</u> On_certs	of Adrija in adrija	iatryti istrali	<u>n - L</u> e	ve! <u>n_01</u> 8001 ji.	egraj e	i ture s		
	— —					(3, Inkhs	) 	
	72	75	74	75		1976- 77 Prol.Actuals	1977-78 B.E.	
	1	2	2 _	4			7	
(a) Land revenue (b) District admit (c) Secretariat ( Services (d) Stationery at Printing (e) Others(Please specify detail 2 3 Total 2. Justice and Jai	inistrati General id	<b>∪n</b>						
(a) Administrati (b) Jails (c) Totel		tice						
3. Police								
4. Primary educat								
5. Medical and pu  (a) Expenditure medicines (b) Expenditure (c) Other expend (d) Total  6. Welfare of Sch	on on diet iture	<u>th</u>						

Castes, Scheduled Tribes, and other Backward classes.

Grand Total

## SUBSIDIARY POINT 53

## PROFORMA XX

PHONOMIA AA	
State:	_
State Covernment's Investments in Public Sentor Undertakings	
(Iso crotes)	_
Progressive total Investment as at the end of 1971-72 1972-73 1973-74 1974-75 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78	-
A. Non-Departmental  1. State Electricity Board	

- 2. State Road Transport Corporation
- 3. Other enterprises (Please indicate each enterprise separately)
- B. Departmental
- 1. Multipurpose River Valley Schemes
- 2. Major and medium irrigation Projects
- 3. Flood Control Works
- 4. Others
  (Please indicate
  each enterprise
  separately)
- * Includes loan, capital outlay and equity.

## SUBSIDIARY PORT 54

FINANCIAL RESUL ( Dotails regard	TS OF S	PROFOPM TATE EL meipts a	ECTRIC I	TY_BOART	S./STATE	nte : ELECTRIC nue and a	ITY DEPTI apital ec	:comrta)
				1974-75 Actuals		197677 Frei Actuals	1977-70 B.B.	
	2	2	_3	_4	_ 5	6		
1. (a) Block capital (at the beginning of the year) (i) invested in completed works (ii) invested in works in progress (iii) Total(i-ii)			_					
(b) Capital base								
<ul> <li>Installed     Capacity(MW)</li> <li>(a) Steam</li> <li>(b) Hydro</li> <li>(c) Diesel</li> <li>(d) Total</li> </ul>								
<ul> <li>7. Peak demand (aggregate)(MW)</li> <li>(a) Generation system</li> <li>(b) Purchases</li> <li>(c) Total</li> </ul>								
4. Power   (million KWhrs)   (a) Generated   (i) Steam   (ii) Hydro   (iii) Diesel   (iv) Total								
(b) Furchased (c) Total								
5. Power sold (million KWhrs) (a) Within the State (b) Outside the State (c) Total								

## PROFORMA XXI (Continued)

6. Assessed Revenue on

- (a) Sale of power (i) Within the State (average tariff per unit sold in paise) to be indicated for each year)
  - 11) Outside the State (average tariff per unit-paise)
- (b) Arroars due from
  - (1) Within the State
- (in) Outside the State
- (c) Miscellaneous receipts

## TOTAL of 6

- 7. Revenue expenditure
  - (a)Working expanses
    - (i)Fuel charges
  - (ii)Cost of power purchased
  - (iii) 8ther charges, including misc, repuirs
  - (iv) os tablishment and administrativo charges

## Total (i) to (iv)

- B. Gross operating surplus (6-7)
- 9. Transfer to Reserve Fund (a)Depreciation Reserve Fund
  - (b)Interest on the balance in the depreciation fund
  - (c)General reserve
  - (d)Loans Redemption Fund

## Total of 9

## PROFORMA XXI (Continued)

(lis. creres) 10. Gross surplus (+) or deficit (-) (8-9) 11. Interest charges (a) On loans from Govt. (1)Outstanding on March 31, 1974. (2)Loans to be obtained during the Fifth Flan por Lod. (b) Interest on bends (other than Rural debontures) (1)Bonds outstanding on March 31, 1974. (2)Bonds to be issued

- period. (c)Interest on Rural debentures.
- (d)Others
  - (1)Loans outstanding on March 31, 1974.

during the Fifth Plan

(2)Loans to be obtained during the 5th Flan period.

## Total of 11

- 12. Net profit or loss (10-11)
- 13. Corporation tax.
- 14. Transfer to State revenues
- 15. Collection of duty on behalf of the State Government.
- 16. Capital receipts
  (a) Opening Balance
  (b) Loans from the State Govt.
  (i) Gross loans
  (ii) Repayment, if any.

#### PROFORMA XXI (Concluded)

(Rs. crores) 6. 3, (c) Borrowings from the market (other than Rural debentures) (i) Gross loans (ii) Repayment, if any. (iii) Net loans (d) Rural debentures (e) Borrowing from LIC (i) Gross loans (ii) Ropayments, if any. (iii) Net loans. (f) Other borrowings* (i) Gross loans (ii) Repayments, if any. (iii) Not loans. (à) Withdrawal from Funds (i) Depreciation funds (ii) General reservos (iii) Loan Rademption fund (iv) Others (h) Debt, deposits and remittances (net) . (i) Provident funds (not) (j) Subscription from Govt., if any.

- (k) Other receipts
- Inventories carried forward from previous years.

## Total of 16 (a) to (1)

- 17. Capital expenditure
  - (a) Plan Schemes
  - (b) Other capital expenditure**
- 18. Closing balance
  - * The sources such as R.E.C., A.R.C.A.F.C., Agricultural consumers may please be specified.
  - ** Details of other capital expanditure may please be furnished.
- Please Note: Separate statements should be submitted for the State Electricity Board and the State Electricity Department or any other Department of the State Government which owns and operates power projects.

#### SUSSIDIARY POINT 64

## PROFORMA XXII

				St	ate:		-
FINANCIAL RESU	LTS OF RO	DAD TRANS	PORT COR	RPORATION	<b>V</b> UNDERTAI	KING	
					(Rs.	crores)	
				1974-75 Actuals	1975-76 Actuals	1976-77 Prelm. Actuals	1977-78 B.E.
	1.	2.	3.	4.	5	6.	7
Barda Tarranah Canasartian	,						

## Roads Transport Corporation/ Undertaking:

- Block capital at the end of the year.
- 2. No. of vehicles at the end of the year
  - (a) Buses
  - (b) Others (to be specified)
- Average vehicles at the end of the year
  - (a)Buses -
    - (i) Numbar
    - (ii) Average life assumed
  - (b) Other vehicles -
    - (i) Number
    - (ii) Average life assumed.
- 4. No. of vehicles replaced during the year
  - (a) Buses
  - (b) Others (to be specified)
- 5. Total vehicles purchased during the year
  - (a) Buses
  - (b) Others (to be specified)
- E. Utilisation
  - (a) % of total buses in the fleed on road during the
  - year.
    (b) Average kilometreage operated per bus during the year.
- 7. Revenue per passenger kilometre.
- 8. Revenue per bus kilometre.
- Cost per passenger kilometre (including interest & depreciation)

## PROFORMA XXII (Concluded)

crores 10. Cost per bus kilometre (including interest & depreciation) 11. Gross receipts 12. Working Expenses 13. Interest payments (a) to State Government (b) to others 14. Transfer to depreciation fund 15. Transfer to other funds (to be specified) 16. Other charges, if any, on current revenues (to be specified) 17. Net profit (11-(12 to 15)) 10. Corporation Tax 19. Contribution to State revenues 20. Retained profits (17-18-19) 21. Opening Balance 22. Closing Balance 23. Expenditure met out of funds (a) depreciation funds (b) other funds 24. Centribution for the Plan (a) Net accretion to depreciation fund (transfers minus current replacement expenditure). (b) Net accretion to other funds

(c) Retained profits

(a+b+c)

(d) Total contribution for plan

#### SUBSIDIARY POINT 65

## PROFORMA XXIII

(as revised under letter No.7FC.9(1)-Ros/77 dated 13/10/77)

State:	

Datails of contribution of other autonomous State enterprises (other than Electricity Board and Road Transport Corporation).

(Rs. in crores)

1971-72 1972-73 1973-74 1974-75 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78

Actuals Actuals Actuals Actuals Prel. B.E.

Actuals

10 2, 3. 4. 5. 5. 7.

## A.Other Autonomous State Enterprises

- Block Capital at the boginning of the year
  - a)Government Sources
    - (i) Equity
    - (ii) Loans
  - b) Other Sources
    - (i) Equity
    - (ii) Loans
  - c) Accumulated reserves and surpluses.
- 2. Gross receipts
- 3. Working expenses
- 4. Interest payments
  - (a) To State Government
  - (b) To others
- 5. Transfer to depreciation fund.
- 6. Other charges, if any, on current revenues.
- 7. Net profits (2-3 to 6).
- 8. Corporation tax.
- 9. Contribution to State revonues.
- 10. Retained profits inclusive of transfers to reserve funds(7-0-9).
- 11. Opening balance.
- 12. Closing balance.

Annexure III. 2.
(without, enclosers referred to in para 2)

Letter No. FC 21(1)-A/77 dated the 15th April, 1977, from Shri V.B. Eswaran, Officer on Special Duty, Ministry of Finance (Department of Economic Affairs) to Finance Secretaries of all States.

The Seventh Finance Commission is expected to be set up shortly. Under Article 280(3) of the Constitution, the Commission would have to make recommendations to the Prosident as to:

- (a) the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be or may be, divided between them and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds; and
- (b) the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India.
- 2. It would be an advantage if, in anticipation of the appointment of the Commission, the State Governments take up the preparation of forecasts of their revenues and expenditures. I enclose a set of proformae for showing the revenue position of the State in the past years and the forecast for the period to be covered by the recommendations of the Seventh Finance Commission. Suitable notes explaining the basis of the projections for the forecast period, may be appended as indicated at the end of each statement. 30 copies may kindly be sent to the Member Secretary of the Commission so as to reach him within two months of the constitution of the Commission.
- 3. Receipt of this communication may kindly be acknowledged.
- 4. Hindi version will follow.

Annexure III. 3.
(without enclosures referred to in paras 2 and 6)

Letter No.7FC, 21(1)-A/77 dated the 7th July, 1977 from Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

In my d.o. letter No. FC.21(1)-A/77 dated 15th April, 1977, from the Department of Economic Affairs, Ministry of Finance. State Governments were requested to take up the preparation of forecasts of their revenues and expenditures in the proformac enclosed with that letter, and furnish them to the Finance Commission within two months of the constitution of the Finance Commission.

- 2. I am enclosing a copy of the Presidential Order constituting the Seventh Finance Commission.
- 3. It will be eeen that the Commission has been asked to make recommendations as to the following points; having regard among others to the considerations set out in para 5 of the Orders
  - a) The distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution and the allocation between the States of their respective shares of such proceeds;
  - b) The principles which should govern the grants-in-eld of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India and the sums to be paid to the States which are in need of assistance by way of grants-in-aid of their revenues under Article 275 of the Constitution for purposes other than those specified in the provisos to clause 1 of that Article.
- 4. The Commission has also been asked to suggest changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution among the States of
  - a) the net proceeds of any financial year of estate duty in respect of property other than agricultural land;
  - b) the net proceeds in any financial year of the additional excise duty leviable under the Additional Duties and Excise (Goods of special importance) Act, 1957, in replacement of the Sales tax levied formerly by the State Governments on each of the following commodities, namely, (1) cotton fabrics; (2) woolen fabrics; (3) rayon or artificial silk fabrics;
    - (4) sugar; and (5) tobacco including manufactured tobacco;
- c)the grant to be made available to the States in lieu of the tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957; and
- d) the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealthtax on agricultural property.

- 5. It is requested that the State Government may kindly send to the Commission Memoranda setting out its views on the abovementioned matters.
- 6. The Commission has also been asked to make an assessment of the non-Plan capital cap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the 5 years ending with 1983-84. For the assessment of non-Plan capital gaps of the States the Commission will require from the State Covernments their forecast, year by year, of the estimated receipts and disbursements on capital account. Commission will also need information on the outstanding debt position as at the end of 1978-79. The information may kindly be furnished in the proformae appended to this letter, with suitable notes explaining the basis of the projections in the forecast in respect of each item of receipts and disbursements. While furnishing these forecasts, the State Government may also kindly indicate its views on the appropriateness of the classification as between Plan and non-Plan of the different items figuring under capital receipts and disbursements.

The Commission shall be grateful to have Memoranda containing the views of the State Government on the debt position of the States, purposes for which loans have been utilised, the existing terms of repayments of various categories of Central loans and the measures which could be considered to deal with the non-Plan capital gap.

- 7. Para 9 of the Presidential Order requires the Commission to review the policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure by States affected by natural calamities, and to suggest such modifications thereof as may be appropriate. The Commission would appreciate having a Memorandum setting out the views of the State Government on this matter.
- 8. Thirty copies each of the Memoranda and forecasts referred to in paragraphs 5, 7 and 8 of this letter may kindly be sent so as to reach the Commission by 31st August, 1977.
- 9. Attention is invited to Shri K.N. Row's d.c. letter No.F.3(12)FCC/76 dated 31st July,1976, by which the State Government was requested to compile and furnish factual information on "Subsidiary Points" relating to the finances and economy of the States. It would be appreciated if this information could be expedited so as to reach the Commission by 16th August, 1977.
- 10. Receipt of this letter may please be acknowledged. Hindi version will follow.

Annexure III. 4.

Letter No. 7FC.9(1)-Res/77 dated the 26th July, 1977 from Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

In making its recommendations as to the matters contained in para 4 of the Presidential Order, the Commission, inter alia has to take into account such provisions for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as the Commission deem it proper, and with reference to appropriate objective criteria rather than in terms of actual increases that might have been given affect to. The Ecommission has proposed to adopt 1st January 1977 as the date of reference. Accordingly, the projections of non-developmental expenditure for the year 1978-79 to 1983-84 should take into account only scales of pay, dearness allowance and other allowances as on 1st January, 1977 i.e. on the basis of orders issued and implemented on or before 1st January, 1977. Paragraph 4 of the Explanatory Note Appended to Statement III of the Proforma sent with my d.o. letter dated 15th April 1977 from the Ministry of Finance (Department of Economic Affairs) will stand modified to this extent.

- Your attention is also invited to Item VII (Points Nos. 35 to 38) regarding revision of pay scales, dearness allowance etc. of the list of Subsidiary Points on which information was called for in Shri K.N. Row's d.o. letter dated 31st July, 1976. The information in regard to scales of pay etc. of employees may please be furnished on the basis of the orders issued and implemented on or before 1st January, 1977. Any revision in scales of pay, dearness allowance and other allowances of the employees undertaken by the State Government after 1st January, 1977 could be shown separately together with the likely expenditure on this account during a full year as also for the part of the year in which these orders were issued. Four copies each of the orders issued and implemented on or after 1.1.1977 may also please be furnished. Information in regard to the number of employees may be sent according to the pay slabs indicated in the revised proforma X A enclosed with this letter.
- 3. It would be of use to the Commission if you could send 2 copies of the reports on the latest cansus of the State Government employees, teachers, and employees of local bodies and aided institutions, that might have been conducted by the State Government.
- 4. For purposes of its analysis, the Commission would also be requiring the total expenditure incurred by the State Governments on salaries and other allowances of its employees for each of the years from 1972-73 onwards. This may please be sent in the Proforma No. XII-A
- 5. I shall be grateful if you could also send 4 copies of each of the orders issued by the State Government during the years 1974-75 to 1977-78 regarding any benefit by way of reductions, remissions or other concessions in taxes, rates, tariffs etc. with notes indicating the cost of each of these concessions in a full year and also in part of the year during which these orders have been issued and implemented.

- 6. For evaluating the returns and investment in industrial and commercial enterprises, the Commission would be requiring balance sheets and profit and loss accounts for the last three years in respect of State Undertakings having a turn over of %.50 lakes and above. You may kindly arrange to send this to the Commission.
- 7. The Commission would also be requiring similar information on cooperative institutions in the industrial and commercial sectors including marketing. A list of such institutions with a brief note on their activities and functions may also be sent. The balance sheets & profit and loss accounts of the last three years of these institutions may also please be sent.
- 8. The information referred to in para 1 may please be sent so as to reach me by 31st August, 1977, and that called for in paras 2 to 7 may be furnished by 16th August, 1977.
- 9. Hindi version will follow.

## Annexure III.5

Letter No. 7FC.7(7)—Res/77 dated the 10th August, 1977 from Shri V.B. Eswaran, Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Accountants General of all States.

Kindly refer to Shri T. Rengachari's d.o. letter No. 639-TAI/61-77, dated 26.7.1977, addressed to you and copy endorsed to me, regarding assistance to the Commission in matters relating to State Finances.

- The Seventh Finance Commission while making its recommendations to the President is required to assess the resources of the State Govt. for the quinquennium, 1979-80 to 1983-84. The State Government has accordingly been requested to furnish year-wise details of budgetary receipts and expenditure for the periods 1974-78 as well as the forecasts for 1978-79 to 1983-84. The Commission will have to study the resources position of the State in depth, with special reference to its fiscal management and policies, investments in productive and commercial enterprises and returns therefrom, efficiency in tax and non-tax collections, recoveries of loans and interest from third parties, ways and means position, etc.
- 3. I am enclosing a copy of the list of subsidiary points on which the State Government has been requested to furnish information to the Commission. A list of items, on which the Commission would like to have information and your views by the 30th September, 1977 is enclosed.
- 4. I shall also be grateful if you could also kindly arrange to send us two copies each of the finance Accounts, Appropriation Accounts and  $C_n h_n G_n$ 's report for 1973-74 and for the latest year for which they are available.
- 5. Receipt of this letter may kindly be acknowledged.

#### Annexure III. 6.

Letter No. 7FC 7(23)-Res/77 dated the 6th October, 1977 from Shri R.K. Dar, Joint Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

For the use of the Finance Commission, we need the following information urgently:-

- (i) Number of courts categorywise as in the State (Civil, Criminal, Sessions etc.) - Magistrates, Judges, also the number of civil courts.
- (ii) Assessment of adequacy of buildings for courts in the State and the state of maintenance of these buildings.
- (iii) Number of Jails in total and of different types (sub-jails, district jails, central jails etc.)
- (iv) Capacity of these jails.
- (v) Actual jail population for each of the years from 1973-74 and comments regarding adequacy or otherwise of available capacity.
- (vi) Assessment of standards of maintenance of jails.
- (vii) Number of police stations in metropolitan areas, in large cities and other urban centres, in semi-urban and rural areas, with average size of population covered by each type of police station.
- (viii) Number of policemen, civil police, armed police and other police forces (industrial security, special investigation or prosecution branches, etc.)
  - (14) Basic crime statistics in metropolitan areas, large cities and urban areas, semi-urban and rural areas, observations on trends thereof.
  - (x) Assessment of adequacy of buildings for purposes of the Police in the State and the state of their maintenance.
  - (xi) The strength and duties of the organisations like the Home Guards, Gramrakashak Dals (or similar village/ rural organisations of a part-time or whole-time nature with specific responsibilities) and the expenditure incurred by the State Government on these organisations from 1973-74 onwards.
- 2. I shall be grateful if the above information issent to us by 7th November, 1977, at the latest.

Annexure ///.7

D.O. letter No. 7 F.C.1(8)-Res/77, dated the 7th October, 1977 from Shri M.R. Sivaraman, Director, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

. . . . .

To enable the Finance Commission to work out a complete picture of the total investments made by the State Governments in multi-purpose river valley schemes, major and medium irrigation projects, minor irrigation projects and flood control schemes, and the returns therefrom by way of water rates, etc. after meeting the maintenance and repair charges, other establishment charges and interest on capital, I would request you to furnish the relevant information as per proformae enclosed for each year of the Fifth Plan period and also for the next quinquennium. Some of this information, though being furnished separately under some subsidiary points, may also be shown here for working out relevant results from the irrigation and flood control projects in your State.

2. The requisite information may kindly be furnished by the 25th October, 1977.

#### Proforma I

## Returns from multi-purpose river projects (for which revenue account has been opened or to be opened before the end of 1987-84)

(A) Irrigation projects (Excluding power projects & flood control portion)							(Rupses lakhs)					
		1975-76 Locounts		1971~78 B.Z.	1978-791 Beti- I mates I	1979-80 Fore- casts	1980-61 Fore- casts	1981-82 Fore- casts	1982-63 Fore	1983-84 Fore- casts		1979-84/ expected
(1) Receipts from irrigation projects (1) Water rates (1i) Land revenue due to irrigation (1ii) Botterment levy (iv) Sale of land (v) Revenue levied and collected by local bodies vi) Other receipts				endervandelie.	entransina del la companya del		ala Million de La Company	distribut Salinan				
Total receipts ((i) to (vi) )												
(2) Operation, maintenance and repair charges (2) (including grants to local bodies)												
(3) Extension and improvement (non-Flan) (i) On revenue account (ii) ∩n capital account												
(4) Other working expenses												
(5) Total working expenses (2 to 4)												
(6) Net receipts (without taking into account interest on capital and depreciation(1-5)												
(7) Interest on capital (i) On completed works (ii) On continuing works												
(8) Depreciation provision, if any												
(9) Net receipts (1 ~ (5+7+8))												
10) Total capital invested upto the end of the year (i) (n completed works (3) (ii) On works in progress												
<ul> <li>(11) Rate of net return on investment(Percentage)</li> <li>(1) Net of working expenses without interest and depreciation</li> <li>(11) Net of working expenses, interest and depreciation</li> </ul>	)											
(12) Irrigation potential created (thousand hectar	(83											
(13) Gross area irrigated (thousand hectarea)												
(14) Net area irrigated by Govt. sources of irrigation (900 hectares) (a) Canals (b) Tube wells, etc. in command area												
(15) Annual normal demand by way of water rates and betterment levy	•											
(16) Demand outstanding for collection at the end of the year  **not Note :- (1) Where weter rates are not low (2) Including that on maintenance about take into account	n nead	ひのかいちょ			attr1but	eble to i	rrigation	•				

#### Proforma II

#### Mulit-purpose river projects

#### (B) Flood control projects/works

مياه رميه بهموهويون ويون ويون ويونون ويونون والموان وا	~~·.	_			_		_		(M. 1780)	<i>6)</i>
	1974-75 1975-76	1976-77	1777-78	1978-79	1979-60	1990-81	1981-82	1992-83	1983-84	Total 1979-84/
	Accounts Accou-	R.E.	P.E.	Esti-	Fore-	Pore-	Fore	Poro-	Fore-	Lovel expected
	nte			nates	cast	cast	cas t	cast	cast	

- (1) Receipts
- (2) Expanditure on operation, maintenance and repairs*
- (3) Extension and improvement (Non-Plan)
  - (i) On revenue account
  - (ii) On capital account, if any
- (4) Other working expenses
- (5) Net receipts (1-(2+3+4))
- (6) Interest on capital
  - (i) On completed works
  - (11) On works in progress
- (7) Depreciation
- (8) Net receipts after meeting working expenses, interest and depreciation
- (9) Total capital invested up to the end of the year
  - (1) On completed works
  - (ii) On works in progress
- (10) Rate of net return on investment (percentage)
  - (1) Net of working expenses
  - (ii) Net of working expenses, interest & depreciation
- (11) Maintenance cost as \$ of total capital invested
- (12) Length of embankmente (k.ms.)
- (13) Average maintenence east per k.m. (K.)

[&]quot;Including that on maintenance of head works

(echal spoul) 1974-75 1975-76 1976-77 1977-73 1978-79 11979-00 1960-7: 1901-02 1962-03 1903-04 Total 1979-04/ Accounts Accounts B.E. Setimetue Fore-Pore- Pore- Pore- Porelevel expected _longte__conta__conta__conta__ casts_____ (1) Receipts from irrigation projects (1) Water rates (11) Land revenue due to imigation {111 Betterment levy (iv) Sale of land (v) Revenue levied and collected by local bodies (v1) Other receipte Total requipts ((i) to (vi)) (2) Operation maintenance and repair sharges (including grante to local bodies) (3) Extension and improvement (non-Plan) function suggest to (t) truvede Latidee do (ii) . (a) Other working expenses (5) Total working expenses (2 to 4) (6) Not receipts (without taking into cocount interest on capital and depressation (1-5) (7) Inverest on ompital (1) On occupieted works (11)On continuing works (8) Depreciation provision, if any (9) Not respipts (1-(5+748)) (10) Total capital larested upto the end of the year.
(1) Ca completed works! (11) On works in progress (ii) Bate of net return on investment (forcentage) (i) Ret of working expenses without interest acitationreciption (ii) But of working expenses, interest and depresintion (12) Irrigation potential ereated (thousand heaters) (13) Gross area irrigated (thousand bectares) (14) Not irrigated by Government anurous of irrigation (OCJ bectares) (a) Capals (b) Tube Folls, etc. in command area (15) Annual normal derend by way of water rates and betterment levy Y where water rates are not levied separately, indicate the angust attributable to irrigation. I including that on maintenance of head works. I This should take into account completed Foot Mate 1-If This should take into account completed stages of the pr

#### Proforma IV

### Irrigation, Reviention, Designer and Flood Control Frances (B) Najor and Medium Irrigation Projects - Non-Compared al

(Rupone lakha)

1974-75 1975-76 1976-77 1977-73 1970-79 1 1979-00 1333-07 1981-82 1902-03 133-04 1248: 1979-04 Accounts Accounts R.R. Betimotee Foregrate Foregrate Foregrate Foregrate Level expected

```
(1) Macaipte from irrigation projects
             Vater rates
            Land revenue due to irrigation (1)
      iii) Betterment levy
             Sale of land
      1··>
             Revenue levied and sollected by local bodies
             Other receipts
             Total receipts ( (i) to (vi) )
(2) Operation, maintenance and repair charges (2)
    (including grants to local dodies)
 (3) Extension and improvement (noz-blan)
      (1) On revenue account (11) On capital account
 assnogze gnister refs (4)
 (5) Tutal working expenses (2 to 4)
 (6) Het receipts (without taking into account
      interest on empital and depreciation (1-5)
 (7) Interest on capital
      (i) On completed works
(ii) On completed works
(8) Deproclation provision, if my
 (9) Het Promipts (1 - (5+7+6) )
(10) Total capital invested upto the end of the recr
      (i) On completed works(3)
(ii) On works in progress
(11) Bate of pet return on investment [Persontago]
      (1) Het of working expenses without interest and depresiation (11) Het of working expenses, interest and depresiation
(12) Irrigation potential areated (thousand bogteres)
(13) Gross area irrighted (thousand benteres)
(14) Wet area irrigated by Government sources of irrigation(OU bectares)
              Consle
              Tube walls, ato. in Conrand area
(15) immel normal derend by way of water system and bettermout lawy
(16) Demond outstanding for collection at the and of the year
             Foot Note 1 - (1) Where water rates are not levied separately, indicate the second attributable to irrigation.
(2) Including that on maintenance of head works.
(3) This should take into second completed tages of the projects.
```

#### Proforms V

#### Irrigation, Navigation, Orainana & Flood control projects

#### (C) Mood control projects (Including both non-commercial/commercial)

(in lakes)

[174-75 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 1978-37)

Accounts Accounts R.E. 8.E. Estimates forecast forecast forecast forecast Level expected

(1) Receipts

(2) Expenditure on Operation, maintenance and repairs*

(3) Extension and improvement (Non-Plan)

(1) On revenue accounts

(11) On capital accounts if any

- (4) Other working expenses
- (5) Not receipts (1-(24344))
- (5) Interest on capital
  - (1) On completed sorks
  - (ii) On works in programs
- (7) Depreciation
- (8) Not tereipts efter mooting working expenses, interest and depreciation
- (9) Total capital invested upto the and of the year
  - (1) On completed works
  - (11) On works in programs
- (10) Rate of not return on investment (percentage)
  - (1) Not of working expenses
  - (ii) Not of working expenses, interest & depreciation
- (11) Maintohanco exp. as % of total capital invested
- (12) Length of ambankments (k.no.)
- (13) Average maintenance cost per Km. (Re.)

^{*} Including that on maintononcy for head works

Preforma - VI

Total 1979-84/

level expected

(8. lakus)

83

Fores

cast

Porecast

```
Kingr Irrigation Projects
                                       (A) Minor Irrigation Works (Sweluding Flood control works)
                                                                                               1976-0 1979- 1980- 1981- 1982- 1983-84
                                                         1974-75 1976-76 1976-77 1977-
                                                                                                79 80 81 82
Esti- ( Fore Rero- Rero-
                                                         Accounts. Accounts. R.E.
                                                                                        76
B.E.
                                                                                               mutes cast cast oest
(1)Receipte from irrigation projects
    (i) Water rates
   (ii) Land revenue due to irrigation 1)
   (iii) Betterment levy
    (iv)Sale of land (v) Revenue levied and collected by local bodies.
    (v.) Other receipts
Total receipts((1) to (vi)) 2)
(2)Operation, maintenance and repair charges
(including grants to local bodies)
(3)Extension and improvement (non-plan)
  (i) On revenue account (ii) On cryllil account
(4)Other working expenses
(5) Total working expenses (2 to 4)
(6) Net receipts (without taking into secount
    interact on capital and degreciation (1-5)
(7) Interest on capital
    (1)On completed works
(11)On continuing works
(6)Depreciation provision, if any
(9)Net receipts(1-(5+7+8))
(10)Total capital invested upto the end of the year
(1)On completed works 3/
(11)On works in progress
 (11) Rate of net return on investment (Percentage)
     (1) Net of working expenses without interest and depreciation.
    (ii) Net of working expenses, interest and depreciation,
 (12)Irrigation potential ereated (thousand bectares)
 (13)Gross area irrigated (thousand hectures)
 (14)Not area irrigated by
                                 the Govt. sources of irrigation(000 h.a.)
    (i) Carals
(ii) Tube wolls, etc. in Command area
 (15) annual normal demand by way of water rites and patterment lavy.
 (16)Demand outstanding for anticetion at the end of the year.
     Poot Notes:-
                       1) When water rates are not levied superetely, indicate the amount
                           attributaclo to irrigation.
                       2) Including that on maintenance of head works.
                       3) This should take into account completed stages
                           of the projects.
```

Proforma VII

#### Minor Irrigation Project/Norks

(B) Flood Control Works.

(N. in labbs)

1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 1978-79 ( 1979-20 1960-81 1981-82 1982-83 1983-84 accounts R.E. B.E. Estimates Correct Torons Forecast Forecast Total 1979 -84/ accounts Level exected

(1) Pocalpts

(2)Expenditure on operation, maintenance and repairs*

(3) Extension and improvement (Non-Plan)

(1) On revenue account

(ii) On capital account, if any

(4)Other working expenses

(5)Net receipts (1-(2+3+4)) (6)Interest on capital

(i) On completed works

(ii) On works in progress

(7) Depresiation

(8) Net receipts after meeting working expenses, interest and depreciation,

(9) Total capital invested upto the end of the year

(i) On completed works

(ii) On works in progress

(10) Rate of net return on investment(Percentage)
(1) Net of working expenses
(11) Net of working expenses, interest
and depreciation.

(11) Maintenance cost as \$ of total capital invested.

(12) Length of embarments (Kms.)

(13)Average maintenance cost per im. (%.)

"Including that or meintenance of head works.

#### ANNEXURE IV

#### Dates of discussions with State Governments and Ministries/Departments of the Central Govt.

#### (A) Discussions with State Governments at State Headquarters.

Bihar

Jammu & Kashmir

Tamil Nadu 16th & 17th January, 1978 West Bengal 16th & 17th February, 1978 Nagaland 19th February, 1978 21st March, 1978 Rajasthan 26th & 27th March, 1978 Gujarat 29th & 30th March, 1978. Madhya Pradesh 31st March & 1st April, 1978 Uttar Pradesh 11th & 12th April, 1978 Tripura 13th April, 1978 Meghalaya 15th April, 1978 Manipur 21st April, 1978 Sikkim 23rd & 24th April, 1978. Orissa 27th & 28th April, 1978 Andhra Pradesh Karnataka 29th April, 1978 8th, 9th & 10th May, 1978 Maharashtra 12th May, 1978 Kerala 24th May, 1978 Haryana 25th May, 1978 Punjab 26th May, 1978 Himachal Pradesh 2nd & 3rd June, 1978 Assam 7th June, 1978

17th July, 1978

# (B) <u>Discussions with Ministries of the Central</u> <u>Government</u>.

1.	Ministry of Finance	14th August & 13th September, 1978
2.	Department of Social Welfare	7th September, 1978
3.	Ministry of Defence	13th September, 1978.
4.	Ministry of Home Affairs.	20th September, 1978.

#### Annexure V

### Individuals and Organisations who furnished Memoranda to the Commission:

- ·1. Action Committee of State Employees, Workers and Teachers of Assam, Gauhati.
  - 2. Adivasi Yuvak Sansthan, Ranchi.
- 3. Shri Ahamed, E., M.II.A., on hehalf of Kerala State Muslim League.
- 4. Ahmedabed Mill Owners' Association, Ahmedabad.
- 5. All Utkal Primary Teachers: Federation, Cuttak,
- 6. Dr. Amal Kumar Mukhopadhyay, General Secretary, Council for Political Studies, Calcutta.
- 7. Shri Atish Chandra Sinha, M.L.A., West Bengal.
- 8. Shri Badri Singh, Secretary, State Development Irrigation and Plood Control Samiti, Patna.
- 9. Shri Barua, K.C., I.A.S. (Retired), Gauhati.
- 10. Bengal Chamber of Commerce & Industry, Calcutta.
- 11. Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Calcutta.
- 12. Prof. Bhabatosh Datta, Member, Fourth Finance Commission, 1/1-K, Jodhpur Path, Calcutta.
- 13. Shri Bhardwaj, R.K., President, Himachal Sudhar Sabha, Delhi.
- 14. Bharat Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta.
- 15. Prof. Bhargava, R.N., Visiting Professor in Economics, Department of Humanities & Social Sciencies, Indian Institute of Technology, Kanpur
- 16. Bhartiya Depressed Classes League (Gujarat State), Ahmedabad.
- 17. Prof. Bhatia, H.L., Senior Lecturer, Delhi University.
- 18. Prof. Borkar, V.V., Senior Professor & Head of the Department of Economics, Marathwada University, Aurangabad.
- 19. Bundelkhand Praja Parishad, Chattarpur, Madhya Pradesh.
- 20. Shri Chandrasekharan, K., Chairman, Janata Party, Kerala.
- 21. Shri Chaturanan Mishra, Leader, Communist Group in Assembly, Bihar.
- 22. Prof. Chelliah, Raja J., Director, National Institute of Public Finance and Policy, Delhi.
- 23. Shri Choudhry, S.M., M.L.A., Working President, United Central Refugee Council, Calcutta.
- 24. Communist Party of India (Kerala State Council), Trivandrum.
- 25. Shri Daya Ram Bhaskar, M.L.A., Uttar Pradesh.
- 26. Shri Daulat Ram Sankhayan, M.L.A., Himachal Pradesh.
- 27. Department of Economics, Lucknow University.
- 28. Department of Economics, Indore University, Indore Press Club; and the Institute of Underdeveloped States' Economic Growth, Indore (Joint Memorandum)
- 29. Prof. Dhiresh Bhattacharyya, Professor of Economics, Calcutta University.
- 30. Dimapur Chamber of Commerce, Nagaland.

- 31. Federation of Karnataka Chambers of Commerce & Industry, Kempegowde Road, Pangalore.
- 32. Frontier Chamber of Commerce, Shillong,
- 33. Shri Gian Chand Jotu, M.P.
- 34. Shri Gidwani, V.L., Member Secretary, Sifth Finance Commission.
- 35. Shri Gopalakrizhnaiah, V., former M.L.A., Settenpalli, Andhra Prad
- 36. Government Pensioners' Welfare Organisation, Uttar Pradesh.
- 37. Gujarat Chamber of Commerce and Industry (Gujarat Vepari Mahamandal), Ahmedabal.
- 38. Gujarat Rajya Khet Majoor Mandal, Ahmedabad.
- 39, Dr. (Smt.) Hem Lata Rao, Institute for Social and Economic Change Bangalore.
- 40. Shri Himmat Patel, Department of Economics, Sardar Patel University, Vallabi Vidyanagar.
- 41. Indian Merchants: Chamber, Bombay.
- 42. Shri Jagannathan, 3., former Governor, Reserve Bank of India
- 43. Shri Jagdev Mahato, Village Koko Mavtoli, Ranchi.
- 44. Janata Martingani Vikas Kshetra, Azamgarh.
- 45. Shri Joseph, P.J. Fresident, Kuttanad Karshaka Sangham, Alleppey
- 46. Dr. Kahlon, A.S., Dean, College of Basic Sciences and Humanities, Puniab Agricultural University, Ludbiana,
- 47. Shri Kanti Chaudhri, Vice-Chanceller, Jabalpur University.
- 48. Karnataka Government Motor Drivers' Central Association, Bangalore.
- 49. Karnataka State Government Employees Association. Bangalore.
- 50. Prof. Karsandas Soneri, M.L.A., Guiarat.
- 51. Prof. Kedarnath Prasad, University Professor of Economics and Principal, Patna College.
- 52, Kerala Congress (State Committee) Kottayam.
- 53. Shri Khosla, R.L., Income Tax Advisor, 464, Hukam Singh Road, Amritsar.
- 54, Sat. Krishna Sahi, M.L.A., Bihar.
- 55, Shri Kumar, B., Lecturer, R.S.P. College, Jharia,
- 56. Shri Madhuru Subha Reddy, M.L.A., Andhra Pradesh.
- 57. Shri Lyngdoh, V.G., M.L.A., Meghalaya.
- 58. Madhya Pradesh Class III Government Employees' Association, Tulsinagar, Bhopal.
- 59. Smt. Manorama Hukku, Lecturer, Department of Economics, Jodhpur University.
- 60. Shri' Masud, S.A., Member, Sixth Finance Commission, Calcutta.

61. Meghalaya College Teachers' Association, Shillong.

62. Merchants' Chamber of Commerce, 3/1/Z, Armenian Street, Calcutta-1.

63. Nagaland Secretariat Service Association, Nagaland Civil Service Association, and Nagaland Stenographers Association, Dimapur.

64. Nagaland State Cooperative Marketing and Consumers'

- Federation Ltd., Dimapur. 65. Shri Nair, K.R.G.: Reader in Rusiness Economics, South Delhi Campus. New Delhi,
- 66. Dr. Natarajan. D., Chairman, Institute for Techno Economics Studies, Madras
- 67. Prof. Natarajan, P., Director, Academy of Social Sciences

- and Research, Madras.
  68. National Democratic Party, Trivandrum.
  69. Shri Nittoor Sreenivasa Rau, Honorary Secretary, Gokhale Institute of Public Affairs, Bangalore.
  70. Shri Panchamukhi, P.R., Reader and Head, Department of Economics, Bombay University.
  71. Shri Pande R.D. former Cabinet Secretary, Jagati Bank,
- 71. Shri Fande, B.D., former Cabinet Secretary, Jagati Bank, Jhuladevi Road, Rankhet.

72. Shri Phool Chand Jain, M.L.A., Madhya Pradesh.

- 73. Prof. Porwal, L.S., Delhi School of Economics, Delhi University,
- 74. Dr. Prabodh Kumar Jha, Reader, Department of Economics, Mithila University, Darbhanga.
- 75. Shri Promode Gog'i, M.L.A., Leader of the C.P.I., Assam. 76. Punjab, Haryana & Delhi Chamber of Commerce & Industry.
- Chandiganh.
- 77. Shri Radha Nandan Jha, Deputy Speaker, Vidhan Sabha, Bihar.

78. Rajasthan Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Jaipur. 79. Dr. Rajandra Jain, Professor of Economics, Government Hamidia College, Bhopal.

80. Shri Rajpal, M.D., Executive Director, Ahmedabad Mill-owners' Association, Ahmedabad. 81. Dr. Ramji Singh, M.P.

82. Shri Ram Nath Sharma, M.L.A., Himachal Pradesh.

83. Shri Ranganathan, S., Madras.

- 84. Shri Rao, S., Sreenivasa, Highland traders, No.11, Dr. I.V. Gundappa Road, Basavagudi, Bangalore-4.
- 85. Prof. Rao, V.K.R.V., Director, Institute of Social and Economic Change, Bangalore.
- 86. Revolutionary Socialist Party (Kerala State Committee), Trivandrum.
- 87. Shri Rosaiah, K., M.L.A., Leader of the Opposition, Andhra Pradesh.

- 88. Sadvichar Parivar, Ahmedabad. 89. Shri Samant, P.B., M.L.A., Maharashtra. 90 Sampurnanand Sanskrit University, Varanasi.

- 91. Shri Seshadri, R.K., former Deputy Governor, Reserve Bank of India.
- 92. Shri Shivajirao Patil. M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 93. Shri Shravan Kumar, Speaker, Vidhan Sahba, Himachal Pradesh.
- 94, State Social Welfare Advisory Board, Himschal Pradesh.
- 95. State Co-ordination Committee of the West Bengal Government Employees' Association and Uniors, Calcutta.
- 96. Dr. Tarlok Singh, former Member, Planning Commission.
- 97. Dr. Tewary, J.N., Post Graduate Department of Economics, Patna University, Patna.
- 98. Dr. Thakur. C.P., Associate Professor of Medicines, Patna Medical College Hospital, Patna and Secretary, Sunday Club, Patna.
- 99. Shri Thakur Sen Negi, Piesident, Janata Party, Himachal Pradesh.
- 100. Shri Thimmaian G., Senior Fellow, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore.
- 101. Tripura State Congress for Democracy, Agartala.
- 102. Lady Ursula K. Hicks, Linacre College, Oxford (U.K.)
- 103. Dr. Yadava Reddy and Shri K.S. Upadhyaya, Department of Ecomomics, Osmania University.

#### ANNEXURE Y

# Individuals and representatives of organisations who met the Commission.

- 1. Action Committee of the State employees, workers and teachers of Assam, Gauhati.
- 2. Dr. Adiseshiah, M.S., Vice Chancellor, Madras University.
- 3. All Utkal Primary Teachers' Federation, Orissa.
- 4. Shri Arjun Rao Kastura, Leader of Opposition, Maharashtra Legislative Council.
- 5. Prof. Bagchi, A., Calcutta.
- 6. Shri Balagubramanian, K., Gokhale Institute of Public Affairs, Bangalore.
- 7. Shri Baldev Pasricha, Chairman, Industrial Financing Corporation, Bombay.
- 9. Dr. Balwantha Reddy, Administrative Staff College of India, Hyderabad.
- 9. Shri Barua, K.C., I.A.S. (Retired), Gauhati.
- 10. Prof. Bhabatosh Dutta, Member, Fourth Finance Commission.
- 11. Dr. Bhagat Singh, M.L.A., Punjab.
- 12. Shri Bhagwant Singh, I.A.S. (Retired), Lucknow.
- 13. Shri Bhai Vaidya, M.L.A., Leader of Opposition, Maharashtra.
- 14. Dr. Bhargava, R.N., Visiting Professor, Indian Institute of . Technology, Kanpur.
- 15. Dr. Bhatia, H.L., Senior Lecturer in Economics, Shri Ram College of Commerce, Delhi University.
- 16. Shri Bhattacharjee, G.S., ex-Chairman, Public Accounts Committee, Assam.
- 17. Prof. Borker, V.V., Senior Professor and Head of Department, Marathwada University,
- 18. Dr. Brahmananda, P.R., Bombay University.
- 19. Shri Brundavan Naik, M.L.A., Leader of Opposition, Orissa.
- 20. Chambers of Commerce and Industry:
  - i) Bengal Chamber of Commerce and Industry Shri J. Sengupta, President and 2 other representatives.
  - ii) Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry Shri Milan Mukherji and 2 other representatives.
  - iii) Bharat Chamber of Commerce (Calcutta) Shri A.K. Rungta, President and 5 other representatives.
    - iv) Bombay Chamber of Commerce Shri Kamaljit Singh, President and 4 other representatives.
      - v) Ernakulam Chamber of Commerce Shri M. Sarkara Menon, President and 2 other representatives.

- vi) Frontier Chamber of Commerce (Shillong).
- vii) Cujarat Chamber of Commerce and Industry Shri Jehangir, R.J. Cama, President and 3 other representatives.
- viii) Haryana, Punjab & Delhi Chamber of Commerce and Industry Shri M.K. Mohta, President and 9 other representatives.
  - ix) Indian Chamber of Commerce (Calcutta) Shri J.M. Jatia, President and 3 other representatives.
  - x) Indian Merchants' Chamber (Bombay) -Shri Ramakrishna Bajaj and 4 other representatives.
  - xi) Karnataka Chamber of Commerce and Industry Shri V.N. Tallam and 3 other representatives.
  - xii) Maharashtra Chamber of Commerce -Shri B.M. Gogte and 4 other representatives.
- xiii) Marathwada Chamber of Commerce -Shri Dilip Dehanukar and 1 other representative.
  - xiv) Merchants Chamber of Commerce (Calcutta) -Shri A.P. Sonthalia and 5 other representatives.
    - xv) Rejasthan Chamber of Commerce -Shri K.J. Bhargava, President and 5 other representatives.
  - xvi) Srinagar Chamber of Commerce.
- 21. Shri Chandmal Barkhetia, Textile Industrialist, Madhya Fradesh.
- 22. Dr. Chandramani Singh, L., Speaker. Manipur Legislative Assembly.
- 23. Shri Chandrasekharan, M.L.A., Kerala,
- 24. Shri Chaturanand Mishre, M.L.A., Bihar.
- 25. Shri Chaudhari, M.S., former Chief Secretary, Madhya Pradesh
- 26. Shri Chavan, S.B., M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 27. Prof. Chetkar Jha, Department of Political Science, Patna University.
- 28. Shri Chidambaram, M.A., Managing Director, Agricultural Finance and Development Corporation, Bombay.
- 29. Shri Chimanbhai Patel, Editor, 'Sandesh', Ahmedabad.
- 30. College Teachers' Association, Srinagar.
- 31. Prof. Dandekar, V.M., Director, Gokhale Institute of Economics and Politics, Pune.
- 32. Shri Deshmukh, G.A., M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 33. Prof. Dhiresh Bhattacharyya, Professor of Economics, Calcutta University.
- 34. Shri Dorendra Singh, R.K., ex-Chief Minister, Manipur.
- 35. Shri Dutta Bhowmik, B., Editor, 'Dainik Sambad', Tripura.

- 36. Shri Gaugin, T., ex-Deputy Minister (Education), Manipur.
- 37. Shri Gauri Shanker Rai, M.1.
- 38. Shri Gidwani, V.L., I.C.S (Retired), Member Secretary, Fifth Finance Commission.
- 39. Shri Ghulam Ghouse, Managing Director, Agricultural Finance Corporation, Bombay.
- 40. Shri Godbole, M.Y., former Principal Finance Secretary, Madhya Pradesh.
- 41. Shri Gokul Bhai Bhat, Chairman, Rajasthan Khadi Gramodyog, Jaipur.
- 42. Gujarat Congress (I) Party:
  - i) Shri Ahmedbhai Patel, M.P.
  - ii) Shri Harisinh Mahida, M.P.
  - iii) Shri Hadhavsinh Solanki, M.L.A.
    - iv) Shri Sanalbhai Mehta, M.L.A.
    - v) Shri Vijaykumar Trivedi, M.L.A.
    - vi) Shri Yogendrabhai Makwana, M.P.
- 43. Gujarat Congress (0) Party:
  - i) Shri Natvarlal Shah
  - ii) Shri Prabodhbhai Raval
- 44. Gujaret Janata Party:
  - i) Shri Ashokbhai Bhatt, M.L.A.
  - 11) Prof. Amin. R.K., M.P.
  - iii) Shri Babubhai Vasanwala
    - iv) Shri Bhram Kumar Bhatt
      - v) Shri Dahyabhai Parmar
  - vi) Shri Indubhai Patel, Chairman, Gujarat Janata Party.
  - vii) Shri Jaswantlal Shah
  - viii) Prof. Karsandas Soneri
    - ix) Shri Kashiram Rana
      - x) Dr. Patel, K.M.
    - xi) Shri Ramanbhai N. Patel
    - xii) Shri Shankarbhai Raval
- · xiii) Shri Sureshbhai Mehta
  - xiv) Shri Thakorbhai Patel
- 45. Gujarat Relief Organisations- Shri Kasturbhai Lalbhai and 10 other representatives of Indian Red Cross Society, Gujarat Rajya Sankat Nivaran Trust, Gujarat Sadvichar Parivar, Gujarat Vidyapith and Central Relief Fund of Scindia Steam Navigation Co.

- 46. Gujarat State Planning Board-Dr. V.S. Vyas, Vice-Chairman. and Sarva Shri Nirubhai Desai, Jitendra Dholakia, K.K. Subramanian, Bababhai Patel, Mahesh Bhatt, V.R.S. Cowlagi, Members.
- 47. Shri Habibur Rehman, M.L.A., Manipur.
- 43. Dr. Hajela, P.D., Vice Chancellor, Allahabad University.
- 49. Shri Hashu Advani, M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 50. Shri Hemendas, Leader of C.P.I.(M) and Chairman, Public Accounts Committee, Assam.
- '51. Dr. (Mrs) Hemelata Rao, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore.
- 52. Shri Iswar Chand Bhatnager, M.L.A., Rajasthan.
- 53. Dr. Iyengar, N.S., Head of the Department of Economics, Osmania University.
- 54. Dr. Jagannath Mishra, Leader of Opposition, Bihar.
- 55. Dr. Kahlor, A.S., Dean, College of Basic Sciences and Humanities, Punjab Agriculture University, Ludhiana.
- 56. Shri Kamat. G.R., Member Secretary, Third Finance Commission.
- 57. Shri Kanitkar, C.B., M.L.C., Maharashtra.
- 58. Dr. (Mrs) Kanta Ahuja, Professor of Economics, Harish Chandra Mathur Institute of Public Administration, Jaipur.
- 59. Karnataka State Government employees' Association.
- 60. Kerala Congress Party, Trivandrum Shri Mani, K.M., M.L.A. (Chairman) and 5 other representatives.
- 61. Kerala Pradesh Congress Committee, Trivandrum Shri Varadarajan Nair, S., M.L.A. (President) and Shri Raghavan, M.K., M.L.A.
- 62. Kerala State Committee, C.P.I.(M), Trivandrum:
  - i) Shri Govinda Pillai, P.
  - ii) Shri Sreedharan, V.
- 63. Kerala State Council, C.P.I., Trivandrum:
  - i) Shri Majeed, T.A., M.L.A.
  - ii) Shri Sreenivasan, P.S., M.L.A.
  - iii) Shri Unnikrishnan, S.V.
- 64. Kerala State Council, Congress (I). Trivandrum:
  - i) Shri Karunakaran, K., M.L.A.
- 65. Kerala State Muslim League, Trivandrum Shri Ahamad, E., M.L.A.
- 66. Kerala State Muslim League (Opposition) Trivandrum:
  - i) Shri Abubaker, P.M., M.L.A.
  - ii) Shri Izzudin, A.
- 67. Shri Koh. Irabat Singh, M.L.A., Menipur.
- 68. Shri Kurane, P.K., M.L.A., Maharashtra,
- 69. Prof. Kurien, C.T., National Professor, Madras.

- 70. Dr. Kushwah, D.S., Head of Department of Economics, University of Himachal Pradesh, Simla.
- 71. Shri Lyngdoh, V.G., M.L.A., Meghalaya.
- 72. Shri Madhav Lal Dubey, former Minister, Madhya Pradesh.
- 73. Madhya Pradesh Class III Government Employees' Association.
- 74. Madhya Pradesh Gazetted Officer's Association.
- 75. Dr. Maheswari, B.L., Administrative Staff College of India, Hyderabad.
- 76. Majoor Mahajan, Gujarat.
- 77. Shri Manak Chand Surana, M.L.A., Rajasthan.
- 78 Shri Maski, C.G., M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 79. Shri Masud, S.A., Member, Sixth Finance Commission.
- 80. Dr. Mathew, E.T., Head of Department of Economics, Cochin University.
- 81. Shri Mathura Das Mathur, M.L.A., ex-Finance Minister, Rajasthan.
- 82. Shri Mazoomdar, D., Reporter, 'Economic Times .
- 83. Shri Megha Chandra Singh, M., ex-Medical Minister, Manipur.
- 84. Shri Mehta, S.S., Managing Director, The Industrial Development Corporation of India, Bombay.
- 85. Mill-owners' Association, Ahmedabad.
- 86. Ministerial Officers' Association, Orissa.
- 87. Shri Mohanty, M.L.A., Orissa.
- 88. Dr. Murli Manohar Joshi. M.P.
- 89. Shri Nanavati, G.K., Editor, 'Prabhat', Ahmedabad.
- 90. Shri Nanjundaiya, K.S., Gokhale Institute of Public Affairs, Bangalore,
- 91. Shri Napkholal Thangjom, ex-Development Minister, Manipur.
- 92. Shri Narain Chand, M.L.A., Himachal Pradesh.
- 93. Dr. Natarajan, B., Chairman, Institute for Techno-Economic Studies, Madras.
- 94. National Democratic Party, Kerala, Trivandrum.
  - i) Shri Ashiman, V.A.
  - ii) Shri Sundaresan Nair, R., M.L.A.
- 95. Orissa Pradesh Congress Committee, Bhubaneshwar-Shri Binayak Acharya and 4 other representatives.

- 96. Shri Pande, K.P. Jormer Speaker, Bhopal.
  97. Dr. Papole, T.S. Economist and Director of Giri Institute of Dev. Spment Studies, Lucknow.
- 98. Shri Paras Ram M erna, M.L.A., Rajasthan.
- 99. Shri Partap Chau ury, M.L.A., Himachal Pradesh.
- 100. Shri Pradhan G.C., I.A.S. (Retired), Assam.
- 101. Prof. Pradhan Hari Shanker Prasad, Director, A.N. Sinna Institute of Social Studies, Patna.
- 100 . Smt. Pramilabai Tople, M.L.C., Maharashtra,
- 103. Dr. Prasad, K.N., Principal, Patna College, Patna.
- 104. Shri Promode Gogoi, Leader of C.P.I., Assam.
- 105. Shri Radha Nandan Jha, Deputy Speaker, Bihar.
- 106, Shri Raghumani Patnaik, M.L.A., Orissa.
- 107. Dr. Rajendra Jain, Prof. of Economics, Government Hamidia College, Bhopal.
- 109, Shri Rajni Sahu, Calcutta.
- 109. Shri Ram Kapse, M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 110. Shri Ramkrushna Patnaik, M.L.A., Orissa.
- 111. Shri Ramaath, M.L.A., Himachal Pradesh.
- 112. Shri Ram Singh; I.A.S. (Retired). ex-Commissioner (Taxation), Rajasthan,
- 113. Shri Ranbir Singh, R.K., ex-Finance Minister, Manipur.
- 114. Shri Rangarajan, S., Chairman, Life Insurance Corporation, Bombay.
- 115. Prof. Rao, V.K.R.V., Director, Institute of Social and Economic change, Bangalore.
- 116. Prof. Rath, N., Gokhale Institute of Economics & Politics, Pune.
- 117. Reserve Bank of India: Dr. 1.G. Patel, Governor, alongwith Dr. K.S. Krishnaswamy. and Shri M. Ramakrishnayya, Deputy Governors, and Officers.
- .118. Dr. Sadashiv Mishra, ex-Vice Chancellor, Utkal University.
- 119. Shri Santhanam, K., Chairman, Second Finance Commission.
- 120. Dr. Sarveswara Rao, B., Department of Ecohomics. Andhra University.
- 121. Shri Saryu Nandan Singh, ex _M.L.A., Bihar.

- 122. Shri Saxena, J.N., Chairman, Industrial Fevelopment Bank of India, Bombay.
- 123. Shri Shanti Bhai Shah, Editor, 'Gujarat Amachar', Ahmedabad.
- .124. Shri Shanti Prasad, Retired I.G., Poligial Uttar Pradash.
- 125. Shri Srikanta Jena, M.L.A., Orissa.
- 126. Dr. Srikantish, S.G., Director of National Institute of Nutrition, Hyderabad.
- 127. Shri Subramaniam, C., former Union Finance Minister.
- 155. Sardar Sukhdev Singh Dhillon, M.L.A., Punj≈6.
- 129. Syngklong Kyntiew Ri., Shillong.
- 130. Tamil Nadu Secretariat Association, Non-Gazetted Government Officers Association and last Grade Government Servants Association.
- 131. Shri Tapan Dutta, Reporter, Dainik Sambad', Tripura.
- 13%. Dr. Tarlok Singh, ex-Member Planning Commission.
- 133. Dr. Thimaiah, G., Fellow of Institute of Social & Economic Change, Bangalore,
- 134. Tripura Employees Co-ordination Committee of 16 (Gcvt.& Semi-Govt.) Employees Unions Association.
- 135. Shri Umesh Swain, M.L.A., Orissa.
- 136. Dr. Upadyaya, Deptt.of Economics, Osmania University.
- 137. Shri Uttam Rao Patil, Leader of Opposition, Maharashtra Legislative Assembly.
- 138. Prof. Vakil, C.N., Economist, Bombay.
- 139. Shri Varde, S.S., M.L.A., Maharashtra.
- 140. Shri Varghese, T.A., former Chief Secretary, Governor of Tamil Nadu.
- 141. Shri Vasant Rao Uike, former Minister, Madhya Fradesh.
- 142. Shri Vavilala Gopalakrishniah, ex-M.L.A., Sattenpalli, Andhra Pradesh.
- 143. Mrs. Vimla Mahajan, Chairman, State Social Welfare Board, Himachal Pradesh and 2 colleagues.
- 144. Dr. Yadava Reddy, Department of Economics, Osmania University.
- 145. Shri Yaima Singh, Y., ex-Education Minister, Manipur.
- 146. Shri Yardi, M.R., former Finance Secretary, Covt. of India.

### Statewise Total Area

£ <b>3</b> .	•						
) o	•,	Total (in thousand Sq. Kms.)	Percentage (ell India basis)				
4	2	3	4				
i.	Anghra Pradesh	277	8.42				
	AREON	<b>7</b> 9	2.40				
	Binar	174	<b>5.29</b>				
	Gajarat	196	<b>5.</b> 96				
5-	Haryana	44	1.34				
	Himachal Pradesh	56	1.70				
	Jannu & Krahmir	222	6 <b>.</b> 75				
	Estateka	192	5-84				
	keraia	<b>3</b> 9	1.19				
10.	Madhya Pradesh	443	13.47				
11.	Veherashtra	308	9.37				
12.	Manápur	22	0.67				
	legicle a	22	0.67				
	Nagaland	17	ે•52				
15.	Orisza	156	4•75				
16.	Punjeb	50	1.52				
	Rajasthen	342	10.40				
	Sikkim	7	0.21				
19.	Tamil Nadu	130	3.96				
	Tripura	10	0,30				
		14	0,70				
21.	Uttar Pradeah	294	8.94				
	West Bengal	83	2.68				
	Total 411 States	3168					
	<del>-</del>	_	96.35				
	Total All India	<b>32</b> 83	100,00				

Source: Census of India - 1971

Annexure VII.4

Non-suburban Passenger Earnings of Railways allocated
on the basis of originating stations located in each State.

درک ۱۳۰۰ میں مصرحت نہیں میں نوانیاں ماد	والمراجع المراجع المرا	، ننجس کہ جہری سنز 1888ء سے		(b.crores).			
State	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1974-75 to		
	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
I. Andhra Pradesh	25.02	30.58	34.11	37.67	127.38		
2. Assam	8,41	10,60	12.34	13,43	44.78		
3. Bihar	32.33	43.23	47.16	50,38	173,10		
4. Gujarat	19,38	22.70	25,68	29.57	96.33		
5. Haryana	7.31	8.55	9.58	10.40	35.84		
6. Himachal Pradesh	0.34	0,45	0.79	0,83	2841		
7. Jammu & Kashmir	2.73	2 à 46	3,63	4 5 5 6	13,40		
8. Karnataka	11.53	14.34	16.11	16.54	58.52		
9. Kerala	9.41	10,37	12.24	15,57	47.59		
10. Madhya Pradesh	20.36	26,36	30.16	29,05	106.43		
ll. Maharashtra	56.17	71.38	75.94	85,90	289.39		
12. Manipur	-		-	~	**		
13. Meghalaya	-	-	<del></del>	-	. 🕶		
14. Nagaland	0.98	1.24	1.25	1,30	4,77		
15. Orissa :	5.68	7.47	9:11	9:24	31.50		
16. Punjab	13.82	16.66	18.31	20,63	69 • 42		
17. Rajasthan	20.04	25,27	25.52	29.15	99.98		
18. Sikkim	-	-	-	-			
19. Tamil Nadu	25,35	30.67	34.21	34.72	124.95		
20. Tripura	0.14	0.18	0.21	0.25	0.78		
21. Uttar Pradesh	64,88	81 _* 83	93,21	98.83	338,75		
22. West Bengal	31.55	39.75	41.73	44.73	157,76		
Total:	<u>354.93</u>	444.09	491-29	<u>532.77</u>	1823.08		

Source & Railway Board, Ministry of Railways.

Annexure VII.5

Revenue from Income-tax, Corporation Tax collections and Union Surcharge, 1952-53 to 1975-76.

	Tagana		Corporation
Year	Income-tax collections	Union Sur-	Corporation Tax
	(inclusive	charges.	collections
	of Union		•
(1)	surcharge) (2)	(3)	(4)
1952-53	143.2	6.1	43.8
1953-54	124.2	4.9	41.6
1954~55	123.2	5.0	37 _• 3
1955-56	132.0	5.0	37.1
1956-57	151.2	5.6	51.2
1957-58	161.6	6.9	56.1
1958-59	172.8	8 à 4	54.3
1959-60	149.2	8,3	106.6
1960-61	168.7	5.7	110.7
1961-62	161.0	5.1	160.8
1962-63	187.4	5.6	220.1
1963-64	245.6	14.9	.287.3
1964-65	266.9	12.6	313.6
1965-66	271.9	7.1	304.8
1966-67	306.3	8.2	330.8
1967-68	325.9	9.3	310.5
1968-69	378.5	11.1	299.8
1969 <b>–</b> 70	448 4	18.2	353.4
1970-71	473.2	19.3	370.5
1971-72	534,4	27.3	472,1
1972→73	625.5	34.7	557:9
1973_74	741.4	42.9	582.6
1974-75	878.3	47.6	709.5
1975-76	1214.4	62.7	861.7

Source: Combined Finance and Revenue Accounts and Finance Accounts.